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			Introduction

			Quentin Tarantino is the easiest man to discuss. He’s also the hardest to get to know.

			So many times I started working on this introduction to the book, and always got derailed. At one point, I even had a novel in progress here as a means to convey what it is that Tarantino had brought to popular culture and especially the movies since 1992 when his first movie, Reservoir Dogs, came out. That preface didn’t really work, although it did give me an idea for a novel to write another time. Instead, I decided to approach this a little differently from what you may be used to seeing about books on Tarantino.

			You see, even for those who try to ignore Tarantino and his work, there’s an influence there that cannot be denied. More than one, actually. The movies we see, the heritage of films the mainstream audience knows today, the way action and dialogue occur in major studio films; all of these elements in the moviegoing experience have been affected by what Tarantino nurtured from his own life and explored in his movies.

			Make no mistake, when Reservoir Dogs came out in 1992, it had an impact that few films from a first-time writer and/or director ever do. Of course, Tarantino often got pegged as the new Orson Welles—especially when he only had the one film notched on his belt—but Welles was known for his work elsewhere even before Citizen Kane, and people were interested in seeing what this “wunderkind” had done. That wasn’t the case with Tarantino. Here was this nobody who took the movie world by storm with a film about a bunch of criminals dealing with the aftermath of a botched robbery. That alone wasn’t quite enough, however, as there have certainly been caper movies done in the past, and which Tarantino himself has stated were an influence on him (as a chapter in this book describes). Yet Tarantino not only put together a fine group of actors, but also went with his gut and filmed a movie that didn’t worry about trying to tell the story in a traditional manner. This film instead moved back and forth through time to tell pivotal information when it was needed and not before. In doing so, it fell into an emotional logic that didn’t need to be dictated by making sure people saw the proper sequencing of events. More important, it showed a writer and director who felt strong enough about his work that he didn’t try to excuse the setup of the story. Namely, because he wanted to tell it that way, and figured that the audience would be smart enough to catch up with him as he went along.

			Naturally, some critics figured the movie to be only a one-off success for Tarantino: a man outside of the Hollywood norm who lucked into a movie that clicked with audiences, but who would never be able to follow it up with anything of importance. When True Romance came out in 1993 with a script from Tarantino and didn’t do quite as well (to be fair, it wasn’t marketed as being connected with the Reservoir Dogs director in any way), people wondered what was going to happen to him. Then 1994 saw Pulp Fiction released, and it was a case—to the chagrin of some who had grudges against Tarantino—of someone beating the sophomore slumps predicted of him. Not only that, but he did so by again telling an unconventional story and with actors that many thought were washed up in the business. He held to his convictions and won again.

			Yet, or perhaps because of that, Tarantino was put on trial again by his same critics with his next film, Jackie Brown. An adult thriller that was in many ways more conventional than his previous two, and which actually succeeded at the box office, contrary to popular belief. Then he took time to work on other projects and develop the scripts for the Kill Bill films. Forget that he did some acting during those years, including a Broadway run of the classic play Wait Until Dark and a series of appearances on the hit series Alias amongst other television projects, while also helping produce films and introduce foreign and older films to a new audience; what mattered was that he wasn’t doing anything to prove himself to his critics. Due to this, such people gloated about his absence.

			Then the Kill Bill movies come out to acclaim, and yet, soon enough, the talk goes around that he is still a flash in the pan. After that is Inglourious Basterds, which wins a number of awards, including a Best Supporting Actor Oscar for Christoph Waltz, followed by another round of bashing by the naysayers. Django Unchained appears in 2012, and the whole thing happens again. At times it seems like everyone is playing a game of gotcha instead of simply trying to enjoy the movies he produces. And because he essentially ignores such misplaced energy by those who have some issues about him, it only heats the critics up more.

			No doubt, it sounds like I’m not so much praising Tarantino as defending him, but the purpose of this book isn’t to say everything Quentin Tarantino has done has been perfect. After all, his Wait Until Dark performances were not well received, and some fans criticized Tarantino’s desire to do some acting alongside his films. Death Proof and the concept of the film Grindhouse were considered a fascinating misfire. Tarantino’s Rolling Thunder Pictures distribution company only released a small number of films before disappearing. There have also been issues raised about what Tarantino has created himself or lifted from others and the growing fascination in looking for his influences rather than the stories in his movies, which will be addressed. Even so, nothing has kept Quentin Tarantino down for long, and soon enough—just when some predict (or perhaps hope) that he’ll disappear—he arises once again with another project, like a Dracula who fuels himself on celluloid.

			His movies have also had a heavy influence on filmmaking. Make no mistake, the style, plotting and even the violence of his films are nothing new; the difference is that what was once only found in the confines of foreign and exploitation films he has molded into something that sparked with mainstream audiences. His love for movies of all kinds has been infectious, leading to viewers discovering films, actors and directors that they may not have considered otherwise, and another couple of topics covered in this book.

			That impact affects those who write about him as well. Pick up nearly any book or article about Tarantino and there’s one thing that runs through them—everyone ends up trying to write like him. So many authors with degrees in journalism who would never use a swear word to tell their stories or prop themselves up as part of the tale to be told suddenly go all gonzo when discussing Tarantino, cursing up a storm and injecting their own takes into the work. It’s hard to avoid, and one of the reasons that this introduction went through so many rewrites: those of us who write about Tarantino are as predisposed to try to imitate him as the various writers, directors and producers who have done so over the years (again, discussed further on in this book). As much as his critics attempt to discredit this man who came without the education such “artists” demand in order to be proclaimed as important, they can’t avoid the spell his work has on others.

			A remarkable career has come out of less than a dozen films that stand as Tarantino’s filmography. However, there is so much more to that career, even beyond what has already been mentioned in this preface. This book is a chance to discuss some of the things we as fans or even casual viewers of his films tend to gloss over because we sometimes are too caught up in the hype that surrounds the man and his work. The ongoing love of fake product placement in his films, his passion for sourced music as prime motivators of action in his films, changes between script and screen for each film, all these topics are discussed within these pages, as well as many others.

			Quentin Tarantino is a man who everyone thinks they know and believe they can guess where he’ll turn up next. Yet, like a character out of pulp fiction itself, he remains in some ways a man of mystery who seems to always have a surprise up his sleeve. In the pages ahead, we’ll examine those stories, starting with the one tale that everyone thinks they understand, but really is more what they choose to believe, and that is the history of Quentin Jerome Tarantino himself.

		

	
		
			1
The Path of the Righteous Man

			Ten Essential Moments in Tarantino History

			Hollywood likes stereotypes. Why? Because people like stereotypes. It’s easier to assume certain people from specific walks of life will act a particular way than to get to know them on a more personal level. Hollywood tries to present an image of being pretty liberal about such things, suggesting they go out of the way to portray people of different colors, religions, and orientations as safe and homogenized as possible.

			Except for people of Midwest America. Hillbillies, hilljacks, white trash, rednecks, banjo-playing, slack-jaws, briars. The association is that if you come from anywhere near the Appalachian Mountains (and I mean like within a 1,000-mile radius), you go barefoot in your overalls to the moonshine still while toting your shotgun. It’s a caricature and it doesn’t matter if your hometown was a capital of the state (as Knoxville once was) or that you work for a company that is a leader in technological advances; say you’re from Kentucky and images of Jed Clampett automatically pop into people’s heads. Or rather Jethro. Jed was too smart to be considered a real hillbilly, after all.

			Hence, when people hear Quentin Tarantino was born in Tennessee, there’s this tendency to say, “Oh, so that explains his movies.” It matters little that he only lived there for less than a total of four years of his life and most of that from when he was a newborn to before the age of three. Being born into the area was enough to typecast him as this redneck who likes blowing things up real good and shooting things (and goodness knows if that doesn’t play a bit into the anger some have towards his willingness to use derogatory racial terms or the misperception of how women are represented in his films).

			Then people read that he actually grew up in the Los Angeles area. Ah, there we go! It’s Hollywood, so he grew up in this corrupted culture of those dastardly liberals, and that explains his movies! Everything has to play to the stereotypes one way (hick from the East) or another (wicked bohemian from the West), which is to really misrepresent Quentin Tarantino. One can’t point to his place of birth or where he grew up and settle all the scores that made up his life. There is more to it than that.

			Undoubtedly, Tarantino’s past shaped his career and how he had become the man who has contributed so much to movies in the past two decades. To ignore that past is to ignore what makes him Quentin Tarantino. With that in mind, below are ten major moments in Tarantino’s life before he got his first movie produced, Reservoir Dogs, that influenced him. Thus, while he may not have been born on a mountaintop in Tennessee, all these things led him to become Quentin Tarantino, King of the Wild Frontier.

			Child of Tennessee/Child of California

			Quentin Jerome Tarantino came into the world in Knoxville, Tennessee, on March 27, 1963, although if things had been slightly different, he could have made his first appearance within the vicinity of Hollywood itself.

			His mother, Connie McHugh, was also born in Knoxville and remained there until the age of twelve, when she moved to the Southern California area. An exceptionally bright student, Connie graduated from high school at the age of fifteen and looked to be on her way to a career in medical science when she met Tony Tarantino, a man six years older who was trying to start a career in acting. The two married and moved back to Knoxville, with Connie studying to become a nurse. Three months after getting married, Connie and Tony drifted apart, with Tony moving on to New York to find acting work. It was soon after that Connie found out she was pregnant with Quentin.

			After his birth, the mother and son remained in Knoxville until Quentin was nearly three, whereupon Connie left to find work in the Los Angeles area, leaving her son in the care of her parents. Finding work in the administrative side of the medicine field, Connie met a musician named Curt Zastoupil. Quentin would soon join Connie and Curt out in California, and, after Quentin’s mother married Curt, his name was legally changed to Quentin Zastoupil. Connie’s younger brother, Roger, lived with them for a time as well.

			When Quentin was nine, Connie and Curt split, with Curt moving away to another part of the state. Just as Quentin was seeing his life disrupted by the removal of a father figure came the news that his mother was suspected of having an advanced case of Hodgkin’s disease. Taking the doctors’ word that she only had months to live, she sent Quentin back to South Clinton, Tennessee (considered part of the Knoxville Metropolitan area), where he lived for five months with his grandmother and great-grandmother. Once it was clear that Connie had been misdiagnosed, she brought Quentin back to Southern California, which would and still remains his home from age ten onward. There he would find himself seeing his mother not so much as a mother but as a friend, and with her came other strong women in his life who were her friends, such as Jackie, an African American woman, and Lillian, a Spanish American. As a sidenote, although men would come and go in Quentin’s young life from that point on—such as boyfriends to the women he knew—it was these independent women that he established his long-term relationships with while growing up. With his early life experience being guided by such strong, independent women, it can be seen why he can so easily establish strong female characters in his films.

			Thus, while his heritage may have been Tennessee-born, his growing years came about in California, with only a brief return to the place of his birth, albeit remembered fondly by Tarantino in one particular way, as the next topic in this chapter points out.

			Movies as an Education

			When Grindhouse was released in 2007, Quentin Tarantino was interviewed by Betsy Pickle for the Knoxville News Sentinel and talked about the few months he lived in the area back in 1973. Only a kid at the time, one of his fondest memories of the period discussed (“The Exploitation Files,” April 6, 2007) was that of the movies that played in the area. Feeling stuck in South Clinton, where he had only the local drive-in to see movies, he was mesmerized by the ads in the newspaper for the exploitation films that were playing in theaters in the greater Knoxville area. Horror, kung fu, blaxploitation films were the norm, and often second-billed with the big Hollywood studio pictures at the drive-ins and some theaters throughout most of the mid-west in the 1970s.
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					Deliverance (1972)—one of the first movies Quentin Tarantino remembers seeing in the theaters as a child.

				

			

			“They played all these Kung Fu movies [like] The Master of the Flying Guillotine, The Chinese Professional, Deep Thrust,” Tarantino remembered in the interview. “They were always playing at the Tennessee [an indoor theater in Knoxville]. I don’t know if there was actually a grindhouse in Knoxville, but they were playing a lot of the grindhouse movies in all the big theaters in Knoxville at that time.”

			However, this wasn’t the start of his experience with movies. Wesley Clarkson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Man, the Myth and His Movies, featuring interview material from Tarantino’s mother, states that Quentin’s mother took him to movies before the age of six. More specifically, movies that were considered by many as too adult for children, such as Carnal Knowledge, The Wild Bunch, and Deliverance. To have her tell it, and from all evidence, seeing such films did nothing to hurt the child, while at the same time it developed his love of going to the theater and seeing movies. Any movie.

			And any movie was possible at the time. One thing that people tend to forget is that Quentin came of age during the 1970s, when there were still many theaters that played double features or even three or more movies for the cost of one ticket (this was especially true of the drive-ins). There was also the (now nearly extinct) notion of being able to stay in a theater to watch movies for a second or third time instead of being forced out to free up a seat for the next showing. Best of all, in a period where studios and theater chains seem to have lost sight of what general audiences wanted, many offbeat films played in theaters in hopes of finding anything that people would want to pay to see. Thus, it was not unusual to go to an indoor theater in a nice part of town and see an exploitation movie about a motorcycle gang on the same bill with a horror film, or even sometimes a children’s film with something geared more for adults. Obscure foreign films made for kids and redubbed into English from Italy, Mexico, and Japan would pop up as a means for parents to drop their kids off for a half-day at a theater. Meanwhile, foreign art films were picking up the pace and turning up in theaters as well. Plus, theaters were expanding to become “twin cinemas,” with single-screen theaters being turned into two—sometimes even more—screens and thus leading to multiple types of films being shown in the same building. With a little bit of work, a kid could wander for hours between a Disney film like Follow Me, Boys! with Fred MacMurray over here, then Ron Howard in the exploitation car-crash movie Eat My Dust over there, and finish off with a quick look at Brian De Palma’s Carrie in a third theater—all without leaving the building. It was a cornucopia of themes and styles in movies at the time and all for the price of a buck or two.
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					An actual triple feature of “grindhouse” movies that played at drive-ins in 1978. It was ads like this that Quentin Tarantino would have seen often in the local paper as a kid, driving his passion for such films.

				

			

			Such interest in foreign and exploitation films would service Tarantino in later years when he would attempt to hire certain actors for his films who were not always from the current A-list of celebrities. Instead, he would go for actors he remembered seeing growing up, believing them to be as capable—if not more sometimes—of pulling off tremendous work in his films as any of the actors commonly considered for major releases. It is this fearlessness, which paid off well in his films, that has allowed him to hire actors for roles atypical for them: such as making Robert Forster, who was playing mostly villains in low-budget movies, the heroic second lead in Jackie Brown, giving old-timer Lawrence Tierney a last crack at being a gangster as the ringleader Joe in Reservoir Dogs, and showcasing Asian/exploitation stars like Sonny Chiba and Gordon Liu in the Kill Bill films.

			By the time Quentin was in his teens, he would be sneaking off to movies on his own, looking old enough to not get carded by ticket-takers at theaters (who usually didn’t care anyway) to see R-rated films at nearby theaters like the Carson Twin or the Del Amo Mall Theatre (a mall used in Jackie Brown and featuring one character walking out of one of the theaters much like Tarantino probably did as a teenager). Movies were a big part of his life at the time, although Tarantino would forewarn interviewers and others that it was not as obsessive or bizarre as some would paint it. As he told Charlie Rose in 1994, “Even in elementary school, there’s always kids that have a natural inclination towards something. Some kids, it’s sports, some kids it’s studies, some kids it’s cars, some kids it’s drawing . . . with me it was movies.”

			While educational efforts fell by the wayside, Quentin looked to his future as being directly involved with movies in some manner. He even began to study film criticism, reading books on the topic and going so far as to proclaim Pauline Kael as his “professor in the film school of my own making” (“Interview at Cannes,” Positif, September 1992). For a long time, that meant a focus on becoming an actor, even when others thought he would end up becoming a director or even a writer. No matter what the results would be, Tarantino knew where he was going—he only needed to find out how to get there.

			Besides, there were other elements in the air of the 1970s that were part of Tarantino’s development as a teenager, mostly a sense of freedom in society, with the best of the past being remembered and a wide-open future in front of us. It was a time where watching television would allow kids to still see the uncensored black-and-white cartoons and two-reelers of an earlier age before concerns about stereotypes got in the way, while the emergence of cable and video players allowed kids to see many films and shows that were not part of the norm of most Americans before then. There were even instances of national television allowing profanity, nudity, and experimental specials, which would not have set well in the decade before or since. Where people were more frank and open to discuss topics that were considered taboo in person and in print. A time when everything seemed possible and with still a sense of innocence that evaporated in the 1980s and thereafter.

			All of these elements of what was available there are on display in every one of Tarantino’s movies. They are a result of his hobby as a kid and into adulthood, which was a world of television and movie entertainment. He loved comic books, GI Joe, kung fu movies, and drive-in fare, like many of us raised in the 1970s did. Thus, those who try to typecast Tarantino as a child of Tennessee or California, or as a child raised on violent exploitation movies, are missing the point—Quentin Tarantino was one of us. A child of the 1970s, and proudly so.

			Quitting High School

			Tarantino’s schooling was as traditional as it could be for a kid who was bouncing around various places in California and even a stint in Knoxville. All the same, as stated in the previous entry, his grades were not the best, and his discipline in learning beyond a few subjects was almost nonexistent. Tarantino admitted to Charlie Rose in 1994 that his fascination with movies did distract him from his schooling, unless his studies related to his moviegoing experience in some way, such as knowing about the Russian Tsar Nicholas II because he had seen the biographical drama Nicholas and Alexandra. However, he would go on to say that he felt his disinterest in school was due to something within his personality. “I’ve had something that stopped me in school where it’s like, anything I’m not interested in, I can’t even feign interest. I can’t just do this little bit to get by. I loved history because to me, history was like watching a movie . . . I was like getting A’s in history and reading, and failing miserably in other things.”

			Going into the ninth grade, Quentin began playing truant, and with it came the resolution that he would rather not have to go back at all. As he built up more time away from school, he naturally began to also fear that he was falling so far behind that it would be very difficult to go back. For these reasons, he would argue about school with his mother to the point where he threatened to quit. He would later admit to Terry Gross (Fresh Air, August 27, 2009) that he said so knowing that his mother would never agree to it. Then, a couple of days later, when his mother—in a bit of reverse-psychology—told him he could quit, Quentin was surprised. Not so surprised that he didn’t jump right into leaving school, which was actually the opposite of what his mother expected. As he told Gross in her interview, it was a decision he somewhat regretted. “I wasn’t aware enough at the time to know that the junior high I was suffering through would be school at its worst. Little did I know that if I stayed in school, I would’ve really liked college.” Still, he was determined to stay out of school now that he could.

			The Porn Theater

			Told by his mother he had to find work now that he was out of school, Quentin’s dream job was being an usher at a movie theater, as it meant he could watch movies all day and be paid for it. However, his first job was delivering papers, although not in the way that people commonly think for a young man of sixteen. Instead it was “working for this guy who had a bunch of those newspaper racks with all the sex rags in them,” as he told Charlie Rose in 1994. “He would drive around all night long in his van, and we would collect the quarters and put in new papers.” Looking older than his years, he lied about his age to get that job and the next, which he would commonly refer to as his first official job, as an usher at The Pussycat movie theater in Torrance, California.

			There was a period back in the 1970s when theaters playing X-rated fare were thriving, thanks to the crossover success of such films as Deep Throat and Behind the Green Door. With that came the assumption by some in the industry that perhaps they could make movies that went beyond naked people having sex. The films could actually be a bit artistic; have something to say about life; perhaps even have this thing called a plot. Sure, the writing was terrible, the acting even worse, but in a very odd way, it was opening up a whole new world to those involved in the culture.

			But by 1979, when Tarantino got hired on at such a theater, the genre was rapidly going south (and not in the manner you’re probably thinking of just now). Videocassette players were still relatively rare, but those that had them were buying them as a means to watch X-rated films from the previous few years in the privacy of their own homes. This led to many of the theaters showing such films having trouble filling seats (yes, I know, every sentence here is going to sound like I’m making puns, but you get the idea). Why risk public scrutiny as a couple or a single person going to a theater when you could discreetly purchase pornography through mail-order clubs or video stores? Many of the theaters were beginning to turn into quasi-video stores as well, sectioning off areas of the theater for “private video booths” and selling videos in the lobby. Meanwhile, the standards of the movies were no longer attempting to at least be bad exploitation films with a lot of sex. Now it was simply what they were always ultimately about anyway—a lot of sex; plots unnecessary. To a kid who was raised to find the best in even the worst of films, Tarantino had little patience for what amounted to twenty-foot-tall anatomy lessons several days a week. He wanted stories, even bad ones, and that wasn’t happening any longer in the genre.

			“To me, the greatest job a person could ever have was being an usher at a movie theater,” Tarantino told Charlie Rose, when discussing the job. “All right, well, irony of ironies, I end up getting a job at a movie theater that I could care less about the movies and was totally bored by them.” Still, he stuck with the job for a time in order to prove to his mother that he could find work after quitting school. Of course, he only mentioned that he was a movie theater usher, not the type of theater it was. Once she found out, she was less than happy, but was convinced by Quentin to let him play it out the way he saw best.

			Eventually he would move on to other jobs, yet the usher job seemingly impacted Tarantino’s point of view in his films when it came to sex scenes. While most action-oriented filmmakers feel nearly an obligation to have steamy sex scenes in their films, romance rarely blossoms in Tarantino films, and typically only on a traditional level of first-date infatuation rather than anything more explicit. Only in True Romance are there signs of a standard movie “sexy” bedroom scene, and not only was that in a film directed by someone other than Tarantino, but the scene was not even written by Tarantino (his script insinuates that the couple have sex at some point, but doesn’t feel the need to show it to the audience).

			Instead, if physical contact appears at all in his films, it tends to be of a violent nature, usually in the form of rape or borderline unpleasantness: Louis and Melanie mindlessly going at it at the kitchen sink in Jackie Brown, Kiddo being raped while in a coma in Kill Bill, Volume 1, and Goebbels having rough sex with his mistress in Inglourious Basterds. Tarantino has recommended movies featuring graphic sex scenes (such as the blaxploitation-roughie Hot Summer in the City), and paid tribute to them (the look of the eye-patched character Daryl Hannah plays in the Kill Bill films is somewhat patterned after the main character in the movie Thriller/They Call Her One-Eye), yet his motivation for such has to do with elements of plotting and/or acting that he admires in such films and not the pornographic element itself. While Tarantino has suggested in the past that he would consider doing a more sexually explicit movie at some point in his career, it appears this was simply another in one of his off-the-cuff remarks when questioned as to future projects and not one that he has seriously considered. From the looks of his work, it is clear he would much rather get on with the plot instead of turning on the steam. 

			Studied Under a Star from Dukes of Hazzard

			As a youngster Quentin did the typical thing that any kid does who is interested in movies: he got a movie camera and filmed himself with friends playing out roles. However, even though his family and friends thought he would end up behind the camera as an adult, Quentin was determined to prove how good he could be in front of it. He wanted to act, and with high school a fading memory, he was determined to use that freedom to jump into acting school.

			This was not simply a pipe dream. Quentin had already established himself as being able to get work acting in front of an audience. At the age of fifteen he got permission from his mother to attend the Torrance Community Theatre Workshop, where he got the lead role in a play called Two and Two Makes Sex (the workshop didn’t realize Tarantino was so young, as he was out of school and looked mature enough to be college-age). It was at the workshop that he decided to change his name from Quentin Zastoupil to the last name of his paternal father, Tarantino, as it sounded better to him if it was going to be on a marquee someday (not to mention remembering the ribbing he would get at school for having a name that sounded like “disaster pill”).

			In 1981, Quentin heard about an acting school being run by actor James Best in nearby Toluca Lake (“Next to the Honey Baked Ham,” as Tarantino remembered to Terry Gross). For someone who had become an encyclopedia on movies, the name meant more to him than merely that of the actor playing Sheriff Rosco P. Coltrane on Dukes of Hazzard. Best had been a very active performer in a variety of films over the years and had played the lead in films like Sam Fuller’s Verboten! and Shock Corridor. He also appeared in Rolling Thunder (1977) as one of the villains, a movie that Tarantino would come back to later in his career. With classes being affordable, Quentin felt it was worth the thirty-mile drive from home three times a week and signed up. Tarantino’s class was taught by Jack Lucarelli, an actor who at the time was doing small parts on network television and who eventually turn up in Django Unchained over thirty years later in a small role (as one of the riflemen at Big Daddy’s plantation).

			Tarantino enjoyed the class, as the focus was not on simply learning to emote on stage, but also on how to get work in the movie and television industry, especially the type of bit parts that were offered in network television for up-and-coming actors. Even better, some of the other students were people already working in the industry, so the focus was on learning camera terms and technical jargon. The schooling was perfect for Tarantino, a self-starter who was anxious to get cracking at acting with the available tools, instead of getting stuck in philosophical studies about the structure of acting. It got to the point where he was spending so much time at the school that he stopped showing up at his now-despised job at the porno theater; quite happily getting fired in the process. Instead, he would sometimes sleep over at the school in order to save money on gas, finding the school his second home in a sense.

			Eventually, he would leave the school, realizing that the other students were focusing their energies on famous actors, while his obsession was directors and writers. For a time, Tarantino continued his studies with actor Allen Garfield, who appeared in such films as Brian De Palma’s Get to Know Your Rabbit (1972) and Francis Ford Coppola’s The Conversation (1974) and ran a theatrical group out in Beverly Hills. Tarantino would later state that Garfield saw his interest in directing and would sometimes call on Quentin to direct scenes in order to train him. Although most biographies about Tarantino concentrate solely on his time with Best’s school, Tarantino would tell Michel Ciment and Hubert Niogret in 1992 that Garfield was his mentor and his true introduction to studying on a level of being at a film school.

			In hindsight, the classes did help Tarantino to become a better actor, but more importantly, they helped develop his understanding of directing others and writing. Furthermore, he began to see that the craft of storytelling was more compelling than only being allowed to convey the words of others—he could be the creator of the words instead. As such, things were starting to gel in his head over where his career was heading.

			But beyond all that, there was the issue of being able to eat, and finding a job to replace the one from the Pussycat Theatre was pressing on him.

			Video Archives

			One of the more celebrated stories of Tarantino’s pre-success career is also one that he was getting annoyed at discussing to some degree even by the time of Pulp Fiction’s release in 1994. Not so much that he had a job as a video store clerk, but because reporters too often used the job in order to typecast him as a geek who had only succeeded due to his time spent watching videos at the store. Usually in a positive light, but it has also certainly been the major fuel in critical articles and books about Tarantino—that of him being nothing more than a video store geek who “got lucky.”

			Tarantino had left the world of being a porno theater usher long behind by the time he began popping up at the little video store in Manhattan Beach. In fact, before being hired at the store, some would say he was actually doing pretty well for himself considering he had dropped out of school in the ninth grade, although he had to gradually build upon his knowledge. Working in the field of phone solicitation (no, not that type of solicitation associated with porn, but rather trying to sell various products), Tarantino had gotten himself to a position where he was making over a thousand dollars a month working the phones for a company that dealt with the aerospace industry. Thus he was in a financial position where he could spread his wings a bit and—more importantly due to his thirst for movies—get a videocassette player and start watching movies he had always heard about.

			As mentioned earlier, porn really kicked in the fad for videocassette recorders in the late 1970s and early 1980s. By 1982—when the future was looking bright for Quentin—stores that sold the players had also started renting videos of popular mainstream movies (and rentals, considering most sold for $60–$100 and blanks cost anywhere from $20 to $40 for two hours of recording time, made sense for most consumers). You’d pop in to see a selection of maybe 80–100 titles on shelves around the store and usually fork over $5 a night to watch VHS and Beta tapes of certain classic movies, cartoons, and oddball episodes of television series.

			When he first got a videocassette player in 1982, Quentin went to a store called Video Outtakes, where he became friends with a clerk there named Scott McGill. McGill was trying to become a filmmaker himself, and the two clicked. The store, however, soon folded and McGill moved on to the store that would become a focus of Tarantino’s for the next few years, and a fabled movie paradise to so many of his fans since.
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					Lance Lawson, owner of the video store Tarantino worked at in the 1980s, Video Archives; shown here introducing Quentin to fans at a Reservoir Dogs party held at the store in 1992.

                    Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

			Contrary to the myth built up about the place, Video Archives was no VHS Valhalla, but rather like most in other cities around the country, a hole-in-the-wall video store in a strip mall, with little room for people to get through the aisles and with video boxes in various states of abuse on the shelves. Yet the store was slowly building a reputation; for even with its small size, it was becoming known as a place that carried more obscure films and specials than other “mom and pop” stores around it. Better yet, the people working there knew the videos on the shelves and could direct people to movies that would interest them instead of merely being clerks that did nothing more than work the cash register. Over time, people would come in to talk about movies with the employees as often as rent a film.

			It was in this environment that Tarantino began frequenting the store. As is wont to happen in such circumstances, those working behind the counter got to know Quentin as well, and when a position opened up for a clerk in the store, Quentin was offered the job.

			Which was a bit of a dilemma. After all, Tarantino was making good money, and his mother was thrilled he was working for a company that had some prestige to it. Yet, now there was a chance to get a job working in an environment that was closer to what he wanted to do for the rest of his life anyway—what he dreamed of doing since he was a kid. Okay, sure, it wasn’t working in a studio somewhere and cranking out scripts or acting in a television series, but it was still a place that made him feel welcomed and—even better—knowledgeable about something that, anywhere else, would have just been blown off as geekish, incoherent rambling.

			Of course, the biggest concern was the drop in salary. At best, the video store would be able to get him maybe a third of what he was making at his other job. Still, with a stretch of the dollars, he thought he could do it. In 1985, he began working at Video Archives and helping customers find videos to rent, while several of his and the other clerks’ favorites films would play on the big-screen television in the store.

			It was at Video Archives that Tarantino became friends with another clerk there named Roger Avary (Wesley Clarkson’s Quentin Tarantino: The Man, The Myths and His Movies goes so far as to suggest it was Avary who suggested hiring Tarantino for the position). The two were big movie enthusiasts, always trying to top each other in movie trivia, for which Avary sometimes would have to concede to Tarantino. Their collaborations on store displays and such would soon spread to the two working on scripts and movie projects with others at the store. It was with this enthusiasm that Quentin would begin work on film projects, such as Lovebirds in Bondage and My Best Friend’s Birthday (both covered in more detail in Chapter 2).

			Obviously, the Video Archives job was one where he found fellow travelers, people around his age that talked his language. However, in the years since, a mythology was created that the job made the man, and that he won his success of the back of his fellow employees and friends of the time, instead of through his own talents. When it reached a point where he was hearing about people trying to get hired at the store in hopes of the “luck” he had “just from being there”—there were even reports of people who had made movies trying to apply for jobs there as a means to get their films seen—he began distancing himself from that part of his past. He even joked a bit at the beginning of the Full Tilt Boogie documentary (for From Dusk Till Dawn) about people quitting school in order to try to emulate him. It was taking a fun little job and turning it into something much more than what it was. A fun one; a good one; one that helped steer his life’s path, but not one that someone could simply base his whole life story around.

			Besides, he knew there was no way that Video Archives was going to be his career. As the 1990s were rapidly approaching, he realized that he was in his mid-twenties and still working a job that someone in high school could get. It was time to move on; time to get involved in actually making movies instead of talking about them. Quentin would still sometimes visit the store, and after Reservoir Dogs came out, he bombarded the place with promotional items and even did a signing at the store with Tim Roth and Chris Penn, but eventually, as with any business, a “golden period” has to end sometime. Even with the interest by customers drawn to it through Tarantino’s success, the store would eventually move three miles away in order to save on rent. While the costs were lower, there was little parking, and the built-in customer base that had made it famous shifted their alliance to other places rather than seek out the new store. By 1994, as with many other homespun video stores that had done well in the 1980s but faced the onslaught of places like Blockbuster and Hollywood Video, Video Archives closed its doors for good, leaving Tarantino’s stint as its lasting memory.

			That’s getting ahead of ourselves, however. Going back to 1986, Quentin Tarantino was still determined to make something of himself in his first defining career goal—becoming an actor.

			Lying on His CV

			You’re an actor. You think you’ve got the chops. The problem is that you don’t have the backlog of jobs to show that you can do the work needed. Yes, there’s the community theater work you did when you were fifteen, and you have training, but it seems unlikely that a casting agent is going to ask, “Did he train with James Best? Oooh, he was in Community Theater ten years ago? Sign him up as the co-star for this sitcom!”

			So you do what pretty much everyone else does in the industry. You lie. It’s okay; in fact, it’s nearly essential, as the casting agent is so used to seeing actors do it that they expect to discount a certain number of the “crème de la crème” jobs listed on the CV (curriculum vitae, or in other words, the actor’s resume). So when Tarantino did the same on his CV, it was not as if he was the first to ever do so, although his reach for jobs that he “had” was certainly ambitious. Two films known to appear in his CV that he admitted did not feature him were:

			•	King Lear (1987) by Jean-Luc Godard. Starring Peter Sellars (no, not Sellers, Sellars), Burgess Meredith, Molly Ringwald, and Woody Allen in a cameo. Due to the cast, the film became well known enough to warrant coverage in the newspapers and magazines at the time, but not popular enough for many to have seen it when it played in theaters. Tarantino put it on his CV under the assumption that no one would bother to verify his appearance in it. It must have worked to some extent; after all, Leonard Maltin would erroneously list Tarantino in the cast for one of his Movies on TV guides.

			•	Dawn of the Dead (1978) by George Romero. Starring David Emge, Ken Foree, Scott Reiniger, and Gaylen Ross. A pinnacle movie in the history of zombie films and gore special effects, the movie is a cult classic and gained enough attention in Hollywood for the money it made to be remembered, but not one that squeamish casting directors would see. And, if they did, one of the motorcycle riders looked enough like Tarantino that he thought he could pass it off as being him . . . even if that meant that he would have been fourteen at the time and somehow had found himself in Pennsylvania where the movie was filmed. (Well, who was going to bother looking that up, anyway?) It should be noted, however, that some bios about Tarantino state the Romero film in his CV was not Dawn of the Dead but rather Romero’s follow-up film, Knightriders (1981), starring Ed Harris and Tom Savini. This film deals with a group of motorcyclists who perform medieval-style stunts for crowds, and thus would have readily had a “motorcyclist who looks like Quentin Tarantino” in it, as well as making him about seventeen years old and more likely to have appeared than in the earlier film.
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				Tarantino added George Romero’s 1978 classic Dawn of the Dead and Jean-Luc Godard’s King Lear (1987) to his CV in an attempt to puff up his acting gigs on his CV, figuring no one would bother verifying if he actually appeared in them or not.

			

		

			As it turned out, such attempts may have fooled Leonard Maltin, but did not do much in swinging jobs Tarantino’s way. Besides some minor work in local television, the earliest known work Tarantino got was in an episode of The Golden Girls in late 1988, and that was only an extended cameo (more about that and other actor jobs in chapter 26).

			There was one job before The Golden Girls, however.

			Working for Dolph 

			Out of Video Archives and on to the streets of Hollywood. With Roger Avary having quit his job at Video Archives as well, the pair decided to join forces and look for work together in Hollywood, hoping some of the people they ran into as customers at Video Archives might help swing them a job. The only one to respond was John Langley, who would create the reality series Cops for the Fox network in 1989. At the time in the mid-1980s, however, he was doing independent producing jobs and was looking to hire some production people cheap for a workout video he was making with actor Dolph Lundgren (Rocky IV, Masters of the Universe). Avary and Tarantino were willing to work for $20 a day as production assistants and gain some experience on a “real” production, even if it was a workout video.

			Langley would later remember Tarantino as a clumsy guy who talked incessantly, to the point he nearly lost his job. Meanwhile, Avary quit after a few days when Langley told him that if he wanted to do anything with his career he had to start “doing” instead of waiting for something to get him there. Of course, there may have been another reason as well, as one of the jobs the pair had to do was go to locations scouted for filming and clear out the areas.

			This was fine until they reached a location in Venice Beach that was covered in dog feces. After being told that they could not use anything the crew had due to union rules—not to mention threats—the pair went around with paper towels and picked up what they could from the lawn before filming started.

			After that incident, Avary had had enough and took off, but Tarantino saw the two weeks of production through till the end. After all, to give up because you had to pick up dog crap? What? And give up show business?
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					Dolph Lundgren: Maximum Potential—the 1986 workout video for the Rocky IV and Master of the Universe star where Tarantino had one of his first professional behind-the-camera jobs . . . picking up dog feces.

				

			

		  Jail Time

			So, there’s Quentin at the video store, studying acting, picking up dog stools, looking to break in and—oh, yeah, going to jail.

			Variations of what happened have been floating around for years—Tarantino either went to jail once for ten days or three different times, possibly for ten days in total. Either way, it all had to do with traffic fines, which he ignored even when warned it would eventually lead to trouble. In Quentin’s mind, especially when working for a low wage at Video Archives, if the choice came to paying rent and eating versus giving money to the county for traffic violations, he thought it was worth the risk to hold off on paying the fines. Besides, it wasn’t like they were going to throw him into jail.

			As it turns out, that’s exactly what the county had in mind, especially once he got up to $7,000 in fines. Thus, on a fall morning in 1989, the police came to Quentin’s apartment to send him to L.A. County. Without the resources to pay the fine, after his mother refused due to him ignoring paying up when he had a chance, Tarantino knew he would have to spend some time in jail before he could pony up the money needed.

			At first, he believed that going to jail would give him a chance to obtain some dialogue for a script, and he would joke as much in several interviews over the years. However, in reality, it wasn’t the fun he painted it. As he told Lisa Nesselson (Paris Voice, October 1992), “At first I thought, ‘Wow, I’m going to pick up some great dialogue in here.’ But then you realize what a waste of time it is. They treat you like an animal and nobody wants to be treated like an animal.”

			Once he got out, thoughts came to him about having a character inside of prison, but all this talk about writing was hardly leading to any jobs. He had set his sights on Hollywood, had his CV all ready and kept swinging, yet nothing was coming along that saw him actively working on a project within the business. But then things started to turn in a way he hadn’t set out for at first.

			Writing

			Even from the days of his youth, Tarantino was making movies in his head. In articles and books, both Quentin and his mother talked about how as a child he would act out war movies with his GI Joes, lacing the characters’ dialogue with profanity because it was fitting for them. By the age of twelve, he was attempting to write his own scripts, although mainly to place himself in the role as the lead actor, and rarely would he get much beyond a few pages before moving on to other pursuits.

			Yet writing was still on his mind, if only to perhaps help get an “in” with the right people in the movie business. His dedication to films led him to start writing up his own film criticism like that of his mentor Pauline Kael, although such work didn’t actually produce much revenue as he kept most of it private. One related project in his head, however, was to do a book of interviews with directors that he considered his favorite. He attempted to set up interviews around 1982 with a few as a means to learn to write the book, but also—and with greater enthusiasm—to learn at their feet what it takes to be a great director. Directors like John Flynn, Joe Dante, John Milius, Brian De Palma, and Richard Franklin had been mentioned by Tarantino as subjects of the book, although it was never clear how many of the directors actually sat down with him for such interviews. He would later abandon the project, although he never regretted it, as it would serve him later in life when directing became his focus.

			Other events kept pulling him back to writing: the first while at the James Best School when he began writing scenes for himself and others. At the school, students had to bring in their own material to use when performing in front of the class, and with Tarantino’s encyclopedia-like interest in a variety of films from over the years, he quickly became relied upon by other students as being able to write various movie scenes from memory (see chapter 3 for more details), giving him pleasure in seeing something he had written—even if based on someone else’s work—taking flesh on the stage. There was also an attempt around 1990 to write a novel after being inspired by Larry McMurtry’s 1989 novel All My Friends Are Going to Be Strangers, which was to be based on his years working at Video Archives. He would later state that he spent six months writing and rewriting the first two chapters of his novel until he came to the conclusion that he was a scriptwriter and not a novelist. Thus, his career as a frustrated writer continued.

			After leaving Video Archives, Tarantino returned to the world of phone solicitation, only this time as part of the movie business. The job was with a company called Imperial Entertainment, which produced videocassettes of a variety of horror and action movies, typically from Australia, Italy, and other countries (such as the Australian caper film Money Movers and the partially Japanese-produced Guyver, with Mark Hamill in a small role), although with a number of cheap American films mixed in as well.

			Tarantino’s job was to sell the company’s inventory of movies to various video stores around the country, which he attempted to do by first calling up stores as a customer and asking about a certain Imperial title before then calling again as himself offering said title to them. While it doesn’t sound like much fun, it was allowing him to slowly get to know people working in movies, even if such projects typically were low-budget and straight-to-video. His hunch was correct, as he told Scott Fienberg (“Tarantino—He’s Still One of a Kind!,” http://andthewinneris.blog.com/2010/02/11/quentin/): “The makeup effects company that I still work with to this day, KNB EFX [Kurtzman, Nicotero & Berger EFX Group], had a treatment for a movie called From Dusk Till Dawn, and they hired me to write a script. They paid me $1,500 to write the script and if the movie ever got made I’d get $10,000. That was the first time anyone ever paid me to write. I took it—I jumped at it—and I quit my office job to do [the script]. I vowed I would never have a day job again.”

			Whether by determination or good fortune, Tarantino managed to stick to that vow. Even so, a $1,500 job back in the late 1980s didn’t mean that Tarantino was immediately in demand by everyone in Hollywood; it was a one-off job that at least paid some bills. There were still some lean years ahead, with early projects that came and went as Tarantino struggled to get his first professional movie off the ground.

		

	
		
			2
I Learned How Not to Make a Movie

			The Early Film Projects

			With the From Dusk Till Dawn script under his belt, Quentin Tarantino began to focus his time on writing scripts. Not that the vampire script opened his eyes to writing as an option to making a living. As seen in chapter 1, he was writing screenplays and stories about moviemaking since he was a kid. As he grew into his twenties, Tarantino continued to try to develop his craft, even if he was persistent in writing everything in longhand on legal pads instead of learning how to type scripts in the preferred manner (friends would usually do such typing for him when needed).

			Of the scripts he wrote, one consistent factor in all but the last one, Past Midnight, is a starring or costarring role for Tarantino. This wasn’t quite so much egomania as it was a chance to write material that he could use as a sounding board when trying to promote himself to people in the industry. In other words, he was still determined to make it as an actor, and so he was writing scripts to help get his foot in the door. As can be seen, of these, only My Best Friend’s Birthday got as far as having him perform in a role, and that was due to him bankrolling the film himself and using friends to help put it together (or, rather, as much as could be put together over time). Yet, even though this didn’t work out the way as planned, it still led to him eventually getting hired to write material, which turned out to be as good an outcome in the end.

			Captain Peachfuzz and the Anchovy Bandit

			This is a script that would not even be discussed here except that it tends to come up often in bios dealing with Tarantino’s past projects. Because of this, it is best to put the matter to rest where readers are bound to be looking for it.

			As mentioned in chapter 1, Quentin did what most kids fascinated by movies do at that young age—they get an 8mm camera and start filming improvised stories with their friends. Then, if the interest holds, they realize that most filmmakers don’t improvise their way through films, unless they’re into Dogme (which is doubtful at the age of twelve . . . and not being Danish). They use scripts, possibly storyboards (drawings made to present the camera’s viewpoint of shots to be filmed) and even establish production costs and budgeting before filming. Knowing how the professionals did it, Tarantino sat down and started writing a script for a movie to be called Captain Peachfuzz and the Anchovy Bandit. If that sounds like a silly title, keep in mind that he was twelve at the time he began writing it (and no doubt had Captain Peachfuzz, the screwball sea captain from the old Rocky & Bullwinkle cartoon series, in his head as well).

			Little is known beyond the concept of it starring Quentin as the Anchovy Kid; Tarantino has mentioned attempting around this age to write an After-School Special script that involved himself and Tatum O’Neal, but it’s not clear if it was the Captain Peachfuzz script or something else. As can be expected for most twelve-year-olds, however, after writing twenty pages Tarantino abandoned it and never thought much more about it; not that the biographers could. Some biographies of Tarantino make this out to be a script he wrote not only in full, but when he was twenty-two, and thus at the beginning of his truly serious period of starting to work on scripts. Because of this, people tend to see the project as much more serious than the goofy idea of a kid beginning to understand where he wanted to go with his life.

			Lovebirds in Bondage

			Starting in 1983, Quentin worked on this project with his Video Outtakes/Video Archives friend Scott McGill. McGill had an idea for a short film about a man who falls in love with a woman whose behavior becomes erratic after being involved in a car accident. When she is institutionalized, the man contrives a way to get himself committed as well so he can be with her.

			Only a portion of the script was shot, all of which featured the actor of the group of friends making the film—Tarantino—as the boyfriend. No casting was completed for other parts in the film, and things fizzled out over time as people moved on to other projects. As to the footage completed, the story McGill told was that his mother had burned it at some point, although Tarantino and others involved suspect that McGill himself destroyed it (Roger Avary reportedly stated that McGill burned the film as he found the results embarrassing). McGill would eventually help out as a cinematographer on the next Tarantino-related project, My Best Friend’s Birthday, but in 1987 he committed suicide, leaving Lovebirds in Bondage only a bittersweet moment of youthful activity in the lives of those involved.

			Criminal Mind

			In 1981, while attending the James Best School, Tarantino became good friends with a fellow student and sometimes working stuntman/actor, Craig Hamann. Hamann and Tarantino hung out often during those years and after, with Tarantino eventually hooking Hamann up with a job at Video Archives. At that point in time, both were looking for work as actors, and, once Lovebirds in Bondage sank, they decided to collaborate on some material to see if it would help them land acting jobs.

			An early project of the two was a treatment for a script called Criminal Mind. The treatment (which seems to have disappeared in the ether) deals with a serial killer police are tracking, only for the crimes to suddenly stop. The police are then left with trying to continue their investigation with the clues drying up. Although it sounds like an intriguing concept for a film, nothing further ever developed on the project beyond what the two had written.

			My Best Friend’s Birthday

			With no bites for Criminal Mind, Hamann and Tarantino instead began on a script of which Hamann had a little over thirty pages written. With Tarantino’s involvement, the pair built it to feature length and set about scraping together the money, people, and equipment in order to film it themselves. At the time, such a feat didn’t seem like such a pie-in-the-sky endeavor. The low-budget, quirky comedy Stranger Than Paradise (1984) by Jim Jarmusch had come out by that time, while earlier films like the cult classic Evil Dead (1981) by Sam Raimi and the Coen Brothers’ Blood Simple (1984) have proven that not only could extreme low budget filmmaking be done, but it could be imaginative, not-boring “art” films, and—best of all—profitable.
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					The 1984 film Stranger Than Paradise by Jim Jarmusch, along with other independent films like it in the early 1980s, convinced Tarantino that he could find an inroad to Hollywood success by making his own movies.

				

			

			It also fulfilled a goal of Tarantino’s that he set when working on the interview book about directors. In discussing directing with those that were making a living at it, he was discovering over and over again that each had made their first film by the time they were thirty. Tarantino decided he would achieve that goal by the age of twenty-six. He and Hamann had the script ready in 1984, and so Tarantino thought for sure he could get the film done before reaching that age. The twosome managed to latch onto a 16mm camera and recruited former classmates from the acting schools they attended together as well as people working at Video Archives (in some cases, one and the same). With Roger Avary and Scott McGill helping behind the camera, Hamann and Tarantino took the lead roles, and the gang of friends began shooting the black-and-white film on weekends when time, money, and space made themselves available.

			Hamann played the lead role of Mickey, a man who works as a DJ at a radio station. His best friend is a hyperactive fellow DJ named Clarence and played by Tarantino (most of you reading are thinking, “of course”). Mickey is about to have his thirtieth birthday and is feeling depressed, which isn’t helped by initiating a chain of events that leads to him and Clarence being fired by the radio station (thanks to an on-air fit by Clarence after snorting itching powder that he thought was cocaine).

			Going home, Mickey finds his former girlfriend there, only to realize she had come by with her new, more successful boyfriend to pick up some albums. Even more depressed now, Mickey plans to call it an early night, but Clarence has other ideas in store for him. Wanting to get him a date, Clarence sends a woman he meets at a bar over to Mickey’s place, not realizing until after she agrees that she’s a call girl. Figuring it will work out just as well that she’s getting paid to go over, Clarence sends her to Mickey’s place with a key to his apartment. After setting up the “date,” Clarence leaves to pick up a lot of sweets and a cake at a bakery, while Misty’s pimp walks into the bar looking for her. Under threat, the bartender sends him to Mickey’s apartment, but the pimp has a poor sense of direction and spends a segment of the film wandering the streets, trying to find the address, as he fumes and mutters.

			After the bakery stop, Clarence calls his girlfriend, Cecilia, who is a cop and whose partner, Eddie, is her other boyfriend. Eddie suspects she is seeing Clarence on the side, and she knows it, breaking up with Clarence over the phone before Eddie’s violent temper explodes. Elsewhere, a private detective delivers photos to Eddie that prove his suspicions about Clarence and Cecilia. He leaves a message on Clarence’s phone machine to let him know that he’ll be right over to take care of him.

			Mickey is surprised in his shower by Misty, who tells him to come out to the bedroom when he is ready. Before Mickey can work up his nerve, the pimp arrives and tries to threaten Misty, only to end up nearly getting his nose broken. Mickey then comes out to the bedroom to find Misty and the pimp. Misty runs off as the pimp pulls out nunchucks, while Mickey locks himself in the bathroom, closing the door on the clumsy pimp’s face. The two eventually fight hand to hand, with Mickey easily sending the pimp sailing out of the apartment and into a trashcan in the alleyway. Mickey leaves his apartment and drives off.

			Meanwhile, a heartbroken Clarence is driving over to Mickey’s place and sees Misty walking down the street. He picks her up and, in a misunderstanding, assumes that she had been with Mickey and Mickey couldn’t “perform.” Clarence refuses to take the money back he had given her earlier, and instead the two head back to his apartment to talk. Misty admits that Mickey was her first-ever trick and had previously worked at K-Mart. Clarence admits he worked at K-Mart as well, in the women’s shoe department—which was okay by him, as he has a foot fetish anyway. Misty said that she became a call girl after seeing Dressed to Kill, a Brian De Palma movie with Nancy Allen as a call girl. They realize they have a lot in common and begin to kiss.

			As Cecilia heads over to Clarence’s place, Mickey arrives and walks in on Clarence and Misty going at it. Asking to talk to Clarence alone, Mickey is actually cheered up by Clarence over the cake and a copy of Rio Bravo on VHS Clarence got him for his birthday. As Mickey begins to cool down and is talked into a shower to clear his head, the pimp back at his apartment building wakes up and heads off to find Misty and Mickey.
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					Nancy Allen in Brian De Palma’s 1980 thriller Dressed to Kill. Tarantino was so taken by the character that he would write both Misty in the My Best Friend’s Birthday script and Alabama in the True Romance script as becoming prostitutes after seeing Nancy Allen in this film. 

				

			

			Cecilia arrives at Clarence’s apartment and, thinking it is Clarence in the shower, strips down and opens the door, only to find a surprised Mickey. Cecilia wonders aloud if Mickey and Clarence are a gay couple before Mickey slams the shower door shut on her. She heads back into another room only to hear giggling under a blanket and realizes that Clarence is with someone else. Cecilia begins drinking heavily in another part of the apartment, as Mickey comes out and apologizes for yelling at her. Thinking the cop uniform is a costume, he figures Cecilia is another call girl sent over by Misty and Clarence for him. Cecilia attacks Mickey in drunken lust. Clarence walks in on them and is upset that Mickey is making out with his girlfriend. Cecilia and Misty then attack each other, and Mickey tries to break them up, only to end up getting kicked and hit with assorted desserts that Clarence had gotten him. Mickey dumps whipped cream on Clarence’s head in anger and stomps back to the bathroom to clean up.

			With Mickey in the shower and Clarence at the bathroom sink, Cecilia and Misty are still arguing as Eddie arrives at the front door of the apartment. The two women run into the bathroom to hide. When Eddie breaks in, Clarence, Cecilia, and Misty—all in various stages of undress—jump into the shower with the naked Mickey. Eddie breaks into the bathroom to find them in the shower together. Eddie swings at Clarence, who ducks, with the punch connecting with Mickey’s face.

			Seeing Clarence in trouble, Mickey punches Eddie. Eddie brushes him off, making Clarence so mad that he takes a swing at Eddie, who dodges the swing, and the punch connects with Mickey’s face instead, sending him down to the floor unconscious. Clarence promises the same to Eddie, but Eddie clocks him and Clarence is out like a light.

			The pimp arrives, accidentally knocking Eddie out with the front door while entering. Misty clobbers the pimp, and Cecilia and Misty look down to see the four men out cold on the floor of the apartment. Cecilia thinks Misty would make a good cop with her moves, and the two take turns telling the unconscious men exactly what they think of them before heading off together to get a drink at a bar.

			The four men slowly pick themselves off the floor. They complain about their lots in life before heading to a bar to have a drink to get over things. Eventually, Eddie takes off so he can bust some criminal heads, while Mickey drags Clarence outside to talk. However, once in the alley, it is Clarence that needs the cheering up, and Mickey gives it to him by doing some Dirty Harry impressions. Clarence hands Mickey a joint “from my private stash” and leaves him to have a smoke on the hood of a car in the alley. Just as Mickey begins to relax with his smoke, red and blue flashing lights fill the alley, and he realizes the car he has been sitting on is a police car. An officer begins to climb out to talk to the once-again surprised Mickey, as the film comes to an end.

			The script is fun, with a nice mix of sex, violence, and action while still being an innocent screwball comedy: the pimp is nearly an Inspector Clouseau in his bumbling, the violent cop actually never does more than give what he gets by other characters, the call girl gives up her career before even having her first trick, while Mickey and Clarence obviously care about each other as friends. My Best Friend’s Birthday could have worked.

			But it didn’t, and the footage that floats around on the internet shows why. The script needed the camera movements, editing, and plain kinetic energy of someone like a Sam Raimi or the Coen Brothers. Kevin Smith ten years later would prove that a cheap black-and-white movie about a depressed guy, his impulsive friend, and the hazards of relationships and friendships, Clerks (1994), could be done and be successful. But it simply wasn’t there in what Tarantino and his friends had shot. Obviously improvisations were allowed that deviate from the script and also spoil some of the fun on the page, while the footage is stagnant and the acting—which Tarantino himself has clearly stated—was amateurish.

			But that was not known for years. With limited resources, all the money Hamann and Tarantino used was going into the filming and not into the processing. It was three years in before Tarantino finally got a chance to get the material they had shot over the years through the lab in order to see how it all hung together. The plain truth was that it didn’t. It was clearly what it had always been—a home movie made by a group of friends who got together on weekends. It wasn’t a film, certainly not like how the mind’s eye would play out the script the pair had written. Not only that, but to fix all the problems, Tarantino realized he would have to spend at least another year and a half and more money. Scott McGill’s suicide in 1987 no doubt put some strain on trying to complete the comedy he was working on, as well. It simply was not physically or mentally feasible to complete it. It wasn’t fun anymore.

			Tarantino was depressed, but then tried to see it for what it was—a learning experience. “This was the best film school a person could possibly have,” he told Charlie Rose in 1994. “Instead of like going to school and paying a ton of money to be allowed to use some of their crappy equipment, all right, I actually went out and I actually tried to make a feature film. All right, now I failed. It was guitar picks when I was finished . . . but the stuff that I did the last couple of months [of filming] wasn’t so bad.” Or, as he told Michel Ciment and Hubert Niogret, also in 1994, “Well, that’s my film school. I learned how not to make a movie.”

			The completed footage eventually turned up on YouTube and other sources, as well as occasional film festivals, and still attracts enough attention to have fans ask if any more footage would ever turn up. The story for years went that the movie had been completed, but then a lab accident led to the destruction of a good chunk of the footage. It was a good excuse for abandoning the project, but according to the website IMDB, Roger Avary denied that occurred. Instead, it was clear that once Tarantino (and most probably some of the others) saw the results, it was agreed to move on. “We just never finished it due to running out of steam” was Avary’s conclusion about the project.

			Even so, what is there, from the script and the footage, allows us to see the genesis of some themes that would turn up in later Tarantino projects.

			•	The name Misty was taken from Misty Knight, a Marvel Comics character—comics having a way of leaking into dialogue and background visuals in some of Tarantino’s movies (especially Reservoir Dogs).

			•	The name Clarence would become that of the protagonist in Tarantino’s script for True Romance.

			•	Speaking of which, in the assembled footage, Tarantino does a speech as Clarence about how he would “fuck Elvis.” Clarence gives a similar speech at the beginning of True Romance.

			•	Mickey would become the name of one of the serial killers in Natural Born Killers.

			•	A call girl starting out in the business who abandons the job and her pimp after being with a “nice guy” is the opening theme in True Romance.

			•	Misty becomes a call girl in hopes of being one like Nancy Allen in Brian De Palma’s Dressed to Kill. Tarantino’s original script for True Romance has Alabama becoming a call girl for the same reason.

			•	K-Billy Radio returns to the air in Reservoir Dogs in order to play “Stuck in the Middle with You.”

			•	Movie trivia is a common dialogue resource for Tarantino in many of his movies.

			•	Snorting powder believed to be cocaine leads to disastrous results (Mia OD’ing in Pulp Fiction when she snorts heroin; Clarence losing his job after snorting itching powder in My Best Friend’s Birthday).

			•	Hiding in the shower to avoid detection, which was also done in From Dusk Till Dawn.

			•	The women turn out to be stronger and better adjusted in their outlooks than the men, as in nearly every Tarantino film.

			•	Clarence’s casual admittance that he has a foot fetish. Yeah, you know where we’re heading there.

			The script for My Best Friend’s Birthday would pop up again after Tarantino hit it big with Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction. On March 21, 1996, Variety published an article by Anita M. Busch (“Old Partners Acquire Earliest Tarantino Script”) detailing the purchase of the script from Craig Hamann by a team of people under the name of Expletive Entertainment. The article goes on to say that the script was being rewritten by Hamann and Roger Avary (who almost immediately denied the claim and had Variety strike it from their article) and that the group—made up of Don Murphy, Jane Hamsher (both producers on Natural Born Killers), Cathryn James (Tarantino’s former manager), and attorney Martin Barab—had invited Tarantino to be involved.

			In her 1997 book Killer Instinct, Jane Hamsher discusses the strained relationship she and Murphy had with Tarantino over the script for Natural Born Killers. Near the end of the book, and after Natural Born Killers had been released, she describes how Expletive Entertainment came about. Craig Hamann had the script and wanted to do something with it, only for Tarantino to drag out any kind of commitment in filming it (Hamsher states Tarantino was always talking of wanting to go back to it in interviews, but most articles and interviews of the time suggest he didn’t see it in that light). Hamsher paints a picture of Hamann being anxious to do something with the script as he was “struggling to make it,” but Hamsher goes on to say that another reason to purchase the script was because “payback is a bitch.”
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					Tarantino cowriter/costar of the unfinished My Best Friend’s Birthday, Craig Hamann, would go on to make other films, including the 1998 Boogie Boy, which was produced by another former Tarantino associate, Roger Avary. 

				

			

			Creating the company in order to purchase the script from Hamann, the group then publicized the possibility of producing a film based on it in order to “get back at [Tarantino]” and forcing “that cheap bastard Quentin” to pay truckloads of money in a lawsuit to give Hamann clear claim to the script. The suit was filed in August 1996, but little is known about the results beyond that of there never being a film made. The description in the book paints a somewhat sad picture of Hamann, making him out to be unable to establish himself as a writer unless he could get My Best Friend’s Birthday filmed, which really wasn’t the case. Hamann had written the scripts for two movies by 1996—Stalked (1994, a.k.a. Pursued) and Dollman vs. Demonic Toys (1993)—while going on to direct and script Boogie Boy in 1998.

			Eventually things wound down, the lawsuit came to an end and My Best Friend’s Birthday—what at one time was a crazy project by friends to achieve success—had become a lawsuit and the basis of broken promises. The fun of the script was tainted by the things that happened years later, and it is little wonder that the script has quietly been put to rest.

			Nevertheless, at the time, Tarantino felt the experience had given him a good idea of what it would be like to be behind the camera and try to actually bring the visions he had in his head and in his script up on the screen. For the moment, however, he needed to get work, and the main way of doing so was to write scripts that people would buy. He had already proven that he could get paid to write, thanks to the From Dusk to Dawn gig that netted him $1,500 right as things were fizzling on the My Best Friend’s Birthday project, even if the film wasn’t getting made at the time. Now he had to set his sights on pushing his way into the field and getting noticed.

			Past Midnight

			It would become Quentin Tarantino’s first true film credit (once you looked past cleaning dog crap for Dolph Lundgren in a workout video; see chapter 1 for more details). It also came about in the way nearly everything seems to happen in Hollywood—by accident.

			Realizing that he was actually moving further into the movie industry by writing material for others than obtaining work as an actor, Tarantino began concentrating on scripts. Two of the scripts he was working on at the time were those for Natural Born Killers and True Romance, with Reservoir Dogs coming along soon after. Typically, such scripts get pushed from hand to hand, from one person who may have a studio connection to another, until either it gets made into a movie or it simply fades away into a pile with other such spec scripts (so called because they are scripts that are done in the speculation that someone will read it and turn it into a film). The other possibility is that a studio will like what they see in the writing, but for various reasons not care for the script itself. In such circumstances, the studio may ask the scriptwriter to write a new script based on another idea, treatment, or script they already have in the works.

			This is exactly what happened with Past Midnight. CineTel was a production company that was venturing into making more movies themselves after distributing a number of horror, action, and crime dramas through the 1980s. At the time, the director Bill Lustig was looking at the script of True Romance and trying to square himself and Tarantino a deal for the film with CineTel to get it made. CineTel passed on True Romance (and more details about Lustig’s tenure on True Romance in chapter 18), but liked something in Tarantino’s writing. Past Midnight’s producer and CineTel head Lisa Hansen, along with associate producer Catalaine Knell, thought enough of Tarantino’s way with dialogue to pay him $7,000—some sources say $25,000—to punch up a script they were planning to produce that had been written by Frank Norwood (who also wrote the action-crime film Driven to Kill the same year).

			Tarantino commenced rewriting much of the script, to the annoyance of director Jan Eliasberg (mainly a director of television crime dramas before and since) and star Rutger Hauer (Blade Runner, Nighthawks, The Hitcher). To them, the script has been altered to be something that they had not signed up for, and both reverted back to Norwood’s writing whenever possible. Costar Natasha Richardson, however, had no problem with the changes, and Tarantino would later say that the film became a 50-50 endeavor, with Hauer using Norwood’s dialogue and Richardson using his. Because of his assistance on the film, it was agreed that, while he would not get a writer’s credit, he would get an associate producer one, thus making it his first professional credit for a film where his work was up on the screen.
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					Past Midnight (1992), a made-for-television movie for the USA cable network and one of Tarantino’s first script-doctoring jobs. His work on the film led to him getting an associate producer credit on it.

				

			

			The film deals with Laura Matthews (Natasha Richardson), a social worker who has been assigned Ben Jordan (Rutger Hauer), a paroled criminal sent to prison for murdering his pregnant wife while drunk and filming the results. As she gets to know the brooding Jordan, Matthews becomes obsessed with understanding his crime, to the point where she is convinced that he didn’t do it. Becoming romantically involved with Jordan, she discovers she is pregnant and Jordan may be attempting to recreate the murder with her.

			The film was never released theatrically in the U.S. and instead premiered on the USA Network on December 12, 1992. This would place it after Reservoir Dogs was in the process of being slowly released, but before Tarantino was a big-enough name to make mentioning his involvement worth the trouble in advertising. The San Jose Mercury News reviewed the movie as a “world-class thriller to make up for all those dumb ‘women in jeopardy’ movies it usually schedules” (“USA Network’s Past Midnight Is a Chilling, Effective Thriller,” by Ron Miller). Ironically, the review also quoted dialogue from the film written by Tarantino as being one of the reason the film was as good as it was. A review in Empire magazine by well-known enthusiast Kim Newman gave the film 3 out of 5 stars, calling it “a decent thriller with a pair of good lead performances.” In general, reviews were positive for the film, albeit with emphasis that it was a lesser take on Jagged Edge (1985) territory.

			Material in the movie that showed obvious Tarantino involvement included:

			•	Jordan being referred to as not being a “natural born killer.”

			•	A comparison made by Alan Barnes and Marcus Hearn in their book Tarantino: A to Zed (B. T. Batsford, 1999) is Jordan’s IQ being compared to Ted Bundy’s, while in Natural Born Killers, Mickey’s television ratings are compared to those of other serial killers.

			•	A character named Dr. Zastoupil; Zastoupil being Quentin’s last name as he was growing up until he changed it to his father’s name when going into acting.

			The money from Past Midnight came in handy for Tarantino, yet by the time the movie was being filmed and eventually premiered on television, his world was beginning to not only come into complete focus, but bring him into a whole new world. No more obstacles were to stand in his way; from here on out, his career would burst open as he navigated The Open Road.

		

	
		
			3
That’s a Big Lie

			So What Is The Open Road?

			Interviewer: Did you incorporate any scenes from that script into your later scripts?

			Tarantino: I never did because The Open Road was just so damn specific. Well, I did, you know. That’s a big lie, ’cause actually I did do one thing. The character I was going to play, a guy named F. Scarland, was in my very first draft of Natural Born Killers that people ever read.

			—From “Method Writing: An Interview with Quentin Tarantino” by Erik Bauer (Creative Screenwriting, January/February 1998)

			Quentin Tarantino came out of his acting classes with one sense of accomplishment; if nothing else, he was beginning to see himself as a writer. More importantly, when throwing together scripts of particular movie scenes the other students could act out in class (as discussed in Chapter 1), he was gaining the reputation of reinterpreting the dialogue from those scenes. In an interview with Terry Gross for Fresh Air (NPR, December 28, 2009), Tarantino remembered being asked by a fellow student, Ronnie Coleman, to write out a scene from Paddy Chayefsky’s Marty, only for Coleman to have a paperback of the original play and realize that Tarantino had invented a monologue about a fountain that was not in the script. Tarantino was embarrassed, only for Coleman to tell him that he thought it was actually a good bit of writing. This wasn’t Quentin thinking he was being cleverer than the original screenwriters as much as having to go solely on his memory of the material when writing the scripts. As could be expected, some of the other students noticed, but rather than rag him on the misquoting, congratulated him on giving them good, fresh material to perform.

			Thus, when his friend Craig Hamann handed him his script for My Best Friend’s Birthday, Tarantino asked about beefing up the material so they could do something with it. And Hamann was happy to do so; not only because he now had a “partner in crime” for filming the script, but also due to the evidence he had from the acting school of how Tarantino could take a script and make it better. As time would tell, this talent began a trademark of Tarantino’s writing, and in another world where Reservoir Dogs never happened, there is no doubt that Tarantino would be known today as one of Hollywood’s best script doctors (i.e., someone who takes a script and changes, adds, or deletes scenes, dialogue and possibly more in order to “heal” the script that otherwise works). Tarantino would go on to prove that very point with his work on Frank Norwood’s script for Past Midnight (see chapter 2), and would later add material that would become the best-remembered portions of films such as Crimson Tide, Sleep with Me, and It’s Pat. Okay, actually, no one wants to remember It’s Pat, but he did work on the script a bit (as discussed in more detail in chapter 7). So even in the mid-1980s, when Roger Avary, Tarantino’s friend and fellow Video Archive worker (as it seems where nearly everyone in Tarantino’s atmosphere worked), showed Quentin a script he had written, it was only natural for Quentin to ask if he could take the script away and add some things to it.

			
				
					[image: 03_01.jpg]
				

				
					Clarence and Alabama of True Romance (1993) and Mickey and Mallory of Natural Born Killers (1994) all made their first appearance in the “500-page” script Quentin Tarantino and Roger Avary wrote called The Open Road. 
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			The roughly eighty-page script (Tarantino would later state it was only forty pages in the Erik Bauer interview) had poured out of Avary, but was quickly becoming a fading passion for him when he started to work on a spec script about the Marvel Comics character the Silver Surfer. With Tarantino’s excitement, Avary thought something could still come of it and was happy to see his friend wanting to be involved, figuring Tarantino could get the script up to a proper page length.

			The script before Tarantino got to it was “more like After Hours,” Avary is quoted as saying in Jeff Dawson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool (Applause Books, 1995). “Quentin loved it and said, ‘Oh, you’ve got to rewrite this,’ but I wasn’t into it.” It dealt with a serious businessman on a car trip who picks up a crazy hitchhiker—most likely the F. Scarland character Tarantino mentioned in the Bauer interview. The two eventually end up in a “crazy surreal town,” as Tarantino recalls, or a “Hellish Mid-Western town,” as Avary remembers it. Tarantino found the original script to be an inventive comedy, but didn’t like the ending and thought more should happen with the main characters. With Avary’s consent, Tarantino began expanding it (Craig Hamann would claim that Tarantino even momentarily changed the title to Be-Bop-a-Lula before switching back to Open Road).

			The “straight-laced businessman” of the original screenplay became Clarence, a comic book store clerk (or so say some sources about the script) on a road trip who meets up with and becomes the boyfriend of Alabama, a woman on the run. As they travel, the film cuts away in a French Lieutenant’s Woman fashion to the fantasy world of a screenplay Clarence is writing during their travels. The script, Natural Born Killers, is about two crazed serial killers, Mickey and Mallory, and the wacky things that happen to them. From what various sources close to the script have said over the years, more and more things that Clarence writes into his script start happening to him and Alabama in reality– including a Mexican Standoff—to the point where fantasy and reality begin to merge. As to the ending? “I ultimately found out that I didn’t have a good ending for it either,” as he told Eric Bauer. “I saw no way to end it.”

			By the time his senses caught up with his writing, Tarantino realized that he had written something that was impossible to film as is. Avary would tell Sharon Waxman for her book Rebels on the Backlot that the script—still without an ending to Tarantino’s liking—was “handwritten, five hundred pages, held together by a rubber band in a folder.” It was at that point that Tarantino, and no doubt with the advice of friends, decided that he really had two scripts jammed together and began splitting them apart

			Soon enough and with the mutual agreement of Roger Avary, The Open Road was no more. Instead, the two began tearing apart the massive script Tarantino had written and in its place worked on building two scripts—one to become True Romance and the other Natural Born Killers. Along the way, assorted concepts and scenes would make their way into both Avary’s Killing Zoe script and Tarantino’s Pulp Fiction—a situation that would eventually lead to the two friends falling out over “who wrote what” in the award-winning script for Tarantino’s 1994 film.

			But all the fuss about the Pulp Fiction script was still to come as the 1990s began and Tarantino and Avary began hunting around to get a script—any script—financed. The pursuit of that objective would commence Quentin Tarantino’s film career and time in the spotlight soon enough, as the next chapter explains.

		

	
		
			4
I Didn’t Exist Until Reservoir Dogs

			The Making of Reservoir Dogs

			Release Date: World Premiere at the Sundance Film Festival on January 18, 1992. In limited release on October 23, 1992

			It is one of Quentin Tarantino’s most famous quotes. The subject came up early in his career about how he learned to write and direct. After all, along comes Reservoir Dogs, and critics and audiences alike were asking the same question, “Who is this guy?” He seemingly comes out of nowhere with an intriguing and funny caper movie starring some well-known faces and takes everyone by storm. The assumption was that Tarantino must have had years of experience or training. Instead it came down to the quote that summed it all up: “When people ask me if I went to film school, I tell them, ‘No, I went to films.’”

			The previous chapters have pointed out that Tarantino’s career as a filmmaker was not an overnight success. Years of work went into first channeling his efforts towards becoming an actor, then writing (in order to support his acting) and finally filmmaking (in order to support his writing, in order to support his acting). In the end, he became exactly what he knew he would be—a filmmaker. Yet that came from hard years of concentrating solely on moving up the ladder, with scripts slowly starting to gain the attention of people who had the influence to get the job done.

			Because later chapters in this book deal with specific details related to all the films, such as music, locations, and fake product placement, this chapter will deal with specific details about each movie in the Tarantino catalog. This way, readers who are not quite familiar with all of the films in the catalog will have a better understanding of them when they are discussed sometimes in brief detail in subsequent chapters. The chapter is broken down in the following manner:

			•	Title of film

			•	Production notes about the making of each film (when, where, how, etc.)

			•	Cast

			•	Sequential Plot—this section deals with the plots of each movie in a chronological order, rather than Tarantino’s typical method of mixing scenes in different orders of past, present, and future for dramatic effects.

			•	The Script—details elements of the scripts known to have been written and sometimes even filmed, but changed and/or edited out of the completed movies.

			•	The Backend—critical reviews, monetary results, and other events that occurred related to each film after being released.

			•	Thoughts—my own thoughts on each film as a fan and writer.

			As longtime fans know, Tarantino’s work on The Open Road led to it becoming the scripts for True Romance and Natural Born Killers, as well as a bit of Pulp Fiction. It’ll be mentioned again later, but the objective was to sell the script or produce a film of True Romance. When nothing seemed to be happening there, Natural Born Killers went around to be sold or to get funding. And when that didn’t seem to be moving, Tarantino started thinking of some elements of Pulp Fiction. Yet, through a series of events, finally the money came through for another script. One that Tarantino threw together in three weeks and would end up becoming the lynchpin to everything that would happen in his career once it was released in October 1992. As he told Variety when discussing his first feature film in the December 19, 1991, edition of the entertainment paper: “I didn’t exist until Reservoir Dogs.”

			Production

			If you’ve read the previous chapters, you have a pretty good idea of where Tarantino’s mindset was at as he entered the 1990s. He wants to be an actor, but his big break was a bit part playing an Elvis impersonator with a group of other men dressed as Elvis impersonators on one episode of The Golden Girls back in 1988. The two attempts to make films on his own with friends—Lovebirds in Bondage and My Best Friend’s Birthday—were more like haunting memories than anywhere near being productive, especially after the death of friend Scott McGill. Getting a little bit of cash from working on screenplays as a script doctor has been somewhat beneficial, but it has also been slowgoing, and attempts to use that and other open doors to get scripts looked at had been a series of “no thanks-yous” at best and “never send me any of this crap again” at worst.

			Still, Tarantino was beginning to hear a buzz about his two scripts floating around town for True Romance and Natural Born Killers. Even so, it wasn’t like the offers were pouring in either. As it turns out, what happened next was truly a case of “knowing a friend, who knows a friend.”

			While still working at Imperial Entertainment, Tarantino met up with a man named Sheldon Lettich, a writer and director who worked on a series of films with Jean Claude Van Damme in the late 1980s and onward, including the cult classic Bloodsport (1988). He was also involved with a 1987 film called Thou Shalt Not Kill . . . Except, which involved Evil Dead/Spider-Man director Sam Raimi in a lead role as the bad guy, and also involved Evil Dead actor Bruce Campbell behind the scenes. It was enough to convince Tarantino that Lettich may have some good ideas about getting films made, and Lettich eventually would introduce Tarantino to the screenwriter for Thou Shalt Not Kill . . . Except, Scott Spiegel. Spiegel was starting to steadily go up the ranks in Hollywood, managing to get his script sold for The Rookie—eventually made as a film for Clint Eastwood in 1990—while directing a stalker/slasher movie in 1989 called The Intruder. 
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					The original U.S. poster for Reservoir Dogs (1992). 

				

			

			Tarantino would become friends with Spiegel, and it was at a barbeque at Spiegel’s place in May 1990 that Tarantino met the man who really changed things for him, Lawrence Bender. Bender was a one-time professional dancer who had gone into acting after being injured, only to find his true calling when he began producing films, including Spiegel’s Intruder. As Tarantino was wont to do with people who had any type of interest and ability in Hollywood, he began discussing some of his scripts floating around. Bender showed some interest when Tarantino mentioned his True Romance script, as Bender had read it, but it was more of a case of two ships passing in the night, and they both went their own ways.

			A few months later, Spiegel asked Bender to see if he could give Tarantino any help in getting some of his scripts moving. Bender suggested doing something with True Romance, yet that was tied up with director William Lustig, who was working to get it off the ground. Tarantino showed him the Natural Born Killers script instead, which intrigued Bender, but not enough for Bender to really want to get behind it. This was actually fine with Tarantino—he not only had his friend from the Video Archives days Rand Vossler working to secure a deal for the script, but Tarantino confessed he was actually getting tired of having to deal with the project—one that he had been pushing for a couple of years by that point, along with True Romance—and wanted to try something different.

			Tarantino mentioned an idea he had about a criminal gang who are involved in a heist that goes wrong and the ramifications of everyone’s actions afterwards. Bender thought the plot had potential, especially as it took place in essentially one big room and therefore would be fairly cheap to film. Plus, since Tarantino had voiced his objective to play one of the meatier parts in the film (this would change over time) and direct it, he had a better chance of doing so with a very low-budget film than something with a bigger studio.

			Tarantino went off and wrote the script in three weeks—an accomplishment he thought at the time wasn’t that big a deal, as it was mostly dialogue based, which he believed at the time to be the easiest for him to write. As the years have gone by, Tarantino has admitted that he had other films in his head when putting the script together, especially Stanley Kubrick’s The Killing (1956) and John Huston’s The Asphalt Jungle (1950)—both of which star Sterling Hayden and deal with a group of professional criminals recruited for a meticulously planned heist that goes wrong. For this, some critics began to assume that Tarantino simply ripped off his concepts for the script, but crime movies of this sort had been a staple of Hollywood and elsewhere for years and before what Huston and Kubrick did (they may have made the best of the genre, but not the first). Even so, and even with Tarantino willingly admitting in interviews over the years that he wanted to make a movie similar to The Killing and others, Reservoir Dogs would see the start of a trend where some of his critics considered everything he did as suspect (and addressed in further detail in a later chapter).

			After finishing, he showed the script to Bender, who suggested that Tarantino give him a year to find a buyer for it to make it into a studio film. This was different from what Tarantino had envisioned, especially as he finally had some money in his pocket thanks to selling the True Romance script for $50,000 (some sources say $30,000, but this was the amount he planned to use of the script sale for the new endeavor). His idea was that they could start filming in December 1990 in black and white, with himself as Mr. Pink, Bender as Nice Guy Eddie, and the rest of the cast would be friends they both knew, with the True Romance money financing the filming. He even began sending the script around to friends for possible casting. Now, suddenly, Bender was suggesting Tarantino go through the long haul that had taken forever with True Romance—which still looked like it might not end up being made into an actual film at the time—and was not appearing to ever happen to his Natural Born Killers script. As Tarantino is quoted as telling Bending in Jeff Dawson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool, “I go, ‘No, I’ve heard that all before. Forget it, I don’t trust that.’ I’d spent six years trying to get deals on films. No one was gonna give me a job to make a new movie. No one was gonna take a chance and go, ‘Here’s a million dollars,’ and so I took my destiny out of their hands.”

			Bender and Tarantino continued to discuss which way to go with the script until finally Tarantino gave Bender two months to find a buyer. If that didn’t happen, they would make the film themselves. Bender knew it wasn’t much time, and in the meantime had set up a bank loan so that between the two of them they had $50,000. Thus, any possible deal from an outsider had to be better than the $50,000 self-produced concept Tarantino was set to do if nothing came out of Bender’s search.

			In Dawson’s book, Bender states that a few offers rolled in: one man offered them $1.6 million if the film ended like The Sting, with everyone who died suddenly springing back to life and walking away as the punch line to what the possible producer saw as a wacky comedy film. Another man was willing to give them $500,000 as long as they gave the Mr. Blonde role to his girlfriend to play (“It was such an off the wall idea that we actually went back and talked about it for an hour,” mentioned Bender in the book). Too often, potential buyers looked at heavily dialogued scenes all set in a warehouse and suggested doing it for the stage, which only frustrated Tarantino’s cinematic vision of the script.

			The first offer that really grabbed their attention, however, came by way of Monte Hellman, director of cult films such as Two-Lane Blacktop. Hellman had been given the script under the mistaken impression that he was to direct, and thus asked to speak with Tarantino about it. Hellman met with Tarantino, and once Tarantino made it clear that he planned to direct himself, Hellman was still impressed enough with the script that he offered to put in money and help as an executive producer. Between this and the money Bender and Tarantino had, they were clear of $200,000.

			With Hellman’s involvement, the wheels began to move faster, as Hellman began pursuing bigger names in the industry that could put more money into the film. The usual response was that the script was strong but too violent; plus, no one wanted to have a first-time director with no previous history of work (Tarantino felt it wise to avoid mentioning the bits and pieces of My Best Friend’s Birthday as evidence, since it only would prove negative). Eventually, there was an offer of $1 million from a producer, but who wanted even more violence in it than Tarantino felt was necessary. Then Hellman contacted Richard N. Gladstein, who was working at Live Entertainment.

			Gladstein was at the time working as an executive producer of movies and had worked as such on Silent Night, Deadly Night 3: Better Watch Out!, which had been directed by Hellman. He had only recently started working with Live Entertainment, which was a division of Carolco made up of two earlier entities, IVE and FHE, in order to produce and distribute films. Gladstein met with Hellman, Bender, and Tarantino and was finally convinced that Tarantino could direct the film (with Hellman stating that he would be happy to assist if needed, although he later told Tarantino he only would offer advice if asked). Bender would become a producer on the film (and eventually with Harvey Keitel being asked to take a producer title as well), while Gladstein and Hellman would work as executive producers alongside Ronna B. Wallace, who was there to keep Live Entertainment’s finger in the pie. Wallace had a good year in 1992, having had a similar role in both Bad Lieutenant and Bob Roberts—two other cult favorites that won critical acclaim along with Reservoir Dogs.

			Interest was definitely there, but money—or rather, how much money—was still at issue. Live Entertainment was mainly a video distributor at the time, and the idea was to invest only in small films that had a good chance of making money. A caper movie by an unknown director was not exactly the type of thing Gladstein could take to parent company Carolco and have them endorse it no matter how much confidence he had in the project. Instead, he gave the group a list of ten actors who were big enough to attract ticket buyers or video renters, but who also were willing to sometimes work for smaller pictures if they liked the script rather than holding out for big paydays. On that list of ten names were Christopher Walken, Dennis Hopper, and Harvey Keitel. If the team could get one of the actors from the list in the movie, then they were guaranteed $1.3 million for the filming; two names, $2 million.

			And once again, “friend of a friend” jumped into play. Bender had an acting coach named Peter Floor, and a discussion developed between the two about the possible movie and casting issues. Floor asked Bender who would be his dream choice to get for the picture, and Bender said Harvey Keitel. As it turns out, Floor’s wife, Lilly Parker, was a friend of Keitel’s, and there was an offer to get the script to him to read. Within a day of reading it, Keitel had contacted Bender and Tarantino to say that he wanted to be involved as an actor and in any other way possible.

			Knowing Walken and Hopper, Keitel sought to entice them both to appear in the picture as well, yet neither did—Hopper due to other commitments and Walken to reasons never noted in public. With them out of the picture, Keitel began suggesting a variety of other actors that he felt would be good for the film—to the point that everyone decided his role in the film should be that of a producer instead of only a performer, particularly after he paid to fly Bender and Tarantino to New York to audition actors there (as it turned out, only Steve Buscemi would make the cut of that group).

			With Keitel officially signed to the film, and as casting choices were being made with Ronnie Yeskel, Variety announced in their April 5, 1991, edition that Tarantino would be directing scenes from his Reservoir Dogs script at the Sundance Institute for a workshop in June 1991 before making “his directorial debut in August.” It would be a situation that both shook Tarantino’s confidence and helped solidify his position that he should direct. The footage, featuring Tarantino, Steve Buscemi, and Lawrence Bender, can be found on the Blu-ray and DVD special editions of the movie and demonstrates that Tarantino either had no idea what he was doing or was so in control that he didn’t feel the need to play it safe for the workshop. The scene of Mr. Pink (Tarantino) and Mr. White (Buscemi) discussing the failed heist and what to do with Mr. Orange begins at a low angle from a great distance away, and then moves to follow the characters to a washroom where the camera angles and cutting appear cramped. Another scene filmed, of Mr. White talking to Joe about things in their lives, is strictly talking heads territory when it comes to filming. As others have stated, the video quality make the whole thing look like lost footage from a porno film of the era, and the sound isn’t the greatest either.

			To the first group of directors who reviewed the footage, it looked as if Tarantino was in serious trouble if he was to actually film an entire movie, but another panel of directors—which included Terry Gilliam (Brazil, 12 Monkeys, The Fisher King)—saw someone who had great possibilities as a filmmaker and were encouraging to Tarantino when he needed it most. On The Charlie Rose Show (December 22, 2012), Tarantino remembered seeking advice from Gilliam at lunch during the workshop on how to bring his vision to the screen.

			“He said, ‘Well, Quentin, you have to understand, as a director you don’t have to do that. Your job is to hire talented people who can do that. You hire a cinematographer who can get the kind of quality that you want. You don’t have to be able to know how to take the lights and move them to create an effect. You have a talented costume designer who can give the colors that you need and the flamboyance or not that you want. You hire a production designer who can do that. Your job is explaining your vision. Your job is articulating to them what you want on the screen.’ And then, all of a sudden, the whole mystical shaman, mystic thing that I thought directing was just went boom. And I realized I could do that. There wasn’t this Merlin-like magic kit that I needed to know the right spell in order to conjure. I can describe what I want. I know what’s in my head. That’s the easiest part. I’m good at describing.” 

			He came back to Los Angeles feeling good about his chances, which were compounded when Tarantino’s manager at the time, Cathryn Jaymes, was able to get the attention of the William Morris Agency thanks to the scripts, and convince Tarantino to sign up with the company in June as well.

			But there was still work to be done if they were to start filming at the end of July. Hellman recommended Andrzej Sekula as the director of photography upon seeing some of his work for British television. Sekula impressed Tarantino after paying his own way from Europe to see him, and got the job (and would go on to play the same role for Tarantino in Pulp Fiction and his segment in Four Rooms). David Wasco came in as production designer and would do the same for Tarantino in several of his movies after Reservoir Dog, while Billy Fox signed on as the location manager, and Betsy Heimann as the costume designer.

			Using Tarantino’s guidance and vision, Heimann, Fox, and Wasco gave Reservoir Dogs the look of a fantasy world. Nothing looked “modern” in that it screamed 1991, or even the last few decades—costumes were from an early 1960s period. Buildings were low and older. Cars were fashionable remnants of an earlier age. The bars, restaurants, and even bathrooms looked from an earlier age. Music played on the radio was from the 1970s. Everything looked like it came from a world where fifty years of pop culture had been squashed into a never-ending cycle of one day; never emerging to become anything more than what it was. It was perfect, and the look of Reservoir Dogs has no doubt helped the lasting popularity of the film. There is never a sense of time and place presented, so all that occurs in the film could have been thirty years ago, yesterday, or even sometime in the future. Most impressive of all was the setting of the warehouse where most of the action takes place that only in closer inspection can be noted as being part of a mortuary—what with coffins along the wall and Mr. Blonde (Death himself?) sitting happily on a covered hearse in one corner. In fact, the warehouse used was part of a then-abandoned mortuary (it eventually was destroyed in the years since the film was made), which gave the production team additional rooms to dress as Joe’s office and Orange’s apartment without having to resort to using a studio or finding additional locations. Meanwhile, special effects were handled through KNB EFX, who would also handle similar duties for Pulp Fiction (they got the deal in part due to the relationship built between them and Tarantino after he worked on the From Dusk Till Dawn script for them).

			With casting completed, the actors rehearsed for a week before filming commenced on July 29, 1991 (Variety noted that production was originally to have started July 8, then July 22). Miramax’s website states the film took thirty-five days to film, which is also what is commonly reported in other books on Tarantino. Other sources state that filming was done over the course of five weeks; six days a week (of course, it’s quite possible that it was this way and some additional filming bled into another week). Keeping his shooting schedule a secret so that Live Entertainment would not be able to get nervous if Tarantino didn’t follow it to the letter, filming was done in the following manner:

			•	First week—the opening scene at Uncle Bob’s Pancake House and the office scenes between Joe and Mr. White, and Joe, Nice Guy Eddie, and Mr. Blonde.

			•	Second week—the outdoor sequences featuring the men in various cars talking, as well as the aftermath of the robbery (Mr. Pink’s shootout and carjacking; Mr. Orange getting shot).

			•	Third and fourth week—All the footage around and inside the warehouse that occurs after the robbery.

			•	Fifth week—With cast members disappearing, the focus was solely on Tim Roth and Mr. Orange’s story from before the heist. In the 1992 Ciment and Niogret interview, Tarantino referred to it as being “almost like another movie. I wanted it to be like a TV show; a Starky & Hutch episode.”

			Filming became the most intense during the warehouse filming, which was not helped by being shot in the hottest period of the summer in Los Angeles in a room with as many lights as possible in order to shoot with 50 ASA film. The room would get so hot that Tim Roth would find himself glued to the floor due to the fake blood on him. Even so, most of the cast got along well, although everyone watched their step with Lawrence Tierney. Tierney, who was known to be a bit of a wild man even when not provoked, hit the limit one day due to a variety of factors in the hot, tiring shoot and began taking it out on one of the other actors in the cast. When Tarantino told him to tone it down, Tierney directed his anger at him instead, and the two nearly came to blows before the situation blew over. Meanwhile, both Keitel and Hellman—who as producer and executive producer on the film—may have had titles that allowed them some weight in pushing the film one way or another, but allowed Bender and Tarantino to run the show, only occasionally jumping in with suggestions when they felt it might help.

			A technical problem developed in the filming when the squib (a balloon of fake blood, with a small explosive charge, that is strapped to an actor and set off to give the appearance of being shot) Chris Penn wore in the climactic scene went off early. Penn went with the mistake and crumbled down to the floor as did the others, but it left some viewers with the question as to who shot Nice Guy Eddie when it appears no one had. Penn brought it to Tarantino’s attention, figuring they may have to reshoot the ending, but Tarantino decided to leave it as is, figuring the audience could be the one to resolve that question.

			Some have been curious as to the omission of the actual robbery in the film, but as is clear in the remainder of the movie, the point is about the aftereffects of the botched robbery. People misremember, accuse each other of things, and there’s the topic of the “rat” within the group as well—to have shown the crime would not only have added production costs to the movie, but would have signaled too much information to the audience. Were the cops really waiting for them even before the alarm was tripped, or is Pink remembering things in the wrong order? Did Blonde really need to shoot the place up, or is he the madman that Pink and White claim he is? Would there have to be some type of acknowledgment to the audience that one member was the rat, or perhaps a swerve to draw the audience’s attention to someone who actually wasn’t the rat? In the end, that’s all irrelevant to the plot of the movie—how these men react to each other in a time of desperation.

			Principal shooting was completed in September 1991. Editing would commence with the objective of having the film ready to premiere at the Sundance Film Festival in January 1992. It would be released as a joint production between Live Entertainment and Dog Eat Dog Productions, the name of the production company for Bender and Tarantino.

			The title of Reservoir Dogs? There has been a popular story about the title and variations of it told over the years, but Tarantino himself refuses to explain exactly what his thinking was with the title. He did state to Ciment and Niogret in 1992 that he made up a reason for the title when talking to prospective investors, as he felt if he gave the real origins of the title, people would ask to change it to something “better.” Thus he told the investors that it was a gangster term used in the films Breathless and Bande a part, to mean “rat,” figuring no one they talked to would have seen either movie anyway.

			The story usually told is that it was a title Tarantino came up with during his Video Archives day when a customer asked for a movie to rent. Tarantino suggested the Louis Malle movie, Au revoir les enfants, to which the customer—whether due to Tarantino’s poor pronunciation of the title or the customer’s poor hearing—replied that they “didn’t want to see no Reservoir Dogs.” It’s a good story, but the problem is that the movie was not released on VHS tape to be available as a rental item in a store like Video Archives until 1990—which would have been after Tarantino had already moved on from working there.

			In Jeff Dawson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool, Tarantino’s mother tells a different version of the story. In her version, Quentin’s girlfriend at the time suggested they go watch Au revoir les enfants, to which it was Quentin himself who said, “I don’t want to see no Reservoir Dogs.” But in the end, perhaps it doesn’t matter how it came about, only that Tarantino became hooked on the title. As he told Ciment and Niogret, “This is a great title, I thought. I’d go see a movie called this. So it was finding the right movie to go with it. When I came up with this story, it was like, Boom, that’s it.” Soon enough, everyone became hooked on the title as well, although it would take another film two years down the line in Tarantino’s filmography to get some people to go back to the movie.

			Cast

			Tim Roth as Freddy Newendyke/Mr. Orange

			Started his career in the early 1980s but probably became first known to American audiences with roles in films that played the art theaters like Peter Greenaway’s The Cook, the Thief, His Wife & Her Lover (1989), Robert Altman’s Vincent & Theo (1990, as Vincent Van Gogh), and Tom Stoppard’s Rosencrantz & Guildenstern Are Dead (1990, as Guildenstern). Tarantino would later state that he was ready to sign Tim Roth after hearing of the films he had appeared in, but then nearly dropped him upon seeing his performance in Vincent & Theo, which he hated. A drunken one-on-one discussion in a bar led to Tarantino being convinced to hire Roth.
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					Tim Roth as Mr. Orange in a bloody moment from Reservoir Dogs. Roth would later comment that the fake blood, combined with the heat in the warehouse while filming, would lead to him having to be peeled off the floor when shooting was completed. 

				

			

			Roth would go on to play Pumpkin in Pulp Fiction as well as the bellhop in Four Rooms for Tarantino. With his career ascending in the early 1990s, he has gone on to have a solid career in movies and television both in the mainstream—Rob Roy (1995), The Incredible Hulk (2008), The Planet of the Apes (2001), and in films generally considered “art films”—Legend of 1900 (1998) and Youth Without Youth (2007). He also has had a solid American television network run in the crime series Lie to Me (2009–2011).

			Harvey Keitel as Lawrence Dimick/Mr. White

			As mentioned above, Keitel’s agreement to be in Reservoir Dogs was a turning point in Tarantino’s career. While the film would have probably been done anyway—perhaps even to some critical success—Tarantino would no doubt have had to settle for less seasoned actors and crew. Keitel also worked as a coproducer of the movie, which helped set the young team of Bender and Tarantino smoothly on the right track to complete it and make it look as good as it does. No other way to put it—without his involvement, Reservoir Dogs would not have been the movie as we remember it today.

			Keitel has made it a habit working with new directors over the years, starting off in the early days when he appeared in Martin Scorsese’s first major production, Mean Streets (1973). Keitel would continue working in Scorsese’s films with Alice Doesn’t Live Here Anymore (1975) and Taxi Driver (1976), while branching out into more mainstream films such as Mother, Jugs & Speed (1976). He also worked on Ridley Scott’s first major film, The Duellists (1978), as well as Paul Schrader’s directorial debut, Blue Collar (1978).
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					Harvey Keitel was and remains an advocate for independent filmmakers, helping so much in getting Reservoir Dogs off the ground that he eventually took on the title of producer as well as star of the film. 

				

			

			Keitel has appeared in a lot of major films—including with Michael Madsen in the huge 1991 Ridley Scott hit, Thelma & Louise—but also built a niche for himself in a series of more offbeat films such as Jane Campion’s The Piano (1993) and Abel Ferrara’s Bad Lieutenant (1992). As with Tim Roth, moviegoers to theaters that booked Reservoir Dogs in 1992—mostly art houses—would have no problem identifying Keitel in the trailer for the film.

			Keitel would win some movie awards the year Reservoir Dogs was released, but mostly for his role in Bad Lieutenant. Nevertheless, the collaboration with Tarantino would lead to Keitel appearing as Wolf in his second directorial film, Pulp Fiction, as well as costarring together in the Tarantino-written From Dusk Till Dawn. Tarantino would also make a cameo in Little Nicky (2000), which costarred Keitel as Satan, while Keitel would provide a voice cameo in Tarantino’s Inglourious Basterds (2009).

			Steve Buscemi as Mr. Pink

			Buscemi was already an established film actor by the time Reservoir Dogs came around, having appeared in several films as well as costarring roles in two Coen Brothers films, Miller’s Crossing (1990) and Barton Fink (1991). He also appeared in Abel Ferrara’s 1990 crime film King of New York and in Martin Scorsese’s “Life Lessons” segment in the 1989 anthology film New York Stories.

			But there were plenty of smaller parts before that, and it was not uncommon for some theatergoers to see him in a film and say, “Hey, that’s the guy from that MTV “Beat It” commercial!” He also had to deal with some rather painful humor in the shot-on-video horror film trailer compilation Filmhouse Fever (1986). Everyone has to start somewhere.

			Buscemi would go on to probably the biggest mainstream success of the cast from Reservoir Dogs, thanks to films like Fargo (1996), Ghost World (2001), and Armageddon (1998). He also would write and direct the excellent Trees Lounge (1996) and even provide a voice of the main villain in the computer-animated film Monsters, Inc. (2001) and its sequel Monsters University (2012). Most recently he starred in the HBO series set in the Prohibition period Boardwalk Empire.

			Surprisingly, for an actor closely associated with Tarantino due to Reservoir Dogs, Buscemi has only appeared in one other Tarantino film, and that was a cameo appearance so fleeting that most fans don’t even remember him in it. In Pulp Fiction, he played the Buddy Holly waiter at Jackrabbit Slim’s who Vincent isn’t impressed by when serving him and Mia.

			Michael Madsen as Vic Vega/Mr. Blonde

			Madsen, like Buscemi before him, has earned a reputation as a Tarantino player even though he has limited exposure in the director’s movies over the years. There’s Reservoir Dogs, the Kill Bill films and . . . nothing else until The Hateful Eight in 2015. Oh, and doing the voice of Vic in the video game based on Reservoir Dogs, which also features his likeness. It’s not for lack of trying, though. As reported in chapter 18, Madsen was up for the lead of Mickey in Natural Born Killers and Vincent in Pulp Fiction, but for reasons not clear, both deals fell through. Still, his performance as Vic/Mr. Blonde in Reservoir Dogs was so mesmerizing that to think of the movie is to think of him. Not many performers could have pulled off a character with such a thick outer coat of coolness about him that for a moment at least you want to believe he doesn’t have this chewy, screwy nugget of insanity waiting to burst out and pop a young woman mostly for fun during the botched robbery. We as the audience are supposed to momentarily see him come in with his beverage and think, “This is the guy who went nuts during the robbery? Maybe they’re not remembering correctly.” It is only when he is (essentially) alone with the cop and begins to torture for the sole reason that he wants to that it all becomes clear, and it is a performance that makes the movie more than any other in the film. If the actor playing the role had not been able to pull off the complexity of the character, the film would have been a disaster.
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					Michael Madsen as Mr. Blonde, a role so memorable that Madsen is still thought of as a frequent Tarantino performer even though he only appeared in this and the Kill Bill films and The Hateful Eight.

				

			

			Even though the role would expand public awareness of Madsen as an actor, he had already established himself as a working actor in films by 1992. His first major breakthrough came in WarGames in 1983 and then a strong supporting role in The Natural (1984). He appeared in Oliver Stone’s The Doors (1991), Ridley Scott’s Thelma & Louse (which also featured Harvey Keitel), and Donnie Brasco (1997) amongst other films and television roles, and has worked in doing voice-overs for a handful of videogames (which explains a bit his willingness to do Vic for the Reservoir Dogs game). Besides being in front of the camera, Madsen has written several books of poetry, produced a book of photos he has taken, and even has a hot sauce (American Bad Ass). He has also kept a connection with the fans, having made several appearances over the years at movie conventions.

			Chris Penn as Nice Guy Eddie

			Penn had a steady career in the movies, getting major film roles in the early 1980s much like Michael Madsen. Popular films like All the Right Moves (1983, with Tom Cruise), Footloose (1984), and At Close Range (1986, with brother Sean Penn) kept him busy through the 1980s, but soon he started growing out of being a costar in teenage-oriented films as the 1990s began. Penn would have a small but substantial role in True Romance and costar with Michael Madsen in Mullholland Falls (1996), while also appearing in movies like Rush Hour (1998), To Wong Foo, Thanks for Everything! Julie Newmar (1995), and Robert Altman’s Short Cuts (1993).

			Penn passed away in 2006 due to complications related to heart disease.

			Lawrence Tierney as Joe Cabot

			Tierney was a famous name. He was also an actor who did good work in a variety of tough-guy parts ever since his first breakout starring role in the 1945 low-budget film Dillinger (hence his line in Reservoir Dogs of “Dead as Dillinger”). He would continue to play lowlife criminals and gangsters into the 1950s, but his real-life escapades as an (admitted) drunkard found him on the wrong side of the law, lawyers and the studio system. With a job in front of the camera here and there, it wasn’t until the 1980s that he began to get regular work again—with his recurring role as Desk Sergeant Jenkins on Hill Street Blues between 1985 and 1987 helping to reestablish him as an actor.

			The cast and crew—certainly Tarantino himself as well—were in a bit of awe being with the old-timer, but that quickly turned to disagreement and fear, thanks to Tierney’s quick bursts of temper aimed at all around him. After Reservoir Dogs, Tierney would turn up in Eddie Presley (1992), which featured a cameo by Tarantino, amongst other films. His last movie appearance was as the father to Bruce Willis’ character in Armageddon (1998). He died in 2002 and probably gave God a hassle for taking so long to get around to him.

			Edward Bunker as Mr. Blue

			The most interesting choice for the film was Edward Bunker in the cameo role of Mr. Blue. Bunker was a career criminal, with bouts of prison time broken up between robberies, drug-racketeering and other various crimes. His main legit career opportunity was through writing, and he is best remembered as the author of a book called No Beast So Fierce (1973), about an ex-con trying to go straight in a world determined to break him. The book would later be filmed as the 1978 film Straight Time, starring Dustin Hoffman, and Bunker used the opportunity of his success in his second career to bypass his first.

			Besides a series of crime novels and nonfiction, Bunker would also venture into the movies. He cowrote the screenplays to Straight Time, the 2000 film Animal Factory (both based on his novels, with Animal Factory directed by Steve Buscemi) and Runaway Train (1985). He also appeared in small roles in such films as The Long Riders (1980), Tango & Cash (1985), and The Running Man (1987). Tarantino was a fan of Bunker’s writing and thus happy to have Bunker in the mix of actors for the film. Bunker wrote an autobiography in 1999 that is about his criminal years, Education of a Felon: A Memoir (also released as Mr. Blue: Memoirs of a Renegade). He passed away in 2005.

			Quentin Tarantino as Mr. Brown

			More about this actor in chapter 26.

			Also Appearing

			Kirk Baltz as Officer Marvin Nash, who is tortured by Mr. Blonde. Baltz also appeared in Dances with Wolves (1990), John Woo’s Face/Off (1997), and starred in the short-lived television action series Human Target, based on the DC Comics character. Randy Brooks as Holdaway, Freddy’s associate on the force. Brooks appeared in Hal Ashby’s 8 Million Ways to Die (1986) and Dennis Hopper’s Colors (1988), along with some scattered runs on various soap operas for television, including Generations, The Young and the Restless, and Another World.

			Comedian Steven Wright is the announcer heard on the radio throughout the film. Wright has had a long acting career and would turn up in Natural Born Killers as well. Producer Lawrence Bender appears as a cop in the early shoot-out scenes.

			Besides Tony Cosmo as Sheriff #3 in the train station bathroom story, nearly every other cast member came from Tarantino’s Video Archives days and My Best Friend’s Birthday. The other cops in the bathroom were: Rich Turner, Sheriff #1, who had worked on My Best Friend’s Birthday and would appear in Roger Avary’s Killing Zoe (1993), also provided a voice-over as a sportscaster in Pulp Fiction and a role in Craig Hamann’s Boogie Boy (1998). David Steen, as Sheriff #2, would pop up as one of Candie’s men, Mr. Stonesipher, in Django Unchained. Sheriff #4 was played by Stevo Polyi, who also appeared in My Best Friend’s Birthday (as a DJ) and has a bit role in the Kill Bill films as Tim.

			The woman Freddy shoots in the car, Suzanne Celeste, was his dialect coach on Reservoir Dogs. She has done similar work on The Lord of the Rings series of films and The Matrix, amongst other movies over the years. The other woman seen in the aftermath of the robbery, who luckily only gets carjacked and pulled out of her car, was played by Linda Kaye. Kaye is not Linda Kaye Henning from Petticoat Junction, as Wikipedia unfortunately has her listed, but rather a former customer of Video Archives who had worked as a stuntwoman and was also in My Best Friend’s Birthday. She would later turn up in Pulp Fiction briefly as the woman Marsellus accidentally shoots after Butch hits him with a car. And there’s your quota of female roles in Reservoir Dogs.

			Sequential Plot

			Freddy Newendyke is an undercover cop who infiltrates Joe Cabot’s gang as they prepare for a daytime robbery of diamonds. Everyone goes by a code name based on a color—Freddy is Mr. Orange—and things appear to be running smoothly, but a last-minute addition of an old friend of Joe’s son, code name Mr. Blonde, derails everything planned by both sides of the law when Blonde shoots up the place after an alarm is sounded.

			Freddy is shot in escaping, and the leader, Mr. White, gives up his real name to Freddy while traveling to the rendezvous place, a warehouse. Another of the criminals, Mr. Pink, arrives, having stashed the diamonds, while Blonde turns up with a cop as a hostage. When Joe’s son, Nice Guy Eddie, arrives, they decide to get the diamonds, leaving Blonde in charge of the shot-up Freddy and the cop. Blonde, who is insane, starts torturing the cop for the fun of it, cutting off an ear, and is about to set him on fire when Freddy kills Blonde. Pink, White, Eddie, and Joe all turn up soon after, with Joe and Eddie sure that Freddy is a cop. White, feeling responsible for Freddy, refuses to believe it and shoots Eddie and Joe dead. He is shot as well and goes to Freddy. As Pink tries to leave with the diamonds—immediately being captured by the cops waiting outside the warehouse—Freddy admits to White that he is a cop. White kills Freddy, leading to the police killing him.

			The Script

			The script was first published in book form in 1994 by Faber and Faber Limited, London. It and another book for the Pulp Fiction script would be the first of a series of publications of Tarantino’s screenplays over the years. The only exception to the rule so far has been that of the script(s) for Kill Bill and Django Unchained (even the script for Four Rooms has been published in this manner).

			Such books have given fans a means to see what parts of the screenplay were written—sometimes even filmed—but discarded during the production and editing process. It also shows where dialogue was restructured slightly by the actors in the film to make them more natural. Below are a few of the deletions that occurred in the filming process that are outlined in the script:

			•	Dialogue is toned down in the opening breakfast scene in order to give everyone a little more respect for each other, especially an exchange between Mr. Brown and Joe where Brown backtalks—probably not the swiftest move to make with the boss.

			•	As the group heads out, two title cards were to appear stating “One of these men is a cop,” followed by “And by the end, all but one will be dead.”

			•	At the warehouse, White offers Pink a Chesterfield (in the script the brand isn’t named as in the film). This may seem a bit anal, but considering Tarantino’s love of fake product placement, it’s easy to watch Reservoir Dogs and expect White to pull out a pack of Red Apple Cigarettes. Ciccotti will offer Clifford a Chesterfield in the interrogation scene in True Romance as well.

			•	When Joe interviews White for the job, they discuss Joe’s recent marriage to a former Hee-Haw actress and her getting him interested in reading The Bell Jar by Sylvia Plath.

			•	The torture sequence is slightly different, with a knife becoming a razor in Vic’s hands, and Vic taking a seat in a chair in front of the police officer as he begins cutting away at the police officer’s face and finally the ear. Actor Michael Madsen’s grim joke with the ear was impromptu on the set, as was Kirk Baltz (as Officer Marvin Nash) screaming that he had kids—an ad-lib that shocked the cast and crew, but was kept because it made what occurs even more intense.

			•	A sequence was to occur after Freddy tells his “Train Station” story that showed him in his apartment going through mugshots and finding Mr. White in the group (at least this portion of the sequence was filmed, as a still of Freddy going through the mugshots appears in the script book). Holdaway and a female officer named Jodie McClusky meet Freddy to go over what was found, and they give details about the job White briefly describes to Pink earlier in the film where an undercover cop fouled up a planned heist. In talking with Pink, he makes it sound as if everyone went their separate ways, but the material McClusky digs up states that a surprise party for the undercover cop by his fellow officers blew his cover and the gang member who was with him at the time killed the cop and three others, along with injuring six. Freddy is made aware that the evidence points to White being the triggerman in the slaughter.

			•	The script has Joe telling a dirty joke while waiting for Pink, Freddy, White, and Eddie to turn up. Instead, in the film the scene kicks off already in progress with all in attendance and Joe explaining why everyone will be going by aliases.

			•	Holdaway sees Freddy for a final time and tells him that two officers, posing as a couple, will be in the place during the robbery. The objective is to let the robbery occur so that eventually Joe is in the same room with the stolen goods; hence, Freddy is on his own until that occurs. Holdaway considers it a calculated risk, but one that should pay off, as everyone involved from both sides of the law are “professionals.”

			•	As the torture of Nash occurs, the film would have cut to Eddie, Pink, and White in Eddie’s car after picking up the diamonds. White is only concerned about getting someone to look at Freddy, and Eddie says that he plans to have a nurse take a look at him (for more interesting connections about this sequence, see chapter 18). The two bicker, while Pink wonders if anyone in the group is a professional. This scene was filmed, but cut for pacing issues.

			•	In dialogue cut after the trio returns, Freddy sarcastically mouths off to Eddie about shooting Blonde because he didn’t like Blonde’s hairstyle.

			•	Although we are informed that Pink backs off during the “Mexican Standoff,” in the film we see that he finds a good place to hide from the inevitable shooting.

			•	What Happened to Pink? In the film, we see him dash out of the door. The script has him being immediately confronted by the police outside and told to get on the ground. Pink obliges, yelling at the cops not to shoot. (Hence, he is the only survivor and thus fulfilling the original opening title card stating that one would survive.) Instead, there is no clear indication what happens to Pink once he leaves, although it would make little sense for anything other than him being apprehended, what with the cops right outside the door of the warehouse.
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					The capper for the Mexican Standoff, from an angle not seen in the film itself. Who shot first? It’s still not clear from this photo, although it appears that Eddie shot last.

				

			

			The Backend

			On January 18 (some sources say January 21), 1992 Reservoir Dogs made its world premiere at the Sundance Film Festival as a joint production of Live Entertainment and Dog Eat Dog Productions. It was entered into the Dramatic competition against such films as Allison Anders’ Gas, Food, and Lodging, Tony Drazan’s Zebrahead (featuring Michael Rapaport, who would go on to costar in True Romance), and Katt Shea Ruben’s Poison Ivy (featuring Drew Barrymore). It lost to Alexandre Rockwell’s In the Soup, a whimsical comedy starring Steve Buscemi as a first-time screenwriter with a 500-page script (hmm, that sounds familiar) whose backer is an older man who turns out to be a con artist, played by Seymour Cassel. Cassel would have a brief Reservoir Dogs connection as well (see chapter 18 for more details). Tarantino reportedly felt so distraught about losing that he vowed never to enter another one of his films in such a competition (a promise he didn’t stick to, as later competitions have proven).

			Tarantino would join Anders and Rockwell—along with Robert Rodriguez—in directing segments of the 1995 film Four Rooms (see chapter 11 for more details). In an interesting sidenote, the festival would feature a Stanley Kubrick retrospective, including a showing of The Killing.

			The film had an earlier showing before the Sundance Festival at the Directors Guild of America in December 1991, which saw the first walk-outs during the “Stuck in the Middle with You” sequence. Tarantino suggests in later interviews that he got surprisingly little backlash from the Motion Pictures Association of America about the sequence, or for most of the other violence and blood in the film. The American Humane Association screened the film on December 19, 1991. Giving it an “Acceptable” rating, the review notes that a policeman is terrorized, “including slicing off his ear and setting him on fire.” However, “Animal action is limited to one scene in which one of the thugs enters a public restroom and meets up with three policemen and their dog who barks at the man.” One can imagine the reviewer thinking, “Human torture scene? Well . . . oh, but the dog in the imaginary story told by the thug is fine? Then ‘Acceptable’ it is!”

			The film ran into bigger problems in Britain with the BBFC, who had no problem releasing the film in theaters with an 18 certificate, but when it came time to release the film on video, trouble flared. Still in a period where many thought “video nasties” could corrupt young and old (although, to be fair, common sense was beginning to prevail on this front from the highly censorable days of the 1980s), the BBFC delayed releasing the film on video until 1995—a couple of years after that of the U.S. As one would almost expect, the delay actually increased interest in obtaining the forbidden film, leading to large sales when it was finally available.

			After Sundance in January, the film moved on to Cannes in May 1992, where it was not in competition but did win the Raymond Chandler prize, with Tarantino being awarded thousands of dollars’ worth of Kodak film and processing. Word was also spreading that True Romance was to go into production with Tony Scott directing and Natural Born Killers to do the same with Oliver Stone at the helm. It was looking at if there was no end in sight for Tarantino’s climb to fame after only the year before looking to put together backers for Reservoir Dogs.

			In September 1992, the movie stood in competition at the 1992 Toronto International Film Festival, where it won the FIPRESCI International Critics’ Award. At the Sitges Festival in Spain in October 1992, the film won awards for best script and director (one of the other movies in the competition was Peter Jackson’s Brain Dead—a horror-comedy with plenty of blood splattering and gore), while also providing Tarantino with a crowning moment of seeing horror director Wes Craven walk out on the picture during the torture scene. Tarantino was amazed that the director of the original The Last House on the Left—a film dealing in brutal detail with the bloody vengeance of a couple whose daughter is raped and murdered by a gang—would be disturbed by Reservoir Dogs. Craven, however, would tell him later that his films always have a layer of fantasy about them, and thus made them safe, while Tarantino’s film was set in reality and thus was too intense for him to sit through. In other words, Craven may have walked out, but in a way, that proved how effective Tarantino had been with the scene.

			After three-quarters of a year’s worth of festivals and special screenings, the film was finally set for release in American theaters on October 23 through Miramax (who snatched it up at Cannes that year). The movie was released on a small art-theater schedule, with only nineteen theaters showing the film during its first week and rarely more than sixty theaters in the seven weeks it was out, but word of mouth from the press and through the festivals had created interest in the film, which made close to $3 million in the U.S. alone, even with the small number of theaters it appeared in. Pretty good for a film that was made for less than $1.5 million.

			There were some negative critical reactions to the film, as Roger Ebert gave the film only 2½ stars, with admiration for Tarantino in even getting the film made as he did, but wishing the script did more with the characters beyond letting them “talk too much, especially when they should be unconscious from shock and loss of blood.” Ebert’s At the Movies partner, Gene Siskel, also bestowed 2½ stars, finding the film more “style than substance,” although he appreciated it acknowledging “the sloppiness and silences that are typically squeezed out of most crime films.” That’s more positive than People magazine, which had to get three reviewers to team up to vent their spleen on how much they hated the movie, claiming only a “psychopathic sadist with a high tolerances for dillydallying” would like it. Yet, overall critical response to Tarantino’s first movie was extremely positive. Owen Gleiberman at Entertainment Weekly gave the film an A, and admired the staccato dialogue that may not always be smart but proves none of the men are stupid. Gleiberman was also one of the few critics to find humor in the torture scene. Todd McCarthy at Variety admired Sally Menke’s editing of the film, especially her ability to keep the jumps in time moving in such a way that it doesn’t confuse the audience. Menke would go on to do editing in all of Tarantino’s films through Inglourious Basterds. She passed away in 2010.
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					Quentin Tarantino, Chris Penn and Tim Roth (along with Roth’s understandably bored son) signing Reservoir Dogs posters at Video Archives in 1992.

					Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

			Some viewers and critics did point out that Tarantino had made a movie with no female parts in it, but his logical defense is that the structure of the film doesn’t allow for any women to have been part of the story. In many ways, this is true—the men get together to pull off a heist and then there’s the aftermath, neither of which would involve checking in on girlfriends or wives. Then again, female characters in such films as The Asphalt Jungle and The Killling are there as lynchpins to the failure of the heist anyway. Or, as Edward Bunker put it later in interviews, any operation like this would be doomed to failure in reality because someone would be bound to blab to their girlfriend and then word would spread. Then again, Edward also pointed out that the perfect cinematic look of the men having a breakfast in their suits and then going out together for the crime would have been a really bad idea, as it would be a risky public thing for them to do, with the waitress later probably saying “Oh, yeah, I waited on those guys this morning.”

			Even so, as stated above when discussing the script, Tarantino had originally written a female part into the film—that of McClusky, who finds out the details about White and is present when Holdaway gives Freddy the information. However that scene was cut, most probably as it added little to the story and would have meant hiring another actor and the use of two sets. Still, if it had appeared, it would have shown that being female didn’t change the agenda at all—it’s all about being a professional, no matter who you are.

			Thoughts

			It is easy to see this movie solely in retrospect, as that is how many of us as fans came upon the film. Reservoir Dogs was a sign of a newcomer proving himself and gaining the attention needed to move on to bigger things, but most of us never got to see the film when it was in theaters due to its art-house distribution through the country. If you missed it the week or even few days it played in an art theater in town—and if you were lucky enough to even get that—then you never got a chance to see it on the big screen during its first run. Sure, there was press about the film; you knew it was out there, and it sounded like a cool movie to see; but that was pretty much all you knew. Okay, and you probably knew something really sick happened during the torture scene as it played out to an old 1970s song on the radio.

			Video is where most of us finally got a chance to see it a year to two later. By that time there and everywhere, the film was a cult favorite; even more so once Pulp Fiction had confirmed Tarantino as a director and writer to seek out (or avoid if you really had problems with what he was doing in films). Thus, there’s a tendency to look at the film after the success of Pulp Fiction with the eyes of the already converted. Of course, it’s going to feature pop references. Of course, it’s going to show sudden violence that plays out in a way that makes one unsure whether to laugh or squirm. Certainly there will be blood and plenty of profanity; the camera work will be solid, the editing tight, the actors giving it their all.

			But if one goes at it from the other side of stardom, when Tarantino’s only output was that of My Best Friend’s Birthday, Reservoir Dogs is nothing short of an astonishing step up from what had come before. It would be tempting to say that someone must have snuck into his room in the middle of the night and carried away the real Quentin Tarantino and replaced him with a genius robot that could do no wrong when it came to filming Reservoir Dogs.

			There are obvious signs of a beginning writer and director in the work; it would have been hard to negate that coming in. Dialogue is clunky at times, with people saying things that sound really cool, but in all likelihood would have gotten them either a quick bullet or at least a fist in the face (saying that, the edits made from script to screen avoid some of what was there on the written page). Some of the trivial matters of the gang members can seem to be a bit much upon repeated viewings, even though it does establish them as “making conversation” in order to kill time when there’s too much other pressing stuff to worry about at hand. The early discussion between Pink and White where they establish background information about themselves comes off as forced exposition at times rather than natural—another clear sign of a writer finding his feet with his material.

			What helps the film is that Tarantino—taking Terry Gilliam’s advice from Sundance—surrounded himself with a group of people who not only knew what they were doing, even on an experimental level—some thought Andrzej Sekula was crazy to shoot the film in 50 ASA, for example—but were willing to let Tarantino run the show. No matter who was involved, it is Tarantino’s film 100 percent of the way through, and it shows, making it a personal film that a studio would have been hard-pressed to have achieved with a budget ten times or more what Tarantino had at his disposal. This was no longer the guy dreaming of making it and depending on friends who “kinda” knew what they were doing (as they were all starting out and inexperienced at the time they were filming My Best Friend’s Birthday) and using equipment that was whatever was available—Reservoir Dogs proved that Tarantino had the ability to make a movie that entertained and even had something to say. He only needed the right people with him to shape that vision into reality.

			What the movie’s message was, some critics didn’t grasp. It all seemed like a lot of mouthing-off by a group of men between shootings. But the point was one that no doubt was etched into Tarantino’s mind while trying to get his career kickstarted. It is easy to say one is professional; it is another to actually prove it and not let emotions get away in achieving that goal. Tarantino could have easily said at some point, “Y’know, I don’t care, I’m going to play Mr. Pink,” but the professional side of him told him that Steve Buscemi would own the role, while he should concentrate more on actually making the film instead of making his acting career.

			Perhaps there’s a good reason he figured himself to be that of Mr. Pink in the film, however. Pink survives because, in the end, he’s the only one actually being a professional as everyone else gets emotional and eventually winds up on the wrong end of a gun. Tarantino, in making Reservoir Dogs and walking out of it with the rough diamonds of his career with him, proved himself to be different from those who he had tried to work with up to that point in Hollywood. As those around him from those earlier days began shooting at each other and pointing fingers, Tarantino was heading into the future with a fortune.

		

	
		
			5
Clarence Was Me

			The Making of True Romance

			Release Date: September 10, 1993, through Warner Brothers

			“I wanted you to fall in love with Clarence and blow his fucking head off. I wanted to do that to you. Tony didn’t want to do that. Clarence was me. I could blow my own head off, a punk rock move.”

			—Quentin Tarantino at a Q&A at the LA Film School, August 2012

			The huge critical and solid audience success (for what was considered a small film that was given a peppered art-house release) of Reservoir Dogs compounded the interest in Tarantino that was already at play even before the film hit the Sundance Festival in January 1992. This was certainly true of his script for True Romance, as Tarantino’s sale of the screenplay had been covered in early 1991 by Variety, and when he was getting set to film his experimental scenes for Reservoir Dogs at Sundance in 1991, Variety listed him as “the screenwriter of True Romance.” Then again, to be fair, by December 1991, Variety mistakenly reported the screenplay as being a comedy written by Samuel Hadida, one of the producers involved with the film; a mistake that was quickly retracted within days by Variety. Nevertheless, it goes to show how fickle memory is in Hollywood.

			Even with some hoopla, thanks to Tarantino’s budding work on Reservoir Dogs, True Romance was not a case of some type of “overnight success.” The script had been going through multiple hands before filming finally began in 1992, and even when interest finally did appear, it became a hot potato that bounced around inside the studio systems before the dust settled.

			Production

			As examined in chapter 3, Tarantino had first worked on the story that became True Romance as part of his expansion of Roger Avary’s Open Road script. Eventually, when tearing the “500-page script” apart to make one workable story, the results became True Romance, which Tarantino planned to film himself. Further, to do it with eyes now wide open after what had occurred with his first attempt. Tarantino’s initial concept was to push ahead with something a bit more sophisticated than My Best Friend’s Birthday—instead of the “let’s get the gang together and put on a show” atmosphere of that attempt, Tarantino wanted to find backers who would put in the money to make the film. However, this was not as easy as he and others thought it would be. For example, Tarantino’s manager, Cathryn Jaymes, began passing the script around to possible backers and studios, only to get a variety of rejections, some strongly worded and laced with profanity, for “wasting their time.”
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					The original poster for True Romance (1993) that made the film look more of a wacky comedy than it is.

				

			

			Things began to look up when a producer by the name of Stanley Margolis took out an option on the screenplay. Margolis had been working in films for years at that point, including working behind the scenes on Roman Polanski’s first English-language film, Repulsion. In 1966, he became partners with Tony Tenser and Laurie Marsh to start the British film company Tigon. Tigon would release a number of quirky horror and adventure films over the little more than ten years the company existed, including two of cult director Michael Reeve’s best known films, The Sorcerers (1967) and Witchfinder General (1968, a.k.a. The Conqueror Worm), Piers Haggard’s still-shocking The Blood on Satan’s Claw (1970), and the Raquel Welch vehicle Hannie Caulder (1971, which Tarantino would later state was an influence on the Kill Bill films). Tarantino, no doubt, was thrilled to have someone of this caliber connected to the script and looking to find backers, but Margolis had broken out on his own by the 1980s and did not have the pull in Hollywood that he did in his earlier days at the British production company.

			It is here that things get muddled in every historical retelling about True Romance. Many reports simply cut to the chase, saying that Tarantino got paid for the script and suddenly Tony Scott was directing the movie. Some even go so far as to make it sound like Tony Scott dug into his pocket, pulled out $50,000, handed it to Tarantino, and everyone was happy. But that simply was not the case, and it hasn’t been helped by everyone having their own version of the story. Even the year the script was sold is in dispute.

			One thing is certain, that Tarantino, Jaymes, and Margolis (and typically Margolis gets the raw end of this story by not being mentioned) were out scouting for someone to take the script on. Tarantino’s objective was either for a studio to buy it and make it with him directing, or to find some sugar daddies to pony up the cash so he could make it himself. Having the script essentially finished around 1986 (although some sources go so far as to say 1988), Tarantino pushed to find a way to make the film. When no deals came through the door, he then took the pieces left over from The Open Road and fashioned Natural Born Killers as a blow-off; a sensationalized script that he hoped someone would pick up in order to get the money to make True Romance (or, possibly, even to direct Natural Born Killers and then go back and do True Romance on his own afterwards). The second script began floating around Hollywood as did the first, but besides the From Dusk to Dawn and Past Midnight script jobs, it wasn’t leading to anything at the time.

			Margolis finally gained the interest of Gregory Cascante and Samuel Hadida at August Entertainment in either 1989 or 1990, again depending on various sources. August Entertainment was a production and distribution company of many exploitation movies like Lawnmower Man (1992) and Edge of Sanity (1989), as well as more art-flavored films such as Sleep with Me (1994, and featuring Tarantino in a small role). Looking to get the film done, August teamed with the Weinstein Brothers’ Miramax (with Miramax looking to handle U.S. distribution). Then in 1989, 1990, or 1991, Tarantino was convinced to finally let the script—and his hopes of directing it—go; getting a Writers Guild of America minimum of $50,000 for it.

			So which year was it? Tarantino himself gave the following timeline to Ciment and Niogret in 1992:

			“My first script, the True Romance one, well, I tried for three years to get the money to make it for a Blood Simple budget. . . . Then I wrote Natural Born Killers to be done for $500,000, and I thought I could raise that. A year-and-a-half later, I hadn’t raised anything. I just lost confidence that anybody would ever give me money to make a movie. ‘But I’ve got to shoot a film,’ I thought. So I sold off [True Romance].”

			Logistically, 1989 makes little sense, as he was still struggling to sell either of his scripts, and a $50,000 payday in 1989 would have meant that the need to write the Natural Born Killers script would not have been there. Nineteen ninety-one seems somewhat logical, but as seen already, Tarantino was talking with Lawrence Bender about Reservoir Dogs in the late spring and summer of 1990, which means he had already been paid his writer’s fee by then. Thus, it would be sometime in late 1990 that Tarantino left the script behind and began thinking of what would eventually become Reservoir Dogs.

			The August-Miramax group, brimming now with a lot of producers but no film, set about getting things rolling by finding a director. And that director was . . . not Tony Scott. Even an upwardly mobile company like Miramax at the time could not foresee paying the type of money needed to make a film for the director of such movies as Top Gun (1986) Days of Thunder (1990) and The Last Boy Scout (1991)—Scott was a big moneymaking director who made big-budgeted films. True Romance was going to have to be a smaller production, and the perception was that someone like Scott was out of their price range.

			Enter William Lustig, who made the notorious horror film Maniac (1980), Vigilante (1983 and costarring Robert Forster, who would eventually turn up in Jackie Brown), and a series of Maniac Cop movies. Lustig liked the script but knew it would be a hard sale if the original ending was kept in place. He wasn’t alone there. Everyone putting up money for the project felt that the movie had to have a more lighthearted ending that avoided killing off the male lead. Tarantino was approached to rewrite the ending, but balked due to being busy with this whole Reservoir Dogs thing over here, and also because he didn’t think a “Hollywood feel-good ending” was right for his script. With Tarantino out of the picture, Lustig and Roger Avary rewrote the ending, as Lustig mentioned in an interview with Daily Grindhouse (“William Lustig—The DG Interview,” http://dailygrindhouse.com/thewire/william-lustig-the-dg-interview/, August 22, 2011). Although he would later comment that he hated the ending created, Lustig’s work with Avary helped get the film a major green light, and Lustig began doing preproduction work on the film to the point that by October 1991, Variety was listing the production as a go to start filming in January 1992.
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					Tony Scott, the director of True Romance. Tarantino had a good working relationship with Scott on the film, even though Scott was adamant in changing the ending.

				

			

			Now, finally, Tony Scott comes into the story. Or rather, an event in the past caught up with the producers behind True Romance at the end of 1991. Invited to Scott’s birthday party in June 1991 by a former assistant for Scott, Stacey Sher, Tarantino had a chance to talk to Scott in his usually flamboyant fashion. Intrigued by Tarantino, Scott asked to see a couple of his scripts. Tarantino, feeling it wouldn’t hurt to show Scott what he had available, gave him the scripts to True Romance and Reservoir Dogs (which goes to show how much trust he had in the Natural Born Killers script). Scott liked both, but had recently completed filming of The Last Boy Scout and wasn’t ready to jump onto another “violent movie,” as he figured people would instantly call True Romance. Still, Scott loved the characters of the movie, and the script would sit in his mind until he finally agreed to jump in by the early days of 1992.

			Once Scott was in, the whole game changed. The chance of a production to have such a well-known director involved meant everything done up to that point was history. Lustig was paid off for his time (he would bemusingly state in the Daily Grindhouse interview that they also kept his “happy ending” script alterations), and the whole August-Miramax setup collapsed as they didn’t have the funds to pay for what Scott needed. That’s when Morgan Creek, the production company behind such films as Young Guns II (1990), Robin Hood: Prince of Thieves (1991)—both with Christian Slater—and Ace Ventura: Pet Detective (1994) came in with money to get the film going. In exchange, Miramax got a fee for their part, the Weinsteins and Stanley Margolis got to be Executive Producers, and Samuel Hadida and pretty much anyone who happened to be in the room that day got a producer, associate producer, or coproducer credit (ten listed as such for the film). With everyone getting a title and possibly cash back for having some earlier involvement in the production, it’s understandable that the budget ballooned to around $13 million for what was really a simple chase movie.

			Meanwhile, Scott was busy tackling the screenplay. Tarantino’s original script was in a nonlinear order, much like Tarantino’s work over the years, and had a downer ending. Then, once he climbed on board, he saw the Lustig-Avary rewrite where everything was in chronological order and it had a happy ending. Conversing with Tarantino, Scott was convinced enough by Tarantino’s arguments for his “answers first, questions later” version to see in the editing room if it really hung together the way Tarantino said it would. However, on the other front, Scott was adamant to stick with the revised happy ending for Clarence and Alabama. Tarantino was livid, as he told Maxim (“True Romance: 15 Years Later” by Marc Spitz, April 25, 2008), “I tried like hell to convince Tony to let Clarence die, because that’s what I wrote and it wasn’t open for conjecture. I made this big dramatic plea: ‘You’re losing your balls. You’re trying to make it Hollywood shit. Why are you doing this?’” Scott then explained that he saw the movie as a type of fantasy tale—a nursery rhyme—where two innocent characters deserved to live happily ever after. It was a take that Tarantino could understand, as he allowed Dick Ritchie to survive the Mexican Standoff (and in the script end up in a room full of beautiful women) because he felt the character deserved to live as he was an innocent who was willing to risk his career and life to help his friend. By the time Scott was finished, Tarantino accepted that Scott was doing it for his own reasons and—unlike the producers and writers before Scott—not doing it merely to appeal to what they thought audiences wanted.

			With a cast quickly in place, Scott began filming on September 22, 1992, a week later than the original proposed start date of September 15. The set designs by Benjamin Fernandez—who had worked on Days of Thunder (1990) and Revenge (1990) for Scott, as well as such diverse films as Conan the Barbarian (1982) and The Others (2001)—invoked both the “blast from the past” look of Tarantino’s movie world with the modern-day feel of Scott’s previous work, with costume designer Susan Becker (also from Days of Thunder) doing much the same. In this way, with their early 1960s style of clothing, car, and even sleeping quarters (where else could they go but to a hotel that looks like it came straight out of a scene from Viva Las Vegas?), Clarence and Alabama are sweet, almost cartoonlike characters from some alternate universe that somehow have landed in the modern world of 1992. Clarence may have to go to the drug dealer’s place, where the seamy side of drugs, violence, and sex are on display, but that scene is bookended by a traditional movie scene from the past where Clarence consoles Alabama on the rooftop next to a billboard like out of a film from the 1940s or 1950s, and then they hop into a nearly twenty-year-old purple Cadillac convertible, looking like fugitives from the 1960s. It helps set a pace for the film that cements the attitudes of the characters and how their story would be resolved.

			The cinematography of the film is different from that of Tarantino’s film, naturally enough, as Scott certainly would not have any reason to look to Reservoir Dogs to imagine how his film would appear. Instead, he stuck with his cinematographer, Jeffrey Kimball, who had been there for Top Gun (1986), Beverly Hills Cop II (1987), and Revenge (1990) for Scott, and the film has the crisp, breezy, sunny look (okay, in the California scenes only perhaps) of these other films. In a way, it too is reflective of Tarantino’s work, for as Tarantino tends to show Los Angeles from the back alleys, Scott always looked at the city as high school on a 72-degree spring day.

			Also back working with Scott for True Romance was composer Hans Zimmer—a one-time member of the Buggles (“Video Killed the Radio Star”), who hit upon Hollywood success with his work on Rain Man (1988). He would do a slew of work over the years from The Lion King (1994) to The Rock (1996) to The Dark Knight (2008), as well as having worked on Days of Thunder and the subsequent Tarantino-related Scott film Crimson Tides (1995, see chapter 7 for more details). In creating the music for the film, Tony Scott had requested that it should reflect the theme from the 1973 film Badlands—“Gassenhauer” by Carl Orff—as Scott felt True Romance played like a variation of Badlands’ plot about two young people on the run after a murder, and thus a homage to the earlier film was in order.

			The film would be shot mostly on locations in Los Angeles, with a week of shooting done in Detroit during a bout of snow in the area. Christian Slater was a popular up-and-coming actor at the time, who quickly was pegged for the role over others (see chapter 18 for more details). There was a slight problem, however, between himself and the director, as Slater saw the character in much the same vein as Tarantino—a guy who had seen too many movies and was reacting as if he were in one, playing it more as a fast-talking screwball con man than a serious killer. Scott, on the other hand, saw the part as being like Travis in Taxi Driver—a man who is quietly descending into madness and thinking himself a powerful protector. For most of the movie, it is clear that Slater got more of his way there, with the exception of the scene where Clarence returns with the burgers after killing Drexl. It is the only moment that the Travis Bickle side of Clarence comes out and—even though it was written by Tarantino—the only scene that doesn’t quite fit the rest of the film. It also led to Patricia Arquette having issues with trying to understand why Alabama would react as she does in the scene instead of being scared out of her mind.

			Only three sections of the film were difficult for some of the actors, and all involved physical reactions the actors had to deal with in the scenes. The simplest was the ending Mexican Standoff, with most of the actors having to deal with uncomfortable squibs, but Tom Sizemore had a bigger issue as his character gets shot second, and so he spends the rest of the filming dead with feathers falling into his mouth. The second was the roller-coaster ride, which featured Bronson Pinchot’s character seemingly getting sick. This scene was actually to have taken place at a zoo, but when negotiations fell through, Scott thought the local Six Flags might be a better place for the action. According to Michael Rapaport (who played Clarence’s friend Dick) in the Maxim article, even though the film shows Pinchot’s character getting physically sick on the ride, it was actually he who was freaking out during the filming of the sequence. After throwing up the first time they tried to shoot the scene, they tried again a week later with Rapaport heavily sedated. “Some shots,” Rapaport told Maxim, “show me smiling because I’m drugged out of my mind, and some show me crying because I honestly thought I was going to crap.”

			The most brutal physical work was the scene between the mobster Virgil (played by James Gandolfini) and Alabama (Patricia Arquette). The scene called for Virgil to violently throw Alabama around the hotel room, and Arquette was ready to give it her all. Gandolfini, not so much, as he told Maxim: “Patricia was totally down with it—she was very strong and tough. I’d do something to her character, and her stuntwoman would call me a pussy.” Arquette, meanwhile, was having Tony Scott slap her before shooting bits of the sequence in order to get her into the right frame of mind for the bit. Gandolfini wasn’t above asking for some help as well, demanding that Arquette actually drive the corkscrew into his foot during the fight, but Arquette and others finally persuaded him against the idea.

			Nearly everyone who worked on the film or has seen it since point to the Dennis Hopper–Christopher Walken scene as a pinnacle moment in Tarantino writing. Although both actors are/were known for going their own way with character dialogue in their films, Hopper stated that the only line improvised by the two was the “eggplant/cantaloupe” exchange. Scott would state on the DVD commentary for the film that he had a tough time keeping the two from breaking up when trying to do the scene, and that Walken insisted they shoot all of Hopper’s close-ups first, so he could better construct his character based on Hopper’s reactions.

			When it came to Walken shooting Hopper, it is easy to note some quick cutting to designate the shot to the head rather than the longer take Scott wanted. This came about as Hopper refused to have a gun pointed at his head, especially with anything loaded in it like the blank itself. Scott, in an effort to show it was safe, had the propmaster shoot him in the head with it from the distance Scott had in mind. The charge from the gun sent him down to the ground and bleeding. Hopper said later that Scott’s immediate reaction afterwards was, “Okay, we won’t do that.” Meanwhile, Gandolfini remembered in the Maxim article that Walken decided not to wear earplugs during the shooting sequence, so he did the same, leaving him deaf for three days due to the noise inside the trailer where they were filming.

			Even with Walken and Hopper tearing up the screen in their scene, the character that many took away as being a favorite—in a love/hate sense—was that of Drexl, played by Gary Oldman. Oldman was becoming increasingly known as a chameleon actor who could play anything from Lee Harvey Oswald (Oliver Stone’s JFK) to Dracula (Francis Ford Coppola’s Bram Stoker’s Dracula), and when told that his character was a white drug dealer who thought he was black, Oldman couldn’t pass up the opportunity. Knowing that his character only appeared in the first ten minutes of a wild action movie, Oldman knew he had to make a quick impression on the audience. With dreadlocks, a wicked looking eye, the scars, gold-plated teeth, and a personality that displayed both cunning and stupidity at the same time, Oldman nearly walks off with the picture. Drexl has gone on to become recognized as one of the best villains in movie history, which is pretty impressive, since he appeared only briefly in a movie that not even every Tarantino fan has seen. The biggest impression Oldman made on the set, however, was bringing along his mother to watch his scenes and asking for her advice afterwards; certainly in light of watching her son’s character getting shot in the crotch (which she would state at the time as being “lovely”).

			One interesting development that caused some friction later on was casting for the role of Lee Donowitz. Saul Rubinek, the actor who got the role, recalled to Maxim that Scott thought Rubinek had done an uncanny imitation of producer Joel Silver, who produced such films as the Die Hard and Lethal Weapons series. Rubinek was unaware of Silver’s personality, but was happy to get the job, and it is that stylization based on Silver that Scott wanted in the character. Scott even added the bit where Donowitz is watching footage while in his meeting with Clarence—which is not in the script—as it was something Scott himself had been through once when meeting Silver on a project. Tarantino would make clear that he certainly did not write the character as a parody of Silver, but that’s the way Scott went with it. Seeing that the film discussed in the film—Coming Home in a Body Bag—sounds like a parody of Oliver Stone’s Vietnam-flavored films, it was common for many people to think that Tarantino wrote the character as a parody of Stone—an opinion that grew once people knew some of the details behind the scene of Natural Born Killers.

			Principal shooting was completed in mid-December 1992. Although Tarantino had moved more towards Scott’s vision of the ending, he was still apprehensive. Scott tried to soothe Tarantino’s concerns by filming both endings and then deciding which one to use once editing commenced. Tarantino rightly predicted that Scott would go with the ending he wanted anyway, but still appreciated Scott’s willingness to at least go that extra step.

			Cast

			By the time Tony Scott was attached to the film, Tarantino’s reputation as a writer was starting to become a hot subject in Hollywood as well. Because of this, casting did not involve the tedious, nerve-wracking number of auditions for anyone interested in being in a movie that Tarantino saw at first with Reservoir Dogs. Instead, actors were sending their agents to try to get them auditions for True Romance. Although Matt Dillon was first stated as being tied to the deal with Tony Scott, by August it had been announced that Christian Slater was locked into the lead role, and from there everything fell into place.

			Christian Slater as Clarence Worley

			Slater came from an entertainment background, with both his parents involved in the field. By the age of twenty-one, he was already appearing on Broadway and would subsequently switch over to films, where he made his first big mark with the critics in a medieval detective film with Sean Connery, The Name of the Rose (1986). His career continued to develop as he took on costarring and leading roles, such as in the cult favorite Heathers (1989) and the drama Pump up the Volume (1990). While Slater diversified his roles into action films like Young Guns II and Robin Hood: Prince of Thieves, movies like Untamed Heart (1993) saw Slater’s audience base geared towards young women. It is for this reason that some feel Slater’s box-office pull gave mixed signals to audiences going to True Romance expecting it to be a romantic comedy (to be fair, the advertising did not help to clear up matters, with Slater presented with Arquette as a fun couple “on the run”). Slater would continue on to other films, including Broken Arrow (1996) for John Woo and featuring John Travolta, but eventually moved to television and smaller films as the 2000s came along. True Romance is still considered one of his best roles.

			Patricia Arquette as Alabama Worley

			In some ways, Patricia Arquette was even more tuned into acting as a kid than Slater, with many in her family having acted, including Rosanna Arquette, Robert Arquette (who both would later turn up in Pulp Fiction) and David Arquette. Arquette would start off her film career with a big co-starring role in A Nightmare on Elm Street 3: Dream Warriors (1987), then moved on to secondary roles in films and some starring roles on television before True Romance. She would appear in films for such directors as David Lynch (Lost Highway, 1997) and Martin Scorsese (Bringing Out the Dead, 1999, which costarred Tom Sizemore), but is probably best known for her starring role in the CBS crime drama series, Medium, which ran between 2005 and 2011. Both Arquette and Slater would admit to a mutual attraction when making True Romance, which helped set the tone of their performances.
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					Patricia Arquette about to make a very serious point about how deadly a corkscrew can be in the Safari Inn scene from True Romance.

				

			

			Gary Oldman as Drexl

			Oldman already had made a name for himself in films, with leading roles in Alex Cox’s Sid and Nancy (1986), Stephen Frears’ Prick Up Your Ears, Tom Stoppard’s Rosencrantz & Guildenstern Are Dead (1990, and costarring Reservoir Dogs/Pulp Fiction actor Tim Roth), Oliver Stone’s JFK (1991), and Francis Ford Coppola’s Bram Stoker’s Dracula (1992). The year 1993 would also see Oldman in the crime-action film Romeo Is Bleeding as the lead, which has a Tarantino vibe to it. He is more recently remembered as playing Commissioner Gordon in the Batman trilogy starring Christian Bale.

			Dennis Hopper as Clifford

			Hopper’s career is so expansive and so diverse both in front of and behind the camera that it would be impossible to give it much justice here. He appeared in such films as Giant and Rebel Without a Cause back in the 1950s, swung from the conservative True Grits with John Wayne to hippie nightmare in Easy Rider with Peter Fonda (both in 1969), and rebounded in the 1980s with films like Hoosiers and David Lynch’s Blue Velvet (1986).

			Hopper had agreed to appear in Reservoir Dogs for Tarantino, after being asked by his friend Harvey Keitel, but had to back out due to other commitments. Surprisingly, he never appeared in any movies directed by Tarantino, although he would state many times how much he enjoyed Tarantino’s writing and would even interview him for a magazine years later. Besides True Romance, the closest Hopper would come to working with Tarantino was in Hell Ride (2008), which was produced by Tarantino. Hopper died in 2010.

			Christopher Walken as Ciccotti

			Hopper was known as an actor who sometimes could be eccentric in his performances (usually in a good way), which made him an interesting choice to put into a scene with Christopher Walken, who is well known for doing the same. Walken had started acting as a child in television before studying dance and theater in his older years. He appeared in a variety of television through the 1950s and 1960s before moving on to the movies in the 1970s, where he almost was cast as Han Solo in Star Wars (1977). His breakout role was in Michael Cimino’s The Deer Hunter, which won him an Academy Award for Best Supporting Actor. Although Walken plays many types of roles in a variety of films, he usually is pegged (even as early as Woody Allen’s Annie Hall) as men on the edge of emotional violence or psychological confusion (such as in David Cronenberg’s The Dead Zone). Because of this, it has not been that unusual to see him in roles as slimy gangsters, mob bosses, and pimps, even when given a chance to dance (as he did in 1981’s Pennies From Heaven). Walken was also pegged for a role in Reservoir Dogs, only to make his first appearance in a Tarantino-related production with True Romance. He would later appear in a memorable cameo in Tarantino’s Pulp Fiction as Captain Koons, the war veteran who returns the watch that belonged to Butch’s father to him. Walken has continued on with a successful career as both star and costar in a number of movies and may be best known to younger viewers as the producer needing “more cowbells” in the famous Blue Oyster Cult sketch on Saturday Night Live.

			Michael Rapaport as Dick

			Rapaport gained recognition after appearing in the 1992 Zebrahead (a film that was sometimes in competition with Tarantino’s Reservoir Dogs in festivals during 1992). He has appeared in a variety of movies and television since the early 1990s, with his naïve Dick Ritchie from True Romance being still remembered fondly by fans.
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					Christopher Walken as Coccotti in a scene that appears in the trailer for the film and as a publicity still, but not in the movie itself.

				

			

			Bronson Pinchot as Elliot

			Pinchot seemed like an odd choice at the time of filming as he was very popular on television playing Balki on the ABC sitcom Perfect Strangers. Before that he commonly cropped up in comedy roles, and typically as weak willed (Risky Business) or over-the-top (Beverly Hills Cop). While Elliot is a somewhat comedic role, it is still ultimately a rather serious one that ends up with his character causing and meeting his demise in the Mexican Standoff in the movie. Looking back on the film in Maxim, Pinchot stated that he once read the cunnilingus scene out in his Balki voice to the cast of Perfect Strangers, shocking the majority of those present. He has moved on to other television and movie roes since, although his True Romance role remains one of his best known outside of his Balki character from Perfect Strangers.

			Brad Pitt as Floyd

			Pitt was rapidly moving up the ladder in Hollywood, having already been featured in strong costarring roles in Thelma & Louise (1991), Robert Redford’s A River Runs Through It and Ralph Bakshi’s Cool World (1992). Looking to get into the film, he asked Tony Scott if he could play the Floyd role, which allowed him to improvise a little with Tarantino’s script, changing a character written as more of a simple background character into one that helps humorously set up actions in the later part of the film. Pitt would begin playing lead roles soon afterwards (including another kooky-couple-on-the-run movie, Kalifornia, released a week before True Romance), like Se7en (1995), Fight Club (1999), the Ocean series with George Clooney, World War Z (2013) and, of course, in Tarantino’s Inglourious Basterds (2009) as loudmouth Lt. Raine.

			Also Appearing

			James Gandolfini as Virgil, the gangster who roughs up both Clifford and Alabama. People watching True Romance these days are no doubt a bit surprised to see a younger, slimmer Tony Soprano suddenly appear in the trailer during Clifford’s interrogation scene. Gandolfini himself has commented that his later character had similarities to his True Romance one, and that’s easy to see with the way Virgil suddenly stops his attack of Alabama in order to confess his changing views on murder (one almost expects Tony’s analyst to suddenly appear in the seat across from him). Gandolfini had appeared in Tony Scott’s previous movie, The Last Boy Scout, also as a henchman, and in his subsequent picture, Crimson Tides (1995, and with contributions from Tarantino), as well as Scott’s 2009 remake of The Taking of Pelham 123. Because of his physical appearance and typecasting from the immensely popular HBO series The Sopranos, Gandolfini tended to get cast as playful but ultimately dangerous characters, although he would occasionally get a chance to play against type in lower-budgeted films. A romantic comedy starring Gandolfini, Enough Said, was in postproduction when Gandolfini passed away in June 2013.

			Val Kilmer as Elvis. Kilmer was a popular star already by the time of True Romance, appearing in such films as Tony Scott’s Top Gun (1986), which Tarantino does a funny rant about in Sleep with Me (1994); and Oliver Stone’s The Doors, where he played Jim Morrison. Kilmer had wanted to play the lead in True Romance, but was happy to take on the role of Elvis. The story goes that he went through a good amount of time in the makeup chair to achieve the right look, only for Scott to decide to never show a good look at Kilmer’s face in the film in order to help further the fantasy of Elvis talking to Clarence. He does get a close-up in the official movie trailer for the film, showing that his face and name value was worthy of use at least in the promotion of the film.

			Kilmer’s career hit a snag with his appearance as Batman in Batman Forever (1995), but he continues to work in pictures, big and small.

			Saul Rubinek as Lee Donowitz. Rubinek appeared in one of his remembered roles the year before True Romance, as the writer W. W. Beauchamp in Clint Eastwood’s Unforgiven (1992), He would later turn up in Oliver Stone’s Nixon (1995) in a small role and continues to work in movie and a wide number of television dramas.

			Tom Sizemore as Detective Nicholson—See chapter 6.

			Chris Penn as Detective Dimes—See chapter 4.

			Samuel L. Jackson as Big Don. Jackson had auditioned for Reservoir Dogs, and is commonly thought of as one of Tarantino’s regular cast members, although he has only appeared in four movies directed by Tarantino. More about him in chapter 10 when his career really gets a boost once he appears in Pulp Fiction.

			Conchata Ferrell as Mary Louise Ravencroft. The actress playing the casting director who flatly works with Dick for his audition is probably recognizable to many today for her regular role as the housekeeper on the CBS comedy series Two and a Half Men. She also starred in the excellent 1979 drama Heartland. She, oddly enough, is another actor who appeared in an Oliver Stone film, this one being Heaven & Earth (1993), which Stone did immediately before starting on Natural Born Killers. Television remains her main place of business, with regular or semiregular roles in shows like E/R, L.A. Law and others. I also remember her from the short-lived but controversial comedy series by Norman Lear Hot l Baltimore back in 1975.

			Ed Lauter as Captain Quiggle. Lauter was familiar to filmgoers in roles that are usually authoritative, such as Quiggle being the captain that allows Dimes and Nicholson to proceed with their drug sting. He too appeared in an Oliver Stone movie, Born on the Fourth of July (1989), and a whole slew of others, including both the original 1974 version and 2005 remake of The Longest Yard. Lauter died in October 2013.

			Sequential Plot

			Clarence Worley is a comic book store clerk who meets up with a young woman named Alabama at a Sonny Chiba triple feature on his birthday. They are immediately attracted to each other, and although Alabama is a call girl hired by Clarence’s boss to bed Clarence on his birthday, both admit their mutual love for each other and get married the next day.

			While getting tattoos, Alabama talks about Drexl, her pimp, who also turns out to be a drug courier for a mob boss named Blue Lou Boyle. After receiving otherworldly advice from Elvis, Clarence guns down Drexl and takes a suitcase that he thinks belongs to Alabama but actually is full of cocaine that Drexl killed two men for the night before.

			Clarence and Alabama go to Clarence’s dad—Clifford, a former cop—to see if there are any leads on Drexl’s death. They then head off to California to sell the drugs, but their visit leads Boyle’s counsel, Vincenzo Coccotti, to Clifford. Clifford refuses to give up the whereabouts of his son and, by riling up Coccotti about his ancestry, ends up being killed by Coccotti. A note on the fridge unfortunately gives Clarence’s whereabouts away, and Coccotti tells the gangsters with him to kill the two newlyweds and get their cocaine back.

			Clarence and Alabama meet up with Clarence’s old friend Dick, who is a struggling actor, to see if he has any connections that will buy the drugs. He gets them to Elliot, an actor working for a big movie producer named Lee Donowitz, who is enticed in meeting about buying the cocaine. An enforcer, Virgil, finds out from Dick’s roommate Floyd, where Clarence and Alabama are staying and nearly kills Alabama before she turns the tables on him, killing him with his own shotgun. Meanwhile, Elliot gets picked up by the cops and is talked into wearing a wire when the deal goes down.

			In the meeting, Donowitz is ready to buy, only for a team of cops, a gaggle of gangsters, and two disgruntled bodyguards to face off and finally being shooting at each other. While Clarence is hit in the face, he survives, and Alabama drags him and the money to their car, where they take off for Mexico and a happy ending.

			The Script

			Most of the script is exactly as above, only with things in a different order and some scenes deleted. Some songs are different as well.

			•	Clarence’s attempt to pick up the older woman in the bar leads into Drexl’s shoot-out in the hotel room. Marty, Drexl’s assistant in the movie, doesn’t appear in this scene in the script. Instead, Drexl has to shoot three men in the hotel room before leaving with the suitcase. The discussion about cunnilingus continues beyond what appears in the film, with Jayne Kennedy being someone a guy wouldn’t turn down if she asked. The results are the same, however.

			•	Jumping in time, Clifford finds Clarence and Alabama at his trailer. Clarence’s car is a red Mustang instead of a pink Cadillac as in the film. Clarence has a few more rambling comments to make as they enter the trailer, discussing chicken places to eat (which explains Alabama’s comment later about not finding any food as it’s nine in the morning) and a number of fruit magnets on the fridge. It gets to Clarence asking for help when the scene cuts to—

			•	Dick Ritchie’s audition. The main difference is that a poster for The Return of T. J. Hooker is on the wall, according to the script.

			•	The scene then cuts back to Clarence asking for help from Clifford and Alabama arrive with the beer.

			•	Clifford calls a friend on the force to see what is known about Drexl’s death. This is a unique scene in the script that would have involved intercutting or possibly a split-screen showing Clifford (or Cliff, as he’s named in the script) talking to a Detective Wilson. They shoot the breeze a little as the scene cuts to the next.

			•	Clifford coming out of the trailer to see Clarence and Alabama off. Clarence says a little more as a send-off while pulling away, but otherwise it is the same as in the film.

			•	Clarence and Alabama call Dick. The script has them making the call from a Las Vegas hotel room rather than a roadside phone booth. More interesting, Dick’s apartment is neat, clean, and with a framed photo of a ballet dancer rather than the grungy, smoke-filled place with way too many expensive movie posters on the walls as in the film. Dick also immediately finds the letter after talking to the two on the phone.

			•	Coccotti interrogates Clifford. Clifford is slightly roughed up a bit beforehand, unlike the blow to the head as seen in the movie. Coccotti mentions he has a son of his own so understands Clifford wanting to protect him. After the Sicilian debate, Coccotti pulls his own gun out—instead of borrowing one—and grabs Clifford by the hair before blowing his brains out. He states that he hasn’t killed anyone since 1974, instead of 1984 as in the film.

			•	Clarence and Alabama arrive at Dick’s apartment. Dick opens the door to Clarence and Alabama singing “Hello, My Baby” from the Chuck Jones cartoon One Froggy Evening, rather than the cute solicitation that Alabama does in the movie.

			•	In another cut scene, Clarence, Alabama, and Dick have chili dogs at Pink’s Hot-Dog Stand. Alabama explains how she got her name, and Dick mentions his audition for the T. J. Hooker movie (rather than him mentioning it on their way to the Safari Inn, as in the film). Dick asks how Clarence met Alabama, which leads into the “flashback” of—

			•	Alabama going to the movies and having a meet-cute with Clarence in the theater. The film showing in the theater is Return of the Street Fighter in the script instead of The Street Fighter as in the movie.

			•	The movie ends, but the two talk in their seats. Alabama shows her driver’s license to prove her name is real (and that her last name is Whitman). This scene was cut from the film.

			•	Clarence and Alabama leave the theater and go for pie and get to know each other. There is a little more playful dialogue between the two than in the movie.

			•	Comic Book Shop. More is seen and discussed in the shop, including how much Spider-Man #1 is worth. ($400? Even in 1992 money that must have been one really crummy copy. Then again, he didn’t say Amazing Spider-Man #1, did he? So the McFarlane Spider-Man #1? In 1992 money that better be one damn impressive copy! Like McFarlane autographed it in Stan Lee’s blood or something. But I digress.)

			•	Clarence’s apartment. This scene is completely different from what Scott has in the film. In the movie, it’s a hot sex scene. In the script, it’s a romantic dance in his room to Janis Joplin’s “Piece of my Heart,” with Clarence telling a romantic story about Joplin before the two kiss.

			•	Alabama’s confession to Clarence. It is done in his living room instead of outside by a billboard. Alabama gives more details of how she became a call girl and who Drexl is before the two discuss getting married.

			•	The following night, with the two watching a kung fu movie and Alabama with a ring on her finger. The scene is intercut with flashes to the two getting married in an all-night chapel, dancing, and taking a cab while making lovey-dovey talk. However, it is soon interrupted, with Clarence imagining the type of terrible things Drexl did to Alabama. He excuses himself to the bathroom. Cutting this scene avoids having to dream up an all-night chapel in Detroit, for one thing. Instead, information about Drexl occurs in a new scene for the movie where Alabama gets a tattoo, while their marriage occurs at the courthouse. The movie they’re watching on television in the movie is a kung fu movie like in the script at least.

			•	Clarence discussing killing Drexl with Elvis in the bathroom.

			•	Clarence asks Alabama to write down Drexl’s address. In the script, Clarence makes it clear that he’s going to wipe away her problems, although he doesn’t state what he has in mind.

			•	Clarence goes to Drexl’s place. The only main difference is Clarence giving a bit too much information about The Mack to Drexl. (He gets to the point of describing the distribution company involved before finishing.) Drexl also talks about his plans for Alabama once she is returned, and how he plans to force Clarence to watch before killing him.

			•	Clarence arrives back at the apartment. The script has Clarence telling Alabama he killed Drexl, then running back to his car to get a number of carryout bags of food; oddly very reminiscent of Drexl with his multiple carryout boxes of Chinese from the previous scene. The rest of the scene plays out as in the film. After this, the script goes back to the present day with Dick, Clarence, and Alabama.

			•	Dick sees the cocaine. Tarantino has them staying at a Holiday Inn instead of the Safari Inn. Dick is a lot more resistant to helping Clarence than in the movie, but it was probably cut as being too close to the same dialogue as when Clifford resists helping Clarence earlier in the movie. It does make Dick a bit more aggressive and smarter than in the film, however.

			•	Meeting Elliot at the zoo. Obviously the main difference is that the film has them getting on a roller coaster (which Alabama suggests instead of the zoo in the script). Because of the logistics of the characters, Dick loses some dialogue in the scene (which Rapaport probably would not have been able to pull off in his condition anyway). There’s also no reason for the humor of Elliot getting sick that appears in the film, as they’re walking around at the zoo. The conversation on the phone to Lee is nearly the same, only with a bit more Hollywood buzzwords in the conversation between Clarence and Lee before they agree to meet.

			•	Clarence drops Alabama off at the hotel. Alabama has some dialogue with Clarence about how she didn’t get to do much when they were talking to Elliot, but Clarence disagrees. She goes to the room and meets Virgil there. (There is no scene beforehand showing how he knows to be there thanks to talking to Dick’s roommate; he simply appears.) He uses kung fu on her instead of beating her like in the film, but the general tone is the same, including his brief discussion about getting used to killing people. This is all intercut with Clarence’s food run, as in the film. Alabama has a knife from a Swiss army knife, instead of the corkscrew, but the effect to the foot is the same. The Saint Francis of Assisi prayer Alabama gives in the script as she kills Virgil is also missing. Clarence has to pull the gun away from her as she continues to smash in Virgil’s head absentmindedly in the script, which isn’t quite the violence of the scene in the film.

			•	Clarence takes Alabama to a new hotel. This scene was cut from the film. Clarence talks directly to the camera about how he’ll never let anyone harm Alabama again, while Alabama sleeps nearby. As there is no other direct narrative in the script or film, it was probably cut to avoid rattling the audience’s attention (not to mention that Clarence’s look at the dozing Alabama on the sofa at the airport later does the same work as Tarantino’s dialogue in this scene).

			•	Elliot gets picked up with cocaine, then interrogated by Nicholson and Dimes. Afterwards, Nicolson and Dimes go to the captain. The script has the two much more into how they interrogated Elliot than the captain wants to hear. They begin to describe what they know, but the scene intercuts with—

			•	Coccotti meets with his men at a restaurant in Detroit. He mentions that Virgil is missing. Coccotti states that he trusts Virgil because he kept his mouth shut when sent to prison over getting caught in a warehouse full of stolen goods. (Much like Mr. Blonde in Reservoir Dogs, which readily explains why it was cut from True Romance.). The scene was filmed, but with the group dressed in tuxes and in an elevator and walking down a hall. There is a brief clip of Walken with the other characters from this scene in the official movie trailer as well as publicity photos taken of the actors in tuxedos from the scene that were published, so it appears this scene may have been a late cut from the film.

			•	Back to Nicolson and Dimes explaining that they want to put a wire on Elliot and that they plan to collar the big Hollywood producer. This is followed by Coccotti accepting the possibility that Clarence may have been able to take down Virgil. He wants Clarence dead for sure and tells the others to get to it.

			•	Clarence and Alabama sit at the airport on the sofa. Since they had a chance to clean up after the Virgil incident at the hotel, Clarence is not shown cleaning up Alabama like in the film. Most of the dialogue is the same, with the exception of one bit where Clarence talks about living in Dearborn.

			•	Clarence, Alabama, and Dick are about to leave the apartment. Floyd, who is more straitlaced in the script than in Brad Pitt’s performance, tells them how to get to the Beverly Wilshire (the drug deal happens in the Beverly Ambassador in the film). Everything else is the same as in the movie.

			•	Elliot is wired for sound. Elliot does Shakespeare instead of joking around about being a Cub Scout selling uncut cocaine. The cops also make sure to say that they want the name of the cop from whom Clarence got the cocaine.

			•	Clarence, Alabama, and Dick drive over to the hotel. The four mobsters are intercut into the sequence, driving over instead of the scene in the film of the mobsters in a hotel room getting ready with their weapons.

			•	Clarence, Alabama, and Dick arrive at the hotel. Dick tries to talk them out of the deal as someone can end up dead. Alabama is convinced, but Clarence decides he has to do it. This scene was filmed, but cut, and instead everyone goes in without hesitation.

			•	Clarence, Alabama, and Dick meet up with Elliot. Elliot sings the theme song from Secret Agent. The trip to the elevator has some minor revisions to the dialogue but plays out the same, with Clarence pointing his gun at Elliot and Elliot’s freak-out convincing Clarence that Elliot is telling him the truth.

			•	The mobsters meet Floyd. Brad Pitt plays for humor in the film that really isn’t on the page in Tarantino’s script. Floyd doesn’t appear to be high in the script either.

			•	The group arrives for the deal at Lee’s place. Clarence’s line about Monty having to take the gun is played slightly differently, but is in the script. Lee is not looking at footage on a projector television as in the film, so no mention of the Coming Home in a Body Bag sequel. Clarence does talk about movies, but is more into it in the script than in the film.

			•	There is also a quick cut to a scene in the lobby where the mobsters arrive looking for Lee’s room, claiming to be from Warner Brothers. The Mexican Standoff is much like in the film, only with Clarence getting shot in the forehead and dying while Alabama tries to give him mouth-to-mouth resuscitation.

			•	Dick leaves as in the film, but he’s followed by an agent who catches up with him. The agent is shot by Lenny—one of the mobsters—who had already made it out of the room. Lenny and Dick stare at each other for a moment, and Dick apologizes for anything that happened. Two elevators open near them, and Lenny wishes Dick luck as they both dive into their respective elevators. Dick makes it to a room full of stewardesses doing aerobics and hides there. Lenny makes it to the lobby and holds a woman hostage (much like we see briefly in the film).

			•	Alabama grabs a gun and shoots Dimes and Marvin, one of the mobsters. She sees that Boris, one of Lee’s bodyguards, is still alive, and instead of shooting him, wishes him luck. Wurlitzer, the cop who is shot in the belly in the movie, is unharmed and spots Alabama leaving with the money. He tries to stop her, but she shoots him three times in the belly and he dies. (A character named Wurlitzer would also appear in Tarantino’s script for Natural Born Killers. In that, he is the superintendent at the country prison where Mickey and Mallory are being held.) Alabama walks out of the hotel with the money and goes to the Mustang.

			•	Alabama heads off on the highway. An internal dialogue from Alabama has her angry at Clarence for deciding to go ahead with the deal when they could have walked away. She stops along the side of the road and puts the gun she has in her mouth. She sees the napkin that says “You’re so cool!” as in the film, but there’s an additional arrow drawn through the heart that was done by Clarence in the previous scene before the drug deal fell apart. She tosses the gun aside, grabs the briefcase of money and the Sgt. Fury comic Clarence had gotten her the first night they met and walks away from the car as the script comes to an end.
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					Val Kilmer, Bronson Pinchot, Chris Penn, Christian Slater, Patricia Arquette and Dennis Hopper in a rather odd publicity photo for the film. Kilmer (who played Elvis in the film) is not even in his costume. 

				

			

			The Backend

			Scott would later tell Tarantino that he went into the editing room and attempted to put the film together the way Tarantino had it in his script, but it didn’t work and he went with the chronological order by which everyone knows the film today. Tarantino also mentioned that Scott got so into attempting to recut the film as per the script that he supposedly went too far in that direction, and made the film more manic than even he himself would have tried to make it.

			As happens every few years, the MPAA was going through a squeamish period where anything involving violence was a problem, and True Romance was one of the films that had to make cuts to appease the ratings board in order to get an R rating in the U.S. Many of the cuts requested were the usual things—cut back on the number of bullet hits, avoid showing this gore shot, etc.—however, Scott was perturbed by the insistence of the board in cutting two things he considered “story” to the film, and both dealing with Alabama. The first was the death of Detective Dimes, which was to have come from the hands of Alabama near the end of the fight. The board was fearful of movies featuring one of the protagonists—especially a female one—killing a police officer and so asked Scott to cut it. Because Dimes has to die in order for Alabama to make her clean break from the chaos, Scott edited the scene to make it look like one of the mobsters did it instead. The second was during the fight between Alabama and Virgil. As mentioned above, Alabama was to keep bashing at Virgil’s head with the butt of his shotgun while reciting a prayer. This was too much for the board, and they asked for it to be cut.

			Sneak previews of the film were held to see audiences’ reactions, but the push was on for Slater, as Slater attracted a younger female audience. The reactions were less than enthusiastic to the bloody action film such audiences were seeing—especially when an early scene has a bunch of very unpleasant guys sitting around talking about cunnilingus. However, when cheers came up as Alabama bashed in Virgil’s head, the filmmakers knew they were dead in keeping it, as the MPAA would find it even more repulsive if they knew. When Scott finally got to do a director’s “unrated” cut for video, all these cuts returned and are commonly seen by fans as being the version of the film—yes, even with the “happy ending”—that is the proper one (most probably as Tarantino would eventually give his blessing, somewhat begrudgingly, to the ending Scott preferred).

			Meanwhile, once again the American Humane Association turned up and gave the film an “Acceptable” rating, stating that no fish were harmed in the fight scene between Clarence and Drexl. They were also happy that Clifford’s Rottweiler “is seen riding in a car, romping outside his home, being petted and hugged, and as atmosphere.” So at least they were happy.

			Warner, unsure of what to do with the film, attempted to change the title to Reckless Hearts, which not only makes it sound like a happy comedy, but one that sounds too much like Untamed Hearts, Slater’s earlier film. That was put to a halt with the help of Tarantino and the cast vocally disapproving, but it didn’t stop an ad campaign that doesn’t really sell the movie either. The trailer makes it look more like a chase movie, with Walken’s character an intricate part of the plot as a mobster chasing Clarence and Alabama across the country, instead of an extended cameo that is only one element of the complicated plot. The poster used, showing various cast members, wasn’t up to much either, as it makes the film look like 20,000 other wacky romantic comedies of the 1990s; nor does another poster showing Clarence pointing a gun, with Alabama airbrushed into the background.

			There were some standout critical pans for the film when released, mostly from sources that had already had their fill of Tony Scott and violent movies and saw True Romance as another in a long line of the same. Variety dismissed Scott’s directing style as “visually arresting if too obvious,” and saw the film as “one of the endless variations on the couple-on-the-run subgenre, yarn provides some amazing encounters, bravura acting turns, and gruesome carnage. But it doesn’t add up to enough.” Richard Harrington of the Washington Post trashed the movie, seeing the teaming of Scott and Tarantino as a “match made in the Hell of Hollywood” and finding Patricia Arquette “a cipher who seems oblivious to her circumstances” and Slater “bland.”

			Yet most reviews were positive. Roger Ebert gave the film three stars; recognizing the movie as one that “creates its own universe, and glories in it . . . True Romance, which feels at times like a fire sale down at the cliché factory, is made with such energy, such high spirits, such an enchanting goofiness, that it’s impossible to resist.” Janet Maslin at the New York Times compared it to the glut of similar films that were popping up at the time (no doubt after the fame and fortune of David Lynch’s 1990 film Wild at Heart, which featured a couple on the run and dealing with dangerous criminal types) and found that it “has a lot more consistency and a much surer sense of dark humor.” She also praised the Hopper/Walken scene—as did many other reviewers—and congratulated the film treating the minor performers as “guest stars” allowed to make the most of their time on-screen. Meanwhile, Owen Gleiberman over at Entertainment Weekly gave the film a B+, feeling that it may be a “derivative, machine-tooled entertainment,” but the fun was in “how the machine keeps spinning off course.”

			Even with positive reviews, the film hit a snag with poor publicity and—as mentioned—a run of other films similar in spirit (Kalifornia, with Brad Pitt and Juliette Lewis, was released the week before, while Money for Nothing, with John Cusack, was released at the same time as True Romance). Final cost on the movie differs from between $12 million to $16 million, although most agree on a final figure of around $13 million. The domestic results at the box office, with only a three-weekend run in theaters, was a little over $12 million. The film would eventually pick up its costs internationally, but at the time it was considered essentially a flop. Video sales helped save the movie over the years, and it is now considered a cult favorite, even amongst some viewers who otherwise cannot tolerate Tarantino’s movies.

			And where does it sit in the Tarantino universe? Obviously, Tarantino feel proud enough about the completed film to do a commentary for the DVD release and to have it as part of the twentieth anniversary Blu-ray box set released in 2012 for his films. He also considers the characters to be part of his “Realer Than Real” universe (see chapter 19 for more details on that front), although he has made clear that in his own world, Clarence didn’t make it and it would only be Alabama that has a chance to reappear at some point in one of his films.

			Thoughts

			True Romance is the closest we’ll ever get to see what My Best Friend’s Birthday would have looked like with a group of professionals filming that script. Tarantino’s screenplay has some of the same whimsy of the earlier script and—no doubt thanks to Scott—is one of his lightest, happiest movies. Sure, people die, and there’s some nasty violence in it, but we also get two characters that emerge from this rabbit hole of outlandish events safe, sound, and secure. Even the darkly humorous Mexican Standoff late in the film is somewhat reminiscent of the multiple people threatening violence in one room as featured in the My Best Friend’s Birthday script.

			Moreover, My Best Friend’s Birthday was an opportunity—perhaps unintentionally but still present—for the writers to present a cinematic fantasy of their lives. Clarence and Mickey in that script were not really like Quentin and Craig in reality, but more like how it would have been “really cool to be” for a little while. It’s dreamlike, and so is True Romance. The danger in that line of thinking, however, is to assume that this is how Tarantino wished his life would be, rather than taking this image he had of himself and incorporating elements of it in the script.

			And there’s no doubt about it, it would be so easy to list things that could represent Tarantino’s background up to that point. A man working at a comic book shop who gets to stay late and goof around sounds much like the Tarantino that lived in the acting school for a time, and was quite happy working at a video store. A guy who knows too much about movies and realizes as much. A man happily going to a triple feature of Sonny Chiba movies.

			Much more, the fantasy elements that the character has. He reveals himself to be a fast talker that is always spot-on and able to win people over. A man from a broken home that has his father reveal himself to not only be a good guy, but willing to sacrifice himself to prove his love to his son. A man who easily wins over the girl who is a reversal of the clichéd “Madonna/Whore” scenario—she’s wild but want to be monogamous and sweet with him. She even handles herself better than him in fights (he kills two men only after they are set to see him die and both deaths are effortless; Alabama has a knock-down, drag-out fight midway through the picture and shoots Dimes out of vengeance rather than need). It is ultimately Alabama that saves the day and wins in the end, not Clarence, which to a certain number of guys would be fine and dandy with having their girlfriend do so for real.

			Tarantino has stated that the whole train of thought of Alabama being a fantasy girlfriend he longed for was not correct, but he never quite denied that it wasn’t the type of girlfriend that some guys would clamor to have. Better yet, Tarantino once said quite clearly that Clarence was definitely a version of himself drawn for the movie—this is how he would have liked to see himself react and live if such a situation occurred. Of course, then again, he pictures Clarence ultimately getting himself killed in the process as well.

			Yet Scott was right—this is definitely a fantasy film. And like in dreams—well, happy dreams at least—we walk away from them intact and for the better. In some ways, there would be no issues if all we see in True Romance is Clarence’s dream after getting shot down by the woman in the bar, going home, and getting some sleep in his lonely room. Perhaps even a recurring dream, where sometimes he ends up dead on the ground and the girl taking off with the money, and sometimes with him playing with his young son at the beach years later. True Romance works best in that spirit, for in the end Clarence would wake up and go back to his job behind the counter at a comic book shop, wondering when something will ever happen to him.

			Much like many of those watching True Romance. Much like how Quentin no doubt saw his life when writing the screenplay.

		

	
		
			6
I Never Said I Wanted Tarantino Dead

			The Making of Natural Born Killers

			Release Date: August 26, 1994, through Warner Brothers

			Discussing Oliver Stone’s Natural Born Killers is a controversial topic for this book. Tarantino has disowned the film in favor of his screenplay, and there’s a whole subculture of fans and haters who praise either the movie or the script based on a variety of things—although mostly if they like Tarantino or hate his guts. A comparison of Tarantino’s script demonstrates that Oliver Stone made many changes to make it his own, many of which clearly change the tone of what Tarantino had in mind; yet the basis is always what Tarantino created and much of the dialogue (in the scenes still left that originated with him) is the same. Poignantly, both the script and the film are trying to say the same thing about our culture, our fascination with violence, and the media, but send that message home in different manners and with different resolutions, even if both end with Mickey and Mallory walking away as the “winners.”

			It probably would be safer to forget about the whole thing, move on to Pulp Fiction, and save the abuse that comes from even mentioning it (or, on the flip side, even mentioning that some people do not care for it). Tarantino himself dismisses the idea that it is his, so why venture into that minefield?

			Yet, if we’re going to allow True Romance to be considered part of the Tarantino catalog, even after the changes Tony Scott made to the script—especially the ending—then Oliver Stone’s interpretation of Tarantino’s Natural Born Killers script deserves to be here as well. Further, as the screenplay has been discussed earlier and in later chapters of this book, to make it disappear would not give the script, the film or Tarantino’s career the full review they deserve. The events that took place in getting Natural Born Killers up on the screen did have ramifications for Tarantino’s career, and it’s a good look at how two very opinionated and independent writer/directors who work in ways outside of the studio system—Stone and Tarantino—can end up clashing in good old Hollywood fashion about a film. It’s impossible to avoid the topic.

			Speaking of the earlier film, it is only fitting that True Romance get a mention here. After all, both it and Natural Born Killers evolved from The Open Road script that Tarantino had worked on with Roger Avary. Both deal with a couple on the run; traveling in their classic car from the past (a 1970 Dodge Challenger in Natural Born Killers; a 1974 Cadillac Eldorado convertible in True Romance); dealing with cops with their own agendas (not to mention Tom Sizemore as one of the cops); killing evil father figures (Mallory’s dad; Alabama’s pimp); and, finally, outlasting the rest of the cast in order to end up with a happy future assured.

			Natural Born Killers was never a case of cannibalizing earlier material, as some are too quick to conclude, but rather due to the nature of The Open Road as discussed in chapter 3. Tarantino had envisioned both stories playing out within the same script as counterpart to each other—with Natural Born Killers being a script Clarence is working on while traveling with Alabama. Natural Born Killers was always the B-story, the tag-along that was to be the bizarre “alternate universe” counterpart to True Romance. Oddly enough, although our main character dies in the “reality” of one but survives in the fantasy, True Romance was always the nice dream in comparison to the nightmare that is Natural Born Killers. They are obviously reflections of each other, and it is easy to see when the two movies are placed side-by-side. The only difference is that Natural Born Killers would be wearing a Spock goatee.

			Production

			Flashback to when Tarantino was trying to get his first movie completed. My Best Friend’s Birthday? Well, that didn’t work out, albeit it was a good learning experience. Say, there’s The Open Road—tear that apart and make it into a script about Clarence and Alabama; call it True Romance and find some backers for it. Somewhere. Sometime. Okay, nothing happening there. What to do?

			What Tarantino did was look at the bloody remains of The Open Road and use it to build a new script about a couple who are serial killers. More importantly, he wrote it as an insightful satire of the infatuation a good number of people have with serial killers, not only in America but around the world. This early version of the script featured no Wayne Gale character (Robert Downey Jr.’s character), and instead went off in a direction dipping into the cult mentality of Reverend Jim Jones and David Koresh. Once finished, Tarantino hoped to get investors interested in turning it into a movie for $500,000. As with True Romance, the script for Natural Born Killers went out the door, and Tarantino sat back to wait for someone to bite.

			And waited.

			Ironically, when things finally did occur, it was like a reflection of what happened with the True Romance script, only by way of a fun-house mirror. Both scripts were floating around Hollywood, with doors being slammed in the faces of everyone trying to pitch it. In the case of Natural Born Killers, Tarantino had finished the script and began working with another Video Archives alumnus, Rand Vossler, on getting it made into a film with Tarantino directing. At the time, Vossler seemed like a good person to work with: he had been involved as one of the producers of, and in helping to film, My Best Friend’s Birthday, while also getting professional work in the industry in the 1980s. Sure, it was work as an assistant on one-off projects, but it was still better than picking up dog feces for a workout video like Tarantino and Avary were doing at the time. As with True Romance, there was not that much interest, but Vossler, Tarantino, Tarantino’s manager, and others kept pushing when and where they could.

			As with the making of True Romance, everyone seems to have their own story as to how they found and saved Natural Born Killers from oblivion. Some sources say 1990, but it appears that 1991 was the year things really got rolling, which as we’ll see may have had a great deal to do with Tarantino’s reaction to what occurred.
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					The original “television set” movie poster that the producers of Natural Born Killers (1994) wanted pulled.

				

			

			Vossler had been trying to pitch the script with him producing and Tarantino directing for a while, when Tarantino or Vossler or both ran into Don Murphy at Video Archives. Murphy, a regular at the store, had graduated from USC with a Master of Fine Arts, and was making his first movie, Monday Morning (1990). He also knew movies and comics, and thus could communicate with Tarantino on his level. When Tarantino found out that Murphy was getting his first film made, Tarantino told him about Natural Born Killers and his idea of filming it himself. Murphy was intrigued enough to get a copy of the script but then pushed it aside for several months.

			Another version of this story is that Rand Vossler had run into Don Murphy and his producing partner Jane Hamsher while working at MGM and gave them a copy of the script. At the time Murphy and Hamsher were trying to get a project off the ground based on the video game Double Dragon (a production was set to start in fall 1991, but then stalled until 1993 and was finally released in 1994 by Imperial Entertainment, the company Tarantino was working for after Video Archives). It is worth pointing this out, as some versions of these events have Double Dragon already filmed and released by the time Tarantino began talking to Murphy and Hamsher, but that wasn’t quite the case. Either way, Murphy had a script sitting around, but was busy with a variety of possible projects at the time, so it was mostly forgotten over time.

			According to Hamsher in her account of the making of Natural Born Killers (Killer Instinct, Broadway Books, 1997), she and Murphy met for a meal with Tarantino in early 1991 to discuss possibly doing a film together. Murphy then got Tarantino connected to twin bodybuilders who were interesting in helping to finance the film with Tarantino directing. All they wanted for their $250,000 (some sources say $275,000) is that they appear in a short scene in the movie, with the objective of it getting them a Screen Actors Guild (SAG) union card. Tarantino thought it was a bit nutty, but by this point he had already had possible financiers offer to make Reservoir Dogs if the backer’s girlfriend got to play Mr. Blonde, so he was willing to see if he could invent a short scene to help get financing (Roger Avary would jump in to write the scene for Tarantino, which would go so far as to eventually be filmed—and then cut—from Natural Born Killers).

			By this point, Tarantino had revised the script to focus more on the newly invented Wayne Gale character and as a satire of a growing media obsession with tabloid-like television disguised as serious documentaries. Then the bodybuilders’ deal fizzled out, and Tarantino found himself needing to concentrate on the production of Reservoir Dogs and on the news that the True Romance script was about to be turned into a movie. For Tarantino, Natural Born Killers—a script that was never his first or even second choice to film—was rapidly becoming an albatross at a time when things were finally starting to free up for his career. Because of this, he offered Rand Vossler an option to get the movie made himself as long as Tarantino had some say in the matter. The main thing, though, was that Tarantino wanted to move on.

			A few months later, Murphy was attending a party when someone praised Tarantino’s revised Natural Born Killers script. Seeing an opportunity for someone he already had an “in” with, Murphy and Hamsher looked at the updated script and decided to get involved. Vossler was willing to deal, but he wanted one thing in particular—a chance to direct the film. According to Hamsher in her book, this stemmed from Vossler’s agreement with Tarantino—Vossler could make the movie if he produced ten minutes’ (other sources say twenty minutes’) worth of footage within a six month period. The footage was to be from the American Maniac section of the script and shot guerrilla style in 16mm black and white. If Vossler could do that and get a film company interested in producing it, then Vossler could have the rights to the script for $40,000.

			Although apprehensive—Hamsher makes it sound as if she was the only one feeling unsure, while Murphy, in the pages of Jeff Dawson’s book, states he was the one who was uneasy—Murphy and Hamsher put together $10,000 to get the footage shot. After all, they had a possible win-win situation on their hands: either Vossler followed through and produced x-number of minutes of the movie that would be in the can and ready for the remainder of the film to be made, or Vossler would be forced out of the picture and they could then get a crack at taking over the project and finding a new director for it. To have a chance at a script by an up-and-coming writer who was beginning to get major press in Variety and other industry papers, their contribution of $10,000 made sense, even if others were telling them the script would probably never find a major studio interested in releasing it due to the violent nature of the story.

			As they waited for Vossler to film, things suddenly changed from Tarantino’s side. Depending on who is telling the story, either Tarantino felt that Vossler—who had been given the rights to the script in a “one friend to another” deal—was getting forced out, or Tarantino was trying to wreck the project so that he could reclaim the script. For whatever reason, Tarantino worked with his lawyer to negotiate a new contract where Hamsher and Murphy would get a two-year option on the script for $10,000. Some suggested he picked this amount so he could buy a car (the Chevy Malibu that Vincent drives in Pulp Fiction) and Tarantino felt he was starting to look at the losing end of a bigger deal; the other suggestion, as Hamsher in her book states, was that Tarantino was hoping to force the pair of producers to simply give up on the project due to the money requested.

			During all this, nothing much was happening to get the footage completed for the film that Vossler was set to direct. Because of this, Murphy and Hamsher decided to fire their director and hunt for someone else. Hamsher remembers discussing this development with Tarantino while he was editing Reservoir Dogs and he approved. Yet, since they had the options to the script, it was not as if he really had much say in the matter one way or another anyhow. Plus, knowing that Vossler was going to stay on as a producer and hopefully make some money off of the deal no doubt helped calm Tarantino’s reaction to the news, so it is not quite the smoking gun that Hamsher suggests, with Tarantino trying to weasel out on his friend.

			One of the first names considered for the post of director was Tarantino himself. His response, which has been the same ever since when he is discussing the scripts for True Romance and Natural Born Killers: “They were both written to be my first movie and by then I’d made my first movie. I didn’t want to go backwards. I think of them as like old girlfriends: I loved them but I didn’t want to marry them anymore” (Graham Fuller, 1993). Besides, by that point, he was getting rumblings leading to his deal in December 1991 to make Pulp Fiction. Hence, there was no need to do it. The thrill was gone, in a sense, and Tarantino turned it down.

			Looking for a director to take over, the producers heard from Albert Magnoli, who had directed Purple Rain (1984), American Anthem (1986), and Tango & Cash (1989), while also working with the rock artist Prince (the star of Purple Rain) for a period before looking to get back into films with Natural Born Killers. That eventually fell through, as did brief interest from Brian De Palma (Tarantino asked him not to be involved, according to Hamsher’s book) and later Sean Penn. News of a lawsuit by Vossler against the producers no doubt also caused some to avoid the project, even when the suit was finally settled.

			Then came the news in July 1992 from Variety that “Oliver Stone has his eye on Natural Born Killers.” Just as Tony Scott’s interest changed things for True Romance, so too did Stone’s interest make it a new ballgame for Natural Born Killers.

			Oliver Stone was already a huge name in Hollywood by 1992, having made a definitive mark with the one-two punch of Platoon and Salvador in 1986—both of which he directed and cowrote. After that came a series of other popular and serious films, like Wall Street (1987), Born on the Fourth of July (1989), The Doors (1991), and the controversial classic JFK (1991), and even if you didn’t agree with his politics, you at least respected his ambition in bringing his agenda to the screen.

			What is sometimes forgotten is that Stone had been working in the movie industry for nearly twenty years by the time Natural Born Killers came along. He directed and cowrote his first feature film in 1974, Seizure, starring Jonathan Frid (of Dark Shadows fame). The horror film fizzled at the box office (some later suggested it was done as a tax write-off by one of the producers), but Stone kept in the game working as a screenwriter and would win an Oscar for his controversial screenplay for Alan Parker’s Midnight Express in 1978. Stone’s next directorial attempt was The Hand (1981) with Michael Caine in a variation of The Beast with Five Fingers. It did marginally better, but Stone soon returned to writing and worked on the script for Conan the Barbarian (1982), starring Arnold Schwarzenegger and the panned-then/now-praised Scarface (1983) by Brian De Palma. He would do two more crime-related scripts in 1985—Michael Cimino’s Year of the Dragon and Hal Ashby’s 8 Million Ways to Die—before his path took him to writing and directing his subsequent films.

			In many ways, he had similar career goals as Tarantino, which on the surface should have made them kinsmen; yet their development through Hollywood were drastically different. Tarantino had never attended film school, whereas Stone had graduated from New York University with a Bachelor of Fine Arts, having studied under Martin Scorsese. Both had written and directed their first films, only for Tarantino to become an immediate critical and financial success, while Stone faced the (more common for such first-timers) setback of seeing his film disappear quickly from the marketplace (Seizure only became officially available on DVD in late 2014). Both would continue up the ladder of success and work on scripts for other people, but with Stone having to be content with directors, producers, actors and others changing his scripts to suit their own purposes, while Tarantino was given much more freedom and consulted as part of a team effort. Even his upcoming Pulp Fiction project was set for him to do what he wished rather than have to worry about others’ demands. It would be the differences in their backgrounds that would eventually lead to a collision between the two directors as time went on.

			Stone felt he would need a break after completing his next movie, the epic-style Heaven & Earth (1993), and the script for Natural Born Killers fit that bill—it looked to be a fun and funny crime movie and an emotional release after the work on another Vietnam-related film. As he headed off to work on the “bigger” picture, he advised the producers to get someone to throw in some ideas on how to explore the characters, situations, and “social political commentary” of Tarantino’s script for him to read when he got back.

			Stone acknowledged that Tarantino had written a satire, but Stone was looking to warn people about how the preoccupation of the media on violent images—the admiration of violence—was prepping the world for an apocalyptic madness in society, which Tarantino certainly did not have in mind. Tarantino had people who were serial-killer groupies, but they were seen as dubious at best (kids trying to be shocking to the adult word) and crazy at worst. Stone was wanting to show that no one escaped from that mentality and needed scenes written to feed into that premise.

			The producers pulled in an old friend by the name of David Veloz, who had recently graduated from USC (he would go on to write and direct Permanent Midnight in 1998 and write the script to Behind Enemy Lines in 2001). Veloz would introduce two very controversial elements to the script that are usually the moments people either love or hate the most about the film—the “I Love Mallory” sitcom parody segment and the entire sequence dealing with the female hostage in the hotel room who is raped and murdered by Mickey. Stone also brought in Richard Rutowski, who had helped produce Heaven & Earth, to contribute as well (Rutowski would go on to help produce Stone’s subsequent films Nixon [1995], U Turn [1997], and Any Given Sunday [1999]). According to Hamsher’s book, Rutowski’s contribution was the scene where Mallory seduces the gas attendant, only to kill him when he recognizes her.

			Perhaps today people find it surprising that Stone would want to change what Tarantino had written, yet Stone had legitimate reasons to see Tarantino as the new kid on the block—a guy who had his first movie become a hit and now could sweep out his older scripts to the marketplace. He had been there himself years before, so why should it be any difference now? Buy the script, punch it up, make it your own, and everyone makes money and is happy. If the original writer wants to throw in some advice, fine, but ultimately the marquee would say “Oliver Stone” and people would think of it as an his movie, no matter who wrote it. There was nothing in his career that would tell Stone to suspect otherwise (people go to see North by Northwest because Alfred Hitchcock directed it and not because Ernest Lehman wrote it, after all), and he was happy to tell Tarantino as much. “He said to me, ‘Why don’t you just write your own script?’ I said, ‘If you want to make it then I think you should, but you expressly said that you didn’t want to do it.’ I bought it at the bottom of the pile. It had been around town for a long time and it had been rejected everywhere. So there was no evil intention. I saw something there that was the basis of the movie” (The Total Film Interview—Oliver Stone, November 1, 2003, http://www.totalfilm.com/features/the-total-film-interview-oliver-stone). Besides, Stone said that even Tarantino told him the script needed work. “It was one of my first scripts and not one of my strongest,” confirmed Tarantino to the Los Angeles Times (“A Chat with Mr. Mayhem,” by Hilary de Vries, September 11, 1994), so was there any surprise that Stone would want to make some changes?

			Nevertheless, having had directors rewrite his scripts without even an acknowledgment, Stone at least offered an olive branch to Tarantino (Stone has said that it was Tarantino who actually initiated their subsequent meetings) and discuss what exactly he had in mind. To the producers, who felt Tarantino had gone out of his way in a personal vendetta to stop the film from being made, Stone talking to Tarantino was seen as backstabbing. Which in some ways was an observation that may have suited Stone, as Hamsher makes clear in her book that the producers were beginning to rub Stone the wrong way as well, what with them being on the outside of his “team” and not being pushovers to him.

			Tarantino and Stone found their personal relationship abrasive as well, with Tarantino believing Stone had a tendency to deliver every message in his movie in obvious, glowing, neon letters, with arrows pointing to every nuance in order to make sure every single audience member understood his point, and Stone seeing Tarantino as a guy too happy to make “movies” and play to the lowest common denominator instead of the more serious aim of “creating films” like he did. Still, there was not much Tarantino could do about it; as almost gleefully pointed out by the producers, he had signed all the contracts that let them make the film the way they saw fit, and he had little say over it. Besides, for the moment at least, as he told Graham Fuller in Projection 3 he was happy to have the screenwriting credit and wished the movie well. “It’s not going to be my movie, it’s going to be Oliver Stone’s, and God bless him. I hope he does a good job with it.” Tarantino would also note that Stone was “planning stuff that’s going to put JFK to shame as far as experiments.” As it turns out, that was putting it mildly.

			As Tarantino’s participation was pushed into the background, preproduction moved forward. Hamsher envisioned an actor as Mickey that would immediately catch the eyes of female members of the audience and suggested someone like Ray Liotta (who had recently been in Scorsese’s Goodfellas at the time), while Stone was pursuing Mr. Blonde himself from Reservoir Dogs, Michael Madsen, for the role. To Stone, having someone as handsome as Liotta was missing the point—serial killers tend to look like everyone else, which was an element that fascinated people, and certainly not as handsome as someone like Liotta. There was also another reason to go after Madsen: according to Madsen, Stone was clamoring to get as many of the members of Tarantino’s first film in Natural Born Killers, but having built a type of “war buddy” relationship with Tarantino, and beginning to see the drastic changes to his script that Stone was doing, nearly all of them backed away. The only exception was Kirk Baltz, who played the unfortunate cop from Reservoir Dogs, playing the unfortunate cameraman of Natural Born Killers. To the conspiracy-minded Stone and the now Tarantino-hating producers, it was all an attempt to stop the movie from happening, although Stone easily shrugged it off and moved on. (It should be mentioned as well that Tarantino willingly appeared in the movie From Dusk Till Dawn with costar Juliette Lewis within a year of the film’s making, while later using Robert Richardson, who worked on NBK, as his director of photography in his later films, thus making the conspiracy theory a bit iffy.)

			Besides, the studio wanted a name that sold tickets in Middle America, not someone known for secondary roles. Given a list to pick from, Stone decided Woody Harrelson would be a unique choice for the role. The producers hated the idea (Tarantino did as well, at the time at least), stereotyping Harrelson as a goofy sitcom star and not the killer who can seduce a woman to kill people with him as in the script. Stone, on the other hand, saw a good-looking guy who had a dark history he could rely upon, with the background of Harrelson’s father having killed at least two people in-between jail sentences. Harrelson would go on to make the role his own and prove that he could pull off drama as well as comedy, leading to a wider career for him over time.

			The rest of the cast fell together rather easily, as did the crew. Robert Richardson returned as director of photography for Stone, having been with him since the days of Salvador and continuing to work with him up through U Turn. Tarantino would eventually use Richardson in the same role for the Kill Bill films, Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained. Production designer Victor Kempster has worked with Stone since JFK, and up through Any Given Sunday, while art director Alan Tomkins had previously worked on JFK, and art director Margery Zweizig would go on to do the same on Nixon. Merideth Boswell had worked on set decorations for Heaven & Earth and would return to do the same for Nixon and U Turn. While costume designer Richard Hornung (who had worked on a number of Coen Brothers films) was new to Stone’s crew, he too would return for Nixon in 1995. In other words, Stone had an established crew that he liked to work with and that liked to work with him, with Natural Born Killers being no exception. It did help to make the early producers of the film, Murphy and Hamsher, feel like outsiders on their own project, however.

			Shooting would commence May 24, 1993, after a delay of a week, with fifty-six days of filming in the can before finishing. Most of the shooting took place in New Mexico and Arizona, with some additional filming in Hammond, Indiana and the Illinois State Prison in Stateville. As could be anticipated with a script about serial killers doing terrible things to people, the atmosphere on the set was fairly negative and tempers ran high for many there, in particular between Harrelson and Lewis, who—while projecting the romance between Mickey and Mallory—didn’t care for each other off-camera, leading to a mock fight between the two in the desert for the film nearly becoming a real one that had to be broken up. Meanwhile, according to Tom Sizemore in his autobiography, By Some Miracle I Made It Out of There (Atria Books, 2013), Sizemore and Lewis were sharing drugs and each other while off the set.

			Accidents were commonplace on the set, including one during the cell fight scene, where Lewis managed to break Sizemore’s nose for real. Other accidents included Robert Richardson breaking his hand while trying to film Mallory head-butt the cell door and a cameraman later cutting his eye in an attempt to duplicate the shot. Still, even with filming in the summer in a state prison with real guards and prisoners, the entire project was completed without much incident, and Stone took it away to be edited.

			For close to a year.

			Using a variety of video, audio, and film footage to make up the whole of the film (including inserts and background shots within other shots), Natural Born Killers was not a film that could be snapped together with an establishing shot, two medium shots and one over-the-shoulder close-up—it needed a lot of care to be put together into the form it became. Some would call it chaotic, but it was a controlled chaos, with Stone using everything for a purpose. On the music side, Tarantino’s initial thoughts of using a variety of rockabilly and other songs to help tell the story was kept, but like his script, was expanded and changed to be more of an alternative rock mix with some cuts from older acts like Patti Smith (“Rock N Roll Nigger”), Bob Dylan (“You Belong to Me”), and even Patsy Cline (“Back in Baby’s Arms”). Trent Reznor of Nine Inch Nails was shown the movie to see if his band would be interested in recording some material, and Reznor fell in love with it. Nine Inch Nails would have three songs in the film (Reznor would even do a music video for the song “Burn” in connection with the movie), and Reznor worked on the soundtrack album to be a musical mirror to the film, full of dialogue, sounds, and music to form its own hallucinogenic audio experience of Natural Born Killers.

			Finally, over two years after Variety’s mention of Stone thinking of making Natural Born Killers, the movie was set to be released on August 26, 1994.

			And then things really got crazy.

			Cast

			While there have been questions for years about the changes to Tarantino’s script and production issues, one can’t fault the cast put together for the film, as it is the real saving grace for Natural Born Killers. Even within the production some balked at the casting of Harrelson and Dangerfield as being outside of the scope of the violent drama, but both manage to give weight to their roles that make them work. Harrelson in particular was given a tough assignment, with a character that has to convey a type of down-home friendliness and natural smarts, before snapping and letting loose with a killing spree. Like finding out Andy Taylor had been offing tourists in Mayberry for years. Juliette Lewis was handed the same template, but with the character having been rewritten to be weaker than in Tarantino’s script, ends up with little chance to pull it off. Robert Downey Jr. is also strong in his role as Wayne, which was much restricted from what was originally written for the role. (It does make one wonder what he could have done with it if given the character from Tarantino’s script rather than the watered-down one in the film.) One thing most can agree on about Natural Born Killers is that the cast really contributed to what works in the movie.

			Woody Harrelson as Mickey

			Harrelson first came to national attention upon winning the role of Woody Boyd on the NBC Thursday Night sitcom Cheers. The character was a good-natured, innocent, but not too bright, young man who took over in the same function the character Coach had been in earlier seasons of the show (Woody was brought in when the actor who played Coach, Nicholas Colasanto, passed away). With such a major introduction to comedy, it was only natural that Harrelson would get offered roles in comedy films, and he made his film debut in Goldie Hawn’s Wildcats in 1986 and continued in some other secondary roles before appearing as the costar in the 1992 hit White Men Can’t Jump. This was followed in 1993 with another comedy, Indecent Proposal, and it was no wonder that some were concerned about his being picked to play Mickey in Natural Born Killers. However, that turn would lead to more dramatic and action roles in films like The People vs. Larry Flynt (1996), No Country for Old Men (2007, and costarring Tommy Lee Jones), and The Messenger (2009), while still allowing him to do comedies like Kingpin (1996), Semi-Pro (2008), and Zombieland (2009)—the last one playing a bit with the motif of his earlier Mickey role.
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					Woody Harrelson and Juliette Lewis in a scene not written by Quentin Tarantino in Natural Born Killers.

				

			

			Juliette Lewis as Mallory

			The daughter of popular costarring actor Geoffrey Lewis (who popped up in many of Clint Eastwood’s comedies of the 1970s and 1980s), Juliette had one of her earliest roles as the Griswold daughter in National Lampoon’s Christmas Vacation (1989). Her first big critical notice came in 1990, as the sexually repressed daughter in Martin Scorsese’s Cape Fear. She later appeared with two subsequent True Romance stars, Gary Oldman (in Romeo Is Bleeding) and Brad Pitt (in Kalifornia); as Woody Allen’s young girlfriend in Husbands and Wives (1992); and in the cult favorite What’s Eating Gilbert Grape (1993, featuring future Django Unchained star Leonardo DiCaprio) before starring in Natural Born Killers. She would go on to costar with Quentin Tarantino in From Dusk Till Dawn (1996). Since then, she has bounced around between television and films, while also working a side career as a musician.

			Robert Downey Jr. as Wayne Gale 

			Downey is the son of famous cult film director Robert Downey Sr. (Putney Swope, Greaser’s Palace) who began appearing in films in the early 1980s, usually in pivotal secondary roles. He was also a regular on Saturday Night Live during the 1985-1986 season (a season commonly referred to as a misfire), but subsequently went back into movies and received an Oscar nomination in 1993 for the film Chaplin. After that, Hollywood saw Downey as an actor who could play anything, and he began getting very good, versatile parts in films, such as with Natural Born Killers. However, an addiction problem would lead to him getting more headlines for his public drug issues (including an infamous trespassing while under the influence where he broke into a house and was found curled up in bed) than his movies. Downey worked through those issues, and after the turn of the century he began getting bigger roles again, including the Sherlock Holmes and Iron Man/Avengers series.

			Tom Sizemore as Jack Scagnetti

			Another man driven by addiction, but Sizemore found greater problems in getting his career back on track than did Downey Jr. Sizemore supposedly was considered for Reservoir Dogs and turned up very soon before Natural Born Killers in its sister project True Romance as another (less twisted) cop, Detective Nicholson. Many remember him as one of the soldiers in Steven Spielberg’s Saving Private Ryan (1998), but unfortunately—as with Downey—a drug problem began to get more coverage than his film work. In the past few years he has been working to get such issues behind him, while continuing to work in movies and television. He has released an autobiography about his various spirals in life, By Some Miracle I Made It Out of There.

			Tommy Lee Jones as Warden Dwight McClusky 

			A Texan and Harvard grad, Jones seems to have built a solid acting career playing characters on either side of the law. His first film was a small role in Love Story (1970), but he made his mark in exploitation films with both Jackson County Jail (1976) and Rolling Thunder (1977, and the film Tarantino named his distribution company after). He also impressed in his television work in the 1977 miniseries The Amazing Howard Hughes, and as real-life killer Gary Gilmore in The Executioner’s Song (1982). He also got to spend time with a naked Kathleen Beller in The Betsy. (Sorry, but at my age when that film came out, this was a very big plus in Tommy Lee Jones’ favor.) Jones had appeared in JFK and Heaven & Earth for Stone, as well as costarred in the Men in Black series; The Fugitive (1993); its sequel, U.S. Marshall (1998); and the Coen Brothers hit No Country for Old Men (also featuring Woody Harrelson). 
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					Tommy Lee Jones as Warden Dwight McClusky—an insignificant role in the original script, conflated with another character in the script and turned into one of the main villains of the completed film.

				

			

		  Rodney Dangerfield as Ed Wilson

			Dangerfield was an example of how someone can gain fame later in life after struggling for years as a stand-up comedian before finally breaking through near the age of fifty. He became well known for his appearances on The Dean Martin Show and began appearing on other programs during the 1970s (including special appearance on an episode of the original Saturday Night Live program, explaining how big a fifty-foot President Carter really would be). In the 1980s he gained a new career in the movies, after hitting it big in a secondary role in Caddyshack. He would go on to star in both Easy Money (1983) and Back to School (1986)—both which he co-wrote. For Natural Born Killers, he asked and was allowed to rewrite most of his dialogue for the only true dramatic role (and definitely a big departure from his other films). One of the last films Dangerfield appeared in was Little Nicky (2000), which costarred Harvey Keitel and featured a cameo by Quentin Tarantino. Dangerfield passed away in 2004.

			Edie McClurg as Mallory’s Mother (Mrs. Wilson)

			Although only briefly seen in the film—due to the focus being on Mallory’s father in the scenes in which she appears—viewers may have recognized McClurg from her earlier work as Lucille Tarlek (Herb Tarlek’s wife) on a few episodes of WKRP in Cincinnati, as well as playing Hermit Hattie in the HBO special The Pee Wee Herman Show. She was also in the movie Elvira, Mistress of the Dark (1988) as the Elvira-hating councilmember of the small town. One of her first roles was that of a classmate in Brian De Palma’s Carrie (1976), and she had one of the most memorable roles in movies thanks to Planes, Trains and Automobiles (1987), where she played the rental agent that summarizes the situation for Steve Martin’s character.

			Russell Means as Navajo man

			A Native American political activist, Means turned to acting in the 1990s, appearing first in Michael Mann’s version of Last of the Mohicans. His more memorable role was the voice of Chief Powhattan in the Disney animated film Pocahontas (1995), and he played the role again in the sequel in 1998, Pocahontas II: Journey to a New World. Means wrote an autobiography in 1995, Where White Men Fear to Tread, detailing his life up to that point. He continued to work in movies and politics up to his death of cancer in 2012.

			Also Appearing

			Peter and David Paul as the Hun Brothers. Twin bodybuilders who for years had been appearing as the “Barbarians Brothers” in movies, including the 1987 fantasy film The Barbarians. Although this seems to strongly echo the characters they play in the film, there is no indication that these two were the “mystery bodybuilding brothers” who wanted to pay Tarantino to make the movie in order to get SAG cards. In fact, both had done at least six films and a Knight Rider episode by the time of Natural Born Killers. Their appearance in the Roger Avary-written scene was edited out of the film, but can be found on the special DVD edition that includes deleted scenes.

			Adrian Brody as one of Gale’s cameramen. Brody had already appeared in a few films by the time he was in Natural Born Killers. He quickly began playing leads in smaller films and would go on to win an Oscar for his role in Roman Polanski’s 2002 film The Pianist.

			David Pasquesi as another cameraman. Pasquesi, who has a passing resemblance to Adrian Brody, has appeared in a number of small roles in television and films and is probably best remembered as Stew, Jerri’s stepfather on the Comedy Central series Strangers with Candy.
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					Contrary to claims by some over the years, many people associated with Natural Born Killers would end up working with Quentin Tarantino in later production, including Juliette Lewis, who costarred with Tarantino and George Clooney in the following year’s horror film From Dusk Till Dawn.

				

			

		  Sequential Plot

			Told from the hazy memories of Mallory and Mickey, and thus may not be based on anything close to reality.

			Mallory is an abused teenager, who meets the older Mickey and takes off with him in her father’s car. This leads to jail time for Mickey, but he escapes during a storm and, with the help of Mallory, kills her father and mother. As to her little brother, they let him go.

			After “marrying” each other in a blood oath on a bridge, the two go on a roaring rampage of robberies and murder, always leaving one victim alive to tell the story about them. Soon, however, their relationship falters, and a hostage situation leads to a further strain on their relationship, which ends with the rape-murder of the hostage and the death of a gas station attendant. The two reconcile long enough to eat a bag of mushroom, kill an Indian, and hallucinate they got bitten by rattlesnakes, leading to Mickey shooting a pharmacist while trying to find antivenin in a drugstore and then being captured by Jack Scagnetti.

			Scagnetti, a cop fascinated by serial killers since his mother was killed by one years before, is a homicidal pervert who enjoys killing prostitutes and vows to hunt down Mallory and Mickey. After capturing them, the pair go on trial and are sentenced to prison, where they kill a variety of people there. The warden is fed up and wants the two to disappear, asking Scagnetti to make sure the two die “in an escape attempt.” Scagnetti agrees to help out.

			But first is the interview television host Wayne Gale has set up for Mickey right after the Super Bowl on network television. The interview goes well until a riot starts elsewhere in the prison. It’s a cue for Mickey to overpower and kill most of the guards, while taking the rest hostage. Mickey gets to Mallory’s cell—where Scagnetti had just tried to seduce Mallory—and Mallory kills Scagnetti. With the help of a fellow prisoner named Owen, the pair make it out of the prison with Wayne Gale, while the prisoners tear the warden apart and put his head on a stick.

			The film ends with Mickey and Mallory telling the camera Wayne has that they plan to stop killing as “love has found the way.” But first—Wayne has to die, and since the camera is there, there will be a final witness to their last murder. They kill him and then walk off together and are last seen some years later driving down a road in a trailer with two kids and Mallory heavily pregnant.

			The Script

			What is amazing is that so much of what Tarantino wrote does appear in the film for Natural Born Killers, yet in such a way that it doesn’t really represent Tarantino’s script. It’s like Oliver Stone took Tarantino’s jigsaw puzzle, threw the pieces up in the air, and then jammed them all together whether they fit or not; then making his own pieces to fill in the holes left behind. Once done, one can certainly say that most of the pieces from Tarantino’s script are in the finished puzzle, but boy, it sure doesn’t look anything like the picture on the box. Because of this, it is important to break down the differences between Tarantino’s final version of the script and what made it into the film:

			•	While Tarantino’s script for Natural Born Killers features brief reviews of Mallory’s and Mickey’s lives before their crime spree, there is no sense of any pervading tragedies in their earlier lives. No parental suicides, no incest, no violence; the pair are shown growing up healthy and happy. (It should be noted that Mallory’s father has Mallory eat a chicken leg from his hands, which may have been the phallic launch of the whole molestation angle given Mallory’s father in the movie.)

			•	The script has Mickey and Mallory getting married in front of a judge, rather than the bridge blood oath from the film.

			•	Jettisoned from the film is the scripted descent of Mallory and Mickey from robbery/shootings to breaking into homes and slaughtering whole families in order to “break up the monotony.”

			•	The entire Grace Mulberry sequence, a segment of Mickey’s trial that ends with Mickey killing a young witness who undermines his bravado on the stands, was filmed, but cut due to the filmmakers feeling it undermined the audience’s sympathy for Mickey and Mallory. Most probably this was also why the pair’s move to slaughtering families (“Where’s the ‘purity that you couldn’t live without’ in five-year-old Danny Hillhouse’s blown-off head?”) went missing from the film.

			•	The Brothers Huns sequence was filmed and discarded as well. Most probably because there isn’t really a place in the film for such a sequence, as it puts too much emphasis on Wayne rather than Mickey and Mallory.

			•	The scripted interview with a patrolman about the death of his partner as Mickey and Mallory ask him for directions appears in Natural Born Killers, but in combination with elements of the Thrill Killers sequence, written in Tarantino’s script as an exploitation film about the couple, to show it as a bad re-enactment with actors. The script has the scene play out with a photo montage instead.

			•	Mallory’s kindergarten statement, which is taken as a serious comment she makes to Mickey in Natural Born Killers, is actually a piece of intentionally bad dialogue in the Thrill Killers film.

			•	A psychiatrist is interviewed in the film, but only seen briefly to discuss the pair and not to criticize the media’s and public’s attraction to the two as in the script. This was probably cut as it gives away the core message the Natural Born Killers’ filmmakers spend over two hours trying to say. Have it at this point in the film and the movie is essentially over at the hour mark.

			•	The trial judge’s interview is gone, as is the explanation of their sentencing and why it eventually was changed. Since McClusky explains all this earlier when talking with Scagnetti in both the script and in the film, it probably was viewed as repetitious and cut.

			•	Unruly Julie is the only survivor from Wayne’s team, as she was out getting burgers when everything went down. In the film, every person in Wayne’s team dies.

			•	In the film, the riot is seen as being started in the cafeteria due to the prisoners watching Mickey’s live interview (which, in reality, they probably would not have been watching; not that the film is interested in reality anyway). The riot eventually envelopes the entire prison in sadistic attacks, leading to Mickey and his hostages having to fight their way to Mallory and out again. In the script, the riot is only in the laundry room and as it is never mentioned as being anywhere else, probably contained there. Tarantino’s script does not feature even a glimpse into the rioting itself; it is only addressed in dialogue, and no mention is made of anyone having been killed.

			•	In the script, McClusky is never seen again after the opening sequence with Scagnetti, and it is Superintendent Wurlitzer (who is only a subordinate in the movie) who takes on the role of monitoring the interview and the riot. As there is no mention of it, it appears Wurlitzer survived the shoot-out, and certainly nothing involving him getting his head on a stick occurs (as what happens to McClusky in the film).

			•	Mickey answers many more questions in the film for the interview than in the script, where he remains an enigma. There is no suggestion that as a boy he saw his father kill himself as in the film.

			•	The script has the Mexican Standoff with Scagnetti occurring in the interview room and not in Mallory’s cell. Scagnetti is defenseless when Mallory attacks and kills him.

			•	As the interview is being done on film, there is no live feed anywhere, and thus there is nobody watching in the safety of their homes or a studio as seen in the movie (or prison cafeteria, for that matter).

			•	Mallory shoots Wayne in the thigh, according to the script, but in the film it’s a dramatic shot to the hand instead.

			•	Mickey has no lecture to give at the end of the film about the media. He simply hates Wayne and wants him dead. Whereas in the film Mickey and Mallory make clear that they plan to stop killing and go back to a simple life together after shooting Wayne, the script has them prepared to disappear for a while before returning to their life of murder. “So you kids out there, keep the faith. ‘Cause Mickey and Mallory will be coming to your town real soon,” Mickey eerily jokes.

			•	Wayne refuses to submit to being killed. (Stone’s script also has Wayne frantically trying to stop them from killing him, instead of the reluctant acceptance seen in the movie.)

			•	In the film we see Mickey and Mallory later in life with growing kids and happily driving around in an RV, having returned to the safe, structured life they knew before killing. In the script there are only signs that they are moving on with no resolution to their story.
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					Wayne Gale, played by Robert Downey Jr. in the film, did not even appear in the original script for Natural Born Killers. The character would become more of the focus in Tarantino’s final script, before being reduced to a minor role again in Stone’s film. 

				

			

			On the flip side, there are plenty of things in the movie that are not in the script.

			For the most part, this is the reconstruction of the script from Wayne’s documentary being created (Tarantino’s version) to focusing on Mickey and Mallory and their “adventures” (Stone’s version). The script makes clear that the couple are pretty much still in the honeymoon phase of their marriage (three weeks of killing and then being separated for more than a year; hence absence making the heart grow fonder). The movie, however, points to the two already starting to drift apart, cheating on each other, and showing signs of being ready to kill one another (although they reconcile by the end of the movie). To be more specific:

			•	The entire “I Love Mallory” segment is not in Tarantino’s script. Tarantino instead has Mickey and Mallory as normal law-abiding citizens until one day when Mickey gets a shotgun and suddenly decides to kill Mallory’s parents. Therefore, no scene of him stealing the father’s car; no prison scene between Mickey and Mallory where he swears to break out; no tornado allowing for him to escape on horseback; and no fight between the father and Mickey before they dunk him into the fish tank.

			•	Mallory being called a “stupid bitch” by her father, which is carried over to Mickey later in the movie. As mentioned earlier, there is never any footage with the father beyond some silent home-movie footage, and both Mallory and her father are quite happy there, not to mention that the Mickey of the script would never call Mallory anything of the sort.

			•	Mickey and Mallory eat mushrooms and get paranoid about the police. Tarantino’s script never even mentions drugs. They also are not shown running out of gas and getting into a fight in the middle of the desert.

			•	Stone demanded to have a scene in it with a Native American, as he considered it a standard for his movies, and thus the entire sequence with the Navajo Indian and his subsequent death are not in Tarantino’s script.

			•	The film has them killing a cyclist while being trailed by the patrolman, but this is not in Tarantino’s script.

			•	Anything to do with Scagnetti besides him having written a book and being in charge of their move to the asylum. He’s a nasty piece of work in the script, but he’s not the sexual deviate as seen in the movie. Nor is he investigating the pair and hunting them down. The script has him meeting them after all is said and done and not before.

			•	There is no hostage taken and later raped and killed by Mickey as seen in the film.

			•	There is no sequence where Mallory seduces and kills a gas station attendant.

			•	There is no mention of Wayne having a mistress or even a wife. Nor does he succumb to Stockholm Syndrome and help out in the killing in the prison.
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					Mallory being arrested outside the pharmacy in a long segment of the film that was not penned by Tarantino.

				

			

			There were also a few scenes filmed for the movie that were not in Tarantino’s script that were cut due to time. Already discussed was the courtroom sequence where Mickey kills Grace, the Brothers Huns on American Maniac, and additional dialogue from Steven Wright as the psychiatrist. All these, however, appear in Tarantino’s script. Scenes filmed and deleted that were not from his script were the following:

			•	A longer argument in the desert that involves Mallory shooting a gun near Mickey in anger.

			•	Scagnetti dumping the body of the prostitute near a drive-in, where Mickey and Mallory reconcile after the incident with the Indian. This would have appeared right before they head off to the drugstore to get antivenin.

			•	Denis Leary in a monologue as a prisoner, talking directly to the camera.

			•	Most importantly, the original ending to the film. A sequence was shot that was to have taken place after Mickey and Mallory leave Wayne dead by the tree. They return to the van and are driving down the road, and it is here that we see Owen—the prisoner who helped them for a time in eluding the guards in prison—once again. They kept their promise to him of letting him tag along, but Mickey has decided that they’re going to drop him off at the next town and move onward by themselves. This upsets Owen, and he suggests that Mallory have sex with him more as a taunt than something he really wants. Mickey tells him to shut up, while Mallory mocks Owen and points a gun at him. Owen doesn’t seem worried and continues bugging Mallory until she demands Mickey stop the van and force Owen out. Once the van is stopped, Owen shoots a smiling Mickey at point-blank range, and then kills Mallory. The film ends with a brief flash into a fantasy world where Mickey and Mallory have kids and are driving in an RV before the movie fades to black. Although this “alternate ending” appears on the DVD for the unrated version of the film, it omits material from the script that has Owen showing his true monstrous face to Mickey, proving their guardian angel to be a demon. This is why Mickey is smiling, as he realizes that everything has been ordained in a way. Mallory too sees Owen’s real face and screams in fear before having her head blown off by Owen. As per Stone’s introduction to the clip, it was put into the script because he felt the two eventually would have to meet their demise at someone’s hands, and making it another killer was the best way to go. Yet, after filming the sequence, he decided that the film worked better without it.

			The Backend

			The movie was set for an August release in 1994 with an ad campaign that showed Mickey and Mallory together in front of an American flag on a television set. The poster stated, “Director Oliver Stone brings you a bold new look at a country seduced by fame, obsessed by crime, and consumed by the media,” and a number of people involved with the film hated the poster. Instead, after an attempt to show a number of television sets with images of other characters—which made it look more like a screwball comedy than the disturbing film that it is—one was created that showed a close-up of Mickey, with Mallory’s reflection in his red shades. (The image of the two from the television set poster was eventually used on the cover of the director’s cut DVD.)

			The MPAA, unsurprisingly, were not very happy with the original cut of the film and set to give it an NC-17 rating before 150 cuts were made in order to get it down to an R. Most noticeable of the cuts was that of Mallory shooting Wayne through the hand and McClusky ending up as a head on a stick, but all the other trims were fairly minor—quicker cutaways from violent images, which were all returned to the film for a later edition available on video. And as to the Humane Association’s rating for the film, it was noted that they were not asked to be allowed to review the film, although with a scorpion crushed and a bunch of snakes being handled, they probably would not have been too keen on the finished product.

			Nor was Coca-Cola, which had agree to product placement in the movie believing one of their famous polar bear ads would be appearing in a scene where McClusky is watching the Super Bowl. Instead, it was used (as well as product placement on set) in scenes where violent images surrounded it. To be fair, the use was a type of schoolkid “shock value” mentality that Coca-Cola probably had not expected of the filmmakers or a major studio (“Oh, look, it’s wholesome family-oriented Coke with the cuddly bears and—oh my—scenes of blood! How shockingly rude!”), but then again, they should have been a bit more aware of the type of film they were getting involved with from the start. Yet, besides a statement and some behind-the-scenes shouting, there was not much Coca-Cola could do about the issue, and the matter was dropped (although they and other companies would begin to check more readily and completely requests to have their products appear in movies from that point onward). For the moment, things were shaping up to have the film released without any major headaches.

			Then Tarantino was asked his stance on the credits. He was given a copy of Stone’s revised script to read and got partially through with it when he made his decision—he didn’t want a writer’s credit. In fact, he didn’t even want his name associated with it, but was finally talked into going with a “story by” credit and paid $350,000 to, hopefully, walk away.

			Tarantino, however, had strong feelings about what was done to the script and no doubt was not happy with the idea that some of the changes made that he disliked (“I Love Mallory,” the hostage sequence, as two examples) were going to be assumed by audiences to be his idea. Because of this, Tarantino was blatantly open about his disagreements with the film, although at times he tried to temper his opinions. Then he did an interview with Peter Biskind for Premiere (November 1994, vol. 2, iss. 10, no. 22), where he referred to what happened to his script as “skullduggerous theft.” He went on to say that Stone’s biggest problem was that “his obviousness cancels out his energy and his energy pumps up his obviousness. He’s Stanley Kramer with style.”

			These were all things you could get away with saying without even a raised eyebrow if you were working in a video store, or talking with friends. But to be an up-and-coming director/writer dissing a famous director/writer for his film in a major publication, it was like a four-alarm fire. And although Tarantino would eventually calm his comments, the cat was out of the bag, as now the filmmakers couldn’t promote the movie as being this megaforce of Tarantino with Stone. Instead they would have to deal with Tarantino having disowned the film. And although it may have irked the producers, for the critics to ignore it would have looked like sloppy writing to readers who had by then heard about the clash between Tarantino and the filmmakers.

			Stone was naturally upset over the tone of Tarantino’s comments, going public with the concerns that a writer should privately deal with such issues (making no acknowledgment that he was going public with an issue he moments before stated should be handle in private). Yet if Tarantino’s rant was considered by some good publicity for the film, the producers’ rants against Tarantino in public were counterproductive. Accusations were made about how improved the film was over the script and how Tarantino tended to “borrow” material, while Don Murphy would go on record with Lisa Kennedy in the Village Voice (“Natural Born Filmmaker,” October 25, 1994), “I would openly celebrate Quentin’s death.” He would later pull back a little from that response, telling Entertainment Weekly (December 1997), “I didn’t say I wished Quentin Tarantino was dead. I didn’t say I wanted him dead. I just said I’d celebrate his death.” Such talk would later lead to Tarantino celebrating his fist against Murphy’s face (more about that in chapter 25), and also made some viewers reluctant to see the movie. The question became, if Tarantino and the script were so horrible, what compelled them to make it in the first place unless to cash in on his name? 

			After all the fuss, however, it didn’t really seem to matter who was saying what when it came to the box office. Pulp Fiction was to have been released August 26 as well, but was pushed back to October to avoid the two films getting lumped together. “I didn’t want to go head to head with Natural Born Killers,” Tarantino told the Los Angeles Times in September 1994, “because I didn’t want the two films compared, because Oliver basically took my script very seriously, which as dark as it was, was also pretty playful.” Instead, Natural Born Killers opened against three comedies: Disney’s Camp Nowhere, Police Academy 7: Mission to Moscow and the Tarantino-related It’s Pat (incidentally, Avary’s Killing Zoe, which had Tarantino and Bender as executive producers, opened the following week). With the only other strong action movie out at the time being Clear and Present Danger, based on a Tom Clancy novel, it is easy to see why Natural Born Killers swept in curious viewers to emerge as #1 at the box office that week. It would make over $16 million for the week and by the end of the year had earned over $50 million domestic. Worldwide, the film would take in over $100 million.

			The film was turning out to be a bit of a miss with reviewers, although Roger Ebert found it to be a good one and told people that it was a movie where seeing it “once was not enough. The first time is for the visceral experience, the second time is for the meaning.” Peter Travers in Rolling Stone also ranked it high, claiming it to be one of his favorite movies. Yet most responses were quite along the lines of Tarantino’s reaction—that Stone took a movie that had a message and turned it into a blunt instrument to beat the audience to death. Janet Maslin in the New York Times said that the movie “never digs deep enough to touch the madness of such events, or even to send them up in any surprising way.” Desson Thomason of the Washington Post called it an “empty manic meditation on society’s glorification of violence and the ugly heroes it loves to hate.” Perhaps Hal Hinson of the Washington Post said it best for a majority of the critics who states that the “main problem with Killers . . . is that it degenerates into the very thing it criticizes.” It was a comment that irritated the filmmakers, as they felt that saying the film was a media celebration of the violent acts it argues were hurting the country was missing the point. Yet, perhaps everyone who worked on it had gotten too close to the film to see that it was too easy for many to make such a connection.

			Still, even if some of the comments from Tarantino and the press were negative, the film was doing well with audiences. In fact, with the film aimed at audiences who had a general distrust of the media anyway (your best audience is always the one that is happy to have a film “preach to the choir,” after all), such reviews only helped to draw people to the theaters. If the reviews had all been positive, it probably would have hurt the film more than the negative ones that did make it to the papers.

			Rumors began to spread soon after the film was released in the U.S. that copycat crimes were being committed by, mainly, kids who had seen the film. While there would be documented cases where people cited the film as motivating them to kill, none of the murders could be conclusively proven as having been inspired solely by it. Still, it was enough to worry some people and in some cases gain national attention. The most famous was a case involving two young people, Sarah Edmondson and Benjamin James Darras, who took LSD, watched the film, and then decided to go on a murder spree. They wounded a woman and killed a man before being captured, but the man who died, William Savage, was a friend of popular novelist and former lawyer John Grisham. Grisham slammed Stone for making the film and started a campaign stating that filmmakers are responsible for viewers’ reactions, while also helping the woman wounded sue Stone and the studio for making the film that led to her becoming quadriplegic.

			The case would eventually be thrown out, but this and other instances of murders that were supposedly accomplished thanks to the film delayed the film’s release in some countries. The BBFC in the UK, for example, refused to release it until February 1995, once they had verified there was no hard evidence it had incited anyone to kill. As it turns out, the delay actually worked in Warner Brothers’ favor; the studio attached an ad for the movie in front of showings of Pulp Fiction (a situation Tarantino probably was less than thrilled to find out about). Meanwhile, conservatives in the U.S. Congress—who saw Hollywood as evil and Stone as a puppet of the Far Left—saw the release of the film as a great opportunity to get out the votes, and Senator Bob Dole in particular took on both True Romance and Natural Born Killers as leading cases of Hollywood producing films that “revel in mindless violence and loveless sex.” As it turns out, Dole had to admit that he had seen neither film (well, who really imagined Dole going to the multiplex to see True Romance anyway?), and his attempt to get voters behind him fizzled out, but it did lead to Stone and Tarantino uniting against a common enemy. In the New York Times (“Filmmakers Discount Criticism by Dole,” by Bernard Weinraub, June 2, 1995), Stone stated, “It’s the height of hypocrisy for Senator Dole, who wants to repeal the assault weapons ban, to blame Hollywood for the violence in our society. Hollywood did not create the problem of violence in America.” Meanwhile, Tarantino put Dole’s accusations in historical perspective, “This is the oldest argument there is. Whenever there’s a problem in society, blame the playwrights. ‘It’s their fault, it’s the theater that’s doing it all.’” It was one of the few things the two seemed to agree on in the wake of the film’s release.

			A final issue reared its head after the film’s release, when Tarantino went to Faber and Faber to have his original script released in book form. The filmmakers balked at this, claiming that to have Tarantino’s original script available for people to read would confuse those who went to see the movie in theaters. To Tarantino and fans, the swiftness to stop its publication was further evidence that the filmmakers didn’t want people to be able to see the differences and perhaps agree that Tarantino’s script was better. The situation was handled through legal sources until in July 1995 Faber and Faber got the okay to publish, immediately selling over 18,000 copies upon release. To Tarantino, this was a small victory, but at least people would see what he had intended instead of what they got.

			Down the years, Stone and Tarantino have pretty much put their differences behind them, now seeing it more as a case of each having his own perspective, although still not agreeing as to which script was better. (And, in the case of Stone, he would state his is better as the punch line to a joke rather than with any resentment.) Stone would move on to other hit films, although he never quite reached the stratosphere his career hit in the 1980s–1990s. Don Murphy would go on to produce other films, including most recently being involved with the Michael Bay Transformers franchise. Jane Hamsher would go on to write her book about the making of Natural Born Killers and work on a handful of other films with Murphy before dropping out and moving on to work as an adviser to various companies and a political blogger.

			Most interesting about Hamsher’s book on the making of the film is that it ends with an afterword showing the current history of everyone discussed in the book. Many are given complimentary statements about their then-present and future, while Tarantino is addressed as the “George Gobel of directors, famous for being famous.” This even after the success of Pulp Fiction proved that he was no one-hit wonder.

			As to Tarantino’s thoughts today on the film? In October 2013, he was asked about Natural Born Killers while attending the 18th Busan International Film Festival in South Korea. His assessment was little different than it was nearly twenty years ago: “I hate that fucking movie. If you like my stuff, don’t watch that movie.”

			Thoughts

			The biggest problem with Natural Born Killers is that the filmmakers looked at Tarantino’s script, which is full of spot-on parodies of the media and the public’s fascination with serial killers, and said, “Hey, why don’t we take this and turn it into a satire of the media and the public’s fascination with serial killers?” If you can’t spot the satire from the get-go, there’s a problem.

			To be fair, the script needed work. As an early script from Tarantino, it is only natural that it would have needed another draft or two before really being ready for the camera. In particular, Tarantino’s screenplay is disjointed due to the middle half of the movie being this long American Maniacs program, while the beginning and ending are written to be more of a standard action-drama, only with the bad guys winning in the end. Also, while the American Maniacs portion is good stuff for the most part, it doesn’t quite feel organic to the material around it, nor does it feel at times that Tarantino quite had the problem licked on how to get in plot points without breaking the illusion of the documentary program. The extended court scene plays as if it really belongs outside of the context of the American Maniacs portion, for example, while the film-running-out ending (something made very popular in the “found footage” era of horror films thanks to The Blair Witch Project) would have been better if the American Maniacs parody had extended out to include it. No doubt, these are all things that, if he had directed it, Tarantino would have punched up and found a way to make work.

			Yet that was not to be, and instead, Stone and others working with him had to find a way to deal with getting the material in the script to work on the screen. To do that, the options were to either cut the American Maniacs material to the bone, find a way to make the “reality” bookends around it work within the context of the American Maniacs parody, or look for some type of creative combination to make the material play together. In the case of Stone’s script, the third option was used to explain all the nuttiness going on, with much of what was happening coming through as a type of drug-induced haze, or collective madness, from the pair. For example, Mallory’s memory of their killing of her parents plays like a sitcom, with Mickey saving her and Mallory viewing her family as creeps who deserve to die. Yet whether this is the reality of the situation is never quite clear; it’s not even clear if she really had a brother or made him up to give the sitcom a happy ending. The pair supposedly are bitten by snakes in the desert, but such concerns are forgotten after the alarm is tripped (Mickey is more concerned about sex-aid medication and making a good show of shooting the pharmacist; further, a scene cut from the film had the pair at a drive-in before heading to get antivenin, suggesting that they were not bitten and were totally out of it thanks to the mushrooms).

			Even the violence of the riot is suspect—they run into people in the halls, but the brutal slayings seen in other parts of the film do not quite jibe with the rest of the footage, nor does it make sense that prisoners are allowed to watch the program that incites the riot in the first place. It only works if it fulfills a need by Mickey to feel that he has control over the others and can make them do his bidding (even if he and Mallory jokes about it being “fate” after all is said and done). Plus, the “happy ending” in the credits that show the two with children does not feel grounded in reality (and, as seen by the alternate ending, was filmed to be a fantasy in the final moments of death). Due to this, the film is no more than a dream or a hallucination; perhaps the final thoughts of Mallory before being put under the knife in “Lobotomy Bay”—like a serial killer variation of the ending to Brazil (1985) or An Occurrence at Owl Creek Bridge (1962).

			There is a shorthand tendency of some defenders of Tarantino’s script to say that it was based around Wayne and then Stone turned it into one based around Mickey and Mallory. That’s not quite the case—Wayne is pretty much an enigma in Tarantino’s script . . . an idiot one, but still an enigma. It is his show and his crew that the script is about—a group of people who are so obsessed with what they are trying to film that they don’t seem to grasp the reality of their situation. Roger is happily filming the shoot-out around him, leaving him open to get killed; Unruly Julie is fixated on a greasy spoon food order while a riot is in progress; Mickey’s one attempt to tell his true thoughts on the killings is denied because Scott runs out of film, and that is more important than the truth; Wayne never allows himself to consider the danger he is under until he is about to die, and even then tries to talk his way out of it.

			With the emphasis on that crew and the show they produce, Mickey and Mallory are never the real focus of the script. There’s no sense really trying to understand them, even from the words of the psychiatrist, Dr. Reingold, who is more fascinated with the public’s reaction to the killers than what makes them tick (he essentially dismisses their story as not being as interesting as that of those around them). Their backstories are bare, making them even more frightening when it is clear that Mallory’s parents in the script appeared to be normal people whose only crime was that they didn’t like their underage daughter hanging around with the adult Mickey. Mickey and Mallory are indiscriminate killers who don’t care who dies (well, unless you’re a famous Brother Hun). They’re ignorant, a bit stupid, and without any morality.

			In many ways, they’re not people; they’re a force of nature. Another scripter could have easily turned them into vampires, aliens, or a series of earthquakes and got the same film (it’s easy to imagine someone now selling a script as “the vampire version of Natural Born Killers!”). And the thing is, we’re not supposed to understand them—that’s what makes them frightening. How often do we see real-life serial killers and gain any insight into what made them tick? The excuses never balance with the results, and we ultimately conclude that we can’t understand them. To try to do the same to Mickey and Mallory is to play it safe. To excuse what they did. The Hollywood trappings have to make them heroes because that’s what America will accept; otherwise, it’s a two-plus-hours movie about characters we hate from the first time Mallory gets obnoxious with the waitress in the diner.
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					The final U.S. poster for Natural Born Killers, which would become the iconic image for the film. 

				

			

			And America’s fascination with serial killers and the need to make them heroes (or at least antiheroes) is where Tarantino was heading with the script. In an interview with Graham Fuller from 1993 (Projections 3, “Answers First, Questions Later,” 1994), Tarantino was clear in his dislike for what such people do in reality, finding them “so foul that, in my heart, I wish they could just be executed.” But there is still this fascination, and the lingering issue that, when people read what such people have to say, they can sometimes come off as intelligent, even profound. This was the key to Tarantino’s script, as he told Fuller in the same interview: “You see them posturing and being cool and surly, and they’re romantic and they’re exciting. Then you see them killing people that don’t deserve to die. Hopefully, the audience will say, ‘Wait a minute, this isn’t fun anymore. Why aren’t I having fun? And why was I having fun at the beginning?’” To do this, the script parodies the documentary style of such serial killer programs (which seemed immensely popular on cable television in the 1990s) to slowly drag the audience in and accept the two characters before pulling us back out to remind us that Mickey and Mallory are monsters that one can never fully understand.

			Which poses a problem, and one that Tarantino had on his mind when the script was finally starting to look like it might get made: most of the satirical edge of his script—and even more so of what was ultimately filmed—was already done in the 1992 Belgium movie Man Bites Dog. This film played in many of the same festivals in 1992 that Reservoir Dogs did, and the two were commonly cited together as showing a violent change in the movie industry. The movie, written, and directed by Remy Belvaux, Andre Bonzel, and Benoit Poelvoorde (with Vincent Tavier), deals with a documentary crew following a famed serial killer around as he murders, until it gets to the point where the crew participate in the rapes and murders by the man (as Wayne eventually does in Natural Born Killers). It is a film that starts off as a comedy, but slowly evolves into a horror film—one where we eventually want to see something happen to the man because he appears to be indestructible (until finally someone else comes along to take him out, much like in Stone’s original ending to Natural Born Killers). Most of all, it tells the story Tarantino first wanted to tell, and therefore there wasn’t much need for something like Natural Born Killers anymore, as he told Graham Fuller in 1993: “Man Bites Dog does exactly what I was trying to do in the original Natural Born Killers.” Yet, if Stone and the others were aware of it (Hamsher makes no reference to it at all in her book Killer Instinct, even though the Belgian film was widely distributed and discussed by the time of the book’s release), they felt they had their own spin on the material. To do that, the movie had to tell this story about the media, etc. through the eyes of Mickey and Mallory.

			And that’s the basis for the other issue at hand with the finished film—in order to make the movie be about Mickey and Mallory, it is only natural for the filmmakers to want to try to understand them. In doing that, they did the worst damage they could to the premise—they fell in love with Mickey and Mallory.

			To gain the audience’s favor, Mickey and Mallory are no longer the mindless sociopaths of the script—Mickey is merely saving the love of his life from her demonic family; Mallory is damaged goods. The people they kill are obnoxious or try to stop them and thus deserve to die. Scagnetti, a brutal jackass in the original script, turns out to be a psycho-sexual killer in the film and must be stopped. McClusky is an idiot meeting karma through the prisoners he exploits. Mickey even has to outline the reasons why Wayne must die in order to drive home the point that—for reasons never quite clear—it is the media’s fault for everything that happened.

			As to the material Tarantino had of the duo killing a five-year-old? Slaughter innocent families in their homes? All jettisoned from the script as being too intense. Even the courtroom sequence that they went through the trouble of filming was cut because they realized they risked losing the audience’s sympathy for Mickey by having him kill the sincere, innocent girl on the stand who faces him down and recognizes him for the fool he is. By the end of filming, Stone did not even have the conviction to go with the ending he had in mind where the two realize that they’re doomed like everyone else. Instead, he redeemed them and let them go off hand in hand.

			In a way, he fell in love with these two characters the same way Tony Scott did with Clarence and Alabama in True Romance, and had to “save” them. They couldn’t die at the hands of another killer (or demon, or what have you), and it is point-blank said by the pair that their killing days are over. Stone has stated that the idea was to show the pair as breaking free from the hold America has on them, but in many ways the ending confines them instead. After killing Wayne, they’re homogenized. We can be happy as the credits roll that they are happy. They are domesticated. Normal. Harmless.

			Tarantino’s script gave us monsters that stayed with us after the film was over. Stone’s film gives us people with daddy issues who are moving on to being two more meek members of suburbia somewhere, with an RV and kids. That’s not the message Stone wanted to leave us with, but that’s what we get—the Hollywood happy ending, as in True Romance.

		

	
		
			7
It Ain’t Suicide If You’re Already Dead

			Contributions to Other Films

			Natural Born Killers was making all the headlines in August 1994, with Pulp Fiction just around the corner and ready to push Tarantino past the “sophomore slump” that critics and rivals were disappointed to see not occur once it was released in November 1994. Reservoir Dogs was out (or about to come out, depending on location and access to official or unofficial sources) on video for people to pick up in curiosity over the impending Pulp Fiction release, as was True Romance. It was a Tarantino World in the fall of 1994, even if not everyone knew Quentin Tarantino was connected to all of it.

			Similarly, they probably didn’t know that Quentin Tarantino was involved in the writing of the comedy It’s Pat, which came out the same week as Natural Born Killers in theaters. Not that it was completely hidden from view—Variety mistakenly listed the script as being penned solely by Tarantino in their June 17, 1993, issue (only for a retraction coming in the next day’s edition to clarify the proper credits for it), and it was later mentioned in interviews and articles that Tarantino had helped out. Still, looking back on the career of the man who gave us Inglourious Basterds, Kill Bill, and Reservoir Dogs, amongst others, it is odd to think of him being involved with the script for a Saturday Night Live spin-off movie like It’s Pat.

			But this was not the only film Tarantino worked on after the release of Reservoir Dogs. Tarantino had begun to build up a reputation in Hollywood by the time of Reservoir Dogs as an excellent script doctor, who could come in and make changes and/or additions to a script—especially when it came to dialogue—that proved successful. More than one person close to Tarantino in those days suggested that some of his best work came out of taking others’ material and fine-tuning it for better results; not to mention that he seemed to enjoy working in such a fashion. He certainly had already proven that function with his work on the From Dusk Till Dawn script and Past Midnight.

			Still, such window dressing, no matter how small or large, usually goes uncredited in the films of Hollywood, as had been standard practice since the early days of the medium. In the days when studios had writers in-house to work on material, it was not uncommon to see eight writers work on a script and then only one getting credit for all the work created. If deemed noteworthy and on good terms, the uncredited writer may get some mention at the time of a film’s release (such as with It’s Pat); possibly down the road when the scripter turns out to be someone worthy of mention in retrospect; but typically, the idea is that you don’t want to end up having to credit four, five, eight, or more writers only for their one-off contributions to a script (which is one reason why arbitrations about credits in movies can be a major headache for everyone). Of course, in some cases, it is beneficial to fight for credits, such as the case with Roger Avary wanting more than a story credit in Pulp Fiction to publicly establish his work; but once you’ve already on top of the game, there’s usually less of a worry about such things, save for financial or personal reasons.

			Below is a list of theatrical films to which Quentin Tarantino is known to have contributed some additional script work. Sometimes credited, mostly not, and not always for films that would go on to become blockbusters, as the first film mentioned here bears out.

			It’s Pat (1994)

			Yes. Welcome to the 1990s. In retrospect, it’s probably harder to explain why a movie like It’s Pat was made in the first place than explaining the character itself.

			Saturday Night Live is a live television variety series on the NBC television network that has been airing since 1975. As happens on any popular comedy series, some characters go over so well with audiences that it’s hard not to have them appear often, and while there were some attempts to curtail this tendency early on, it was easier to give the audience what they wanted (for example, “The Bees” were written in part as a parody of such recurring characters, only to become recurring characters themselves). Eventually, with the actors and writers from the series wanting to branch off into movies, there were occasional attempts to bring said characters to the big screen. Gilda Live (1980), a filmed stage production featuring Gilda Radner’s characters from the series, did not do well at the box office, but The Blues Brothers, featuring John Belushi and Dan Aykroyd and released the same year, was a major hit with audiences, if not with critics.

			Still, it was not until 1992 and the release of Wayne’s World, starring Mike Myers (who later appeared in Inglourious Basterds) and based on characters from Saturday Night Live, that things really exploded. The film was a worldwide success, making over $180 million and leading to a sequel and Myers’ film career. From there, a number of other movies based on characters of the series would be released throughout the rest of the 1990s, even though none reached the level of success of Wayne’s World.

			Certainly not It’s Pat. The film was based on a character created by actress Julia Sweeney and presented in a series of skits while Sweeney was a regular on the program, which was a type of situation comedy with its own theme song. The concept dealt with Pat, an obnoxious person who is oblivious to the fact that there are no physical or mental signs as to his or her sex. As it is an awkward situation that many people have run into at least once in life, it made for a recurring character (albeit in small doses) that was popular enough to be chosen to use for one of the films being made based on characters from the show.

			The script was written by Sweeney with Jim Emerson and Stephen Hibbert (who would go on to play the Gimp in Pulp Fiction). As the production was looking to get started in 1993, Sweeney let slip that she was friends with Tarantino (she would appear briefly in Pulp Fiction as Raquel, the junkyard owner’s daughter, as well as having her 1998 concert film And God Said “Ha!” executive produced by Tarantino), and so was asked if she could persuade him to look at the script and give it a punch-up. Although reluctant, Sweeney asked and he agreed to spend a week contributing to it for $100,000. Even with his work on the script, however, the original studio of the film, Twentieth Century Fox, passed on the script, leaving it to be picked up by Touchstone Pictures in 1994 and released in August of that year. It would not even make back Tarantino’s payment for his work in the U.S., earning only $60,000 before being pulled from theaters after one week.

			Sleep with Me (1994)

			The story goes that Tarantino was working on getting Pulp Fiction written when he ran into actor Eric Stoltz while in Manhattan. Out of the blue, Tarantino told him that he had a friend who had written a movie that needed Eric Stoltz as the star. Setting things up through a phone call between Stoltz and Roger Avary, Tarantino was able to convince Stoltz to appear in Avary’s film Killing Zoe. Stoltz, however, did have one condition—that Tarantino appear in a movie he was producing called Sleep with Me. Tarantino agreed. 

			The film is a comedy dealing with a love triangle, with the most interesting thing about it being that six writers, besides Tarantino, worked on individual scenes in creating the script. When first reading the script, however, Tarantino nearly backed out, as the script had him playing himself in the movie. He agreed when the character’s name was changed to Sid. For his part, the script stated that “Quentin enters the party and says something funny,” leaving Tarantino to improvise for the camera. Stoltz would later state in Jeff Dawson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool, “We shot four or five mags of him just going on and on until we couldn’t shoot anymore because it was a handheld shot and Andrezej Sekula’s arms were getting tired.”

			Tarantino appears as Sid in a party scene where he goes into a long rant about how the Tom Cruise movie Top Gun (directed by Tony Scott) is a subversive film about homosexuality. The dialogue is something both Tarantino and Roger Avary had come up with a few years prior that they would break out for friends at parties, and Tarantino simply inserted it into his dialogue for the scene. (Avary has claimed that he came up with the entire structure of the speech, rather than jointly with Tarantino.) As it stands, even with six other writers, it is this bit by Avary and Tarantino that people remember the most of the film.
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					Sleep with Me (1994), costarring Pulp Fiction and Killing Zoe star Eric Stoltz and featuring the famous Top Gun monologue by Tarantino.

				

			

		  “Dance Me to the End of Love” (1995)

			A short film directed by Aaron A. Goffman that plays much like a music video, using the song of the same name by Leonard Cohen. Goffman wrote the short film, with Tarantino contributing as well as starring as a groom on his wedding night with his bride (played by Sylvia Binsfeld). The cinematographer was Rand Vossler, who had worked with Tarantino on My Best Friend’s Birthday and in trying to get Natural Born Killers made (see chapter 6 for more details).

			Crimson Tide (1995)

			Tony Scott was set to direct the submarine action/political thriller Crimson Tide, but the studio had some concerns about the script, written by Michael Schiffer and based on a story by him and Richard P. Henrick. It should be made clear that Schiffer was no slouch when it came to moviemaking; he had written the scripts for such films as Colors (1988), Lean on Me (1989), and would later write The Peacemaker (1997, with George Clooney). Even so, Hollywood never rests until it can throw scripts to a lot of others for rewrites, and Scott had suggested Tarantino’s involvement.

			Tarantino, happy with how Scott had handled True Romance, and free for the moment between films, was glad to help out. Tarantino’s take on his work for the film, according to an interview found in Jeff Dawson’s book, was punching up dialogue. “The one thing is some of the dialogue was just a little like ‘normal’ movie dialogue. It had its brain, it just needed a bit more of a heart, so I took it and did a rewrite on it, although I actually didn’t change any scenes.”

			Even though he stated he did not change any scenes, he did add a couple. “The big mutiny scene is my scene and I wrote a scene over a dinner table in the officers’ mess.” Scott then took Tarantino’s result and handed it off to Robert Towne (Chinatown) for more work, especially on the dinner scene. Scott then had Steve Zaillian (Schindler’s List) punch up some material as well.

			Tarantino’s mark is pretty apparent for those who watch. A character named Russell Vossler is obviously a shout-out to Tarantino’s friend Rand Vossler, while another named Lawson is the same name as one of the owners of Video Archives. A fight over who was the best artist on Silver Surfer is almost definitely a Tarantino add-on (and, of course, the answer is actually John Buscema), while a discussion about Scotty in Star Trek seems to point to Tarantino as well. Alan Barnes and Marcus Hearn in their book Tarantino A to Zed also make an argument that the two main characters discussing the lineage of a breed of Portuguese stallion sounds very similar to the Sicilians discussion in True Romance.
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					Tarantino was asked to punch up the dialogue in the script for Tony Scott’s Crimson Tide (1995), which led to a personal confrontation between Tarantino and star Denzel Washington.

				

			

			The Rock (1996)

			After working on Crimson Tide, Tarantino was asked to take a look at the script for the upcoming Michael Bay movie The Rock. Little is known about what Tarantino contributed to the film, but it was another case of plenty of writers getting into the mix, leading to arbitrations as to who should be credited (Bay fought to get Jonathan Hensleigh added to the writing credits, while writers Dick Clement and Ian La Frenais—suggested by Sean Connery—rewrote a lot of dialogue in the movie, along with Nicolas Cage contributing on set). When reviewing the film, critic Roger Ebert did point out two similarities to Tarantino’s other works—a character having to jab a needle directly into the heart to survive and a Mexican Standoff scene that was a big favorite of Tarantino’s, but it is not clear if these were contributions by Tarantino. There are two music-geek moments by Cage—his character getting his vinyl copy of a Beatles album early on and a later monologue about “Rocket Man” when trying to prime a missile to kill one of the bad guys—that seem like something Tarantino would have come up with, but again nothing definitive has ever been proven.

			Curdled (1996)

			Tarantino was the executive producer of this dark comedy about a woman (played by Angela Jones, who played the cabbie talking to Butch in Pulp Fiction) who becomes obsessed with murder scenes and finally a serial killer. The film was released through Tarantino’s Rolling Thunder Pictures and produced through his A Band Apart company. The film was written and directed by Reb Braddock, with John Maass cowriting, and based on a short film he had done under the same title in 1991. It was this short film that Tarantino had seen while at a festival in Italy to promote Reservoir Dogs in 1992 that led to getting the full-length film made. 

			When a sequence written as a parody of a Cops-like reality show turned out to not be working, Tarantino contributed a scene in its place.

			The segment is a portion of a documentary program called Miami D.O.A. Although not directed by Tarantino, the scene is of interest to fans of From Dusk Till Dawn, as the presenter of the program, Kelly Houge, appears in a similar fashion in From Dusk Till Dawn and is played by the same actress in the other film, Kelly Preston (wife of John Travolta). The Gecko Brothers of that film also appear briefly in mugshots in the segment, where it is stated that the two had “seemingly vanished into thin air”; thus giving viewers a little further history on the brothers after the events of From Dusk Till Dawn. (And also making Curdled connected to Tarantino’s Movie Movie universe.)

			Natural Born Killers fans may also find the segment of interest, as it gives us a taste of what the American Maniacs sequences from that film could have looked like if the filmmakers had stuck with Tarantino’s original script.
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					Tarantino helped produce this quirky comedy about serial killers and, when a scene was quickly needed, wrote a segment that tied the film in with his From Dusk Till Dawn characters. 

				

			

		

	
		
			8
Ancora Qui

			Ten Movies That Influenced Tarantino

			“Here’s my problem with this whole influence thing: Instead of critics reviewing my movies, now what they’re really doing is trying to match wits with me. Every time they review my movies, it’s like they want to play chess with the mastermind and show off every reference they can find, even when half of it is all of their own making. It feels like the critics are IMDB-ing everything I do. It just rubs me the wrong way because they end up using it as a stick to beat me down with.”

			—Quentin Tarantino to Patrick Goldstein and James Rainey in The Big Picture, a Los Angeles Times blog, February 15, 2010

			Tarantino has made no bones that he does feature moments in his movies that are reflections of earlier films he has seen, and there is payoff to viewers when they can be noted. Ninety-nine percent of the joke to “The Man from Hollywood” sequence in Four Rooms is the tension built up for those in the audience that saw the Alfred Hitchcock Presents episode “The Man from the South” (or possibly had read the original short story from Roald Dahl . . . nah, probably from seeing the television episode is the safer bet). There is even the toss-off gag of this loudmouth director acting like an expert, even though he is misremembering numerous aspects of the Hitchcock episode (demonstrating to the audience that he and his party probably deserve to have something nasty happen to them for their ignorance). When Kiddo is ready to start fighting and the beginning siren sounds from the Quincy Jones-written theme from the detective series Ironside starts to play, Tarantino knows that some people will get the gag that it also came from the classic kung fu movie Five Fingers of Death, where it was used to announce that the hero was about to take care of some villains.

			There are plenty of other references like this throughout Tarantino’s films—so many that it would probably take a book to really examine them in any complete fashion—but there’s also something else involved when Tarantino has done this: such gags are never the reason they appear in his movies, but an additional bonus for those who will get them. If you didn’t know about “Man from the South,” you would still get the ending joke in Four Rooms; if you never heard the theme song from Ironside (which, admittedly, I knew because it used to freak me out a little as a kid when I heard it), you’d still understand that when you hear the music in Kill Bill, you knew Kiddo was going to start slicing and dicing. Which is really the point of where Tarantino is going with his quote at the beginning of the chapter; sure there’s these trees in the forest, but don’t miss the forest for the trees. In a way, it is like how Hitchcock grew to regret his standard in-joke of featuring himself somewhere in his movies, because people began to stop paying attention to the movie in order to find him in the background (and a reason he began placing such moments as early as possible in his movies).

			Of course, Tarantino has made no bones about being fluent in cinema. In interviews over the years, Tarantino has mentioned certain films. Okay, he mentions a lot of films in his interviews, to the point where you start wondering if he’s going to begin making up titles to see if anyone is paying attention (“So when Buster Keaton did his first nude scene for Stanley Kubrick in The English Patient . . . .”). Nevertheless, it is clear from such interviews that, while Tarantino may make references to other films in his movies, such moments are merely shorthand to convey elements to his actors, crew, and the audience. Actors who have worked with him have noted his tendency to have them watch particular films in order to get a better understanding of how he wants them to play their characters, or direct on set with statements similar to “your reaction here should be like when the crop duster turns and begins to stalk Cary Grant in North by Northwest.” But this is because he knows that we as a culture understand those references. We are a media-conscious society and thus can communicate in the language of film and television, Look at the statement above about Cary Grant in North by Northwest—most reading will understand that the reaction requested is one of slow-dawning danger and panic. Nothing else needs to be said.

			What does need to be mentioned is that rarely have such moments pointed to movies Tarantino has stated were major influences on him as a writer and director. Reference does not equal influence. Instead, over the years, Tarantino has on occasion spoken or written about other films that had an impact on his understanding of cinema and storytelling. While the films listed are no doubt only a few of the many he has touched on, they have been ones that Tarantino has mentioned as being burned into his memory. “I love having influences,” Tarantino said to the Los Angeles Times Blog in 2010, “because I want people to get excited when they see something in the film or hear me talking about it and then actually go see the movie that inspired me in the first place.”

			Bud Abbott and Lou Costello Meet Frankenstein (1948)

			Usually referred to as Abbott and Costello Meet Frankenstein—and believe me there’s a whole rich argument in fandom as to the proper name for the film—this was the first true horror-related comedy for the duo (there’s Hold That Ghost from 1941, but that’s more of an Old Dark House mystery than a horror film setup) and also one of the last in the Universal Studio series of monster movies that began back in the 1930s with Bela Lugosi in Dracula (1931). The film manages an intriguing combination of established story threads from the Universal Frankenstein and Wolfman (with Lon Chaney, Jr. appearing as Larry Talbot, a.k.a. the Wolfman, once again) series of films while also bringing back Lugosi as Dracula for the second time. 

			The element that Tarantino found fascinating about the movie when he saw it as a kid was that the comedy plays for comedy and the horror plays for horror, with sometimes a mix of the two even within the same scenes. By doing this, the laughs are there, but there is an established danger for the characters that heightens the laughs as well. To Tarantino, this showed that it was possible to combine laughs and fears within the same bit of story, and his films frequently have moments where things occur that are terrifying and yet funny at the same time. Certainly something like Marvin getting his head blown off in Pulp Fiction when Jules hits a bump should be horrifying to see, yet it plays—and is successful in playing—for comedy, with the ramifications of what happened making the audience laugh at the same time they’re thinking “I really should not be laughing at this.”
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					One of Tarantino’s earliest lessons in filmmaking came while watching Abbott and Costello Meets Frankenstein (1948) as a child and realizing that you could mix genres—such as comedy and horror—together within a film.

				

			

			The Killing (1956)

			This early film by Stanley Kubrick follows Sterling Hayden as an ex-con who plans to rob a racetrack of $2 million by gathering a collection of other men to perform unique functions in orchestrating the heist. One element of the operation is that Hayden’s character is the only one who knows the entire plan and attempts to keep everyone from knowing each other so that everyone can walk away if something goes wrong.

			It is easy to see how Tarantino took the basic concept of a heist where people are ignorant of each other’s background and turned it into the whole “Mr. Pink, Mr. White, etc.” concept of Reservoir Dogs. The two films are vastly different in plotting and tone (Kubrick goes for a more Dragnet/Untouchable television “police bulletin” narrative, while Tarantino is “fly on the wall,” and each film has the robberies derailing in vastly different ways), but at certain points in The Killing Kubrick shows the audience a scene and then resets it from another character’s viewpoint so we get a greater understanding the second time around as to what is occurring. This hints at some of Tarantino’s own fractured storytelling in Reservoir Dogs, but more importantly, it closely follows how scenes during the climactic switch in Jackie Brown plays out (from Jackie’s viewpoint, then Max’s).

			Tarantino is also on record as calling Reservoir Dogs “my The Killing,” which was enough to convince some critics that he merely ripped off the earlier movie—an assumption that doesn’t stand up to a comparison study of the two beyond what has already been described above. Tarantino clarified in an interview with Michel Ciment and Hubert Niogret in 1992: “What I meant by that was if I was going to make a war movie where a bunch of guys get together and blow up a Nazi gun, that would be my Where Eagles Dare. If I was going to do a western, it would be my One-Eyed Jacks. I just talk in movie terms. The Killing is my favorite heist film, and I was definitely influenced by it.” In the same interview, Tarantino stated that John Boorman’s Point Blank (1967) “and other Parker novels by Richard Stark were very influential” on Reservoir Dogs.

			Bande a part (1964)

			Sometimes referred to as Band of Outsiders, the film was an early favorite of Tarantino after he discovered French director Jean-Luc Godard and his earlier 1960 film A bout de soufflé (known in America as Breathless). The film deals with a woman and two men who attempt to perform what should be a simple robbery of money from the woman’s own home that is unsuccessful thanks to others and their own determination to keep the money.

			Tarantino enjoyed the film so much that when it came time to name his production company for Pulp Fiction, he and Lawrence Bender agreed on a bastardization of the film’s title to that of “A Band Apart”—the company name used on all of their pictures and some others they have been associated with since 1994. Tarantino also had Uma Thurman and John Travolta review the (what appears to be improvised, but actually heavily rehearsed) dance number between the three lead actors in order to get a feel for the look Tarantino wanted in their dance number at Jackrabbit Slim’s in Pulp Fiction. Tarantino at one point also stated that he wanted Pulp Fiction to have the look of a crime film like Bande a part, which was one in a number of European films that took American crime dramas and turned them on their heads to make them dramatically different.

			Django (1966)

			Django is a mid-cycle movie in the number of westerns that came out of Italy (hence the genre title of “spaghetti westerns”) in the 1960s and for brief time in the 1970s. Many were shot in areas of Italy and Spain that could pass for the Old West of America, and typically with American actors on their way up, down, or coasting who could be persuaded to come to Europe for a few weeks in order to assure a release in the U.S. (where most of the cast and crew would be given new names in order to pass the film off as being an American product).

			Such films started off as pretty much simple variations of earlier American westerns, but soon the atmosphere changed where the directors churning them out started trying to address social and political mores within the context of their westerns. There was also a stronger license to show violence and stronger emotional content than had been seen in American films, which would prove to be a plus in selling the films in America and elsewhere.

			One of the first films to get pegged for such violent imagery was Sergio Corbucci’s Django, starring Franco Nero as the antihero who spawned anywhere from thirty to one hundred sequels during the spaghetti western years (not that any of them were directed by Corbucci, starring Nero, or even connected to the character of the original). And while Tarantino would name his western Django Unchained after Corbucci’s original (and even feature Nero in a small homage in the film), Tarantino was influenced more by the westerns Corbucci directed as a whole along with Django. This could be seen with his article about Corbucci for the New York Times that was published on September 12, 2012, in anticipation of his upcoming western. The article, with the hopefully-not-self-penned title of “Quentin Tarantino Tackles Old Dixie by Way of the Old West (by Way of Italy),” shows Tarantino’s love for Corbucci’s work and his tendency to show characters who have been pushed to extremes, where savagery is the only option left for those who wish to survive.

			Corbucci’s work also has a tendency to show characters with little or no affiliation with the real world around them. The ruthlessness of the characters that is brushed off as “normal” in the films would have readily gotten even authority figures hung for murder in the real “Old West.” Yet this is not the world of Corbucci’s films, and Django Unchained is a reflection of that type of world (or, to put it in other terms, normal in the Tarantino “Realer Than Real” Universe). Django reaches a point where the hero has his hands crushed and is left to die by the villains for his actions, while we see Django in Tarantino’s film being tortured (in much more horrifying fashion in Tarantino’s original script than seen in the film) before being sent off to die—actions that lead the title characters in each film to draw up his wits and strength to fight back and defeat those in power.

			Hope can win out, but at a cost that sees too many innocents destroyed along the way before push finally comes to shove. It is there in Corbucci’s films, and even Tarantino pointed out in his article that it was an influence on his writing of the script for Django Unchained.

			The Good, the Bad and the Ugly (1968)

			The third film in Sergio Leone’s “Man with No Name” trilogy and starring Clint Eastwood, Eli Wallach and Lee Van Cleef, The Good, the Bad and the Ugly is an epic spaghetti western that sweeps over a large area of America and even the Civil War, as three strangers end up having to work together (while at the same time attempt to kill each other) in order to find a cache of Confederate gold. Tarantino has referred to the film as either his favorite western or within the Top Three in that category, and has stated that the opening scene in Inglourious Basterds—where Landa interrogates the French farmer before violence emerges—was his attempt to create a scene like the one in The Good, the Bad and the Ugly where Angel Eyes interrogates a man before brutally killing him and his son (not to mention that both Landa and Angel Eyes are ready to turn against their employers when the timing is right, as seen in each film). As he told the Los Angeles Times Blog, “I was really using the whole feeling and mood from a scene in another movie, but what happens is that it becomes my scene with my actors and my way of telling the story, and I feel like I somehow make it my own.”

			Tarantino would also refer back to The Good, the Bad and the Ugly in Django Unchained. In the final moment of The Good, the Bad and the Ugly, Tuco is interrupted by the theme music as he is calling Blondie a “dirty son of a b—!” Near the end of Django Unchained, Stephen get as far as calling Django an “uppity son of a b—!” before the house blows up. Of the two, Tuco was luckier (and got four sacks of gold for his trouble). 

			Tarantino has also proven his love for Leone’ regular musical contributor, Ennio Morricone, using a number of his music cues in every one of his films since the Kill Bill films and working with Morricone for the song “Ancora Qui” in Django Unchained.

			Hannie Caulder (1971)

			Produced by Tigon British Films Productions (see chapter 5 for why this is of interest to Tarantino’s career), Hannie Caulder is a western by Burt Kennedy and starring Raquel Welch. The plot has Welch as a woman in the Old West who has her husband murdered, her house burnt down, and then is raped and left for dead by three criminals. Surviving, she plans her revenge against the men, with the help of a bounty hunter (Robert Culp) who shows her how to use a gun and a gunsmith (Christopher Lee) who builds the perfect weapon for her. 

			In a 2003 interview with Tomohiro Machiyama (“Quentin Tarantino Reveals Almost Everything That Inspired Kill Bill,” Eiga Hi-Ho Magazine), Tarantino was quick to mention a Japanese revenge film called Lady Snowblood (1973) as being one of many “revenge movies, especially female ones” that he was influenced by when creating Kill Bill (and this can certainly be seen in the Kiddo/O-Ren sword fight in the snow, as well as its theme song being used in the film). However, he agreed with Machiyama that Hannie Caulder was definitely an influence in how Welch’s character seeks revenge against those who wronged her, and—although Tarantino doesn’t mention it in the interview—Christopher Lee’s character creating a weapon for her to extract her revenge (much like Sonny Chiba’s character in Kill Bill creates a sword for Kiddo).

			The film is also reflective of what was to come with Tarantino’s Django Unchained, with a person wronged being trained by a kindly bounty hunter in the ways of the gun, as occurs in Hannie Caulder between Welch’s and Robert Culp’s characters. Said mentor is then killed, leaving the student to prove herself against her enemies in the final moments of each film.
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					Hannie Caulder was a 1971 western directed by Burt Kennedy and starring Raquel Welch that influenced Tarantino while writing the scripts of both Kill Bill and Django Unchained.

                    Courtesy of Wrong Side of the Arts

				

			

			Deliverance (1972)

			Seeing John Boorman’s film on a double bill with Sam Peckinpah’s The Wild Bunch (1969) was deeply affecting to the nine-year-old Tarantino. Not only because both films are violent, but because of the tension involved in one of the most famously disturbing scenes in a major motion picture: the “Squeal like a pig” sequence with Ned Beatty’s character being threatened by a group of backwoods degenerates with anal rape.

			Tarantino would state years later that the movie “scared the living shit” out of him when he saw it, although he was not aware at the time exactly what the men planned to do to Beatty’s character. Still, the scene taught Tarantino a certain aspect about tension in a scene—how it can be drawn out almost to the breaking point for an audience in order to invest them into the action occurring on the screen, and then knowing when to cut to release that anxiety for the viewers.

			Often over the years, the scene has been compared to the one in the pawnshop in Pulp Fiction, where Butch and Marsellus have to deal with a group of men wishing to do them a similar harm. The scene comes out of left field—up to that point, the plot has simply been Butch trying to elude Marsellus and his underlings—so far out of left field, in fact, that it pulls in that same element of “so grisly, it’s almost funny” aspect that Tarantino got out of Abbott and Costello Meet Frankenstein (albeit, Dracula never gets around to asking Lou to squeal like a pig). Also similar to Deliverance, when it appears that things are going to go too far (and in the case of Pulp Fiction they do), a man comes along and takes out the “bad guys” in the scene, with Butch going the Burt Reynolds route and saving Marsellus.

			Coffy (1973)

			Pam Grier had already been appearing in exploitation films before Coffy (including the two big Jack Hill-directed films that kicked off the “women in prison” genre of the 1970s, The Big Doll House and The Big Bird Cage), but the 1973 film would put her in the spotlight as the lead actress of a film and open up her career to playing many gutsy women out to do what’s right in the remaining days of the blaxploitation genre of the 1970s. Grier plays Coffy, a registered nurse, who takes matters into her own hands to rid the streets of drugs and pushers after her younger sister ends up an addict. Coffy is pretty ruthless in the vengeance department, and was one of a growing number of “revenge films” that allowed the protagonist to walk away after retaliating without having to die for her own lawlessness (a factor that plays into several of Tarantino’s movies).

			Grier would go on to appear in other films of similar nature, such as Foxy Brown (which triggered the title for Tarantino’s Jackie Brown), Friday Foster, and Sheba, Baby, before the market began changing for such strong female leads (especially African American female leads) in action pictures. She would continue to work in a variety of films, but it was her earlier work that kept her in Tarantino’s mind for a role in one of his movies, with the director explicitly citing Coffy as one of his top two favorite blaxploitation films (with The Mack). When a part in Pulp Fiction did not turn out (see chapter 18), Tarantino rewrote the white female protagonist in Elmore Leonard’s Rum Punch to become Jackie Brown in order to cast Grier in the lead.
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					Coffy (1973) was the breakout role for Pam Grier, leading to a number of leading roles in films with titles bearing her character’s name, hence leading to Jackie Brown (1997) when Tarantino decided to adapt Elmore Leonard’s Rum Punch into a starring vehicle for Grier.

                    Courtesy of Wrong Side of the Arts

				

			

			Rolling Thunder (1977)

			Directed by John Flynn and written by Paul Schrader (Taxi Driver) and Heywood Gould (Fort Apache the Bronx, which featured Pam Grier), Rolling Thunder is another revenge film favored by Tarantino. (At this point, note how many of the films listed in this chapter have to do with the central characters’ revenge against violent actions; even The Killing features Elisha Cook Jr. shooting his wife in retribution for robbing him and leaving him for dead.) The plot deals with a returning prisoner of war from Vietnam, Rene (played by William Devane), who is patronized by officials and flag-waving masses but given little to hold onto upon returning to his hometown. His wife is engaged to another man and set to leave him; his son, raised in his absence, doesn’t know him; his trauma from seven years in a POW camp leaves him to suffer without any compassion from the townspeople.

			In Rolling Thunder, goons (including one played by James Best, who ran the acting school where Tarantino studied) eventually arrive at his house to steal from him, killing Rene’s wife and son in the process and leaving him for dead after destroying his hand in a garbage disposal. Pushed past the breaking point, Rene uses a sawed-off shotgun and his prosthetic arm against the men as he hunts them down one by one.

			The film was controversial upon release; not only for its violence, but for what some conservatives saw as Hollywood demonstrating its liberal bias by having a Vietnam veteran going on a rampage upon returning to America. This, of course, demonstrates a complete lack of understanding of the film, as the audience is supposed to be sympathetic to Rene’s actions, rather than view him as a monster.

			Tarantino saw the movie upon release and became a big fan, often referring to it as one of his personal favorites. He would later name his distribution company Rolling Thunder in dedication to the film.
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					The 1977 revenge film Rolling Thunder (1977) had such a huge impact on Tarantino that he would later name his film distribution company after it.

					 Courtesy of Wrong Side of the Arts

				

			

		  City on Fire (1987)

			Well, it was bound to come up one way or another.

			Hong Kong director Ringo Lam had been directing movies for a time when he worked on this 1987 crime film, starring Chow Yun-fat as a cop who is being pressured to infiltrate a gang of jewel thieves. As an undercover officer, he has to deal with both sides of the law without blowing his cover (including a ruthless officer who will stop at nothing to destroy the gang), guilt over the death of a “friend” from a previous sting operation, and also facing problems in his home life. The only person who really seems to befriend him at this low point in his life is one of the jewel thieves (Danny Lee), and the cop begins to feel conflicted about having to betray those around him, even though “police have to catch the thief.”

			In what could be seen as a disservice to Lam’s film, the only thing people seem to ever discuss is the climax involving a heist at a jewelry store that goes horribly wrong. One of the robbers shoots a young woman after she sets off an alarm, while the cops are waiting outside to nab the gang. Because of the chaos after the shooting, the gang members—as a team—go out guns a-blazing. Cops are shot through the windows of a vehicle, while Chow’s character takes a gut shot and shoots a cop to help his fellow gang members escape.

			The gang members that survive arrive back at a warehouse with the police in hot pursuit. The leader accuses Chow’s character of being a cop, only for Lee’s character to defend him. Guns are briefly drawn, but when another member announces that the cops have the place surrounded, the stalemate is quickly forgotten.

			Soon the police arrive and start shooting, with the gang members easily outnumbered. The leader, in a panic, shoots one of the other members, and both the cop and his friend return fire, killing the leader. Knowing the battle is over, Chow’s character admits he is a cop and then dies of his wounds, leaving Lee’s character to be taken away by the police in silence as the film ends.

			From reading this, it is easy to see where elements of Tarantino’s Reservoir Dogs came from; you don’t even have to see the film, it’s that easy to spot. Still, it wasn’t until 1994 and an article in the British magazine Empire, written by Jeff Dawson (who would go on to write one of the better biographies about Tarantino, Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool), that news of the similarities spread around the globe, and were gleefully reported by those who had their own issues with Tarantino.

			Yet, as also pointed out by Dawson, to say the two are the same, or that Tarantino merely ripped off Ringo Lam’s film is not accurate. The two films may share some plotting, but they share variations of that same plotting with a number of other crime movies from over the years: a perfectly planned heist gone wrong (The Killing, The Asphalt Jungle) involving an undercover cop that makes friends with a leader of the robbers (White Heat, Point Break) and leads to a Mexican Standoff (99 percent of every spaghetti western and Hong Kong gun-fu movie ever made). Even the criminals being costumed the same is more of a continuation of a theme from earlier films where robbers were dressed well for their crimes than anything suggesting that Tarantino was thinking “Oh, okay, dark suits and skinny ties; I steal that!” One could even say that Tarantino’s style of dress in the footage from My Best Friend’s Birthday helped form the look for Reservoir Dogs, and thus may not have been inspired by City on Fire.

			There’s a short film by Mike White called Who Do You Think You’re Fooling? that attempts to draw out the comparisons in what today would be considered a mash-up of the two films. Yet, when you sit the two films side by side, it becomes clear that they are very dissimilar. The heist is only in the last third of City on Fire and is a simple robbery that deteriorates into an all-out war in the nighttime streets between the gang and the cops, while in Reservoir Dogs the heist is a major operation that is over before the movie really beings and results in a handful of cops chasing robbers down streets in broad daylight. There’s an assumption by the boss that Chow’s character is a cop, but that’s strictly paranoia and is quickly brushed aside in City on Fire, unlike in Reservoir Dogs, where Joe is clear on who is the rat. The first two-thirds of City on Fire is about Chow’s characters struggling with the requirement of his job to be both a criminal and a cop, which is never an issue for Tim Roth’s character in Reservoir Dogs (until the last couple of minutes of the movie, that is). There’s a gun battle between the cops and the criminals at the warehouse in City on Fire, which certainly isn’t there in Reservoir Dogs.

			Most specifically, the infamous Mexican Standoff comparison is rather weak, as it’s over before it really begins in City on Fire, with no one getting hurt, while it’s the catalyst to the ending in Reservoir Dogs and a bloodbath. It is also an element that Tarantino was the most adamant about as being his own, as he told Erik Bauer in 1998: “I get really annoyed with people saying that I ripped off the Mexican Standoff. Open Road was like that way before I even knew who John Woo was [sic]. It had a Mexican Standoff scene. True Romance has a Mexican Standoff scene. I wrote that like in 1985 or 1986 way before I had seen A Better Tomorrow or anything.”

			In other words, there are likenesses, but not enough that one can truthfully say, “Oh, Tarantino ripped this whole movie off.” Even the camera shots (which some critics swear were lifted shot for shot) are dissimilar. True, the plotting of the climax from City on Fire is very close to that of Tarantino’s film, yet even there, Tarantino goes off in his own direction and isn’t merely following Ringo Lam’s playbook.

			The biggest argument in favor of the critics in this battle has been, “If Tarantino had just admitted he borrowed from City on Fire first thing, then we wouldn’t have a problem.” But Tarantino was rather quick in making such an acknowledgment (although some interviews about the subject were directed towards John Woo more than Ringo Lam), as well as mentioning other films that directed his thinking when writing the script, such as The Killing and The Taking of Pelham One Two Three. The problem was when he finally did mention City on Fire in public, he didn’t do so in quite the spirit that would have been most helpful.

			It was his statement at Cannes in 1994, when the topic came up again, that Tarantino made his most famous, or infamous, statement about the situation: “I love City on Fire and I have the poster for it framed in my house. It’s a great movie. I steal from every movie. I steal from every single movie ever made. I love it. If my work has anything it’s that I’m taking this from this and that from that and mixing them together and if people don’t like them, then tough titty, don’t go and see it, alright. I steal from everything. Great artists steal, they don’t do homages.”

			It was a flip comment that was meant to shut down those who had begun hounding him over something that he saw as not really being the whole story. Obviously, some were salivating for Tarantino to break down in tears and admit his guilt before sticking a gun in his mouth and pulling the trigger—the hysterical grandstanding by his accusers was becoming that outrageous—so this was his way to get them off his back and not give them what they wanted. It was as if he were saying, “Okay, you want to believe I steal? I steal. You got me. Now what?” And for many, it did do the job in resolving the issue so everyone could move on. Obviously City on Fire was an influence—Tarantino has acknowledged that—but it is clear that it was more of a jumping-off point than the rip-off some tried to make it out to be.

			Yet, in some ways Tarantino’s outburst was mere reinforcement for the distractors who wanted to “prove” that “the guy from the video store” had to “cheat” to make a movie. Now they had him saying that he stole, and from that point on nothing was safe from being dissected and “proven” as another case of Tarantino plagiarizing. It also began the whole game for the general public, and certainly the critics, of guessing Tarantino’s references in his movies, and Tarantino’s frustrations that people were paying more attention to so-called references—even when they weren’t there—than to the stories he wants to tell.

			Which leads us right back to where we started from at the beginning of this chapter.
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Royale with Cheese

			The Product Placement of Tarantino

			One thing in Natural Born Killers that Tarantino would have frowned upon from the start is the very thing the filmmakers thought they were being so wicked in getting away with—the Coca-Cola product placement. To Tarantino, such an apparent company agreement between the filmmakers and Coca-Cola would have been vetoed on the spot.

			But that’s what product placement is all about—agreements with companies for use of their products within a film. In some cases, it is done to give a movie the sense of realism—it has to be the Goodyear Blimp Bruce Dern is steering into the Super Bowl in Black Sunday (1977) because what other blimp can it be? In other cases, it’s the punch line for a joke—James Cagney as the Coca-Cola representative in One, Two, Three (1961) goes to get a Coke out of a vending machine and ends up with a Pepsi instead. Yet, for the most part, it’s done in order to get free stuff or a cash injection into a film—for example, E.T. eats Reese’s Pieces because Hersey’s put a lot of money into having their new candy featured.

			For a time it was simply an extension of television programs to help sell products by showing the characters of the show smoking, drinking, or eating said product. See Lucy and Ricky smoking Philip Morris; Steve McQueen dragging on a coffin nail from Viceroy; and the Monkees driving out to the dunes to eat Kellogg’s (well, at least one product is a bit healthier). However, such cases were clearly ads within the programs and not a case of endorsement for products within the plots of the shows.

			Then product placement sneaked into the movies. Oh, it was there in some ways since the early days, but usually for a style of car for James Bond, and not that intrusive. Hope and Crosby had Lime Cola signs appearing in Road to Rio due to being investors in the company (it didn’t do any good; the company went bankrupt within a year). Harpo has an extended scene with a bunch of billboards for various products in Love Happy because they needed the money to finish the film (and even though it was done in a clever way, many critics took the movie to task over the scene). Then it became more evident with boxes for food items being front and center on kitchen tables in scenes. Once Cheerios got its own credit in Superman: The Movie (1978), the gates were pretty wide open for everyone to do it.

			The problem is that the audience today is so aware of this scheme that when it is spotted and not joked about (as was done in Wayne’s World), it can throw people out of the movie they’re watching. While the Coca-Cola references in Natural Born Killers are supposed to be ironic, it will still make a percentage of the viewers think, “Wow, how did they get Coca-Cola to agree to that?” It runs the risk of interrupting the illusion of the story for the audience because they start thinking about the making of the film instead of investing in the characters. Sometimes it even ruin a film for viewers.

			Thus, Tarantino tends to avoid real product placement in his films because it is so obvious nowadays and runs the risk of stopping the movie cold for the audience. Sure, there’s the “Royale with Cheese” bit in Pulp Fiction, but that’s a case where we’re supposed to accompany the two characters in their discussion about something rather trivial; something any of us would possibly discuss, but not right before going into an apartment and shooting a number of people. It wasn’t like Jules and Vincent went into McDonald’s and ordered a Big Mac and then went into the conversation; it was conversation for no other reason than to kill time.

			There is also another reason for the fake product placement—Tarantino found early on in his career that he couldn’t get companies to do much product placement in his movies. Attempts to get Denny’s involved in his first two films went nowhere, for example. After that, he decided it was easier and more creative to make up products for use than to worry about some company somewhere backing out at the last minute when shooting a film.

			Over the course of his films there have been a number of places and products that repeatedly turn up in Tarantino’s films that do not exist in reality. There is no Jackrabbit Slim’s, no Red Apple Cigarettes, and no G.O. Juice. And if Tarantino has anything to say about it, that’s how they’re going to remain—only within the fantasy world of the movies. 

			K-Billy

			First Appearance: My Best Friend’s Birthday

			Other Appearances: Reservoir Dogs

			Background: K-Billy is the radio station Clarence and Mickey were DJs at before they got fired due to an on-air incident where Clarence snorted itching powder and had a fit. The station turns up again in Reservoir Dogs as the radio station discussed in the opening scene of the movie and later on when Mr. Blonde decides to do a little work on the police officer while K-Billy’s weekend programming of Super Sounds of the ’70s is playing “Stuck in the Middle with You” by Stealers Wheel.

			What Is Known: K-Billy appears to be a small radio station geared towards popular rock music programming, but allowing their DJs to play more of what they want rather than stick with a list (or else Clarence would have been history long before he is seen telling people off as to what songs he will play on his show, as seen in My Best Friend’s Birthday). The style of programming is more suggestive of college radio or the type of “album rock” format that was popular in the 1970s and early 1980s rather than the style commonly heard on commercial radio in the 1990s. Evidently the station manager knows what people want, as certainly it is popular enough for a topic around the restaurant table . . . with a bunch of white guys that don’t really fit the demographics most radio stations looked for back then or today. Maybe that’s why we don’t hear more about K-Billy after Reservoir Dogs. Probably sold and turned into an all-talk format by the late 1990s. Maybe Mr. Pink has his own conservative radio show there now, telling us why the minimum wage shouldn’t be raised.

			Jackrabbit Slim’s

			First Appearance: Reservoir Dogs

			Other Appearances: Pulp Fiction

			Background: A radio ad for Jackrabbit Slim’s is heard in Reservoir Dogs on K-Billy right after Mr. Orange shoots Mr. Blonde. There’s another radio ad for the place in Pulp Fiction when Butch sneaks the back way to his apartment for his watch. Earlier in Pulp Fiction, we get to actually see the “wax museum with a pulse” when Vincent takes Mia out for dinner.

			At a panel discussion about the movie in May 2008 for the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences, Tarantino admitted that Harvey Weinstein of Miramax had considered opening up a chain of real Jackrabbit Slim’s after the movie became so popular. Tarantino managed to talk him out of it, as the whole point was that Jackrabbit Slim’s was a parody of such places that were popping up around the country at the time.

			What Is Known: What have we learned twenty years after Pulp Fiction? That sadly you have to pay close to five bucks for a decent milkshake these days.
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					Mia and Vincent dance up a storm at Jackrabbit Slim’s in Pulp Fiction (1994)—a parody of theme restaurants by Tarantino that went over so well, it nearly ended up becoming a reality. 

				

			

			Jackrabbit Slim’s—sometimes listed in resources as “Jack Rabbit Slim’s,” but the script and captioning in the movie has Jackrabbit as one word—obviously was hopping in the early 1990s, with a lot of people ready to pay high prices for traditional burgers and fries. The era for ‘50s-style restaurants was more of a 1980s thing like the long-remembered G D Ritzy’s chain out of Ohio, or several that fashioned themselves after the diner in the Happy Days television series (such as the Mel’s chain). What Tarantino did was take that phenomenon and twist it around the big theme-park-like restaurants that were a huge deal in the 1990s, such as the Hard Rock Café and Planet Hollywood. As in those cases, Jackrabbit Slim’s is a chain of restaurants (the radio ad heard in Pulp Fiction advises listeners to “visit the nearest one near you!”) selling diner food for three or four times the price, which people were willing to pay in order to see the museum-like items on the walls and other places in the building. The only difference was that he had the museum pieces be the waitstaff rather than an assortment of ’50s memorabilia on the walls. (Besides the movie posters, of course. Then again, it wouldn’t be fun to eat in truthful representation of the 1950s; what with the “Whites Only” signs, uninterrupted showings of the House Un-American Activities Committee sessions, and eating out of cans in your very own bomb shelter. But enough about remembering the real 1950s.)

			Give Jackrabbit Slim’s credit—they may have made the place a bit excruciating with the waitstaff having to dress up and pretend to be various stars of the 1950s, but they also had some pretty cool places to eat your overpriced hamburger, what with the cars turned into tables. They also featured a large dance floor in the middle of the place, which was probably used for private parties and various musical showcases (like the Ricky Nelson lookalike doing “Waitin’ in School” while Vincent is scouting out the place in Pulp Fiction). Full of giant movie posters, slot cars, neon, and (some occasionally grumpy) lookalikes serving food, Jackrabbit Slim’s would have been the kind of place that obtained a short spurt of popularity before people moved on to the next big thing. Nowadays, it’s probably a sports bar, like every other restaurant around.

			But hey, according to the menu, they serve chicken on the bone! I’d kill for a regular restaurant that served chicken on the bone anymore. It’s all fingers and wings now. But that kind of money for what is listed on the menu as a quarter chicken? C’mon, at least give us a half-chicken for that price.

			Um . . . moving along . . . .

			Red Apple Cigarettes

			First Appearance: Pulp Fiction

			Other Appearances: Four Rooms, From Dusk Till Dawn, Kill Bill, Inglourious Basterds, and Django Unchained. Also in Robert Rodriguez’s Planet Terror from the Grindhouse double feature, and in Romy and Michele’s High School Reunion (1997), featuring Mira Sorvino, who dated Tarantino for a time in the 1990s.

			Background: Although commonly listed as also appearing in Reservoir Dogs, Pink and White discussed a pack of Chesterfields in the movie and not Red Apple. Chesterfields also turn up in True Romance, and it is clear that Red Apple is supposed to be a brand very similar in style to Chesterfields. Chesterfields was very popular in the middle twentieth century, but now is usually sold only in the overseas market and is not as well known today as various other brands, but still popular amongst a hip, nostalgic crowd because it’s not a brand commonly pulled out by most Americans these days.

			Red Apple also is clearly fashioned after a variety of low-price brands that have flooded the market over the years thanks to the high cost of a carton or even a pack of cigarettes these days, and the drawing is the type of off-brand “we’re cool” caricature that goes over on such brands. Both Pumpkin and Mia pull out cigarettes from Red Apple packs during Pulp Fiction, and Butch asks for a pack at the bar (Mia doesn’t have that brand with her on the poster for the movie, however). A pack is next to the Big Kahuna Burgers cup on the table in Four Rooms. Richie is smoking Red Apple while in the car in From Dusk Till Dawn. Kiddo goes by a billboard advertising Red Apple when arriving in Japan in Kill Bill. They can be seen on display in Inglourious Basterds in the basement tavern where the Nazis are playing games. Django makes a cigarette from a pouch of Red Apple (or something very similar; the packaging is hard to read) in the club scene where he is asked about his name in Django Unchained (a painted sign on the wall of a building in Chattanooga also appears to be advertising Red Apple tobacco). At the BBQ joint in Planet Terror, a package of Red Apple is seen, and a poster for the brand appears in the background of one scene in Romy and Michele’s High School Reunion.
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				As Honey Bunny (Amanda Plummer) and Pumpkin (Tim Roth) get ready to stage their robbery in Pulp Fiction, one can see the Red Apple cigarette package on the table. Red Apple will become a favorite brand of many characters in Tarantino’s films, even though it doesn’t exist. 

			

		

			What Is Known: Django is seen using a pouch of Red Apple, so the brand has been around that long. Seems to be a popular brand that is internationally sold, and available even during World War II in Germany. (Perhaps contraband? Doubtful that the Red Apple company was working for the Nazis at that point in World War II.) Kim asks for Red Apple Tan in Death Proof, but it appears the regular cigarettes are the main ones for everyone in the Tarantino Universe(s).

			Big Kahuna Burgers

			First Appearance: Reservoir Dogs

			Other Appearances: Pulp Fiction, Four Rooms, From Dusk Till Dawn, Death Proof. Also appears in the From Dusk Till Dawn television series and The Adventures of Sharkboy and Lavagirl in 3-D, both connected with Tarantino collaborator Robert Rodriguez.

			Background: The logo seen in Pulp Fiction—created by Jerry Martinez, an old Video Archives employee; shows a surfer standing in front of the burger as if planning to surf it. Big Kahuna is also a surfer character from Gidget, and the name is used in the Beach Party film series out of American International. As can be guessed, Kahuna is a Hawaiian word, and it can refer to someone who is a powerful wizard or medicine man, although it is also used to designate someone who is an expert in any given field.

			The name of the place first turns up in Reservoir Dogs on the cup Mr. Blonde is drinking from when he wants to know if a certain doggie is going to bark all day. Its most pivotal role came in Pulp Fiction, when Jules asks if he can have a bite of Brett’s breakfast burger, which he declares is one “tasty burger” before the shooting starts. There’s a soft drink cup from the place on a table during “The Man from Hollywood” segment in Four Rooms. Seth goes to get some Big Kahuna burgers, irresponsibly leaving Richie with the hostage in From Dusk Till Dawn. Stuntman Mike mentions seeing a “Jungle Julia” billboard over by a Big Kahuna Burger place in Death Proof.

			What Is Known: As Brett is eating Big Kahuna for breakfast, Big Kahuna appears to be open 24 hours a day and serving burgers in the morning instead of having a breakfast menu. At least in the “Realer Than Real” Los Angeles area of the early 1990s; a fake advertisement for the joint for the television series From Dusk Till Dawn has it opening at 11:00 a.m. and closing at midnight. (According to Vincent it’s 7:22 a.m. when they are about to make their entrance in Brett’s place, so it’s definitely a morning burger.)

			With a name suggesting something Hawaiian, the burgers are probably seasoned to give them a unique “Hawaiian” flavor (or such bull to fool the haoles buying). Although the bun doesn’t quite look right in Pulp Fiction, the meat is probably served on a Hawaiian sweet roll (maybe you can request a different type of bun if you’re not into it). There’s a suggestion in the From Dusk Till Dawn fake ad that the burger has bacon and grilled pineapples on it, but the burger Jules takes a bite out of doesn’t appear to have either (which is good because Jules doesn’t eat pork). Then again, Brett simply says they are cheeseburgers, so he may have wanted to keep it simple anyway (well, it is first thing in the morning). It’s popular enough to create a franchise that goes as far East as Texas, yet are their burgers any good? Jules’ testimony would suggest so, but he could have simply been “in character.”

			Teriyaki Donut

			First Appearance: Pulp Fiction

			Other Appearances: Jackie Brown

			Background: A rather odd twist in products here—it appears to be a donut shop that also caters in Japanese food. The most ironic thing about it is that most audience members can name stores in real life that seem to have done good business over the years being a mix of two vastly different products. Marsellus is taking a tray of drinks and food from Teriyaki Donut) when he is hit by the car Butch is driving (probably for him and Vincent; boy, his face will be red if he went to get donuts and there was that box of toaster pastries in the cupboard all along). Jackie orders from the place at least twice while in the mall’s food court in Jackie Brown, and it appears she ordered food that was more lunch oriented than donuts.

			What Is Known: Not much more than what can be seen on the screen. Definitely Teriyaki Donut serves more than donuts (in fact, we never see anyone actually eating a donut from the place in Tarantino’s films). It is also big enough for a small chain if they have a spot in the food court at a mall.
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					Teriyaki Donuts first popped up in Pulp Fiction, and by the time of Jackie Brown would have its own spot in the food court of the mall, as this on-the-set photo shows. One never sees anyone actually eating a donut from this place, however.

                    Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

			G.O. Juice

			First Appearance: Kill Bill

			Other Appearances: Death Proof

			Background: Seen on a billboard in Kill Bill as Kiddo ventures into Japan. Sold in a convenience store in Austin, Texas, in Death Proof.

			What Is Known: Tarantino has stated that G.O. Juice is an energy drink from Japan, and the Japanese writing on the can appearing in Death Proof pretty much confirms that. If it’s sold in a convenience store in Austin with such labeling on it, it’s no doubt a big item with kids and truckers who want to stay awake. The women in Death Proof make a point of getting sugar-free G.L. Juice, so both variations must be available. A mixture of orange and grape flavors—which is why the lettering on the can is pink, as the drink is pink from the combination—the caffeine and high amounts of sugar/artificial sweeteners give the drink a strong burning sensation in the back of the throat if guzzled quickly, which the kids do on a dare to see if they can take it. Popular with kids who want to know what a stiff drink is like and stay awake all night, while avoiding the wrath of their parents.

			If that’s not what the drink really is, it should be.

			Acuna Boys Tex-Mex Food

			First Appearance: Jackie Brown

			Other Appearances: Death Proof. Also seen in a fake ad during the intermission of Grindhouse.

			Background: The Acuna Boys is the gang in the film Rolling Thunder, which Tarantino has always stated is one of his favorite films. In the scene where Jackie sits with the girl in the food court of the mall, the girl has a tray with food from Acuna Boys Authentic Tex-Mex. Arlene is seen in Death Proof drinking from one of their soft-drink cups.

			What Is Known: Doing well enough to be available from Texas to California, so although the ad in Grindhouse makes it appear to be a small business, it is bigger than that (or perhaps grew since the days when the ad first appeared in the theaters). Ad makes it appear to be a traditional Tex-Mex menu—full of standard Mexican food items, along with a variety of burgers and such. It doesn’t look that appetizing in the ad seen in Grindhouse, but that’s the joke—such ads always looked rather nauseating once they’ve been run through the projectors about 85,000 times.

			Other Brands Briefly Seen:

			Tenku Brand Beer: Beer sold in Japan in Kill Bill.

			Old Chattanooga Lager: Beer from Tennessee; a truck with the brand’s logo appears in the shopping scene from Death Proof.

			Capitol W. Lights: Cigarette brand Arlene smokes in Death Proof.

			Oak Ridge Coffee: Coffee brand seen in Death Proof.

			Fruit Brute: A real brand that was sold in the 1970s as part of General Mills’ brand of monster-influenced cereal brands, like Booberry and Count Chocula. General Mills stopped production of Fruit Brute in 1982, so it appearing in the 1990s in Tarantino’s films obviously made it in a sense a fake brand (or at least a homage). General Mills produced it again for Halloween in 2013, and may again in the future, depending on sales. It can be seen in Mr. Orange’s apartment in Reservoir Dogs and next to Lance in Pulp Fiction right before he gets the call from Vincent about Mia OD’ing.

			And speaking of Pulp Fiction . . .
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Let’s Get into Character

			The Making of Pulp Fiction

			Release Date: September 23, 1994, by Miramax Films

			There’s a retroactive history dealing with Tarantino that suggests Reservoir Dogs was deemed an “okay” movie and that no one was quite that interested in Tarantino, even as the film began to collect awards and pop up at all the big festivals in the world. True, the film was looking to go beyond “breaking even” and only make a little bit of cash for everyone, yet even that was a remarkable idea for an independent film in the early 1990s. Art films were supposed to come and go and be appreciated by “stuffy” people, with only a rare few breaking out of the pack and being seen as important in Hollywood. Unless you were David Lean (Lawrence of Arabia) or Stanley Kubrick (2001), that wasn’t going to happen.

			But, like it or not, it was happening to the man who made Reservoir Dogs, and people were looking at him as someone that may have at least another profitable movie in him. The question was, where would the next script come from? As it turned out, the genesis of Pulp Fiction would lead to a disintegration of Tarantino’s relationship with his writing collaborator Roger Avary as the price for making the film that cemented Tarantino’s reputation in Hollywood.

			Production

			There were no tears back in 1989 when The Open Road was being torn apart to make up the scripts for True Romance and Natural Born Killers. Roger Avary and Quentin Tarantino were already sizing up slices of meat from that script to put into other projects, in particular one that Tarantino saw as a possible way to get some financial backing: creating one short film that could interest financiers. “I was trying to imagine how to make a film without money, so I thought of a short I’d be able to show at festivals that could be a kind of calling card,” Tarantino told Ciment and Niogret in 1994. The idea then expanded to making a second story and then a third over time in order to pull them together as an anthology film. “That’s pretty much what Jim Jarmusch did with Stranger Than Paradise [1984],” Tarantino said to Ciment and Niogret, “showing one part at one festival, then getting the financial backing to do the second, etc.”

			Tarantino went back to a crime fiction magazine that lasted from 1920 through 1951, Black Mask. Black Mask featured a number of short stories and serialized novels from such authors Dashiell Hammett, Raymond Chandler, and Erle Stanley Gardner, making it legendary amongst mystery novel readers. It also was one of the many “pulp” magazines available, which sometimes were geared towards the lower end of the reader spectrum, with lurid covers of damsels in distress and tough guys with guns a-blazing. In other words, what kid reading fiction would want to pass it up?
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					The original U.S. poster for Pulp Fiction (1994)—a tribute to pulp fiction novel covers of the past and an iconic image in its own right.

				

			

			Tarantino thought the idea of multiple stories told within the framework of an anthology film based on the type of crime fiction found in Black Mask would work, and went to Avary to discuss what stories could be told. The main thing Tarantino and Avary saw for the films within a film was that they should all deal with cliché plots of such stories, but then add a twist of some sort. The mob enforcer that falls for the boss’ wife, the fighter who refused to throw a boxing match, a failed robbery. All under the title of Black Mask.

			Tarantino came up with the script for the first film, which would eventually become the story line used in Pulp Fiction for Vincent and Mia. Avary worked on a script for the second story, about a boxer who is supposed to throw a fight. Then the pair began hunting for a third person to jump in to write the third, about a robbery. When no one showed any interest, Tarantino began work on it himself. Eventually, as with The Open Road, the pair grew tired of the project and once again took the knife to their scripts and went off to do their own thing. Tarantino would expand his robbery script to become Reservoir Dogs, while Avary would turn his boxing story into one called Pandemonium Reigns.

			Then the happy fallout of Reservoir Dogs’ success hit. At the time, Tarantino was dating a woman named Stacey Sher, who had introduced Tarantino to Tony Scott (see chapter 5). Sher also was an employee of Jersey Films, a company started with actor Danny DeVito that was interested in Tarantino and thus easily worked with the company to get Tarantino a deal (some say a million, some around $900,000) for his next script, with TriStar set to make the film once they’d seen the script. (Sher would be named an executive producer on the film for this, as well as working as a producer on Tarantino’s 2012 film Django Unchained.) With the front money of that paycheck, Tarantino then headed off to Amsterdam to work on the material.

			It was in Amsterdam that he decided to go back to the original concept of the Black Mask script, starting with the story about the enforcer and the mob boss’ wife. Around the same time, Avary had shown Tarantino his Pandemonium Reigned script, and Tarantino was intrigued at the idea of adding it back into his new film. Not everything, actually, just the general concept of the fighter, his girlfriend, and the gold watch, as well as the bizarre pawnshop sequence that leads to an anal rape. Tarantino’s attitude was, “I want to adapt this into my script.” Avary, needing money, was willing to sell the script to Tarantino for $25,000, whereupon Tarantino reworked the material to fit into the structure of his script. “There are a bunch of ideas that belong to [Avary],” Tarantino told Ciment and Niogret. “The hillbillies, the pawnbroker. He had invented the watch, for example, but I had to make up the history of this watch. I also made Fabienne into a French woman.” Down the line, Tarantino would state that the only dialogue that was solely Avary’s was an exchange between Butch and Fabienne in their hotel bathroom. Everything else, Tarantino said, came from him in terms of dialogue.

			As it turns out, the two old friends would then end up fighting over credits for writing in the film, with Avary wanting a joint “written by” credit for the two of them instead of a joint “story by” credit. Avary’s take was that there was more of his work in the script than the one segment, while Tarantino’s take was that only the one segment really was Avary’s alone, and that by getting a “story by” credit people would assume he did more than if the credits had to be broken down to show the one segment cowritten by the two and the rest by Tarantino alone. Many assumed that it simply had to do with Tarantino wanting to be able to say “Written and Directed by Quentin Tarantino” at the end of the credits, and Avary’s position was spoiling that chance. Either way, they eventually worked out a deal where Avary got a “story by” credit, the two ended up getting an Oscar (along with many other awards) for the screenplay, and then drifted apart as friends and cowriters.

			In the end, all the accusations that came out after Pulp Fiction became a blockbuster about what parts were Avary’s and what were Tarantino’s helped perpetuate the idea that Tarantino couldn’t write—that all he could do was take someone else’s material and present it as his own. It didn’t benefit Avary much either; he became weighed down by this albatross of being “Quentin’s acolyte, or protégé, or whatever,” as he told Manohla Dargis in 1994 (“Clerk Makes Good [the Sequel]?” Village Voice, September 6, 1994). “Quentin and I were two video store guys who’d bumped into each other and realized we were soul mates, and then, when we realized both of us were writing and trying to get movies made, we became best friends.” Avary wanted recognition for what he had done, but instead to some became Tarantino’s “power behind the throne,” which did little to help him stand out on his own as a writer and director thereafter.
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					Harvey Keitel returns in Tarantino’s second film, albeit in a smaller role as Winston “The Wolf” Wolf. The film also featured Tarantino playing Jimmie, a role he originally offered to Eric Stoltz.

				

			

			The two would later reconcile a little bit, and Tarantino would go so far as to help promote Avary’s Killing Zoe by attaching his name to it at a time when “everyone wants to be attached to a Tarantino movie.” As Avary told the Village Voice in a 1994 article in support of the movie, “It was different then than it is now that we’re two up-and-coming filmmakers who have agents, attorneys, and all that crap. Things have changed, but that’s not bad.” Still, the two would never be on the friendly terms again that they were back in Amsterdam and before.

			With a first draft completed, Tarantino had yet another 500-page script on his hands. He whittled that down to 200 pages and sent the script, now called Pulp Fiction, back to Jersey Films and TriStar in the first part of 1993. The script included bits and pieces of things that were riffs off of other things that jumped out at Tarantino as he wrote, such as the Ezekiel passage from the Bible actually being a slight rewrite of a quote from the Sonny Chiba film The Bodyguard (1976), and Winston Wolf being like the cleaner played by Jean Reno in Nikita (1990; Harvey Keitel would play Reno’s role in the American remake of Nikita in 1993, Point of No Return).

			The script was full of everything that makes Pulp Fiction memorable, the violence, the drug use, the weird time-jumps, and if Jersey Films was a bit worried, TriStar was having a heart attack. Calling in Tarantino to discuss the script, TriStar was concerned mostly about Vincent shooting up heroin a third of the way into the film. Tarantino tried to assure them that it would work, even be funny in a way, but TriStar couldn’t see it and was adamant that they would not make the movie as is. Tarantino’s reaction was that if they weren’t interested, he would find someone that was, rather than have a script sit on file at the studio and never be made.

			New Line looked at the script, but they too backed away due to the amount of violence and the drug use in the script. Instead, Miramax came to the rescue again. Tarantino then made a list of demands—a term sheet—which Miramax was all set to agree to, except one—that of hiring John Travolta for the film. Tarantino thought he would be good in the role of Vincent, once Michael Madsen turned out to be unavailable to play the brother of his Vic Vega character from Reservoir Dogs, especially as Tarantino thought Travolta had the chops—and proved it with his role in Brian De Palma’s Blow Out (1981)—but was stuck in second-rate comedies. Tarantino refused to sign the deal with Miramax until Travolta was in, and Miramax blinked (to their good fortune).

			The rest of the casting came together fairly quickly, and filming began on September 20, 1993, and continued until November 30 of the same year. Andrzej Sekula returned from Reservoir Dogs to do the cinematography, while Sally Menke for editing, David Wasco for production design, Sandy Reynolds-Wasco for set decorations, and Betsy Heimann for costumes were all back as well. Charles Collum, who had come off of filming Roger Avary’s Killing Zoe was added for art direction, and Russell Vossler did some character art for the film.

			At the time, Miramax came close to releasing the film in August 1994, but then it was decided to push the film back to September, with the official reason being “in hopes of getting a stronger adult audience for the film,” but most agree that no one wanted it to end up competing with the Tarantino-related Natural Born Killers, which came out in August that year. Even so, it would first burst onto the scene in May 1994 when it premiered at Cannes, although the response was not quite the same glowing love as occurred with Reservoir Dogs two years before.

			Cast

			John Travolta as Vincent Vega

			Travolta had started out his film career as a Satanist with one line of dialogue that was dubbed by someone else in The Devil’s Rain (1975), but his television work on Welcome Back, Kotter (1975–1979) and The Boy in the Plastic Bubble (1976), along with a strong role in Brian De Palma’s Carrie (1976), led to him moving up the ranks to star as Tony in Saturday Night Fever (1977), for which he was nominated for a Best Actor Oscar. That role led to Grease (1978), and by then everyone had come on board in wanting to see the rising star sink as quickly as possible (well, it certainly felt that way in retrospect). Moment by Moment (1978) with Lily Tomlin was a misfire that helped derail Travolta’s career, and even with the success of Urban Cowboy in 1980, he soon found himself trying to get back on the bull with reminders of the past (Staying Alive, a sequel to Saturday Night Fever, and Two of a Kind, a second pairing with Grease’s Olivia Newton-John) and comedies (the Look Who’s Talking series, which did well at the box office). Travolta’s role in Pulp Fiction helped reestablish his career, and even after the bombing of his pet project Battlefield Earth (2000), he has continued to get dramatic roles in a variety of films.
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					Vincent (John Travolta) and Jules (Samuel L. Jackson) as one of the most famous duos in cinematic history. Tarantino fought to hire Travolta for the role of Vincent, while Jackson nearly lost out on playing what many consider to be his breakout role. 

				

			

		  Samuel L. Jackson as Jules Winnfield

			As discussed earlier in the book, Jackson had auditioned for Reservoir Dogs, coming away at the time feeling he was best off not landing the film. He would then turn up in a small role in True Romance before nearly losing out on the role of Jules in Pulp Fiction (see chapter 18 for more details). Jackson already had a solid career playing secondary roles in a number of films by that point, including four films for Spike Lee—School Daze (1988), Do the Right Thing (1989), Mo’ Better Blues (1990), and Jungle Fever (1991)—and a fifth years later with Oldboy (2013) before finally working with Tarantino. (This is why Jackson usually ends up being interviewed when writers decide to discuss the spat between Tarantino and Lee.)

			Pulp Fiction helped to expand Jackson’s career choices, as he began getting bigger lead roles in major films, eventually ending up in the Star Wars prequels. In a rare bit of typecasting, Marvel had been using a likeness of Jackson for the character of Nick Fury in their Marvel Ultimate comics (a more adult-oriented version of the traditional Marvel characters), and Jackson signed on to play the role in the movie series. Besides other films, Jackson has worked on every Tarantino film since Pulp Fiction in some capacity.

			Uma Thurman as Mia Wallace

			Thurman had appeared in a handful of films, including starring in Kiss Daddy Good Night (1987) with Steve Buscemi, when she was noted in Stephen Frears’ adaptation of Dangerous Liaisons in 1988. She also had a pivotal role in Terry Gilliam’s The Adventures of Baron Munchausen that same year. She was already appearing in leading roles by the time she got Pulp Fiction, and even with the occasional films that were dismissed by the critics and public (like The Avengers—based on the British television series and not the Marvel comic book—and Batman & Robin), she was continuously working up to and beyond the Kill Bill films in 2003–2004 that she did with Tarantino.

			Bruce Willis as Butch Coolidge

			Willis became a star after costarring in the Moonlighting series (1985–1989), which led to him working in films, typically leaning towards comedies. His starring role in Die Hard (1988) would land him in the role of action hero, but the back-to-back failures of The Bonfires of the Vanities (1990) and Hudson Hawk (1991) slowed his momentum. Pulp Fiction helped push him back into position, and he would go on to find additional success in films such as Armageddon (1998), The Sixth Sense (1999), the cult favorite Unbreakable (2000, costarring Samuel L. Jackson), and the Sin City films.

			Ving Rhames as Marsellus Wallace

			Rhames had an extensive career in secondary roles on television and films before Pulp Fiction. He has moved on to bigger roles in films like the Mission: Impossible series, Dawn of the Dead, and a starring role in the short-lived remake series Kojak (2005).

			Harvey Keitel as Winston “The Wolf” Wolf

			See chapter 4.

			Christopher Walken as Captain Koons

			See chapter 5.

			Tim Roth as Pumpkin

			See Chapter 4.

			Amanda Plummer as Honey Bunny

			The daughter of Christopher Plummer and Tammy Grimes, Amanda Plummer broke through with her performance as the shy woman Robin Williams’ character pursues in Terry Gilliam’s The Fisher King (1991). Tarantino had written the role of Honey Bunny for her after seeing her perform with Tim Roth and thinking how well they worked together. She continues to work in a wide range of roles, including recently popping up as one of the earlier winners of the contest in The Hunger Games: Catching Fire (2013).

			Eric Stoltz as Lance

			The 1985 film Mask was Stoltz’s first starring role, although he came close to starring in the Back to the Future series and had even filmed a portion of the first movie before being replaced with Michael J. Fox. After appearing in a few mainstream films, Stoltz began gearing his career towards more modest independent films, such as Singles (1992) and Bodies, Rest & Motion (1993). Tarantino ran into Stoltz on the streets of New York and offered him the lead in Roger Avary’s Killing Zoe, which led directly to Pulp Fiction and Tarantino appearing in Sleep with Me. Stoltz has bounced around since then in a variety of film and television projects.

			Maria de Medeiros as Fabienne

			Born in Portugal with a French background, de Medeiros has appeared in a number of French films, including Henry & June (1990), the first film to get an NC-17 rating in America and which costarred Uma Thurman as June. She has had a continuing career in foreign films before and since Pulp Fiction.

			Also Appearing

			Frank Whaley as Brett, who had worked with Oliver Stone on JFK and The Doors. Angela Jones as Esmeralda Villalobos, who would go on to star in the Tarantino-produced Curdled. Julia Sweeney as Raquel; better known as Pat from the It’s Pat sketches from Saturday Night Live, and the film of the same name that Tarantino briefly worked as a helpful act for a friend and a nice paycheck. Duane Whitaker as Maynard, the pawnshop owner, who had previously done the film based on his one-person play, Eddie Presley; the film of which featured Tarantino in a small role. And Steve Buscemi nearly unrecognizable as Buddy Holly.

			Sequential Plot

			In 1972, Butch Coolidge meets Captain Koons, a fellow POW of his father’s. Koons gives Butch the gold watch that belongs to his father, his father before him, and his father’s father before him. Koons states that it is something Butch will never understand, but what he had to go through to get the watch to Butch for his father who died in Vietnam was because “you take on certain responsibilities” when you’re with a man in a hellish situation.

			In present-day Los Angeles, Vincent Vega and Jules Winnfield are two enforcers for a local kingpin named Marsellus Wallace. They confiscate a briefcase from a group of young men in an apartment before Jules recites a so-called Bible verse about “the path of the righteous man.” They then kill the ringleader of the men. Immediately after, a man hiding in the bathroom jumps out and shoots at Vincent and Jules, miraculously (for them, not him) missing the two. Vincent is surprised, but figures themselves lucky, while Jules goes into a change in personality, wishing to end his career in return for the “miracle.”

			Discussing the situation in the car, Vincent accidentally blows the head off of the one survivor of the briefcase situation, Marvin. The two go to the home of a friend of Jules’, Jimmie and Marsellus calls in the services of “The Wolf” to dispose of the evidence before Jimmie’s wife, Bonnie, arrives home from work. They do so, but it leaves Jules and Vincent in t-shirts and shorts. They head off to breakfast afterwards, only to arrive right before two criminals—Pumpkin and Honey Bunny—decide to rob the diner where they are eating. Jules decides to try his new way of life there, and in doing so, realizes that the “path of the righteous man” is one that he needs to lead. When the criminals leave, the two head off to return the briefcase to Marsellus.

			At Marsellus’ club, Butch—now grown—is a boxer on his way out, and Marsellus gives him money to take a fall in his final match. Butch takes the money and has some choice words with Vincent at the bar before leaving. Vincent is edgy because he is to take Marsellus’ wife out to dinner the next night. He goes to get heroin from his connection, Lance, then picks up Mia, Marsellus’ wife. After a dinner at a pseudo-1950s diner, Jackrabbit Slim’s, where they win a dance contest, the two hit it off. Vincent, realizing the stupidest thing he could do is make a move on Mia, talks himself out of staying for a drink while in the bathroom. This is just long enough for Mia to find Vincent’s bag of heroin and, thinking it cocaine, OD’ing.
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					Robert (now Alexis) Arquette as “Man #4,” who had the misfortune not only of missing Vincent and Jules at point-blank range, but of being known by many fans as simply “the Seinfeld-looking guy.”
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					Duane Whitaker as Maynard, the owner of the deadly pawnshop in Pulp Fiction. Whittaker had featured Tarantino in a cameo in his film Eddie Presley (1992), and would go on to write the script for the second From Dusk Till Dawn film.

				

			

			Vincent takes Mia to Lance’s, and in a panic they manage to revive her with a shot of adrenaline to the heart. Vincent takes Mia home, and they agree to never tell Marsellus about what happened. In the process, however, they gain a friendship between them.

			The night of the fight, Butch refuses to take a fall and instead wins the fight and kills the other boxer in the process. He eludes Marsellus and his men, arriving at a hotel and his girlfriend Fabienne. She packed everything for them to take on a train ride to Knoxville in order to pick up money made with a bookie on the match, but she forgot his gold watch. He is livid, but doesn’t take it out on her, knowing it is his own fault the watch was left behind. He goes back to get it and, while in his apartment, kills Vincent.

			Leaving in Fabienne’s car, Butch runs into Marsellus. Literally. On the street, as Marsellus is returning to the apartment with food. In doing so, Butch gets hit broadside by a car coming from another direction and wakes up just in time to see a banged-up Marsellus shooting at him. They chase each other into a pawnshop, where the owner takes them out and then calls his friend Zed. When Butch and Marsellus wake up, they’re in the basement of the pawnshop and soon to be the victims of the owner, his friend Zed, and some guy in a leather suit called “the gimp.” As the owner and Zed take Marsellus into another room to rape him, Butch manages to escape and kill the gimp. He is about to head out the door and to safety when he remembers Koons’ words about being with someone in a “hellish situation” and cannot leave Marsellus behind. He finds a samurai sword and kills the owner. Marsellus frees himself and shoots Zed in the crotch. As Marsellus plans his revenge against the dying man, he tells Butch that he can go in payback for saving him. Butch takes Zed’s chopper and collects Fabienne in order to head to the train station and freedom. Fabienne asks who Zed is, and all Butch can say is, “Zed is dead.”

			The Script

			Tarantino’s script for the film, which was issued in book form first by Faber and Faber, has some interesting changes that go beyond the additional scenes that were filmed but not used (and which appear on a few “special editions” of Pulp Fiction that have been released over the years). The order of scenes is slightly different as well.

			•	Pumpkin and Honey Bunny discuss robbing the restaurant. The scene goes as in the film, leading into the opening credits.

			•	Vincent and Jules go to Brett’s. The script has the two wearing coats on top of their suits that do not appear in the film. We do see Vincent wearing such a coat when he heads off to Lance’s, however. Jules makes a comment about Mia getting men killed, which Vincent resents. Jules has to calm him down before the door opens. The death of Roger (“Flock of Seagulls” on the couch) is positioned differently, but pretty much the same. The scene continues past that of Jules and Vincent firing at Brett, with the man in the bathroom shooting at Jules and Vincent. He misses and the two enforcers return fire, and the screen fades to black.

			•	Marsellus talks with Butch. Same as in the film.

			•	Lance’s house. The script has Vincent shooting up as they discuss his car getting keyed, rather than Vincent shooting up later.

			•	No connecting sequence showing Vincent riding out the high as he heads to pick up Mia. Instead, he appears immediately after seeing Lance walking up to Marsellus’ home. The script has a naked Mia cracking a door open to tell Vincent to get a drink at the bar, rather than through the intercom. She does not watch on the security camera as in the film either. When we see her bare feet in the film, the scene has her with a video camera recording Vincent’s responses to a series of pop-culture questions, leading to a question about the Beatles and Elvis that Mia will refer back to in the film while going to Jackrabbit Slim’s. Once the questioning is done, Mia puts the camera down and they head off to dinner. (This sequence was filmed and probably is the best known of the cut scenes from the movie.)
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					Famous character actor Dick Miller as Monster Joe, the owner of the junkyard where Marvin and the car end up. Miller’s scene was cut from the film, but it can be found as an extra on the special edition DVD, and he at least made it to the lobby cards. 

				

			

			•	Jackrabbit Slim’s. The sequence in the parking lot where Mia convinces Vincent to eat there is not in the script and instead was conceived as filming started, including the infamous “don’t be a square” moment Mia has with her hands. Cut from the script was a moment where Mia slightly freaks out over Vincent rolling his own cigarette, thinking it a joint. Added was Mia saying that she goes to Amsterdam every so often. Cut was Mia thanking Vincent for asking her side of the Tony Rocky Horror story. Added was the Ed Sullivan impersonator announcing the dance contest, rather than as the script had it with the two dancing just because Mia wants to dance (instead of wanting to win a trophy).

			•	Back at Marsellus’ house. As there was no competition in the script, there is no mention of a trophy in Mia’s hands. In the script, Mia tries to copy Vincent’s cigarette-making and a flashy style of lighting that was in the script, and is pleased with herself when she pulls it off. There’s a tad more of Mia OD-ing and Vincent trying to figure out what to do before taking her to the car.

			•	Rushing to Lance with Mia. The main difference is Jody’s response upon seeing Mia get up with the ultimate piercing in his body. In the script she simply asks if anyone wants a beer.

			•	Vincent and Mia return to Marsellus’ house after the OD. Same as in the film.

			•	The story of the gold watch. The script has Butch watching Speed Racer rather than Clutch Cargo. Most probably, once it was decided Bruce Willis was to play a role intended for a twenty-six- to twenty-seven-year-old, a more age-appropriate program was picked. More importantly, the script has the footage of Butch as a young boy listed as being shot from the “perspective of a five-year-old boy”; however, that doesn’t mean that Butch is a five-year-old in the scene. In fact, that would be impossible, as his father was captured and put into a POW camp at least seven years before Captain Koons meets Butch with the watch. Unless Mom got visitation rights, which is highly unlikely, that means Butch has got to be at least seven, possibly eight (although he doesn’t look to be that young; then again, looks can be deceiving).

			•	Butch wakes up in the locker room, getting ready for the fight. As he heads out to the fight, the audience would have seen the chapter title for “The Gold Watch.”

			•	Butch grabs a cab. It is established in the script that the cab was waiting for him, which does not appear in the film.

			•	Marsellus visit Floyd in the locker room. There’s additional dialogue about Butch’s trainer, which appears to have been added during filming.

			•	Butch in the cab, heading to the hotel. Most of the dialogue is the same, with the exception of Butch expounding on why he isn’t upset over the death of the other boxer, Floyd, specifically because he “was not a good boxer” and was a discredit to the profession.

			•	Butch and Fabienne at the hotel after the fight. Same as in the film.

			•	Butch and Fabienne, the morning after. Gone are some minor lines of dialogue for Fabienne that drag the scene out more than anything else.

			•	Butch driving over to his apartment. Gone from the film is dialogue between Butch and himself over going back to get the watch. Butch finally resigned himself to the belief that he started a war with Marsellus by not taking a dive, and that going back into battle to get the watch is his “Wake Island.”

			•	Butch sneaking into his apartment. Butch talks to himself again here, which may have been cut as it makes him out to be a bit punchy. Everything else remains pretty much the same from script to screen.

			•	Butch and Marsellus go to the pawnshop. Same as in the film.

			•	Down in the basement. Same as in the script, with the exception of Marsellus and Butch hugging after it is over. (Yeah, that does seem out of place.) The script also has Marsellus calling The Wolf on a nearby phone with a job—obviously about the guy on the floor in front of him (although it has been suggested that Marsellus is calling The Wolf about Butch).

			•	Butch picks up Fabienne. Same as in the script.

			•	Entering into “The Bonnie Situation.” The scene starts as in the film, with Jules and Vincent about to shoot Brett, continuing into the man from the bathroom missing them and their gunning of him. The rest of the scene continues as in the film.

			•	Shooting Marvin. In the script, Vincent accidentally shoots Marvin in the throat. Marvin is still alive, but Vincent decides the best thing to do is to blow his brains out. Jules thinks it is uncool, but honks the car horn to cover the gunshot. The rest of the scene plays out like in the film. Jules has an additional piece of dialogue with Jimmie on the phone that was probably cut due to it being repetitive of Lance’s exchange with Vincent earlier on about using a cell phone.

			•	At Jimmie’s place. Most of the dialogue matches the script. Cut was a brief exchange between Jimmie and Vincent where Vincent introduces himself to Jimmie and actually makes him laugh. Marsellus is seen in his dining room, rather than by his pool with Mia, when talking with Jules, and some dialogue where Jules states that he may not be inclined to “deal” with Bonnie and Jimmie if things get out of hand has been excised.

			•	The Wolf is called. Very much the same as in the film.

			•	The Wolf arrives. Minus a piece of dialogue from The Wolf to Jimmie about Marsellus appreciating his cooperation, same as in the film. Out in the yard for a shower, Jimmie offers up an “I’m with Stupid” t-shirt, which Jules immediately grabs. Jimmie also takes a picture of Wolf, Jules, and Vincent, which obviously was filmed (a lobby card shows them together posing for a picture) but not used. It does seem a bit out of character for everyone to pose for a picture, especially Wolf.

			•	Wolf talks with Monster Joe. Joe is being paid to deal with the car at his tow yard/junkyard. Wolf then has a long conversation with Joe’s daughter as they head out to meet Jules and Vincent outside. (This sequence with Dick Miller as Monster Joe was filmed, but can only be seen in the deleted scenes in some DVD editions of the movie.) Jules and Vincent apologize to each other over their earlier anger, which was cut from the film as well.

			•	At the restaurant. The same as in the film up till Pumpkin threatens to shoot Jules. Jules then has a brief fantasy where he shoots Pumpkin and Honey Bunny dead. Everything else is the same, and the script ends as does the film, with Jules and Vincent heading out.

			The Backend

			As can be expected, there were some concerns about the head exploding and the anal rape in the film, but the MPAA was fairly easygoing on the film overall. As for the American Humane Association, with no animals present in the film there was nothing for them to review. The length of the film was a concern, but a few snips led to its present length, and it was all set to premiere at Cannes in May 1994. The commotion at Cannes was a drastic change from two years prior when Tarantino arrived with Reservoir Dogs, with the press hungry to talk to Tarantino and his cast (many of whom appeared with him at Cannes). Tarantino was slightly hesitant to have the film run in competition, still feeling the sting of losing out with Reservoir Dogs. His concerns were placated when the movie won the Palme d’Or, the highest award given at the festival, although even that met with a slice on controversy, as a woman disrupted the award ceremony, protesting the win. Tarantino, as is his fashion, gave the woman a middle finger in reply.

			Tarantino took the film on tour to a number of festivals in the subsequent months, repeating a successful round of such programming when promoting Reservoir Dogs in 1992. By the time the film was ready to premiere in America in September 1994, word of mouth had made Pulp Fiction a must-see. Oddly enough, the kudos Tarantino got in Europe for Reservoir Dogs and the faint critical praise for the same in America were reversed for Pulp Fiction, as Tarantino was reported as noticing in Jeff Dawson’s Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool:

			“I cannot complain about the reviews for Dogs in America. But the thing is though it was treated as a wonderful debut. There were a few raves and even then with the best reviews, there was some qualifications. ‘He’s a cool guy, but he’s a new guy.’ In England, like France, they had much less qualifications. There was a lot of press and it’s like ‘This movie is fucking great, and this guy, fuck me, this guy is fantastic,’ alright? Now two years later, Pulp comes out. In America, a good majority of the reviewers are like ‘Wow. He has gone from here and made this big leap to here. This is like what a wonderful piece of work. What a great sense of growth. This is a masterpiece.’ . . . in England it’s like the majority of the reviews are like ‘Well, it’s a good movie, but he couldn’t live up to Dogs. It’s not as good as Dogs.’”

			Critical reviews in America certainly were on Tarantino’s side. Roger Ebert started off his review by calling Tarantino the “Jerry Lee Lewis of cinema,” due to the director not caring that he’s tearing things up as long as everybody is rocking, and celebrated the film for resurrecting “not only an aging genre, but also a few careers.” Mick LaSalle at the San Francisco Chronicle called it “the movie equivalent of that rare sort of novel where you find yourself checking to see how many pages are left and hoping there are more, not fewer.” Todd McCarthy at Variety felt the film allowed Tarantino to avoid the “sophomore jinx” with “a movie that is the American Graffiti of violent crime pictures.” Not every critic was appreciative. Kenneth Turan of the Los Angeles Times had much praise for Tarantino’s dialogue and how actors “invariably spark” to his words, but felt the movie’s “reliance on shock value and bad-boy posturing” reeked of “creative desperation.” Stanley Kauffmann from The New Republic claimed the film nourishes “cultural slumming.” Most of the negative critical opinion seemed to rest on the idea that Tarantino had given audiences a movie that was not based on reality but rather some type of outlandish crime fiction that could only be found in the old ten-cent pulp maga—oh. Yes, in other words, they weren’t quite getting the concept of the film.

			But no matter, the audience got it. The film saw some initial showing in September, and then opened wide on October 14, 1994, premiering around the country against Exit to Eden, Little Giants, The Shawshank Redemption (which would only later be considered a classic) and Wes Craven’s New Nightmare (Clerks would start a very small run the week after by Miramax). It would open with over $9 million in ticket sales, and continued its theatrical run up through August 1995, raking in over $107 million in the U.S. and a total of close to $213 million worldwide.

			Pulp Fiction also raked in a number of awards (see chapter 31), although constantly going up against Forrest Gump in voting. The film would also resurrect John Travolta’s career and solidify the interest—at least by the studios—in quirky crime dramas. Best yet for Tarantino, it proved that he was not a flash in the pan with Reservoir Dogs. He had climbed to an even great level of success thanks to Pulp Fiction. It also meant that he had been set up to attempt to reach an even greater height with whatever film was to come next.

			Thoughts

			When the film came out, a very straight-laced friend of mine admitted that he couldn’t help but laugh when Marvin got his head blown off. “I didn’t mean to; it was sick,” he said, somewhat in embarrassment. “But how could you not laugh when you watch that scene and the reactions of Jules and Vincent to it?” Which gets to a major point about Pulp Fiction, and one that many imitators after Tarantino have missed out—humor drives the movie, especially very dark humor. A shock type of humor that early on makes one realize Pulp Fiction was not going to play by the common rules of storytelling. The goofy couple at the restaurant booth turn out to be vicious robbers (or at least play such a role when doing so). We then are introduced to two enforcers that we come to know and like through their meaningless discussion about “Royale with Cheese,” only to see Jules gun down one of the college-aged kids for no reason other than to shut Brett up. Typically in such a film, we would have seen Flock of Seagulls reaching for a gun or such, in order to give Jules a “legit” reason for killing him, but no. Marsellus and Butch look to be in a cat-and-mouse chase, only to end up in another universe with men who are much more vicious than either of them ever could be.

			The film continues to twist and swerve the rest of the way through the story, so much so that by the time we get to the last segment and see Vincent alive again and at the restaurant, we are pleased. We’ve just witnessed a roller-coaster ride that had one last thrilling turn which wasn’t visible when getting on board, and it’s just a topping to the already excellent ride we’ve had (especially as it is played for comedy in the final segment). The film deserves its status as a classic and part of the National Film Registry (as it was named in 2013) because it takes the magic of film and gives us a fun, memorable movie.

			One interesting aspect of Pulp Fiction that is rarely touched upon is how each major character—with the exception of one—is transformed during the course of the film due to the actions of others. Jules finds himself redeemed due to not only surviving the miracle of the shooting by the kid who looks a little like Seinfeld, but also from running into Pumpkin and being tested in his new-found “moment of clarity.” Butch is a guy who laughs off the death of his opponent in the ring and even leaves his trainer behind to be tortured, but once his father’s watch and what it means to him becomes the focus, he goes through a journey where he realizes to be the man his father was, he would have to save Marsellus. Marsellus allows Butch to leave because he realizes that sometimes people can actually do what is right, even at risk of their own lives (then again, the way Butch is holding that sword, if Marsellus had tried to turn around to shoot, he would have found himself with a sword in his stomach). Pumpkin and Honey Bunny realize that they’ve bitten off more than they can chew when confronting Jules, and Honey Bunny goes from menacing robber to a girl just wanting to go home and pee, while Pumpkin is happy just to leave with his life. Even the cool drug dealer Lance goes through a change as he has to help save a life instead of having no involvement in reality beyond his cereal and Three Stooges shorts. The only character who refuses to go through any change is Vincent. Even with Jules showing him how their “miracle” had changed him, Vincent is still Vincent and can’t become anything more than what he already was. His life is set, and in response, he’s the only main character to end up dead. (Only for Jules to resurrect him in order to get in the final bit of story at the restaurant, making Jules truly a man of God.)
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					A set of trading cards released through the video-store chain Suncoast Motion Picture Company. The back of the cards contain quotes from the film, including misquotes for Jules and Vincent.

				

			

			The greatest transformation is that of Mia, however. We see her first as this ultra-hip chick who tries to intimidate Vincent with the intercom and the security camera (as well as the deleted video interview). She considered herself the cool kid and tried to flaunt that image as being too hip for the room, a dangerous combination. She wants to go to Jackrabbit Slim’s because it’s “the” place in town, while Vincent sees it as the cash grab that it is. Yet, even as she tries to dress in the style of the place, looking more like a waitress than a customer, she doesn’t know who the people are (Vincent has to point out the difference between Mamie Van Doren and Marilyn Monroe to Mia). She not only snorts cocaine in front of a bunch of women in the bathroom, but proclaims her snorting to everyone within earshot, then smirks in the mirror at her coolness as she leaves. When she mentions Amsterdam, she has to make a point of saying that she goes there often, to appear connected with both Vincent and his superior (she “chills out” there for a month or two, or so she says). She mentions the TV pilot, but refuses to do the joke because it’s lame and would embarrass her. She demands to go out on the dance floor to show off her coolness to the restaurant, no matter how goofy she looks while dancing. Back at the house, she appears to be ready to jump Vincent when the time comes, while Vincent realizes the dangerous game being played between them. He knows the cost; she can’t fathom it because she’s an innocent in so many ways.

			She’s desperate for attention and in a sense is a child acting the role of an adult. She is trying too hard to be cool, and comes off as a geek. She can’t even do the square right, coming closer to a rectangle than a square when illustrating it to Vincent.

			Vincent actually is the cool one, but allows her to play out her role because it isn’t doing him any harm. That is until she overdoses. Then reality sets in. By the time Vincent is driving Mia home afterwards, she looks like a drowned rat. Moreover, she’s been exposed as the idiot she probably feels she is most of the time. It only makes sense at that point that she would feel close enough to Vincent to tell her “lame” joke, realizing that she isn’t quite as smart as she thought she was and it was good to have someone looking out for her instead of her dictating things by her own rules. In other words, she has become human, and it is she that has the biggest transformation in the film.

			Pulp Fiction simply works, which is why so many have gone back to it again and again over the years. Tarantino had proven himself and fans were interested in what would be his next venture. He would hint in his 1994 Charlie Rose Show interview that he was considering adapting a novel as his next film. “My dialogue [is] getting old hat, all right. So what I’m thinking I might end up doing now is maybe what would be cool, it would be like taking a novel and adapting it. That still requires me to write; still requires me to put it in my voice; but it’s also coming from somewhere else.”

			Jackie Brown would be just around the corner. But first, a little bit of free time.

		

	
		
			11
Together in One Smash Explosive Show

			Working with Robert Rodriguez

			Quentin Tarantino’s emergence in 1992 with Reservoir Dogs coincided with that of several other young writer/directors making noteworthy independent films. Such artists were showing everyone that it was possible to make “art films” on the cheap that could cross over with a general audience, and it was not uncommon in the days of 1992–1993 to see them popping up at each and every film festival to promote their films. Over time, this would lead to Tarantino working with others in that group—such as acting in Alexandre Rockwell’s 1994 film Somebody to Love and directing a segment of the 1995 anthology film Four Rooms (discussed below). Such relationships have come and gone, as is typical in the movie business, but one friendship that came out of those early movie festival days was that of Tarantino with writer/director Robert Rodriguez.

			It was at the Toronto International Film Festival in September 1992 that Rodriguez, promoting his movie El Mariachi, a crime thriller he had produced for $7,000, met Quentin Tarantino for the first time. The two hit it off, finding a mutual love of the B movies from the past as well as a personal history of wanting to be makes movies but not having the means to go to film school, and having to make do with their own resources.

			Some analyses of their work together have focused on what benefits each gets out of the relationship, but it is clear that Tarantino had and still has a sense of trust in what Rodriguez brings to Tarantino’s projects and vice versa. Rodriguez was one of the first to create original music for one of Tarantino’s films (the Kill Bill series)—quite an achievement, as Tarantino has made it clear he has hesitated to have anyone collaborate on music for his movies. Tarantino has also acted for Rodriguez in three of his films (Desperado, Planet Terror, and From Dusk Till Dawn). There have also been four films in which they have collaborated behind the camera. Grindhouse—which produced Tarantino’s film Death Proof—is covered in its own chapter, but Tarantino’s involvement in the others is small enough to be combined here.

			Four Rooms (1995)

			Anthology films have been notorious in Hollywood as not going over well with audiences; add additional directors to the mix and the chances of success are even less. Odd as it may seem, giving the audience “more” sometimes seems less, and even long pictures that really give equal value to such directors—as Tarantino and Rodriguez would find out with Grindhouse—still leave the audience saying, “Oh, if only so-and-so had been given more time for his story instead of that other son-of-a-gun.” Still, every so often, the timing is right for filmmakers to give it another shot, and one such opportunity presented itself with, as Allison Anders—one of the other directors on the project—put it, “the Sundance class of ’92 and ’93.”

			All four directors involved had films released in 1992 that made the circuit at film festivals around the world, with the directors meeting each other and discussing various projects for their individual futures. Then the idea came along to make an anthology film, a collection of short films from each director that share one character to tie all the stories together. The project was agreed upon to start in November 1994, with the four writer/directors—Allison Anders, Alexandre Rockwell, Robert Rodriguez, and Quentin Tarantino.

			At one point, it was to be Five Rooms, with Slacker/Dazed & Confused director Richard Linklater doing a story. However, Linklater bowed out (to his good fortune, some would say) in order to finish work on Before Sunrise. In fact, Tarantino himself nearly cancelled on the project a week before filming started, getting cold feet at the last minute due to being “overstressed,” as Anders put it. (And considering Pulp Fiction had just been released, with people clamoring for him for various things, as well as other projects heading up the road, it is understandable.) Rockwell convinced Tarantino that backing out was not an option so close to the production beginning, and Tarantino agreed to stay on.

			Filming occurred between November 10 and December 22, 1994, with production for each of the director’s segments—also written by them and based loosely on various stories by Roald Dahl—done in script order. Some characters from the stories also transferred over to other stories, with Ted the Bellhop being the one character that appears in every story—always as the poor guy who gets caught in the middle of other people’s problems. The stories were:

			•	“The Missing Ingredient” by Allison Anders. A coven of witches are trying to bring back a goddess and need semen in order to complete the ritual. Ted the Bellhop is the unknowing target, and one of the witches must seduce him. (Interestingly, in the film, the witches witness the return of Dianna, the goddess, while in the script they leave thinking the ritual didn’t work, only for a stinger at the end of the movie that would have shown the goddess wandering the hotel looking for her “husband.”)

			•	“The Wrong Man” by Alexandre Rockwell. Ted finds a man holding his wife hostage and accusing Ted of sleeping with her.

			•	“The Misbehavers” by Robert Rodriguez. A very intense man is taking his wife out to a party and gives Ted $500 to watch their son and daughter, who subsequently destroy the room before the parents return.

			•	“The Man from Hollywood” by Quentin Tarantino. In a variation of the famous Dahl story “The Man from the South,” a contest is staged where a man bets he can light his lighter ten times in a row; if he doesn’t, one of his fingers will be chopped off. Ted is enlisted to do the chopping after much persuasion and the enticement of money from a movie director staying in the room.

			Tarantino was also involved in the animated opening credits that look back to earlier days of those used for the Pink Panther movies and films like It’s a Mad, Mad, Mad, Mad World. Working with Bob Kurtz (who would later do the animation on the Pink Panther remake in 2006), some others, and animation legend Chuck Jones, Tarantino worked to come up with gags for the opening credits.

			Steve Buscemi was originally cast as Ted, but had to bow out due to other commitments, and instead his fellow Reservoir Dogs actor, Tim Roth, took the role (and was considered the highlight of the film by many critics). The cast featured a lot of familiar faces, such as Bruce Willis in Tarantino’s segment, as well as Paul Calderon as the unfortunate lighter owner (Calderon had also appeared in Pulp Fiction with Willis as English Dave). Tarantino himself appeared in his segment as the movie director who is a bit full of himself and talking way too much, which shows that Tarantino was aware of the image many people had of him by 1994.
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					Robert Rodriguez, Allison Anders, Alexandre Rockwell and Quentin Tarantino—the four writers/directors of the anthology film Four Rooms (1995)—get cozy on a couch with producer Lawrence Bender behind them. Although it was the first film to showcase Rodriguez and Tarantino together, it was a commercial dud. 

				

			

			During filming, there were some concerns as to Tarantino’s set being the size of all the other sets combined (then again, the character is supposed to have the biggest room in the hotel), and Anders mentioned in an interview with Peter Biskind in Premiere magazine (“Four X Four,” November 1995) a conflict she had with Tarantino over a final scene to be shot in the film. Tarantino asked to shoot the last sequence in the film even though it was essentially the punch line to Anders’ story, and she refused. He tried to talk her into it, mentioning a comment she had made about the four of them being like the Beatles. “And I said, ‘Well, there are other kinds of bands that make one hit and disappear like the Buckinghams, where everybody kisses each other’s ass.’ And he said, ‘Well I would like a little more of the ass-kissing model right now.’ And I said, ‘Yeah, as long as it’s your ass being kissed.’ I won that one.”

			Oddly, the film was completed in December 1994, but would not be released for a year and missed several festival outings ahead of release due to delays. The main concern was that the finished film was over two and a half hours long and wasn’t working. Rockwell stated in the Biskind article that after he saw it, he told the others at a Denny’s that “it sucks.” The problem then became what to cut. Everyone agreed that Rodriguez’s piece was nearly perfect as is, and was the only piece in the film that really worked. It was also the longest at thirty minutes. Meanwhile, the others tried to figure out what to cut, especially as those in charge were less than happy with the idea of telling Tarantino to cut anything. When it was suggested that he be told that Anders and Rockwell were cutting and he should do the same, the response was, “that’ll only give Tarantino the idea to add more to his.” Finally, editing did occur, with Rockwell’s being the shortest, followed by Anders, then Tarantino and finally Rodriguez. Ironically, after fighting to get to film it, Anders’ ending to the film was dropped once the ending was changed to her story, and so the film concludes with Tarantino’s.

			Four Rooms was released a year after it finished filming on December 22, 1995. It opened against Mel Brooks’ Dracula: Dead and Loving it, and Grumpier Old Men, while Jumanji had opened the previous week and Father of the Bride II the week before that. In other words, if general audiences were going to go to the theaters to see a comedy, they had plenty to choose from and certainly nothing that looked to be risky like an anthology film by directors known only for doing “art-house movies.” Not traditional ones, of course, and all with good comedic values in them, but still—to the public—art-house films.

			Critical reviews didn’t help, which were typically sympathetic towards Rodriguez’s piece and somewhat to Tarantino’s story, although downright hostile over having to see Tarantino’s face on the screen. Edward Guthmann at the San Francisco Chronicle wondered if the directors had “signed a devil’s pact to see who could make the worst, least responsible film and get away with it.” Most agreed that only the second half of the film worked at all as a comedy, with Roger Ebert spelling out the most positive things said by a majority of the critics, “On the useful scale of the Michelin guides, one is worth a trip [“The Misbehavers”], another is worth a detour [“The Man from Hollywood”], and the other two are a colossal waste of bandwidth.”

			The film earned only $4.25 million, with a cost of $4 million to make, but it also cost some critical favor with the directors who slowly had to rebuild their careers over the years that followed. Tarantino and Rodriguez had From Dusk Till Dawn coming out days after Four Rooms to make up for it (although it did nothing to help those who were anxious to not see Tarantino on the screen any longer).

			From Dusk Till Dawn (1996)

			As discussed in chapter 1, Tarantino had earned $1,500 when he really needed it by writing a script based on a treatment done by Robert Kurtzman from KNB EFX Group. Everyone seemed satisfied with the deal, but nothing came of the script in the years since Tarantino had written it. After Rodriguez and Tarantino became friends, Tarantino mentioned that he had once written a horror script set in Mexico and gave Rodriguez a copy of it. Rodriguez came back and asked if Tarantino would be interested in letting him direct it, whereupon Tarantino agreed. Going back to KNB EFX, Tarantino obtained the script from them and began rewriting it for the film the pair wanted to make. By January 20, 1995, Variety had announced the upcoming project with Antonio Banderas starring, with a follow-up article suggesting that Columbia was set to make the film with the two.

			The two worked out their roles in the film, with Rodriguez as sole director so that Tarantino could concentrate on being an actor in front of the camera (although, as made clear in the documentary about the filming, Full Tilt Boogie, Tarantino kept a close eye on things behind the scenes). By April 1995, Variety was reporting that both Tarantino and Rodriguez received $2.5 million to “write, direct and exec produce the project,” with the film ready by the fall (possibly the traditional Halloween period of mid-October through early November). Instead, it would not be until June that the production began filming, for a ten-week shoot that ended in August.
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					The U.S. poster for From Dusk Till Dawn (1996), pairing Robert Rodriquez and Quentin Tarantino together with a revision of one of Tarantino’s first scripts.

				

			

			The plot of the film plays like an action thriller for nearly the first half, with the brothers Seth and Richie Gecko kidnapping a man and his two children in their RV so that they can cross the border into Mexico. Once there, a strange bar in the middle of nowhere turns out to be a haven for vampires, and the family has to team up with Seth Gecko and others to try to save themselves.

			Tarantino’s original script was a bit different than what finally made it to the screen, however. Richie was not a sex offender, Kate has much less to do, and the main cast of characters all survive until the end. Tarantino would rework the script now that he and Rodriguez would be making the film together (and after five years of writing, he no doubt saw flaws in the original script that needed fixing anyway).

			The final script is a bit different from the completed film. Some of it is obvious, where dialogue was revised on set, but there are still some notable changes from the script:

			•	The second scene in the script is that of the Fullers in the diner rather than continuing on with Seth and Richie taking the hostage out at the motel. Instead, this appears as the third scene in the movie. It should also be noted that at the diner the kids rib their father much more about the RV than seen in the movie.

			•	Seth mentions that he got the rooms on both side of them in order to make sure no one is listening in on them. This was probably dropped as being too much exposition, as well as giving the motel owner reasons to be suspicious. The hours change as well—it’s 6:00 and the sun sets at 8:00 in the film, but 5:00 and 7:00 in the script. Richie is already watching television before Seth leaves the room.

			•	The next scene was shot but cut; it shows Seth at a payphone talking to Carlos and laughing when told to meet Carlos at a place called the Titty Twister.

			•	When Seth returns to the hotel room it is nighttime, and Richie is smoking from a bong. He watches the newscast with Kelly Hogues and laughs at what he sees as the incompetence of the Texas authorities. He begins watching a Casper the Friendly Ghost cartoon when Seth arrives. The rest of the scene plays out like the film, and the script makes plain that Richie raped the bank teller before killing her.

			•	The confrontation between Seth and the RV is slightly different—it is definitely nighttime by this point, and Jacob angrily shouts at Seth to get out of the way so they can park. Seth’s reaction is more one of being lost in thought when the RV arrives rather than being a bit of a jerk as in the film.

			•	Richie asks for ice by stating he’s Don Cornelius, but not the one from Soul Train.

			•	Scott is Vietnamese instead of Chinese in the script.

			•	Richie grabs the keys instead of trying to catch them from Seth with his bad hand.

			•	In the RV, Seth and Jacob are a bit more aggressive in their discussion about what is to happen. Both pledge on a bible to help each other out.

			•	Upon making it through the border, Seth hugs Kate and tells her that if he were younger he would marry her.

			•	Richie is as unsure about going into the Titty Twister as Jacob and family, but Seth needles him. Richie tells him that if they go in, they’re going to see trouble within two hours, and he doesn’t want to go. Seth convinces him that everything will be okay.

			•	Richie doesn’t kick Chet while he’s down outside the Titty Twister.

			•	Richie tries to calm Seth down after the confrontation with Razor Charlie at the bar. Meanwhile, Razor Charlie tells others in Spanish that no one knows the group is there so although they’re not the normal clientele, it’ll be okay.

			•	After Jacob talks to Seth, Seth has Scott bring in his guitar, and Seth sings a number of songs while playing guitar, to the delight of the patrons. He later joins in with the band when Santanico performs.

			•	Kate is supposed to be turned on by Richie having to drink from Santanico’s foot. Richie has Santanico join them at the table. Seth tells a dirty joke about Little Red Riding Hood before Chet and the others arrive to ruin the party.

			•	There’s no knife through the hand for Richie; instead, it’s the reopening of a shoulder wound that triggers the gunfight. Meanwhile, Razor Charlie slashes Seth across the face with a straight razor.

			•	In the following fight with the vampires, Seth is terrified and unable to move until he’s been kicked across the place by Santanico. (The movie plays it as him not being in a position where he is able to do much up to that point.)

			•	Instead of Seth bringing down the chandelier onto Santanico, Jacob throws a bottle of whiskey from the bar at Santanico’s head. It shatters, drenching her with whiskey. Seth then shoots her, sending her up in flames.

			•	Sex Machine steers Big Emilio away from Seth and Jacob in the fight instead of Frost. Instead of his heart being pulled out, Seth and Jacob help to beat Big Emilio to the ground, and the Sex Machine drives a broken pool cue into Emilio’s chest.

			•	Scott helps Kate get the crucifix down Chet’s throat. Chet, instead of oozing all over the place, is flailing all over the place until he shoves a wooden chair leg into his own chest and stops the pain.

			•	Seth is attacked by a bat that Frost kills.

			•	Jacob explains that it’s the power of faith behind the crucifix that makes it work, not simply because it is two sticks together.

			•	Jacob calls himself a “mean motherfucking servant of God” in the script. Jacob in the film avoids using profanity in his response.

			•	In the movie, Frost sends Sex Machine into the air and crashing through a window. In the script, it’s the other way around.

			•	After getting to the storage room, Kate wants to go back for her father, but everyone else agrees that he is probably dead. This scene was filmed but cut from the movie for pacing.

			•	Kate has a squirt gun like Scott instead of the crossbow as in the film.

			•	There is no final confrontation between Frost and Jacob in the script.

			•	Kate begins walking home instead of taking the RV.

			•	There is no final shot of the temple behind the building.
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					The Gecko Brothers (George Clooney and Quentin Tarantino) are about to demonstrate how not to keep a low profile in the opening moments of From Dusk Till Dawn. It would be a rare opportunity for Tarantino to act in a role that wasn’t simply playing off of his real-life personality.

				

			

			There is also an alternate ending that was written but not used. In this version, Scott makes it out with Kate and Seth but turns into a vampire long enough to attack Carlos and his men. All of them turn into vampires just as the FBI agent seen on television earlier in the film appears to arrest Seth. In the explosive confusion—the vampires are out in daylight after all—Kate and Seth take off to El Rey, with Kate stating she sees Seth as family now.

			As recorded in Full Tilt Boogie—listed in an article about the film on July 24, 1995 (“Tarantino Docu Drama Enlivens IATSE Convention”) as to be titled Independence and Unity—things became tense with the unions as filming began. To save money and time (Variety reported the filmmakers as stating it would cost $300,000 more to go union, while the union insisted it would be only $85,000 more to do so), the filmmakers agreed to shoot the picture with a nonunion crew. Tarantino was already on the bad side of the union scene in Hollywood by that point anyway after what had happened when he directed an episode of George Clooney’s series ER (see chapter 23 for more details). Now he was about to embark on a film for a major studio that did not involve the unions.

			By the middle of June, voices were rising between the International Alliance of Theatrical and Stage Employees (IATSE) and the filmmakers, and the IATSE threatened to strike against the production. Tarantino and Rodriguez were not alone; their fellow Four Rooms director Allison Anders faced the same problems in July 1995 while trying to film her movie Mi Vida Loca and had a sit-out occur on her set that led to the production going full union after a half-day of production lost. Bryan Singer had also faced similar concerns while filming The Usual Suspects nonunion. Meanwhile, there were suggestions through Variety and other sources that the shoot in Los Angeles was planned to coincide with the IATSE’s annual convention in Miami, Florida, so everything the IATSE planned would have to be done long-distance at best. Nothing ever came of the threatened strike, to everyone’s surprise, and the movie finished on schedule and with what appears to be a very happy crew (“We paid a good wage,” said Tarantino) and cast.
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					The crew from the documentary Full Tilt Boogie (1997)—including producer Rana Joy Glickman and director Sarah Kelly—pose with Robert Rodriguez and Quentin Tarantino during the filming of From Dusk Till Dawn.

				

			

			As for casting, Banderas was soon out of the picture, and an assortment of other actors were looked at for the role before Tarantino decided on George Clooney. Tarantino had seen Clooney audition for Reservoir Dogs back in 1991, and was intrigued by him after seeing him on the talk show Politically Incorrect (besides working with him on an episode of ER). Tarantino spent time with Clooney before filming began in order to help with the on-screen relationship between the brothers. (This may have playfully backfired a bit on Tarantino, as Clooney is a known prankster on set with people he is comfortable with. Note how Seth wakes up Richie in the RV after they get into Mexico—while staying in character, Clooney keeps pulling Tarantino’s hair back to reveal Tarantino’s real hairline, and Tarantino keeps pushing it forward.)

			The rest of the cast fell into place pretty quickly after that, including the “against type” casting of Reservoir Dogs alumnus Harvey Keitel as Jacob Fuller, the minister who has lost his faith after the death of his wife. Also Tarantino-related was the casting of Juliette Lewis from Natural Born Killers as Jacob’s daughter, Kate, and Tarantino was enthusiastic enough to write more material into the script to help beef up her role. Salma Hayek, who plays the vampire villain Santanico Pandemonium, had appeared that same year in Rodriguez’s Desperado, and although having a phobia about snakes, she had to not only work with a huge snake, but also create the dance for her performance in the film. Another alumnus from Desperado, Cheech Marin, wound up with three roles in From Dusk Till Dawn, and would become a regular in Rodriguez’s pictures.

			Tom Savini, makeup artist (Dawn of the Dead, Maniac, and many others) and actor, appears as Sex Machine—the biker with a pistol in the crotch of his pants (a gag first seen in Desperado)—and would return as one of the police officers in Rodriguez’s Planet Terror. Danny Trejo, who everyone should remember today as Machete (from Grindhouse and the Machete film series), appears as the bartender, Razor Charlie. Fred Williamson, as Vietnam vet Frost, was in a variety of exploitation and blaxploitation films of the 1970s and 1980s, besides other films, and was a former NFL/AFL football player. The movie also boasts the first appearances of Michael Parks as Sheriff Earl McGraw (see chapter 19 as to why this is important) and of Kelly Preston as Kelly Houge (she’ll return to the role in the Tarantino-related film Curdled). It should be noted as well that Tito & Tarantula—the band performing at the Titty Twister—also appeared in Desperado. Brenda Hillhouse played the hostage at the beginning of the film and had been Tarantino’s acting coach at one time; she also appears in Pulp Fiction and the ER episode Tarantino directed. Finally, the clerk at Benny’s World of Liquor was played by John Hawkes, who would go on to a bigger career in movies after this (including Spielberg’s Lincoln and Debra Granik’s Winter’s Bone) and also play a role in Craig Hamann’s 1998 film Boogie Boy.

			And Quentin Tarantino as Richie Gecko. But more about that performance in chapter 26.

			Special effects by KNB EFX were done on set and involved green blood for the vampires in order to avoid any concerns from the MPAA (green blood, fake monsters, A-OK; red blood, people, not so much). Some effects and creatures—many of which came from the sketches Rodriguez made for the effects team—were so gruesome that they ended up on the cutting-room floor after filming (including an infamous one of a stripper vampire who has a mouth where her stomach should be and chews off a man’s head with it). The only other concerns were some mishaps in the fight sequence where people got a bit too into their roles, and an effect for the Titty Twister where it begins to go up in sparks at the end of the picture not being shot correctly and causing some issues. Instead, the film went into postproduction with hopes of still having it out by Halloween.

			By October, however, Variety was reporting that the film was still being worked on and would be out in time for Christmas (early promotional work even states that the film would be released around the holidays of that year). Instead, it was released on January 19, 1996.

			As expected, the MPAA wanted some trimming done to the effects, mostly in the fight between the vampire strippers and the bikers. Besides these trims and some pacing issues (such as the phone call Seth makes and a longer speech by Jacob in the storage room near the end), the film was not affected. The American Humane Association once again visited a Tarantino film and found the treatment of animals acceptable. The dog for the border scene was simply walked by his trainer, who was dressed as an officer; and because it was a hot day “specially designed booties were worn by the dog to protect his feet when walking outside on the pavement.” That’s nice. As for the snake, the trainer merely draped the snake around Hayek and let it move without assistance.

			Critical reception was mixed, and somewhat hostile as the honeymoon period for Tarantino that lasted between Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction was beginning to wear off, especially in light of the mainly negative reaction Four Rooms received a few weeks prior to the release of From Dusk Till Dawn. Desson Thomson at the Washington Post called it a movie that “treats you with contempt for even watching it” and said it lacked imagination, while Andy Seiler at USA Today felt the repetition of vampire attacks in the second half made the film feel like “you’re watching a video game.” Janet Maslin at the New York Times at least enjoyed the first half of the film, but was disappointed that it “loses its clever edge when its action heats up so gruesomely and exploitatively that there’s no time for talk.” But some critics were more on board. Todd McCarthy at Variety saw it for what it is—“a Night of the Living Dead-tinged offshoot of John Carpenter’s 1976 low-budget classic, Assault on Precinct 13”—while noting both Clooney as an up-and-coming movie star and Tarantino’s gift for dialogue. Meanwhile, Roger Ebert gave the film three stars out of four, noting the stitched-up manner of the combination of criminals on the run and vampire movie (mentioning the same two films as McCarthy) and guessing (quite rightly) that people will like one half of the movie, but probably not the other. Either way, “this is one of those movies that you might like or you might hate, but you won’t be able to deny its crazy zeal.”

			The movie did very good business the first weekend out, raking in over $10 million. At the time, From Dusk Till Dawn was facing bigger films in release including Terry Gilliam’s 12 Monkeys (featuring Bruce Willis and Brad Pitt from various Tarantino films) and Mr. Holland’s Opus. Oliver Stone’s Nixon had come out a few weeks before but was gone from theaters before From Dusk Till Dawn appeared. In all, the film made close to $26 million, a little more than the $20 million (some sources say $23 million) cost. The film has continued to be popular selling and being rented on video, however, which allowed for two subsequent films in the series (one sequel and one prequel), along with a new television series from Rodriguez based on the movie and featuring the Gecko Brothers that was kicked off in 2014 on Rodriguez’s cable channel named, naturally enough, El Rey.

			Sin City (2005)

			Frank Miller is a comic book artist and writer who rose to fame in the 1980s due to his work on the Marvel series Daredevil. In that series, the hero—a blind man who has super-heightened other senses—deals out justice while being a lawyer in his daily identity. Although the character itself had an interesting background, the series was commonly left to flounder with second-hand Spider-Man-type stories. Then Miller came around and gave the book a grittier, hard-boiled feel that begun to draw readers. He would skip on to doing a Wolverine series and some other work (including the miniseries Ronin) when he reached another milestone with his futuristic “final” Batman miniseries The Dark Knight Returns. In this series that took Batman and set the tone for many of the movies and comics to follow, Miller changed that superhero’s world into a dark one where Catwoman was a hooker, Bruce Wayne a broken-down old man, crime rampant in the streets, and the Joker a devastating homicidal maniac (as he had been at times throughout the character’s history) who is willing to stage his own suicide in order to frame Batman. It was a success, and Miller began being courted by Hollywood for films.

			The early days went a bit sour, with his script for Robocop 2 being turned into mush before his eyes, but Miller was still working on comics as well, delivering a series of blockbuster graphic novels about hard-boiled detectives, dames, and crazed criminals under the umbrella title of Sin City. Robert Rodriguez had read the books and wanted to make a movie based on some of the stories. He finally convinced Miller to let him do so, and added Miller as a codirector in order to get the look of the film to match Miller’s intentions in the comics (this would lead to a disagreement with the Directors Guild and Rodriguez quitting the guild due to their rules that would not have allowed Miller to codirect).

			While preparing the film, Rodriguez had been continuing an argument with Quentin Tarantino about film versus digital, with Tarantino swearing that although Hollywood was quickly moving on to filming solely on digital, he would never do so. Rodriguez, who came into the field by working on movies as a kid with a video camera instead of film, loved digital and had been trying to entice Tarantino to at least try it out.

			Then it occurred to Rodriguez to use the filming being done on Sin City as a means to get Tarantino to do just that. After having worked on the music for Kill Bill for a salary of $1, Rodriguez asked Tarantino to shoot one scene in Sin City for the same dollar. The scene features Clive Owen as Dwight McCarthy driving in a car with the dead bodies of several cops in order to send it into the mire of a swamp at the edge of town. In the front seat with him is Jack Rafferty (Benicio del Toro), who, although dead with a piece of gun barrel in his forehead, talks to Dwight about how he is going to screw up everything (essentially being Dwight’s inner fears manifested through Jack’s dead body and later his head). Tarantino was curious to direct the two actors, whom he had never worked with, and see how filming the way Rodriguez did worked.

			It is only a short scene in the middle of the film, but it was enough to have Tarantino listed as a special guest director in the opening credits, as well as seeing a short documentary film made of his being on the set that appears on the DVD as a special feature.

			Sin City cost about $40 million to make—a long way from the $7,000 days of Rodriguez’s beginning—but would earn close to $160 million worldwide. The film would also do good business on video and eventually lead to Rodriguez once again working with Miller on a follow-up in 2014 in Sin City: A Dame to Kill For. The 2005 film would also initiate another project within a couple of years, where the two decided to band together to give the world a return to the glory days of the grindhouse—a project that turned out to be anything but Death Proof.
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I Got Me an Idea

			The Making of Jackie Brown

			Release Date: December 25, 1997, by Miramax

			The first thing Tarantino wanted to do after helping promote Pulp Fiction in the theaters at the end of 1994 was to take a break. Upon announcing to Betsy Pickle at the Knoxville News Sentinel in October 1994 that he planned to take at least a year off, Tarantino talked about why: “The only problem with making a movie is, that’s pretty much all you end up doing for—if you’re lucky—a year and a half. It’s like you’re a doctor and you’re always on call, all night. I didn’t see my friends that much over this last year and a half. I didn’t really miss ’em, because I was so damn busy. If you’re climbing Mt. Everest, you’re not thinking, ‘Boy, I haven’t seen my mom lately.’ You’re kind of into what you’re doing. But now you’re on the other side of the mountain, you’re like, ‘Oh wow, my life has been this.’ I kinda wanna just have a normal life again.” During that time, Tarantino would work on other projects, including the films Four Rooms and From Dusk Till Dawn. But many still saw Tarantino as being away way too long doing things that were not his next film, which got some fans antsy, while others smirked at what they saw as Tarantino having nothing else to give audiences.

			Yet, during all of that, Tarantino was already tinkering with the idea for his next film. Furthermore, it would be a chance to try something a little different by adapting a novel by one of his favorite writers to the screen.

			Production

			When Tarantino was a teenager, he tried to swipe a copy of Elmore Leonard’s novel The Switch from a K-Mart. He got busted and sent home to his mother, only to go back a few days later and make good on his shoplifting attempt. Leonard (1925–2013) was a writer of crime fiction (Out of Sight, Mr. Majestyk and Get Shorty, amongst a slew of others) and westerns (3:10 to Yuma and many others as well). He also was a screenwriter, writing scripts based on some of his novels, as well as the script for the offbeat film The Moonshine War (1970), which featured Patrick McGoohan and Alan Alda. Tarantino was fascinated with his writing, often dropping Leonard’s name when discussing novels and character development he enjoyed in novels. The Switch (which was finally filmed and released in 2014) deals with three criminals—Ordell, Louis, and Melanie—who kidnap a woman only for her husband not to be interested in paying her ransom (a plot very similar to one later used in the film Ruthless People). When Leonard released his novel Rum Punch in 1992, Tarantino had picked it up in galley form and in 1994 asked Miramax to obtain the rights to it and two other of Leonard’s novels (Freaky Deaky and Killshot).

			At first, Tarantino had planned to only be the producer on the film, with a female director he knew slotted to take on the adaptation of Rum Punch. It is tempting to suggest the director would have been Allison Anders, as the timing would have been right for her to work on a project like that after the two had worked together on Four Rooms, but nothing has ever been said specifically as to the name of the director. In rereading the book in 1995, Tarantino decided to take on the adaptation himself. To him, it was also the right next step in his evolution as a director, as he mentioned at the movie’s press conference a few weeks before its release: “Original writers need to do an adaptation, or something along those lines, every once in a while so a certain sameness doesn’t creep into the work.” He also felt a kinship with Leonard in the way he used and reused characters in his novels. One didn’t just see a character go through the motions of action to keep the plot moving, but also got to know them as people and understand why they behave the way they do. The villain in 3:10 to Yuma suddenly helps out the hero at the end of the story, and it only works if a reader of the book or viewer of the film gets to understand that the villain loves a challenge and is compelled to help his nemesis when the odds are against him. Any short-cut to that same ending, which would have been typical for other writers, would have had the audience scratching their heads as to the motivation. Tarantino works in much the same manner. Butch has to save Marsellus in Pulp Fiction because his belief in what his father’s gold watch stands for demands it. Mr. Blonde tortures the cop in Reservoir Dogs because we learn something inside of him snapped in prison. The problem for Tarantino was that he had seen some of the other adaptations of Leonard’s writing in films and felt they were lacking; there was nothing invested in the characters in the scripts. He wanted to make sure the audience felt something for the characters, good or bad.

			His main objective on the script, which took about a year to complete between other projects, was to keep the tone of Leonard’s novel in the movie, which he found by spending the first hour introducing the characters to the audience before the real action begins (which is true—the first nearly fifty minutes of the movie is all about how Jackie is picked up by the LAPD and ATF and how Ordell and Max figure into her story). He also had two other things in mind for the script that were different from what Leonard had: the first was moving the location from Miami—a city Leonard had written about in several of his novels—to Los Angeles—a city Tarantino knew like the back of his hand. The other thing was how he wanted to revise the character of Jackie Burke in the novel. Tarantino felt that he needed an actress that was around the same age of the character but who could act and look ten years younger—just as the character in the book does. Several actresses came to mind that could have done the role, but most were too young to match the age of the character—an essential part of Jackie’s initiative to play out her scheme is that she realizes that she is getting too old to start back at square one again.
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					The original U.S. poster for Jackie Brown (1997). Although Tarantino has suggested he may eventually do another movie based on a novel, Jackie Brown remains his sole venture into such territory.

				

			

			It then occurred to Tarantino that the perfect actress for the role was Pam Grier, the famous blaxploitation star of the 1970s who had appeared in various supporting roles in films such as Fort Apache, The Bronx (1981) and had reemerged with substantial roles in Tim Burton’s Mars Attacks! and John Carpenter’s Escape from L.A., both from 1996. The worry was how Elmore Leonard would feel about changing his main character, as Tarantino felt so much affinity with Leonard that he didn’t want to look like he was making a drastic change to the author’s work. “Nothing,” Tarantino said in an interview with writer Brian Helgeland for the New York Times (“Screenwriters Are (Obsessive, Creative, Neurotic) People, Too,” moderated by Lynn Hirschberg, November 9, 2003): “Nothing, not studios, nothing, has ever made me more scared than I was when I changed his heroine in Rum Punch from a white woman to a black woman. I was actually scared to talk to him. The phone just weighed 500 pounds, and it gained 100 pounds every time I glanced at it. And then I started thinking, ‘You know what? I can’t be that way. I’ve got to go my way.’ But that didn’t really make it any easier to talk to him about it.”

			Leonard, for his part, was very approving of the script and the film when it was finally released. As quoted by Tarantino, Leonard felt the movie “was my novel,” telling Tarantino, “Not only do I think it is the best adaptation of any of my work, I think it is the best script I have ever read.” Leonard’s feelings were that even with the change done to the physical look of the main character, the story told was still the same.

			While working on the script, a strange coincidence occurred when Pam Grier was driving on Highland Avenue in Los Angeles. Sitting in traffic, she spotted Tarantino on a street corner, and he immediately set eyes on her. Running into traffic, Tarantino went to her car and announced that he was working on a movie that was his “Foxy Brown” and that he was writing the script for her. Grier was surprised but not excited, as she figured it was just typical Hollywood talk. Then six months later she got news from the post office that she had a package waiting postage due for forty-four cents. Taking her time to pay the less than two-bits for it, she discovered it was the script for Jackie Brown. After reading it, she called Tarantino, who by that point had assumed she didn’t like the script. When she acknowledged how great it was, she mentioned that she would like to audition for the Melanie role, which made Tarantino laugh. “Bridget Fonda is playing Melanie,” Grier remembered in her autobiography Foxy: My Life in Three Acts. “You’re Jackie Brown, Pam. I told you I was writing a script for you. I loved Foxy Brown, and I wrote this in your honor.”

			As to the name change, Tarantino obviously wanted to play off the same thing done in the films of Grier’s past, especially Foxy Brown. Oddly enough, Jackie Brown is also the name of a character in George V. Higgins’ crime novel, The Friends of Eddie Coyle, which was later turned into a movie by Peter Yates and starring Robert Mitchum in 1973. In the film and novel, Jackie Brown is a gunrunner who gets set up by Coyle in order to avoid jail time. (Brown also has a line that has often been paraphrased and misattributed to John Wayne in one of his films: “This life’s hard, man, but it’s harder if you’re stupid!”)

			Meanwhile, Tarantino admitted in interviews after the release of the film that he identified with Ordell. It was a mistake that would come back to haunt him every so often in interviews ever since. In his interview with Erik Bauer in 1998, Tarantino stated, “I joke about it, but I’m very much a Method writer. I really become all the characters when I’m writing them. The entire year I was Ordell. He’s the one I identified with the most in the piece. I walked around like him. I talked like him. I couldn’t shut him off and I didn’t want to.” In this sense, what Tarantino is looking at is how he can write a character in order to become that character, but he means the same for Max and Jackie and others in the film as well. Still, it was too good of a quote, and he would find himself discussing how he identified with Ordell in interviews ever since.

			With Tarantino pretty much set to do what he wanted after the success of both Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction, casting and settling on a crew went smoothly for the ten-week shoot between May 26, 1997, and August 8, 1997. A new director of photography was involved for Tarantino, this time Guillermo Navarro, who had worked as such on Robert Rodriguez’s segment in Four Rooms, as well as Desperado and From Dusk Till Dawn (Navarro went on to work on many of Guillermo del Toro’s films, starting with The Devil’s Backbone). The Wascos were back for production design and set decoration, as well as Sally Menke as the editor, while Daniel Bradford came back from doing set design on Pulp Fiction to become the art director on Jackie Brown. Just as with the filming, the editing went like clockwork, and, instead of the delayed process of hitting festivals as Tarantino had done with his previous two films, Jackie Brown was set for a release on Christmas Day, December 25, 1997.

			Cast

			Pam Grier as Jackie Brown

			Grier first appeared briefly in the cult classic Beyond the Valley of the Dolls in 1970, but she became better known for her appearances in a number of exploitation films of the 1970s, especially those involving women in prison (The Big Doll House, Women in Cages, The Big Bird Cage, Black Mama, White Mama). In reaction to the release of Cleopatra Jones from Warner Brothers in 1973, American International Pictures released Coffy with Pam Grier as the lead character. It would lead to other top roles in similar films over the next few years, all—like Coffy—featuring Grier’s character’s name as the title: Sheba, Baby; Foxy Brown; and Friday Foster. Grier would fall back into secondary roles in films and guest-starring roles on television in the 1980s, but bounced back to bigger roles in the 1990s, with Mars Attacks! and Jackie Brown. She has been working consistently since in television and movies, and appeared in the Tarantino-related film The Man with the Iron Fists in 2012.

			Robert Forster as Max Cherry

			Forster had a memorable start in movies, thanks to playing a small but pivotal role in the John Huston 1967 film Reflections in a Golden Eye (with Marlon Brando and Elizabeth Taylor). After a few television roles, he appeared on film in Haskell Wexler’s Medium Cool (1969). After that, he appeared off and on in television (as the lead in the short-lived series Nakia in 1974) and in a variety of films, usually in exploitation films and amongst secondary roles in bigger films such as Disney’s The Black Hole (1979). In 1992, Forster had tried out for the role of Joe in Reservoir Dogs, but Tarantino told him the part was already cast. Tarantino promised to keep him in mind for another role at some point, and attempted to make sure Forster was cast in Christopher Walken’s role in True Romance, but Forster figured that was the end of their association. Then, just as Tarantino had run into Grier in the streets of L.A., he did so again with Forster—finding himself in a diner with Forster and them discussing the script. Forster would find it helpful to revive his career, leading to a role in David Lynch’s Mulholland Dr. (2001). He has continued to work in both television and films since.

			Samuel L. Jackson as Ordell

			See chapter 10 for more details.

		
			
				[image: 12_02.jpg]
			

			
				Louis (Robert De Niro) and Ordell (Samuel J. Jackson)—two men who think they know more than they really do in Jackie Brown.

			

		

			Robert De Niro as Louis

			If anyone in this book doesn’t need an introduction here, it’s De Niro. Starting out in the early films of such directing greats as Brian De Palma (Greetings in 1968, Hi, Mom! in 1970) and Martin Scorsese (Mean Streets in 1973 and Taxi Driver in 1976), De Niro also appeared in Bloody Mama for Roger Corman (costarring with Bruce Dern, who turned up in Tarantino’s Django Unchained) in 1970 and a wide variety of important American dramatic films in the 1970s onward. Jackie Brown is the only Tarantino film that De Niro has been involved with, although he did have a major part in Tarantino collaborator Robert Rodriguez’s film Machete (2010), which is connected to Tarantino due to its trailer in Grindhouse being the birthplace for the later film.

			Bridget Fonda as Melanie

			Fonda’s first appearance in films came in 1969 in Easy Rider, the classic 1960s film starring her father, Peter Fonda. She would appear in a handful of films in the 1980s and early 1990s (including a major role in Roger Corman’s last theatrical film as director, the 1990 Frankenstein Unbound) before landing meatier roles in Single White Female (1992), Bodies, Rest & Motion (1993) and Point of No Return (1993, featuring Harvey Keitel in the role that led to him being in Pulp Fiction). After 2002 she effectively retired from filmmaking.

			Michael Keaton as Ray Nicolette

			Keaton began in television, with stints as a lead (costarring with James Belushi in the much-admired but short-lived Working Stiff in 1979) and as part of a company (with the likes of David Letterman) on The Mary Tyler Moore Hour (1979 as well). His career really grabbed the attention of the critics and the public with his costarring role in Ron Howard’s comedy Night Shift (1982), followed by Mr. Mom in 1983, and a few other films, cultivating in his role as the “ghost with the most” in Beetlejuice (1988). His partnership with Tim Burton in that film led to the controversial hiring of him as Bruce Wayne in Batman (1989), but Keaton was already starting to work in dramas at that point (the excellent Clean and Sober in 1988) and won over audiences enough to appear in the second film in the series (and the last directed by Burton), Batman Returns (1992). Since Jackie Brown, Keaton has appeared in a number of other films, including some work related to the Pixar animated films (such as Ken in Toy Story 3) and the 2014 Alejandro Gonzalez Inarritu’s film, Birdman (or the Unexpected Virture of Ignorance).

			Michael Bowen as Mark Dargus

			Bowen had done television roles since the early 1980s and would return to such after Jackie Brown. He would pair up again with Tarantino in 2003 as Buck (yeah, you know who that is) in Kill Bill, Volume 1, and again in 2012 as a tracker in Django Unchained. He also played Uncle Jack on seven episodes of the series Breaking Bad.

			Also Appearing

			Beaumont was played by Chris Tucker, who had appeared with Bruce Willis in The Fifth Element the same year as Jackie Brown (Tommy “Tiny” Lister—who played Winston—also appeared in The Fifth Element), before starting the Rush Hour series of films with Jackie Chan in 1998. Hattie Winston as Simone, with Winston having been a regular on the original Electric Company series back in the 1970s. LisaGay Hamilton as Sheronda. Sid Haig—who had worked in several of Pam Grier’s films in the 1970s, usually as the villain, and turned down the part of Marsellus in Pulp Fiction—played the judge, and would reappear as the bartender in Kill Bill, Volume 2. And, if the woman at the counter in the Billingsley looks a tad familiar, she was played by Aimee Graham, who had played one of the girl hostages at the beginning of From Dusk Till Dawn.

			It should also be mentioned that her costar in Coffy and Foxy Brown, Sid Haig, appeared in both Jackie Brown and the second Kill Bill film for Tarantino, after first turning down the part of Marsellus in Pulp Fiction.

			Sequential Plot

			Jackie Brown is a forty-four-year-old flight attendant who gets caught returning to the U.S. from Mexico with an envelope containing $50,000 she agreed to smuggle in and a small bag of cocaine, which she didn’t.

			Meanwhile, Ordell is a gunrunner who finds out that one of his “employees,” Beaumont, got arrested for drunk driving and possession of machine guns. Ordell goes to a bail bondsman named Max Cherry to set up Beaumont’s bail. When Beaumont gets out, Ordell talks him into getting into the trunk of Ordell’s car, whereupon Ordell kills him. Upon hearing about Jackie’s arrest, Ordell goes to Max to switch the bond to Jackie and plans to kill her as well, but Jackie is too smart for him and instead tells him that she has a plan that will allow him to get the $550,000 he has in Mexico back in the U.S. so he can make a deal that will earn him a million. Ordell agrees.

			During all this, Max tries to help Jackie get back on her feet, but she admits that she is nearly at the end of her rope. Max also feels the same, knowing he’s in the declining days of his life in a job that is too much of a hassle for someone his age. With Max’s help, Jackie sets up a plan that will play the cops—who want her to help them bring Ordell down—against Ordell, and beating them both in the end.

			A “test run” to show the cops how Jackie trades off the money to another woman in a mall food court works fine for the cops, but the woman Ordell picked takes off with the money. Thus, the second run—the run the cops plan to bust Ordell on—will have Ordell’s girlfriend Melanie (a “beach bunny” past her prime), with Louis (an old friend of Ordell’s) tagging along.

			Jackie’s part of the plan works—she takes out $550,000, finds a way for Max to sneak off with $500,000 of it without detection, and leaves Melanie with $40,000 in a bag and $10,000 in her clothing. The idea is to make it look like Melanie robbed her ahead of schedule. But hitches occur. Louis, in a fit of anger, kills Melanie in the parking lot and when Ordell finds that the bag only has $40,000 in it, kills Louis. Ordell then disappears, leaving Jackie unsure what he will do next.

			Ordell figures out that Jackie had ripped him off and wants his money. With Max, he goes to Max’s office to meet with Jackie. When Jackie sees that Ordell is holding a gun, she yells for the authorities and they kill Ordell. Three days later, with Max taking $50,000 and giving the rest to Jackie, she asks if he would like to go with her to Spain. He declines, but as she drives away, Max is left wondering if maybe he made the right decision after all.

			The Script

			With Tarantino given pretty much 100 percent to film what he wanted, and wishing to stay within the framework of Leonard’s book, the script is actually very close to what appears on-screen. The only differences are some pieces of additional dialogue that was filmed but cut from various scenes without losing the impact of what the scenes covered. The script and film also play a tad with the timeline during the final money switch, with the switch first seen from Jackie’s viewpoint, then from Max’s in order to show the true nature of their con.

			Other changes:

			•	Louis is stuck in a motel watching television rather than staying with Simone and watching her do her stage act when Ordell drives by to visit.

			•	A scene between Max and Anita, the woman he is dropping off at County while in the process of picking up Jackie.

			•	Louis buys a CD instead of a cassette tape of the Delfonics.

			•	Melanie and Louis go at it on the couch instead of at the kitchen sink.

			•	Instead of Louis and Ordell discussing Melanie at a bar, they discuss her at Ordell’s warehouse, where he has an arsenal of weapons stored.

			•	A scene where Jackie meets up with Melanie at the bar and Jackie tempts Melanie with the whole “what has Ordell done for us” bit. This scene was filmed, but cut. A lobby card exists of the scene, however.
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					A still from a scene not found in the film—Jackie (Pam Grier) shares a quiet moment with Melanie (Bridget Fonda) before things get out of control.

				

			

			•	Melanie’s death is much more violent in the script, with her bouncing off cars as Louis shoots her several times.

			•	Jackie comes to visit Max ten days later, rather than three as in the movie. He flashes back to the death of Ordell briefly while they talk.

			The Backend

			Although the film has several murders (nearly all at the hands of Ordell) and a few shootings, there is very little on-screen violence in the film that would have been seen as a problem for the MPAA. There were some concerns from other sources on the amount of use the N-word receives, in particular from Ordell, and most particularly in the scene where Ordell is talking Beaumont into the trunk of the car. It would be the true beginning of Tarantino being questioned about the word’s use in films and one that would lead to greater indignation when dealing with racial issues in Django Unchained years later. The film was released with an R rating in the U.S. by the MPAA, and a 15 rating by the BBFC in 1998, with no cuts. As with Pulp Fiction before it, with no animals filmed in the movie, there was no need for the American Humane Association to review the film for a rating.

			Critical reactions were mostly positive once again, although some reviewers, as well as audience members, were taken aback by Tarantino doing a more straightforward narrative in his film with less emphasis on “twisting” audience expectations (thus, in a sense, twisting their expectations in the process). Not surprisingly, the tepid or negative reviews came from those critics who had little patience for his earlier films and were not ready to try to reevaluate their positions about Tarantino as an artist. Stanley Kauffmann from The New Republic called it “the flat, self-exposing dud that fate often keeps in store for the initially overpraised,” showing little interest in actually reviewing the film as much as reviewing his dislike for Tarantino’s rise in Hollywood. Many harped on the length of the film, with Jeff Vice at the Deseret News from Salt Lake City summing up with, “The movie takes 150 minutes to tell what should have been a 90-minute story.” Sharon Waxman in her book Rebels on the Backlot tells a story of Tarantino’s agent, Mike Simpson, walking out of a screening of the film muttering that it was “thirty-five minutes too long,” and what the studio deserved for giving a director “final cut.”
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					Quentin Tarantino and Pam Grier pose in the Del Amo Mall food court during the filming of Jackie Brown. 

				

			

			But for the most part critics enjoyed the leisurely pace of the film, feeling—as Tarantino had hoped—that it helped them to get to know the characters better than in the rat-a-tat-tat method of a “90-minute movie.” Roger Ebert gave Jackie Brown four out of four stars and stated it was the movie “that proves Tarantino is the real thing, and not just a two-film wonder boy.” Todd McCarthy at Variety acknowledged the length of the film being unwieldy, but congratulated Tarantino on his courage “in scouting the outer reaches of this sort of material.” Geoff Andrew at Time Out called the film “Tarantino’s finest, most mature movie to date,” to which many of the positive critics agreed.

			The movie opened on December 25, 1997, against such major hitters as the James Bond film Tomorrow Never Dies (released December 19) and Titanic (released December 17). There was also the comedy As Good as It Gets released the day before Jackie Brown, plus Good Will Hunting and Scream 2 were still in theaters as well. Considering all this, Jackie Brown had a strong opening holiday weekend, with over $12 million made. Ticket sales were not like those of Pulp Fiction, however, and by near the end of March, it was out of theaters with close to $40 million made. Worldwide, the total was a gross of close to $75 million, which was not too shabby for a film that cost only $12 million to make. Even so, because the numbers were not like those for Pulp Fiction, some detractors took it as a sign that things were going to sour for Tarantino. It would be a while before he returned to the screen, but when he did, it would be for a major one-two punch with Kill Bill.

			Thoughts

			As much as one can credit Tarantino for wanting to use the screen time to give the audience a character study, it is easy to sympathize somewhat with those who leave the film feeling it goes on a little too long. As mentioned with the critical reviews for Pulp Fiction, with a similar running time one leaves that film wishing there was more to come; one leaves Jackie Brown wondering when things are going to wrap up.

			Yet, what can be cut? The first nearly half of the film works like a well-oiled machine, showing us how Beaumont got Jackie trapped and left Ordell in a corner where he needed to deal with Jackie and get his money with the cops breathing down his neck. One could perhaps do without Beaumont’s death, but it shows Ordell’s ruthlessness, as well as setting up his later attempt to kill Jackie upon her release from jail. There’s the introductory scene at Melanie’s place, but it demonstrates how Melanie thinks little of Ordell and that Ordell is blowing smoke when discussing what kind of expert he is at his “job.” Perhaps the scene between Max and Jackie could be cut, but that too is needed in showing the beginning of a friendship between the two characters; certainly in a film that plays so much towards the emotions of people knowing that their lives are nearly a dead end and reaching out to each other for a bit of comfort.

			In some ways what is really needed in Jackie Brown is a break. If ever there was one of Tarantino’s films that could have been turned into a miniseries, Jackie Brown—taken as a two-parter, or with a little more footage, a three-parter—it could have worked even better. A chance for Tarantino to dig deeper into characters that he obviously loved (even the stupid ones). No wonder by the time he was doing Kill Bill he was thinking of how to extend his films and looking at television (with his CSI jaunt) in anticipation of perhaps one day doing a multipart story for that format.

			But that’s beside the point, Jackie Brown is what it is, and what it is turns out to be a rather sweet movie dealing with Max and Jackie—two middle-aged people nearly out of their depth who managed to turn things around and give themselves a new lease on life. By the end, you leave the film still wondering if Max’s final look means that he may reconsider Jackie’s offer to go to Spain, and hope that whatever comes for these characters, life will be good for them.

			What is interesting as well is that we see a bit of where Tarantino gets his fixation on criminals, but not as smooth operators. As always, there are different levels of criminal activity here—it could easily be said that Jackie and Max are just as bad as Ordell, Louis, and Melanie because they rip off a large sum of illegal money for their own gain—but Jackie is up against a wall that sees her being gunned down eventually by Ordell for simply being alive, and Max just wants to help. On the other hand, our main criminals are . . . morons. Worse yet, they’re people who have just enough brains to cause a lot of damage while doing very dumb things. Ordell is the genesis from which such criminal “masterminds” as Candie in Django Unchained, Stuntman Mike in Death Proof, and even in some respects Raine from Inglourious Basterds were born—they all have some levels of smarts, but they let their macho posturing get in the way. Melanie sees the truth—Ordell has been told a certain amount of facts but can’t really get his act together, and nearly everyone around him plays him for the sucker that he is (clearly most of the women do—Simone, Jackie, and if she had played her cards better, Melanie). Ordell eventually sees how he has been messed with, but even then can’t see beyond the barrel of his gun; all he wants to do is “deal” with Jackie, with no clue how easily he has fallen into a trap set up by everyone around him. He is only dependent on himself, and—as with Mike, Candie, and in some ways Raine—can’t see how the bigger picture will affect him. If Tarantino really did feel that at times he was Ordell, perhaps he wonders if he is as likely to fall into the trap of being the loner who is in over his head, no matter how much street smarts he may have.

			Which gets us back to Tarantino’s goal—we are there to witness these characters long enough that we do get a sense of how the wheels are turning in their head. We do care about the characters, even an idiot like Ordell. Tarantino went into this film wanting to give us the lives of these characters. If we leave it wondering what could have been for them, and perhaps hoping for the best for Max and Jackie, then Tarantino succeeded in his aim.
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Let Me Tell You What “Like a Virgin” Is About

			The Tarantino Films Top Twenty Countdown

			One major component of any Tarantino movie is the music. There’s not really much more that needs to be explained there—you know it, I know it—the guy loves music. In particular, he wants to share with the audience his love of certain music in his film. It is like he sits there thinking, “Not only do I want to give you the images in my head, I want to play you some songs that I love while doing so.” Researcher Heather Raines in her excellent thesis for the University of Ottawa about the music used in films of Robert Rodriguez and Quentin Tarantino, “Auteur Direction, Collaboration and film music: Re-imaginings in the Cinema of Rodriguez and Tarantino” (http://www.ruor.uottawa.ca/en/handle/10393/28222) called Tarantino an “auteur melomania”—an artist with an excessive attraction to music—and it is a good way to describe his use of music in his films. Better yet, as Raines also points out, Tarantino tends to use diegetic music in his films; meaning that the music is acknowledged and played off of by the characters within the scene (instead of being music that “only the audience hears”).

			The use of diegetic music comes into play in one of the first examples we all commonly think of when discussing Tarantino’s films—“Stuck in the Middle with You” in the torture scene of Reservoir Dogs. Mr. Blonde hears the song and incorporates it into his little dance as he gets ready to kill Marvin Nash. It’s elsewhere as well. Mia and Vincent get their groove on while listening to “You Never Can Tell” by Chuck Berry in Jackrabbit Slim’s. Jackie Brown shows us that Max is getting sweet on Jackie (and that Ordell has reasons to be suspicious) when a Delfonics song plays in Max’s car. The music is not only there to “set the mood” of the action on-screen, but also plays a character—a chorus—to the characters. In some ways even his nondiegetic still works in a diegetic manner in Tarantino’s films. As the gang heads out of the restaurant in the beginning of Reservoir Dogs, you almost can believe at least one of them is playing “Little Green Bag” by the George Baker Selection in his head as they walk. There’s no way that Django would know Jim Croce’s song “I Got a Name,” but one can’t watch the scene where Django is allowed to be truly free and himself and wonder if the song somehow flew backwards in time to him. Then again, Tarantino prefers that the music to set the mood of a scene rather than tell the audience what is happening; as he told Terry Gross in 2009 (“Pulp and Circumstance: Tarantino Rewrites History,” Fresh Air, August 27, 2009), “I don’t like lyrics being on the money.”
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					The Pulp Fiction soundtrack album features songs and snippets of film dialogue—a style of soundtrack album that Tarantino will continue with his subsequent films.

				

			

			In other words, Tarantino knows what he’s doing when it come to the music in his films. With that in mind, he has always been a bit hesitant about having someone orchestrate a score for his films, even in collaboration. As Raines mentioned Tarantino saying at Cannes in 2008, “I just don’t trust any composer to really do it. Who the fuck is this guy coming in here, putting his shit over my movie? What if I don’t like it? And if I was in a situation like that, chances are, I wouldn’t like it. Fuck that.” Instead, he has voiced in more than one interview that he tends to think of a scene and then find a song in his music collection that fits the mood of the scene.

			It has only been in the past handful of films that Tarantino has felt confident in letting others join in and write music for his films, with the Kill Bill series being the first. And even then, he chose individuals he was friends with and that he knew were on the same wavelength as him (RZA and Robert Rodriguez). Instead, most of the orchestration heard in his movies is built around snatches of music from other films—especially the work of Sergio Leone’s regular composer Ennio Morricone—and music written for the radio.

			One could have a field day discussing all the musical cues from various films that have appeared in Tarantino’s movies, but as many of his most famous musical moments have been cued to radio hits. There is even an official CD release, The Tarantino Connection (Hip-O Records, February 1997), that features a collection of both well-remembered and more obscure choices from his film. This chapter will look at twenty of the most memorable songs used in Tarantino’s films, starting with one that we never get to hear at all, but certainly get to know a great deal about.

			“Like a Virgin”—Madonna

			Written by Billy Steinberg and Tom Kelly

			Released: November 1984

			Charts: No. 1 on Billboard Hot 100. No. 3 on UK Singles. Certified Gold in the U.S.A.

			Appearance in Film: Reservoir Dogs

			Tarantino as Mr. Brown explains why Madonna’s first number-one single is about a woman who has slept around but finally met her match with a man who has a huge penis. As can be seen in the film, most of the other characters are a bit uncertain as to this meaning of the song, so it should be read not so much as Tarantino’s commentary on the song, but rather his commentary on people thinking they know the answers when they don’t have a clue (which is a big theme in Reservoir Dogs). Tarantino has mentioned several times over the years that when he finally did meet Madonna, she told him that the song is about a woman feeling romantic love like a virgin, which is pretty much what everyone else in the universe thought anyway. But nice try on Tarantino’s part there.
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					Madonna’s Like a Virgin album, featuring the single of the same name. The song would be a hit for years before Tarantino would bring to the screen in Reservoir Dogs his own interpretation of the lyrics.

				

			

			“Little Green Bag”—George Baker Selection

			Written by Jan Visser and Harris Bouwens

			Released: October 1969

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 21, with 13 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Reservoir Dogs

			Heard as the gang heads from the restaurant to their cars for the commencement of the robbery. This is the opening credits sequence in the film, and the image of the group slowly walking has been parodied many times since, with “Little Green Bag” being used on the soundtrack to get the point across.

			“Stuck in the Middle with You”—Stealers Wheel

			Written by Gerry Rafferty and Joe Egan

			Released: November 1972

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 6, with 18 weeks on the chart. The single went Gold in the U.S.A.

			Appearance in Film: Reservoir Dogs

			Tarantino had considered some other songs to be used in the background during the torture scene between Mr. Blonde and Marvin Nash, but thought this song worked the best. During the audition period, he offered the actors a chance to substitute another song, but most agreed with his decision. Once Tarantino began seeing the actors play out the role with the song, he knew it was a good choice.

			Gerry Rafferty would go on to a solo career, having a hit with the song “Baker Street” off his City to City album.

			“Misirlou”—Dick Dale & His Del-Tones

			Written by Dick Dale, Fred Wise, S. K. Russell, Nicholas Roubanis, and Milton Leeds; based on a traditional folk song

			Released: 1962. Promotional CD single released in 1994 in connection with Pulp Fiction

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: Popular in the Los Angeles area at the time of release and now deemed one of the top “surf rock” songs ever, “Misirlou” failed to nationally chart at the time of release.

			Appearance in Film: Pulp Fiction

			After the sting of the opening sequence that finds Pumpkin and Honey Bunny knocking over a diner, the opening credits kick in with this classic surf song that helped to cement Dick Dale’s place in rock music history. The song is based on a folk song (some say Egyptian, some say Greek) that Dale sped up for the guitar (legend has it that a fan dared him to play a song using only one note, and he remembered his uncle playing the song as a kid). It appears on his first studio album, Surfers’ Choice. Many others have done their own versions of the song—including the Beach Boys—but it is Dale’s version that usually is remembered best today; certainly after its appearance in Pulp Fiction.

			“You Never Can Tell”—Chuck Berry

			Written by Chuck Berry

			Released: November 1964.

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 14, with 9 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Pulp Fiction

			The song Mia and Vincent dance to at Jackrabbit Slim’s. Tarantino supposedly picked the song due to the name of the characters’ names and the use of the phrase “C’est La Vie,” suggesting a 1950s French “New Wave” feel, which fit the mood of the dance.

			“Son-of-a Preacher Man”—Dusty Springfield

			Written by John Hurley and Ronnie Wilkins

			Released: November 1968.

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 10, with 12 weeks on the charts

			Appearance in Film: Pulp Fiction

			Mia puts this song on the turntable as she’s “getting ready” for her night out with Vincent (although she seems to be using it more to give her time to check out Vincent on the security camera). Tarantino has stated that he envisioned the scene with Springfield’s version of the song, and would have possibly dumped the scene if it had not been available for use. Springfield was a big star of the 1960s, who reemerged at the top of the charts after getting involved with the Pet Shop Boys and their 1987 hit “What Have I Done to Deserve This?”

			Of course, the next song is the one that is most remembered of the scenes set in Mia and Marsellus’ place.

			“Girl, You’ll Be a Woman Soon”—Urge Overkill

			Written by Neil Diamond

			Released: 1992 on the Urge Overkill EP, Stull; reissued as a single in 1994 in connection with Pulp Fiction (Neil Diamond’s original single of the track released April 1967.)

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 59, with 11 weeks on the chart for the Pulp Fiction reissue (Neil Diamond’s original single reached No. 10, also with 11 weeks on the chart.)

			Appearance in Film: Pulp Fiction

			Returning from Jackrabbit Slim’s, Vincent heads to the bathroom to contemplate his next move, while Mia puts the Urge Overkill version of this song on her sound system as a song to overdose by.

			Tarantino told Rolling Stone magazine (“Quentin Tarantino on Five Key Soundtrack Picks, From Reservoir Dogs to Inglourious Basterds” by Shirley Halperin, August 21, 2009) that he had spotted the EP by Urge Overkill while in Holland working on the Pulp Fiction script and decided to write a scene based around the song.

			“Across 110th Street”—Bobby Womack and Peace

			Released: December 1972

			Written by Bobby Womack (for the soundtrack of the movie Across 110th Street)

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 56, with six weeks on the charts

			Appearance in Film: Jackie Brown

			Used in both the opening and ending credits to Jackie Brown (when Jackie is racing to get to her plane at the beginning and leaving Max at the end). It’s an interesting song to use, as it is the theme to the 1972 Barry Shear movie Across 110th Street, starring Anthony Quinn and Yaphet Kotto, a film usually considered in the blaxploitation genre. The song, dealing with the struggle in the ghetto to rise above the hopeless and the losers, is a perfect example of Tarantino’s demands for a song to set the mood in a film without having the lyrics define the action. Jackie is struggling to get one last chance to break out of a life that she knows is leading her downhill fast, and the song is a perfect accompaniment to Jackie’s quest.
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					The movie poster for Across 110th Street, the 1972 film featuring a title song that would also become the theme song for Jackie Brown (1997).

				

			

			“Strawberry Letter 23”—the Brothers Johnson

			Released: July 1977

			Written by Shuggie Otis

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 5, with 19 weeks on the charts

			Appearance in Film: Jackie Brown

			Ordell convinced Beaumont to go for a very short ride in the trunk of his car, while this song can be heard on the soundtrack. The Brothers Johnson were George and Louis Johnson, who had a handful of hits in the 1970s during the sadly too-brief period where funk was as standard for a Top 40 radio station as pop and country. Shuggie Otis had a hit with the song before Quincy Jones got hold of it, sped it up a little, and funked it up for the Johnsons. Tarantino still needs to find a spot in one of his films for the Brothers Johnson’s other big hit, “Get the Funk Out Ma Face.”

			“Didn’t I (Blow Your Mind This Time)”—the Delfonics

			Released: December 1969

			Written by Thom Bell and William Hart

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 10, with 14 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Jackie Brown

			Max heard the song at Jackie’s place in Jackie Brown. And likes it so much that he gets a cassette tape of a Delfonics album featuring it. Near the end of the film, when Max is driving Ordell to his office to meet up with Jackie, the song kicks in on Max’s car stereo. Knowing Jackie likes the Delfonics, this sets up a tense moment where Ordell mentions Max having the cassette.

			The track can also be heard in Pulp Fiction as Vincent and Jules discuss the merits of a foot massage. The New Kids on the Block recorded a version of the song in 1989 that was an even bigger hit than the Delfonics version, but let’s move on.

			“Bang Bang (My Baby Shot Me Down)”—Nancy Sinatra

			Released: 1966

			Written by Sonny Bono

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: “Bang Bang” was a huge hit in 1966, reaching No. 2 . . . for Cher. Nancy Sinatra’s rendition is a cover version from the same year from her 1966 album How Does That Grab You? and was not released as a single.

			Appearance in Film: During the opening credits of Kill Bill, Volume 1

			The song was written and produced by Sonny Bono for his wife Cher on her album The Sonny Side of Cher. The song proved so popular that many other artists would do their own renditions. It tells the story about a girl who grows up with a boy who always won at their game of shoot-em-up, only for him to disappear after they marry, in a sense, emotionally shooting her down in the end. Sinatra’s version is a little deeper and more thoughtful than the Cher version, which fits in well with the theme of a movie about a woman who has her man literally shoot her down in order to win.

			The placement of Sinatra’s version in the film led to renewed interest in the song, which has appeared in a variety of television series and movies since.

			“Ironside”—Quincy Jones

			Released: 1971

			Written by Quincy Jones

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: As only a promo single was released for this track, the song did not appear on the chart.

			Appearance in Film: Kill Bill, Volume 1 and Kill Bill, Volume 2

			Every time Kiddo is about to go into action, the siren sounds from the theme of the NBC detective series starring Raymond Burr, Ironside, springs up. Tarantino pulled this from his having seen the crazed kung fu masterpiece Five Fingers of Death. As Tarantino told Tomohiro Machiyama in 2003: “People [in America] would bust up laughing because it was the Ironside theme. By the third time they heard it, they would be going, ‘Yeah! Kick ass, Lo Leih!’ I think it worked great. In Kill Bill, the third time you hear it, you know she’s going to kick some ass!”

			While this may seem a bit of a cheat to put this theme song in the list, it was recorded by Jones for his 1971 album Smackwater Jack (along with the theme from The Bill Cosby Show, featuring Cosby scatting), and there is a single available of the track, so it is being included here.

			“Woo-Hoo”—The 5.6.7.8’s

			Released: Original recording by the Rock-A-Teens released in 1959. 5.6.7.8’s recording first released in 1996 on their EP Bomb the Twist. Reissued in the UK as a single in 2004

			Written by George Donald McGraw

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: Rock-A-Teen version, No. 16, with 12 weeks on the chart. The 5.6.7.8’s version was never released as a single in the U.S.A., so there is no charting for it; however, it was released as a single in the UK, reaching No. 28 on the UK Singles Chart in 2004.

			Appearance in Film: Kill Bill, Volume 1

			The band playing in the House of Blue Leaves in Kill Bill, Volume 1 is the Japanese all-girl band the 5.6.7.8’s. Tarantino stated in interviews that he heard one of their albums playing in a clothing store in Japan and asked the counter help what it was. As he was on the run and didn’t have time to go to a music shop to find the album, he bought the store’s copy from the manager for 6 yen.

			Upon seeing that it was an all-girl group that played both American and Japanese songs, Tarantino slotted them into the scene as the club’s band. They perform two other songs in the film, both of which had appeared on their various albums and EPs—“I Walk Like Jayne Mansfield” and “I’m Blue”—but “Woo Hoo” is the one most people remember when thinking back on the scene.

			The interest in the UK that saw “Woo Hoo” getting on the charts there was a combination of interest from Kill Bill as well as the song’s appearance in a couple of television commercials in the UK.

			“Don’t Let Me Be Misunderstood” by Santa Esmeralda

			Released: The Animals released their version of the song in 1965; the disco remake from Santa Esmeralda was released in October 1977.

			Written by Bennie Benjamin, Gloria Caldwell, and Sol Marcus

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 15, with 18 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Heard as Kiddo and O-Ren fight in the snow in Kill Bill, Volume 1. Santa Esmeralda was a disco act out of France, recording an earlier hit with one of the Animals’ other hit songs, “House of the Rising Sun,” in 1977. The act still performs today, with a number of personnel changes since the 1970s.

			“A Satisfied Mind”—Johnny Cash

			Released: Recorded by Porter Wagoner and released in 1955, reaching No. 1 for Johnny Cash

			Written by Joe “Red” Hayes and Jack Rhodes

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: Exclusive to the Kill Bill, Volume 2 soundtrack and not released as a single. Wagoner’s version would reach No. 1 on Billboard’s Hot Country Songs list.

			Appearance in Film: As Budd returns from the strip club, he enters his trailer and puts on this song . . . as he waits for Kiddo to make her move. Hence a satisfied man (although in reflection he should have paid attention to the lyrics, as he quickly becomes unsatisfied—and dead—when money does come his way).

			The song has remained popular since Porter Wagoner reached No. 1 with it in the U.S.A., so there are various rerecordings over the years. Cash recorded the song in the early 2000s, and it is this recording that appears in Kill Bill, Volume 2. It would turn up on the posthumous Cash album American VI: Ain’t No Grave in 2010.

			“Baby It’s You”—Smith

			Released: 1969

			Written by Burt Bacharach, Luther Dixon, and Mack David. Originally recorded by the Shirelles in 1961

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 5, with 15 weeks on the chart, selling enough copies to go Gold in the U.S.A. The Shirelles’ version reached No. 8.

			Appearance in Film: Death Proof

			The song pops up a few times in the movie, more specifically in relation to both sets of women being stalked by Stuntman Mike. When Arlene sees Stuntman Mike for the first time, the song can be heard, while Jungle Julia and Arlene both dance to it in the Texas Chili Parlor. In the second half of the movie, Lee sings a bit of the song. In all, it is as if the song helps signal Stuntman Mike to start his entrapment of the women in both cases—once the song comes up, Mike moves in.

			Smith was a band out of Los Angeles who had their only hit with their version of “Baby It’s You.” They would record two albums before disbanding. The song was like “A Satisfied Mind” and “Bang Bang” in that many people recorded their own version over the years, including the Beatles. Smith had the biggest hit with it, however.

			“Hold Tight”—Dave Dee, Dozy, Beaky, Mick & Tich

			Released: February 1966

			Written by Ken Howard and Alan Baikley

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: Although popular in certain cities around the country, the song would not chart in the U.S.A. It did reach No. 4 on the UK Singles Chart.

			Appearance in Film: Death Proof

			Jungle Julia calls into her radio station and requests the song as she and the other women are going down a dark, lonely road, unaware that Stuntman Mike is heading straight towards them at great speed. As mentioned on Wikipedia and other sites, Sydney Tamiia Poitier mispronounces the band’s name multiple times when discussing them. Sure it wasn’t Dave Dee at the wheel in the Death Proof car?

			“Cat People (Putting Out Fire)”—David Bowie

			Released: March 1982

			Written by David Bowie and Giorgio Moroder

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 67, with 10 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Inglourious Basterds

			It’s set in the 1940s, and so you think that Tarantino would never go down the road of using a modern song for a period film, and yet—there it is, as Shosanna gets ready for her night of fire and vengeance—David Bowie’s “Cat People (Putting Out the Fire).”

			The song originally appeared in Paul Schrader’s remake Cat People (1981) in the closing credits of the film. As Tarantino told Ann Donahue for Billboard (“Tarantino Digs into Record Collection for Basterds,” August 21, 2009), “I’ve always loved that song and I was always disappointed at how Paul Schrader used it in Cat People because he didn’t use it—he just threw it in the closing credits. And I remember back then, when Cat People came out, going, ‘Man, if I had that song, I’d build a twenty-minute scene around it. I wouldn’t throw it away in the closing credits.’ So I did.”

			The song does cause a mild knee-jerk reaction by audience members that recognize it from Bowie to chuckle a bit at the recognition, but the lyrics do create a mood for Shosanna getting ready to go up in flames. After the initial shock, the song wears well in the scene, even if it is a bit anachronistic.
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					“Cat People (Putting Out Fire)” was the ending credits song to the 1982 film Cat People. Tarantino liked the song, but hated the placement of it in Cat People, so decided to use it in Inglourious Basterds in a manner he felt more fitting for the song.

				

			

			“I Got a Name”—Jim Croce

			Released: September 1973

			Written by Norman Gimbel and Charles Fox

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: No. 10, with 17 weeks on the chart

			Appearance in Film: Django Unchained

			Speaking of anachronistic. The song appears in Django Unchained as Django and Schultz begin Django’s training as a bounty hunter and going through the snowy mountains. Certainly one of the quieter passages in one of Tarantino’s movies (and the same in this list of songs, actually). The song, of course, invokes a meaning for a character like Django who is finally starting to find his own path now since becoming a free man, although still on a mission to get back his wife.

			Croce would record the song for a 1973 movie called The Last American Hero, then rerecord the song for his last album, also entitled I Got a Name. As it turns out, it was released the day after Croce died in a plane crash, making it a posthumous hit for him.
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					“I Got a Name” by Jim Croce, a 1973 hit for the musician, ends up becoming a defining theme for Django in Django Unchained (2012).

				

			

			“Ancora Qui”—Elisa Toffoli

			Released: As part of the Django Unchained soundtrack album December 2012

			Written by Ennio Morricone and Elisa Toffoli

			Billboard Hot 100 Ranking: Not released as a single in the U.S.A.

			Appearance in Film: Django Unchained

			At Candyland, as the dinner is being prepared and later when Broomhilda is brought up to Schultz’s room.

			Django Unchained was a first for Tarantino. He had allowed original music to be orchestrated for some of his later films, but Django Unchained was the first time he let artists write songs for the film that could be seen as singles. John Legend contributed “Who Did That to You?,” Rick Ross did “100 Black Coffins” (with Jamie Foxx appearing), and “Freedom” by Anthony Hamilton and Elayna Boynton was even released as a single (although not reaching the charts in the U.S.A.), but there’s something closer to the heart of fans in seeing Ennio Morricone writing a song specifically for the film. Although Tarantino had hopes of working with Morricone more extensively on the film, there’s at least the one song, and with Italian singer Elisa Toffoli (commonly referred to by her first name alone), it makes for an excellent stand-alone moment for Broomhilda as Django is about to reenter her life long after any hope of seeing him again has gone.

			There have been stories about Morricone saying that he did not like working on the picture, but he has since distanced himself from such statements, saying he was misquoted. One would hope there may be another chance for him or other original artists to work with Tarantino in the future. Although Tarantino has given us brilliant usage of prior hits and snippets of earlier movie soundtracks in his films, one wonders where he could go with his soundtracks if he worked with a composer from scratch. Perhaps his leanings towards allowing other artists to finally bring their original voices into his films—even for a moment—may mean an expansion in such efforts in the future.

		

	
		
			14
An Excellent View of My Foot

			Frequent Visuals and Concepts in Tarantino Films

			Whether you love or hate Tarantino, one of the first things you’ll learn from his movies is that he really has a deep, deep interest in feet. Namely the feet of the actresses in his movie. With lots of close-ups and nice lighting. Not gratuitous, mind you. No joke—he usually comes up with reasons within his scripts for his camera to pan down those gams and take a look at those toes (such as when Kiddo is trying to get her legs working again in Kill Bill, Volume 1, or Melanie being filmed only from the feet down in a sequence in Jackie Brown).

			Yet the—rather mild—foot fetish (well, okay, him getting to suck on Salma Hayek’s toes in From Dusk Till Dawn is a bit of a kink, but—hey—he didn’t even direct that one, so you can’t blame him) is only one type of cinematic touch that repeatedly turns up in his films. There are several that Tarantino has used, some of which are almost expected by fans when watching one of his movies (when possible; for example, the audience may not get the traditional “Trunk POV” in Inglourious Basterds, but we do at least get a nice “Corpse POV” for the finale).

			Besides such camera moves, Tarantino has also made a tradition out of certain props, clothes, or other elements that pop up in more than one of his movies. That gasoline can in Reservoir Dogs seems to travel a lot, for example. Such items can be seen as nothing more than coincidences, but others are clearly “Easter eggs”—a term that came into being when movies and television shows would be released on DVD with extra footage hidden on a disc and is now used to describe visual surprises in the background of movie scenes that may not be spotted at first, like the group of E.T.s in The Phantom Menace (1999).

			There are some elements that pop up in more than one film that could fall under this definition as well, but a lot of these are standard type of textbook camera shots that really do not represent a consistent Tarantino touch (such as sequences featuring people talking in cars, which is seen in 99 percent of movies anyway). There have also been homages to his earlier films that don’t quite fall into this category either (such as Kiddo in Kill Bill, Volume 1 making the “don’t be a square” hand sign as an obvious tribute to Uma Thurman’s earlier role in Pulp Fiction). Instead, this chapter details some of the various repeated visual treats and other tricks of the trade that Tarantino has used in more than one of his films that aren’t quite as noticeable until you’ve seen a few of his movies.

			Foot Shoot

			Since it has already been discussed, it is best to start with the big one. Tarantino tends to show feet in loving close-up in a number of his movies.

			My Best Friend’s Birthday—The script for this incomplete early film cowritten by Tarantino has Clarence, Tarantino’s character, admitting to a foot fetish.

			Reservoir Dogs—No, I’m messing with you. There’s no one who has feet that anyone would want to see in close-up in this film.

			Pulp Fiction—In dialogue there is the entire Tony “Rocky Horror”/foot massage dialogue that occurs between Jules and Vincent early in the film and is brought up again between Vincent and Mia at Jackrabbit Slim’s. It’s only fitting that our first view of Mia after seeing her lips is of her bare feet slowly swaying down the hall in her house. She is also barefoot in the dance competition at Jackrabbit Slim’s. Since the foot massage dialogue hints at how Marsellus deals with anyone even hinting at being intimate with his wife, Tarantino shows us this “temptation” often to remind us how close Vincent is to danger.

			As Esmeralda, the taxi driver talking to Butch after the fight, drives him away, there is a close-up of her foot on the pedal, and it is clear she is barefoot (this isn’t quite unusual for some drivers, actually).

			Four Rooms—Angela, the main female character in Tarantino’s segment of the anthology film, is barefoot throughout.

			From Dusk Till Dawn—Santanico Pandemonium is barefoot and lets Richie intimately know it, right before she reveals herself to be a vampire. Here we have Richie—a man with severe women issues—being completely dominated by a woman (who, as it turns out, is the major villain of the story as well). Richie also fantasizes about Kate (the daughter) while looking at her feet in the RV.

			Jackie Brown—Both Jackie and Melanie are barefoot at times in the film. The shot of Melanie’s feet in the women’s changing room is a nice bit of acting on Bridget Fonda’s part as she manages to convey Melanie having heard what Jackie advised and had made her decision with only her feet showing on-camera.

			Kill Bill—Kiddo is barefoot when the sheriff approaches her body in the church. She is also, naturally, barefoot in the hospital, and it is pivotal that the audience see her feet being “dead” and Kiddo working to get her toes moving once again. O-Ren runs across the table in her bare feet when attacking the boss at the end of the table in the meeting. We later get a close-up of her feet as she arrives at the House of Blue Leaves in traditional Japanese garb while wearing stockings, suggesting that O-Ren tries to present herself in a traditional Japanese role as the head of the Yakuza in order to avoid any talk of her mixed heritage.

			Kiddo is barefoot upon being buried alive and continued to be through the battle with Elle Driver in the trailer, suggesting a sense of vulnerability versus her attacker. Budd is barefoot when he meets his end with Elle. Both Kiddo and Bill are barefoot in their final confrontation.

			Death Proof—From the start of the movie, up through the convenience store scene in the second half of the film, there are feet sticking out all over the place. Of course, this leads to a whole limb being tossed off into the street after the fatal accident with Stuntman Mike’s car, so it goes to show that perhaps one should be more careful when in a car.
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					It’s all in the feet, and there’s plenty of them on display in Death Proof (2007), as seen here with Jungle Julia (Sydney Tamiia Poitier).

				

			

		  Inglourious Basterds—Bridget gets shot in the basement tavern, being stuck in the middle of the crossfire. This leads to her barefoot at a veterinarian’s office to get fixed up (leaving her shoes behind for Landa to find and match up to Bridget’s right foot at the theater). Landa has her take off her right shoe and put her foot in his lap and fondle it for a bit before verifying that “the shoe fits.”

			Django Unchained—Django and his fellow slaves at the beginning of the movie are seen barefoot, but of course this is not quite the same as other references given above (although it certainly shows the torturous existence of these men and women).

			Trunk Point-of-View (POV)

			From Reservoir Dogs onward, Tarantino has make frequent use of camera shots from inside the trunk of a car as characters open it up, typically so that they can display something inside to others with them.

			Reservoir Dogs—Mr. Blonde shows off the police officer he kidnapped to Mr. White and Mr. Pink.

			Pulp Fiction—Jules and Vincent get ready for their confrontation with Brett and his friends.

			From Dusk Till Dawn—Seth and Richie open up the trunk of their car to pull out their hostage at the hotel.

			Jackie Brown—Ordell convinces Beaumont to get into the trunk. We also see a shot from a trunk when Jackie is putting money into her clothing for the big fix.

			Kill Bill—Kiddo opens the trunk to reveal Sofie Fatale inside.

			Death Proof—In a slight reversal, the women open the hood of the 1970 Dodge Challenger to look at the engine.

			Corpse POV

			This is very similar to the Trunk POV, only it . . . well, it doesn’t involve a car. Otherwise it’s pretty much the same, although the camera angle is more perpendicular rather than at a 45 degree angle like it would be from a trunk. It’s referred to a “Corpse POV” as it indicates what a corpse would see. It’s not that unusual of a shot and can be seen in a variety of movies and television shows over the years (the classic cliché of the doctors and nurses above as a patient is being wheeled into an operation room), and the television series M*A*S*H built a whole episode around the use of this camera angle. Tarantino has also used a similar POV shot that has a character looking straight on into the camera while talking to or listening to another character (or as when Mia pulls her head up in the Jackrabbit Slim’s bathroom and is looking at herself in the mirror), but this is not as frequent as the “Corpse POV” used in the examples below.

			Pulp Fiction—As Marsellus wakes up after being hit by Butch in the car to see people starring down at him.

			Jackie Brown—After Odell is killed, such a shot appears from his cold, dead eyes to look up at Jackie and Ray, looking down at him.

			Kill Bill—The Deadly Vipers and later Sheriff McGraw are both photographed this way over Kiddo in the church. Budd looks at Kiddo in a similar fashion while preparing for her “final resting place.” Elle Driver is viewed briefly in a similar manner after Budd is attacked by her snakes.

			CSI: Crime Scene Investigation, “Grave Danger”—Such a shot appears in the two-parter finale Tarantino directed.

			Death Proof—Stuntman Mike gets a good look at one of the girl’s gams before getting his face smashed in at the end of the film.

			Inglourious Basterds—Landa looking up at the remaining Basterds after getting Lt. Aldo’s “masterpiece.”

			Bird’s-Eye View

			Sometimes referred to as the God Shot, Eye of God POV, or variations of that. It refers to an angle where the camera is directly above the action, as if looking down from the sky (hence, bird’s-eye view, or the angle God would see things from Heaven). Tarantino uses this shot in at least three of his films, most noticeably in the Kill Bill features.

			Jackie Brown—As Jackie gets the bag ready with the money in the plane’s bathroom, the camera takes on this angle to show off the money in the bag and the cramped conditions she is working within. There is also a similar type of shot later in the film in the women’s changing room when she put the money in the bag for Melinda to pick up.

			Kill Bill—In Vernita’s house. At least twice in the House of Blue Leaves fight sequence. Budd with the suitcase of cash in his trailer. Kiddo crying in the bathroom of the hotel room in the finale of the second Kill Bill movie.

			Django Unchained—The camera looks down on Broomhilda as water is poured on her once the sweat box is opened.

			Switch to and from Black-and-White Film

			Tarantino had envisioned such a switch in film in his script for Natural Born Killers (and even at one time considered filming Reservoir Dogs in black and white), but he would not get around to using the device until he got to the Kill Bill films. This was in part a necessity due to the violence of the scenes, as—to be frank—blood is a lot easier to take for a viewer (and the MPAA) if it looks like a lot of black stuff on someone’s face. In the first scene we see Kiddo bloodied and about ready to be shot, and it’s a scary image, but with it in black and white, it’s a little easier to watch than if seen with all the red blood. It should be mentioned that some directors feel the color of fake blood is usually so unnatural that filming in black and white conveys more of a sense of realism than if you had such scenes in color, although this may not agree with Tarantino’s thinking. In fact, the Japanese version of the film does not go to black and white during the House of Blue Leaves sequence, which suggests it was for self-censoring reasons as listed above.

			Obviously, the Nation’s Pride footage is in black and white for Inglourious Basterds. Albeit, it would not have been unreasonable for the Germans to have shot it in color if they wanted, as such an extravagance as a color film during the middle of the war would have shown the strength of the Third Reich, especially on such an important film. But let’s assume that Goebbels felt such a candy-coating on the film would have been detrimental to the subject matter. The only other Tarantino film that stands out with black-and-white footage is in the extended version of Death Proof, where we see Stuntman Mike and the second group of women at the convenience store. The color returned upon one of the women getting a can of Big Red from a machine.

			Let’s Eat

			Every Tarantino movie features at least one scene where everyone is sitting around a table and having either a drink or eating a meal.

			My Best Friend’s Birthday—Several scenes take place at a bar Clarence and Mickey frequent.

			Reservoir Dogs—The opening sequence is one of the most famous from Tarantino’s films. Mr. Orange meets with his police connection at a diner in a later part of the film and tells his story about the cops in the men’s room in a strip club/bar to Joe, Eddie and Mr. White.
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					Every Tarantino film has featured characters sitting around a table in either a bar or restaurant. Reservoir Dogs has more than one scene like this, including this one where Joe, Eddie and Mr. White heard Mr. Orange tell his story about the men’s room.

				

			

			True Romance—The script had Dickie eating chili dogs with Clarence and Alabama, but this scene was condensed into one where the group are driving to the Safari Inn in the film. There was also a scene at a restaurant where the mobsters are deciding what to do about Clarence, which was filmed in another location and then edited from the movie (see chapter 5 for more details on the deleted scene and why it was cut).

			Natural Born Killers—Mickey and Mallory are at a diner at the beginning of the film (albeit, at the counter instead of a table). Mallory’s family is at the kitchen table, but it’s not a Tarantino-written scene. His script featured a scene where Wayne and his crew are at a restaurant discussing the upcoming special they’re to film, but only portions of the dialogue survive in other parts of the film.

			Four Rooms—Not quite the same as the others, but there is certainly a lot of party food around during Tarantino’s segment of the movie.

			Pulp Fiction—Opening and closing diner sequences, of course. Mia and Vincent at Jackrabbit Slim’s. Marsellus and Butch discussing the fight at the club.

			From Dusk Till Dawn—The father telling his kids that he no longer could be a religious leader. The group at the Titty Twister, having a drink.

			Jackie Brown—The food court sequences. Jackie and Max at the cocktail lounge. Ordell having drinks with Louis at a bar and with Jackie at the cocktail lounge.

			Kill Bill—House of Blue Leaves where O-Ren’s group notice Charlie Brown for the first time and demand pizza. Budd finds out that things are not looking good for his job at the bar in the My Oh My Strip Club. Kiddo going into the diner to ask for a glass of water after digging out of her grave. Kiddo meeting up with Bill’s “father” at an outdoor bar to chat.

			Death Proof—The first group of women sit at a table and have drinks, while Stuntman Mike sucks down nachos at the bar. The second group of women having breakfast before checking out the Dodge from the newspaper.

			Inglourious Basterds—Shosanna is alone at a restaurant, reading a book early on. She soon after meets Goebbels at another restaurant. The Germans having a fun game around the table in the basement tavern. (One could also suggest the opening sequence with Landa and the farmer sitting in the farmer’s house.)

			Django Unchained—Dr. Schultz and Django having a beer in the saloon while waiting for the Marshall to arrive. Tarantino originally had a dinner sequence written to show how Scotty ends up losing Broomhilda to Candie, but it was cut when it was decided the scene was not needed. Schultz and Django join Candie for dinner when requesting to buy Broomhilda.

			Dancing!

			As seen in the previous chapter, Tarantino loves using popular music in his films and commonly will incorporate such songs so that the characters can react to them.

			Reservoir Dogs—Mr. Blonde momentarily dances to “Stuck in the Middle with You” before the torture scene.

			True Romance—Tarantino’s script has Clarence and Alabama dancing in his apartment rather than the “hot sex scene” Tony Scott inserted (no pun intended) into the film.

			Natural Born Killers—Mallory is frequently seen dancing and singing throughout the film. Tarantino’s script has her more singing than dancing, but this is a close approximation of what Tarantino had intended.

			Pulp Fiction—Mia and Vincent dance to “You Never Can Tell” by Chuck Berry for the dance competition. Mia also dances a bit to “Girl, You’ll be a Woman Soon” before nearly being dead soon.

			Jackie Brown—Simone performs for Louis while playing “Baby Love” by the Supremes.

			Kill Bill—Perhaps not quite in this category, but it could be seen as dancing when the 5.6.7.8’s perform at the House of Blue Leaves.

			Death Proof—Jungle Julia’s group of women prove how deadly dull a lap dance can be in the extended version of the film. Arlene and Julia both dance a little in the bar as well.

			Mexican Standoff

			The one thing that everyone suggests Tarantino ripped off from City on Fire had been a staple of moviemaking for years before and, according to Tarantino, even appeared in one version of his The Open Road script. It turns up in Reservoir Dogs, True Romance, Natural Born Killers, Pulp Fiction, and in Inglourious Basterds. It is also discussed in Natural Born Killers and Inglourious Basterds while in the middle of a Mexican standoff.

			Tied Up and Tortured

			Frequently, people are tied up and tortured, usually at the pleasure of the person doing the torturing rather than to extract information (True Romance is the only one that doesn’t fall into this category). One could almost bring Natural Born Killers into this, with the way Mickey and Mallory treat Wayne, but he’s more of a willing participant in the action, so it’s not the same.

			Reservoir Dogs kicks off the trend, with Officer Marvin Nash losing an ear to Mr. Blonde after already being beaten before Nice Guy Eddie turns up. Clifford is roughed up by Coccotti and his associates to find out where Clarence and Alabama have gone with the cocaine in True Romance. Butch and Marsellus are set to suffer greatly from Maynard, Zed and even the Gimp in Pulp Fiction. Kill Bill, Volume 1 has Kiddo roughing up Sofie Fatale, while Budd sets up the buried coffin as a deadly torture for Kiddo in Kill Bill, Volume 2. The C.S.I. episode featured a buried coffin as well as a means of torturing a person. Landa inflicts pain on Bridget in Inglourious Basterds before strangling her; Raine sticks his finger in her bullet wound as well. Django nearly has a nasty bit of work done on him in Django Unchained (and if the comic book adaptation is close, received some intensely nasty stuff from Stephen before being sent off to the mines).
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					Someone being tied up and either threatened with torture or—as in the case of this scene between Coccotti (Christopher Walken) and Clifford (Dennis Hopper) in True Romance (1993)—tortured is a common theme in Tarantino’s films. 

				

			

		  Distrust/Dislike for the Waitstaff

			Mr. Pink refuses to tip in Reservoir Dogs. The waitress is picked out to be killed in the diner scene in Natural Born Killers (this was in Tarantino’s script as well as in the movie). Buddy Holly isn’t much of a waiter in Pulp Fiction (well, no wonder—he’s Mr. Pink stuck in the very job he loathed in Reservoir Dogs; that’s what being on the lam will get you). Everybody working for Ordell screws him over in Jackie Brown. The entire staff at the Titty Twister in From Dusk Till Dawn are vampires (and not the nice, gentlemanly, “let me bite your neck” kind either). That sushi maker is hiding a dark secret in Kill Bill, and the staff at the My Oh My bar don’t treat Budd with any respect (not that he deserves it). Come to think of it, Bill’s employees in the Deadly Vipers are not very honest with him (Budd, Elle, and especially Kiddo all lie to him). That staff at the tavern in Inglourious Basterds all get killed in the shoot-out. The house slave Stephen turns out to be the mastermind behind the throne in Django Unchained. The only waitstaff to go without any suffering is that of the Texas Chili Parlor in Death Proof, and that’s because Tarantino is the bartender/owner there.

			All Roads Lead to Tennessee

			Nearly every one of Tarantino’s films makes mention of Tennessee, and usually Knoxville.

			The Bathroom

			Nearly every one of Tarantino’s scripts have featured scenes that take place in either a bathroom or restroom. You almost wonder why he didn’t have someone end up getting shot in an outhouse for Django Unchained, until you remember that it had already been done in Young Guns (okay, actually the guy hiding in the outhouse is shooting outward, but still . . .) and Unforgiven.

			My Best Friend’s Birthday—Clarence, Mickey and their women all hide out in the shower of Clarence’s apartment when the boyfriend turns up.

			Reservoir Dogs—Mr. Orange’s story about the drugs takes place in a men’s room. There is also a scene where Mr. White and Mr. Pink discuss what to do with Mr. Orange at the warehouse, but Mr. Pink then asks where the toilet is and is directed somewhere else, so it doesn’t quite count.

			True Romance—Clarence talks to Elvis in his apartment bathroom and later in the bathroom of the producer.

			Pulp Fiction—Butch discusses things with Fabienne in their motel bathroom. Mia snorts cocaine in the bathroom at Jackrabbit Slim’s. There’s a guy from Brett’s group hiding in the bathroom who comes out firing at Jules and Vincent. Jules and Vincent have to use Jimmie’s bathroom to clean up after killing Marvin.

			And it’s not surprising that Vincent seems to be involved a lot with these bathroom breaks, as a whole line of thought has emerged from fans over the years that Vincent is nearly guaranteed a life-changing moment every time he has to venture near the john. He heads to the bathroom at the restaurant, only to come back to find Pumpkin and Honey Bunny robbing the place at gunpoint. When he goes to “take a piss” at Mia’s place, he is gone long enough for Mia to mistake his heroin for cocaine and OD. And, alas, a trip to Butch’s bathroom gives Butch enough time to be ready to shoot Vincent dead once the pop-tarts are ready.

			But he did leave the guest towels bloody at Jimmie’s place, so perhaps it is deserved.

			From Dusk Till Dawn—The brothers avoid detection in the RV thanks to Kate pretending to be using the toilet.

			Jackie Brown—Jackie’s switch of the money in the plane’s bathroom.

			Kill Bill—Kiddo follows Sofie into the women’s room at the House of Blue Leaves. She dunks Elle’s head into Budd’s toilet during their fight in the trailer. We see a flashback to Kiddo finding out she’s pregnant in the bathroom of her hotel. Kiddo has a good cry in the bathroom of her motel room at the end of the film.

			Death Proof—Arlene has to go to the bathroom really, really badly at the beginning of the film. Tarantino’s script used this as a chance to show off Jungle Julia’s apartment, but the script also gives us the noisy sounds of Arlene peeing like a bloated banshee, so editing is our friend here. In perhaps not a coincidence, we later hear Lee (from the second group of women) discuss having a boyfriend who likes to watch her pee, suggesting the earlier audio sounds of Arlene peeing may have been there to put us in the voyeur position as much as Lee’s boyfriend and Stuntman Mike.

			Inglourious Basterds—In Tarantino’s script, Shosanna becomes so frightened while being interviewed by Landa that she pees herself while sitting in the chair eating strudel with him.

			Mirror Shot

			Bathrooms make for a good location for mirrors, which Tarantino had been playing with in his camera shots since the days of My Best Friend’s Birthday and his Sundance test footage for Reservoir Dogs. Mr. Orange uses one to calm himself as he gets into character in Reservoir Dogs, and Mr. White looks into one during the early aftermath at the warehouse. Clarence talks to Elvis while looking in the mirror in True Romance. Vincent talks to himself in the mirror at Mia’s place in Pulp Fiction. Jackie looks at herself in the mirror in the women’s changing room in Jackie Brown, while Ordell is reflected in glass as he sees Max with Jackie at the mall. Kiddo looks at her stomach after finding out she’s pregnant in Kill Bill, Volume 1. Stuntman Mike looks in the mirror in Death Proof.

			That Gas Can

			Mr. Blonde’s old-fashioned metal gas can must be a popular design—it turns up in the trunk of the car where they put Marvin in Pulp Fiction and in in Budd’s trailer in Kill Bill, Volume 2.

			A Samurai Sword

			Only two appearances for this weapon, but in both cases it proves to be affective—Butch uses it on the pawnshop pervs in Pulp Fiction, while everyone seems to have one in the Kill Bill films.

			White Honda Civic

			A good one pointed out by the Quentin Tarantino Archives website is the white Honda Civic that is driven by Butch in Pulp Fiction, Jackie in Jackie Brown, and parked in the parking lot at the My Oh My club in Kill Bill, Volume 2. Speaking of cars . . .

			Red Chevy Malibu

			The red Chevy Malibu that Vincent drives in Pulp Fiction—and which was Tarantino’s own car that he supposedly bought with the money he got from selling the Natural Born Killers script—also turned up in Four Rooms. In the late 1990s the car was stolen, but was recovered in 2013.

			Bruce Lee’s Jumpsuit

			Bruce Lee wore a yellow-and-black jumpsuit for the fight sequence in what would be released as Game of Death in 1978. The movie is well remembered by fans, although it was obviously released in a form that wasn’t what Lee had intended before his death in 1973. Because of that fight footage, there have been several homages to the outfit in a variety of films over the years, including Kiddo’s jumpsuit when she travels to the House of Blue Leaves and fights the Crazy 88 in Kill Bill, Volume 1.

			Kim’s car in Death Proof is also in yellow and black, in a similar homage to Game of Death (or perhaps Kill Bill by this point in time). Jungle Julia’s outfit in one of the billboards is the same yellow and black jumpsuit as Kiddo, and Lee’s cheerleading outfit is not only yellow and black, but has the name “Viper” on it. So in Death Proof we have homages to homages.

			The TCB Sunglasses

			Both Clarence in True Romance and Kiddo in Kill Bill, Volume 1 wear glasses fashioned after those worn by Elvis during the days of his TCB (Taking Care of Business) band.

			Black Suit, White Shirt

			No doubt about it, Tarantino likes a simple, defined look to his characters, and it has become a trademark of his early films that characters tend to wear black suits with white shirts (and if there’s a tie, it’s a 1950s-style straight tie in black). Reservoir Dogs set the stage of the look for his future films, but a quick glance at Clarence’s wardrobe in My Best Friend’s Birthday shows that Tarantino was getting close to the look even in the 1980s (and before the look was seen in City on Fire). Characters are dressed in similar fashion in Pulp Fiction, Jackie Brown, the Kill Bill films and even the C.S.I. episode. One could also say that the Basterds are dressed in a similar fashion when mingling with the Nazis at the theater, although those are standard tuxedoes and aren’t quite the fashion statement as in the other films.

			Of course, that style of dress would become quite popular in other films after Tarantino brought it back in Reservoir Dogs. Clothing wasn’t the only thing, however, that Quentin Tarantino influenced when it came to the movies, as the next chapter will reveal.
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Locks, Saints, and Smoking Aces

			Movies Inspired by Tarantino

			Just as Tarantino was influenced by other directors and writers before him, it was only natural for directors after Tarantino’s success to be tempted to follow his path. For those that were good at it, it was obviously not so much an attempt to rip off his style as using elements of it to enhance their own films. At its worst, it would end up with a movie that was a wholesale slaughter of Tarantino’s style without any understanding of what makes it all work.

			It should be noted that although the disjointed structure of Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction became a bit of a staple of crime films in the 1990s, it was not as if Tarantino invented the idea. Although he does not tend to use such elements in the type of “flashback to an important plot point” way that has become more common over the years, certainly such a sequence in movies have been popular since the day a guy threw Rosebud into the furnace. European directors, in whose work Tarantino as a film student (without schooling, but still a film student) immersed himself, found the use of time and space in films fascinating and would be as happy sticking such element in thrillers and dramas as in more experimental pieces. Meanwhile, there are elements of such displacement in John Boorman’s Point Blank (1967), and one can even point to Rob Reiner’s Stand By Me (1986) with the pie-eating contest story and the nature of the narrative in The Princess Bride (1987) for movies where the filmmakers felt they could journey outside of the audience’s comfort zone in order to tell their stories. Thus, when it occurs in other films, like in Paul Michael Anderson’s Hard Eight (1996), it would be so easy to say, “Oh, Tarantino stuff here,” but it’s not quite that simple.

			The shifting of time and space is only one component of Tarantino’s films that began to crop up more often as the 1990s wore on. Mobsters dealing with trivial matters (okay, you can see some of that in Coppola’s Godfather series and Scorsese’s Goodfellas, but Tarantino made it a norm in his films), the black-and-white dress code of the deadly characters, the various Mexican Standoffs (yes, he may have seen it elsewhere, but we sure do have a lot more of them in movies these days, don’t we?), violence with humorous elements, the juxtaposition of groovy, happy music against bloody scenes of revenge—all of these things can be linked back to Tarantino.

			There is also the fact that Tarantino’s success opened the gate for films to experiment more in the genre of violent thrillers. Not to mention that his success was used to help sell at least a couple of the movies listed below. While there have been many movies beyond those here that have played off—or even ripped off—Tarantino’s style, these are the best known that show some hints of his influence.

			Killing Zoe (1994)

			One of the earlier films branded as a Tarantino “knock-off” actually isn’t one at all. Oh, there’s a robbery that goes sour, and Tarantino is listed as the executive producer with Lawrence Bender, while Roger Avary wrote and directed, but that’s not enough to really say it’s like a Tarantino film. Still, with that heritage at work there, it was bound to happen, especially as the film was released during the whirlwind that came with the releases of Natural Born Killers and Pulp Fiction in the latter part of 1994.

			The film came about when Lawrence Bender saw a bank location that wouldn’t work for Reservoir Dogs’ filming, but was such a prime spot that he hated to see it get passed up. Asking around if anyone had a script that centered on a bank, Avary said he had one and then commenced in writing it in less than two weeks. As it turned out, the bank was no longer available for the picture by the time they were ready, but Tarantino had personally landed Eric Stoltz for the lead (see chapter 10 for more details), so the financing was there to get the film made anyway. Shooting in Los Angeles—only the beginning and ending montages of driving through the streets of Paris were done there—the film evokes an art-house feel, while giving the audience a caper adventure at the same time. This was one of the points Avary wanted to make, that a film could be both “art house” and for the “general public,” and in some ways it achieves that.

			Killing Zoe itself does not really register as being like a Tarantino film, however. If anything, it plays like a violent version of Dog Day Afternoon, rather than like a Tarantino one. Further, unlike Tarantino’s films, the criminals never come off as having some sense of decency or likability about them—except for Stoltz, everyone seems to come off as a stereotypical French snot, an element that works against the movie. This could explain why critical response was very mixed and the film didn’t make back its cost at the time.

			Still, it all comes back to the fact of who was involved in the making of the movie rather than the movie itself. Avary himself stated that his options were limited until he had Quentin aboard: “The blessing is, even though it wasn’t that much, it did help to have him on as executive producer. Everybody wanted a Quentin movie; they didn’t want a Roger movie,” as Avary told Manohla Dargis in the Village Voice (“Clerk Makes Good (the Sequel?),” September 6, 1994.

			Get Shorty (1995)

			John Travolta—fresh off the success of Pulp Fiction—appears as a tough-guy loan shark who takes care of people who haven’t paid their debts. He is joined by James Gandolfini (True Romance) in a smaller role, and there’s Danny DeVito, who helped produce Pulp Fiction. Meanwhile, it’s all based on an Elmore Leonard novel; the same Elmore Leonard that Tarantino was such a big fan of while growing up and whose novel Rum Punch Tarantino would make as his next movie as Jackie Brown. Thus, although Get Shorty doesn’t quite play like a Tarantino movie, so many elements are there that would not have been in place without Tarantino’s earlier films that there is no doubt about some of his influence behind the scenes in the movie.

			Suicide Kings (1997)

			A group of friends kidnap a powerful mobster in order to obtain money to help out one of them, but everyone has their own plans in mind for that money, including the man they kidnapped.

			There’s Christopher Walken, once again playing a mobster who ends up doing a lot of talking. The film also has time displacement; a cast of wisecracking, despicable individuals who are all out for themselves; and a denouement proving the bad guys—or really, really bad guys—do get it in the end. All part of the Tarantino map when it came to his earlier films.

			Lock, Stock and Two Smoking Barrels (1998)

			Guy Ritchie burst on the scene with this movie featuring a group of friends who end up getting mixed up with a bunch of other criminal types that have their own agendas. Everyone is introduced doing their own thing, and it is only little by little that everyone gets mixed in together with their own plans interfering with everyone else’s. At the time, there was strong critical reaction that Ritchie was playing off of the Tarantino formula, and would continue to do so in his next few films—Snatch, Revolver, and RocknRolla. However, to be fair, the narrative of Lock, Stock and Two Smoking Barrels also shows the influence of Danny Boyle’s 1996 film Trainspotting. Ritchie finally found his own mark with the two Sherlock Holmes films he made with Robert Downey Jr. (Sherlock Holmes and Sherlock Holmes: A Game of Shadows).

			Boondock Saints (1999)

			Troy Duffy’s film had a shaky start finding an audience, but thanks to video and certainly in some ways to the success of Norman Reedus as Daryl on the AMC zombie series Walking Dead, it has become a cult classic (stars Reedus and Sean Patrick Flanery sometimes even do signings at SF conventions now thanks to the interest in the movie). The Tarantino influence here is not quite in the usual ways, such as time-displacement and such, but is in the use of individuals who are fighting a bigger criminal force by sheer force of will and as many guns as possible. Although the film really plays like a Batman movie without Batman, there is still the ending sense of the really bad guys losing thanks to the work of the slightly lesser bad guys hanging around (albeit in this film, we’re not supposed to see them as being bad at all). Boondock Saints went on to have a sequel in 2009.

			Sin City (2005)

			Yes, Tarantino did direct a short segment in this movie, and it was done in collaboration with his sometime partner in crime, but there are other elements of the film that show the influence of Tarantino’s work. There’s a cast of famous stars—including Bruce Willis (Pulp Fiction, Four Rooms)—playing an assortment of criminal types. The unexpected violent humor popping up throughout the film. The hard-boiled dialogue. The time-displacement of the story lines that sees characters mingling between stories. The use of fancy gun-fu and sharp instruments. The women who all fight back on their own terms. All these things have been trademarks of Tarantino’s film work and had been played with enough in-between where Tarantino started in 1992 and 2005 that by the time Sin City does it, the audience isn’t thrown by it. Tarantino had proven that the occasional comic-book styling he achieves in his films can be accepted by the general public in films. Because of this, films like Sin City, Kick-Ass, 300, Watchdog, and even the recent Dark Knight series can dip into outlandish violence and not lost the ticket buyers (albeit to the bewilderment of critics).
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					Sin City (2005) actually contains a scene directed by Quentin Tarantino, but the film—based on a series of graphic novels by comic book artist/writer Frank Miller—probably would never have been made without the influence of Tarantino’s fantastical bloody action films of the 1990s. 

				

			

			Smokin’ Aces (2006)

			A bounty on an informant leads to multiple assassins, bounty hunters, and pretty much anyone handy with a gun trying to take out the man. One FBI agent tries to do his job, but there are other surprises in store for everyone as things are not quite what they seem.

			This film by Joe Carnahan, starring Ryan Reynolds, did fairly well at the box office, and with its number of characters from different walks of life all reaching a nexus point of crime, it is easy to see the connection to the world of Tarantino. A lot of this cartoon style of gun violence can be found in the world of Sin City and the subgenre it created, yet with the difference of trying to place that type of craziness into a real-world situation. It’s a world much like that of the Deadly Vipers in Kill Bill, and films like this, Lucky Number Slevin, Shoot ‘Em Up, The Expendables, Red, and a slew of others—some even with Tarantino veterans appearing in starring roles—show that many filmmakers have taken the hint and used that prototype for their own adventure crime movies in the years since.

			And speaking of the Deadly Vipers . . . .
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Any More Subordinates for Me to Kill?

			The Making of Kill Bill, Volume 1 & Volume 2

			Release Date: Volume 1—October 10, 2003; Volume 2—April 16, 2004; Whole Bloody Affair—March 27, 2011

			Tarantino finished Jackie Brown in 1997, and after promoting the film through the first part of 1998, he stated that he planned to take a year or two off to work on other things, just as he had after Pulp Fiction. First off was his starring role in Wait Until Dark in the first part of 1998, followed by acting roles in Little Nicky (2000) and the Alias series (2001–2006); a series of yearly film festivals in Austin, Texas (see chapter 29); and helping to produce some films. During all this time, when asked about what his next project would be, Tarantino would hint at an “epic” World War II film called Inglourious Basterds that he had been writing.

			But in light of how many other directors turn out a film every couple of years, or even yearly (or in some cases, even more than one a year), to see Tarantino not jumping in with another film straightaway became the talk of the town. Yes, it was obvious he was still doing things—acting, producing, and working with film appreciation—but with no new film, it was easy for some to say he was just coasting on his previous success. Yet Tarantino had always had an aversion to the career of certain directors he had admired that had fallen into traps where they were stuck taking any project and making do with what they could. “I don’t want any of my fans who are going to grow with me or maybe find my shit fifteen years from now—like I’ve done with other directors—and have them apologize for the last twenty years of my work,” Tarantino told Anthony C. Ferrante (“Fu Fighter,” Cinescape magazine, 2003). “I think one of the ways to combat that is to do it when it means everything to you. If not, live a good life.”

			So it was only as time went on that Tarantino decided to work on his next script, which really was Inglourious Basterds, but things got a bit out of control and he decided to pull back from it, as he told Ferrante in the same interview. “I started working on my war film and it was turning into my gigantic epic great novel. It was The Good, the Bad and the Ugly in Nazi-occupied France. But it started to become so big, I didn’t know how to stop writing it.” Putting it aside, Tarantino needed to find something else that he could easily jump into and turn into a proper script.

			Chancing upon Uma Thurman at an event, the two began discussing a script idea they had kicked around back when filming Pulp Fiction. Pulling out the thirty pages he had written a few years earlier before tucking it away and moving on to other scripts, Tarantino decided that he had found his next film.

			Or two.
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					European poster for Kill Bill, Volume 1.

				

			

		  Production

			Tarantino had envisioned completing the script for Thurman within a few months; instead, he spent the next year and a half writing the script, with periodic feedback from Thurman on polishing. Working on it, Tarantino first envisioned the role of Bill as being in the voice of his friend Samuel L. Jackson, but then decided to go with a different tone, thinking the character needed to be more like an evil James Bond or “killer pimp.” With that in mind, he showed his completed script to actor/director Warren Beatty, who was intrigued enough to sign on to the film in 2001, but then complications set in when Thurman announced she was pregnant in mid-2001. Having written the script with and for Thurman, Tarantino resisted attempts to have her replaced with another actress and instead decided to start filming after she gave birth to her son in January 2002.

			Because of the delay, Beatty opted out of the picture, suggesting that Tarantino go with the actor he kept trying to get Beatty to portray the character like—David Carradine. Carradine got the script in March 2002 and quickly signed on in the role of Bill (Carradine even provided the flute he had used in The Silent Flute [a.k.a. Circle of Iron]). In early April 2002, several of the principal actors were brought together to begin a six-week training program with Yuen Woo-Ping (Iron Monkey, The Matrix trilogy, Crouching Tiger, Hidden Dragon) in order to get into proper shape for the film’s action sequences. Tarantino at that point planned to play the role of Pai Mei himself, and was in the training with the others, but as David Carradine pointed out in his book about his experiences in the making of the film, The Kill Bill Diary (Harper, 2006), Tarantino would leave to work on related things on the film, thus ditching the training while everyone else continued to work, leading to a bit of a strike by Vivica Fox and some of the others when he began to push them to concentrate on their training. Eventually Tarantino decided to fall back into the sole role of director and signed on martial-arts movie legend Gordon Liu to take on the Pai Mei role (in a bit of a twist, Liu had appeared in a 1980 film called Fists of the White Lotus where his character fought against Pai Mei, a legendary master of martial arts that has been portrayed as both hero and villain in various martial-arts films over the years).

			Behind the camera was Robert Richardson, who had worked on several of Oliver Stone’s film, including Natural Born Killers, and would go on to be director of photography for not only the Kill Bill films but Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained. As expected, David Wasco and Sandy Reynolds-Wasco were back, but this time joined by Yohei Taneda on production design and Yoshihito Akatsuka on set decoration. Sally Menke, of course, did the editing. Costume designs were by Kumiko Ogawa and Catherine Marie Thomas. Stunts and effects were from a mixture of teams in the U.S. and Asia, with the aforementioned Yuen Woo-Ping and his crew helping with the fight and training sequences. The films also saw the debut of Zoe Bell as the main stunt double for Thurman. Bell impressed Tarantino and became the star of his next film, as well as appearing in stunt roles for both Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained (which also featured her in a small acting role).

			Filming began in Beijing, China, and moved on to Los Angeles in September 2002 and completed in December, with additional pickups done in January through March 2003 in order to get the picture into shape. The delays came into play when it became clear that the movie would run four hours, and everyone agreed that it was too long and would try the patience of an audience—particularly one expecting an action film (which rarely would run longer than ninety minutes; even the Bond pictures were consistently being criticized as being too long at just over two hours). It was then suggested that perhaps the best thing to do was—instead of trying to edit the film down to get it closer to two hours—to cut the film into two halves; releasing one a few months after the other.

			Tarantino was enthusiastic about the idea, as he felt he had enough material to easily cut the films—with some additional shooting here and there—so that they worked as two separate films. “I’ve always designed different versions for Asia and for America and Europe,” he told Playboy magazine in October 2003. “In the last month of shooting, when Harvey Weinstein came to the set and brought up the idea of splitting the movie into two parts, within an hour I had figured out how it could work. We shot two opening sequences, all kinds of stuff.” It would take time to edit the films into proper order, however, leading to them not being ready in time for Cannes 2003, which had been their original intended premiere. Instead, it would be October 2003 when the first film, released as Kill Bill, Volume 1, would premiere in the U.S.A., with the subsequent film appearing in April 2004.

			In 2006, the two films were combined into one long film and shown at Cannes that year as Kill Bill: The Whole Bloody Affair. Eventually, this version would be seen again in 2011, although without some promised additional animated footage that Tarantino thought could be added to it. In July 2014, at the San Diego Comic-Con, Tarantino was asked about the combined edition of the film. In response, he stated that the extended version, with a half-hour anime segment describing O-Ren’s rise in power done by the Japanese anime studio I.G., would possibly see a limited theatrical run in 2015.

			Cast

			Uma Thurman as Beatrix Kiddo

			See chapter 10 for more details.
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					Uma Thurman as Kiddo, a character she helped create with Tarantino several years before the script was finally completed, and always with the intention of Thurman playing the role.

				

			

			David Carradine as Bill

			Born John Arthur Carradine, David was the son of famous/infamous character actor John Carradine, who appeared on stage and in films so often that it was hard to think of anything turning up on television in black and white that didn’t have him somewhere chewing the scenery. David slipped into television and films in the 1960s, eventually hitting his stride with the successful movie Boxcar Bertha (directed by Martin Scorsese and costarring Carradine’s partner Barbara Hershey) and the series Kung Fu, both in 1972. Drugs and stardom led to issues for Carradine, and he only occasionally appeared in films, most of which were not helpful to his career (although, truth be told, some of his films such as Circle of Iron and Death Race 2000 are better remembered today than some of his “A picture” appearances). He returned to television in an updated version of Kung Fu called Kung Fu: The Legend Continues from 1993 through 1997 and had appeared in a number of films when Tarantino contacted him about appearing in Kill Bill. Carradine seemed to be on the road back to major success, but his tendency to grab any job coming his way led to lesser films afterwards. He died while on location for his last film in 2009 in circumstances that some say appear to be anything from suicide to murder to “misadventure.” As with his father before him, films with never-seen performances by David continued to be released for years after his death.

			Lucy Liu as O-Ren Ishii

			Liu jumped between television and films in secondary parts during the early 1990s before finding breakout success in the role of Ling Woo on Ally McBeal in 1998. She had large roles in Shanghai Noon, Charlie’s Angels and Chicago before signing on to the Kill Bill films. She moved on from the films to others and back to television, where she has been featured in starring roles in both Southland in 2012 and Elementary (2012 and onward).

			Daryl Hannah as Elle Driver

			Hannah first became really noticed after appearing as Pris, the sadistic replicant in Ridley Scott’s film Blade Runner (1982). She showed a comic side two years later as a mermaid in Splash, directed by Ron Howard and starring Tom Hanks. She appeared in films such as Steel Magnolias (1989), Roxanne (1987), and the Grumpy Old Men series before getting the role of Elle in the Kill Bill films. She has worked on a number of action-oriented films for the SyFy Channel and others since then.
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					Daryl Hannah as Elle Driver, in a posed photo outside of the chapel. All the female characters in the Kill Bill films turn out to be much more aggressive than their male counterparts. 

				

			

			Vivica A. Fox as Vernita Green

			Fox first appeared in Oliver Stone’s 1989 film Born on the Fourth of July in a small role. She had a much larger one playing opposite Will Smith in Independence Day in 1996, then appeared in a smaller role again in Batman & Robin (which featured Uma Thurman). Films such as Soul Food (1997), Kingdom Come (2001), and Two Can Play That Game (2001) got her additional notice before being signed on for the role of Vernita in the Kill Bill films. She has worked in television and films since then.

			Michael Madsen as Budd

			See chapter 4 for more details.
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					Michael Madsen returns to Tarantino country finally as Budd, Bill’s brother, member of the Deadly Vipers and the only character to get the better of Kiddo during the course of the two films. 

				

			

			Michael Parks as Sheriff McGraw and Esteban Vihaio

			Parks was the star of the cult favorite television series Then Came Bronson (1969–1970). He appeared in a number of films and television after that, but is best known by Tarantino fans for his recurring appearances as Sheriff Earl McGraw in a number of Tarantino films and related films. See chapter 18 for more details on how he ended up getting the part of Esteban in Volume 2.

			Julie Dreyfus as Sofie Fatale

			A French actress with roots in Japan, she was perfect for the role of the multicultural Sofie in Kill Bill. She popped up in Tarantino’s next film, Inglourious Basterds, in 2009 as the interpreter Francesca Mondino.

			Sonny Chiba as Hattori Hanzo

			Chiba became an American sensation with the release of The Street Fighter in 1974—the first martial-arts film to get an X rating in the U.S. based solely on violent content (it’s also the film Clarence is watching at the theater in True Romance). Chiba went on to do a handful of sequels for Street Fighter, along with other films, and appeared as Hattori Hanzo and various descendants in the series Shadow Warriors.

			Gordon Liu as Johhny Mo and Pai Mei

			A trained martial artist, Liu achieved fame in a number of martial-arts movies of the 1970s, including 5 Shaolin Masters (his first film in 1974), but especially in films such as The 36th Chamber of Shaolin and Dirty Ho. He appears in the Tarantino-related film The Man with the Iron Fists in 2012.

			Chiaki Kuriyama as Gogo

			Kuriyama caught the attention of many violent films fans after seeing her in the controversial Battle Royale (2000). She also appeared in the popular Ju-on: The Curse the same year, as well as the pivotal character in the ghost story Shikoku (1999). She has appeared on several television shows in Japan and has recorded music, including a 2011 album. As she has stated herself in interviews, her American appearances have been limited due to her lack of English skills.
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					Chiaki Kuriyama as Gogo Yubari, the female bodyguard that nearly takes out Kiddo near the end of the first Kill Bill film. At the time of the film’s release, some American viewers were already familiar with Kuriyama’s work in such films as Battle Royale (2000) and Ju-on: The Curse (2000). 

				

			

			Samuel L. Jackson as Rufus

			See chapter 10 for more details.

			Sequential Plot

			A teacher in a first-grade class calls for “Beatrix Kiddo” while doing attendance. The Bride raises her hand and says, “Here!”

			In 1990, years later, Kiddo and her master/lover, Bill—a criminal with his own team of assassins, called the Deadly Viper Assassination Squad—are heading to meet Pai Mei at the White Lotus Temple. Pai Mei was Bill’s master in martial arts, and he leaves Kiddo there to train. She becomes so good that she learns how to punch her way through solid wood from a short distance and eventually is taught the Five Point Palm Exploding Heart Technique before leaving three years later.

			Kiddo is given the codename of Black Mamba in Bill’s assassination team. One of the other members is O’Ren Ishii, a half-Chinese/half-Japanese-American who kills the head of the Yakuza at the age of eleven after the man rapes and murders her mother and kills her father. She grows up to join Bill’s team. Another member is Elle Driver, who trained with Pai Mei for a time before poisoning him after he plucked out one of her eyes.

			On a job in Los Angeles, Kiddo finds out she is pregnant. She disappears and starts a new life as a clerk in a record store in El Paso, Texas, where she plans to marry the owner of the store. On the day of the wedding in a small desert wedding chapel, Kiddo—now heavily pregnant—finds Bill waiting. Bill appears to be there to see her off, but instead has the Deadly Vipers—which includes O-Ren and Elle, along with Vernita Green and Bill’s brother Budd—kill everyone except Kiddo. They then beat her up, but leave her for Bill to shoot her in the head as a finishing touch. In the last moment before Bill can shoot, Kiddo admits that the baby is his. Whether by accident or design, Bill misses his point-blank target and instead of killing her, sends Kiddo into a coma.

			While Kiddo lies in her coma, Elle nearly kills her at the hospital, but is talked out of it by Bill. Budd drops out and becomes a bouncer at a strip club in the middle of nowhere. Vernita changes her identity and marries, giving birth to a girl, while O-Ren becomes the head of the Yakuza.

			Five years later, Kiddo wakes up to find her baby is gone. She kills one man who had raped her while in a coma and another who was about to, and steals a truck, with an aim to get revenge on all who wronged her. Heading to Japan, she obtains a sword from Hattori Hanzo and then kills O-Ren and nearly all of her guards in the “Crazy 88” at the House of Blue Leaves. She returns to Los Angeles to take out Vernita—regretfully in front of her four-year-old daughter— and then tracks down Budd.

			Budd at first seems to be ready for his fate. Instead, he’s the only one of the Vipers who gets one over on Kiddo, and manages to put her in a wooden coffin under six feet of dirt in a cemetery. Kiddo escapes and heads back to Budd’s, but Budd is already dead—a victim of Elle. Kiddo fights Elle in Budd’s trailer and plucks out Elle’s other eye, leaving Elle alive but blind.

			Arriving at Bill’s hacienda, Kiddo is stunned to find that her daughter is alive. After a peaceful night with B.B. (the daughter’s name) and some regrets issued from Bill, the two fight. Looking about ready to lose, Kiddo surprises Bill with the Five Point Palm Exploding Heart Technique, killing him as they make their peace. Kiddo leaves with her daughter, and “the lioness and her cub” drive off to a new life together.

			The Script

			Although the script was eventually cut into two films, since that decision didn’t come until late in the production, the differences between Tarantino’s full script and what appears on the screen in the two films are discussed below:

			•	The Shawscope logo and “Our Feature Presentation” clip do not appear in the script.

			•	The Klingon quote is not stated as being a Klingon quote in the script.

			•	We see the other bodies around Kiddo in the opening scene, instead of just the close-up of Kiddo. Also, Kiddo mentions being pregnant to Bill before saying the baby is his, which no doubt was cut as it later becomes obvious that she is pregnant.

			•	After the opening credits, Kiddo in voice-over names everyone killed in the wedding chapel. It cuts to her in the car, talking directly to the camera and explaining her plan to kill Bill. This is moved to the opening narrative of the second film, and would eventually be removed altogether for the Whole Bloody Affair (WBA) version.

			•	Kiddo and Vernita discuss many more details of their upcoming duel under “Deadly Vipers” rules before Vernita lets loose with the cereal.

			•	Chapter Two is listed as “The Comatose Bride” instead of the movie-related title of “The Blood-Splattered Bride.” There is no scene of Sheriff McGraw being told what occurred and finding Kiddo is still alive. Instead it goes straight to the scene with Elle arriving to kill Kiddo. In the script, we only hear Elle’s side of the conversation, and there are no cut-ins of Bill playing with his sword while talking. The ending of the sequence is cut, where Kiddo, still in a coma, spits in Elle’s face, and in which Elle responds by punching her in the mouth three times before walking off and ignoring a doctor’s cry to help a dying patient.

			•	Kiddo reads the lines on her hands to be four years instead of five as in the script.

			•	There are two truckdrivers who arrive to rape Kiddo. In the script, she sees them as Bill. The truckers’ deaths in the script are different than in the film.

			•	The script goes through a lot of information to show how Kiddo found money (first with Buck’s wallet and later with money and I.D.s she had hidden when starting her new life). None of which appears in the film. She also pulls out vials of Bill’s truth serum from a safe-deposit box while collecting her weapons and money.

			•	As Kiddo narrates about the Deadly Vipers, the script calls for what looks like the opening credits to a late 1960s television series about the Deadly Vipers, complete with animation. It then goes into the narrative about O-Ren’s past as in the film.

			
				
					[image: 16_03.jpg]
				

				
					The Deadly Vipers—Vernita, Budd, O-Ren, and Elle—wait outside the wedding chapel for their invitation to Kiddo’s wedding.

				

			

			•	O-Ren’s past is not stated as being in an anime style. She is eleven in the script when her parents are killed, rather than nine as in the film. She is thirteen when she gets her revenge instead of eleven as in the film. It is also mentioned that the Vipers killed eight at the chapel when they should have killed nine; it is nine and ten in the film.

			•	There is more dialogue while looking to get the sword, as well as when Hanzo presents the sword to Kiddo. This final dialogue is instead moved to the end of the first film while Kiddo is writing out the names on her list.

			•	In the script, the rise of O-Ren in the Yakuza was to have been depicted in anime style. The script also states that she was twenty when she took over, which conflicts with earlier information about her character, so it is no surprise it was cut from the film.

			•	There is no introduction to Johnny Mo (who is Mr. Barrel in the script) and Gogo during O-Ren’s meeting with the Yakuza. No doubt these were added to the film when Tarantino got the particular actors for the roles. Sofie’s introduction comes later in the script, during the opening segment at the House of Blue Leaves.

			•	O-Ren’s speech to the Yakuza bosses is different, with the script having the men all bow to her.

			•	The script cuts directly to the House of Blue Leaves, with none of the exposition of Kiddo flying to Japan and driving the motorcycle to the club.

			•	There is no walk through the club for the Crazy 88, no band playing, and no Charlie Brown exchange in the script.

			•	The death of Gogo is slightly different. In fact, as expected, while Tarantino’s script is very inventive in devising fight moves, much was changed and added on the set for the Crazy 88 fight once the stunt team had a chance to come up with ideas.

			•	An entire dialogue between Kiddo and Johnny Mo/Mr. Barrel is excised in the film. In the script, Mo/Barrel decides to quit after O-Ren offends him and walks off instead of fighting Kiddo to the death.

			•	O-Ren has a touch more dialogue after getting her head sliced open.
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					Lucy Liu as O-Ren Ishii, the female assassin who ends up becoming the head of the Yakuza, and who ultimately loses her head in the snowy garden of the House of Blue Leaves in Kill Bill, Volume 1. 

				

			

		  •	In the script, Kiddo gives Sofie an injection of Bill’s truth serum and cuts off her other arm before dumping her with a warning. Instead, in the film we just see her dumping her off. In the script, Kiddo asks about Gogo’s sister, Yuki. Sofie states that when she finds out about Gogo’s death, she’ll cry, drink, and “start trouble.” This leads into a sequence seen earlier in the movie about Gogo, where she kills a man at a bar who is hitting on her. Instead, it is Yuki who is drinking and then killing in the script.

			•	When Bill gets to Sofie, there is no mention of the truth serum. Kiddo keeps Sofie alive for one reason in the script, two in the film.

			•	In the script, Bill tells Yuki where to find Vernita.

			•	The script has no mention of the flash-forwards seen of Elle and Budd, nor the flashback to Kiddo asking Bill how he found her. There is no mention by Bill about B. B. being alive as seen in the first film. Instead, we see a sequence where Hanzo sews up Kiddo’s wounds.

			•	The next sequence (Chapter Five) is “Yuki’s Revenge,” which is covered in more detail in chapter 18.

			•	The next chapter (Chapter Seven) was also cut, which was to be called “Can She Bake a Cherry Pie?” It involves an earlier moment with Bill showing off his assassination skills and is also covered in chapter 18 when discussing L. F. O’Boyle. As mentioned in that chapter, the scene was cut when Tarantino felt Bill’s introduction coming from the “Massacre at Two Pines” scene worked better.

			•	The next scene in the script is “The Lonely Grave of Paula Schultz,” rather than “Massacre at Two Pines,” which was written into the script at a later date.

			•	In the script, Elle is with Bill when he goes to see Budd, but that is not the case in the film (it makes more sense for Elle to arrive later on her own anyway than already being with Bill). Their dialogue is longer in the script.

			•	In the film, the card for the chapter is one of the few in either film that does not have a black background (it appears over Budd driving up to the strip club after Bill and Budd talk, while in the script it appears before they even meet up).

			•	There is a long sequence with Budd talking to the club’s owner, which is not in the script. It is only mentioned that he is late, although the other aspects of his “crappy” job are evident. The script has Kiddo observing Budd doing his job in the crowded club, rather than Budd going home after being effectively fired.

			•	Budd shoots Kiddo in the buttocks as well as the chest in the script. They don’t exchange words as in the film.

			•	Budd calls Elle while she is working out, instead of having a smoke as in the film. He admits that he swore that he would never kill another human being, but looks as if he’s about to go back on that.

			•	Budd does not mention Kiddo breaking Bill’s heart in the script before shutting the coffin. Kiddo has a dialogue with herself in the script that is not in the film as she tries to figure out how to get out of the coffin.
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					Kiddo in a grave situation during the course of Kill Bill, Volume 2. Tarantino would soon come back to the concept of the living burial for his two-part story on CSI: Crime Scene Investigation that aired on CBS in 2005.

				

			

			•	The script has Budd calling Elle to let her know that Kiddo was suffering, to the delight of Elle.

			•	The script has Kiddo showing Pai Mei she can punch through wood. He then moves the wood closer and has her start again. Instead, in the film, we only see that she has been able to learn it as she breaks through the coffin lid.

			•	Kiddo finds Budd’s sword much later in the fight with Elle than in the script. In the script, Elle does not explain that she killed Pai Mei, Kiddo’s master—an ultimate need for revenge in kung fu films.

			•	Kiddo kills Elle in the script but not in the film, merely (merely?) ripping out her good eye instead and leaving her behind in the trailer. Tarantino’s script actually has them finding sisterhood in Elle’s last moments, which—naturally enough—isn’t there in the film. Again, as expected, the fight sequence between the script and the film is vastly different once on the set. And certainly no eye-squishing in the script.

			•	“Last Chapter: Face to Face” in the film is called “Final Chapter: The Blood-Splattered Bride” in the script.

			•	Kiddo goes to see Bill’s father figure in the film, but this does not appear in the script. Instead, some of Viharo’s dialogue about Bill as a child turns up later from Bill discussing what Viharo was like.

			•	In the script, Bill arranges a number of flowers in his hacienda for the eventual meeting with Kiddo, while Kiddo plans to assassinate him from afar. However, after seeing B. B. and realizing who it is, she decides not to at the last second. She instead calls him as they drive towards each other. Bill attempts to kill her with a gun as they pass each other, but he misses and they promise to meet for dinner at his place later.

			•	Kiddo calls Hanzo to announce to him that her daughter is alive.

			•	At the hacienda, Kiddo kills some of Bill’s servants before they get together.

			•	Much of the dialogue between Kiddo, Bill and B. B. is the same as in the film.

			•	In the film, we see Kiddo watching a movie with B. B. and then going to the living room to talk with Bill. In the script, she goes outside to the beach for their final battle.
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					David Carradine as Bill, the instigator of the series of events that leads to his own death in the Kill Bill films. The films would help relaunch Carradine’s career, at least momentarily. 

				

			

			•	Oddly, in the script, the truth serum Bill has invented appears twice early on in the script but not at the end where it is the only time it appears in the film, when Bill shoots Kiddo with the drug to hear her story.

			•	Kim congratulates Kiddo after finding out she’s pregnant in the film, while in the script she insults Kiddo before running off.

			•	In the script, Kiddo and Bill fight on a beach with the ocean behind them. In the film, it is at a table.

			•	It’s a ten-point-palm-exploding-heart technique in the script instead of five in the film.

			•	Kiddo thanks God in the motel bathroom, while in the film she only says “thank you.”

			•	The script ends with Kiddo watching television with B. B., as in the film.

			•	Shot for the film, but not in the script, nor in the finished film was a sequence that was at one point going to introduce Bill in the second half of the film/second film when the “Can She Bake a Cherry Pie” segment didn’t seem to work anymore (covered in more detail in chapter 18).

			The Backend

			Some fans had issues with Tarantino switching to black and white during a portion of the House of Blue Leaves attack, but it was a clever way to deal with the amount of spraying red stuff everywhere, which allowed the film to squeak by with an R rating by the MPAA. As for fans who needed to have everything in full color, there was always the Japanese import that showed the footage in color anyway. Meanwhile, the American Humane Association rated the use of the animals in Volume 2 as “Questionable,” which is the lowest score any of Tarantino’s films have received from the association. The snakes attacking Budd were not real, but the one that lashes out at Kiddo later was, and had three trainers on the set for the snake that had its venom glands removed. All the snake action was observed by the AHA, but additional footage shot in Mexico for the scene of Kiddo arriving at the bar to discover where to find Bill was not, which led to the “Questionable” rating. Entertainment Weekly, in their October 3, 2003, article about the filming, mentioned live chickens being tossed off trucks and Uma Thurman accidentally killing one of the chickens when trying to work the stick shift on the vehicle she was driving. Since the AHA could not verify the information listed, they could not give the film an approved endorsement.

			Critical reviews were—once again—mostly positive, although some critics were annoyed at what they saw as Tarantino falling back to the safety of violence after the rather restrained Jackie Brown in 1997. The main thing to note of the professional critical reviews is that if some felt Tarantino was falling back on what he had done before, the critical response certainly was doing the same. Reviewers that had earlier enjoyed Tarantino’s work were overly positive, while those who had tired of Tarantino were quick to find things to dislike. Roger Ebert gave four out of four stars for both films, stating, “Websites have already enumerated his inspirations—how a sunset came from this, and a sword from that. He isn’t copying, but transcending; there’s a kind of urgency in the film, as if he’s turning up the heat under his memories.” Peter Rainer of New York magazine called Tarantino “about as uncynical as a movie geek can be” with his two films, while Todd McCarthy at Variety remarked that “what Quentin Tarantino started with a wham he finishes with a bang in Kill Bill, Volume 2.”

			Kill Bill, Volume 1 opened on October 10, 2003, against Clint Eastwood’s Mystic River, while School of Rock and Eli Roth’s Cabin Fever were still playing in theaters. For an estimated budget of $30 million on the first film, it made $70 million in the U.S.A. and an additional nearly $111 million worldwide for a total of $181 million. Kill Bill, Volume 2 premiered on April 16, 2004, against the poorly received The Punisher and the panned Van Helsing three weeks later. The only real action film that came close to it was Hellboy, released two weeks before. Otherwise, for a film at another estimated $30 million to produce, it made $66 million in the U.S.A. and then $86 million in foreign markets for a total of $152 million. A combined total of $333 million, which isn’t bad for a two-picture film event that some thought was a risk for Miramax to pursue.

			In May 2006, Tarantino combined the two films to present a full-length version as he had originally envisioned it. Called Kill Bill: The Whole Bloody Affair, it would later get a small release in 2011. The differences between it and the Volumes are:

			•	In the WBA edition, the “Old Klingon Proverb” card at the beginning of the film is gone. In its place is a card that reads, “This Film is dedicated to master filmmaker. Kinji Fukasaku 1930-2003.”

			•	There are two additional shots in the kitchen scene; one is a close-up of coffee being poured in two cups and another a medium-shot of Kiddo arriving in the kitchen when she asks for a towel.

			•	In the anime, O’Ren’s father hits one of the attackers twice instead of just once.

			•	O-Ren’s attack on Matsumoto in the anime is longer, leading to a shot of the man’s body being completely opened up.

			•	The attack at the House of Blue Leaves is, as most fans know, in color rather than in black and white as seen in most parts of the world. Some effects shots are also held longer and show more blood in the WBA version.

			•	After Kiddo pulls out the eye, she tosses it into the mouth of another Crazy 88 member, who proceeds to choke on it, to the disgust of Sofie, who is watching elsewhere.

			•	After slicing through one of the Crazy 88’s neck with her sword, she slices off the mask of one member who is nothing but a kid—the same one we see later in the action being spanked by Kiddo. She throws him into the pool unhurt, taking a lot of his fellow Crazy 88’s with him.

			•	The Crazy 88 member that Kiddo stands on tries to attack her and she slices off his arms, causing him to fall in pain.

			•	Near the end, as Kiddo attempts to get information from Sofie in the trunk of the car, Sofie refuses to talk, leading to Kiddo slicing off part of her other arm. In the non-WBA edition, it appears that she still has at least one good arm left, while in the WBA it is clearly established that she does not.

			•	Bill is not seen talking to Sofie and asking if Kiddo knows that her daughter is alive. Instead, the last scene from Kill Bill, Volume 1 is Kiddo at the trunk with Sofie stating, “They’ll all be as dead as O-Ren.” We then go into the—

			•	Intermission

			•	Kiddo does not address the audience to get it up to speed with the story as seen in Kill Bill, Volume 2. Instead, after the intermission, the film goes straight into “Chapter 6.”

			It should be noted that Germain Lussier on www.slashfilm.com when discussing the extended feature (“Kill Bill: The Whole Bloody Affair Has Small Changes That Produce Big Results,” April 8, 2011) makes an excellent point about deleting Bill’s discussion with Sofie about the daughter being alive. Without it, the audience has no assurance about Kiddo’s child and can only assume—as does Kiddo until the very end of the movie—that her child died. This gives some scenes additional emotional impact. She continues her spree in the Volume 1/Volume 2 version of the story, while we the audience know that the daughter is alive, thus reducing the need for her to do so from our perspective. On the flip side, Budd’s declaration that Kiddo deserved her revenge and that they all deserve to die is even more effective if we are under the assumption that the child died as in the WBA version (then again, Budd never looks that happy about the situation, even when they’re beating her—a feat that was mostly handled by the women anyway). Just goes to show how editing of Tarantino’s films can change the emotional content—an experiment he would do even more of in his next release connected with the Grindhouse experiment.
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			The poster for Kill Bill, Volume 2. 

		

            

			Thoughts

			It is interesting to note the similarities between O-Ren’s revenge after having seen her family killed in front of her eyes and Shosanna’s revenge after having seen the same in Inglourious Basterds. Both find ways to invite themselves into the lives of their tormentors and kill them with full retaliation. Connected to that theme, it is fascinating to see how the female characters in Kill Bill are much more aggressive than the male ones, even the incidental ones. The owner of the House of Blue Leaves is henpecked by his wife; Gogo kills the young man who foolishly tries to pick her up; O-Ren kills a number of men in the film, many of whom are powerful in the Yakuza. The Crazy 88s have many men attacking Kiddo, including Johnny Mo, but they’re all servants of O-Ren (and there are female members of the gang as well). Even Bill and Budd seem rather more accepting of their doom—Budd feeling Kiddo needs to take her shot, while Bill essentially invites her in to get her revenge against the wrong he had done her (he even states to B. B. that what he did affected him). Budd can’t even bring himself to kill Kiddo outright, but instead gives her a fighting chance to break out and return to finish the job. Meanwhile, the other female members of the Vipers are nearly hysterical in trying to stop Kiddo’s need for vengeance. They’re the ones breaking things and going nuts in their attacks, hoping to stop the inevitable; Bill and Budd seem to welcome their end in payment for their sins against her.

			At the time, Tarantino called the Kill Bill movies his attempt to bring back the grindhouse of his youth. This can certainly be seen with his use of the “Our Feature Presentation” clip at the beginning of Kill Bill, Volume 1. In his next film, he’ll take that concept one step further . . . and as it turns it, it may have been just one step too far.
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Look Who Wants to Get to the Point All of a Sudden

			The Making of Grindhouse/Death Proof

			Release Dates: April 6, 2007, by Dimension Films, a division of the Weinstein Company

			Quentin Tarantino was in a good position come 2005. The risks of the Kill Bill films paid off exceedingly well, proving he was more than a one-hit . . . make that two . . . no, three-hit wonder. Better yet, the supposed slump that everyone happily joked about was over. Now, he could sit back a little and drink in the feeling of success while thinking of his next project.

			Then along came a project that in a rush of enthusiasm would wind up forcing Tarantino to face the fact that not every film he made was going to have people running to the box office.

			Production

			As seen throughout the book, Tarantino had established a friendship and professional relationship with fellow director Robert Rodriguez back in 1992 when they began popping up at the same film festivals for their respective films (Reservoir Dogs and El Mariachi). Due to the level of violence in both, the two would consistently get thrown together on panels to discuss violence in cinema, along with Geoffrey Wright (Romper Stomper) and Remy Belvaux (Man Bites Dog). It happened so often that Tarantino referred to it on The Charlie Rose Show as getting to the point where it felt like they were “double dating” at the festivals. The pair met up again at Columbia Pictures while both were writing their next film (Desperado for Rodriguez and Pulp Fiction for Tarantino), and made their friendship permanent. From there, they worked together on Four Rooms, Desperado, From Dusk Till Dawn, and Sin City. In fact, it was due to Sin City that the collaboration on Grindhouse occurred.

			As Robert Rodriguez told Rolling Stone (“Weird Scenes from Inside the Grindhouse,” by Gavin Edwards, issue #1024, April 19, 2007), “I came up with the idea [of a double feature] about three years ago, before I did Sin City. I was looking at my old script files, and I thought, ‘I’m never gonna have a chance to do all these movies I’ve had ideas for. Maybe I should start doubling them up and do double features.’” Then Sin City occurred, and Rodriguez pushed the idea to the back of his mind until the day he went over to Tarantino’s house to show him the scene Tarantino had directed for Sin City. While walking into Tarantino’s home, Rodriguez saw a movie poster on the floor that was the same one he was using as an inspiration for the artwork he had put together on the double feature concept—a double bill of Dragstrip Girl with Rock All Night. He mentioned the idea to Tarantino, who immediately jumped on it. It was a chance to do something in the grand tradition of the grindhouse.

			And what was the grindhouse? It was a movie theater usually in a rundown part of town that showed movies throughout the day, sometimes 24 hours a day. The price of a ticket was cheap, and so was your life once you got inside, as usually such places would be packed with the type of human cockroaches that would scurry from the light of day whenever possible—junkies, prostitutes, criminals avoiding the police, drunks looking for a place to sleep, and a handful of nervous movie geeks who were there only to see what was up on the screen (no matter how much more interesting sometimes the show was in the seats around them).

			Because tickets were cheap, so were the films and the prints shown. It wasn’t completely uncommon to see better-known films there, but usually in worn-out, choppy prints that had been run through too many filthy projectors and edited to splice out film that a projectionist here and there wanted for his own “collection.” Mostly, the films shown were action films, slasher flicks, kung fu movies, and sex comedies—the type of material that would draw people out to see a bit of skin or blood. With the advancement of video, however, such places began to disappear from the landscape, and instead the concept of the double feature (never mind what would sometimes be triple or even “from dusk till dawn” festivals) died out. For Rodriguez and Tarantino, this was a chance to bring those memories back, with the exception of taking your life into your hands to see it at the local theater (unless you eat the hot dogs there, of course).

			As per Rodriguez on The Charlie Rose Show, the pair had everything pretty much set in their heads as to the presentation within five minutes. Rodriguez then moved into Tarantino’s house for an extended stay as they worked on their separate scripts. Rodriguez already had thirty pages of a zombie script ready to tear apart and rebuild into what would become Planet Terror; Tarantino had recently watched a slew of slasher movies from the 1970s and 1980s and decided to try to do his own version of that. The problem was that the genre was nearly impossible to reinvent. “I realized I couldn’t do a straight slasher film,” Tarantino told Rolling Stone, “because with the exception of women-in-prison films, there is no other genre quite as rigid. And if you break that up, you aren’t really doing it anymore.” Instead, he decided to do what he did with the caper movie genre for Reservoir Dogs and mix it up a little.

			The first issue was how to make the killings in such a film different. Then he remembered an idea from after the release of Pulp Fiction where he decided he needed a safe car to drive. When asking around about what kind of car to get, someone mentioned that a stunt team could take a car and make it “death proof”—build in a frame, do certain other things, so that there was very little chance a driver could die in the car no matter what the driver did. As Stuntman Mike states in the movie, it would be easy to take such a car, ram into a wall at 70 miles an hour and come out without a scratch. Remembering that conversation, Tarantino realized that he had his murder weapon for his film. From there, the script flowed quickly, which was a rarity for Tarantino. “The John Travolta–Uma Thurman story in Pulp Fiction had been in my mind for a long time,” Tarantino told Rose. “Kill Bill had been in my mind. Even Jackie Brown I’d read years before and thought about making a movie out of it then. This was the first time that I came up with a good idea and just sat down, faced the blank page, and four months later, it was finished.”
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					The original U.S. poster for Grindhouse (2007), the double-feature project by Robert Rodriguez and Quentin Tarantino that has many fans, but was considered Tarantino’s first (and only) flop.

				

			

			Filming began in March 2006, starting with Rodriguez’s Planet Terror, a zombie film that costarred Quentin Tarantino in a small role as Rapist #1. Because Rodriguez went first, Tarantino was on the set to help where he could. “If I saw an actor was getting distracted while Robert was working on something, I would run lines with them, you know, give them a little coaching or something like that, and send them off to act in front of Robert.” Tarantino also mentioned to Charlie Rose that Rodriguez was having him operate second camera, “grooming me to be my own DP.”

			Once filming was completed on Rodriguez’s film, Tarantino then used Rodriguez’s crew to work on his killer-car movie, Death Proof. Filmed in Austin, Texas, and Southern California, Tarantino’s film deals with a stuntman who stalks a group of women and kills them in a car crash with his automobile that is built to be “death proof” and thus allow him to survive. After recovering from the crash, he ventures to Tennessee and finds another group of women that he aims to do the same to, only to discover that he picked the wrong group to hunt down.

			Borrowing Rose McGowan from Planet Terror to play Pam, and featuring himself in a small role, Tarantino was attempting to give the film the feel of how some double features of the past would appear, when an actor or actress would be a character in the first film and then pop up in the second as a completely different character. Meanwhile, having worked with stuntwoman Zoe Bell in the Kill Bill films, Tarantino hit upon the idea of letting her do some acting in his movie. A feat that surprised Bell when she saw the script, as she remembered in an interview with Emma Cooper in Interview magazine (“Zoe Bell,” May 2007): “I was expecting a cameo. I thought I was gonna go up to a bar in one scene and say a line and be done. But there were pages and pages of dialogue.” She was also unsure about the stunts Tarantino wanted her to do, only for him to assure her by saying, “Of course you can—I’m Quentin Tarantino.”

			Enjoying a chance to get a crew of great stunt talent working on the car-crash and later car-chase sequences, Tarantino finished the film in December 2006. The next big issue was taking what he had filmed and cutting it down to size. Needing to trim close to a half-hour to fit the double-feature format, Tarantino decided to play with the mood of the film, by cutting certain scenes in a way that changes the emotional impact of the film. In the Grindhouse cut, Stuntman Mike comes off as more of a cheerful, happy guy that we only discover in the last few minutes of the first half is nuts; while the longer, 114-minute version of the film plays him as a menacing stalker from the get-go. We’re also introduced to the second group of women as they head off to breakfast rather than the longer opening scene of them stopping at a convenience store and running into Mike. In doing this, the film plays slightly differently and makes both the Grindhouse edit and the longer edit of the film a unique experience, which was Tarantino’s intention.

			Grindhouse was set to premiere on April 6, 2007, with predictions that it would do excellent box-office business in the U.S., and then the two films would be split apart for some foreign markets as longer, unedited films where the grindhouse experience was one unfamiliar to audiences. But things didn’t quite work out that way.

			Cast

			Kurt Russell as Stuntman Mike

			Starting out as a child actor, Russell has the distinction of not only playing opposite Elvis in one of his films, but then playing Elvis in a biopic, which was directed by John Carpenter (Elvis, 1979). Russell appeared in various television series (including Gilligan’s Island) and also in a number of Disney comedies of the late 1960s and early 1970s (one of which featured his future companion, Goldie Hawn). Elvis led to Russell getting the role of Snake Plissken in Carpenter’s cult classic Escape from New York (1981), which he followed up in 1982 with Carpenter’s remake of The Thing. From there he began to shift between action pictures and romantic comedies, including such films as Big Trouble in Little China (1986, for which his shirt appears on the wall of the Texas Chili Parlor in Death Proof) and Overboard (1987). By the 2000s, Tarantino had noted that Russell was getting mostly low-key comedy and dramatic roles and wished to see him appear in an action film again, hiring him as Stuntman Mike. The role was a natural for Russell, as his father had been in westerns and was friends with many of the stuntmen, thus giving Russell an inside knowledge of how such men looked, acted and talked. He was considered for a role in Django Unchained, but turned it down before filming began. He reconnected with Tarantino at a read-through for The Hated Eight script, and subsequently was hired to appear in the film.
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					Kurt Russell as Stuntman Mike, the killer who uses his “death proof” car as a means to take out the women he is stalking in the film, Death Proof, which was the Tarantino portion of the Grindhouse double bill.

				

			

			Vanessa Ferlito as Arlene/Butterfly

			Ferlito first became noted from a couple of appearances on the HBO drama series The Sopranos. She went on to become a regular on CSI: NY, as Aiden Burn from 2004 through 2006. Ferlito appears in the cast of the USA Network series Graceland.

			Sydney Tamiia Poitier as Jungle Julia

			Poitier is the daughter of actor Sidney Poitier. Before Death Proof, she had appeared in a number of television movies and films, including her own sitcom, Abby, in 2003 and recurring roles on two cult-favorite series, Joan of Arcadia and Veronica Mars. She has continued to work in television since Death Proof, including a stint on the revived Knight Rider television series.

			Jordan Ladd as Shanna

			Ladd has done a number of films, including Eli Roth’s horror film Cabin Fever and his Hostel: Part II.

			Eli Roth as Dov

			Roth made his mark in 2002 with the successful Cabin Fever, which he wrote, directed and costarred in. He followed that up with the 2005 hit Hostel and was in the middle of making his follow-up, Hostel: Part II, when he was asked to play Dov in Death Proof. While in character, Roth improvised additional nasty things to say about Stuntman Mike while at the bar, some of which made it into the film. Roth also directed the Thanksgiving fake trailer in Grindhouse. He worked with Tarantino again in Inglourious Basterds as Donne “The Bear Jew” Donowitz, and directed the film-within-a-film, Nation’s Pride. He has appeared in a few films and has directed and cowritten a film that is a homage to the cannibal horror movies of the 1970s, The Green Inferno. There is still talk of turning Thanksgiving into a full-length film with Roth as the writer/director.

			Michael Bacall as Omar

			A screenwriter/actor, Bacall wrote the script for Edgar Wright’s Scott Pilgrim vs. the World and the 21 Jump Street films. He went on to appear as Zimmerman in Inglourious Basterds, and as Smitty Bacall in Django Unchained.

			Omar Doom as Nate

			A musician and actor, Doom joined his fellow Death Proof barflies as another member of the Basterds in Inglourious Basterds, playing Omar Ulmer.

			Monica Staggs as Lanna-Frank

			Staggs is a stuntwoman who has appeared in a number of films, including The Italian Job and (ironically) Crash. She was Daryl Hannah’s stunt double on Kill Bill, Volume 2, thus working in scenes with Zoe Bell on that film.

			Rose McGowan as Pam

			McGowan appeared as Cherry Darling, the stripper who becomes the hero in Planet Terror, while also playing the “dirty hippie” blonde Pam in Death Proof. She first made waves in The Doom Generation back in 1995, but probably is still best remembered as Paige on the long-running television series Charmed.

			Zoe Bell as Zoe Bell

			Zoe Bell had done the stunt work for Uma Thurman in the Kill Bill films, having done stunts for Lucy Lawless in Xena: Warrior Princess for three seasons. After doubling for Sharon Stone in Catwoman (2004), she appeared in a documentary about herself and the life of Jeannie Epper, the stuntwoman who doubled for Lynda Carter on the Wonder Woman series. It was this documentary, featuring Tarantino in a cameo, that convinced Tarantino to write Bell into his next script, seeing how well she connected with the audience. She has since appeared in a number of films, alternating between acting and stunt work, including work on both Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained.

			Tracie Thomas as Kim

			Thomas played the fellow stuntwoman of Bell and the driver of the car who shoots Mike near the end of the film. Thomas has appeared in a variety of television, theater and film, including the film and revival of the musical Rent, as well as a long-running regular role on the crime series Cold Cases.

			Rosario Dawson as Abernathy

			Dawson first appeared in the controversial Larry Clark film Kids in 1995. Since then she has appeared in a number of films before working with Robert Rodriguez in Sin City as Gail. She also appeared in the film version of Rent with Tracie Thomas in 2005, Clerks II and the follow-up to Sin City, Sin City: A Dame to Kill For.

			Mary Elizabeth Winstead as Lee

			Winstead is an actress who started out in television and moved on to films, with The Ring Two being her first theatrical film. She went on to appear in two of the Die Hard series as McClane’s daughter and also in Scott Pilgrim vs. the World and the 2011 remake of The Thing. Her singing in the full-length version of Death Proof was impromptu and surprised many with her ability. She has since formed a band called Got a Girl, which released their first album, I Love You but I Must Drive Off This Cliff Now in 2014.

			Also Appearing

			Michael Parks as Sheriff McGraw; James Parks as Edgar McGraw; Marley Shelton as Dr. Dakota Block (who also appears in Planet Terror); and Jonathan Loughran as Jasper, the owner of the Dodge Challenger (Loughran also appeared briefly in Kill Bill, Volume 1).
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					Stuntman Mike (Kurt Russell) talks Pam (Rose McGowan) into getting into the “death proof” car with him for a ride that is anything but fun. McGowan also had a starring role in the Rodriguez portion of the Grindhouse double feature, Planet Terror.

				

			

			Sequential Plot—Grindhouse Edition

			Arlene is a friend of popular Austin, Texas, DJ Jungle Julia Lucia. She, Jungle Julia, and a few friends head out for a night of drinking before a trip to a cabin, little realizing that they are being stalked by a man in a black muscle car.

			The man in the car turns out to be “Stuntman Mike,” a professional stuntman who has a car that is “death proof,” built to withstand impact and collision . . . for the driver alone. After a night at the Texas Chili Parlor, where the women meet Mike and then head off to the cabin, Mike kills all of them by ramming his “death proof” car into them at a high rate of speed. Sheriff McGraw suspects the deaths and Mike’s survival were not by accident, but can’t pin anything on him.

			Forty-four minutes into the film, we meet a new group of women that Mike is following. Two of them are stuntwomen—Zoe and Kim—with Zoe wanting to buy a 1970 white Dodge Challenger from a man. As they test-drive the car—by having Zoe do a stunt on the hood at a high rate of speed, Mike tries to bump them off the road. Zoe is sent flying as they stop, with Mike finding it funny and thanking them for the fun. Kim shoots him in the shoulder, forcing him to take off. As it turns out, Zoe is okay, and the women chase Mike down until he crashes. They pull him from the wreckage and take turns beating him up, until Zoe sends him to the ground with a kick in the head. With Mike down, Abernathy then delivers a death blow with her heel, crushing Mike’s skull and killing him.

			In a moment, the results of their trial . . . .

			Sequential Plot—Full-Length Edition

			The story is the same, with some additional information here and there, including additional dialogue (yes, really). It should be noted that the old “Our Feature Presentation” and the cartoon “Restricted” films logo still appear as in the Grindhouse presentation, as does the quick appearance of original title “Thunder Bold,” a cute parody of how movie titles were constantly changed for re-release in the Grindhouse age of old.

			•	The trip to the first bar, Guero’s, is longer, with the women seeing a number of billboards for Jungle Julia and shouting each time as part of a ritual. The discussion about getting pot leads to Shanna mentioning Lanna-Frank and calling her for some (explaining Julia’s call to her later, Lanna showing up at the Texas Chili Parlor later, and everyone on the back porch smoking weed).

			•	We are introduced to Stuntman Mike as the women are leaving Guero’s. He is in his car and pulls down his visor in order to dab some ointment into his eyes, showing the audience the pictures of the women. 

			•	A few moments after Arlene first sights Mike’s car out in the parking lot at the Texas Chili Parlor, Nate sneaks up behind her and grabs her shoulder in the patented “jump-scare” of most stalker movies. Nate whines and begs to get Arlene to go out to the car for six minutes of “makeout” time.

			•	After Mike introduces himself to Pam, we see more of their conversation, including Pam ordering drinks and a longer story from Pam about her animosity towards Julia.

			•	Once Lanna appears, the camera cuts to them outside on the back porch smoking pot while rain runs downs the propped-up legs of Julia. Mike walks over to them to talk (the Grindhouse version of the scene starts with Mike already standing over Julia as they converse).

			•	When Stuntman Mike asks about the lap dance, he has more to say that puts Arlene at ease and convinces her.

			•	LAP DANCE!

			•	The lap dance is slightly cut off before completion, and the scene abruptly switches to Mike and the women all heading out to the parking lot.

			•	Stuntman Mike’s speech to Pam about “getting scared immediately” is said with a smile instead of the solemn look he gives her in the Grindhouse edition.

			•	At the hospital, McGraw has a longer speech to Son Number One, detailing that he knows Stuntman Mike killed the women, but that pursuing him would be a waste of time.

			•	Fifty-six minutes in and we are introduced to the second half of the film. A card states that the location is Lebanon, Tennessee, and the time is fourteen months later.

			•	We see Stuntman Mike pulling into a convenience store called Circle A. The scene turns from color to black and white after he parks. Kim, Lee, and Abernathy arrive in their car after partying all night and get various beverages (Big Red, G.O. Juice, coffee), smokes, and—in an unlikely aside the even the women can’t believe—the latest issue of the Italian version of Vogue. Seeing Abernathy’s feet sticking out of the car window, and her wearing an eye mask so she can doze in the backseat, Stuntman Mike licks a finger and runs it on her toes before making it appear that he’s picking up his keys in the parking lot. He then heads to his car and peels out, making sure Lee and Abernathy are watching. Abernathy gets out for a smoke and to head to the ATM when she notices that Stuntman Mike is across the street in his car. He then peels out again. As Lee gets a Big Red out of the pop machine out front, the scene turns to color again.

			•	The scene of the women with Zoe heading to their car at the airport is somewhat longer, with Stuntman Mike taking many more pictures.

			•	Once Zoe is in the car, the women talk longer about their various studio set romances.

			•	The rest of the film plays out pretty much as in the original Grindhouse version.
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					Lee (Mary Elizabeth Winstead), Abernathy (Rosario Dawson), Zoe (Zoe Bell) and Kim (Tracie Thomas) head out of the airport after picking up Zoe from her flight—a scene not found in the film itself, even in its extended edition. A brief clip from it appears in the movie trailer for the film, while photos taken during the scene made the rounds for press releases and lobby cards.

				

			

			The Script

			The full-length movie is obviously longer than the Grindhouse version, but there are still bits from the script that didn’t make it into the film:

			•	We see Arlene running into Jungle Julia’s apartment and straight to the bathroom. Julia and Shanna dance to a record while the audience was to watch and listen to Arlene peeing. The women are then seen walking in slow motion to the car.

			•	In the car, more discussion on the movie directors that are supposed to turn up at the bar later, more on where to get pot, and going to a place called Huck’s (it became the Texas Chili Parlor in the film). Jungle Julia also calls Lanna-Frank to set up the drug deal.

			•	We meet Stuntman Mike while the women are driving to Guero’s, as he follows them and we get close-ups of his car, the overflowing ashtray in his car, a bit of his face and his jacket with the “Icy Hot” logo.

			•	As the girls head into Guero’s, the camera once again goes to slow motion, and each woman gets a solo camera shot as her name appears on the screen.

			•	Before Marcy appears, the women discuss who is buying drinks and Julia calls Christian, hoping he’ll arrive once they get to Huck’s.

			•	A card tells the audience that it is now “two hours later” at Huck’s. As Julia dances, Warren interrupts to tell her to put out her cigarette in a manner that is obviously a rib as well as a request.

			•	The discussion Dov has with Shanna about being called Shauna is slightly different in dialogue and in the edit.

			•	Instead of Warren bringing over shots, Omar does. There is no conversation about a “tasty beverage.”

			•	When Arlene goes outside, Pam is already there. There follows a long sequence between the two women about Pam’s date, Scott, who is so shy that she is unnerved and out on the back porch to get away from him. Arlene convinces Pam to give Scott another chance, but he is seen driving off, thinking the date was a failure. She calls him on his phone, yelling and cursing, about leaving her there, then hangs up.

			•	Back inside, Pam finds that Scott failed to pay for their drinks. Warren gives her a free drink and nachos, knowing she got stuck with the tab.

			•	There is no establishing shot of Warren asking for the lights in the parking lot to be turned on to reveal Mike’s car.

			•	Omar and Dov get drink orders as they head to the bar.

			•	Nate strikes out with Arlene in the car.

			•	Dov’s insults about Mike are not in the script (according to various sources, these were improvised on set).

			•	Arlene is back in and asks Pam about a drink called a Shiner. She orders one for herself (and can be seen in the movie drinking it). Arlene invites Pam to join them at their table, but once Pam sees Julia there, she begs off.

			•	Speaking of begging off, Julia and the women begin to resist the drinks the guys are buying as they know what their intentions are. Julia and Warren shout back and forth about a record on the jukebox.

			•	Pam asks Warren if he can vouch for Mike. Warren jokingly does so, although hints that there may be something a bit sinister about Mike.

			•	Arlene talks to Pam again. Pam explains that she isn’t at their table because although she likes Arlene, she hates her friends. Arlene sees Mike and gets a chill up her spine.

			•	Julia calls Christian and passive-aggressively asks him to get over as soon as possible.

			•	Mike asks Pam about her job. She explains she was a personal assistant but quit when things got too personal. Mike jokingly hires her as his assistant when she mentions that part of her job was getting her boss coffee.

			•	Shanna tells a story about Julia’s normal afternoon watching television. A discussion on the merits of dairy products to reduce a high also occurs.

			•	Arlene asks Julia to listen to a CD by a friend, and Julia blows it off. All but Arlene and Shanna head out to the back porch for a “smoke.” Julia is stopped on her way and acts obnoxious with a fan who wants to have a picture taken with her. (Julia refers to the picture-taking incident in the film when talking to Mike on the back porch.)

			•	Arlene and Shanna have a little “Julia detest fest” as Arlene feels Julia is acting like she’s a big celebrity. Shanna thinks Julia has a lot of nerve, but both delightedly agree that she probably isn’t going to get her director friend to give her a role in his movie.

			•	Mike watches the rain hit Julia’s feet and comes over to discuss poetry. Julia acts obnoxious to Mike, and for a moment Mike shows his dark side and gives her a long, cold stare before becoming cheerful again and making Julia laugh.

			•	After discussing his credits to the clueless women inside, Warren tells Mike that dropping Gary Clarke’s name “don’t get you Gary Clarke pussy no more.” Mike laughs and orders one more round for Pam while he goes out back for one more cigarette.

			•	Julia makes it clear that she doesn’t want Lanna-Frank’s friends joining them at the cabin. Arlene arrives and she makes up with Julia.

			•	The audience would have seen the end of the lap dance, with all the women but Pam leaving Mike in his chair. Warren and Pam applaud him, and Mike announces that it is time to go.

			•	While Mike explains about his car to Pam, the women are in the background deciding on who gets to drive, and Julia tells the guys off who had been hanging around them all evening. There is no exchange between Pam and some of the others about her leaving with Mike in the script. She gets into the car willingly, feeling safe with Mike, while in the movie there’s a bit more apprehension on Pam’s part.

			•	Stuntman Mike laughs after Pam hits the dash, smashing up her face, but she is still conscious. (Mike also tells a gag about the dashboard that originated from a Jay Leno routine. As Tarantino was a regular guest on The Tonight Show at the time, he may have thrown it in as an inside joke.)

			•	The wreck between the two cars happens on an overpass, forcing the cars off the road and crashing to the highway below it. Julia goes feet-first through the windshield instead of having one leg go flying down the road as in the movie. A woman driving a car on the highway below cannot stop in time and smashes into the wreck, killing her. Mike is seen upside-down in his car, popping a tape into the car’s tape deck and rocking out.

			•	McGraw and his son do not have a discussion with the doctor before McGraw goes into his lecture as to what he thinks occurred. Thus, we don’t get a report about Mike’s injuries, although the script mentions Mike’s burned up right hand later when he’s touching Abernathy’s toes (this injury doesn’t appear in the film, however).

			•	In Lebanon, Mike is first seen again, crashing his new car through a sign along the highway just for kicks.

			•	The Italian Vogue is eighteen dollars in the script.

			•	A scene where the trio of new women meet Zoe at the airport, greeting her as she gets off the plane. This scene was shot, as there is a still from it in promotional material as well as a brief insert from the scene in the international trailer for Death Proof.

			•	A discussion about marriage occurs in the car as the four women drive to get breakfast.

			•	No mention in the script of Mike sitting at the counter, occasionally looking back at the women as they have breakfast.

			•	In the script, Stuntman Mike doesn’t get out of the car to tell the women how fun their chase was. He does get shot in the shoulder, however, as in the film.

			•	Mike gets hit from behind as he’s drinking from the bottle, smashing the bottle against the steering wheel while it is still in his mouth and inflicting a lot of damage to his face in the process.

			•	Instead of Zoe using the post to beat on Mike in his car, she uses a lead pipe to jam into the wheel well of Mike’s car, sending Mike’s car flipping over and over again down the road. There is no extended car chase through the countryside and highway as in the film. The women pull him out of the car and beat him until “Stuntman Mike is no more.”

			The Backend

			The MPAA was rather easygoing on Grindhouse for the two films themselves; certainly in comparison with the fake trailers in-between, and specifically with Eli Roth’s Thanksgiving trailer that mixes sex and gore together (the girl performing oral sex on her boyfriend only to find that his head is gone, and the knife-in-the-trampoline bits in particular). For Tarantino and Rodriguez, the requested changes were easy enough to make, thanks to the choppy editing they could give such cuts (due to the nature of the grindhouse’s film prints being cut up anyway) and blotches of dirt that could cover up anything really offensive. Tarantino certainly had it easier on that front in his film than Rodriguez. Planet Terror has gore a-plenty from early on until the end of the film; Death Proof has the mid-movie car crash that is graphic, although the abuse Mike goes through at the end of the picture might have caused a few issues (not that Mike doesn’t deserve it, but the MPAA could find such relentless punishment excessive). Also, with no animals in sight, the American Humane Association had nothing to say about Tarantino’s Death Proof.

			Reviews were also largely positive, which was only natural as the entire concept spoke to the kids within movie critics anyway. Mark Rahner at the Seattle Times called Grindhouse “outrageous, bold, incredibly cool, funny and a kilo of splatteriffic fun.” Claudia Puig at USA Today called it a “rowdy jolt of quasi-nostalgic escapism.” Tom Charity at CNN.com noted the irony that the attempt to bring back the exploitation styling of another decade was facing competition in theaters by movies that were built on exactly those exploitation films of the past (Wild Hogs, Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles, 300). Roger Ebert liked the film concept with heavy reservations: he found Tarantino’s tribute to the days of Faster, Pussycat! Kill! Kill! (about a group of women who dominate the men that are out to get them) worthy of a watch, pointing out that he had a right to say so as he had written the script for Beyond the Valley of the Dolls for Russ Meyer (the director of Faster, Pussycat!), while having little patience for Rodriguez’s level of gore in Planet Terror. (As an aside, Ebert makes a point of saying that there never, ever was a double feature that mixed two different kind of genre films together as in Grindhouse—this from the man who had written a famous article about seeing a double feature of Night of the Living Dead with Dr. Who and the Daleks. It seems like Ebert was grasping a bit to show how much knowledge he had of such films and was forgetting parts of his own past to prove his point.)

			But his review also illustrated a common problem for the critics, and for many viewers, in that people tended to like one of the movies a lot, while sitting bored during the other. The pendulum swung more towards Rodriguez’s Planet Terror being a favorite, although more recent reviews in reflection have favored Tarantino’s Death Proof. The other issue that Ebert hints at, as did other critics, was that it seemed like a goof; a waste of energy and time for two directors considered some of the better that came out of the 1990s. Even so, most agreed that there was fun to be had with the film, and there was an assumption that the double-feature experience would succeed at the box office and lead to more films done in the hoped-for series.

			Thus it was a surprise to industry insiders and critics when it ended its first weekend making only $11.6 million. At that point, both directors were opening at $20 million or more, so to see such a low figure was disheartening. The movie closed out at a little over $25 million in the U.S. and less than $400,000 in foreign markets. For a movie event that cost $67 million to make, it could only be viewed as a flop.

			What caused the problems? There have been a number of opinions. The biggest one is that most audiences these days are not willing to sit through a three-hour movie, even if it’s two movies together. The next was that no matter how many times the concept of the grindhouse was explained in advertising, people didn’t understand that they were going to see two movies together. A stab at suggesting the failure was due to the horror movie motifs was a rather weak one, as horror movies certainly do well, and even the poster art suggests Tarantino’s film is somewhat horror related (it’s a stalker–car-chase movie, but the poster makes it look like a Christine-like horror film). Part of the problem may have been that audiences weren’t in the mood for such an event, as comedies such as Blades of Glory and DodgeBall were dominating the box office, while people wanting action were still flocking to see 300. Besides, it certainly didn’t lend itself to being a date movie when the concept was really intended more for movie geeks than for the average audience member. No matter what the reason, business was slow, and theater owners were anxious to pull a film that ate away at potential showings per day (which cut into ticket sales) due to its length.

			As had been expected, the two movies were split and released in some countries as separate films (Tarantino would later state that it was a mistake to do so for Britain, where double features were still fondly remembered), with Tarantino editing the entire film—using some different takes and angles, as well as adding two scenes and extending others—for release on its own. That cut would eventually be the first released on video as well, with the full Grindhouse experience (including the trailers) released first in Japan before finally being released on Blu-ray in the U.S. in 2010.

			Tarantino was taken a bit aback by the dismal returns on Grindhouse. “Oh, it was disappointing,” he told The Telegraph as Death Proof as a full-length film was opening up overseas (“Quentin Tarantino: I’m Proud of My Flop,” by John Hiscock, April 27, 2007). However, he did feel that those who were into the whole concept of seeing a double feature had fun. “People who saw it, loved it and applauded, but maybe a lot of people just didn’t want to see two movies.” Yet, creating his first box-office failure didn’t make Tarantino think the film was a creative loss. In 2013, he took part in a round-table discussion for the Hollywood Reporter and both criticized and defended the movie in the same breath: “Death Proof has got to be the worst movie I ever made. And for a left-handed movie, that wasn’t so bad, all right? So if that’s the worst I ever get, I’m good.”

			Thoughts

			Have you ever been the designated driver for a group of friends that aim to get drunk and/or high? And while, they may be fun to be with and even have clever things to say, once they get a drink in them you realize they really can be a bunch of obnoxious jerks?

			Welcome to Death Proof.

			The idea of a killer who uses his car is a clever variation of the slasher theme. Better yet, it gives Tarantino a chance to tie in car crashes (a big staple of the 1970s through early 1980s exploitation movies) with the idea of a stalker film (another big staple of the era). The problem is that the audience gets to spend way too much time getting to know the characters before we get to the money shots.

			In looking at the film in all of its various forms, it’s clear that Tarantino wanted to turn the slasher film on its head, and interviews with him after the film was released suggest this was his intention from the get-go. In fact, such thinking goes back to the early days of the genre, with Tarantino hunting for a Psycho vibe in the first forty-five to fifty-six minutes (depending on the version of the film you see): Arlene is supposed to be like Psycho’s Marion Crane—a woman who isn’t exactly squeaky clean herself but is the audience’s identifier in the first part of Hitchcock’s film. Stuntman Mike is like a more hip version of Norman Bates—a man with two personalities, only in Mike’s case, one is utterly charming and the other is a brooding maniac. If not completely a Psycho variation, Tarantino has suggested that Arlene was supposed to fill in for “the final girl” role that appears in slasher films of the 1970s and 1980s—in other words, the girl that is a little different, a little nicer, a little more on the ball than the others and thus is able to get away. In an interview with Nick James from Sight & Sound (“Tarantino Bites Back,” February 2008), he even states that the shot of the photos hitting the ground after Mike tosses them from the car is a hint that she will survive as Arlene’s photo is the only one that faces up of the three. He had hoped to convince the audience she would make it, so he could throw the audience this curve when she dies.

			In Psycho, there’s a hint that Norman and Marion may actually connect; in Death Proof, Mike and Arlene physically do so. Norman in his own way convinces Marion to follow a path of her own choosing and return the money; Mike convinces Arlene to not be pushed into something by her friend, but rather do the lap dance to prove something to herself (that she’s not chickenshit, as Mike puts it). You wonder where the relationship is going in both films when the male character shifts into his alternate personality and kills the person the audience had as their guide through the film. Suddenly, new characters arrive—Lila and Sam in Psycho, Kim, Lee, Abernathy, and Zoe in Death Proof—and the audience has to readjust to new players while momentarily also dealing with the shift in emotions towards Norman/Mike, who we now see as a killer (or, with Norman, considered at least an accessory to murder at that point in the picture).
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					The German poster for Death Proof, which gives all the appearance of a comedy starring Kurt Russell as the manager to a team of women softball players. 

				

			

			The problem is twofold: in the first half, Mike is a little too charming. You feel bad for him when the women out back brush him off like a schmuck, and the women inside have no clue as to the big moments in his life. The younger men make fun of him, but they’re whining losers who are only interested in getting into the pants of the women and unsuccessfully at that (the women—heck, even the script—sees them as losers). Mike is delightful with Pam and seems to want to help her out (he doesn’t, but we don’t know that yet); he brushes off insults with jokes and cleverness; he shows sympathy to Arlene and helps her loosen up in a manner that her friends never do. For a long while there—especially as we don’t have the establishing shots in the Grindhouse version to show that he really is stalking them—Mike appears to be a cool guy to be around. This was Tarantino’s intention as well—he has said as much—but he succeeds too well. We actually do care for him more than the women by that point in the film.

			Why that is indicates the other part of the problem: Arlene and her friends are so obnoxiously dull that you . . . well, you don’t want them to die, but you really don’t want to hang around them any longer than necessary. The drive to Guero’s is one that is supposed to show how these women have known each other so well for years and are fun to be with, but even Arlene finds the arguing excessive. Julia is rude to everyone, and while that’s addressed in the script, her reasons for being so don’t really come across on the screen. Pam seems like the only pleasant woman in the bar (the script shows a bit more of her dark side, but it’s not in either version of the film), yet the women make fun of her, forcing the audience into Pam’s corner when our sympathies should be with Arlene (the scenes cut where Arlene and Pam talk would have helped rectify this imbalance).

			Then those characters disappear from the film. In an ugly, gruesome way they didn’t deserve, but we don’t even get a chance to see Mike in his car afterwards enjoying the pain he inflicted on the women, which would have sold us more on hating him. And what is the next scene? It’s a group of women in a car talking about their love lives, and it’s understandable if the audience is worried that they’ve fallen into a time warp and are back to the beginning of the film (even some of the conversation is—intentionally—the same). In this case, however, the women are more endearing, and with a better sense of them being friends rather than the earlier combative acquaintances. Because of this, the film picks up tremendously in the second half, with only the reasoning behind Zoe being on the hood seeming forced (yes, she has her reasons for being there, but it still feels more like the scriptwriter saying, “I want her on the hood somehow, and this will be a way to do it”). Even so, our sympathy for Mike never quite leaves us, especially as we see him in pain and trying to get his act together. As with Norman Bates, in a twisted way you’re almost hoping he can make it. And that’s not what you’re supposed to be feeling as the women chase him down and kill him.

			The premise is solid. There are some good characters floating around in the mix. Yet the script doesn’t quite hold everything together. If we have to spend forty-five minutes or more with these characters, there needed to be more for them to do than sit around drinking and complaining. As with anyone stuck with friends like that in the bar, you almost wish the camera would grab its hat and take a walk. Anything to get some breathing room away from all the whining and attitude. And that first half of the film weighs down on the second, making it less fun than it should be.

			It is so easy to look back on Death Proof and speculate as to tweaks here and there that would have made it something special. Perhaps that shows how good the film can be at times. Although many see it as a misfire—even Tarantino has called it his “worst movie”—there’s still something that makes it worth another look instead of being dismissed as a total disaster. It’s a shame that didn’t come off, but even a bad Tarantino movie is still more fun than a good movie from a number of other directors. Which is a positive in the end.
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That Was My Fifteen Minutes

			People Nearly in Tarantino Movies

			John Travolta as Vincent Vega. David Carradine as Bill. Jamie Foxx as Django. The actors fill these roles in such a way that it is hard to imagine anyone else ever being considered for them. And yet in all three cases, other actors—sometimes many—were considered for the roles.

			It is not a case of trying to snub someone (well, possibly in one of the above cases, as will be noted), but rather because that’s the nature of show business. A script may have been written with someone in the head of the scriptwriter playing the part, but all types of obstacles have to be bypassed in order to get that “certain someone.” An actor may be scheduled to do another film or television show and can’t make the commitment. The money isn’t right. The studio balks at an actor. An audition doesn’t go well. The scenes featuring an actor as a character don’t fit into the overall look of the film and have to be cut. Sometimes it is as simple as someone not wanting to work with other people in the film.

			One thing that can be said of Quentin Tarantino is that he does try to find actors that he think will bring a unique talent to a role if given a chance. Commonly this involves finding an actor or actress who is not always on the A-list but has shown good work—or potential for good work—in earlier films. There’s a reason that people like Travolta, Grier, Forster, and others have celebrated Tarantino over the years—because he went to bat for them to give them a chance to have a featured role in a good film, where most others in Hollywood would dismiss the notion.

			Below is a list of individuals who almost appeared in a Tarantino project, but for one or more reasons never made it to the finished films. Upon reading it, it will be easy to see that two things seem to happen often when it comes to a new Tarantino movie: one, if Tarantino tells you that he has you in mind for a role, he means it; and, two, he has a tendency to say that a role was specifically written for someone, and when that actor turns it down, he’ll say the same thing to the next person on the list. In fact, both observations can be seen in the first role from Tarantino’s first movie.

			Joe Cabot in Reservoir Dogs—Lawrence Bender, Robert Forster, and Timothy Carey

			As mentioned in the chapter about the making of the film, when Tarantino was looking to make Reservoir Dogs himself, he planned to have his producer friend Lawrence Bender play the role of Nice Guy Eddie. When Tarantino heard from the Sundance Film Institute about coming to their workshop at their Utah location to work on scenes for Reservoir Dogs, he filmed two scenes: one featuring him as Mr. Pink to Steve Buscemi (who was also attending the workshop and was already cast as Mr. Pink) as Mr. White, the other being an extended version of Mr. White being interviewed for the job by Joe, played by Lawrence Bender. Bender’s appearance, however, was merely for the filming of the test footage and not an indication that he was to play the role in the film.
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					Lawrence Tierney, the popular movie star of the past who was one of Tarantino’s choices for the role of Joe Cabot in Reservoir Dogs . . . once the others who tried out for the part didn’t get it.

                    Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

			Timothy Carey, best known for playing sometimes crazy, sometimes villainous, sometimes both characters in movies (Paths of Glory, The Killing, Beach Blanket Bingo) auditioned for the role of the gang boss. In an interview with Grover Lewis that eventually appeared in Film Comment (“Cracked Actor: Timothy Carey,” January/February 2004), Carey pinned his losing the role to Harvey Keitel: “Tarantino brought me in to read. He’d done a terrific script with my name on the top—‘inspiration by Timothy Carey.’ Harvey Keitel didn’t want me on the show. He was afraid. I could tell when I walked in. He had the right to say yea or nay to any actor. Larry Tierney got the part. Larry’s a good friend of mine, and he called me up later and kind of apologized.” However, Carey failed to mention that, as seen on page 125 of Wensley Clarkson’s book Quentin Tarantino: The Man, The Myths and His Movies [John Blake Publishing, 2007], the dedication on the script shows eight individuals—including himself and Tierney—a point that would come up with the next person who auditioned for the role.

			Robert Forster in an interview with Indiewire.com (“Robert Forster Talks Auditioning for Reservoir Dogs and How Jackie Brown Boosted His Career,” by Todd Gilchrist, http://blogs.indiewire.com/theplaylist/robert_forster_talks_auditioning_for_reservoir_dogs_how_jackie_brown_booste, October 4, 2011) thought for sure he had “hit it out of the park” with his reading for Tarantino. However, Tarantino afterwards told him that he had already planned to give the part to Lawrence Tierney, “‘the guy that I dedicated this script to’—which I had never noticed.” Tarantino then told him that he wouldn’t forget him, leading to him being offered the part of Max Cherry in Jackie Brown a few years later.

			Holdaway in Reservoir Dogs—Ving Rhames or Samuel L. Jackson

			The part of Mr. Orange’s police contact and acting tutor eventually went to Randy Brooks. One person who tried out for the role was Ving Rhames, who had been working his way up through television and was getting roles in films like Brian De Palma’s Casualties of War (1989), Adrian Lyne’s Jacob’s Ladder (1990), and Wes Craven’s The People Under the Stairs (1991). Although Rhames did not get the role, Tarantino would keep him in mind for the future when Pulp Fiction came around (see “Marsellus in Pulp Fiction” below).

			As for Samuel L. Jackson, the story goes that he auditioned for this part, but Jackson has stated publicly it was actually for the part of Mr. Orange (see “Mr. Orange in Reservoir Dogs”).

			Mr. Blonde in Reservoir Dogs—Christopher Walken, George Clooney, and Tim Roth

			Tarantino had seen George Clooney in the quickly-released-and-forgotten Red Surf, where Clooney played a drug-smuggling surfer, and so was interested in seeing him audition for Reservoir Dogs. Various sources state that he auditioned for Mr. Orange as well, but either way, Clooney has said he was terrible in the auditions and understood not getting whatever role he was up for. Clooney would costar with Tarantino a short time later in From Dusk Till Dawn, however.

			Christopher Walken had been suggested by Keitel for Mr. Blonde, and—as mentioned in Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool by Jeff Dawson—Walken was listed as being part of the cast in the January 1991 issue of Screen International. However, Walken soon dropped out of the film. Ironically, he would turn up in the next Tarantino-related movie, True Romance, in a similar role as an intense interrogator in a scene that also ends in death.

			When Tarantino decided on casting Tim Roth in the film, he momentarily thought of putting him in the role of Mr. Blonde before committing him to the role of Mr. Orange.

			Mr. Orange in Reservoir Dogs—Samuel L. Jackson or James Woods

			There had been tales told about what role Samuel L. Jackson auditioned for in Reservoir Dogs—from Holdaway (Mr. Orange’s fellow detective, played by Randy Brooks) to Mr. White. In 2013, Jackson was interviewed for a special event showing of Pulp Fiction at the AFI Night at the Movies and stated that he auditioned for the role of Mr. Orange. Jackson would elsewhere report that he wasn’t too sure about getting the role after his audition anyway. As he told Deadline: Hollywood after auditioning with Tarantino himself (“Samuel L. Jackson Lets Loose on Django, Tarantino, Slavery, Oscars and Gold Globes,” by Pete Hammon), “I thought he was just a really bad actor. I was like ‘Damn, these dudes are horrible.’ I look like I was overacting or they have no judgment of what’s good and what’s not.” Later he congratulated Tarantino on the film’s success, which got the ball rolling for Tarantino to write a part in his next film specifically for the actor. As it turns out, there was a snag to come with that (see entry for “Jules Winnfield in Pulp Fiction” below).

			James Woods has stated in the press that he was offered a role in Reservoir Dogs through his agent, but the agency repeatedly turned the offer down due to the low salary offered. Wood later told Rick Gentry (in Film Voices: Interviews from Post Script, edited by Gerald Duchovnay, SUNY Press, 2004, page 244), that he only found out after the film was released that he had been offered the role. Upset that he had missed a chance to be not only in a theatrical movie, but also in one that he thought was terrific (“Man, I would have made that movie for free”), he fired his agent.

			Tarantino has never discussed in an interview which role Wood was to play, saying it would pit Wood’s possible performance against a “brilliant one” by the actor who played the role in the film, but the consensus has been that it was probably Mr. Orange, the undercover cop played by Tim Roth.

			Mr. Pink in Reservoir Dogs—Dennis Hopper, Tom Sizemore, Vincent Gallo, or Quentin Tarantino

			Once Harvey Keitel became involved as the star and a producer, he offered up other actors he thought would be good in the movie, with one of the first being Dennis Hopper. As Hopper and Tarantino discussed in issue #49 of Grand Street (“Blood Lust Snicker Snicker in Wide Screen,” 1994, Grand Street Press), Hopper wanted to play the role of Mr. Pink but was already committed to do another film and had to back out. Hopper would eventually turn up in True Romance as Cliff, Clarence’s dad.

			Vincent Gallo stated that he was offered the role of Mr. Pink in Reservoir Dogs, but turned it down. This comes from an interview done with the Buffalo News (“Rebel Without a Pause, the Non-Stop, Out-There Life of Actor Vincent Gallo,” by Lauri Githens, January 12, 1997), although other sources say Gallo was up for the role of Mr. Orange as well. While this may seem out of place, as it is the only time such a claim was made by anyone associated with the movie, Gallo did have a relationship with director Monte Hellman. Hellman was at one point set to direct both Reservoir Dogs and Gallo’s Buffalo ’66, but both deals fell through for various reasons that were not of a personal nature. Hellman would become an executive producer on Reservoir Dogs and get a thank-you on Buffalo ’66, and so there is the possibility that Gallo had seen the script for Reservoir Dogs and things didn’t work out.

			Steve Buscemi stated to The Slant (“Q&A with Steve Buscemi and Seymour Cassel,” http://www.theslant.com/arts_media/articles/buscemi.html) that he and Cassel auditioned for Reservoir Dogs (it was never stated what part Seymour Cassel, part of John Cassavetes’ cluster of actors, had auditioned for). He felt he did a terrible audition, but the casting director had remembered his test from a Neil Simon movie and gave it to Tarantino to review. Tarantino liked the 1950s look of Buscemi in the video and asked him to audition again.

			In an interview with Lawrence Chua for Reservoir Dogs (“Woof” Village Voice, October 20, 1992), Steve Buscemi had the following to say about his second audition. “When I was brought back for Mr. Pink on my call back, Quentin says to me, ‘You know Steve, this is the part I wrote for myself. I’m not gonna give it away. Whoever wants this part is going to have to fucking take it from me. I’m not gonna give this part away. Now, uh, I hope that doesn’t affect your audition.’”

			As we know, it didn’t. Tom Sizemore in an AOL interview in 1999 stated that he had read for the role six times and it was between him and Buscemi. Meanwhile, before settling on Buscemi, Michael Madsen was briefly considered for the role, but then moved to Mr. Blonde. Viewers sometimes confuse Sizemore with Madsen, and so the mistaken assumption that he appears in the film still pops up in articles about Sizemore even today. Sizemore would eventually appear as one of the cops in True Romance and in Natural Born Killers, two films connected with Tarantino, while it would be Buscemi who eventually asked why he had to be Mr. Pink in the robbery.

			Mr. White in Reservoir Dogs—Steve Buscemi

			Although Buscemi appears as Mr. White in the Sundance Lab test footage (which can be found on the Reservoir Dogs Tenth Anniversary DVD as well as the Blu-ray), he had already been signed on to play Mr. Pink to Harvey Keitel as Mr. White. Thus, while it is intriguing to watch Buscemi work his way through the material in the other role, it was clear that it was only for the purpose of the test footage and nothing more.

			Alabama in True Romance—Brooke Shields, Uma Thurman, Bridget Fonda, Diane Lane, Julia Roberts, and Kyra Sedgwick 

			Tarantino wrote the role picturing someone like Joan Cusack—known for playing quirky but ultimately stable and determined women in comedies like Broadcast News, Say Anything . . . , and Working Girl—in the role of Alabama. Director Tony Scott, however, envisioned Drew Barrymore for the part—a young woman who had the reputation of the wild girl in real life and perpetuated that image in movies like Poison Ivy and Guncrazy. (Guncrazy, which came out in October 1992, deals with a woman inducting her boyfriend into a life of crime and murder after killing her stepfather—a story line similar to elements of both True Romance and Natural Born Killers.) Although neither would become involved, such differing views on the character of Alabama no doubt point to why a wide variety of actresses were considered for the role.

			Oddly, while it has been stated in articles and on websites over the years that at least six women sought and/or auditioned for the role of Alabama in True Romance, there is very little direct evidence that this is correct. Even the common notion that Tony Scott spent a year considering actresses for the movie is suspect considering that production began in September 1992 but William Lustig was still noted as the director in October 1991 by Variety. Further, we have some very famous actresses listed, including two that later turned up in Tarantino movies, yet unlike with other Tarantino-related films, very little has ever been said by the individuals involved about trying out for True Romance. (Not that it would be a popular topic. “Hey, let’s talk about movies I didn’t make!” Even so, such discussions do occur in interviews, so it’s not uncommon.)

			Brooke Shields supposedly was anxious to get the role, but it appears she was never considered. Diane Lane started in films as a youngster much like Shields, but by 1992 she was typically playing more confident, adult women, different from the character of Alabama. Uma Thurman had been slowly gaining bigger roles in a variety of films in the late 1980s and early 1990s, including playing Maid Marian in the critically successful television adaptation of Robin Hood from 1991. Bridget Fonda was moving up as well, having completed the successful Single White Female and Singles in 1992. Julia Roberts was breaking down barriers everywhere in the early 1990s thanks to the popularity of the 1990 movie Pretty Woman (and for her to consider or be considered playing another prostitute so soon after her famous role seems unlikely).

			Uma Thurman would of course go on to be in Pulp Fiction and the Kill Bill films, while Bridget Fonda turned up in Jackie Brown. Meanwhile, Fonda’s costar in Singles, Kyra Sedgwick, was also listed as a possibility for the role and would become best known for her starring role in the series The Closer. Ironically, that series would film part of one episode at the Safari Inn in Burbank, which is the setting for an intense scene in True Romance (and a setting covered in more detail in chapter 12). In the end, Patricia Arquette was finally picked by Tony Scott to play the role of Alabama.

			Clarence in True Romance—Matt Dillon, Val Kilmer, and Brad Pitt

			The December 19, 1991, edition of Variety states “Negotiations with The Last Boy Scout director Tony Scott and actor Matt Dillon to spearhead True Romance are said to be under way.” Obviously, that changed quickly, as Dillon moved on to other films, but it would not be the last time he was considered for a role in a Tarantino-related film, only to be passed up for someone else.

			Brad Pitt states in the DVD commentary for True Romance that he was offered a bigger role, but decided to go with the smaller one of the drugged-out roommate from later in the film. The only really “big role” for a person of Pitt’s age at the time would commonly be the lead character itself, Clarence, although it should be stated that he never mentioned the name of the character he was offered. Tony Scott, knowing Pitt was on his way up, eagerly agreed to have him in the film.

			Val Kilmer had gone after the role of Clarence, but Tony Scott thought he would be better in the role of Elvis. Kilmer agreed and reportedly would speak in the voice of Elvis when Scott called him on the phone. Kilmer had already been in several successful films by this time, including Oliver Stone’s The Doors and Top Gun for Tony Scott, and would continue afterwards with films such as Tombstone and Kiss Kiss Bang Bang. He was also Batman in Batman Forever, but that shouldn’t be held against him; Clooney took a spin at that role as well.

			Soon enough, Christian Slater was pegged for the role of Clarence, which some have seen as one of his best roles.

			Vincenzo Coccotti in True Romance—Liam Neeson and Robert Forster

			In a role that would crystalize Christopher Walken’s career playing uneasy, dangerous men, Coccotti was first offered to Liam Neeson, who would begin filming Schindler’s List in February 1993. Robert Forster tested for the role and was Tarantino’s first choice, as he hoped to pay Forster back for not using him in Reservoir Dogs. Forster’s casting makes sense as well when William Lustig was set to direct, as they two had worked together a few years before in the 1983 movie Vigilante, but once Tony Scott got involved, all bets were off as to who was cast for the film. Instead, Christopher Walken would make the role his own.

			Virgil in True Romance—Tom Sizemore

			Tom Sizemore had been hired to play Virgil, the hitman who tortures Alabama in the hotel room, but he was apprehensive about playing a part where he is seen beating on a woman and told director Tony Scott (“Tom Sizemore on Point Break, True Romance, and Getting Yelled at by Pete Rose,” by Nathan Rabin, http://www.avclub.com/article/tom-sizemore-on-ipoint-breaki-itrue-romancei-and-g-93298). Instead, he offered to switch roles with James Gandolfini, who had been cast as one of the cops looking to set up a sting operation. Sizemore was happy with the switch, and Gandolfini would end up in a role as a mobster confessing his crimes and psychosis—a role in similar spirit to one he would play in the popular HBO series The Sopranos later on.

			Mickey in Natural Born Killers—Michael Madsen and Tom Sizemore

			In an interview with The Guardian (“Michael Madsen; Mr. Blonde’s Ambition,” by Sanjiv Bhattacharya, April 17, 2004), Madsen said that his work in Reservoir Dogs nearly got him signed to play Mickey in Natural Born Killers. Around the same time, Tom Sizemore tried out for the role, but Stone thought he would be better in the role of Detective Scagnetti. Instead, Warner Brothers wanted a better-known name for the $35 million budget Stone was asking for, and so Woody Harrelson ended up in the role.

			Wayne Gale in Natural Born Killers—Geraldo Rivera

			For the role of the somewhat crazed television commentator and star, Wayne Gale, Oliver Stone temporarily toyed with the idea of hiring famous television commentator and shock-talk-show host Geraldo Rivera for the role. Instead, Robert Downey Jr. was hired. After the decision was made, the production team asked Rivera to help Downey get ready for the role, but Rivera refused, and instead Downey spent time with Australian Steve Dunleavy from the shock-news program A Current Affair, thus leading to Downey giving the character an Australian accent.

			Various Minor Characters in Natural Born Killers—Ashley Judd, Dennis Leary, and the Barbarian Brothers

			Ashley Judd had appeared in Kuffs with Christian Slater in 1992 and got wide recognition in the role of Ruby in Ruby in Paradise before signing up to appear in Oliver Stone’s Natural Born Killers. Her performance as Grace Mulberry, a survivor of a teen slumber party where Mickey and Mallory had killed the other six girls, was left on the cutting room floor. Hers wasn’t the only performance to go there. Dennis Leary, comedian and actor, who would go on to star in the series Rescue Me, played an inmate of the prison who gets to rant for the camera. The Barbarian Brothers were actually brothers Peter and David Paul, who found some success as bodybuilders and actors in films such as . . . well . . . The Barbarians (1987). They play two men, Norman and Simon—the Brothers Hun—being interviewed by Wayne about surviving an attack by Mickey and Mallory but losing a leg each in the process.

			All these scenes can be found on the special edition of the director’s cut of Natural Born Killers, but were considered nonessential or detrimental (Judd’s scene is said to have made her character so sympathetic that it worked against audiences’ indulgence towards Mickey and Mallory) and didn’t make it into the film proper.

			Vincent Vega in Pulp Fiction—Daniel Day-Lewis, William Hurt, Michael Madsen, Sean Penn, Tim Roth, or Bruce Willis

			When Tarantino had finished the script for Pulp Fiction, he aimed to get Michael Madsen to play the part of Vincent Vega as the brother to Vic Vega, a.k.a. Mr. Blonde, from Reservoir Dogs. Madsen was set to do the part, but had to back out when “Lawrence Kasdan wouldn’t let me out of the rehearsal contract [for Wyatt Earp]” (“Beating Us Senseless: Michael Madsen Is Praying for Deliverance with Kill Bill,” by Aaron Epple, Dayton City Paper, April 27, 2004). With Madsen out, Tarantino briefly considered putting Tim Roth into the role when he hit upon the idea of John Travolta. Harvey Weinstein of the Weinstein Company was happy with the cast list Tarantino had put together for the film at that point, but balked at Travolta. He offered Daniel Day-Lewis (who had read the script and wanted the role), Sean Penn and William Hurt as alternatives, while there were rumblings that Bruce Willis was interested in the role as well. However, Tarantino refused to back down, and Weinstein was the first to blink. After the picture came out, according to Simpson in Vanity Fair (“The Pulp Fiction Oral History,” January 30, 2013), Weinstein in good humor stated “I’m so glad I came up with the idea to cast John Travolta.”
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					John Travolta and Bruce Willis sharing a laugh on the set of Pulp Fiction—if things had been different, their parts in the film would have been played by Daniel Day-Lewis and Matt Dillon.

				

			

			Jules Winnfield in Pulp Fiction—Laurence Fishburne or Paul Calderon

			In the same Vanity Fair article that had Weinstein hoping to cast pretty much anyone other than Travolta for Vincent is mentioned that Paul Calderon nearly played Jules. Tarantino has been known to sometimes craft a role in a subsequent script for someone that he wants to see in his films, such as in the case of Travolta. He has also done this in a few cases with actors that had auditioned for his previous films, had done well, but didn’t make the cut, such as with Robert Forster and Pam Grier. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, Samuel L. Jackson had auditioned for a role in Reservoir Dogs and later congratulated Tarantino on the film’s success. He also turned up in a small role in a pivotal scene early in True Romance. Thus, when it came time to write the script for Pulp Fiction, Tarantino wrote the role of Jules Winnfield with Jackson in mind.

			Or at least that’s how the story goes. According to Laurence Fishburne (“Fishburne Glad He Turned Down Pulp Fiction,” Contactmusic, November 11, 2009, http://www.contactmusic.com/news/fishburne-glad-he-turned-down-pulp-fiction_1121984), he was given the script by Tarantino and told that the role had been written with him in mind. After reading the script, he declined the part, stating, “I decided not to do it, because I couldn’t respond to the part. . . . It didn’t feel like something I needed to do.” Thus, Jackson was asked if he wanted to play the part, and he readily accepted.

			But there was a catch that Jackson was unaware—he was expected to audition for the role. Thinking the part was his, he found out right before production was to start that actor Paul Calderon had the role because Jackson had never auditioned. Tired and angry, Jackson traveled to Los Angeles in order to do a last-minute audition for Tarantino, Lawrence Binder, and Miramax’s head of production, Richard Gladstein. To put him in an even worse mood, he came into the audition with someone telling him, “I love your work, Mr. Fishburne.”

			Arriving with some carryout from a fast-food joint, Jackson seethed with anger that played perfectly into his audition for the trio. As Lawrence Binder said to Vanity Fair, “He was the guy you see in the movie. He said, ‘Do you think you’re going to give this part to somebody else? I’m going to blow you motherfuckers away.’”

			Convinced Jackson should play the role, Tarantino gave Paul Calderon the smaller role of English Dave, the bartender at Marsellus’ strip bar. Calderon would go on to play Norman, the guy about to lose a finger at the party in Tarantino’s segment of Four Rooms, as well as a variety of parts, big and small, in movies and television.

			In February 2014, Los Angeles KTLA reporter Sam Rubin interviewed Jackson about his role in the remake of RoboCop. During the interview, Rubin asked Jackson about his recent Super Bowl ad. Problem was, the ad people remember from the Super Bowl featured not Jackson but Laurence Fishburne. It was obvious that the reporter had made an innocent mistake during a live interview, and for the most part Jackson took it with good humor, but no doubt he probably felt it was simply par for the course.

			Mia in Pulp Fiction—Rosanna Arquette, Holly Hunter, Meg Ryan, Michelle Pfeiffer, Jennifer Aniston, Kate Beckinsale, Geena Davis, Catherine Deneuve, Joan Cusack, Laura Dern, Bridget Fonda, Melanie Griffith, Daryl Hannah, Julia-Louis Dreyfus, Kelly Lynch, Isabella Rossellini, Alfie Woodward, or Helen Slater

			No doubt, a meaty female part in a new movie by a writer/director who is hot would draw the attention of many actresses. Even so, the number of names that have been thrown around seems more like a shopping list than those who actually tried out, and for many of the actresses, that’s exactly what it turns out to be—a shopping list of people who might have been good in the role.

			Several websites state that Julia-Louis Dreyfus’ manager at one time said that the star had to turn down Pulp Fiction due to her Seinfeld commitments, but there doesn’t seem to be any source where the actual statement was made. Jennifer Aniston supposedly was considered but withdrew when she decided to concentrate on her NBC series Friends. However, Friends did not begin casting until the early part of 1994, with production of the pilot done in May 1994, long after Pulp Fiction was completed, so the reasoning here seems iffy at best. According to Sharon Waxman’s Rebels on the Backlot (HarperEntertainment, New York, 2005), Meg Ryan and Michelle Pfeiffer were offered for the role by their agents, while Holly Hunter was a definite candidate. Rosanna Arquette did a test for the role, but Tarantino instead offered her the role of Jody, which she snapped up.

			Uma Thurman was hesitant about the role going in and after Tarantino agree to casting her, was even more unsure, thanks to the gimp scene. The anal rape scene disturbed her, and she didn’t know if she wanted to be associated with the film, but in the end Tarantino was able to convince her. Years later she told Vanity Fair that everyone thought she was crazy to want to drop out of it, and in looking back, she agreed it would have been a mistake.

			Marsellus in Pulp Fiction—Sid Haig or Max Julien

			Marsellus was not the easiest role to fill, especially when actors got to the gimp scene and saw what was to happen to the character. Sid Haig, a popular actor in cult films—commonly popping up in films with Pam Grier (who also auditioned for Pulp Fiction; see the entry for Jody below) and remembered by kids as the villain in Jason of Star Command—was first asked about the role, but he turned it down.

			Samuel L. Jackson states in the “Cinema Tarantino” article from Vanity Fair that Tarantino had Max Julien in mind for the role. Julien had played Goldie in The Mack (1973), a man who becomes a powerful pimp before a series of consequences attempt to knock him off the top of the food chain. Julien read the Pulp Fiction script and declined the role. As Jackson put it, “Max Julien wasn’t going to do [the anal rape scene]. He’s the Mack. He’s Goldie. He’s like, ‘No, I don’t think my fans want to see that.’”

			Tarantino then remembered Ving Rhames from his audition for Reservoir Dogs. Rhames had no such issues about the scene, feeling that it was a chance for him to play a “vulnerable” person, which he so rarely got to do as an actor.

			Butch in Pulp Fiction—Matt Dillon or Mickey Rourke

			Putting together his cast for the film Pulp Fiction was not as easy for Tarantino as one would think after coming off the success of Reservoir Dogs in 1992. For as many actors who wanted to be involved in such a way that Tarantino could pick from a lot for certain roles (such as he did with Rosetta Arquette as the drug dealer’s girlfriend), there were others more wary of jumping in for various reasons.

			Mickey Rourke was an early contender for the role of Butch, the boxer, in Pulp Fiction. In an interview with Scout Foundas for the Palm Beach New Times (“Year of the Ram: Mickey Rourke Is Back in the Ring with The Wrestler,” January 1, 2009), the actor recalled his assistant handing him the script for Pulp Fiction. “I said, ‘Who else is in it?’ She said, ‘John Travolta.’ I said, ‘How much?’ She said, ‘Scale.’ I took the script and I remember throwing it at her. I didn’t even read it.” Ironically, he then left to fight and win a professional boxing match in Kansas City. Rourke would reflect on this in the article and elsewhere as a clear sign he was losing sight of his career and ability to get jobs, obviously regretting he passed the chance up. This may be in part why Tarantino in 1996 would dismiss Rourke in an interview with US magazine (“Interview: Quentin Tarantino,” by J. Hoberman, January 1996): “I’m a big fan, but to tell you the truth, I find it hard to get excited about working with somebody who just says, ‘Ah, fuck acting, it don’t mean shit to me.’ Well, acting means everything in the world to me.”

			Matt Dillon was a different case. He was wanted for the production by a few involved, including Roger Avary. The only ones unsure were Tarantino and Dillon. Although Dillon was enthusiastic after reading the script, he asked for a day to think about it, which evidently set Tarantino on edge. Tarantino’s agent Mike Simpson told Vanity Fair (“The Pulp Fiction Oral History,” January 2013), “Quentin then called me and said, ‘He’s out. If he can’t tell me face-to-face that he wants to be in the movie—after he read the script—he’s out.’” As it turns out, and in a story that most fans already know, Tarantino went to a barbeque at Harvey Keitel’s place that night and ran into Bruce Willis. Discussing roles in the film (since Bruce was being considered at one point for the role of Vincent Vega), Tarantino convinced Willis to accept the role of Butch. In doing so, Tarantino helped revive Willis’ career, which had been coasting on his success with the Die Hard films.

			Lance or Jimmie in Pulp Fiction—Eric Stoltz or Quentin Tarantino

			As Tarantino himself stated in the 2013 Vanity Fair “Cinema Tarantino” article, he showed Eric Stoltz two roles in the movie. “There are two parts you can do,” Tarantino recalled telling the actor, “and they both wear bathrobes.” Of course, those two roles are Lance the drug dealer and Jimmie, Bonnie’s husband. While it is easy to see Tarantino in the role of Lance, Stoltz’s intensity probably would have been too much for the role of miserable Jimmie and taken a lot of the comedy out of it.

			In the June 2011 issue of GQ, Courtney Love stated that she and Kurt Cobain had gotten the script for Pulp Fiction in 1993 with hopes of casting Kurt as Lance and Courtney as Jody, Lance’s wife “with all the shit in her face.” Tarantino himself, however, has commented that they were never considered for the roles.

			Jody in Pulp Fiction—Pam Grier

			Auditions for this role included talk-show host Ellen DeGeneres, who was branching out into movies and television from stand-up comedy at the time. However, the only clear contenders for the role were Rosanna Arquette and Pam Grier. Grier had made a name for herself in the 1970s as the star of several movies in the blaxploitation genre, including Coffy and Foxy Brown, as well as “women in prison” films like The Big Doll House and Black Mama, White Mama. Tarantino loved the idea of casting her somewhere, but felt it would be impossible for viewers to see Jody being someone that would put up with Lance yelling at her. However, as with previous auditions in the past, Tarantino promised that he would keep her in mind for something in a later movie. Grier figured it to be a typical Hollywood blow-off, not realizing that Tarantino was a man of his word. 

			Ted the Bellhop in Four Rooms—Steve Buscemi

			This anthology screwball comedy that featured Tarantino directing the final story, “The Man from Hollywood,” was to have starred Steve Buscemi as Ted, the bellhop who ties all the stories together. Buscemi couldn’t do the film, however, due to other commitments, and Tim Roth took his place.

			Seth Gecko in From Dusk Till Dawn—Robert Blake, Antonio Banderas, Tim Roth, John Travolta, Michael Madsen, Steve Buscemi, or Christopher Walken

			Antonio Banderas was announced in a January 1995 issue of Variety for the role of the criminal (and smarter brother) Seth Gecko, but had to pass due to other commitments. Instead, George Clooney, who was gaining popularity after appearing in the NBC medical-drama series ER, got the role. Clooney was a vastly different physical type from Tarantino’s first choice when he originally wrote the script—Robert Blake of Baretta fame (although to have had an original cast member from The Treasure of the Sierra Madre—Blake had appeared in the film when he was a boy and going by the name of Mickey Gubitosi—appearing in a film about criminals in Mexico sounds like something right up Tarantino’s alley).

			Pete Bottom in From Dusk Till Dawn—Tim Roth or Steve Buscemi

			The clerk at Benny’s World of Liquor was originally supposed to be a guest-star cameo by one of the Reservoir Dogs crew, but as with the role of Seth, neither actor could spare the time. Instead, John Hawkes played the role of the unfortunate counter help.

			Carlos in From Dusk Till Dawn—Erik Estrada

			Former CHiPs star Erik Estrada was to have appeared at the end of the movie as Carlos, the gangster that the Geckos went to the Titty Twister to meet. Instead, when Estrada dropped out, it was decided that Cheech Marin, who had already played two other parts in the film, would be perfect in the role. It does round out his appearances in the film, making his characters like a distortion of the farm/Oz characters being played by the same actors in the beginning, middle and end of The Wizard of Oz.

			FBI Agent Stanley Chase in From Dusk Till Dawn—William Sadler

			Sadler, who turns up in Tales from the Crypt: Bordello of Blood (the other vampire action movie of 1995), was to play the small role that went to horror/action favorite John Saxon. Sadler would eventually turn up in Rodriguez’s Machete Kills and in the 2014 television series based on From Dusk Till Dawn.

			Melanie in Jackie Brown—Pam Grier

			By the 1990s, Pam Grier had gotten so used to being set up for secondary roles in films that when she read the script for Jackie Brown, she assumed Tarantino had written the Melanie part for her instead of the lead role. The role of Melanie had already been cast, with Bridget Fonda playing the part in the film. Grier, of course, would instead play the lead.
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					Pam Grier and Robert Forster in the food court for Jackie Brown. Both had lost auditions for roles in earlier Tarantino films, but he had promised he would keep them in mind for another film. To the surprise of both, he kept that promise.

				

			

			Original Soundtrack Music for Kill Bill, Volumes 1 & 2—Lars Ulrich

			In 2003, Tarantino announced that Lars Ulrich would be composing music for his upcoming Kill Bill movies with RZA of the Wu-Tang Clan producing. Ulrich would later tell Newsweek (“Metallica’s Lars Ulrich on Saying No to Quentin Tarantino,” volume 158, October 24, 2011) that he was invited to have dinner with Tarantino to discuss music for the movie (at this time it was still to be one film). Tarantino told Ulrich that he had choreographed the two main fight scenes in the movie to “Enter Sandman” and “Sad but True”—two songs from Ulrich’s band, Metallica. Ulrich was excited about the idea, but became hesitant upon receiving the 180-page script. Not being a fan of martial arts and unfamiliar with the type of scripts Tarantino writes, he felt very reluctant about the project and eventually decided to let it go without ever getting back to Tarantino. Ulrich concludes in the article, “Probably the single biggest mistake I’ve made in the creative department.”

			Bill in Kill Bill, Volumes 1 & 2—Samuel L. Jackson or Warren Beatty

			When Tarantino began writing the Kill Bill script, he had one actor in mind, as he told Brian Helgeland in 2003 (“Screenwriters Are (Obsessive, Creative, Neurotic) People, Too,” moderated by Lynn Hirschberg, New York Times, November 9, 2003): “I definitely often write for Sam Jackson. I know his rhythms. I feel like he can turn my lines into poetry. In fact, the character of Bill in Kill Bill, when I first put pen to paper, was Sam Jackson. And finally I had to stop it. I knew I didn’t want to cast Sam Jackson as Bill.”

			As Tarantino geared up production for the Kill Bill films, talks instead began with actor/director Warren Beatty in the role of Kiddo’s lover, master, and ultimate nemesis, Bill. Tarantino would state in an interview with Entertainment Weekly (“Total Tarantino,” by Mary Kaye Schilling, April 9, 2004) that he originally pigeonholed the character as “a killer pimp” who sees his assassins as “his bitches.” An older actor who had a reputation as a heartbreaker and someone who has had a parade of women around him for decades like Beatty would certainly fit such a role.

			Tarantino and Beatty were in talks for close to a year, so much so that it was common knowledge in the entertainment business that the two were in discussions. Rumors were developing that Beatty was frustrated by the delay Thurman’s pregnancy had put on the project, going so far as to suggest replacing her with Winona Ryder or Gwyneth Paltrow. According to David Carradine’s The Kill Bill Diary, Tarantino was pushing so hard to have Beatty play it “like Carradine” that Beatty finally told him that he should hire David Carradine instead of him. Tarantino saw this as an out for a situation where he was becoming less enchanted with his original choice—not so much because of Beatty, but because he began seeing the role in the lower, seemingly calmer vibes that Carradine could project instead of the flashy “James Bond”–like killer that would have worked for Beatty. The script changed in tone for Bill’s character after Carradine became part of the package in order to make it even more like how Carradine himself would react, as well as to how he personally saw the character.
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					David Carradine as Bill in the Kill Bill films. Tarantino had originally written the role with Samuel Jackson in mind before switching to Warren Beatty and then finally to Carradine. 

				

			

		  Alburt in Kill Bill, Volume 2—Michael Jai White

			Tarantino had planned the real full-on introduction to Bill in the movie in the form of a flashback that showed his fighting skills. The scene is set early in Kiddo’s relationship with Bill before she is sent to Pai Mei to study, and Michael Jai White was cast as a student of a master Bill had killed and thus seeks revenge. According to Carradine’s Kill Bill Diary, the fight scene was rehearsed for several weeks and finally filmed in China. White, who has not only appeared in several action films but is also a black belt in various martial arts, worked with Carradine to perfect the fight scene, only for it to end up on the cutting-room floor. As it was, Tarantino found that the “Massacre at Two Pines” chapter did a better job of introducing Bill to the audience at the beginning of Kill Bill, Volume 2, and the fight scene didn’t fit well into continuity any longer. It can be seen on the DVD in the deleted scenes, however.

			L. F. O’Boyle in Kill Bill, Volume 2—LaTanya Richardson

			Tarantino also had another idea as to how to introduce Bill in the second film and came up with a chapter called “Can She Bake a Cherry Pie?” Much like the Michael Jai White fight, the scene was to help establish what type of devious man Bill was. LaTanya Richardson—the wife of Samuel L. Jackson—was hired for the role of O’Boyle in April 2002, but as with White’s scene, it was decided that the “Massacre at Two Pines” did a better job of giving the audience what they needed to know about Bill without extending the focus too far away from Kiddo. The flashback was to feature O’Boyle as the host of a gambling establishment that Bill enters. Although verbally abused by O’Boyle, Bill wins big and flaunts it to O’Boyle, who attacks him. As narrated by Kiddo, this is exactly what Bill wanted, and was his way of toying with his “hits” before eliminating them—forcing them to make the first move against him.

			While White’s fight scene was filmed, Richardson’s scene was not. Most probably this was due to White’s scene being easily shot in a side street while the production team was in China, while Richardson’s scene would have involved building sets and hiring multiple additional actors for the sequence.

			? in Kill Bill, Volume 1 and/or Volume 2—Jacqueline Bisset and Jason Biggs

			Variety reported in March 2002 (“Hannah, Liu Fill Tarantino’s ‘Bill,’” by Jonathan Bing and Charles Lyons, March 14, 2002) that Jacqueline Bisset was considering a role in the film, although it was never established which one. As Daryl Hannah had already signed on and Lucy Liu was nearly there herself, that doesn’t leave a lot of roles open, especially for an older actress. There’s the possibility of Sofie Fatale, O-Ren’s lawyer who gets her arms cut off by Kiddo, who speaks French, in which both Julia Dreyfus and Jacqueline Bisset are fluent. (And since Sofie doesn’t really do anything other than get her arms in the way, there wouldn’t have been any need for Bisset to learn martial arts like nearly every other cast member.) There’s also the O’Boyle role that LaTanya Richardson was set to play, which would have made for a nice cameo in the film (and perhaps some smoldering action between Carradine and Bisset).

			There were also some rumors that Jason Biggs (American Pie) was to appear in the movie as Bill’s son, but that story disappeared without any confirmation either way, and nothing in the scripts done suggest such a character was considered anyway.

			Yuki Yubari in Kill Bill, Volume 2—Ko Shibasaki

			After dispatching O-Ren and returning to America, Kiddo takes the Pussy Wagon to a hotel, unaware that Gogo’s sister has also arrived from Japan and is out for revenge. The two fight and in the process destroy the Pussy Wagon (hence why it is missing later in Kill Bill, Volume 2) as well as do a lot of damage around the neighborhood. Yuki nearly accomplishes her revenge, even after being hit with multiple bullets by Kiddo, but finally dies.

			Ko Shibasaki had played Mitsuko Soma in Battle Royale, alongside Chiaki Juriyama, who played Gogo in the first Kill Bill movie. While the scene explains what happened to Kiddo’s vehicle, it does not really advance the plot and actually slows it down as Kiddo ends up with serious injuries from the attack. It appears the scene was never filmed, although at times Tarantino has stated that he would love to be able to go back to the scene and film it for some type of special future edition of the movies.

			Esteban Vihaio in Kill Bill, Volume 2—Ricardo Montalban

			As per David Carradine’s The Kill Bill Diary (William Morrow Paperbacks, 2006), Ricardo Montalban had been hired to play the part of Esteban Vihaio, the vicious pimp and gang leader who leads Kiddo to Bill. For reasons not explained in the book, although possibly health related as Montalban had begun to have various health issues at this point in his career, Montalban never turned up for the first read-through of the entire script (which would later be broken up into Volume 1 and Volume 2). With his absence, Tarantino asked Michael Parks (who played Sheriff Earl McGraw in Kill Bill Volume 1 and elsewhere) to read the part for the moment. His read-through was so successful that Tarantino decided to recast the part with Parks in the role, making him one of two actors to play different roles in each of the Kill Bill movies (Gordon Liu played Johnny Mo in Volume 1 and Pai Mei in Volume 2). The downside, however, is that the opening Klingon proverb in Volume 1 (“Revenge is a dish best served cold”) was spoken by Montalban as Khan in Star Trek II: The Wrath of Khan, and his appearance near the end of the second Kill Bill film would have tied in neatly with the opening of the first movie.

			Pai Mei in Kill Bill, Volume 2—Quentin Tarantino

			As mentioned in Carradine’s Kill Bill Diary, Tarantino had been practicing martial arts with the rest of the cast in preparation for playing Pai Mei in the second film. Tarantino told IGN.com (“Interview: Quentin Tarantino and Uma Thurman,” http://www.ign.com/articles/2004/04/13/interview-quentin-tarantino-and-uma-thurman?page=3) that he gave up on the idea soon into filming: “Somewhere in the fifth week of shooting in the House of Blue Leaves I was just like, ‘You know, I’m just having, one, so much fun directing this, and, two, it’s taking everything that I have to direct it, that all of a sudden I wasn’t looking forward to playing Pei Mai anymore.” Seeing that he had Gordon Liu, a famous martial-arts actor in films such as The 36th Chamber of Shaolin (1978), playing Johnny Mo in the House of Blue Leaves sequence already, he decided that it would make perfect sense to have Liu play Pei Mai instead.
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					Tarantino himself was to have played Pai Mei in the second Kill Bill film and trained for the role, only to discover that he’d rather be behind the camera than in front of it. Thus, Gordon Liu, who played Johnny Mo in the first film, returned in the second to take on the role of Pai Mei. 

				

			

			Stuntman Mike in Death Proof—Sylvester Stallone, John Travolta, Willem Dafoe, John Malkovich, Ron Perlman, Bruce Willis, or Mickey Rourke

			Sylvester Stallone wrote in response to a question on the Ain’t It Cool website (“Round Three! Dec. 3rd’s Sly Answers to Your Stallone’d Questions,” http://www.aintitcool.com/node/30869) about working with Tarantino that he had been offered a role in Grindhouse, but had to pass it up due to working on his Rocky Balboa film (2006).

			Stories go that a number of other actors were considered for the role of the older, seemingly washed-up stunt driver, from John Travolta to John Malkovich to Ving Rhames. Finally, it was announced that Mickey Rourke—yes, the same man who threw the script for Pulp Fiction back in the face of his agent—had been cast to play Stuntman Mike. Yet, as production was about to begin, Rourke and Tarantino agreed to go their separate ways, and Tarantino signed Kurt Russell for the role.

			Omar, Dov or Nate in Death Proof—Kal Penn

			Kal Penn (The Namesake and the Harold and Kumar films) is sometimes confusingly listed as having been asked to appear in Robert Rodriguez’s Planet Terror (the first film in the Grindhouse double feature), but Penn said in an interview for Cherry Pop with Anne Carlini (http://www.annecarlini.com/ex_interviews.php?id=860) that he had actually been cast to appear in Death Proof, and then had to back out due to The Namesake. It was never explained which role he would have taken, but although he is sometimes listed as being set to play Stuntman Mike, it seems unlikely. Most probably, he was to play one of the three young men who are with the women at the bar where Mike gets his lap dance. Those roles were played by director Eli Roth, actor/writer Michael Bacall and actor Omar Doom (of which all three would later turn up as part of the Basterds in Inglourious Basterds).

			Col. Hans Landa in Inglourious Basterds—Leonardo DiCaprio

			When Tarantino first began casting for his epic World War II movie, he envisioned Leonardo DiCaprio in the role of the Nazi colonel who is an expert linguist. However, once Christoph Waltz showed his abilities with French, German, and English, Tarantino knew he had found the perfect actor for the role. DiCaprio wouldn’t have to sit on the sidelines too long—he would be popping up and facing Waltz in Tarantino’s next movie, Django Unchained.
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					Leonardo DiCaprio originally had been slated to take on the role of Col. Landa in Inglourious Basterds before Tarantino chose Christoph Waltz instead. DiCaprio would later play Calvin Candie in Django Unchained—a role written for a different actor that didn’t work out. 

				

			

			Donny “Bear Jew” Donowitz in Inglourious Basterds—Adam Sandler

			As with DiCaprio, Tarantino wrote the role of the Bear Jew with a certain actor in mind, in this case Adam Sandler. While Sandler was known as a comedian on Saturday Night Live and in a series of films (including Little Nicky, which had a cameo from Tarantino), he had been in a fair share of dramatic roles and certainly was more willing than some of the other SNL alumni to take on riskier roles. Thus, playing Donowitz would not have been completely out of the norm for Sandler’s career. Unfortunately for him, he was already set to film Funny People, a movie that did not do well at the box office, so Tarantino brought in director Eli Roth to take the role.

			Lt. Archie Hicox in Inglourious Basterds—Simon Pegg or Tim Roth

			Both actors were interested in the role and a chance to work with Tarantino (in Roth’s case, for a third time), but once again scheduling led to both having to move on. Michael Fassbender took the role instead.

			Bridget von Hammersmark in Inglourious Basterds—Nastassja Kinski

			Tarantino tried to get Kinski (Tess; To the Devil, a Daughter) interested in playing the part of the German film star who is secretly working for the Allies, even going so far as to fly to Germany and discuss the role with her, according to the Hollywood Reporter. Kinski turned it down, and instead Diane Kruger (the National Treasure films) was signed for the role.

			Mrs. Himmelstein in Inglourious Basterds—Cloris Leachman

			Early in the film a couple of flashback scenes were to occur where the audience learns more about Donny Donowitz and his bat. We first see Donowitz buying the bat, and in the second scene, he goes to visit an old Jewish woman in his neighborhood. She invites him in for tea, and he explains that he plans to use the bat to “beat every Nazi I find to death with it” and is asking neighbors to put the names of anyone still in Germany that they fear may be in danger from the Nazis. Leachman plays the old woman, who decides to sign the bat.

			While the scene is an excellent one, and explains why we see such names on the bat in one of the movie posters for the film, it’s information the audience didn’t need in a movie that was already running over two and a half hours. Which was the same with the next entry below.

			Madame Ada Mimieux in Inglourious Basterds—Maggie Cheung

			In another example of scenes that help establish more background about a character, Shosanna is shown arriving in Paris and taking shelter in the theater belonging to Madame Ada Mimieux. Mimieux was played by Maggie Cheung, who made her name in a number of films out of Hong Kong in the 1980s and 1990s, including a variety of costarring roles in some of Jackie Chan’s biggest films, as well as the oddball superhero films The Heroic Trio and The Executioners. Her scenes explain how Shosanna ended up at the theater, becoming trusted, and also a forewarning about the nitrate film that is so important to the plot at the end of the movie. However, in editing the film, Tarantino felt the scenes gave background information that was not needed for the audience to stay with the film and with Shosanna’s character. Thus, Maggie Cheung, like Cloris Leachman before her, was cut.

			Django in Django Unchained—Michael K. Williams or Will Smith

			Will Smith was the first choice that it appears everyone but Will Smith thought would be Django in the film. That includes Quentin Tarantino, who pursued Smith for the role. Smith, however, did not feel the role was right for him, telling Entertainment Weekly in March 2013 that “The other character was the lead.” Smith asked Tarantino to change the script so that Django got to kill Candie, but Tarantino preferred not to do so, and Smith moved on with no hard feelings.

			Several other actors were under consideration after Smith, with Michael K. Williams (The Wire, Boardwalk Empire) at one point stating to the press that he was in negotiations for the role, and Tarantino had to choose between him and Jamie Foxx. Williams went on to say at the time that he had heard there might be a different role for him in the movie, but as it turns out, that was not the case.

			Scotty in Django Unchained—Jonah Hill, Sacha Baron Cohen or Joseph Gordon-Levitt

			Jonah Hill was first approached to play Scotty Harmony, a young, naïve southerner who is given Broomhilda as a gift by his father after she is sold into slavery. The story line—discussed in another chapter—would have fleshed out much of what happened to Broomhilda while Django was working his way up to becoming a bounty hunter and how she ended up with Candie. Hill had to pull out of the role due to scheduling conflicts with his movie The Watch, although he was available long enough to shoot a cameo as one of the ragtag group of Klan members with Don Johnson’s character in the middle of the film.

			November 2011 saw the press release that Sacha Baron Cohen had been signed to play the role. Cohen, mainly remembered as the naïve foreigner in the mockumentary Borat, eventually too bowed out due to commitment to the movie version of the musical Les Miserables. By that point, Tarantino decided to cut the sequence and rewrite the record office scene so that it appears Candie bought Broomhilda directly from the auction with no Scotty involved (see “The Script” in chapter 22 for more details). As for Joseph Gordon-Levitt, see the Roy and Jano entry below.

			Calvin Candie in Django Unchained—?

			As Django Unchained was being released, Tarantino in a few interviews mentioned that he had originally written the role of Calvin Candie for an older actor (his script before production began makes it clear that Candie is an older man). This was due to having a particular actor in mind for the role, but when Tarantino finally got a chance to discuss it with the actor, he realized the man had gotten too old for the role he had pictured in his head. Admittedly, he stated that the last time he had seen the actor was in 1991—twenty years before—so time had taken its toll on the image Tarantino had, and instead he rewrote some of the dialogue and gave the role to Leonardo DiCaprio. Because age was the reason Tarantino did not go with the original actor, he has never acknowledged the name of the actor he had in mind.

			Roy and Jano in Django Unchained—Anthony LaPaglia, Joseph Gordon-Levitt

			Joseph Gordon-Levitt (Lincoln, The Dark Knight Rises) was in negotiations for a role in Django Unchained, but he too had to back out due to a scheduling conflict—this one being a movie he was directing, Don Jon. While there was much speculation that the role was Scotty, the announcement of him being added to the cast came in October 2011, which was before that of Sacha Baron Cohen being signed. As Gordon-Levitt didn’t leave the film until April 2012, all indications support him having been given a different role in the film.

			However, on October 31, 2011, Anthony LaPaglia (Without a Trace) announced to Deadline (“Anthony LaPaglia Joins Django Unchained . . .”, http://www.deadline.com/2011/10/anthony-lapaglia-joins-django-unchained-laments-hardships-pushing-actors-to-tv/#utm_source=dlvr.it&utm_medium=twitter) that he had signed on to the film to play Jano, with Gordon-Levitt as the character’s brother Roy. As it turns out, Jano was played in the movie by Quentin Tarantino with an Australian accent that Tarantino himself agreed was terrible. Joining him as Roy and Floyd were John Jarratt and Michael Parks.

			Music in Django Unchained—Frank Ocean

			Musician Frank Ocean had written a song for Django Unchained, “Wiseman,” which was even promoted in some reports before the release of the film. After editing the film, Tarantino decided to cut the song and released a statement saying: “Frank Ocean wrote a fantastic ballad that was truly lovely and poetic in every way, [but] there just wasn’t a scene for it. I could have thrown it in quickly just to have it, but that’s not why he wrote it and not his intention.” Ocean would release the song online in December 2012 to good reviews.

			Ace Woody in Django Unchained—Kevin Costner or Kurt Russell

			Reports came that Kevin Costner was to appear in Django Unchained as a Mandingo expert working for Calvin Candie (Leonardo DiCaprio). When Costner had to withdraw from the role, Kurt Russell signed up to replace him. However, he too had to withdraw, and Tarantino instead decided to conflate the character with that of Billy Crash (Walton Goggins). Officially, there was never a reason given for Russell’s departure from the film, but rumors abound that he grew dissatisfied with what he thought was to be a western turning into something else.

			Of course, any western that takes place in Tarantino’s universes is going to be something other than traditional. More like “Realer Than Real,” actually. What that means for Tarantino’s movies will be discussed in the next chapter.
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A Place for Your Samurai Sword

			The Tarantino Universes

			In Kill Bill, Volume 1, there is a scene where we see Uma Thurman’s character of Kiddo taking a flight to Japan in order to track down the next person on her to-do list. The flight is a vivid moment in fantasy storytelling—the plane is obviously a model in a blood-red sky that is a tribute by Tarantino to the science fiction/horror film Goke: Body Snatcher from Hell. All the elements are there to tell us that we have entered this world of a fantasy. Yet, more than one viewer looked to the screen and said, “Why is she allowed to carry a samurai sword on the flight with her?” Forget everything else shown to the audience during that scene—the obvious model city, the violent red sky—we accept those elements as part of the movie narrative; yet it’s the sword on the plane that confuses people.

			The audience were not the only ones thrown by this. As Tarantino mentioned in an interview with Tomohiro Machiyama for Eiga Hi-Ho magazine (2003, reprinted in Quentin Tarantino Interviews, edited by Gerald Peary, 2013, University Press of Mississippi), when Warren Beatty read the script (while being considered for the role of Bill), he was concerned about the sword situation as well. When Beatty expressed surprise at the justification that everyone carried a sword in this world (and if you look quickly, you’ll see that there are other people walking around with such swords in the airport as Kiddo disembarks), Tarantino went on to explain: “This is a movie movie universe, and in this universe, people carry samurai swords. Not only do they carry samurai swords, not only can you bring a samurai sword on an airplane, there’s a place on the airplane seat to put your samurai sword! Now, I’m not saying you can do this on every flight, but on Japanese airlines you better believe there’s a place for you to put your samurai sword!”

			And with those words in 2003 we begin to suspect that there was a force at work within Tarantino’s movies that went beyond a single film. A “Movie Movie Universe?” What was that? Where did that come from? If the Kill Bill movies were “Movie Movies” (and not like Movie Movie, the George C. Scott film of the mid-1970s), then what did that make his other films? Did they have their own universe? Were we as audience members supposed to spot this and take it to heart when going in to see a new Tarantino movie?

			The idea appears to have developed over time. The earliest use of something driving these films as being from a “Quentin Tarantino Universe” comes from a 1998 interview with Erik Bauer for the January/February issue of Creative Screenwriting magazine (“Method Writing: An Interview with Quentin Tarantino”). In the interview, Tarantino describes how his script for Jackie Brown was based on the “Elmore Leonard Universe,” and that his scripts for the films before that (Reservoir Dogs, Pulp Fiction, and True Romance), as well as the script for Natural Born Killers took place in his own universe (he made no mention of From Dusk Till Dawn). Leonard has a tendency to reuse characters from one novel to another—sometimes even in incidental roles. Tarantino loved that aspect of Leonard’s writing and wanted to incorporate it into his own by allowing his characters the same freedom to jump from film to film; thus creating his own “universe” for them.

			Ironically, the focus of his description in the interview was to set aside people’s expectations that he would always be writing in one particular “universe,” or, as described by Tarantino in the interview, “I want people to see my new movie, not my next movie.” Thus, it wasn’t so much that he was saying these films shared a time and space that linked them, but rather that his “voice” directed the earlier scripts, while Leonard’s “voice” directed the script for Jackie Brown. Nevertheless, the moment was captured where a “Tarantino universe” began to take shape, at least in Tarantino’s thoughts.

			It was certainly something we as fans weren’t even thinking about before that, or even for a time afterwards. As stated above, the movies made with Tarantino’s contributions up through and including Jackie Brown were like a shotgun blast to a watermelon when it came to connections between them—the aftermath shows a little bit here, a little there, but no one was trying to reconstruct the watermelon to see how it all fit. Out of six movies, there were three he directed himself, two he wrote and that were directed by others, and a sixth that used his script. Moreover, one of the three he directed wasn’t even one he considered part of his “universe.” Sure, there were moments we later came back to and said, “A-ha! Mr. White is talking about his old partner Alabama, and there’s an Alabama in True Romance, so there’s the link!” But in 1998, who was thinking about connecting True Romance to Reservoir Dogs anyway? Even if you made the connection, your second thought would have probably been, “Nah, he just likes the name and decided to use it in the other script as well.”

			Then the whole concept of a universe for the films really came into focus in 2001 when Tarantino was interviewed by Harry Knowles of Ain’t It Cool News (http://www.aintitcool.com/node/9830) about his upcoming Kill Bill project. In the course of the interview, Knowles asked Tarantino how his films interconnect with each other. Tarantino exploded with information pertaining to his films and where he sees them fitting into certain categories of his own creation; in other words, not only one universe but a multiverse. Better yet, with rules that keep characters from one universe mixing with the other.

			To fandom at large, what with a large mix of fans who read science fiction and comics besides being into Tarantino’s films, his ramblings made sense. Most of us had grown up on DC comics, the home of Batman and Superman, which had dealt with problems of characters getting older, married, or dying over decades of stories by bringing them back young, healthy, and swingingly single on an Earth in another universe. Then in 1961, Gardner Fox got the idea to bring back the earlier version of the Flash in a new story and created a universe where the earlier, older, and deader characters exist. Hence, Earth-2 for the older character and Earth-1 for the newer ones. However, only forces so impossibly powerful (like . . . uh, a treadmill the Flash had . . . okay, it doesn’t sound like it could be that impossibly powerful, but it was a “cosmic treadmill,” so that helped) could bring the characters together from both Earths. Otherwise, they only had adventures with guest-starring roles from other characters that were set on that particular Earth. Batman from Earth-1 wasn’t about to run into Wildcat from Earth-2 on an off-chance (okay, actually they did in The Brave and The Bold, but by that point in the 1970s DC couldn’t keep the two universes straight in their heads anyway . . . but again, another story for another time).

			Thus, when Tarantino ran with his own version of Fox’s idea by suggesting that Vincent Vega from Pulp Fiction was the brother of Mr. Blonde in Reservoir Dogs, most of us ran right alongside him. Some have even taken that baton and run even further than Tarantino may have meant. Great, we thought, so now we can tie in these characters; heck, we can tie in the histories from one movie to another. An article on Cracked.com by Maxwell Yezpitelok (“6 Movie and TV Universes That Overlap in Mind-Blowing Ways,” http://www.cracked.com/article_19323_6-movie-tv-universes-that-overlap-in-mind-blowing-ways.html) would even suggest that the events of Inglourious Basterds triggered a chain reaction that led to an acceptance of extreme violence and a need for people to have a place for their samurai swords on a plane. Perhaps that’s taking things a bit too far, but there’s always room for argument as to what works within these universes or not, as will be examined below.

			As there’s been no indication of any other universes beyond those described in the Knowles interview, the categories for all of Tarantino’s films remain as followed:

			The Elmore Leonard Universe

			What movies?

			Only one—Jackie Brown.

			Who says so?

			Quentin Tarantino himself in the Knowles interview.

			Are we all in agreement on that?

			Sure. We fans aren’t looking to see Jackie turn up in anything else Tarantino does.

			What’s this universe like?

			Jackie Brown is based on a novel by Elmore Leonard called Rum Punch. It features characters that Leonard has used in other novels, such as The Switch, but no characters that have been or would go on to be featured in any other Tarantino movie. Tarantino has stated that he has read others of Leonard’s books and no doubt felt the world this story takes place in is a stand-alone one that would feel compromised if he had made any changes to have it be part of his Realer Than Real universe (more details on what that is down below).

			Could any character cross over to another movie?

			Only if Tarantino decided to adapt another one of Leonard’s books that features characters that appeared in Jackie Brown. For example, if he had made The Switch into a film. Otherwise, no.

			On the other hand, Tarantino worked to make sure that Michael Keaton could play Ray Nicolette in the 1998 Elmore Leonard adaptation Out of Sight (directed by Steven Soderbergh and starring George Clooney and Ving Rhames) even though it was released through a different studio (Universal Pictures).

			The Realer Than Real Universe

			What movies?

			Reservoir Dogs, True Romance, Pulp Fiction, Death Proof, and Inglourious Basterds for sure. Django Unchained most probably.

			Who says so?

			Quentin Tarantino on all six. But he then threw a curveball on one. 

			Are we all in agreement on that?

			The first four? Sure. Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained? Well . . .

			What’s this universe like?

			The movies that take place in this universe are pretty much like our own world, with the exception that things are a bit more extreme. Reservoir Dogs is a good example of this universe—we can imagine a heist going wrong and the criminals trying to figure out what happened; having them kidnap a cop and then torturing him while “Stuck in the Middle with You” plays outside our comfort zone for reality, however. It could be possible, but only under extreme circumstances (and since we know Mr. Blonde is nuts, there are established extreme circumstances). True Romance is exceedingly pulpish, but possible. Pulp Fiction, like Reservoir Dogs, features characters that act like they’re from a different decade than the 1990s, but in this world such style may be the norm and certainly isn’t completely outside of possibility in our own. Death Proof? Abernathy is going to have some problems explaining to the cops why she crushed the guy’s face with the heel of her foot there, but beyond that it is still conceivable that such a car chase could take place.

			It is within this definition that making Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained are a tad harder to let simply fall into the mix of this universe. After all, World War II certainly didn’t end in our universe with Hitler being machine-gunned, blown up and burnt in a French movie theater. (Perhaps he did and the Allies kept it quiet for a few months in order to lay waste to the rest of the Nazi regime, planting his remains for the Russians to find in Berlin in 1945. No? Well, it was worth a shot.) As mentioned above, it has been suggested that the early end of World War II led to a culture where walking around with samurai swords and constant shoot-outs would be the norm, but that seems a bit of a stretch. Hitler’s real-life death was certainly not glamorous, and it didn’t turn society into one that readily picked up swords and saw no problem with everyone pointing guns at each other. (Yeah, I can tell the wheels are turning in readers’ heads about that last comment. All kidding aside, however, as much as we deem ourselves a violent culture today, we’re nowhere close to that of this Realer Than Real universe.)

			In fact, what Inglourious Basterds really feels like is a more violent variation of a movie that would have played in second-rate movie theaters back in 1944—a fantasy film where brave individuals stop Hitler and win the war in the comfort of Hollywood sets, while the real, horrifying war continued outside the darkened theater. Audiences wanted to see this notorious evil man get what was coming to him, and Hollywood was happy to oblige if reality couldn’t in that reality and ours. There certainly is precedence in our world of films, what with movies like The Devil with Hitler (1942) and Hitler—Dead or Alive (1942) showing Der Führer’s demise years before it occurred. In fact, Tarantino stated in an interview (Playboy, December 2012) that Hitler—Dead or Alive sparked his thinking in how Inglourious Basterds would end. In the case of that film, American gangsters go to Germany and kidnap Hitler. They shave off his mustache and cut his hair so that when the Gestapo finds him, they don’t recognize him and kill him in a hail of bullets.

			So why couldn’t Inglourious Basterds be like Hitler—Dead or Alive, only for this Realer Than Real universe, where bloodier movies would have been possible to see in theaters in the 1940s? Imagine the movie poster outside the theater where Father Vega probably saw films as a teenager—“See the Death of Hitler In-Glourious Technicolor! See Inglourious Basterds!!”

			So what’s stopping it from our being able to completely write it out of taking place in the Realer Than Real universe? Well, the biggest reason is that Tarantino himself states in the Knowles interview that it takes place in the Realer Than Real universe (or at least the script he had at the time for the film did). There’s also the little matter of Sgt. Donny “Bear Jew” Donowitz. As Tarantino stated in a Q&A during a showing of Inglourious Basterds at Cinemapocalypse (Austin, Texas, August 15, 2009), Donowitz is the father of Lee Donowitz, the cocaine-hungry movie producer from True Romance. Thus, there’s no way of denying it—Inglourious Basterds has to take place in the Realer Than Real universe because True Romance takes place there.

			And what of Django Unchained? It appears to be in the Realer Than Real universe and there’s nothing to suggest otherwise throughout the movie. There’s also the fact that Tarantino has stated that Crazy Craig Koons, a gang member mentioned on a wanted poster, is an ancestor of Captain Koons (Christopher Walken) from Pulp Fiction. Then Tarantino says something in an interview and throws our understanding of what universe it belongs to a curveball.

			Could any character cross over to another movie?

			After establishing the universes in the Knowles interview, Tarantino went on to a specific rule about characters crossing over into other of his films. No “cosmic treadmill” was going to be possible here; as established with the Elmore Leonard universe, characters from the Realer Than Real universe cannot cross over into the Movie Movie universe, and vice versa. For example, Mr. Pink from Reservoir Dogs would not have been able to be at the bar in From Dusk Till Dawn, nor would Mr. Blonde turn out to be a vampire in Reservoir Dogs. However, it could be possible for Mr. Pink to have popped up in Pulp Fiction (another Realer Than Real universe movie) if Tarantino had decided to use that character in that film.

			Yet, here’s that curveball from Django Unchained. Django’s wife’s full name is Broomhilda Von Shaft. Tarantino would (perhaps half-jokingly) tell an audience at the 2012 San Diego Comic-Con that Broomhilda and Django were the great-great-great-great-grandparents of 1970s blaxploitation action hero Shaft.

			And that’s the problem. According to Tarantino’s own rules about these universes, while characters from one Realer Than Real movie can cross over into other Realer Than Real movies, those characters from the Movie Movie universe could not, and that includes characters from movies from outside of these universes. Thus, Hattori Hanzo—a popular character from Japanese movies and television—could appear in Kill Bill, Volume 1, because he is a movie character that can cross over into the Movie Movie universe. Heck, the Green Hornet could have turned up if Tarantino wanted, because that follows the rules of the Movie Movie universe (hmm, Beatrix Kiddo as the granddaughter of Van Williams’ Green Hornet . . . ah, but this way madness lies). However, Hanzo could not appear in the Realer Than Real universe of Django Unchained because Hanzo is a movie character in the Kill Bill reality. Thus, if this rule is enforced for Hanzo, it should be the same for a character like Shaft. Unless Tarantino considers his Realer Than Real universe to include at least the first Shaft movie. Otherwise, Django Unchained has to fall into the Movie Movie universe. Either that, or perhaps it’s a case of something we also need to address about a character from Death Proof: Sheriff Earl McGraw. There will be more about him further on.

			In Reservoir Dogs, Mr. White refers to his old partner, Alabama. Alabama is the prostitute Clarence hooks up with at the beginning of True Romance. Patricia Arquette seems rather on the young side to be a partner to Mr. White, especially as their relationship was over for at least 18 months by the time Mr. White discusses it in Reservoir Dogs. On the other hand, his discussion of her sounds paternal in nature (“Good little thief”), and may have been more teacher-student for a time. Possibly even to the point where Mr. White felt Alabama was getting sweet on him and broke it off. That certainly would explain why he had no hard feelings about her being with Fred McGar.

			As to what happened to Alabama between splitting with Mr. White and ending up a prostitute in Detroit? Obviously hard times. She swears to Clarence she has only done “three tricks” as a prostitute, so it appears her career as a thief had stalled recently. Is she the same Alabama discussed in Reservoir Dogs? It seems likely. One element of Tarantino’s script for True Romance that is tossed aside thanks to director Tony Scott’s happy ending is that Alabama is willing to take the money and run off on her own once it appears Clarence is dead (to be fair, Tarantino has her nearly ready to commit suicide over his death, but then decides that he would not have wanted her to do so). If that is the case, then her earlier statements about her pimp and where to find him could be read as her manipulating Clarence to deal with her problem without any risk to herself, which is what a “good little thief” probably would do.

			Of course, there’s the big bombshell that hit fans and nonfans alike when Tarantino admitted that Mr. Blonde—a.k.a. Vic Vega—was the brother of Vincent Vega (John Travolta) in Pulp Fiction. This mostly came out as Tarantino was tossing around the idea of a movie starring Michael Madsen (who played Mr. Blonde) and Travolta as the two brothers. Time has made this idea rather remote, as both Madsen and Travolta have gotten older and would not be able to play the characters in any type of prequel. Thus, you either put them in a movie as angels of death who fight crime, or some such (which would place the story within the Movie Movie universe anyway), or find another unique way to attack the problems of aging. As it stands, Madsen in April 2010 suggested on a radio show (Hill-Man Morning Show, WAAF, Boston) that there was talk of the movie going forward, but with the actors playing twin brothers of the other two brothers, who are “on our way back to LA to avenge the death of our brothers.” Alas, while this is one way to deal with dead characters, it still doesn’t surmount the aging problems, and Tarantino in 2013 suggested that the idea would probably never become more than an idea. Perhaps if Tarantino decided to finally write that novel he’s been talking about forever he could do a prequel.

			Then there’s the Bonnie Situation. This late section of the movie deals with Vincent and Jules racing to an acquaintance of Jules’ in order to deal with a messy car after Vincent accidentally blows the head off another character. The problem is that Jimmie, Jules’ friend, has a wife who is due back shortly from her “graveyard shift at the hospital.” It is evident that Bonnie and Jimmie had discussed in a rather volatile way his connections with people like Jules, with Bonnie putting her foot down, making Jimmie feel sure he’ll be divorced if Bonnie finds out that two hitmen have stored a bloody car with a dead body in their garage. There’s even a brief fantasy segment showing her arriving as Jimmie, Jules, and Vincent try to move the body. Fortunately for Jimmie, Marsellus requests The Wolf (played by Harvey Keitel) to step in. The Wolf manages to clear things up before Bonnie arrives.

			This wasn’t the first mention of Bonnie, however, or her “situation.” In a scene cut from Reservoir Dogs, Nice Guy Eddie drives Mr. Pink and Mr. White to collect the jewels from the robbery (all this while Mr. Blonde is working over the police officer back at the warehouse). As they go, Nice Guy Eddie tells the two that they’ll be taking the injured Mr. Orange to the apartment of a nurse he knows named Bonnie. When Mr. White balks at Eddie only succeeding in getting a nurse for Mr. Orange, Eddie loses it. “I’m personally leaving myself vulnerable with this Bonnie situation,” he exclaims, before Mr. Pink manages to calm both of them down. Thus, if Bonnie is the same one from Pulp Fiction, it sounds like she had her share of dealings with people like Eddie and Jules before hooking up with Jimmie and getting out of the business. Come to think of it, Mr. Brown bears a remarkable resemblance to Jimmie, doesn’t he? What if Jimmie had a twin brother who died in that robbery and was brought to Bonnie’s hospital? For a split second, she would no doubt think it was Jimmie, which may have been the catalyst to her telling him to get out of the business, not to mention that she had agreed to see Mr. Orange and could have ended up in some crossfire herself. That certainly would explain why she wasn’t about to be a pushover to having a group of hitmen taking over her house in Pulp Fiction.

			It should be mentioned that the name Bonnie turns up as well in True Romance, but it’s a throwaway line. Elliott asks Lee, the drug-craving movie producer, to sign some papers, and Lee mumbles, “Whatever Bonnie wants,” as he signs. Thus, while there may be a connection to the Bonnie of Pulp Fiction and Reservoir Dogs, it could even be Lee calling Elliott “Bonnie” as an insult. Thus, it is not clear if the mention is connected to the others. Even better, Tarantino had originally written a sequence in the Kill Bill films that featured an African American nurse named “B. Owens,” who helps Kiddo out of a jam after she is shot while leaving to head to Texas. It is natural to assume that “B. Owens” is Bonnie of the previous movies, who is a nurse and also seen briefly in Pulp Fiction as being African American. Her tired protests in helping Kiddo with her wounds also suggests that she does not want to involve herself with any criminal activity, just as Jimmie suggests in Pulp Fiction. Of course, there’s the conflict in names—Jimmie Dimmick and Bonnie Owens—but maybe she kept her last name for various reasons. Or perhaps she finally gave Jimmie that divorce he feared. On the other hand, this would mean Bonnie turned up as a character in a movie that does not take place in the Realer Than Real universe, which conflicts with the “rules” Tarantino created about his movie universes.

			With Pulp Fiction connected to Django Unchained, Reservoir Dogs, and True Romance, and with True Romance connected to Inglourious Basterds, that leaves only Death Proof as the one standout of the group. We could connect it with the others due to the fake product placement (such as G.O. Juice), but Tarantino also made clear that such products (see chapter 12) can certainly appear in both the Realer Than Real films and the Movie Movie ones. This makes sense; after all, we go to movies all the time that feature characters drinking Pepsi and driving Fords, so Tarantino’s Movie Movie films can showcase characters smoking Red Apple cigarettes while the people watching those movies smoke them as well. There is the Jungle Julia billboard that’s an obvious parody of the Kill Bill ads (even down to the yellow jumpsuit Julia is wearing), which makes sense in the Realer Than Real universe, as the Kill Bill films would be seen in theaters there. Yet, that could as easily be a coincidence in a way. Then there are those two characters who appear in this Realer Than Real movie when they shouldn’t, but we’ll have resolved this somewhat in the next section.

			The Movie Movie Universe

			What movies?

			From Dusk Till Dawn, Natural Born Killers (at least the script), Kill Bill, Volumes 1 & 2, and most probably Tarantino’s segment from Four Rooms.

			Who says so?

			Quentin Tarantino on all but Four Rooms in the Knowles interview.

			Are we all in agreement on that?

			Tarantino has never placed his Four Rooms segment into any of his universes. However, the bellboy in that story appears in all the others stories in the film, and since one of those stories has supernatural elements in it, it is safe to assume that this makes Tarantino’s story a part of the Movie Movie universe.

			What’s this universe like?

			The movies that take place in this universe are those that dwell beyond the possible and dip into the fantastic. To make it more clear—and as Tarantino stated in the Knowles interview—these would be movies that characters in the Realer Than Real universe would go to see at the theaters. Thus, Stuntman Mike from Death Proof could have worked for a few days on From Dusk Till Dawn in the Realer Than Real universe (and if he had, he may have been able to impress the girls at the bar a little more by mentioning it rather than a handful of old television series).
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					Harvey Keitel and George Clooney fighting off vampires in From Dusk Till Dawn, a movie that, thanks to its fantastical premise, falls into the category of Tarantino’s “Movie Movie” Universe.

				

			

			Four Rooms is covered above as playing with fantasy elements, so naturally would fit in the Movie Movie universe. From Dusk Till Dawn makes sense as well, as it’s a crime film that suddenly becomes a horror movie about vampires at the halfway point. Natural Born Killers appears to avoid such paranormal shenanigans, but hints at fantasy elements in its own way. Although Mickey and Mallory are portrayed as traditional serial killers, they’re not. In Tarantino’s original script, they have no motive for what they do; they simply enjoy killing and continue to do so at every chance they get with no objective in mind. They easily could have been made into vampires at one stroke of the pen. In a way, they’re an elemental force, like a tornado—you get out of the way and hope for the best—and because of that supernatural strength, the script really does belong in the Movie Movie universe (and also establishes why Oliver Stone really missed the point by trying to humanize the two). Besides, the riot is considered “divine intervention” by the murdering couple in the script, while—especially the movie adaptation—the plot plays out more as a fever dream of one of the killers rather than anything to do with a type of reality. If nothing else, a demon appears to be driving events, which Oliver Stone makes sure we know in the deleted ending of the film that is available on the DVD.

			Then there are the Kill Bill movies. In some respects, these two play much like earlier Realer Than Real films, but elements of the unworldly do eventually turn up. Kiddo talks directly to the audience at times in order to tell her story, a narrative device not used in such a manner in any of the Realer Than Real movies; Kiddo knows she’s in a film and has an audience. There’s also the anime used for O-Ren’s backstory and the obviously miniature special effects of the flight to Japan to remind the audience that it is just a movie. The Crazy 88 fight quickly becomes fantastical, with not only Kiddo being able to perform superhuman stunts throughout the sequence, but also the ability of many of her victims to lose limbs and walk away (when most would have surely been dead from blood loss long before the battle is over). There are even such elements in the training of Kiddo by her sifu (kung fu master/trainer), Pai Mei, in the second film. As portrayed in kung fu movies—especially those of the 1970s—the sifu has supernatural-like abilities, such as being able to stand on top of Kiddo’s blade as light as a feather. And let’s not forget how Kiddo managed to not only break out of a coffin, but crawl through several feet of dirt to get out of the grave. We accept Spider-Man doing that, but it’s a little harder to believe when it comes to characters that are supposed to be without superpowers.

			Naturally, once fans discovered that the films were part of this Movie Movie universe, it was easy to see a connection between Pulp Fiction’s Mia and her failed television pilot, Fox Force Five, and Kiddo’s group of assassins, the Deadly Viper Assassination Squad (DiVAS, for short). It doesn’t mean that Tarantino meant for us to see it that way, but it’s there, nonetheless. Thus, perhaps a case in the Realer Than Real universe where the pilot had gained enough support in fandom through bootlegged VHS tapes that a movie was suggested to bring the characters back to life? Could Mia have found her one chance to break back into acting after being with Marsellus? Could Marsellus bankroll such a film to help out his wife? Where these the actors that played the other characters in the pilot? Better yet, if Fox Force Five really played out like a James Bond version of Charlie’s Angels, does that mean Bill was their Charlie?

			But no matter what type of fanboy backstory you want to give to it, even without the Pulp Fiction connection, the Kill Bill movies are still part of the Movie Movie universe. And then that damn Sheriff Earl McGraw turns up again. So what does that mean?

			Could any character cross over to another movie?

			There’s the Crazy Babysitter Twins—Electra and Ellise Avellan—who pop up in Planet Terror and then immediately afterwards in Death Proof, which would mean a crossing over of two universes. However, there’s nothing that says it is really those characters from the other film in Death Proof; they just look the same (otherwise, you’d have to pull the same stunt for Rose McGowan appearing in both). So we’re safe from any cross-pollination, right?

			Okay. Sheriff Earl McGraw. He first popped up in From Dusk Till Dawn, where he is killed in the first scene. Death didn’t hold him down, however, as he reappeared with his son, Deputy Edgar McGraw, in Kill Bill, Volume 1. He then pops up in Robert Rodriguez’s zombie movie, Planet Terror, along with a daughter who is a doctor, Dakota Block, and his wife. McGraw dies again in this film, along with his wife (and most of the cast).

			So far, so good. All three belong in the Movie Movie universe, thanks to kung fu fantasy, vampires, and zombies.

			Then McGraw turns up in Death Proof to explain to his Deputy McGraw (and the audience) about Stuntman Mike’s reasoning for the first crash and why he can’t be held. As mentioned above, Tarantino has already established that Death Proof is set in the Realer Than Real universe. Even better, it’s a double feature with Planet Terror, a Movie Movie universe flick, so you have McGraw playing in both universes in the span of one theater-going experience. Now how is this possible? McGraw was in all these movies for people in the Realer Than Real universe to go see at the theaters, and now we suddenly have him in the Realer Than Real world.

			Is McGraw like The Wolf from Pulp Fiction? Tarantino in his interview with Knowles states that The Wolf is the one character that can move freely between the universes. As it stands, he only ever appeared in Pulp Fiction, so there’s no way of knowing for sure that he can really do so. Yet, if Tarantino can make an exception to his own rule, isn’t it likely that McGraw has the same permission to move about between these worlds?

			That’s probably the case, and Tarantino has since hinted that this is true, but it’s not quite as much fun as guessing at something else. The easiest answer: Buford Pusser. For those who don’t remember this legend of the 1960s and 1970s, Pusser was a sheriff in Tennessee (yeah, there’s Tennessee popping up again) who became nationally known for his fight against mob influences in his county. So famous, in fact, that a movie was produced about his career starring Joe Don Baker, Walking Tall. The film was successful and a sequel planned, only with Buford Pusser himself taking over the role. He died in an auto accident in 1974 before filming started, but if it had occurred, Pusser would have had a double life—one in the real world and another in a movie world.

			Could McGraw be someone in the Realer Than Real universe that is like Pusser? Could he be a guy who became so famous as a sheriff doing his job (as in Death Proof) that he was hired to play “himself” in a movie called From Dusk Till Dawn. No doubt he enjoyed it; probably even saw it as funny that he is killed off early by the Gecko Brothers characters. Then once he had that taste of the movie world, he did more in Kill Bill and even got his daughter involved in the Planet Terror movie. Maybe that’s why she looks so ticked off when they meet in Death Proof—she found out that her “role” is a boneheaded woman who gives her toddler a loaded gun to kill himself with while she’s having a secret lesbian affair; probably not the most fact-based version of what she is really like. (Then again, if the daughter’s name really is Dakota, would she happen to have had a sister named Alabama? Once again, the fanboy wheels are probably turning a bit too fast there.)
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					Dr. Dakota Block, the daughter of Sheriff Earl McGraw and—thanks to that relationship—manages to appear in movies set in both the “Movie Movie” Universe (Planet Terror) and the “Realer Than Real” Universe (Death Proof).

				

			

			But in this manner, McGraw really can appear in both universes without worrying about crossing some imaginary line that divides them. With that in mind, we can also excuse the whole Django Unchained/Shaft revelation—perhaps the Shaft movie series is based on a real-life black detective. Maybe his great-great-great-great-grandparents really were this bounty hunter named Django and his wife. Therefore, we can allow Django Unchained to stay in the Realer Than Real universe without worrying about Tarantino’s decision to tie those characters to one from another movie series.

			Oddly enough, this means we’ve seen more interaction between the two universes than we have between characters in one Movie Movie . . . er . . . movie to another. Of course, the main reason for this is that there simply isn’t a good reason for any of these characters to cross over. The only ones to properly do so don’t even appear in another Tarantino film, but rather one that he helped produce, Curdled. In this 1996 dark comedy, written and directed by Reb Braddock, a woman becomes fascinated by serial killers, leading to a brief scene where a television show documenting various killers makes mention of the Gecko Brothers’ reign of terror. In doing so, George Clooney and Quentin Tarantino are show in character as the Gecko Brothers, thus making Curdled a part of the Movie Movie universe as well.

			No matter the universe, however, it is clear that Tarantino does not see his movies as being part of our reality. It’s a world of make-believe, and nothing of those worlds really invades our own. With the exception of some of the physical locations where Tarantino has filmed, which can be visited by fans, as the next chapter points out.

		

	
		
			20
You Can Get a Steak Here, Daddy-O

			Touring Tarantino Country

			As discussed in the previous chapter, Tarantino likes to mix in the real with the imagined when it comes to product placement, and this holds true when it comes to locations used in his films as well. Of course, a good chunk of any major motion picture is going to involve sets built inside a studio lot, as it is usually cheaper and more convenient to film there than in the “real world” (travel, food, permits, weather, noisy neighbors, etc.—all these additional costs come into play when filming on location). Even so, for outdoor sequences in particular, it helps to be able to use real surroundings. No matter how well you paint a flat, people can tell; certainly in more recent times where the audience’s eyes can spot a stage set more readily than in earlier films (and even some CGI effects that are supposed to surpass anything done before for effects work). To be fair, it could be as much a case of earlier audiences simply accepting such noticeable backdrops and letting them go . . . otherwise, directors like Hitchcock—who loved using back projection—would have been in trouble. Then again, nearly all the footage of Kiddo driving in Kill Bill is obvious rear and front projection, so it wasn’t as if Tarantino was worried about audience members standing up and shouting at the “fakeness” of it all. In a way, and with its brightly lit and high focused black-and-white allure in such scenes, Tarantino is probably wanting us as viewers to be taken “outside” of the film for such moments (especially with the intro to Kill Bill, Volume 2, where Kiddo is narrating directly to the audience as to what occurred in Volume 1). But that’s a thesis for another time.

			As a fan of any movie, there is a certain thrill to being able to visit where filming occurred. To stand where a favorite movie or even one scene from a film was made and be able to say to friends, “Look where I was!” No other way to say it than in the most basic terms possible—it’s just flat-out cool. Of course, there are the studio tours, but Warner is one of the few that does a real tour of movie and television stages—at their Burbank studio—while most other companies have either shut down the tours they used to do or have turned such tours into theme parks with only brief, sterilized reflections of their past. Even when you go on such a tour, rarely is there anything that would allow visitors to take time and examine where their favorite movies filmed, since such tours are on a hurried schedule to get people to the gift shop (and keep them out of the hair of people actually making films on the lots). Even on the Warner tour, the biggest thrill is seeing the barn door Gene Wilder sat in front of at the end of Blazing Saddles.

			Thus, the best opportunity for fans who want to visit where Quentin Tarantino has filmed is to avoid the tours and scout out places where filming occurred outside of the studios. It can even be an easy sale to family members and friends when on vacation, as it’s a chance to get outdoors; and, as seen below, some of these locations are quite historical and even jaw-dropping to see in person.

			Unfortunately, in some cases buildings and sites that existed at the time of filming are no longer standing. For example, you’ll never be able to stroll through the showroom of the Stardust in Las Vegas where Tarantino’s character in Destiny Turns on the Radio roamed, as it was demolished in 2007. Nor can you eat at the Hawthorne Grill in Pasadena, California, where Honey Bunny and Pumpkin decide to rob a restaurant in Pulp Fiction, as it was torn down to make way for an auto parts store. Then there are the locations that can be quite scenic, but also quite vague in snagging a picture that immediately says to someone, say, “I’m standing where Mr. Pink shot it out with the police!” Instead, it says, “I took a picture of a street corner!” Hardly the stuff that will mesmerize your friends after a trip out West, or even while you’re standing there trying to snap a photo.

			With that in mind, when the time comes for a road trip, here are a few places—in chronological order—to check out along the way that tell everyone you’ve been to Tarantino Country.

			Reservoir Dogs

			One element about Tarantino’s films picked up on by many researchers is that all of his films have scenes where people sit around a table and talk while either eating or drinking. Thus, it’s only fitting that his very first film has an opening scene doing exactly this, with the gang sitting around a table in a diner discussing the merits of both Madonna’s song “Like a Virgin” and tipping.

			The warehouse from the film is gone, and, as mentioned above, most of the other locations are generic minor streets around the L.A. area, but the restaurant for this first scene is still in operation and easy to get to when out in Los Angeles. The place is Pat and Lorraine’s, and it is located at 4720 Eagle Rock Boulevard, Los Angeles, about ten miles west of Hollywood. With the dining geared towards breakfast food, it’s also a good place to start when scouting out locations in the Los Angeles area used in this and other Tarantino films. Of course, while tipping is not required if you eat there, no one wants to be a Mr. Pink about it.
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					Although still standing and available for film use, Johnie’s Coffee Shop—seen in Reservoir Dogs as well as Miracle Mile (1988) and The Big Lebowski (1998)—has been closed for some time.

				

			

			Pat and Lorraine’s has been in business for years and is considered a bit of a local landmark in the Eagle Rock section of Los Angeles, so it is at least a place you can walk into and see the interiors. However, the other iconic restaurant in Reservoir Dogs, Johnie’s Coffee Shop, at the corner of Wilshire Boulevard and Fairfax in L.A., is no longer in business. Fortunately, it’s still standing (with a big sign in the window offering it as a location for filming) and you can still get a close-up look at the place where Tim Roth’s Mr. Orange is given his script to learn for his story about his supposed brush with the law. Johnie’s is located on Miracle Mile—in fact, the place is a prime location in the end-of-the-world movie Miracle Mile, as well as being seen in other films such as The Big Lebowski—and even with the place closed, it’s still a great building to take pictures. Better yet, it is located right in the museum area of Wilshire (with multiple museums nearby) and a short walk from the La Brea Tar Pits. The Academy of Motion Pictures museum—to be opened in 2017—is located right across the street from Johnie’s, the Museum of Art is also nearby, and there is even the Petersen Car Museum, full of movie-related cars, catty-corner to Johnie’s. Therefore, you can easily talk the spouse and kids into a stop there for pictures and a look-see, while on the way to doing sightseeing for everything else nearby.

			While you’re at it, you can head east up Wilshire about five miles and find the bathroom where Mr. Orange had his imaginary run-in with the police while holding weed. No, it’s not a train station as stated in the movie, but rather a bathroom at the Park Plaza Hotel, located off of Wilshire at 607 South Park View Street in L.A.

			Finally, the bar where Mr. Orange tells his story to the others is still around as well. However, it is no longer a gay bar named The Lodge, as listed on some “movie locations” websites, but rather a dance bar called Skinny’s Lounge. It’s at 4923 Lankershim Boulevard in North Hollywood, which is a bit of a step away from the Wilshire area, but fairly close to Burbank and near some of the other locations to visit.

			And what have we already learned from a trip to these four locations? Namely that they sure do like naming streets as boulevards (but when your two most famous streets are Sunset Boulevard and Hollywood Boulevard, it’s probably hard to resist).

			True Romance

			While Tarantino has shown a great deal of dedication for shooting in Los Angeles and Southern California in his films, one would think for a movie under another director and with the first third of it taking place in Detroit, Michigan, the location shooting would be much more expansive. Sure enough, some of the filming was done in the Detroit area—most prominently the Wayne County Building (600 Randolph Street), where Clarence and Alabama get married. Even so, while most of the Detroit filming is cold and grey (which, as most of the city’s residents would admit, is only natural), California was where the film’s few colorful scenes were shot. This included the theater Clarence and Alabama meet during the Sonny Chiba festival (The Vista Theatre, 4473 Sunset Drive, Los Angeles, which was also used as a prototype for La Gamaar in Inglourious Basterds) and the restaurant where they have pie (Rae’s Restaurant, 2901 Pico Boulevard, Santa Monica). So, if you’re out in the Los Angeles area for Reservoir Dogs locations anyway, there’s two nearby for True Romance right in the immediate area.
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					The Safari Inn is not only a fun retro slice of motel life in the heart of Burbank, California, but also the hotel used in True Romance for Clarence and Alabama’s deadly honeymoon. 

				

			

			Another place used in True Romance that has a high nostalgia value for fans of oddball cinema is Magic Mountain (now known as Six Flags Magic Mountain), an amusement park about thirty minutes northwest of Hollywood in Valencia, California. Some viewers may remember their roller coaster, the Revolution, being the place where George Segal stops mad bomber Timothy Bottoms while the band Sparks plays in the 1977 film Rollercoaster; meanwhile, Sam and Melissa ride it in the opening moments of the 1978 movie KISS Meets the Phantom of the Park. In True Romance, Clarence takes Elliot Blitzer (Bronson Pinchot) for a ride on a similar roller coaster at the park, the Viper, to discuss a drug deal and make an important phone call. What with the park being a nice place to visit for the family, it makes it all a good excuse to get in another Tarantino sight, as well as enjoy other movie memories.

			You’ll need to find a place to stay while in Los Angeles if you do decide to do some sightseeing in Tarantino Country. The Beverly Ambassador of the ending shoot-out is long gone, but the Safari Inn on Olive Ave. in Burbank (yes, “lovely downtown Burbank” of Laugh-In fame) is still going strong. The Safari Inn (also seen in Apollo 13) is the motel our movie couple stays at while trying to make their drug deal with the movie producer, and where James Gandolfini’s hit-man character discovers how dangerous a corkscrew can be. If you stay there, it is quickly evident that the interior scenes in the movie were a stage set, but the location footage is pretty close to being exactly how the motel exists today. There’s no large sign across the entrance saying the name of the motel as in the movie, but the sign showing the shield and spear is there. The heated pool where about eight gazillion people are seen frolicking remains as well, but in reality it usually has one or two kids in it at most (probably due to it being right along the side of a busy street, keeping most adults from lingering there for a swim). Even sweeter, the place is very close to many sights to see in the area—Warner and NBC are within walking distance, while Hollywood Boulevard and Sunset are about ten minutes away by car—and reasonably priced. Even the first Bob’s Big Boy—a site you would have expected to see in a Tarantino movie by now—is only a few minutes away. The Hot Dog Show, which should have made it into a Tarantino movie but didn’t, is long gone, unfortunately.

			Natural Born Killers

			From one Tarantino-related film directed by someone else to another. Unlike Scott in True Romance, Oliver Stone’s 1994 adaptation of Tarantino’s script used several states for scenery; mostly New Mexico and Arizona for the couple’s bloody rampage seen in the early part of the film. The most recognizable place in the film is the Rio Grande Gorge Bridge in Taos, New Mexico, where the couple staged their wedding ceremony. Beyond New Mexico and Arizona, the Hammond City Court in Hammond, Indiana, was featured for the murder trial of Woody Harrelson’s character, while the riot and other incidents in the prison near the end of the movie were shot at Statesville Correctional Center in Crest Hill, Illinois. Statesville may be somewhat recognizable to movie fans, who may recall it from The Blues Brothers and White Heat, amongst other movies and television shows. Of course, there’s not much of a chance to go sightseeing there, unless you’re there for the wrong reasons.

			Pulp Fiction

			At the beginning of this chapter, I mentioned that some of Tarantino’s films had location filming that is simply impossible to find today, and this is particularly true about Pulp Fiction. Besides, many of the places are so nondescript that it doesn’t mean much to visit them. (Who really needs to visit the house where Eric Stoltz’s drug dealer character resided, unless you want to ram into it like John Travolta does?) Meanwhile, the main settings remembered from the film (the aforementioned Hawthorne Grill, the motel where Butch and Fabienne hide out—the River Glen Motel—and the apartment building Vince and Jules go to at the beginning of the picture) are all gone now. The theater where Butch has his match, Raymond Theatre in Pasadena, is now condos, and you’re certainly not going to find Jackrabbit Slim’s around, as that was a studio set (although—as reported at http://www.iamnotastalker.com/2011/03/10/jack-rabbit-slims-restaurant-from-pulp-fiction/—you can see the framework of the place at 1435 Flower Street in Glendale, California, but only if you have access to Disney’s Grand Central Business Center, so it’s not easy to get to see). The only remaining location that may reverberate with viewers is the pawnshop where Butch and Marsellus end up on the wrong end of things, which is the Crown Pawn Shop, 20933 Roscoe Boulevard.

			Keep in mind that when I mentioned the possibility of checking out this landmark while in L.A. to research the book, the response from friends who remember the scene in the movie was a collective, “Ewww.” So, a family visit to the anal-rape scene is probably going to be a hard sell.

			Four Rooms

			Tarantino’s segment of this anthology, “The Man from Hollywood,” takes place in the same location as the other stories in the movie-a fictional hotel called the Hotel Mon Signor. The hotel used in the film is the famous (and somewhat infamous) Chateau Marmont, located at 8221 Sunset Boulevard in Los Angeles, where the rich and famous have all passed through its door, although it is remembered by some as the place where John Belushi was found dead in 1982. 

			The interior of the hotel seen in the movie, however, is nothing like that of the Chateau Marmont, as it was shot on studio sets. Considering how expensive it is to stay there, there’s not much of a chance to explore anyway. Saying all that, however, if you’re interested in Hollywood lore and/or impressive historic buildings, it is a stop to make while in the Sunset Boulevard area.

			From Dusk Till Dawn

			This film fails a tad in the sightseeing department, as there isn’t much to see that reverberates from the movie. To be fair, there is Barstow, California, which is nicely planted on Route 66, thus giving it an extra bonus if one decides to take the Mother Road through a good chunk of the country. Barstow was used for a bunch of the filming in the movie, as well as being where most of the footage was shot for the documentary about the making of the film, Full Tilt Boogie. Yet, there isn’t much to see that can be readily connected to the movie. There is no Emma & Pete’s Gravy Train (where the family dines early in the movie) or Dew Drop Inn (the motel where the Gecko Brothers stay) to visit. Benny’s World of Liquor—a fabricated outdoor set from the first scene—obviously went up in flames, as did the Titty Twister (the vampire hangout), which only had a portion of its exterior built out in the Mojave Desert (at the Calico Dry Lake Bed to be exact). Even the bar where the crew is partying in the documentary, Ruby’s, is long gone. Well, at least there’s still Route 66 to check out. Oh, and a certain location used in Kill Bill Volume 2 (see details in its entry below).

			Jackie Brown

			The first location in the movie is the easiest one to find (you may spend forever trying to actually park there, but it’s easy to find)—it’s the Los Angeles International Airport (a.k.a. LAX). LAX has been used in a variety of movies and television shows (it popped up every so often in the series Lost, for example), so there’s a certain amount of movie history there. Perhaps in somewhat abstract form, as we never really get a good look at it in the film since the footage is (naturally) in mostly medium shot and close-up on Pam Grier’s character as she runs through the airport. In fact, although Gate 103 is mentioned at the beginning of the film as this is where Jackie is racing to; there is nothing that tells viewers that it was actually filmed at Gate 103. Still, if you’re traveling to the area anyway to see Tarantino locations, it’s certainly worth a quick look around, especially if you end up having to wait a few hours for a flight out of Los Angeles.

			Unlike LAX, one location repeatedly seen in the movie is Max Cherry’s office, where Ordell (Samuel L. Jackson) spends time conversing with Max (Robert Forster). The firm—Carson Bail Bonds in Carson, California (south of Los Angeles)—is still around, but they moved from where the filming of Jackie Brown occurred a few years back, and the building is no longer there at 724 East Carson Street. A search on the Internet has some sites still listing the building there, so be aware it’s long gone. An IHOP replaced it, however, so you can drown your sorrows in pancakes if you make the mistake of driving out to see the office.

			Or, better yet, head east about five miles on Carson Street and you’ll hit the Del Amo Fashion Center at 3525 Carson Street, Torrance, California. The food court at the mall (which actually stopped being the biggest mall in the world in 1992, although the film states otherwise) is where the money drop is discussed, while its parking lot is where Louis finally gets fed up with Melanie. As one would expect, the mall has gone through some remodeling since the release of the film, but at least it’s still there.

			While the Cockatoo Inn—where Jackie goes with Max after leaving prison—is long gone (replaced with a Comfort Inn). Sam’s Hofbrau at 1751 E. Olympic Boulevard in L.A. is going strong, though. It’s seen briefly in the film, but there’s the bonus of its interiors being featured in Kill Bill 2. It’s a combination restaurant and strip club, although strippers and food is a questionable combination. Let’s hope everyone wears hairnets.

			Kill Bill Volume 1

			The Kill Bill films were a startling break from tradition for Tarantino, as locations from outside of California were used for more than establishing shots of major scenes. At least it appears that way on the surface. However, the climactic House of Blue Leaves sequence, as well as Hanzo’s shop where Kiddo’s sword is made, the two major scenes set in Japan—were both filmed studio-bound at the Beijing Film Studios in China. Tarantino’s rationale for doing so was that such a massive martial-arts sequence simply had to be shot in China—the home of martial-arts films—even though there is nothing in the settings themselves that suggest (or should suggest) China. Thus, while doing so may have provided the atmosphere for Tarantino, the actors and the crew to do excellent martial-arts filming there, there certainly is nothing for the traveling Tarantino fan to visit. Then again, it is pretty obvious that the House of Blue Leaves, while impressive and the setting for an excellent scene, is clearly a stage set. So, it is doubtful anyone was planning on flying to China (or mistakenly Japan) to see the restaurant/dance hall/bar/mafia hangout anyway.

			Although the House of Blue Leaves is nowhere to be found, Japan does get some love in the film thanks to Kiddo driving her bike across the Rainbow Bridge in Tokyo. That love for Japan is pretty much a “wham, bam, thank you ma’am” kind, however. As the Worldwide Guide to Movie Locations website (http://www.movie-locations.com/movies/k/Kill_Bill_Vol_1.html) points out, even the entrance tunnel seen in the film is actually not from Japan, but rather “the Second Street Tunnel at Figueroa Street” in downtown Los Angeles. At least, once again, fans do have a location they can see if in the L.A. area.

			While we have the last portion of the film set in Japan, Pasadena, California, actually gets preferential treatment in the filming department as we start out with Kiddo comatose in the St. Luke’s Medical Center at 2632 East Washington Boulevard in the city. Considering the abuse Kiddo suffers, perhaps it is as well that the hospital was no longer in service by the time Tarantino filmed there in 2003, since even though it is fiction, it’s still not something you would want associated with your hospital. Used in a variety of movies (The Artist, Rush Hour 3) and television (including various comas amongst the characters on Desperate Housewives), the prestigious building has seen more action by way of the studios than medical purposes in the past few years, although recent developments are underway to turn the site into one for medical offices. So, unlike some of the places examined in this chapter, there is a good chance that St. Luke’s will still be around, albeit perhaps by another name in the near future. While in Pasadena, you can also drive about eight miles southwest to the home at 5506 Atlas Street where Vernita (a.k.a. Copperhead) and Kiddo fight to the death near the beginning of the movie; keeping in mind, of course, that it’s a private home, so try to respect the privacy of others, or they may point a cereal box at you.

			And as for that little wedding chapel that was at the start of it all? See the next entry.

			Kill Bill Volume 2

			Although we see it briefly in Kill Bill Volume 1, it is in Volume 2 that we finally get a good look at the Two Pines Wedding Chapel, where the Deadly Vipers do their work on Kiddo’s wedding party. Although stated as being in El Paso, Texas, it is actually a church located at 16809 East Avenue G in Lancaster, California, about an hour and a half drive from Los Angeles. The church is still sometimes referred to as the Calvary Baptist Church, but it is now called The Sanctuary Church, a church for Seventh-Day Adventists. This site was also used for a few other films, and a sign in the still-standing building across the road states that filming is available in the area (a sign similar to the one that is posted at Johnie’s listed earlier in this chapter). Keep in mind that this is a functioning church, with services and activities, and there’s a good reason they have the place roped off. Even so, they have no problem with people taking pictures. That said, if you have the gall to take pictures of their church, then have the guts to give them a small donation. They may give you a book and an invite inside in trade (like they did when I visited the area back in late 2013).
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					The Sanctuary Church in Lancaster, California. Better known to Tarantino fans as the Two Pines Wedding Chapel in the Kill Bill films.

				

			

		  The strip club where Budd works, the My Oh My, isn’t anything special on the outside, but the interiors were shot in Sam’s Hofbrau in L.A., which was quickly seen in Jackie Brown, although this time we get to see the inside of the place instead of only a quick glance outside as in the earlier film.

			Speaking of locations we have seen before, Budd’s trailer was located at Mule Canyon, about twelve miles outside of Barstow, California, the town where filming for From Dusk Till Dawn occurred. A short drive back to Route 66 to turn left and towards Los Angeles will give you a chance to drive right by Emma Jean’s Holland Burger Café in Victorville, California. Emma Jean’s is known for their Brian Burger, which is a variation of a patty melt but highly recommended. It’s also the place where Kiddo sits and asks for a glass of water after digging her way out of her grave. As Emma Jean’s is only open during breakfast and lunch hours, she must have stumbled in right as they opened at 5:00 a.m. before the crowds came in.

			It’s back to China for a quick fix of martial-arts movie culture with Kiddo’s flashbacks to the days of learning under Pai Mei. (And what qualified kung fu movie doesn’t have our hero being taught a lesson in arrogance by the seemingly feeble teacher?) The place where the outdoor scenes were filmed is the Gao Temple in Zhongwei, China, which may surprise some viewers, as one of the rare places where filming took place outside of California . . . looks like California. 

			Finally, it’s Bill’s place in Costa Careyes, which is located between Puerto Vallarta and Manzanillo in Mexico, along the west coastline. The exterior of the home used for Kiddo’s and Bill’s final confrontation belonged to musical artist Seal and Heidi Klum at the time of filming, and let’s simply say that you would probably have a better chance of see the Gao Temple than get anywhere close to seeing this estate. Besides, all the footage inside Bill’s place was actually shot in a studio in the Manhattan Beach area of Los Angeles, putting it near Tarantino’s old job at Video Archives. That video store where Tarantino worked at 1822 North Sepulveda Boulevard is no longer around (it’s now the location of a Game Stop store), by the way, so not much to really see if you venture out that direction. As it stands, the most interesting aspect of all this talk of Mexico is that it shows Tarantino’s willingness to branch out beyond Los Angeles for outdoor locations, which is confirmed in the next three films in his career.

			Death Proof

			The hardback book Grindhouse: The Sleaze-Filled Saga of an Exploitation Double Feature, published at the time of the film’s release, gives us all the details needed to finding locations used for Tarantino’s Death Proof. In particular, the chapter “Graphic Violence—The Production Design of Death Proof,” gives a good insider look at how often locations that look real are sets built in the studio and vice versa. More importantly, it gives us a glimpse into Tarantino’s mind-set, with his wish to film in the Austin, Texas, although he still ended up doing filming in California for the stunt crashes seen in the film.

			While Julia’s apartment is a set, the first stop for the women is a real place in Austin—Guero’s Taco Bar, which is kid friendly and considered an excellent place for a margarita (not for the kids, of course, but you get the meaning). From that location at 1412 South Congress Ave, it’s less than three miles to the Texas Chili Parlor, where the women meet up with Stuntman Mike, at 1409 Lavaca Street. Oddly enough, only the real exterior of Guero’s Taco Bar was used, while the interior of the Texas Chili Parlor appears in the film. For the exterior scenes at the Texas Chili Parlor—the parking lot scene and dialogue on the back porch—a mixture of stage setting (for the porch scenes) and the parking lot of a restaurant called The Omelettry at 4811 Burnet Road were used. The Omelettry also returns as the interior site where Zoe Bell and her friends stop for breakfast in the second half of the movie.

			The Zoe Gang’s stop at the Circle A Food Mart is at 12226 Rand Road 620 N in Austin, although there’s no such place called the Circle A in reality. The store is now a meat market called Stuffed, but the billboard and other shops next to it are still there (although the billboard, of course, no longer advertises Potheads 2). The final location shooting in the Austin area seen in the film is that of the farm where Zoe goes to test-drive the Dodge Charger, which is located at Zedler Mill, 1170 S. Laurel Avenue in Luling, Texas, about an hour’s drive south of Austin. Part of the mill was also used as the barbeque hangout in Robert Rodriguez’s Planet Terror, which made up the first half of the Grindhouse double feature.

			From there, it’s back to California and Santa Barbara County—Santa Ynez Valley for the most part—for all the stunt footage of cars that are supposed to be either Austin (in the first half of the film) or somewhere in Tennessee (in the second half). For a better approximation, at least some filming was done on Figueroa Mountain Road in Los Olivos, California, near where Michael Jackson’s Neverland Ranch is located. Shooting also occurred in Buellton, Lompoc, and Solvang, and the county is known for its wine tours, which can be seen in the movie Sideways.

			Inglourious Basterds

			After stretching his boundaries by filming in Austin, Tarantino really pushed forward by shooting most of his next movie in another country. Albeit, as China was substituted for Japan in the Kill Bill films, so too was Germany used for his film mostly set in France. Studio shooting, including that of the movie theater that is the destination for nearly all of the characters at the end of the film—La Gamaar—occurred at the Babelsberg Studios in Potsdam, Germany. The studio does offer a tour now, but unfortunately it is one set up like those in Hollywood, featuring stunt shows and film-related activities and little in the way of actual film history (and considering the studio is a landmark of European filmmaking, being the UFA for many years, that’s a shame).

			The cabin seen at the beginning of the film is real, although the interiors are not. It can be found in Sebritz, Germany, about three hours south of Berlin. The early baseball bat and scalping scene from the movie was filmed at Fort Hahneberg, west of Berlin. Elsewhere, the restaurant where Shosanna meets Joseph Goebbels, Chez Maurice, was also a location from Berlin, this time the Café Einstein Stammhaus. At least Hitler’s headquarters were in a proper location, having been filmed in Berlin. The Clay Headquarters Compound, where it was shot, may have been part of the U.S. Army for many years, but at least it was in Berlin. The one actual French location used in the film for any length is the Bistrot La Renaissance in Paris, which is where Shosanna meets up with Fredrick Zoller for a second time and realizes that he is someone famous.

			Finally, although not shot by Tarantino, the excerpts of Stolz der Nation seen in the movie were filmed by Eli Roth (a.k.a. the “Bear Jew” and director of such films as Cabin Fever) in Gorlitz, right next to the border of Poland.

			Django Unchained

			It was back to America for Tarantino’s next film. Better yet, it was back to doing most of the filming in California, with the exception of two shoots in other states—Wyoming and Louisiana. The opening footage of the slaves being marched through the wilderness was shot at the Alabama Hills in Lone Pine, California, about three and a half hours north of Los Angeles. As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, Schultz meets Django for the first time not in Texas (as stated in the movie) but outside Independence, California, which is a few miles further north from Lone Pine. Both locations are gorgeous, but there’s little to actually show to others in terms of the filming. A better photographic opportunity is where Schultz and Django make their first joint “capture” (if you can call shooting the man dead a capture) in a western town location that is part of the Melody Ranch at 24715 Oak Creek, Newhall, California, about a half-hour drive from downtown Los Angeles. This ranch is where many Monogram and Republic Pictures westerns were filmed in the 1930s and ’40s, as well as for television shows like Gunsmoke, and is still used today for filming of various westerns. The ranch also offers a tour, which makes it a great spot to stop at when checking out the Tarantino locations. Meanwhile, the gang led by Don Johnson’s character (Big Daddy) discuss their plans in an area of the Big Sky Movie Ranch at 4927 Bennet Road, Simi Valley, California, another ranch used for many years in westerns.

			Big Daddy’s plantation is one of the few places where filming occurred outside of California and can be found at 4677 Highway 18, Egdard, Louisiana. It is called the Evergreen Plantation and is on the U.S. National Register of Historic Places, while also still producing sugarcane to this day. The house is open for touring during most of the week, and it is in its sugarcane fields that an exterior of the Candyland mansion was built for the explosion at the end of the film. Before that in the film, there’s the trek of Schultz and Django, where Django learns the tricks of the trade—scenes that were originally to have been filmed in California, but then moved to the Grand Teton National Park in Moose, Wyoming, in order to get a harsher, colder climate for the footage. It is a great, scenic park to see, but unless you’re in Wyoming—as with Indiana, Illinois, and Indiana before it in this chapter—you might as well be asking to plan a trip to Beijing or Berlin. It would be hard to convince anyone going with you that the trip is worth it unless they’re as die-hard as seeing where Tarantino shot as you are, or you can do the honorable thing and trick them into going.

			The easiest thing about it: many of the stops are in Southern California, and most of those are within two or three hours’ drive from Los Angeles. Thus, the best way to do it is to treat the national parks as a way to get back to nature, while many spots are located on the way or in areas that are normal tourist attractions in the state of California anyway.

			The Safari Inn from True Romance on Olive Avenue in Burbank works not only as a Tarantino location objective, but also as a good base from which to scout out the other areas in the region. For example, a ninety-minute drive up I-15 North from Burbank will get you to Emma Jean’s Holland Café (Kill Bill 2) in Victorville for breakfast or lunch, before venturing onward another forty-five minutes to Barstow and the Calico Dry Lake Bed (From Dusk Till Dawn). Ten minutes east of that on I-15 is Mule Canyon for Budd’s trailer (Kill Bill 2). From there, it’s only ninety minutes to the Bride’s church in Lancaster (Kill Bill 1) back west. If you’re up for it, two and a half hours farther north from Lancaster will get you to Lone Pine and Independence, California (for Django Unchained), but that may be a touch too much nature trail walking for one day (as well as a four-hour drive back to Burbank). Unless you want to split those visits up north into two days, then from Lancaster you’re probably better off with the ninety-minute trek back to Burbank. Either way, it’s a chance to get some exercise out in nature by hiking with the family while also seeing some Tarantino locations that won’t feel to your spouse like “it’s another hole-in-the-wall bar!” This way, you look like a good guy for thinking of everyone’s health and showing them fantastic natural scenery, while sneaking in your Tarantino tour at the same time. Best remember the heat, though, as it’s the Mojave Desert, and unless you plan to head out during the winter (and even then, you never can tell), keep water and other provisions available just in case.

			Speaking of long distances, Santa Yuez Valley is a two-hour drive northwest from Burbank, which may seem like a lot for a trip to see where cars bashed into each other for Death Proof. However, you do have the scenic coastline drive, a trip through Santa Barbara and (as mentioned earlier) the wine tours of the area that may entice others to go along. In fact, it really could stand as a day trip on its own. On the flip side, the farthest distances to the south of Burbank for a destination are Rae’s Restaurant and Six Flags Magic Mountain (both from True Romance). Rae’s, only a half-hour away, is in Santa Monica, which is worth the trip for the Santa Monica Pier alone (so you get your slice of pie while sightseeing for other reasons). It certainly may be an easier sale to your family than trying to convince them to go to the theme park, what with Disney and Universal so close instead.

			If Lone Pine and Independence seem a bit too far out for Django Unchained destinations, a half-hour drive north from Burbank on I-5 gets you to the Melody Ranch, where there are tours and events for the kids. A detour on to the Ronald Reagan Highway will get you to the Big Sky Movie Ranch for Django Unchained in the same amount of time, but it’s a private location that is hired out for filming, so either you need a reason to be there or you won’t be seeing very much. Everything else—from Pat and Larraine’s (Reservoir Dogs) to Vernita’s home (Kill Bill, Volume 1)—is within a twenty-five-mile radius of Burbank. This makes it all easy detours along the way to various other sightseeing stops for your clan when in the area. For example, “Hey, let’s go to the La Brea Tar Pits, down the street from Johnie’s Coffee Shop,” can easily be worked into the conversation.

			Of course, that still leaves Austin, Texas, for the location shooting of Death Proof. One can make that a trip in itself, but then again, there may be a better idea for those with a little more adventure at heart: turn it into a mix of Tarantino locations and what remains of Route 66 from Texas to California (which is a good chunk of the roadway between the two destinations).

			The best-laid plan would be to start off in the Austin, Texas, area. Kick off with a movie at the Austin Drafthouse Cinema (which is seen briefly in the early moments of Death Proof), where Tarantino has various festivals over the years of movies he has enjoyed. Then it’s a Death Proof breakfast (Omelettry), lunch (Guero’s), and dinner (Texas Chili Parlor) as you hit the various other spots in town.

			From Austin, it’s north to Amarillo, Texas, for Route 66 and turn west. Not only do you get a good chance to see part of a vanishing America from traveling down this historic highway, but it also puts you within driving distance of places in New Mexico and Arizona where Natural Born Killers was filmed (such as the Rio Grande Gorge Bridge, a ninety-minute drive north from Santa Fe). From there, Route 66 takes you straight into Barstow, California, for your desert fixes on From Dusk Till Dawn and Kill Bill, before heading on to Los Angeles. Finally, since you started off with a visit to a theater, you can cap things off with another night at the movies—this time at the theater Quentin Tarantino helped keep in operation as a major source for double features of movies of the past, the New Beverly Cinema at 7165 Beverly Boulevard in Los Angeles.

			With this type of breakup in routine, you’re pretty sure to keep everyone happy on a trip who may be bored looking at roadside diners and empty lots. It’s also fitting because, while the places along Route 66 are rapidly disappearing over time, so too are we quickly seeing many of the places Tarantino has filmed at over the years vanishing from the landscape. If you want to see the beauty and/or coolness of some of these spots, best to get to it soon before the chances to do so are no longer there.
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					The author outside of the New Beverly in 2007 during the Quentin Tarantino Grindhouse Festival. 
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Burn Down the Cinema on Nazi Night

			The Making of Inglourious Basterds

			Release Date: August 21, 2009, through the Weinstein Company

			Yes, but what have you done for us lately?

			Tarantino had the one-two punch of Kill Bill in 2003–2004, which allowed him some breathing room to work on other things, but the meager results of the Grindhouse experiment in 2007 had fans itching to see when his next “serious” project was finally going to emerge. Tarantino had hinted at a western after Kill Bill, and there were a few other lingering projects that he had talked about to the point of seeming to just joke about them (see chapter 27 for details on some of these other projects that are still talked about today as potential future Tarantino films). Of course, there was the Inglourious Basterds project that Tarantino had been discussing in interviews since around the time of Jackie Brown.

			Or was it Inglorious Basterds? Was it a remake of the 1978 World War II action film with Bo Svenson and Fred Williamson that spaghetti western director Enzo G. Castellari directed? What about all this talk of an epic script that involved multiple story lines? Was Tarantino merely pulling our leg on even having a script? Was the project eventually going to just lay on the pile with his other to-do ideas?

			A lot of questions were simmering in the well-founded realm of Tarantino fandom as he continued to tease everyone with what his next project would be.

			Production

			As mentioned in the chapter on the Kill Bill films, Tarantino had been working on Inglourious Basterds for so long that the script had become epic in scope. With an inclination to see how far he could go with the project, Tarantino started envisioning the script as a miniseries that could be released in a new type of format, as he discussed with Ella Taylor from the New Times Broward-Palm Beach (“Quentin Tarantino Serves Hitler’s Head on a Plate with Inglourious Basterds,” August 20, 2009): “The whole idea of a DVD boxed set is pretty amazing. No writer-director has yet taken advantage of that format; a wonderful one to be a true auteur with.” Tarantino then took the full script and turned it into chapters that could be made into a twelve-part miniseries—a concept he was excited about, until one of his producers mentioned that it would mean his not working on a theatrical release for probably five years. It was at that point that Tarantino decided to cut the script down to what he had originally intended ten years before—a movie along the lines of The Dirty Dozen and others like it that feature a group of desperate men willing to do anything to complete their mission during World War II. Some elements of the longer, spaghetti western concept that Tarantino explored in his bigger script still remains—the story of Shosanna, for example, and the emergence of Lt. Hicox a third of the way through the film, who in any other film would have been the protagonist that ends up leading the Basterds—but other aspects are gone. (See chapter 27 for details on the Killer Crow concepts, which Tarantino has stated was originally part of the Inglourious Basterds story line.) On The Charlie Rose Show (August 22, 2009), Tarantino mentioned that he had originally written Shosanna as an assassin who is shooting German officers as a sniper (putting her later relationship with Fredrick in a different light), but then found after writing Kill Bill that such mannerisms had already been seen in both Kiddo and O-Ren. Instead, he made her a survivor who decided on a suicide mission to destroy the Nazis, thus making her even more heroic.

			Finally finding his editing voice, Tarantino reduced the material to a 160-page script in about six months’ time and in 2008 announced he would be commencing on the filming of Inglourious Basterds in the later part of the year. As would happen in 2013 with his The Hated Eight script, the script for Inglourious Basterds leaked to the Internet in the summer of 2008, allowing many websites to announce the story line and even some of the casting as Tarantino prepared to start filming in the fall. His main objective at that point was to find the right actors for the film, which was not going to be easy. As Tarantino would point out in later interviews, the script is about the meaning of language (the film also deals with the meaning of film, but more on this later). One gripe Tarantino has always had about films that take place in World War II, especially those that involve characters passing themselves off as Nazis, is that we commonly see actors who are supposedly brilliant at speaking German, but we never actually see them do this. Such dialogue is commonly in English, and we can only assume that they’re so fluent that they are passable. Yet, as Tarantino points out in Inglourious Basterds, an education in a different language does not make one an expert in speaking a dialect or knowing common gestures and slang terms of an area. This is the whole point of Hicox—he appears to be the Where Eagles Dare Richard Burton-ish expert that will save the day, but almost immediately fouls up when attempting to put his knowledge into practice in the underground saloon, leading to the death of several characters. It is also why by the time we get to the movie premiere and Lt. Raine is royally screwing up his attempts at German, we know he’s going to be easy to find out.

			With that in mind, Tarantino wanted actors who were native to the languages being spoken. They would also need to speak English as well. More specifically, and the biggest problem for Tarantino, he needed actors that understand his type of dialogue. Actors used to perfection in the written word, even American actors speaking lines in English, have had problems with Tarantino’s sense of poetry in his dialogue that allows people to sometimes mangle words and sentences while still getting across the “feel” of what they mean. That’s one reason why he has been so specific about his dialogue in films since the early days of his career, as he had found that he needed to guide actors through his meaning, with only a few—like Samuel L. Jackson—really understanding where Tarantino is going with the dialogue. An example can be found with Inglourious Basterds, as Melanie Laurent, who played Shosanna, stated to Vanity Fair (“Tarantino Is One Basterd Who Knows How to Please Himself,” by Julian Sancton, August 20, 2009): “I remember finding some of the phrasings in the French translations to be a bit hard to say. At one point, I had this expression to say that really seemed improbable to say in French. I told him, but there was no negotiating. He said, ‘We can invent. Who’s to say we can’t invent new expressions?’ He likes certain sounds. He likes certain words in French and he wants to hear them.”

			Thus, when he found Christoph Waltz, a German actor who understood Tarantino’s feelings about dialogue and could find the poetry and humor in what was written, Tarantino knew he had his villain for the piece—a man who is not only clever but understands language to the point that he uses it to his advantage in various languages throughout the film (even in the first scene where he uses French and English to placate the hidden Jewish family until he is ready to kill them). From there, the rest of the cast came together quickly, with filming to commence in Europe on October 9, 2008, and winding up in February 2009. Sally Menke would edit the film, her last before she passed away in September 2010. David Wasco and Sandy Reynolds-Wasco returned from previous Tarantino films, as well as Robert Richardson as the director of photography. Anna B. Sheppard, who had done quite a number of World War II–related films—from Schindler’s List to Captain America: The First Avenger—did the costume designs for the film. While a large international group of technicians and artists joined the filming. For the film-within-a-film, Nation’s Pride, Eli Roth was recruited to shoot bits and pieces of the movie that would appear on the screen during the climatic sequence, which featured Bo Swenson of the original Inglourious Basterds in a small role. The full film made can be found on the DVD special edition release.

			Inglourious Basterds was ready to premiere at the Cannes Film Festival on May 20, 2009, with the international release coming in August 2009. For the German release in that month, some censoring of the swastika in publicity material was done due to German laws regarding the use of the symbol. The film itself was uncensored, however.

			Cast

			Brad Pitt as Lt. Aldo “The Apache” Raine

			See chapter 5 for more details.
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					Brad Pitt as Lt. Aldo Raine, the leader of the crazed but determined “Inglourious Basterds” in the film of the same name

				

			

			Christoph Waltz as SD Standartenfuhrer Hans “The Jew Hunter” Landa

			Waltz was a star in Europe, particularly in German television, while also appearing in several films, but was nearly unknown in the U.S. when Tarantino auditioned him for the role. His success as Landa—including an Academy Award—has led to a number of other roles in bigger American films, as well as his reappearance in Tarantino land with his casting as Schultz in Django Unchained.
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					Christoph Waltz would walk away with a multitude of awards for his performance as Col. Landa in Inglourious Basterds.

				

			

			Melanie Laurent as Shosanna/Emmanuelle

			A French actress and director, Laurent became known to American audiences through her appearance in the 2005 film The Beat That My Heart Skipped by Jacques Audiard. She also received several notices after appearing in the 2006 film Don’t Worry, I’m Fine by Philippe Lioret. Inglourious Basterds would lead to several nominations and awards for Laurent. She has mostly stayed with working in the French movie industry, although she appeared in the 2010 Canadian film Beginners, starring Christopher Plummer.
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					Melanie Laurent as Shosanna—the Jewish girl who grows up to achieve her goal of bringing down the Third Reich.

				

			

			Eli Roth as Donny “The Bear Jew” Donowitz”

			See chapter 17 for more details.

			Michael Fassbender as Lt. Archie Hicox

			Fassbender popped up early in his career in the World War II miniseries Band of Brothers and worked on a variety of television shows before starting to get action roles in films such as 300 (2007) and Eden Lake (2008). He admitted to having to brush up on his German for Inglourious Basterds, which was perhaps just as well if he was a tad rusty for the sake of the character. He is well known for playing Magneto in the second run of X-Men films, as well as Edwin Epps in the 2013 film 12 Years a Slave.

			Diane Kruger as Bridget von Hammersmark

			Kruger appeared as Helen in Wolfgang Petersen’s Troy, which starred Brad Pitt as Achilles. She would costar in the two National Treasure films before Inglourious Basterds, where being German certainly was the right frame of mind for her role as the German movie star in the film. She has continued to work in films since.

			Til Schweiger as Sgt. Hugo Stiglitz

			Schweiger is a producer and director as well as an actor, making him one of several actors in the film who are also directors. He has appeared in a number of American films, some better known than others, including SLC Punk! (1998), King Arthur (2004) and Tomb Raider: The Cradle of Life (2003) with Pitt’s wife, Angelina Jolie. Since Inglourious Basterds he has acted extensively in movies and German television, including a role in The Three Musketeers (2011), which costarred Christoph Waltz.
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					Til Schweigner was a popular actor, director and producer in German television and international films before landing the part of Sgt. Hugo Stiglitz in Inglourious Basterds. 

				

			

			Daniel Bruhl as Fredrick Zoller

			Bruhl has had an extensive career in European films, but probably was best known for a supporting role in The Bourne Ultimatum (2007) before appearing as the “hero” sniper in Inglourious Basterds. He received a number of nominations for his role as Niki Lauda in the biopic Rush (2013), directed by Ron Howard.
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					Daniel Bruhl as Fredrick Zoller, the unfortunate “hero” who ends up helping to stage the death of Hitler because he was smitten by Shosanna.

				

			

			Mike Myers as General Ed Fenech

			Myers is very well known for his roles as Wayne in the Wayne’s World films and in the Austin Powers series, making him one of the more successful actors from the Saturday Night Live series. He took on the role of Fenech as both of his parents were born in England and his mother had been attached to the Royal Air Force.

			B. J. Novak as Pfc. Smithson Utivich

			Novak was a regular on the American version of the comedy series The Office at the time. He would go on to write and direct several episodes of that series. He more recently appeared as Robert B. Sherman in Saving Mr. Banks (2013).

			Also Appearing

			Jacky Ido as Marcel, the film projectionist. Omar Doom as Pvt. Omar Ulmer. Sylvester Groth as Joseph Goebbels. Julie Dreyfus as Francesca Mondino. Rod Taylor as (a somewhat in the distance) Winston Churchill. Director Enzo G. Castellari as a Nazi General who announces “Fire!” And Samuel L. Jackson as the narrator.

			Sequential Plot

			In 1941 Nazi-occupied France, Colonel Hans Landa of the S.S. massacres a Jewish family hiding under the floorboards of a French dairy farm. One member of the family escapes, a girl named Shosanna. Landa has her in his gunsight but refuses to shoot, allowing her to flee into the wilderness.

			In England, Lt. Aldo Raine trains a group of Jewish American soldiers to become the Basterds, who will go into France and begin killing Nazis in order to put a scare into the Third Reich. Among them is Sgt. Hugo Stiglitz, a German soldier who joins them while in France after Stiglitz killed thirteen Gestapo officers, and Sgt. Danny “Bear Jew” Donowitz, who carries a baseball bat covered in Jewish names that he uses to beat in the heads of Nazis he comes across. The team scalp the Nazis they kill, although they usually allow one to survive to tell the tale of their brutality, along with a swastika being cut into their foreheads so that they’ll always be identified as once having been a Nazi.

			June 1944, Shosanna is now the owner of a theater in Paris, and she is spotted by a German soldier named Fredrick Zoller, a “war hero” for his shooting of a great number of enemy soldiers as a sniper in an attack, forcing the enemy to retreat. A movie called Nation’s Pride has been made of his exploits, with Fredrick starring as himself. Wanting to impress Shosanna, Fredrick arranges for the premiere to be held in Shosanna’s theater with many high-ranking officials in the German military attending. Shosanna agrees to the premiere, as she has a plan hatching that involves locking all the powerful Nazis in her theater and then burning it to the ground by way of the 360 nitrate film prints (which are highly flammable) in the theater’s vault.

			Meanwhile, it turns out that German movie star Bridget Von Hammersmark has set up the premiere as part of an Allies plot called Operation Kino. In England, Lt. Archie Hicox is enlisted to help with von Hammersmark and get the Basterds into the premiere so they can wipe out the Nazis in attendance. Unfortunately, a trivial mistake in a basement tavern leads to Hicox being killed, von Hammersmark wounded, and two members of the Basterds dead. Raine and his surviving men manage to get into the premiere, but they can’t talk their way past Col. Landa, who kills von Hammersmark and sends Raine and Pvt. Utivich in hoods to a meeting at a tavern. As it turns out, Landa is too happy to cut a deal that will end in the success of Operation Kino—with the added bonus of Hitler being there as well—if Landa is given freedom and power in America. The deal is cut and Landa is happy.

			Back at the theater, Sgt. Donowitz and Pvt. Omar break into Hitler’s opera box and machine-gun him in the face multiple times, while the film breaks to Shosanna appearing on the screen to announce everyone’s death. As the theater begins to burn, and Donowitz and Omar fire into the crowd of Nazis, the explosives set by the Basterds go off, killing everyone.

			At the American lines, Landa surrenders to Raine, who kills Landa’s assistant. Raine then decides that, although Landa made an excellent deal that ends the war early, he didn’t think it was right that Landa will be able to take off the uniform and walk away from what he did in the war. With Utivich’s help, Raine carves a swastika into Landa’s forehead and proclaims it to be his masterpiece.

			The Script

			•	Cut from the film is a scene showing Landa leaving the farmhouse. His driver demands to know why he let Shosanna get away. Landa jokes that she may survive and make it to America to become president, but he figures her to either die in the woods or be captured and thus of no importance.

			•	Some narration and dialogue has been removed during the Hitler/Pvt. Butz sequence.

			•	Donowitz’s first appearance in the film is built up as he hits the bat against the wall of the tunnel, while in the script we “rack-focus” to him immediately.

			•	An entire sequence that was filmed but cut shows Donny Donowitz before he joined the war at his father’s barbershop in Boston, and how he got his bat. Cloris Leachman appeared as Mrs. Himmelstein, an old woman who puts the names of her loved ones in Europe she fears for on Donowitz’s bat.

			•	A second and third sequence filmed but cut after the Cannes Film Festival screening appears in the script immediately after the end of Pvt. Butz’s interrogation. It featured Maggie Cheung as Madame Mimieux, the owner of the theater Shosanna stumbles upon two weeks after the massacre of her family. The first sequence shows how Shosanna is offered a job at the theater by Mimieux. The second, which would have appeared as a flashback after Shosanna first meets Fredrick, has Mimieux lecturing Shosanna on how nitrate film is very flammable, as well as the first appearance of Marcel. Tarantino determined audiences could decide for themselves how Shosanna came to own a theater, and had a narrative explain the flammability of the film later on instead.

			•	In the script, Fredrick says that he shot 250 soviet soldiers. In the film, they are simply “enemy soldiers.”

			•	The interview with Goebbels at the restaurant is slightly longer in the script. (A longer version of the scene appears in the deleted scenes on the DVD.)

			•	After Landa leaves Shosanna alone at the restaurant, the camera was to show that she had pissed herself in Landa’s presence.

			•	The scripts calls for the audience to see Goebbels and the others watching Lucky Kids, as the narrator points out part of Shosanna’s plan hatching in her mind. Instead, in the film we see the latter part of the scripted scene, which shows Goebbels leaving and then Shosanna explaining her plan to Marcel. The script has Shosanna and Marcel sharing a passionate kiss, which does not appear in the film.

			•	After Lt. Hicox is briefed about Operation Kino, the next sequence in the script is of Marcel and Shosanna shooting their film. The scene does appear in the film but as the pair get ready to show the film at the premiere.
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					Michael Fassbender as Lt. Archie Hicox converses with Diane Kruger as Bridget von Hammersmark. In any other film, the two characters would have been the leads, but here they are merely ill-fated stooges.

				

			

			•	The game in the basement tavern is slightly longer in the script than in the film. (A longer version of the scene appears in the deleted scenes on the DVD.)

			•	At the veterinarian’s, Donowitz shoots two dogs in order to get the vet to give von Hammersmark morphine.

			•	In the script, Landa’s examination of the shoot-out at the tavern appears next rather than after the scene where von Hammersmark tells Raine that Hitler will be appearing at the premiere. He finds two shoes, not just one, and Sgt. Willi still alive, rather than the autographed handkerchief.

			•	In the script, Raine doesn’t stick his finger into von Hammersmark’s bullet hole. It is also he in the script that suspects it was a setup, rather than von Hammersmark as in the film.

			•	The script only shows Hitler announcing he will attend, rather than von Hammersmark first telling Raine and then showing Hitler announcing the same.

			•	Von Hammersmark asking what Utivich can do to help and being told he will be the chauffeur even though he doesn’t know how to drive would have ended the veterinarian scene. But not before von Hammersmark mentions she needs to get her hair done and Raine says that Donowitz can do it.

			•	Upon Landa’s appearance at the premiere, a short sequence was to appear by his head as a “thought balloon” that showed him getting the facts of the tavern shoot-out from Sgt. Willi. (Thus, there is no deduction needed on his part—he knows von Hammersmark is the Allies’ agent.)

			•	Shosanna arrives and talks to Landa, von Hammersmark, and the three Basterds. With this scripted segment cut, Shosanna never runs into the other conspirators at the theater. In the script, she is asked to show the two Basterds with Raine to their seats, and does so before heading back to the projection room.

			•	After killing von Hammersmark, in the script, Landa uses the phone to announce that the movie can begin. In the film, he uses it to tell the others to grab Raine.

			•	Raine tries to calm down Utivich in the truck as they head off from the theater.

			•	In a flashback, we see that Landa had taken the explosives he got from Raine and placed them in Hitler’s theater box, set to go off.

			•	In the script, Nation’s Pride shows Russian soldiers being killed, rather than the Americans seen in the film.

			•	A long comedy sequence between Omar and Donowitz involving pantomime and painfully bad accents in order to deal with the bombs was cut from the script.

			•	A sequence with Donowitz trying to plant a bomb in the men’s room is cut as well. It would have featured a German soldier with one of the Basterds’ swastikas on his forehead recognizing Donowitz as he tries to sneak out. The two exchange fire and both die in the men’s room, as per the script. In the film, Donowitz dies while machine-gunning Hitler in the face.

			•	Fredrick indicates that he is about to get more forceful with Shosanna in the projection room when a commotion distracts him. In the film, Shosanna softens the tone and asks him to lock the door in order to distract him. Both end with him being shot by her and he shooting her in retaliation. In the film he shoots once, in the script multiple times.

			•	The script has Hitler and all the others in his box being blown up by Landa’s bomb, rather than machine-gunned by Omar and Donowitz.

			•	The explosions are slightly different, but the effect is the same, with everyone in the theater dying.

			•	Subtitles in the next sequence showing that Germany surrendered four days later were deleted from the film.

			•	Everything else in the script is the same as in the ending of the film.

			The Backend

			When Tarantino finished editing the film with Sally Menke, the movie was 190 minutes long. Working with her, they knocked it down to around 150 minutes for its Cannes premiere and then edited it further for its theatrical release. The Cannes presentation received some negative reactions from critics who felt the film was too long, leading to a rumor that the Weinsteins demanded Tarantino cut the film down. However, Tarantino has since stated that after much pruning, the film is actually one minute longer in its final form than it was at Cannes, yet no one seems to think the movie is too long now.

			Inglourious Basterds is surprisingly graphic in many ways, especially with the scalping by our protagonists, but it managed to get an R rating. Although there was a scene scripted that showed the death of two dogs at the veterinarian’s office where they take Von Hammersmark after the shoot-out in the bar, and we can see that there are what looks like two dead dogs in the office, this portion was cut from the film. Beyond that, there was nothing to suggest that the American Humane Association was involved with the film (and no doubt, Tarantino didn’t have any real deaths of animals in the shooting of the film).

			As seemed to balance out in previous cases, when Tarantino’s films receive lukewarm love from the European critics, as Inglourious Basterds did thanks to the Cannes premiere, American critics were more positive. Roger Ebert once again gave Tarantino four out of four stars for his film, calling him “a director of quixotic delights.” Stephanie Zacharek at Salon.com, who had been very negative over the Kill Bill films, was much more positive to Basterds, saying Tarantino was “hanging on to the lost world of moviemaking. He may be nuts. But he’s a nut who cares.” Richard Corliss pointed out that many of Tarantino’s films deal with revenge fantasies, especially female revenge fantasies, where “strong women plot the death of men who wronged them,” feeling that Shosanna and Bridget are two of Tarantino’s best portrayals of such characters.

			The negative response steered towards issues with the violence in the film, in particular that of Jewish people seeking revenge against the Nazis and—in some quarters—allowing themselves to descend to the level of the Nazis. Armond White of the New York Press claimed that Tarantino “manipulates WWII horror into hip pornography—Jewish revenge looks just like sadism in Eli Roth’s Hostel movie.” David Denby of the New Yorker called it insensitive, seeing the film as a joke on those who have “ever taken the Nazis, the war, or the Resistance seriously.” Others felt that Tarantino was missing a moral compass in his film, even criticizing the idea of a suave Nazi mastermind who nearly gets the heroes, as was typical of most World War II action films even before the war started for America.

			As is usually the case, the professional navel-gazing of some critics had little sway over the public reaction. The film opened on August 21 in the U.S.A., running up against G.I. Joe: The Rise of Cobra and District 9 as other action-oriented films released near it, and only Harry Potter and the Half-Blood Prince as major competition for ticket sales. The film, which cost $70 million to make, would earn close to $121 million in the U.S and an additional $196 million in foreign markets, showing that people didn’t have quite the problem some critics did with the film’s material or message. It earned many awards, in particular for Christoph Waltz, and helped bounce Tarantino’s image in Hollywood back after the dismal returns of Death Proof in 2007/2008.

			Thoughts

			Jeffrey Goldberg in his article about the film, “Hollywood’s Jewish Avenger” (Atlantic Monthly, September 2009), interviews Neal Gabler, the author of the book An Empire of Their Own: How the Jews Invented Hollywood, about Inglourious Basterds. Gabler’s noted that “Jewish revenge fantasies aren’t entirely alien to the movie industry,” but stated that Tarantino went a step beyond what would have been risked by many Jewish producers, writers and directors because “It’s too brazen.” He has a point—no doubt reviews would not have centered on a playful “look at this alternate ending to World War II that is fun!” aspect, but instead would have focused on stern consideration of “what the Jews are trying to say in machine-gunning their oppressors in the face.”

			Then again, just as Tarantino would face a backlash from some critics over the use of slavery in his next film, Django Unchained, some felt that because Tarantino is not Jewish, he had no right to portray such a response by Jewish characters to Nazis. As stated above with the critical reaction, some felt that Tarantino was dictating not so much a fantasy film (which, as mentioned in chapter 19, could have easily have been made in 1944 by a Hollywood studio . . . without quite the violence, of course) as snide macho posturing by Tarantino or thumbnosing at those who had been in the war. Some went so far as to declare the film a spoof, a satire of those who suffered—a feeling that Tarantino is saying those who were there meekly went along, but he would have swooped in and taken care of business.

			Famed critic Jonathan Rosenbaum stated in his review that the film “makes the Holocaust harder, not easier to grasp—as a historical reality” because it dictates a different ending where people rise up to kill Nazis—and most history books do not show that happening even after the war was over. Yet, as Charles Taylor rebuts in his article “Violence as the Best Revenge” for Dissent (Winter 2010), when given the chance at the end of the war to seek retribution against the Nazis, it was not uncommon for the victims and those who fought against the Nazis to have the very revenge seen in Inglourious Basterds, and to deny that is to deny the human condition. War is ugly, and we in reality looked the other way while a certain number of those evil men managed to move on to normal lives working for various governments or hiding. Victims were supposed to merely walk away and rebuild, forgetting about the evil they had to endure, rather than find some recourse and retribution. Inglourious Basterds doesn’t want us to have it so cleanly. A man who killed for the Third Reich can disappear, but not with a swastika on his forehead. It’s not a happy, fun time, as some would wish us to remember the war, or even the Holocaust. A price was paid but with no return, and that is at the heart of Inglourious Basterds—a chance, for two and a half hours, to finally see something done about the evil that still lingers in our souls over the events of World War II. And perhaps, in a way, how we may not be that far removed from the monsters we hold at a distance and hate.

			On top of this is draped a story that deals with film, both as a physical product and the fantasy it represents. The very first scene plays like the beginning of The Good, the Bad and the Ugly, with Landa’s talk with the dairy farmer coming very close to the same tense situation as Angel Eyes talking with Stevens in his home. Anyone who had seen the earlier film would instantly hit upon the comparison. Raine telling the Basterds their mission is a blatant reminder of the opening of The Dirty Dozen. Tarantino has stated himself that the scene of Hicox being told about Operation Kino is straight out of a dozen “Men on a Mission” war films, and the subsequent scene in the basement tavern would not have been too far out of place in a film like Where Eagles Dare. When Shosanna gets ready for her revenge, we are hit with a song from the remake of Cat People and reminded again that we’re seeing a movie about movies. We are reminded of other films not only from the movie’s references, but from the actions of the characters who are constantly referring to films and film history. Which turns back to the earlier argument—there is no sense in the movie that we’re seeing the world as it was, but rather as the movies have already presented World War II for us. The only difference is that in this “universe,” the common “movie rules” of good guys fighting bad guys and succeeding are turned on their ear.

			As mentioned earlier, Tarantino had been irritated by the use in earlier war films of American and British actors who play characters that are experts at language, but we never seen them attempt to actually speak in those languages. In fact, when such attempts are made in such films, it is clear that the actors—while trying—are not very good at it. It becomes a basis of the film that those who are tend to be found out quickly. (One could almost praise Raine and his Basterds for eventually joking their way through their attempts, because by that point it is clear that it’s just a damn goofy idea to even try.) It may seem at times irritating that Landa, and later Major Hellstrom, see so quickly through such disguises, but that’s the point—it is that easy to see through it. In this respect, Inglourious Basterds slams the movie fantasy against cold reality by Tarantino placing it front and center—language is not an easy thing one can merely imitate, nor can people and their reactions to events around them be easily imitated. After this, it is hard to go back to Where Eagles Dare and suspend belief as we did before.

			Language is only one factor of identity examined in the film—everyone has something to hide except Raine and his Basterds. Fredrick completely misreads Shosanna’s interest in him because she has other objectives. Von Hammersmark has to shoot Sgt. Willi because she has to keep her cover. Landa is an opportunist who knows when to switch sides. Only Raine and his team of soldiers are “clean,” and they only have one objective: to wipe out Nazis. Even the film within a film, Nation’s Pride, gives us a false world where American soldiers are sniveling targets who steal money from corpses.

			Which brings us back to the subject of film as fantasy standing against the backdrop of reality—even the false reality of an action film like Inglourious Basterds. Nation’s Pride is a propaganda film made to help boost patriotism for the masses and is shown to the cheers and laughter of the Nazis in attendance, while Fredrick privately grimaces at the falseness of the film. Hicox is picked to help the Basterds because he understands film, but is less assured when passing off his German or proper mannerisms, unfortunately. Bridget is a star much loved by the Nazis, which causes them to rage when it turns out that she is working with the Allies and is not the fantasy “pin-up girl” they imagine (which, as Tarantino had to point out in nearly every interview, was based on stories told of German starlets who may have actually been involved in helping the Allies). We even have Goebbels saying he’ll probably be remembered for his movies—one identity—than as one of the vilest perpetrators of the Third Reich.

			Yet we the audience are tricked as well in our reading of the fantasy. Hicox’s introduction places him in the traditional movie convention of the hero that leads the Basterds to greater glory after finding himself first at odds with them. Instead, he is killed off in his second scene. Landa is the traditional Nazi bad guy who will give his life to the cause, yet he turns out to be an opportunist who gladly turns on the Nazis if it means a better life for himself (he’s even worse in the original script, as he plants the very bomb that kills Hitler). The Basterds don’t “play fair” with their victims, as is the tradition of war film heroes (in essence they really are a creepy bunch of bastards). And then we fall into the ultimate trick, where we sit there positively knowing that the attempt to kill Hitler at the theater cannot succeed because history tells us otherwise, whereupon Tarantino tells us once again that nothing can be trusted in the land of film.

			As it turns out, the Basterds foul up for the most part. The only reason they succeed is due to Shosanna’s plan that involved the film. Bombs, guns and scalping knives didn’t get the job done—film did. It even becomes a weapon in a physical form when Shosanna uses the nitrate prints to burn up the theater. She gets her revenge by use of film, just as Inglourious Basterds allows us—not just Jews but all of us—to get the vengeance we seek over the atrocities of World War II.

			As always, Tarantino introduces the subject of movies into his film, but in this case, the power of film—the power of fantasy—is the ultimate redeemer.
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The Value of Showmanship

			The Making of Django Unchained

			Release Date: December 25, 2012, by the Weinstein Company; the second film from Tarantino to open on Christmas Day (Jackie Brown was the first)

			On February 11, 2010, while celebrating the Oscar nominations for Inglourious Basterds, Tarantino told the press at a luncheon, “I’d like to do a Western, but rather than set it in Texas, have it in slavery times. With that subject that everybody is afraid to deal with. Let’s shine that light on ourselves. You could do a ponderous history lesson of slaves escaping on the Underground Railroad. Or, you could make a movie that would be exciting. Do it as an adventure. A Spaghetti Western that takes place during that time. And I would call it a ‘Southern.’”

			Following through on his announcement, Tarantino pulled together a script that would be exactly as he said—a movie about characters in the Deep South during the time of slavery, dressed up in the image of a spaghetti western. It would be his most expensive ($100 million) and longest to film (130 days) movie, one of his most controversial, and his most successful movie at the box office, earning over $425 million worldwide. In some ways, it would also wrap up concepts from his previous films into one package, showing evolution in Tarantino’s work from the days of Reservoir Dogs.

			Production

			Tarantino moved swiftly forward on his concept of the Southern, building a script and then a final draft that was completed in April 2011. It would take another nine months to orchestrate the rest of the production into shape to being filming in early February 2012. As he wrote, he had one man in mind for the role of Django—Samuel L. Jackson. The problem was that Tarantino kept running up against the obstacle of everyone being older now. To fit the part the way he wanted, he needed a younger man, and felt that Jackson was perfect in nearly every way except that the project was coming too late for him to play the role. Tarantino attempted to fix that by writing the script in a manner that we would have seen Django as a young man and then “fifteen years on” with Jackson playing him at his current age, but Tarantino never felt it worked as effectively as making Django a younger man throughout the film.
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					The Argentinean poster for Django Unchained (2012). The hype on the poster states, “They took his freedom, now he will take control.”

				

			

			Thus, he needed to find another actor for the main role and instead offered Jackson the role of Stephen (who Tarantino refers to as a “Basil Rathbone” villain in his script). Tarantino was wondering how Jackson would feel about the change from the lead to a secondary character, but Jackson took it well—after all, it was a chance to play, as Tarantino remembered Jackson saying at the time, “the most despicable black motherfucker in the history of the world.” Meanwhile, Tarantino went off looking for his Django and began negotiating with Will Smith to take the lead. As described in chapter 18, Smith eventually dropped out as he didn’t see the character as the true lead of the film, so Tarantino auditioned with a few other actors before finally deciding on Jamie Foxx, who was raised in Texas and even had his own horse, Cheetah, who was used as Tony in the film.

			Foxx was anxious for the role, but his rep was unsure and called Jackson for his thoughts on the project. As Jackson remembered when talking to Jason Guerrasio at Vanity Fair (“Samuel L. Jackson on Finding the Right Skin Tone for Django Unchained . . . ,” December 20, 2012): “So at the end of the day all I could tell them was it’s Quentin Tarantino, first of all, and second of all, if it was ten or fifteen years ago, we wouldn’t be having this conversation because I’d be doing that role, and if you need to know anything more then you’re calling the wrong person.” With that, Foxx signed on.

			Finding the right man for Schultz was not a problem, however, as Tarantino knew exactly who he wanted—Christoph Waltz, who had won over audiences worldwide as the villain Landa in Inglourious Basterds. Waltz told Terry Gross on Fresh Air that Tarantino would invite him up to his house and print off pages of the script for Waltz to read as it was being completed, clearly showing that Tarantino had written the part for him. There was an issue soon before production for Waltz, however: when training for his horseback riding—a skill Waltz already had in some capacity but needed to learn in a proper manner for the western style of riding in the film—Waltz broke his pelvis. Being told that he would have to stay off a horse for at least three months to recuperate, Waltz figured Tarantino would have to replace him in the role or come up with something ingenious in order to work around it. Tarantino did the second, putting Schultz in a “dentist cart” (it worked for Bob Hope as Painless Potter in The Paleface, after all) and then having him ride along in Candie’s carriage to avoid showing him on a horse (all subsequent horseback riding with Schultz clearly in the saddle was done later in the production after he healed). Oddly enough, while fixing one problem, the results give the film more to show than just guys on horseback (which is how the original script had them), opening up the visual look of the film at certain times.

			The rest of the cast took a while to fall into place, as several actors came and went in various roles while production neared (again, see chapter 18 for more details on the various actors that nearly made it in the film). When two roles in separate parts of the film—Ace Woody and Scotty—became lost causes after various actors came and went in the roles, Tarantino simply threw the segments out and rewrote the script to deal with it, just as he had dealt with Waltz not being able to ride a horse for a time.

			There were a couple of issues that had to be ironed out for the actors involved. The easier one in a way was for Leonardo DiCaprio, who was unsure about using the N-word in his dialogue. At the table when reading the script with the other actors—which at the time found only him, Tarantino and Waltz as white people in the room—DiCaprio had some “trepidation about what was on the page.” As Jackson told Jason Guerrasio in Vanity Fair, “He’s like ‘Do I have to say this this many times? And do I have to say nigger like—’ and I said, ‘Yeah, you do.’ And he’d say, ‘Well, is there a way—’ ‘No you can’t.’ Because this is how it is. This is the reality of how it goes. So once he realized you’re either all in or all out, he went home, and the next day he was all in. He got his professional pants on and showed up in them.”

			The harder one was just as quickly resolved, once a discussion took place. It occurred the first day of filming and found Tarantino working solely with Waltz and Foxx. As Tarantino told Henry Louis Gates Jr. for The Root (www.theroot.com, December 23, 2012), they began working on the first scene in the film, and he noted that Foxx was playing the role in an aggressive “hero” manner. After a day of working on the material, Tarantino took Foxx aside and told him, “You know, we don’t have a story if Django is already this magnificent heroic figure who just happens to be in chains.” Explaining that Django starts off as just the sixth slave in a chain of slaves, Tarantino went on to say, “He is not Jim Brown. He is not a superhero. You want to be Jim Brown too soon. It’s just that simple. You got to grow into the jacket. You have to express a lifetime of slavery. You have to express a lifetime lived on the plantation.” Things then clicked into place for Foxx, and the rest of the rehearsal went smoothly.

			Production began on February 6, 2012, and continued until July 25, 2012. Robert Richardson returned as cinematographer, but elsewhere there was a shakeup in the usual mix, starting with editing by Fred Raskin—who had worked as an assistant for Tarantino’s only other editor, Sally Menke, and took on her role for Tarantino after her passing in 2010. Leslie Pope came in as the set decorator, having done the same duty on films like Seabiscuit, Donnie Brasco and a couple of the Spider-Man films over the years. Crossing over from those Spider-Man films as well was David F. Klassen as the supervising art director, along with Page Buckner, Mara Le-Pere-Schloop and Suzan Wexler assisting; production designer J. Michael Riva had also worked on the same two Spider-Man films as Klassen and Pope. Sharen Davis (The Book of Eli, The Pursuit of Happyness and The Help) did costume design.

			Cast

			Jamie Foxx as Django Freeman

			Foxx had studied music in college when he got bit with the comedy bug and began performing stand-up comedy. His talent led to him being cast in television roles and catching national attention once he signed on to appear in the Fox Network sketch-comedy series In Living Color in 1990. He would go on to have his own WB Network sitcom from 1996 to 2001, The Jamie Foxx Show, while pursuing movie roles, including Oliver Stone’s 1999 film Any Given Sunday. In 2004, he won an Academy Award as best actor in the biographical film about musician Ray Charles, Ray, which costarred Kerry Washington. Even before Django Unchained, Foxx has bounced between dramatic, action and comedy films through his entire movie career.
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					Jamie Foxx as Django in Django Unchained. 

				

			

			Christoph Waltz as Dr. King Schultz

			See chapter 21 for more details.
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					Christoph Waltz as Dr. Schultz, the man who helps Django become a bounty hunter, but who ultimately goes one con too far. 

				

			

			Samuel L. Jackson as Stephen

			See chapter 10 for more details.
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					Samuel L. Jackson as Stephen, the man behind the throne at Candyland. 

				

			

			Leonardo DiCaprio as Calvin J. Candie

			DiCaprio’s career already was coming into focus at an early age when he appeared in costarring roles in two films during 1993: This Boy’s Life and What’s Eating Gilbert Grape? (both with later Tarantino alumni in them). Titanic in 1997 made him a mega-star celebrity, as he continued to do dramatic work in good films, including five films for Martin Scorsese since 2002 (Gangs of New York, The Aviator, The Departed, Shutter Island and The Wolf of Wall Street).

			Kerry Washington as Broomhilda Von Shaft

			After a few years of crossing back and forth between films and television, Kerry starred in Spike Lee’s She Hate Me (2004) as well as costarring with Jamie Foxx in Ray the same year. She appeared as Alicia Masters in the two Fantastic Four films of the 2000s, while also having a role in The Last King of Scotland (2006) as Idi Amin’s wife.
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					Kerry Washington as Broomhilda, Django’s wife and destiny, in Django Unchained.

				

			

			Also Appearing

			Don Johnson as Spencer “Big Daddy” Bennet, Johnson being best remembered from his role on the NBC crime series Miami Vice. Tom Wopat as U.S. Marshall Gill Tatum; Wopat was one of the Dukes of Hazzard. Franco Nero as Amerigo Vessepi; Nero was the original Django, which explains his cameo appearance here and why he would know how to pronounce the name. Russ Tamblyn as “Son of a Gunfighter,” a role he played in a 1965 film of the same name. His daughter, Amber Tamblyn, thus appears as “Daughter of a Son of a Gunfighter.” Bruce Dern, who made a lot of westerns and at one point at least was up for a role in The Hated Eight, appears as Old Man Carrucan. Jonah Hill is Bag Head #2 (see more details as to his original role in the film in chapter 18). Zoe Bell (from Kill Bill, Death Proof and Inglourious Basterds), Robert Carradine (David’s brother), Ted Neeley (Jesus of Jesus Christ Superstar), James Parks (Michael Parks’ son), Michael Bowen (from Jackie Brown and Kill Bill, Volume 1), Tom Savini (From Dusk Till Dawn) and Jake Garber make up the team of trackers Candie uses. Michael Parks appears as one of the mining employees. And there’s a guy doing a really crummy Australian accent in there as well. Must have been a friend of the director or something.

			Sequential Plot

			1858. Django and his wife, Broomhilda, are slaves at the Carrucan Plantation. They attempt to run away but are caught by the Brittle Brothers, who whip Broomhilda as Django begs for them to stop. Both are branded with an “R” on their cheeks and then sold in an auction—Broomhilda to a man named Calvin Candie and Django to the Speck Brothers.

			As Django walks with a group of other slaves, guided by the Speck Brothers, a man named Dr. King Schultz meets them with his dentist cart and offers to buy Django once he admits he knows the Brittle Brothers by sight. The Specks refuse and threaten to kill Schultz. Schultz kills one of the brothers and leaves the other under his dead horse for the remaining slaves to deal with as they wish while he pays for Django and leaves with him.

			A stop in Daughtrey, Texas, finds Schultz using Django as a means to bring out the sheriff. Schultz kills the sheriff with a spring-loaded pistol he has up his sleeve and then talks his way out of being killed by the Marshall by proving the sheriff is actually a wanted criminal. Schultz, it appears, is a bounty hunter, and takes Django as his “valet” to Big Daddy’s plantation so that Schultz can keep Big Daddy busy while Django hunts for the Brittle Brothers, who were reported to be working there.

			Django finds them and, remembering the whipping of his wife, kills two of them before Schultz arrives and kills the third. Schultz once again has to do some fast-talking to keep them safe, and Big Daddy tells them to leave with their bounty. They do and stop for the night on the prairie. Big Daddy arrives with a goofy mix of men in badly made hoods to kill Django and Schultz, but many are killed in an explosion rigged by Schultz in his dental cart, and Django shoots Big Daddy as he runs away.

			Impressed with Django’s shooting, Schultz offers to train him as a bounty hunter and work together as a team for the winter. Then in the spring, they’ll go find his wife. Django agrees, although he is reluctant at first to kill a man in front of his young son. Schultz shows Django the man’s wanted poster, informing him the man had no remorse about killing others when he was younger and Django should not let emotions guide him in the job. Django shoots the man, and Schultz gives him the wanted poster as a “good luck” charm.

			Locating Broomhilda at the Candyland plantation, Schultz convinces Django that they can’t simply go to Candie and ask to buy Broomhilda, as Candie would be sure to either refuse or ask too much. Instead, Schultz knows that Candie is into “Mandingo fighting”—where slaves fight to the death—and arranges a con where he will go in as a man looking to enter into Mandingo fighting with Django as his expert. The two will offer to buy one of his fighters for $12,000. Then—knowing Broomhilda can speak German—ask to buy her as a side deal for $400. Once they buy her, they will say they plan to be back in five days with a lawyer to draw up a contract for the fighter, but instead will just disappear with Broomhilda. Django initially refuses, as being a “black slaver” is the lowest of the low, but Schultz convinces him.

			The two manage to get to Candyland and find Broomhilda, but just as the deal is about to be made on buying Broomhilda for a small amount, Stephen—the house slave who is actually the power behind the throne of Candie—sees through the ruse. He and Candie spoil the con and announce that they’ll take the full $12,000 for Broomhilda or otherwise bash her head in with a hammer.

			Schultz agree to the deal, but is upset over having lost for once at one of his cons and also over the sight of the brutality Candie inflicted on a slave who no longer wanted to fight by having him torn apart by dogs. When Candie pushes too far by demanding a handshake, Schultz pulls out his spring-loaded pistol and kills him. A gunfight erupts that finds Schultz dead and Django sent to the barn to be tortured.

			Instead, Stephen convinces everyone to send Django to the mines, where he’ll be used until he dies. He is sent off with the fighters that Candie no longer wants, but Django outwits the mining men and heads back to the plantation. He kills the trackers and the others there, leaving Stephen for last. Django shoots Stephen in both of his kneecaps, while discussing how Stephen watched and participated in seeing a lot of slaves suffer. As Stephen swears that Django will end up dead and Candyland will survive, Django lights a fuse, destroying the Candyland mansion, and then leaves with Broomhilda to parts unknown.

			The Script

			Tarantino has stated he shot up to an hour and a half of footage that did not make it into the film. The script gives us some idea what may have been shot but not used:

			•	Django being sold at the Greenville Slave Auction was supposed to be seen as a type of flashback as Django walks in chains with the other slaves at the beginning of the film.

			•	As Schultz asks Django if he would remember the Brittle Brothers, Django flashes back to the brothers forcing their way into Django’s and Broomhilda’s shack while they are having sex and forcing them to continue until they pull Django off and rape Broomhilda (an act that leads to them running away from the plantation).

			•	Dickey, one of the slave traders, offers up Django for $800, instead of being silent as in the film. In the film, Schultz gives him $125, while the script has him describing how he came up with the price.

			•	As Schultz is writing out the bill of sale for Django, he asks about his name, telling Django that the D is silent (this will be Django’s catchphrase through the rest of the film).

			•	Schultz discusses with Django about naming his horse as they ride to Daughtrey, Texas. (Schultz will later refer to the horse as Tony in the film, which is the name Django gives it at this point in the script. This also helps build on the concept of how important having a name can be, which plays into the film’s narrative.)

			•	Instead of walking into the saloon, Django stops and warns Schultz that whoever is inside will sic the sheriff on them, which is exactly what Schultz wants to hear and leads Django in. (In the film it appears they walk in with no concerns about what might happen.)

			•	While waiting for the sheriff, Django flashes back to him getting the “R” on his cheek by the Brittle Brothers.

			•	Schultz plays the piano while waiting for the Marshall after shooting the sheriff.

			•	After getting paid, the two ride off and discuss Django being married and how he wants to find his wife. Schultz tries to convince him that he’s not ready to do what needs to be done to get his wife back. (Some of the dialogue from this scene was moved to the one later on where Schultz offers to work with Django as bounty hunters.)

			•	Django is appalled by the “Little Lord Fauntleroy” outfit Schultz gets for him as his “valet” role. In the film, the two are seen looking at clothes for Django, and it is Django who picks out the outfit he wears, rather than Schultz.

			•	While Django looks for the Brittle Brothers, the script shows Schultz sitting and talking to Big Daddy about buying one of the women.

			•	We see Broomhilda getting her “R” burned into her cheek earlier in the script than in the film. (It’s the first thing Django thinks of when he sees the first Brittle Brother out in the field; while in the film it comes later when they are discussing her being at Candyland.)

			•	The script does not have Django telling the slaves to watch as he shoots the Brittle Brother he whipped.

			•	In the script, Schultz doesn’t have a sixth sense about Big Daddy coming after him—Big Daddy tells Schultz that the two will be dead before the night is over; Schultz in return says that anyone who tries to make a move towards him and Django “better be prepared to die for it.” (This probably was removed as it conflicts with the previous scene of Big Daddy letting Schultz and Django leave; nor does it make sense for Schultz to threaten Big Daddy when a short time before he was worried about being shot by him.)

			•	Dynamite is buried in the ground instead of in the tooth in Schultz’s dental cart.

			•	Schultz’s discussion with Django about partnering up as bounty hunters takes place in a country meadow with the two having a picnic; in the movie, it’s by a fire out amongst some boulders in the wilderness.

			•	Upon reaching Smitty in the field, Schultz and Django watch Smitty’s fifteen-year-old son exchange words with his father as he dies, demonstrating to Schultz that Smitty got a better death than those Smitty killed earlier in his life. In the movie, the boy appears to be younger, and we never see Schultz and Django go to collect Smitty.

			•	Heading into Mississippi, Django and Schultz stop to watch 150 slaves being corralled like cattle for auction. Schultz is shocked by the scene, which will inspire him to do something about the inhumanity he is witnessing. Django isn’t surprised; he does feel odd being on the opposite side of the fence this time, however.

			•	A long sequence was to appear as the two begin to research where Broomhilda has gone in the record office. With a title card that says “Broomhilda,” this sequence was the one in which Sacha Baron Cohen was to appear after Jonah Hill bowed out, only for Cohen to move on to another film and Tarantino deciding to eliminate this segment of the script. The sequence shows how Scotty’s father had bought Broomhilda as a present for Scotty, and how she eventually is treated as his wife and as part of the family by the Harmony household. Unfortunately, he loses Broomhilda in a crooked card game with Candie, who then shoots Scotty dead in a duel before Scotty can even pick up his gun. Candie then chases the naked Broomhilda out into the streets to the delight of the white people watching and drags her off to Candyland. Instead, in the film it appears that Candie bought Broomhilda in the sale, and there is no Scotty.

			•	Instead of discussing Candie and their con in the record office, Schultz and Django discuss it in the auction house where Candie is seen by them buying slaves for his Mandingo fighting. Django explains what a “One-Eyed Charly” is to Schultz in the script as well.

			•	We see more of the Cleopatra Club and the many white men in the restaurant portion of the business with their “ponies” (female slaves).

			•	Candie is much more aggressive when meeting with Schultz for the first time in the script than in the film.

			•	The end of the fight in the Billiard Room briskly comes to an end, without the focus on it as seen in the movie.

			•	In the restaurant, the group discuss the trip to Candyland, with Schultz and Django acknowledging to each other that their plan is working so far.

			•	Rodney, the slave on the trek to Candyland that gets the attention of Django, has additional reasons to hate Django. In a brief cutaway, Django dismisses Rodney and two other slaves as not being up to the level of Mandingo fighter he wants Schultz to buy. As we find out a bit further in the script, Randy knows his fate now is to be sent to the mines to die.

			•	Candie rides on horseback to the plantation instead of in the carriage. While riding alongside Django and Schultz, Candie admits that he sees the white men working for him as only being a tad better and smarter than the slaves he owns. He is informed about the runaway slave D’Artagnan while they ride instead of coming across it as they do in the film.

			•	D’Artagnan is in much worse shape from his fighting than as seen in the film (fingers and an eye missing, and bite marks on his face and body).

			•	There is no establishing shot of Stephen signing the check with Candie’s name as in the film.

			•	Ace Woody is introduced as Candie’s Mandingo Trainer. This role was originally to go to Kevin Costner, then Kurt Russell, but when both bowed out, the character was removed and some of his dialogue was given to Billy Crash. Because of this, the discussion Ace has with Candie about the new slaves is missing from the film. It is in this discussion that it is mentioned that the three fighters Candie wants to be rid of (including Rodney) are to be sent to the mining company. In reviewing the slaves Candie just bought, Ace shoots two dead (including the one that won the fight at the Cleopatra Club) before riding off.

			•	Timmy, a stable boy, is introduced in the scene to take care of the horses. He’ll return later in the script (but not at all in the film).

			•	Stephen takes Django to his room in the house. Django slaps Stephen around, telling him that any more “sass” he has for Django will lead to an “ass-whipping” in front of all the slaves in the plantation. Django’s room connects to Schultz’s, and Schultz hears the confrontation. After Stephen leaves, he asks Django if it was wise to do that, but Django is satisfied.

			•	A brief scene appears after Django reunites with Broomhilda, showing him and Schultz explaining their plan to Broomhilda. Then in the “slave pen,” Rodney watches in anger as everyone heads to dinner.

			•	Broomhilda sets the table in a happy mood, leading to Stephen suspecting something, but Broomhilda says nothing to help with his concerns.

			•	As Tarantino had originally planned for Candie to be played by an older actor, there are references to his age in the script’s dialogue that don’t work once DiCaprio was signed on for the part; thus these references were eliminated.

			•	The wordplay between Stephen and Candie is different, but the gist is the same.

			•	In the script, Lara Lee stops the undressing of Broomhilda at the dinner table before it even starts.

			•	Instead of cake as in the film, the desert is rhubarb pie.

			•	There is no examination of the skull in the script; Candie goes straight into exposing the con once Lara Lee is out of the room. There is no banging of the hammer once the deal is sealed.

			•	There is no massive gunfight after Schultz kills Candie. Instead, Django is tackled and is next seen strung up in the barn. (Tarantino may have meant to play the scene out more than as described in the script; as it is, it looks a bit too similar to the way Raine is tackled at the Nazi premiere in Inglourious Basterds.)

			•	In the script, Django is definitely naked while strung up in the barn. Timmy, the stable boy seen early, fills Django in on Schultz’s body being nearby in the barn. Ace Woody, instead of Billy Crash, then arrives to torture Django. He does a lot more talking than Crash does in the film, and does grab Django by the testicles and slightly digs in the knife before Stephen arrives.

			•	Stephen takes a red hot poker to Django’s nipples and his buttocks, before fondling Django’s testicles in his hands. Stephen then explains about sending him to the mines and throws Django’s clothes to him.

			•	Ace hands over Django to the miners. Django begs off being put in the cage with Rodney and the others, knowing that they’ll kill him. Ace agrees, as the point is to work him to death in the mines, not have him be killed quickly by the others in the cage. (This explains why Django is tied up in the back instead of in the cage with the others in the film.)

			•	The last line heard in the film appears instead as Django rides back to Candyland.

			•	As Django works his way back to Candyland, the script has his trip intercut with Candie’s funeral.

			•	The fight with the trackers is much longer, but the result is the same.

			•	Timmy helps Django find Broomhilda (she’s in Billy Crash’s shack) and get toadstools to feed to the dogs in order to kill them.

			•	Django gets Fritz and Tony saddled before interrupting Crash with Broomhilda at his shack and takes her away. (In the film, she is alone and Crash dies in the house later on.)

			•	As the people come back from the funeral, the house blows up, scattering them. Tarantino may have felt this looked too much like the earlier scene where Schultz blows up the cart, as well as not giving the audience a good satisfactory ending between Stephen and Django alone.

			•	Django comes out of the smoke and collects the white people—and Stephen—together, while telling all the “black folks” to take ten steps away.

			•	Everyone is given a gun, and in the gunfight, Django shoots them all. Lara Lee, Moguy and another survive, whereupon Django throws a stick of dynamite amongst them and shoots it, killing them.

			•	Going to Broomhilda, Django tosses Timmy an apple as Django and Broomhilda leave.

			The Backend

			The MPAA gave the film an R rating, even with the notorious tearing up of the one slave by dogs, although no doubt that was somewhat edited for the film. Of course, an argument can be made that it was pivotal to the plot of the film as well, as it is one of the motivating factors of Schultz deciding to gun down Candie.

			Earlier in the book, mention of how the American Humane Association rated films in the protection of animals used may have seemed like a goof, but by the time of Django Unchained, Quentin Tarantino was beginning to do active outreach to the AHA when it came to concerns some had about how animals were treated on movie sets. With this in mind, he designated that the first credit seen at the end of Django Unchained was the standard “No Animals were Harmed” notice seen in many films over the past few decades. Tarantino also did a promotional video for AHA, with clips from the film incorporated into the interview segment, discussing the merits of the association and how an action movie should not involve showing real abuse or death, including that of animals used on the set. Interestingly, only the horses in the movies were shown. Then again, it’s hard to demonstrate how safe the animals were in a scene showing dogs tearing a man apart.

			Trained stunt people were used for horse stunts, as well as horses trained to do specific stunts, such as falling (fourteen such horses were used in the scene where Schultz’s wagon explodes). The horse shot in the opening scene by Schultz was a puppet, while other horses wore earplugs (which probably worked well if they go to any raves later). The dogs were trained to bark and attack on cue, and a “fake human dummy made out of rubber and cotton rope” was used for when the dogs are tearing the man apart. None of the other explosions involved horses being anywhere near, and even the shot of Broomhilda watching the mansion explode while on horseback was done on a dummy horse.

			Critical reaction was again positive overall. Roger Ebert gave the film four stars, stating that if he had been able to see it before the end of 2012 he would have put it in his list of best films. It would be the last Tarantino film he would review before passing away in 2013. Joe Morgenstern at the Wall Street Journal called it “wildly extravagant, ferociously violent, ludicrously lurid and outrageously entertaining, yet also, remarkably, very much about the pernicious lunacy of racism and, yes, slavery’s singular horrors.” A. O. Scott called it a “troubling and important movie about slavery and racism.”

			Even so, there were some concerns. Leonard Maltin found the first half of the film something to rave about, but felt that once Django meets Candie, the film begins to seem drawn out and overlong, weighed down by material that can’t be supported by its first half. Some others felt it was enjoyable enough but nothing new; John Beifuss from Commercial Appeal called it “the first Tarantino film that doesn’t reinvent, transform or elevate its source into something bracingly fresh, much less necessary.” Many, however, felt that the violence and length of the film were too much. There were also concerns about historical accuracy, with dynamite being used at a time when it had yet to be invented as one of the more trivial aspects discussed. Debated more often were two violent aspects from the second half of the film—that of dogs tearing apart a slave and the concept of Mandingo fighting.

			As some scholars pointed out, Tarantino did have history on his side when it came to the dogs, albeit not as a normal thing that occurred in the South during slavery. As Henry Louis Gates Jr. pointed out in an article for The Root (“Did Dogs Really Eat Slaves, Like in Django?” January 14, 2013), there are records of this occurring during slavery time in the U.S.A., but more importantly, there are well-documented cases of it happening as a form of execution during the Haitian Revolution, a slave revolt that lasted from 1791 through 1804 and leading to the abolition of slavery in Haiti. As to Mandingo Fighting, it is obvious that the first hint of this comes from Tarantino having seen the 1975 film Mandingo, featuring Ken Norton as the prizefighting Mandingo slave, but history shows that this was not something one did (even Tarantino points to the illogic of buying property that can be so quickly destroyed, when Candie argues with D’Artagnan about not getting his “money’s worth” out of him). And while an argument can be made as to fighting being staged for white slavers and others to watch, there is little indication that something along the lines as seen in Django Unchained occurred (or, at least that it wasn’t something one would boast about as Candie appears to do).

			With the above, the film also faced additional backlash from some in the African American community, who felt—much as some commentators on the Jewish revenge motif of Inglourious Basterds—that Tarantino was cashing in on the raw feelings people still have about slavery. Not too surprisingly, the same argument was made about Django Unchained as about Inglourious Basterds—if a black director had created a film dealing with a black character shooting slavers, would that be all the public could focus on? The meaning behind a director doing so, rather than what the film is saying? That may seem a bit far-fetched, but when Django jokes about killing white people in the film, there was a to-do amongst conservative pundits who suddenly went all “politically correct” about such an idea and felt the film was delivering a poor message.

			As can be expected, Tarantino antagonist Spike Lee was one of the first to go public with his anger about the film. Although he had not seen it, Lee called it “disrespectful to my ancestors,” while writer Tavis Smiley suggested the film was a “raping of our history,” although he too admitted he never saw the film. There were also concerns about the use of the N-word, which appears several times in the film and eventually turned into a game where people tried to guess how often it was said (over a hundred times, although no one seems to agree for sure; best to say that if it were a drinking game, you’d be in serious trouble). Yet, as many other commentators pointed out, the term was certainly not uncommon for the time, as well as it being something that both black and white characters say, and to use our sensitivity to the word to censor what would have been its use at the time would have been detrimental to any discussion we wish to have today about the word and why it affects us all so deeply. (On the other hand, to try to rally behind historical accuracy on the N-word in the film, while blowing off inaccuracies as being needed for entertainment purposes to help tell the story may seem to be seen as missing the forest for the trees.) Nevertheless, such concerns did little to sway people from going to theaters to see the film.

			One plot point that was touched upon at the time of the film’s release was questions pertaining to Schultz’s plan to get Broomhilda. It seems overly complicated to some, myself included, to go through this whole con of almost buying Eskimo Joe in order to get Broomhilda thrown into the deal at the last minute. As it turned out, it was the one element of the movie that, when people raised concerns about it, Tarantino felt he needed to clear the air about—not that of any racial concerns (which he was getting hit with left, right and center by the critics anyway), but this “harebrained scheme” of Schultz’s. In December 2012, Tarantino sat down with Mike Ryan, a writer for the Huffington Post who criticized the plotline, to discuss what was going on.

			As seen in the film, Schultz loves to play games, cons, and be “in character.” Better yet, he obviously enjoys having the upper hand when dealing with his job as a bounty hunter. It certainly explains why he prefers to go with “dead” when capturing criminals wanted “dead or alive.” He needs to figure out a way to get what he wants in the manner that he wants it. After all, this is a man who dragged a black man into a saloon in order to bring out a guilty partner disguised as a sheriff in order to kill him in front of witnesses and then—then—be able to make everything right with the marshall when he’s being held at gunpoint. Same as with Big Daddy. The cons work—in fact, his con with Candie is hardly different from the one he used with Big Daddy (“I want to come to your house and check out the stock . . . oh, and I’ll leave with what I want without actually taking any of your stock.”). It also explains Schultz’s changing attitude as he really sees up-close the brutality of the slave world, nearly giving himself away at one point—the game isn’t fun anymore. Then to have Candie not only find him out, but take all his money, and rub it in his face, Schultz loses it and kills Candie, knowing quite well that he was forfeiting his life in the process.
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			Tarantino’s response to Ryan in the article posted on Huffington Post (“Quentin Tarantino, Django Unchained Director, Challenged Us to a Debate on a ‘Harebrained’ Plot Point,” December 25, 2012) was in a similar vein. To him, Schultz goes in with the feeling of “being in the driver’s seat.” The idea was to go in, never buy Eskimo Joe, get Broomhilda for $400 and then leave, rather than pay $5,000 (or who knows what) to Candie if he know Schultz had some reason to buy her straight out of nowhere. And that’s if they would even be able to get close enough to Candie to ask if he has Broomhilda in the first place (they had to haggle a deal to meet him first, and that only came about when they suggested they wanted to buy one of his “Mandingo fighters”). Yet “Schultz is so egotistical and is such a control freak, he cannot allow himself to be put in the non-power position of every situation. It’s why he ends up getting killed in the first place! They’ve had it; they got her. . . .But he cannot make himself subservient.” As Tarantino makes clear, “Schultz was wrong. It would have worked if they had come and offered to buy Broomhilda for $5,000, Candie would have done it.”

			Django Unchained, at a cost of $100 million, making it Tarantino’s most expensive film, was released on December 25, 2012, in the U.S.A. It was in theaters at the same time as The Hobbit: An Unexpected Journey, Monsters, Inc. (in 3D) and Les Miserables, while Silver Linings Playbook was beginning to get more exposure in theaters at the same time. The film would make a total of $163 million in the U.S. and an astonishing $262 million in foreign markets, for a total of $425 million worldwide—making it Tarantino’s biggest film yet. Once again, the actors in the film received a number of nominations and awards—in a sense of irony about how colorblind Hollywood can be, Christoph Waltz, one of two main white guys in the cast, got most of the awards. Meanwhile, Tarantino hinted to USA Today (“Tarantino Wants to Make Django TV Mini-series,” by Bryan Alexander, May 24, 2014) that there was enough additional footage—nearly ninety minutes—cut from the final print to take the film and turn it into a four-hour miniseries, in a similar style to what he had once suggested for his epic version of the Inglourious Basterds script that could have been split into twelve hour-long parts. “I would cut it up into hour chapters. Like a four-part mini-series. And show it on cable television. Show it like an hour at a time, each chapter. We’d use all the material I have and it wouldn’t be an endurance test. It would be a mini-series. And people love those.”

			Just as he has stated he always makes edits in his films for different markets, one could see the wheels were turning in Tarantino’s head as to how he could make something new out of what he had already completed.

			Thoughts

			Ever notice that all of Tarantino’s Hollywood directed films have two names? Reservoir Dogs, Pulp Fiction, Jackie Brown, Kill Bill, Death Proof, Inglourious Basterds, Django Unchained. I wasn’t the first to think of that; many others have proudly proclaimed this revelation over the years, thinking they were the first. And then Tarantino ruins everything by calling his next film The Hated Eight.

			Anyway . . .

			One immediate aspect of Django Unchained that stands out is that even though movies were not around, Tarantino still manages to get a popular culture reference into the script—Schultz telling the story of Richard Wagner’s opera Siegfried when discussing the name Broomhilda with Django. Tarantino would make it more evident in his script that it was meant to be the metaphor of Django changing and eventually slaying “dragons” in order to win back his Broomhilda, but fortunately he avoided coming straight out and saying so in the film as he does in his script.

			Even with no immediate movie references Tarantino can tie into his characters, there are still plenty of references in the film. DiCaprio as Candie is like a Rhett Butler gone to seed and is even dressed in a similar fashion as Rhett to get that attitude across. As mentioned above, “Mandingo fighting” is a tip of the hat to Richard Fleischer’s Mandingo. The original Django of the movies, Franco Nero, appears for a brief wink to the old characters in the Billiard Room of the Cleopatra Club. Finally, as mentioned in an earlier chapter, there’s the last words of Stephen, which match very closely Tuco’s last words in The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly. Yet, while some of the audience would be familiar with aspects of the spaghetti western genre, it’s not one known by most of the population, and Tarantino knows he can’t play with that bag of tricks often in the movie or else the whole thing is derailed by trying to make a movie that only a handful can connect with (Grindhouse/Death Proof certainly proved that). Fortunately, beyond a few camera tricks and some scenic locations that convey the dryness of many such films, Tarantino instead focuses on telling his story.

			Django Unchained has faced some critical negativity due to a shift from the earlier lighter touch of the first half into a growing darkness of the second (Tarantino himself has referred to the trek into Candyland as being like “a Heart of Darkness journey,” which finds Django moving deeper and deeper into a twisted world that is no longer part of civilization). But that is part of the point—when Django shoots the man in the field, he is initiating himself into a world where “dirty things” have to be done. Inglourious Basterds hits on the same theme with the Basterds scalping the Nazis in order to drive their message of fear home. From there, Django steels himself against the atrocities he sees, while Schultz—the man who supposedly has seen everything there is to see, but treats it all as a game—becomes increasingly concerned until he almost gives himself up when the dogs are ready to tear D’Artagnan apart. In fact, as the film goes along, it’s Django who becomes progressively the one in control—because he has been there, done that and knows the score—over Schultz, who “knows” the score but hasn’t lived it like Django has. One can easily read and talk about terrible things that happen, but to witness them and still manage to work through the experience to destroy the evil around one is what makes Django the hero and Schultz the lesser of the two.

			With this, the film takes on another tone by showing us such things as the dogs tearing a man apart and some of the other brutal things that occur (and, to be fair, the script has much, much more of such horrible things happening than what appears in the final film). We want to look away like Schultz does, to ignore the issues that slavery brought us and still brings to us as a nation, while at the same time saying that we understand and can heal. To really deal with an illness or a wound, we have to examine it and do so closely. Even in the context of an action movie like Django Unchained, we need to be able to say, “Yes, the hero wins and it’s just a movie, but it does bring us to topics we need to discuss between us in our world.” Django Unchained isn’t about “look at the horrible white people,” but how easily any one of us can fall into that trap of treating others as inferior—Stephen is actually the worst racist in the film—it is only he who suggests they’ll need to burn the bed once Django sleeps in it, while Candie is prepared to treat Django as more of an equal. Meanwhile, it is clear that Stephen has treated Candyland with an iron fist for years and made sure slaves “beneath” him paid the price to help him keep his cushy seat behind the throne.

			Beyond all that, however, is an indication that Tarantino is still evolving as a storyteller. In this book, we have examined a number of movies that Tarantino has been involved with. All of them feature people who have to act and camouflage their true nature. Freddy has to “play” Mr. Orange. Mr. Pink demands people “be professionals.” Jules and Vincent have to get “into character.” Mia, the scared oblivious kid, attempts to be hip and fails. The whole staff at the Titty Twister are not what they seem. Jackie cons Ordell and the police. Kiddo tries to hide in a new identity. Stuntman Mike appears to be the nicest guy in the room but is far from it. Out of several characters hidden behind false identities in Nazi-occupied France, only Landa as a secret opportunist manages to fool everyone in his disguise.

			Then there’s Django. For two-thirds of the film, he has to hide behind another persona. He is seen as less than human by many of the white characters. Then he is an apprentice to Schultz. At Candyland he has to appear as an expert who has no regard for the men and women around him (much like Stephen)—all of whom are creations of those around him. It is only when his friend and mentor Schultz is gone that Django has to stand up on his own. He has no character to hide behind, and he has to become his true self in order to save Broomhilda and see that justice is done against a small slice of evil that appears in front of him. He does go into a con about Smitty with the mining men, but that’s of his own creation and one that succeeds. Schultz’s earlier cons are all on the edge and find him in front of a gun in every case, including his final one that—when he realizes he has lost—sees him happy to have the trigger pulled on him if he can get one last dig into his antagonist. Django is smarter and more effective—everything he does after being led away from Candyland is of his own invention and involves him never having to worry about a gun being pointed at him (or, if so, a gun that can easily be disarmed from its owner).

			In an evolution in Tarantino’s films, a character is laid bare for what he truly is; and for the first time that exposure has a positive effect on a character. Django succeeds because the fantasy is no longer needed. He no longer has to “get into character” as Django the slave, the bounty hunter, or the “Mandingo fighting” expert. He is Django. That’s all he needs to be to succeed against the world.
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Grave Danger

			Tarantino on Television

			Over the years, Quentin Tarantino has dabbled in the field of television. Sure, there’s that Golden Girls appearance that pops up here and there in this book, but Tarantino’s acting appearances are covered in another chapter. Instead, this chapter deals with his handful of directing chores done for television over the years. Some obviously done for fun, the last to see if this was a direction he wanted to take his career; but in all cases, the shows revolved around having Tarantino “in charge” of the sets and the episodes written around homages and plotting straight out of the Tarantino handbook. Below is a list of television episodes linked to Tarantino, but out of the five listed, only two actually feature him directing.

			ER, “Motherhood,” aired May 11, 1995 on the NBC Network

			The popular medical drama series brought George Clooney (From Dusk Till Dawn) to the attention of the world after years of appearing in various other television series and a movie here and there. However, the program, in its first season at the time, was made up of an ensemble cast with Anthony Edwards as the star. Tarantino was approached to direct the next-to-last episode of the season, which was written by Lydia Woodward, supervising producer of the series at the time (and who would work in some production capacity through much of the series’ run).

			The series was one in the emerging dramatic trend of programs built around continuing story lines—story arcs—for the characters through each seasons (sometimes longer), a style that is now a norm for many dramatic series on American television. Because of this, much of the story line in the episode reverberates around story lines already set up within the seasons. The focus is on one of the doctors (played by Sherry Stringfield) delivering her sister’s baby, which is filmed using the Beatles’ “Blackbird” on the soundtrack. Other characters go through their paces, while the most serious of injuries seen in the ER (Emergency Room) are that of a boy who is impaled on an iron bar and two female gang members who fight to the point where one cuts off the other’s ear.

			As can be guessed from the above, the episode was obviously written with Tarantino in mind (certainly the ear incident). The musical format used is also similar to a style Tarantino would have been comfortable with, and some of the cast had or would appear in other Tarantino related films (such as Kathy Griffin appearing briefly in both Four Rooms and Pulp Fiction; Angela Jones, the taxi driver from Pulp Fiction and star of the Tarantino-related Curdled; and Brenda Hillhouse from My Best Friend’s Birthday, Pulp Fiction and From Dusk Till Dawn).

			Stories circulated that the cast enjoyed working with Tarantino for the episode. Leading cast member Anthony Edwards (who had been in Top Gun) said that Tarantino was like children’s purple dinosaur host Barney “on speed.” Tarantino also made an effort to try to fit in, going so far as to wear the scrubs of the characters over the course of the shoot, including the pink scrubs worn by the actresses playing nurses. “The nurses didn’t think I was going to throw in with them,” Tarantino reported at the time. “I ended the episode, the last two days, wearing the nurses’ scrubs. When I walked on the set all the nurses applauded me. They were like, ‘Oh my God, he’s so cool!’”

			George Clooney would go on to costar with Tarantino in From Dusk Till Dawn thanks to Tarantino’s suggestion, and Tarantino can be seen in the documentary made of that film, Full Tilt Boogie, wearing a crew jacket from his time on the ER show. It was because of this episode, however, that Tarantino missed out on filming the next entry on this list.

			The X-Files, “Never Again,” aired February 2, 1997, on the Fox Network

			One additional attempt to get Tarantino into television came in 1997 when an episode of the adventure/fantasy/quasi-science fiction series The X-Files, “Never Again,” was written specifically with Tarantino in mind to direct. The story deals with a man who gets a tattoo that mocks him and drives him to kill his apartment neighbor. After meeting Scully (Gillian Anderson), the tattoo tries to convince the man to kill her as well, only for him to outwit the tattoo by burning it off his arm in the apartment building furnace. It is later established that the man’s blood had been infected with ergot from the tattoo, which produced a hallucinogenic effect and caused him to think the tattoo was talking to him.

			The episode was written by producers Glen Morgan and James Wong (their final ones before moving on to the promising Millennium series for Fox), knowing Tarantino, as the director had expressed interest in directing an episode of the series. This is why certain elements of it play to Tarantino’s strengths, such as the use of music (the neighbor playing the Partridge Family, for example). Unfortunately, the Directors Guild of America halted Tarantino’s involvement for previous issues deriving from his directing of the “Motherhood” episode of ER in 1995: he was not a member of the union—he finally joined in 2012—but there was a supposed agreement between him and the union where they allowed him to direct ER on the condition he join the union afterwards; or, according to some sources, Tarantino had failed to compensate the DGA for “lost revenue” due to him being allowed to direct what would typically be a union job. When whatever was agreed upon didn’t happen, the DGA refused to allow him to direct The X-Files unless he joined the union, which Tarantino saw as bullying and refused. No doubt, part of the protest by the DGA was brought on due to the nonunion filming of the 1995 film From Dusk Till Dawn, which the unions were still smarting a little over. Rob Bowman, who directed many episodes of The X-Files, replaced him.

			Tarantino would not venture into directing again for television until 2005, although there was one instance where it was made to look like he had directed, as seen in the next entry.

			Jimmy Kimmel Live!, aired April 20, 2004, on the ABC Network

			This episode of the ABC late-night talk show starring comedian Jimmy Kimmel was promoted and broadcast as if Quentin Tarantino had produced and directed it. The episode was filmed in its entirety as a parody of Tarantino’s various styles, with regulars dressed as various characters from his films, sequences out of order and given titles, and the show ending with the entire audience being wiped out in a gun battle.

			The episode was actually directed by regular show director Keith Truesdell, and only given the appearance of being directed by Tarantino, who was shown in the production booth “directing” the episode with a bunch of Crazy 88 characters behind him.

			CSI: Crime Scene Investigation, “Grave Danger,” aired May 19, 2005, on the CBS Network

			In February 2005, it was announced that Tarantino would write and direct the finale of the fifth season of CSI: Crime Scene Investigation. Tarantino, who was a fan of the show and considered William Petersen’s character to be television’s best detective since Columbo, had met CSI creator Anthony Zuiker at an awards ceremony where they discussed the series, and soon after Tarantino was asked if he’d like to be involved in writing or directing an episode.
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					A Danish DVD cover for a release of the two-part story “Grave Danger,” from the television series CSI: Crime Scene Investigation that aired on CBS in 2005. 

				

			

			Tarantino accepted, not only because he thought it would be cool to work on the series, but also because he wanted to get a better understanding of working in television. Although he had done an episode of ER in 1995, the landscape had changed in television in the following ten years, and the networks—along with cable channels—were more apt to be doing miniseries and shorter seasons for programs. Tarantino believed television could be the way he could do longer stories that would not fit into a two-hour timeframe at the theaters (this, of course, after having to turn Kill Bill into two films to get everything in that he wanted).

			According to Zuiker, Tarantino’s first pitch to the writers was all that was needed, and after Tarantino had thrown together some material for the script, Zuiker, Carol Medelsohn and Naren Shankar (all executive producers on the program) hammered out a two-episode finale entitled “Grave Danger.” The story dealt with one of the regular characters, Nick Stokes (played by George Eads), being kidnapped and buried in a plexiglass coffin, with a webcam, lights, some glow sticks and a loaded gun. The rest of the C.S.I. team are shown Stokes in the coffin—via a webcam—and it is up to them to locate him, which grows more difficult when the kidnapper blows himself up halfway through the story.

			The scripts—as “Grave Danger” made up two hour-long episodes of the series, but were shown together on the same night—obviously have a strong Tarantino current to them. From the live burial setup that was seen in Tarantino’s Kill Bill, Volume 2, to dialogue and references to other of his films (even the introduction of a Dukes of Hazzard board game being played early on), it was easy to see that Tarantino was given a lot of room to make the finale his own. Tarantino ended up being nominated for an Emmy (losing out to J. J. Abrams for the pilot of Lost), and the episode was number one in the Nielsen ratings for the night. Throughout all this, there was never any mention of Tarantino having joined the guild, and it was only in 2012 that there was press of him officially joining, leading to speculation about how he was able to negotiate doing the job when he couldn’t for X-Files. Either way, although he has since joined, Tarantino has yet to work in television since then.

			One final television mention. On October 15, 1994, John Travolta appeared as the guest host of Saturday Night Live (in conjunction with the release of Pulp Fiction). One of the skits was a parody of Welcome Back, Kotter—the situation comedy of the 1970s where Travolta first became famous—as done in the style of Quentin Tarantino. Because the skit was called “Quentin Tarantino’s Welcome Back, Kotter,” there was an assumption on some viewers’ part that Tarantino had actually directed the segment. This was not the case, and in fact Tarantino was watching the live broadcast elsewhere at the time it was on the network. The reasoning for the title was simply to make clear the intention of the skit, but people took it too literally at the time.

			But it does lead us into our next topic.
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“Quentin Tarantino’s Welcome Back, Kotter”

			The Best Tarantino Parodies and Homages

			As can be expected with a director who had work so easily defined as Quentin Tarantino, the parodies were bound to come. Thousands of them. Many parodying Pulp Fiction, Reservoir Dogs or Kill Bill. And even a few that are funny. Or at least worth mentioning. Of the far too many parodies and homages of the Tarantino style over the years, the following are some of the best. 

			“Quentin Tarantino’s Welcome Back Kotter,” Saturday Night Live, October 15, 1994

			As discussed in a previous chapter, Saturday Night Live is a live ninety-minute variety series on NBC that has aired at 11:30 p.m. EST on Saturdays since 1975. Each episode features a guest host performing in a number of the skits, usually with a few poking fun at the host’s previous work or past personal history

			The “Quentin Tarantino’s Welcome Back Kotter” sketch was written by Dave Mandel, Jay Mohr—who would turn up in the Tarantino-ish Suicide Kings in 1997—and Al Franken (according to Mohr in his book Gasping for Air, Mandel handled the Tarantino references, Franken the Kotter references and Mohr contributed on both sides of the fence). As can be guessed, the sketch was a twisted version of the sitcom that first made John Travolta famous back in the 1970s (about a man returning to his old high school to teach a class of troubled students, with Travolta as one of his pupils) and the style of Tarantino’s violent films (which at this point were mainly Reservoir Dogs and whatever anyone had seen of Pulp Fiction).

			Mike Myers plays Mr. Kotter, with Travolta reprising his role as Barbarino, along with various cast members playing other members of the “Sweat Hogs.” The sketch deals with the principal, Mr. Woodman (played by Jay Mohr), hiring killers to take out Kotter, only for the Sweat Hogs to stop them and then kidnap the principal. As Barbarino dances to “Stuck in the Middle with You,” gasoline is poured over Mr. Woodman. Just as they are about to set the principal on fire, Lenny and Squiggy from another 1970s sitcom, Laverne & Shirley (played by the original actors, Michael McKean—who was a regular cast member in this season of Saturday Night Live—and David L. Lander) turn up for a Mexican Standoff. As everyone starts shouting the insults made famous on Kotter, Steve Buscemi appears to join in on the Standoff and the insults. The shooting then begins, and everyone is dead at the end of the sketch.

			Special mention should also be made of the Pulp Fiction parody done on the 1995 MTV Movie Awards. The awards ceremony contained sketches shown in between musical acts, commercials, and an occasional award being passed out, and in the 1990s at least such sketches would reinvent popular movies with the cast of a well-remembered television series, such as The Partridge Family in Speed (the family bus can’t go under fifty miles an hour) and the cast of The Bob Newhart Show in Braveheart. In the 1995 awards show, one of the sketches featured the fellow actors who made up the Sweat Hogs in a parody of the Marvin shooting in Pulp Fiction. Ron Palillo (Horshack) played Vincent, Lawrence Hilton-Jacobs (Washington) played Jules and Robert Hegyes (Epstein) played Marvin. A gun is fired, as in the film, only in this case it blows up a hamburger Hegyes is eating, causing the same type of mess in the car as in the film.

			Reservoir Bitches (1994)

			Porn was obviously going to take a swing at the Tarantino films at some point, and—as typical for porn—they got to it earlier than most of the other parodies. Reservoir Bitches is a (nearly) all-women porn flick with Ron Jeremy appearing in a nonsexual role. As you might expect, porn films like this are mostly there to play off of the name and setting of another film (like The Bitches of Madison County or Shaving Ryan’s Privates) and little more. But then again, anyone wanting to watch something like this isn’t going in looking for intellectual humor. A laugh and then on with the sex is all that’s needed; sometimes not even the laugh.

			Other films in the porn parody division based on Tarantino movies are Kill Jill, Pulp Friction, From Lust Till Dawn, Natural Born Thrillers, and Inglourious Bitches (well, of course).

			Speaking of the title Reservoir Bitches, there has also been a stage version of Reservoir Dogs performed with an all-female cast written by Laura McGhee with that title, but certainly not in the same style as the Ron Jeremy film. It’s a parody film that reinvents the characters and dialogue from a female point of view. However, reviews such as Miriam Felton-Dansky’s from nytheatre.com (http://www.nytheatre.com/Review/miriam-felton-dansky-2006-8-18-reservoir-bitches) suggest the play ends up being rather repetitive in trying to show the differences between what men and women would do (besides still ending up shooting each other).

			The Simpsons: “22 Short Films about Springfield,” April 14, 1996, and “Reservoir Cats,” February 7, 1997 

			The Simpsons has thrown in Tarantino references here and there throughout the years, but the best known of these is the episode “22 Short Films about Springfield,” which came about from an attempt to put together a multiple story line where characters intersect with each other as in Pulp Fiction. The most obvious comparison is of two regular secondary characters—Wiggum, the police chief, and Snake, a career criminal—ending up in a situation much like that of Marsellus and Butch in “The Gold Watch” segment of Tarantino’s film. After Snake plows down Wiggum on the streets, the two end up at the mercy of Herman (another regular secondary character) in his Military Antique store, tied up and with red balls in their mouths.

			The other obvious parody came in the following season in the episode “Simpsoncalifraglisticexpiala(Annoyed Grunt)cious.” Lisa is watching an episode of the cartoon show Itchy & Scratchy entitled “Reservoir Cats,” which shows Scratchy (the cat) tied up like Marvin Nash in Reservoir Dogs, with Itchy (the mouse) dressed as Mr. Blonde and ready to torture Scratchy. After cutting off an ear and dousing Scratchy with gasoline, all to the music of “Stuck in the Middle with You,” Itchy is interrupted by an appearance of Quentin Tarantino, who explains what the scene is supposed to mean. Before “Tarantino” can explain more, Itchy cuts off his head and releases Scratchy so they can dance like Mia and Vincent in Pulp Fiction.

			According to the commentary on the season box set for The Simpsons, Tarantino was contacted about doing the voice-over himself, but he refused as he found the dialogue insulting. (To be honest, it doesn’t sound like anything Tarantino would actually say about one of his movies.) Instead Dan Castellaneta (Homer and many others) did the voice.

			Plump Fiction (1998)

			Released May 15, 1988, by Legacy (the studio that also released Somebody to Love, which featured Tarantino), this parody of Natural Born Killers, Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction was written and directed by Bob Koherr. Koherr went on to direct for various television situation comedies since the making of this film. Plump Fiction stars a wide variety of comedic actors with Julie Brown (who would later work with Koherr on the Comedy Central soap-opera parody Strip Mall), Tommy Davidson (In Living Color), Paul Dinello (Strangers with Candy) as various Tarantino-inspired characters.

			The movie is told in a disjointed fashion in order to ape Tarantino’s method of storytelling. Other films are spoofed as well, but the focus is on three stories that parody the Tarantino movies: Brown and Dinello in the Mia and Vincent roles of Pulp Fiction, who end up being kidnapped by a man and his gimp; a group of strippers dress up as nuns to rob their boss, à la Reservoir Dogs; a wrestling team called the Natural Blonde Killers steal a suitcase, as a combination of Pulp Fiction and Natural Born Killers.

			There’s no denying it—the film is somewhat painful to get through, as the jokes misfire more often than not, but there are a handful of funny gags in the mix, Brown and Dinello are always fun to watch, and even at its worst, it is still better than 99 percent of the parodies of Tarantino’s work done over the years.

			The movie lasted two weeks in theaters, earning about $71,000 in total before heading to video through Rhino. With Rhino being a music company first and foremost, a lot of novelty songs (a main feature of the Rhino label) were available for use in the film, which may be one of the few redeeming factors. Rhino had given Miramax the okay to use Dick Dale’s “Misirlou” in Pulp Fiction.
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					Although there have been plenty of Tarantino parodies, most are of the brief sketch variety. Plump Fiction (1998), starring Julie Brown, remains one of the only full-length comedies based on Tarantino’s work. 

				

			

		  “Kill Bunny,” Robot Chicken, April 10, 2005

			Robot Chicken is a program on the Cartoon Network that features an assortment of action figures and dolls—both made for the program and sold over-the-counter in stores—in a series of sketches and sight gags done in stop-motion animation. The series at the time was written by actor Seth Green, with Pat McCallum, Tom Root, Matthew Senreich and Doug Goldstein.

			“Kill Bunny” is a parody of the Kill Bill movie trailer, with Jesus taking the place of Kiddo and the Easter Bunny taking that of Bill. Santa Claus is in the O-Ren role, with a group of rabbis as his “crazy 88.” Jesus fights Santa and a variety of other characters in order to get to the Easter Bunny, who left him hanging on the cross. Highlights include: Jesus healing Elle Driver’s sight, before cutting her in two; Jesus training with God (a George Burns doll; Burns had played God in the movie Oh God); and the five-finger death punch resulting in the Easter Bunny laying several Easter Eggs.

			An incredibly similar concept appeared in the February 16, 2013, episode of Saturday Night Live, when Django Unchained and Inglourious Basterds star Christoph Waltz was the guest host. In a fake ad that appears to be a movie trailer for a new film called Djesus Uncrossed, the audience sees Waltz as Jesus, seeking vengeance against the Romans who crucified him. Using St. Peter (with one of the regulars in the program imitating Brad Pitt), Jesus looks for disciples to take out Romans with samurai swords, guns and more.

			It’s fairly close in spirit to the Robot Chicken sketch, although it received much more press due to Saturday Night Live being a network program rather than a small animated one on a cable channel. Of course, the concept is ridiculing the tendency of modern filmmakers to rewrite history for the sake of a movie (which Tarantino certainly did in Inglourious Basterds). After all, the funniest gag is the critics’ reviews used in the “ad” that suggest it is still less violent than Mel Gibson’s Passion of the Christ and noting how often Jesus uses the N-word in the film. Still, it did spark controversy with Christians who felt it was mocking Jesus in a rather unsettling manner. Lord only knows what would have happened if it had been rabbis instead of Romans Jesus was fighting, as in the “Kill Bunny” sketch from Robot Chicken. At least the Robot Chicken version had Jesus in the Bruce Lee jumpsuit.

			Kill Bill Parts 1 & 2 in One Minute, in One Take (2009)

			This short film is by students at the University of York and written by Will Tribble, Rocco Sulkin, and Joe Burgess. It features the entire story of both Kill Bill movies told as if Kiddo is completing an obstacle course (it was shot on the football field on campus).

			An actress dressed as Kiddo in a Bruce Lee jumpsuit is jumped by the Vipers, shot by Bill, moved to a “bed” where she fights off Buck, drives the Pussy Wagon to get a sword, fights the Crazy Five, knocks off the wig of O-Ren, kills Vernita (who is carrying a cereal box), is shot by Budd, put in a coffin, has a flashback to her mentor, breaks out, plucks out Elle’s eye (while Budd and Pai Mei die in the background), asks where Bill is, gives him the five-finger death punch (with Bill counting to five before dying), and holds her baby in triumph. All in a little over a minute.

			The group did a similar one for Forrest Gump, but the Kill Bill short is the one that went viral of the two. It’s excellent, funny and obviously done on the cheap. One of the best of the parodies.

			30-Second Bunnies Theatre: Kill Bill in 30 Seconds (and Re-enacted by Bunnies), October 2007

			What the students at the University of York did in one minute, Yennifer Shiman of angry alien productions does in thirty seconds. This animated short, using Flash, is also in chronological order and tells the entire tale of the Kill Bill movies using bunnies as the characters. Shiman has done similar animated shorts for Reservoir Dogs (in both “bleeped” and “unbleeped” editions) and Pulp Fiction. Shiman has a unique ability to get in a number of solid gags and also make simple bunny characters look much like the actors in the films she parodies.

			Reservoir Cats (2011)

			An Australian film directed by Garnet Mae, with profits going towards breast cancer research. The film is a similar study in the style of Jason Reitman’s Live Read, with the difference being that the male cast is replaced with women. It is sometimes listed as a parody, but to say so is missing the point—the objective was to recast the characters and see how everything holds up. It’s clear that the production was done on the cheap, and it can’t pull the stunt off completely, but the actors are surprisingly better than you’d expect in such a gimmick film, and it is the entire story told in a full-length film (a couple of the warehouse shots will make you wonder if they simply lifted shots from the original film, until you remember that it’s women instead of men in the shots). An interesting timewaster for Tarantino fans who are in the right mood for it. The film is available on DVD and can be seen on YouTube, with contributions still being requested.

			This is not to be confused with a DVD released by CEI Video in 2008 under the title of Reservoir Cats. This is a renaming of the 1968 nudie/roughie film The Kill, a.k.a. Blood Hunger, and directed by Gary Graver (who also worked on Satan’s Sadists and Invasion of the Bee Girls, amongst a very prolific career in B movies and videos). The film, which has a running time of forty-five to seventy minutes, depending on what cut is seen, is a detective story, but it’s pretty much just a means to see a lot of naked women, including Uschi Digard (of Russ Meyer fame).

			Jason Reitman’s Live Read series, Reservoir Dogs, February–March 2012

			Live Read was a series of performances done with director Jason Reitman where a number of famous actors would reenact a popular movie script for an audience. It’s like watching a group of actors performing a radio play, only with stage directions being said when stated in the script instead of sound effects and other audio narrative devices used in radio. The main purpose of this exercise was to see how other actors interpreted roles well known by the audience, while also allowing audiences to get a better understanding of aspects of the writing (including some scenes that were cut from the films but still available in the scripts, such as with this presentation that used Tarantino’s published screenplay). One of the movies reproduced in the Live Read series was Quentin Tarantino’s Reservoir Dogs, only with a nearly all African American cast (comedian/actor Patton Oswalt did the voice of the radio announcer).

			The cast featured:

			•	Mr. Orange—Cuba Gooding Jr.

			•	Mr. White—Laurence Fishburne

			•	Mr. Pink—Anthony Mackie

			•	Mr. Blonde—Terrence Howard

			•	Nice Guy Eddie—Anthony Anderson

			•	Joe—Chi McBride

			•	Mr. Brown/Marvin Nash—Common

			Reviews praised most of the cast, especially Laurence Fishburne as Mr. White and Terrence Howard as Mr. Blonde. No doubt many involved and those watching were curious to see how Tarantino’s dialogue worked once the characters had been changed from one race to another—especially scenes such as the “Lady E” sequence that was written for a bunch of white guys to be talking about African Americans. For the most part, however, people found that the dialogue played as well no matter who was saying it. It’s never been established if Tarantino saw one of the performances—he was busy filming Django Unchained at the time—but he probably would have been pleased with the results.

			Which is more than can be said of some of the things discussed in the next chapter.
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You Ain’t My Friend, Palooka

			Public Confrontations

			“I just got through reading three, count ’em, three, biographies of my life. It’s a peyote-like experience. They’re questioning my character—I’m really a bad person, I’ve fucked all the Video Archive guys. Roger Avary is the true genius behind all my work. All these questions about what an asshole I’ve become . . . .”

			—Quentin Tarantino to Peter Biskind in Premiere magazine, November 1995

			This isn’t a secret—Tarantino hasn’t always made friends with everyone he has met over the years. In fact, he’s made a few enemies along the way. Okay, maybe that’s a bit extreme. There’s no one wanting to gun him down or anything like that. There is one that said he’d celebrate when Tarantino dies, but that’s not quite the same as being a mortal enemy (a jerk, perhaps, but not a mortal enemy). Still, even in his Video Archives days Tarantino was known as a bit of a loose cannon when push came to shove, and it was not uncommon for him to physically confront people then and in the years since if he felt they had done him or others he knew wrong (such as an incident where he spit on Premiere magazine editor Chris Connelly on the red carpet for the 1997 Oscars due to an article the magazine printed about his father).

			Unfortunately, in some cases, those he has had public disputes with have been friends as well. Sometimes, minor disagreements got out of hand, or misunderstanding and righteous anger clouded what could have been simple differences of opinions. Then again, there’s the actual fistfights, or threats of such, that have made their way into the public eye as well.

			But perhaps the most interesting aspect of all the feuds discussed in various books about Tarantino is that the writers nearly always end up referring to a dissipation of tension, with those who have fought with him saying that they had resolved their problems. Then there’s the number of people who have worked with him for years on projects who have stated that Tarantino is a great guy. It appears that Tarantino can earn long-term friendships in the business, and it empowers him to make the movies he wants to make—movies that continue to make money at the box office as well. That’s not quite the image of Tarantino some would prefer, however.

			Roger Avary

			If you’ve been reading the book up to this point, Avary doesn’t need an introduction. He was a coworker at Video Archives who had worked with Tarantino on various projects as they both struggled to get into the movie business. In the 1980s, they were known to exchange scripts to help each other punch up the material, and as chapter 3 points out, Avary was fine with having Tarantino take a crack at his Open Road script. There were still some mutual trust and loyalty there after Reservoir Dogs was going into production, with Tarantino getting the work to fix up True Romance for Tony Scott and helping to executive produce Killing Zoe for Avary in order to get the financing for the project.

			Then came Pulp Fiction. Details on the difficulties between the two friends are covered in more detail in chapter 10, but the gist is that their conflict went public. Avary thought he deserved more recognition in the credits for his contribution to the Pulp Fiction script and Tarantino felt differently. Contrary to reports since then, things were settled by the time the film was released and in the multitude of awards that came afterwards (as can be seen in chapter 31), Avary was nearly always listed right alongside Tarantino.
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					The relationship between Tarantino and his writing friend Roger Avary was slowly disintegrating by the time of Pulp Fiction’s release in 1994, but before that Tarantino had lent his name as producer to Avary’s Killing Zoe (1993).

				

			

			But the gate had been opened on their issues right as the backlash against Tarantino had started in 1994–1995. As with any success story in America (actually, the world, but America is usually the one that gets stereotyped as being the only culprit of such), it becomes the story of the monkey in the tree—once he reaches high enough up the tree, everyone on the ground can only see an asshole. Suddenly, several people went public with their own criticisms of Tarantino, and there was Avary fighting his own fight and getting caught in the middle of the backlash. Comments from Avary that, in other articles or in solo interview, would have come off as reflective and casual came off as harsh when surrounded by comments from others tearing at Tarantino. For example, the Village Voice article from October 1994 (“Natural Born Filmmaker” by Lisa Kennedy), which featured Don Murphy’s infamous comment that he would “openly celebrate Quentin’s death,” has Avary stating about Tarantino: “He knows everything about pop culture. But his greatest strength is his greatest weakness. He is only interested in pop culture.” In any other article, this would appear as a reflection of what Avary sees as something his friend needs to work on; surrounded by accusations of theft and people wishing for his death, it sounds like Avary is joining in to only criticize Tarantino.

			During all this tension, Avary was struggling to get his balance in the movie business. The problem was that the more he was being recognized and starting to get work, the more people wanted to talk about how he was nothing more than Tarantino’s “ghostwriter” and what a slavemaster Tarantino was to his friends. For a time, Avary tried to speak freely on his thoughts about his friend, and an additional issue came into play when he voiced his belief that the Top Gun bit from Sleep with Me was his more than Tarantino’s (although both said that they used to work on it together at parties). By 1996, Tarantino was getting fed up with the comments, stating, “I’ve never been more betrayed by anybody that I was close to, that I loved, and that I was surprisingly unselfish toward” (“Interview Quentin Tarantino,” by J. Hoberman, US magazine, January 1996).

			The two would eventually reconcile in the 2000s, with Avary stating that he still considers Tarantino a friend. The ultimate result of all this, however, is that it took more of a toll on Avary’s career in those early days than on Tarantino’s. Those that tried to put down Tarantino needed someone to build up instead of him, and Avary became the genius “behind the throne.” Avary didn’t want to be typed as someone who was subordinate to his friend, but for a long time the image stuck, making it harder for him to stand outside of Tarantino’s shadow. Eventually Avary was able to do so with work on such films as The Rules of Attraction, Silent Hill and Beowulf, but these were all films from 2002 onward, showing that it took some time to really move on from where some people wanted to pigeonhole him.

			Don Murphy

			One of the producers of Natural Born Killers and a former associate of Tarantino from the Video Archives days. Murphy had gotten hold of Tarantino’s script and sought to get it produced, only for a variety of issues to arise that led him to believe Tarantino was trying to sabotage the film from being made. At that point, Murphy—never known for keeping back anything—began to attack Tarantino in public, especially after Tarantino commented that he was not happy with the Oliver Stone movie and considered what was done to his script as “theft.” Murphy kept up his war of words and, helped by the likes of the City of Fire (see chapter 8) and Roger Avary situations, tried to paint Tarantino as a hack.

			To be fair, he (along with his coproducer Jane Hamsher) felt Tarantino’s comments were meant only to hurt the movie Murphy had spent a lot of time and money getting together—right at the time when it was to be released as well. However, as Hamsher also points out in her book Killer Instinct, Murphy had a tendency to let loose with comments that could come back and bite him. His statement in the Village Voice that he would celebrate Tarantino’s death (and his subsequent comment elsewhere that he never said he wanted Tarantino to die, only that he would be happy when he did), amongst other efforts to cause problems for Tarantino—such as the buying of the My Best Friend’s Birthday script (see chapter 2)—were certainly not the most constructive way to deal with the issue.

			Things really blew up on October 22, 1997, when Tarantino was eating with Harvey Weinstein at his restaurant Argo and he spotted Don Murphy waiting for a table. Tarantino confronted Murphy and, from various sources, backed Murphy against a wall and began to either punch or slap Murphy several times. The confrontation was broken up by Weinstein, and by the time the police got there, Murphy refused to press charges, and the two shook hands, promising (as Tarantino told Variety the following day) to “stop badmouthing each other.”

			Then Tarantino started talking about how he slapped Murphy around to “knock some sense into him.” Things got worse when he referred to the fight as him having to “bitch-slap” Murphy three times on the Fox Network talk show The Keenan Ivory Wayans Show, and Murphy had had enough. He sued Tarantino for $5 million, stating that Tarantino’s attack and his discussion of it was detrimental to his health and his getting work in the industry. Eventually things were settled outside of the press and the courts, and the heat has somewhat died down on the whole thing.

			If this were a movie, something would have happened to one or the other to see a drastic fall from grace. Certainly Hamsher’s Killer Instinct attempts to paint such a future for Tarantino by suggesting in the final pages of the book that he’d be forgotten soon enough. Yet that wasn’t the case. Murphy has had a successful career working on a variety of projects since the days of Natural Born Killers, including working on the Michael Bay Transformers series of films, while Tarantino has gone on to bigger things as well. Sometimes life doesn’t give us the endings we anticipate.

			Denzel Washington

			Tony Scott had asked Tarantino to come in and punch up some material for his upcoming movie Crimson Tide in 1995. The results were eagerly accepted by most of those working on the film, although there were additional rewrites by others after that.

			One day, Tarantino came to the set at Scott’s invitation to watch the filming. Denzel Washington found out that Tarantino was there and angrily confronted him on what Washington felt were racist additions to the script that were added by Tarantino. Tarantino, from reports made at the time, tried to calm Washington down and asked if they could move the conversation to somewhere more private, but Washington resisted and continued to give Tarantino “the riot act.” Tarantino left the set after that. Although that was the full extent of their discussion, the story would be told for years about the “feud” between the two—most probably because it was one of the few public confrontations where Tarantino was known to have backed down.

			Washington in a 2012 interview for GQ (“The GQ&A: Denzel Washington,” by Michael Hainey, October 2012) said that he later apologized to Tarantino for his remarks. “I sought him out ten years ago. I told him, ‘Look, I apologize.’ You’ve just gotta let that go. You gonna walk around with that the rest of your life? He seemed relieved.” Later, Tarantino hired Washington’s daughter as a production assistant for Django Unchained. Washington noted the irony to GQ: “She doesn’t like me talking about it. And then here we are ten years later, and my daughter’s working with him. Life is something.”

			Spike Lee

			There’s been a mixed relationship between director Spike Lee (Do the Right Thing, Malcolm X, Jungle Fever) and Tarantino, as both at times have paid respect to each other’s work, while a very public feud occurred between them over Tarantino’s use of the N-word in his scripts. Things were fine up through the mid-1990s, with Lee using Tarantino in his movie Girl 6 (1996) in a role that parodies Tarantino as a movie director. Then Jackie Brown came out, and Lee discussed in a Variety article in 1997 how he didn’t care for the way Tarantino used the word so often in the film, dismissing Tarantino as wanting “to be made an honorary black man.”
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					The poster for Spike Lee’s Girl 6 (1996), which advertises Quentin Tarantino in the cast. It was filmed long before the feud started between Lee and Tarantino in the press. 

				

			

			Tarantino in an interview on The Charlie Rose Show in 1997 defended his stance by stating, “I demand the right to write any character in the world that I want to write. And to say that I can’t do that because I’m white . . . that is racist.” Lee’s response later was, “The guy’s just stupid.” Tarantino in Playboy in 2003 went on to say that he would like to “kick [Lee’s] ass” over the situation: “My biggest problem with Spike was the completely self-serving aspect of his argument. He attacked me to keep his ‘Jesse Jackson of cinema’ status. Basically for a little bit of time before I came along, you had to get Spike Lee’s benediction and approval if you were white and dealing with black stuff in a movie. Fuck that. This destroyed that, and he’s never had that position again.” He also went on to say how much he hated what developed into a “celebrity feud”: A celebrity feud is one of the most tasteless, trite, trivial things somebody in my position can engage in, to be drawn into something so beneath you.”

			Things were quiet for a while—there wasn’t much call for the word in Inglourious Basterds, after all—until the release of Django Unchained. Lee’s comment at the time was that he found the movie disrespectful to his ancestors and refused to see it. He wasn’t alone, as there were a few others who had issues with Tarantino’s reshaping of the issue of American slavery into an adventure film (although Tarantino was certainly not the first to do so over the years). Others, including Samuel Jackson—who has worked for both directors over the years—came out in defense of Tarantino and his work. As Jackson told Playboy in 2013:

			“Spike saying ‘I’m not going to see Django because it’s an insult to my ancestors’? It’s fine if you think that, but then you have nothing else to say about the movie, period, because you don’t know if Quentin insulted your ancestors or not. On the other hand, Louis Farrakhan, who these blackest of black people say speaks the truth and expresses the vitriol of the angry black man, can look at the movie and go, ‘Goddamn, that’s a great fucking movie. Quentin Tarantino told the truth.’ Dick Gregory’s seen the movie twelve fucking times . . . Some of the bullshit criticism about Django come from people who don’t understand the genre and who didn’t live through that era. They think they need to wave a flag of blackness that they don’t necessarily have the credentials to wave.”

			Taxi Driver

			On The Tonight Show in 2013, in an interview with Jay Leno, Tarantino brought up that he had been in a physical fight with a taxi driver the year before. The incident occurred in New York City, where—according to Tarantino—he had gotten into a cab with his date. The driver proceeded to talk in a way (“He’s such a jerk,” is how Tarantino put it in the interview) that Tarantino tells him to pull over so he and his date can get out. The cost of the ride was only $4.50, but Tarantino demanded his change and when the driver suggested the fifty-cent difference be used to “fix your girlfriend’s face,” Tarantino began punching the driver in anger.

			When others pulled Tarantino off of the driver, the driver retaliated by biting Tarantino on the chest by a nipple. After that, the two fought some more before the driver finally got back in his car and drove away. Tarantino said that he kept the story to himself for a year as he was afraid the guy would try to sue him over the fight, but nothing more came of it.

			Interviewers Asking the Wrong Questions

			Besides the accusations about being in love with the N-word, and the whole City on Fire thing that some geeks still can’t seem to get over, Tarantino has had to deal with many interview questions dealing with the violence in his films. At first, he treated such questioning in an honest, open manner, but eventually as the years have gone by and more conservative writers have tried to trap him into “gotcha” questions on the topic, Tarantino has fallen back from such discussions, telling the writers to check out earlier comments he had made on the topic.

			In January 2013, there was a public commotion over an interview Tarantino had done in support of Django Unchained for Britain’s Channel 4. In the course of an increasingly heated exchange, interviewer Krishnan Guru-Murthy began hitting Tarantino with baited questions about his need to make violent movies. At first Tarantino tried to politely brush off the questioning, yet Guru-Murthy’s line of questioning was obviously leading and looking to put Tarantino in a position where he was expected to spout information that would be used for ammunition in more direct attacks. Guru-Murthy failed as an interviewer to see that he was rapidly derailing his talk with Tarantino and instead tried to explain why he had to ask such questions—a defense that only wound Tarantino up more. When Guru-Murthy attempted to get insistent, Tarantino had enough; “I’m shutting your butt down.” Reminding Guru-Murthy that the point of the interview was to advertise his new movie—essentially saying that the interviewer was not to be taken seriously in anything he wanted to ask for what was no more than a commercial. Tarantino wearily told the interviewer that anything he had to say on the topic had been said many times over the past twenty years.

			Reaction to the interview was mixed. Those who were against Tarantino found it “shocking,” while others sympathized with him for being stuck with an ill-prepared interviewer.

			But many on both sides agreed about one thing—it made for good television.

			Gawker

			On January 21, 2014, the news broke through the www.deadline.com website that the script Tarantino had been working on for his next western, The Hateful Eight, had been leaked on the internet. He was livid in his interview with what he saw as a betrayal since the script had only been given to six people, and yet at least two of those six let their agents read it (and one of those two circulated it—whether by accident or intentionally—to others). “I gave it to three actors: Michael Madsen, Bruce Dern, Tim Roth. The one I know didn’t do this is Tim Roth. One of the others let their agent read it, and that agent has now passed it on to everyone in Hollywood. I don’t know how these fucking agents work, but I’m not making this next.”

			Tarantino went on to suggest that he may eventually change his mind about making the film—in fact, by the spring he admitted that he was working on fixing up the script and may still make it—but for the moment he was looking to release it in book form. He later would stage a live reading with the three actors listed above, along with names Tarantino fans will recognize: Samuel L. Jackson, Kurt Russell, Amber Tamblyn, James Parks, and Walton Goggins. At that presentation at the United Artists Theater in L.A., Tarantino stated that he had done two additional drafts and changed the ending.

			However, Tarantino was still upset about the release of the script and was not happy when he saw that the website, Gawker.com, had promoted and thus profited from linking two sources of the script from their website. In response, Tarantino sued the website, for which Gawker Media Group mentioned that their base was in the Cayman Islands and therefore out of jurisdiction and that Tarantino fell under the “Streisand Effect” (a term meaning that an attempt to hide information only leads to more people finding out about it than if nothing had been said at all) and only had himself to blame for people finding out about it (as if no one ever checked out Gawker before Tarantino mentioned it).

			The U.S District Judge on the case, John F. Walter, felt that Tarantino’s team did not show any “direct infringement committed,” and therefore the case was dismissed, but with allowance for Tarantino to resubmit once he could back up such accusations. Tarantino at first began the process to kick the lawsuit back in, but then in May 2014 dropped the suit, although he could still revive it at a future date.

			One reason for the suit being dropped is due to Tarantino deciding to go ahead and film the script anyway, telling the press in late May 2014 that he planned to start shooting in November. By the time of the San Diego Comic-Con that summer, Tarantino said the film would begin production in early 2015 for a fall release, and a movie trailer for the upcoming film was made and shown in conjunction with Sin City: A Dame to Kill For when it played theaters in August 2014. Therefore, pursuing the lawsuit was probably deemed a lost cause by that point, since Tarantino was going ahead with the film anyway.

			Of course, all this promotional work—a movie trailer, posters, and other advertising—for a film yet to even be completely cast was exciting for fans anxious to see Tarantino shooting again. One question does linger: Will he use that actor Quentin Tarantino again? Maybe not, but he certainly has a list of credits to back him up, as the next chapter points out.

		

	
		
			26
I Wanted to Be an Actor

			Tarantino’s Acting Career

			“They think I’m screwing around when I’m acting, and I shouldn’t be screwing around. I should be doing my work. Well, those people don’t know me and they don’t know how serious I am. But that’s okay, it’s not a battle won in a day. It’s going to be won over a long career.”

			—Quentin Tarantino at the Jackie Brown press conference, December 1997

			Tarantino has never shied away from what got him to where he is in the movie industry. He wanted to be an actor. And when he came to see that he liked to makes films himself, his mission became clear: write scripts, perhaps even direct those scripts, in order to become the actor he wanted people to see. Everything started as a means to get to his acting career.

			Yet he became famous as a director and a writer. Acting as well? Why was he doing that? He’s supposed to be a director, not some egomaniacal star of the film. He was supposed to be directing the next big crime film instead of being on the big screen telling jokes about Top Gun.

			The difference between him and some other directors is that he started as an actor, where most others wanted to stay behind the camera—with the exception of a few that do it more as a wink to the camera for fans (like how John Landis tends to use directors in small roles in his films). Hence, Tarantino goes back to the days of a John Huston and Orson Welles, where directors could be performers and not have everyone under the sun attacking the concept as being weird or a goof. Better yet, contrary to what some wish to believe, Tarantino was getting work as an actor before becoming famous. Besides, why should someone have to stop working as an actor because he was known as a director first? As some have pointed out, there have been several actors who become directors later on in their careers that haven’t faced the type of persecution that Tarantino has for doing it the other way around.

			Admittedly, not every performance has come off. There are times where Tarantino has given his critics ammo to try to prove their case. He does have a tendency to overuse hand gestures, making his movements look too large for the screen. Also, far too often, he has been cast in roles not as an actor but as Quentin Tarantino. Even his famous bit in Sleep with Me was originally written as “Quentin Tarantino” and not as a character for him to play. As Bill Murray once joked on Saturday Night Live about such casting, it’s not acting, it’s behaving. The thing is, in the majority of projects he has worked on where he has actually been given roles to play and a director to guide him who can rein in his tendency to “play to the back row,” he can be good. Even great.

			Over time, the urge to act has subsided, which even Tarantino himself has noted. Perhaps it was due to all the critical comments made over time, or he may have simply gotten sick of getting in front of the camera when there was so much to do behind it. Then again, just when you think it’s safe, he appeared back on the screen in Django Unchained. Twice, as different characters even. It’s a hint that something can always come along that may entice him back on the screen as an actor. If not, he does leave behind a diverse number of roles from 
over the years.

			Lovebirds in Bondage (1983)

			Little is known about this early attempt to act in a film other than that it was the work of friend and fellow Video Archives clerk Scott McGill. As mentioned in chapter 2, the film was never completed and the results were destroyed.

			My Best Friend’s Birthday (1987)

			Another film that was never completed, but a good chunk of footage has turned up in various places over the years on video and the internet. See chapter 2 for more details about the filming.

			The Golden Girls, “Sophia’s Wedding, Part 1” (1988)

			Tarantino’s first network television work is essentially a cameo in the second row of a group of Elvis impersonators. As a sight gag—the men are there witnessing Sophia’s wedding, slightly freaking out the “golden girls” as they come out for the ceremony—there’s nothing much for the group to do than gyrate and dance briefly in the episode. Tarantino is easy to spot—nearly dead center on the screen—and he has always been happy with the results, stating that out of all the “Vegas-era” Elvis impersonators, he was the only one trying to do the Elvis of the 1950s.

			Vegetables (1989)

			Tarantino appears in this shot-on-video film done by Laura Lovelace, who is the sister of his girlfriend at the time, Grace Lovelace. Some sources list the film as being full length, but most state it is shorter than a half-hour. Little else is known about it with the exception that it is listed either as a horror film or a tribute to “trash movies.” Laura would eventually appear in two of Tarantino’s films as a waitress, Pulp Fiction and Jackie Brown.

			Reservoir Dogs (1992)

			Tarantino appears in this? I kid. Of course, he’s Mr. Brown, the Madonna fact-finder at the table in the first scene. For fans that are used to his appearances on interview shows, it is hard to tell where Tarantino ends and the performance starts, as it is all done in his unique style. The camera only catches him briefly in the scene, and he appears fleetingly in other segments of the film. His death scene that follows later is solid acting, showing us a man who is not only dying, but upset that he has failed in doing his job for the others. It’s a sad, pathetic end for Mr. Brown, and Tarantino pulls it off.

			Eddie Presley (1992)

			Tarantino appears in a cameo in this film, which he did as both a favor to the filmmakers and because it gave him a chance to work with Bruce Campbell (Evil Dead). They play orderlies at a mental hospital where the protagonist—an Elvis impersonator—is confined after suffering a mental breakdown. Eddie is played by Duane Whitaker, who would go on to play Maynard in Pulp Fiction and write the second From Dusk Till Dawn film.

			The Coriolis Effect (1994)

			A short film about two lovers who are involved in storm-chasing and at odds due to the woman sleeping with the man’s best friend. Tarantino can be heard doing a voice-over as a radio DJ named Panhandle Slim for station KCOW. The film is in a collection on DVD entitled Kisses in the Dark.

			Pulp Fiction (1994)

			After Eric Stoltz took the other bathrobe-wearing part in the film, Tarantino decided to play Jimmie, the friend of Jules that wants him, Vincent, and their car with a headless corpse out of his house before his wife turns up at 9:30 a.m. There were some questions as to his use of the N-word in the dialogue, but he and Jules were old friends and it is obvious that Jimmie has his reasons for being connected with a guy like Jules (not to mention that it is possible that his wife Bonnie has some crime ties as well, if the cut scenes from Reservoir Dogs and possibly Kill Bill, Volume 2 have anything to say about) and could get away with talking to him as such in anger. And Jules backing off as it would not be the time or place to react to it.

			Tarantino’s initial rant—which is done in humor—may be somewhat hyper, but understandably so. He is a lot calmer once the Winston Wolfe arrives, playing Jimmie as a guy who knows he is in over his head, but feels he may end up getting the bad end of the deal no matter with (with Wolfe assuring him that things will not only work out, but to his benefit in the end).

			Sleep with Me (1994)

			The only part of this film that people seem to remember is Tarantino’s scene. He plays Sid, a guy at a party who goes through an entire point-by-point rant with another character about how the action film Top Gun is a subversive drama about a man struggling with homosexuality. No matter who wrote it, it’s a great monologue and told in a style that screams Tarantino without him overly lampooning himself in the process. The film itself is okay, but the few minutes with Tarantino are worth seeing no matter what.

			Somebody to Love (1994)

			Directed by Alexandre Rockwell, who would work with Tarantino and others on Four Rooms. Harvey Keitel is the lead, with Steve Buscemi in the cast as well, so it makes sense that Tarantino would turn up somewhere. He appears briefly as a bartender who has a short monologue. Even with a cast featuring Keitel, Buscemi and Rosie Perez, and directed by an up-and-coming director at the time, the film is mainly remembered these days for featuring Tarantino.

			All-American Girl, “Pulp Sitcom” (February 22, 1995)

			The series was a sitcom starring stand-up comedian and actress Margaret Cho with the original concept of being based on her stand-up, although it was quickly obvious that the whole thing devolved into more like “see the wacky Asian family each week.” At this point in the series, the setup had Cho playing a young woman who found herself in conflict with the more traditional attitudes and manners of her Korean family. Tarantino was dating Cho for a time in 1994 and appeared on the program to help his friend. The script was written by Tim Malle and Douglas Tuber, and directed by Terry Hughes (some sources have Tarantino directing, which is not correct). It features Tarantino as a salesman selling bootleg videos who ends up dating Margaret. The main purpose of the episode, however, is to get in as many Pulp Fiction-related gags as possible, including an out-of-sequence order to the scenes, a dance sequence in a ’70s-retro restaurant, a meat-tenderizer scene that is much like the adrenaline shot to the heart from the film, a briefcase with a glow inside that turns out to be a reading light, and more.

			Tarantino is a good sport for taking part in the parody, and it’s one of the few chances for him to actually get to act for the entire length of a story (usually he’s there for two minutes, even in his films, and then is never seen again). The hand gestures get a little aggressive near the end, but otherwise, a good diversion for fans of Tarantino. If you can find a copy of it.

			Destiny Turns on the Radio (1995)

			Never has a comedy tried so hard to get you to hate it.

			The script floated around Hollywood for some time before Tarantino got hold of it, but once it was suggested that he play the part of Johnny Destiny, it’s easy to see why he would latch on to it—it’s a pivotal role and one that obviously was fun to play. Tarantino is also given a character to play in a film who is there at the beginning, middle and end—a rarity for him when it comes to his acting roles.
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					In a rare role that finds him playing a character throughout a film, instead of just a cameo, Tarantino played Johnny Destiny in the 1995 film Destiny Turns on the Radio.
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			The film deals with a bank robber (James LeGros) who miraculously escapes prison and is looking for both his girlfriend and the money he hid, only to find both gone. His girlfriend is pregnant and with a mobster, while a man known only as Johnny Destiny has appeared one night out of an empty pool near where the robber had hid the money and takes off with it. While the robber struggles to get back his money, his girl, and stay a step ahead of the cops, Destiny pops up every so often to direct everyone’s fate.

			The script has Destiny as cool beyond cool, and Tarantino plays it as if Destiny knows that nothing can touch him (which is true for the character as we later find out). In a film with a lot of good performers, Tarantino holds up well, and the film actually tends to have a bit more life to it when his character appears. Unfortunately, the scriptwriters, Robert Ramsey and Matthew Stone, try much too hard to make sure every character is full of whimsy and has curious but by-gosh-how-clever things to say to each other. In essence, the film is way too self-aware, which gives the whole endeavor a feeling of smirking at the audience rather than taking us along on its journey. There’s a good reason why it did not do well at the box office, even with heavy promotions showcasing Tarantino during one of the hottest periods of his career—although it has moments that present us with a film that could have been very sweet and fun, it too often is irritating.

			Desperado (1995)

			This is a sequel to Robert Rodriguez’s first film, El Mariachi, about a guitarist who ends up becoming a hitman/vigilante. Tarantino appears briefly in the first half as “Pick-Up Guy.” Pick-Up Guy arrives in a seedy bar that’s a front for a drug dealer named Bucho in order to discuss some type of deal. While waiting to be checked out, Pick-Up Guy tells a joke that is very long but also a clever way to insult the arrogant bartender. After his companion is shot in the head, Pick-Up Guy is sent to the back room, only to get shot in the head there once a gun battle starts in the bar.

			Tarantino is only in the film for a total of five minutes, but it’s a great cameo, and he does an excellent job of stretching out a really bad joke and adding some asides during it that make it all work. Of course, he and Rodriguez had already begun to form a working relationship by this point and would soon be together again for From Dusk Till Dawn the same year. It is also clear that their relationship helps Tarantino’s performance, as here and in the later vampire movie, he gets to actually act rather than just be Quentin Tarantino.

			Saturday Night Live, November 11, 1995

			Tarantino hosted this episode of the live variety series on NBC from 11:30 p.m. to 1:00 a.m. the same night as HBO aired Comedy Relief VII, a charity special for the homeless that usually caused a “brain drain” for comics due to the number that appear in the special. As is common with the program, he appeared in several of the sketches but not in all, and the guests each perform an opening monologue in front of the audience. Tarantino sang “I’m Gonna Blow You a Kiss in the Wind” with the band for his monologue. Tarantino appeared briefly at the end of a recurring sketch about two teenagers who desperately want to be cheerleaders (played by Will Ferrell and Cheri Oteri); a contestant on a game show about the Bible that depends on everyone being truthful with their answers; as himself on a talk show called Legs Up featuring Cheri Oteri and Molly Shannon as Debbie Reynolds and Ann Miller; himself again in a sketch where David Spade tries to persuade Tarantino that actor Robert Hegyes needs to go the Travolta route in one of his films; a train engineer who beats up anyone he thinks is a hobo; and, the most famous of the sketches, himself as the host of a show about directors where he asks other famous directors about their leading ladies and if they “jammed” them. When angrily asked by the others the same about Uma Thurman, Tarantino makes the connect everyone has always thought that being overweight, making minimum wage at a video store, riding the bus and living with his mom didn’t exactly send the girls flocking. Essentially, yeah, fame does bring its privileges.

			The last sketch is a brief chance for Tarantino to make fun of himself and his status as a famous director, albeit with the mentioned awkward pauses due to cue cards and the rapid hand gestures that throw the timing off a little. A fun episode for fans to track down, and there have certainly been much worse hosts on the program than Tarantino (and while that may sound like damning with faint praise, there have been plenty of really bad hosts over the years—Tarantino falls more into the category of those hosts who succeeded, but not enough to return for additional episodes like some others).

			SNL has done other parodies of Tarantino over the years (a couple of others are mentioned in chapter 24), but this was the sole time he hosted.
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					1995 also saw Tarantino in Robert Rodriguez’s follow-up to El Mariachi, Desperado. The part is small but memorable, as Tarantino tells a joke before being eliminated from the proceedings. 

				

			

			Four Rooms (1995)

			As mentioned elsewhere in the book, Tarantino directed “The Man from Hollywood” segment of this anthology film. He appears as Chester, the director of a big comedy film, The Wacky Detective. The director is spending New Year’s Eve with two and a half acquaintances (one is Angela, played by Jennifer Beals, who appeared in an earlier part of the movie), and all are drunk enough to try to perform a bet that involves a lighter, his left pinkie and “a hatchet as sharp as the devil himself.”

			Chester is supposed to be “an asshole,” as Tarantino himself has called the character. “I play more or less myself in the worst light I could,” he stated to Peter Biskind in Premiere magazine (“Four X Four,” November 1995). The character is drunk, egotistical and spouting film trivia that no one cares about, as an obvious parody of what Tarantino is supposed to be like. Unfortunately, too many critics took it to mean that Tarantino did not realize he was parodying himself. The segment is admittedly a bit long and with a lot of talk, but that is part of the point—the gag works better because it’s delayed until the last possible second. As for his performance, once Chester gets his rant out of the way about the bottle of Cristal going flat, Tarantino is rather sedate through the rest of the segment, showing that he can let others in the scene take over instead of making himself the focus, as some have accused him of doing. 

			Dance Me to the End of Love (1995)

			Reviewed in chapter 7, Tarantino appears at the groom in this short film that uses the song “Dance Me to the End of Love.” Some fans may find it of interest to see him playing what amounts to a normal guy apprehensive at the beginning of marriage, instead of some hypertense man ready to explode (like in most of his appearances elsewhere).

			From Dusk Till Dawn (1996)

			One of Tarantino’s better roles, and a rare chance to see him do something beyond a short cameo as well as playing a character other than “Quentin Tarantino.” For an actor to take a character that a moment before we find out has raped and murdered a hostage and yet still give us this quiet confrontation between himself and his brother that almost makes us sympathize with the brothers is the sign of an artist. Doesn’t mean that we suddenly love his character—we still worry about him being anywhere alone with Kate—but we can at least see that there is something ticking in the character’s head, which is what an actor is supposed to bring to a role.
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					Richie Gecko in From Dusk Till Dawn; a rare opportunity for Tarantino to play a character that isn’t “Quentin Tarantino.”

				

			

		  Steven Spielberg’s Director’s Chair (1996)

			A very odd piece that isn’t easy to find. Steven Spielberg’s Director’s Chair was a computer game that featured Tarantino in the role of a prisoner in pieces of a film that is supposed to be some type of wacky 1940s homage to crime films. The concept is for a player to go through the process of making a film and then present an edited version of the film clips included in the game. It has usually been included in polls of poor computer games, which isn’t the fault of an extremely animated Tarantino, but rather the stagnant nature of the game itself.

			Girl 6 (1996)

			Tarantino makes a brief appearance in Spike Lee’s film about a woman struggling to become an established actress who ends up becoming a phone sex operator. He plays a director in New York who goes by the initials of QT, and obviously is supposed to be an exaggerated version of himself. Spike Lee clearly felt comfortable enough about Tarantino’s performance to stick a piece of it in the trailer for the film.

			Jackie Brown (1997)

			Tarantino does brief voice work in the film as a message on Jackie’s answering machine.

			Wait Until Dark (1998)

			This was a Broadway revival of the classic thriller from 1966, written by Frederick Knott and directed by Arthur Penn, with Lee Remick as a blind woman who does not realize that a group of men are after a doll her husband gave her that has heroin hidden inside. The ringleader, Roat, eventually kills his partners and threatens to kill the woman, not realizing that she has an advantage that he doesn’t. It was turned into a film in 1967, starring Audrey Hepburn as the blind woman and Alan Arkin as Roat.
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					The Playbill for the 1998 Broadway production of Wait Until Dark, starring Marisa Tomei and Quentin Tarantino. The play is remembered as being a dud, but critical reviews of Tarantino were not all negative, and the play lasted its original intended stay at the Brooks Atkinson Theatre.

                    Courtesy of Playbill®

				

			

			In August 1997, the play was planned to be revived with Leonard Foglia directing, Tarantino in the role of Roat and Jennifer Jason-Leigh at the blind woman. Jason-Leigh was out by October, and it was January when Marisa Tomei was signed for the role instead. A three-week run from February 28 to March 22, 1998, at the Wilbur Theater in Boston sold near capacity, and at first it appeared that the Broadway run would be extended past its originally planned sixteen weeks to an additional five weeks. However, the switch from previews to opening on April 5 at the Brooks Atkinson Theatre in New York garnered poor critical response—sometimes directed at Tarantino, but typically pointing at other issues within the production, specifically a script that was out of fashion and raised more giggles from the audience than gooseflesh. It closed June 28, 1998, with ticket sales at about 65 percent.

			Tarantino got most of the backlash, especially during the tryouts in Boston, but what many people fail to remember these days is that such reviews were as harsh about the other performers as they were Tarantino. Some later reviews from the Broadway run were more sympathetic towards him, feeling that he got the short end of the critical stick due to his fame. Variety’s review by Matt Wolf stated that Tarantino had “a surprisingly strong voice and a virtually constant sneer . . . he’s no more or less cheesy than Alan Arkin in the 1967 film.” The short footage found of his performance certainly tends to agree with Wolf’s thoughts there.

			Little Nicky (2000)

			Tarantino has a recurring but small role in this comedy starring Adam Sandler and featuring Harvey Keitel as Satan. He plays a demented sidewalk preacher called the Deacon, who is repeatedly caused to injure himself whenever he appears in the film.

			It’s a silly role that has Tarantino doing nothing but mugging for the camera, which is appropriate for the film.

			Alias (2002–2004)

			A spy-crime series created by J. J. Abrams (his second network series after Felicity, and one that would lead to many other projects including the series Lost). The focus is on a woman who thinks she is working for the CIA, only to discover she is actually working for a crime organization and begins working as a double agent for a CIA. Tarantino first appears as former agent McKenas Cole in the two-part episode “The Box,” which were episodes twelve and thirteen from season 1. He reappears briefly in episode 13 of season 3, “After Six,” with a small voice-over in episode 11 of the same season, “Full Disclosure.”

			Typically pointed out by fans as being one of Tarantino’s better roles. He certainly is the focus of the two-parter in season 1, and it’s a shame he wasn’t brought back again after reemerging in season 3 (appearing only in the last six minutes of the episode). Oddly, he drinks Cristal out of the bottle in the same manner as the movie director he played in Four Rooms. Tarantino obviously enjoyed getting a chance to do some action in the two-parter, including a fight with Jennifer Garner, who was the star of the series.

			The Muppets’ Wizard of Oz (May 20, 2005)

			Another in the line of Muppets movies, this one featured the Muppets in a variation of The Wizard of Oz. Tarantino appears as himself in a cameo, discussing with Kermit the Frog how to destroy the Wicked Witch, which mainly seems to involve terrible things that make Kermit shudder in fear.

			As can be expected, it’s a cameo as a slight parody of himself, so Tarantino is allowed to eat the scenery as he would be apt to do in such a case.

			Duck Dodgers, “Master & Disaster” (October 21, 2005)

			Duck Dodgers was an animated television series on the Cartoon Network that ran from 2003 through 2005. It was based on the classic 1953 Warner Brothers cartoon Duck Dodgers in the 24½th Century, directed by Chuck Jones and featuring Daffy Duck as a Flash Gordon-like space adventurer. Porky Pig appears as his assistant, Space Cadet, and Marvin the Martian was the main villain.

			Tarantino was a voice actor in one episode as Master Moloch, a parody of the Pai Mei character from Kill Bill, Volume 2—a part he was originally to have played before bowing out to concentrate on directing the movie.

			Grindhouse—Planet Terror and Death Proof (2007)

			Tarantino gets to be the Dick Miller of the Grindhouse series by appearing in different roles in both films: Rapist #1 (seriously—that’s the character’s name in the credits) in Planet Terror and Warren, the bartender/owner of the Texas Chili Parlor, in Death Proof. For those who are unfamiliar with Dick Miller, he is an actor who appeared consistently in a number of Roger Corman films of the 1950s through the 1970s, as well as a featured player in many horror films and crime dramas with other directors over the years. Miller had a small role in Tarantino’s Pulp Fiction as Monster Joe; featured in a scene cut from the film but deemed worthy enough to be in one of the lobby cards for the movie nevertheless. It was not unusual to go see a Corman double-feature and see Miller turn up in both films in different roles, which was an element that fit in well with Tarantino doing the same in Grindhouse.

			Tarantino was not originally to be cast in Planet Terror. It was only during a script reading where he volunteered to read the role, as no one had been cast yet, that it was suggested by others attending that he should play the role himself. Then again, maybe they enjoyed the idea of Tarantino getting a stick in one eye, having his body turn to goo and his penis dropping off. As Planet Terror is built on hysteria, there’s a tendency for everyone to play their roles a notch or two above reality, and Tarantino is no exception here. You’re supposed to really hate this guy so that anything that happens to him is A-OK, and Tarantino doesn’t disappoint.

			Tarantino appears briefly as Warren in Death Proof, mainly as a means to set up at least one character in the cast that knows Stuntman Mike. This allows Tarantino to swerve the audience a tad, as Stuntman Mike isn’t a complete stranger to everyone and therefore perhaps not as dangerous as perceived if the owner of the bar knows him. (Certainly it makes more sense for Pam to go with Stuntman Mike when Warren vouches for him.) There’s not much to the role beyond that, however. Funny upon reflection to think how often his characters end up at the bar downing drinks, however.
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					Tarantino as the bartender/owner of the club in Death Proof. 

				

			

			Diary of the Dead (2007)

			Considered a “reboot” for the Living Dead series created by George Romero with Night of the Living Dead in 1968. The story deals with a group of college students who get caught up in the first wave of zombies that begin to appear. Tarantino can be heard as one of the news reporters in the background throughout the film (other such voice work was done by Wes Craven, Simon Pegg, Stephen King and Guillermo del Toro).

			Sukiyaki Western: Django (2007)

			In my previous book about Armageddon films, I mentioned Takashi Miike as a director that you never knew what you were going to get when you paid the ticket price to see one of his films. Family-oriented zombie musical? Apocalyptic crime drama? Gore-intense psychodrama? Possibly, or something else entirely. Tarantino has noted Takashi Miike in interviews over the years, so seeing him pop up in one of his films was not too surprising.

			Tarantino plays Piringo, a man dressed like Clint Eastwood in the “Man with No Name” trilogy and a gunslinger that is seen at the beginning of the film and half way through in both a flashback to additional information from that sequence as well as an elderly version of the same character in a mechanical wheelchair. It’s interesting to see Tarantino in a performance besides From Dusk Till Dawn where he is in makeup. As with many of Miike’s films, it is hard to judge any of the performances on a normal level, as his films are never on a normal level.

			Inglourious Basterds (2009)

			Tarantino made a brief voice-over cameo in the Nation’s Pride film as an American soldier. It is also his hands that strangle Bridget von Hammersmark, as Christoph Waltz was unavailable for the filming of the shot needed.

			Django Unchained (2012)

			Tarantino appears twice in the film. First as Robert, one of the men with bags over their heads that stop to complain about how sloppy the eye holes are in their bags. Robert suggests everyone take off their bags. (Ironically, the whining seems to have saved Williard, the man whose wife worked on the bags, from dying at the hands of Schultz and Django.)

			Tarantino also appears near the end of the movie as Jano, one of the employees for the LeQuint Dickey Mining Co. that is taking Django to the mines. Jano was originally supposed to be played by Joseph Gordon-Levitt as an Australian, as the name of the company is Australian in nature. Tarantino has admitted that he did a terrible accent in the film, agreeing with most everyone that has seen the movie.

			Well, not every role is going to work out for an actor.

		

	
		
			27
Did I Break Your Concentration?

			Abandoned and Lingering Projects

			For a time Tarantino has discussed doing another western after the success of Django Unchained, and it appeared he was going to prove he wasn’t all talk when he delivered a new script fulfilling that promise. Unfortunately, that script, The Hateful Eight, ended up being leaked (see chapter 25) and causing Tarantino to shelve it. Or put it out as a book. Or film it anyway.

			And this is pretty much the story of a lot of other projects that Tarantino has mentioned over the years. One can’t knock his enthusiasm when it comes to projects that he’d love to dip his feet into at some point—everything he discusses is done with a joy that says, “Man, if someone gave me the money, the actors, and the sets tomorrow, I’d film it!” On the other hand, this also means that this very same passion has led many to misread Tarantino’s comments as meaning he plans each one of those projects to definitely be his next.

			Some of those eagerly mentioned projects have been a little easier to read as Tarantino riffing ideas off the top of his head: an idea to do a disaster movie with his traditional band of actors; wanting to do a children’s movie; wondering how he would go about doing a sexploitation film; looking to do a screwball comedy someday; or even a 1930s gangster picture—all ideas that read more like a shopping list with little in the way of concrete facts to show anything actually being prepared along those lines.

			Then there were the rumors that were always a bit shaky: the Jimi Hendrix biopic that circulated with Tarantino’s name attached until in 2006 he finally had to publicly announce he had no involvement and had never even been in contact about it. A remake of The Shadow that in 2010 Tarantino stated he had never been involved with. A supposed remake of Less Than Zero that author Bret Easton Ellis has stated Tarantino was interested in doing at some point (although never confirmed by Tarantino himself). A trip to Vienna in 2010 led to rumors of Tarantino planning on shooting a Dracula movie, which came to nothing more than filling up space on film and entertainment websites. A hint of interest in The Man from U.N.C.L.E. led to Tarantino’s name being paraded around for years (as well as Spielberg and others) before Guy Ritchie (covered in chapter 15) signed on for a possible 2015 release. New Line getting in touch with Tarantino about a possible Friday the 13th sequel in 2005 led to nearly an orgasm by geekdom over what was planned, only for Tarantino to finally announce in March of that year that he had no intention of making such a film. Rumors in 2010 (it seems to be when most of these rumors came from) talked about Tarantino doing a documentary on Harvey Weinstein, but this appeared to be a rumor suggested in order to stop production of an unauthorized documentary about the studio head.

			The year 2010 also saw a story circulated that Tarantino had approached Helen Mirren to play a monarch in a medieval adventure he planned to make, forcing Mirren to go to the press to squash the rumor (albeit at the same time sighing, “I wish”). Faster, Pussycat! Kill! Kill! star Tura Satana was telling stories about how Tarantino was going to remake her film and had Britney Spears signed on for it, but Tarantino knocked down that rumor as well back in 2009. The thought of Tarantino doing Modesty Blaise seemed intriguing, even if we based it all on the idea that Vincent is reading a book about her on the toilet in Pulp Fiction, but ultimately the film made had Tarantino as an executive producer and was shot by his old friend Scott Spiegel in 2004.

			The meager returns on Grindhouse/Death Proof in 2007 changed the landscape for Tarantino, as he told Sheryl Garratt in The Telegraph (“Quentin Tarantino: No U-turns,” September 15, 2007). Before, the studios would send him scripts figuring he would never read them but in hopes that he would find something of interest and “if you want to rewrite it, fine!” But after Grindhouse, the scripts came in with studio terms attached and all for remakes, with the studios thinking, “We’ll have Quentin for this, because he’s for sale now. He’s on the ropes!’”

			During that period he did look at a handful of scripts. One for a Tom Cruise movie that was never made (and no one seems to be sure which script it may have been floating around with his name attached at the time) and that Tarantino did not even bother to read. The other two were one for a remake of Westworld and another for an adaptation of the DC comic book character Green Lantern (eventually made in 2011 and directed by Martin Campbell). In both cases, Tarantino considered them “for a second. But could I spend every day for the next year doing it? No way! No way. And I know that about myself. I need to start with the blank page.”
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					After Death Proof, Tarantino was flooded with offers to direct a number of “big” adaptations of books, comics and previous blockbuster films. Green Lantern was one such project that Tarantino considered for the briefest of seconds before turning it down. It was finally filmed in 2011 by Martin Campbell, who had directed Casino Royale (2006).

				

			

		  Even so, there have been a few cases where Tarantino has talked on and off about certain projects that he would love to do (or at some point nearly came to doing). Some are even still being hinted at as possibly being made (like Kill Bill 3), which has kept their rumors around much longer than those about the various remakes thrown around. Two things appear clear from the way he has gone about looking at other projects: he has shown candid disinterest in doing a remake, and he usually tends to talk about doing a similar film to his last. That Reservoir Dogs begat Pulp Fiction is understandable, but Jackie Brown brought up discussion by Tarantino of filming Elmore Leonard’s novel Killshot (which was finally made in 2009 by John Madden and produced by Lawrence Bender). The Kill Bill films saw mention of a Kill Bill 3 (albeit, with Tarantino stating it would be ten to fifteen years before he would film it) and a kung fu movie filmed in Mandarin. Death Proof was supposed to be the start of a series of films that Tarantino would have some involvement with to bring back exploitation films to the theaters. Inglourious Basterds brought up Killer Crow (again, as he had talked about it before Inglourious Basterds as well). Django Unchained led to him discussing doing another western (such as The Hateful Eight).

			There does seem to be a formula for how Tarantino sets upon his next project. As it stands for the moment, however, the following are projects that are still sitting around, with some never to make it to the screen.

			Luke Cage, Hero for Hire

			The superhero Luke Cage was created by writer Archie Goodwin, and his origin was explained in his first appearance in Luke Cage, Hero for Hire #1 in the spring of 1972. Cage had been imprisoned for a crime he didn’t commit, and in order to have his sentence reduced, he volunteered to be a guinea pig in an attempt to reproduce the serum that created Captain America back in the 1940s. The outcome saw him gain superhuman strength and skin impervious to attack.

			The character lasted for forty-eight issues as a solo hero (although the name changed with issue #17 to that of Luke Cage, Power Man), when Cage was teamed up with another struggling superhero—this one of the kung fu variety—Iron Fists. They would continue as a team in a book fondly remembered by fans who liked superhero comics that were a little on the quirky side. Overall, however, Cage was definitely a character of the time, and obviously created as a means to make some cash off of the ongoing blaxploitation movie genre that was hot in the early to mid-1970s. Growing up, Tarantino considered Cage to be his favorite comic book character, although he got some grief from other kids over it. As he told the website Yesterdayland.com, “The entire time I remember it was like, ‘Why do you like Luke Cage? He’s black. Why do you like Luke Cage?’ Black kids [would be saying this], “Why do you like Luke Cage. He’s black.’ I wasn’t allowed to have Luke Cage be my favorite character. That wasn’t allowed. That wasn’t made for you.” This only resolved Tarantino to like the character even more.

			After completing Reservoir Dogs, Tarantino was at a loose end as to his next picture. Looking around for projects, he hit upon the idea of writing a script about his favorite superhero. As he told MTV in December 2012, he went to see producer Edward Pressman, who owned the rights to making a film. Pressman had made several serious films at that point, but was not afraid to do genre pictures, and would eventually get both the good comic book movies (The Crow) and the bad (Stallone’s Judge Dredd) made in the 1990s. The two discussed the possibilities of a film, while Tarantino went to Laurence Fishburne about playing the role and Fishburne expressed interest.

			But then something got in the way—Pulp Fiction. As Reservoir Dogs began to get critical response in America, studios and producers were looking to sign the new wunderkind of Hollywood to any kind of deal he wanted. Knowing that there was little reason to put himself in a position where he was having to do someone else’s story when he could do his own and have more creative power, he pushed Luke Cage aside and signed on to Danny DeVito’s company to create a new script for a film that would eventually become Pulp Fiction.

			 Perhaps it is just as well. At the time, Tim Burton’s Batman was only three years old, and it would take until the release of Bryan Singer’s X-Men in 2000 that the shift finally occurred in Hollywood to treat the subject of comic book heroes on the screen seriously (instead of in the tongue-in-cheek manner that most fell into, including later movies in the Batman series even while Burton was involved). If Tarantino had embarked on doing Luke Cage, he probably would have been stuck doing a lower-budget film that would have seen a script tinkered with to fit the times. While we may have missed out on Tarantino’s Luke Cage, it was certainly for the better to go with Pulp Fiction for the director and for the audience.

			Double V Vega

			Soon after the release of Pulp Fiction—once everyone connected Vincent Vega with Vic Vega from Reservoir Dogs—Tarantino mentioned a project with the two characters together. The proposed film, which eventually got tagged with the names The Vega Brothers or Double V Vega (although if it were anything like Tarantino’s other two-name titles, it would probably be known as Double V), had all types of possible story lines tied to it. Some set in the past, some even set in the future, and one where the brothers are actually one of two sets of identical twins—thus being the brothers of Vic and Vincent and explaining the age differences since the period where their counterparts died in Reservoir Dogs and Pulp Fiction. The pair would both be out from prison and, unaware of the other, heading out to L.A. to avenge their brothers’ deaths.

			Every so often over the years Tarantino has brought up, or been asked about, the project, and his reaction goes hot or cold, usually based on if the interview is going well or not. Typically these days, however, he has said that everyone has gotten too old to really do it the way he has seen it in his head. For now at least, his reaction is even less warm than the possibilities of the subsequent entry listed in this chapter.

			Kill Bill 3

			When the Kill Bill movies appeared, Tarantino was already on record that he was thinking of doing a third film in the series. Of course, there wouldn’t be any point in calling it Kill Bill, Volume 3, but the tag of Kill Bill 3 has been floating around so long that everyone calls this possible project that anyway.

			But what was that story to be? In 2006, Tarantino mentioned that he was thinking of creating two animated films based on the series, both prequels and done in an anime (Japanese animation) manner, much like how we see O-Ren’s backstory being told in Kill Bill, Volume 1. The first would be the story of how Bill became Bill, and the second would be that of how Kiddo came to Bill’s attention. Or, possibly, the second would tie in Kiddo’s story with that of Vernita’s (a.k.a. Copperhead) daughter. There were then rumors in 2007 that there would be a Volume 3 and Volume 4, with 3 dealing with two of the Crazy 88 assassins seeking vengeance after having various body parts hacked off, and then 4 dealing with Vernita’s daughter.

			And it is this plot with Vernita’s daughter that has been the one tossed around the most by anyone interested in the topic. The commonly held scenario is that of the armless Sofie (or is that only one-armed? Or a blind Elle? Depends on which version of the movie you see, actually) locating Nikita, Vernita’s daughter, soon after Kiddo’s attack that killed her mother. Sofia then trains her to be an assassin much like her mother, with the ultimate goal of going after Kiddo and her daughter. Tarantino had stated that he was even tempted at the time of filming Kill Bill to shoot some material for the sequel while the children were still the proper age, but it does not appear he did this. Tarantino always made clear that it was a movie he would make “down the road,” possibly after ten years—he sometimes referred to fifteen years—when the characters would be old enough to appear as adults.

			Tarantino has teased this project the most out of anything else he has thought of doing, Yet, as often as he has announced he plans to do something soon, he has just as suddenly grown cold on the topic. At the end of 2013, Tarantino went on record to say that he felt the chances of it happening were probably never going to be. Then again, the hint remains that he could come back to it someday. Which is a good reason why the rumors about a Kill Bill 3 in its various forms still float around among the fans.

			Kung Fu Movie in Mandarin

			In 2004, Mark Dinning from Total Film magazine asked Tarantino if his next film would be the often-mentioned Inglourious Basterds World War II movie. Tarantino surprised everyone by announcing that he planned to instead shoot a kung fu movie in Mandarin and then have the film dubbed into English like such films of the 1970s and 1980s that Tarantino grew up on.

			To be fair, Death Proof immediately derailed those plans. With that film’s failure, Tarantino decided to skip doing something that was more of experimental fun and instead concentrate on getting his Inglourious Basterds film up and running instead.

			Forty Lashes Less One

			An Elmore Leonard western that Tarantino had been looking at for some time, the book deals with an Apache and an African American who are facing death in a Yuma prison, but get a reprieve if they can kill the five most wanted outlaws in the West. There were even rumors in 2001 that Tarantino was shooting a film based on the book and would premiere it at Cannes, with Samuel L. Jackson and Adam Sandler in the roles. This of course, never happened.

			As of 2007, Tarantino admitted that he was still holding on to the rights of the novel, thinking it a film that he’d like to do down the line, and has never quite given it up. With the release of Django Unchained—featuring a former slave as a bounty hunter—and Tarantino already working out his need to do a second western with The Hateful Eight, it appears that this project too is dead in the water.

			Killer Crow

			As Django Unchained was being released in December 2012, Tarantino mentioned a new idea he had been working on that would tie in Django Unchained with his previous film, Inglourious Basterds. When Henry Louis Gates Jr. asked him what type of oppressor he planned to deal with next after Nazis and slave owners (“Tarantino ‘Unchained,’ Part 1: Django Trilogy?” December 23, 2012, http://www.theroot.com/articles/history/2012/12/django_unchained_trilogy_and_more_tarantino_talks_to_gates.html), Tarantino had this to say: “There’s something about this that would suggest a trilogy. My original idea for Inglourious Basterds way back when was that this [would be] a huge story that included the [smaller] story that you saw in the film, but also followed a bunch of black troops, and they had been fucked over by the American military and kind of go apeshit.” The film would then focus on them killing a number of white soldiers and officers on a military base, before trying to make their way to Switzerland.

			As is typical of Tarantino’s work, he had once had a number of pages in the script that told that story before seeing that he needed to prune it in order to “tame it.” Tarantino has gone on record to say that he has most of the script written, but needs to go back and finish the second half. If it is completed, it would take place after the Normandy Invasion of 1944 and feature members of “the Basterds” in the plot as well. Since that time, however, he has moved on to The Hateful Eight, so Killer Crow remains on the back burner for now.

			Berlin Games

			Berlin Games is the first novel in a trilogy of spy thrillers, along with Mexico Set and London Match, which deals with an intelligence officer by the name of Bernard Samson who is attached to bringing back a double agent, while suspecting that someone—anyone—may be a KGB spy looking to bring him and the other agent down. The trilogy would eventually lead to two more trilogies by the author, Len Deighton, and was adapted by Granada Television in 1988 as a twelve-part miniseries, starring Ian Holm.

			Tarantino was a fan of the series, and Max in Jackie Brown can be seen at one point reading the novel. Tarantino also no doubt had seen the various Harry Palmer films made with Michael Caine as the reluctant agent that were based on books by Deighton as well. In 2008, he told Sight & Sound magazine, “I would see if I could boil it down to the fat of the characters, and ignore all this Maquis double agent stuff. It would be interesting if I could reduce the three novels to an hour each and make a three hour movie that would have a big kind of impact, just by responding to the characters, and the wonderful chance of casting actors in it. The environment of the drawing room and the cottages in this part of East Berlin, with the Wall still there and everything.”

			That could be stopping him from pursuing such a project? Two things—one is that 2011 saw the successful release of Tinker Tailor Soldier Spy, directed by Tomas Alfredson and starring Gary Oldman as George Smiley. Based on the 1974 spy novel by John le Carré, the plot—dealing with an intelligence officer who has to ferret out a double agent within the British secret service—while not identical in any manner, could be viewed as being too similar in nature for a studio to really get behind. Furthermore, Tarantino has shown a reluctance in the past to pursue projects that someone else has recently done and done well (such as with his hesitation about his Natural Born Killers script being filmed once Man Bites Dog was released in 1992, covering similar territory). Also, in more recent years, Tarantino has made it clear that he wants to get his own projects done instead of focusing on adapting novels by others. As he told Ella Taylor in 2009, “I learned something after I did Jackie Brown—and don’t get me wrong, I love Jackie Brown—but when it was all over, [and] even when I was making it, the fact that it was just a little bit once removed made me a little bit disconnected from it. That’s why I haven’t done another adaptation since then. I want to naturally fall into the next thing that’s going to turn me on.” Therefore, of the projects listed in this chapter, this is probably one of the least likely to ever occur.

			Casino Royale

			Of the Bond films, the one novel that escaped the lineup due to legal reasons was Casino Royale. Oh, there was a movie eventually made of it back in the 1960s, but it was a parody, with David Niven, Peter Sellers, Woody Allen and a cast that desperately needed a script to match the talent present. That was done for Columbia Pictures in 1967; meanwhile, the regular series kept going strong through the 1970s and 1980s with various men playing the role. Yet, as the 1990s crept into the 2000s, there were signs that the public was growing weary of the super secret agent. It was in 2004 that Tarantino first suggested in public interviews that he would love to do the next Bond movie, but under the condition that they reset the series to the time period of the novels (the 1950s) and allow him to use Pierce Brosnan (the then-current Bond). Stories differed as to what happened next, but with Brosnan’s departure from the series, Tarantino’s interest in the concept departed as well. Instead, the producers of the series decided to go back to square one and—since the legal tangles of the 1967 Casino Royale were smoothed out (and no one except fans remembered it anyway)—hire Daniel Craig as a James Bond who was relatively new to his career as a secret agent, with a plot similar to that of Casino Royale, the first novel in the Ian Fleming series.

			Tarantino has made it known that he felt the producers ripped off his concept for their film, but nothing more came of the accusation. Soon he was busy getting ready for Inglourious Basterds, while the Bond series found new life with the “retcon” of the character, leading to the series doing strongly at the box office.
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					The big one that got away: Tarantino had been pitching himself as the director of the next James Bond movie in hopes of revamping the series back to its 1950s origins. In the end, the producers liked the idea of “going back to the original,” but neither the idea of the 1950s nor having Tarantino as the director. It was released in 2006 with Martin Campbell directing. 

				

			

			John Brown Biopic

			John Brown was an abolitionist of the mid-1800s who resolved that the only way to get America to stop slavery was through violent insurrection, as peaceful means were amounting to nothing but arrogant response from the South (and to his eyes from the North as well). He would eventually be captured and executed for the death of five men, conspiracy and treason against the state of Virginia. His execution would make Brown a martyr to the cause of the abolition and speed up the pace of the country into the Civil War.

			In 2007, on the PBS series The Charlie Rose Show (April 5, 2007), Rose asked Tarantino what project he sees for himself somewhere down the road.

			I would, one of these days, love to do the John Brown story. He is one of my biggest heroes of all time. And I’d actually like to play John Brown, because I think I even kind of look like him a little bit. But I’m actually thinking that maybe that might even be the last movie I ever make. [When I’m] 59, 60, I’ll look the right age and I’ll be the right age . . . Nobody saw slavery the way he saw it. And if we have to start killing people to stop this, then they’re going to know what time it is. And I love him. He’s my favorite American of all time.

			Will the John Brown biopic end up actually being the final Tarantino film? Perhaps his final acting role? Sounds like an intriguing way to go out, if so. 
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What Are You Looking For?

			Ten Memorable Pieces of Tarantino Merchandise

			There’s big money to be made in movie-related items. There didn’t used to be, but after Star Wars in particular in the 1970s, Hollywood realized that adults were as likely as kids to want to buy merchandise related to their favorite films. Tarantino’s films have certainly not been any different in that regard, with the exception of some of the items being a little more offbeat than what you would expect for, say, an Adam Sandler movie or the latest installment of Twilight. This has included everything from lunch boxes, to action figures, to shirts, and toys. All really for adults, although sometimes looking so much like something kids would want that it has caused problems over the years.

			It also hasn’t been uncommon to see a large number of knockoff items over the years that try to give the appearance of being official but are not. Such bootleg items include t-shirts, posters, artwork, and even toys. For the purpose of this chapter, however, the focus is on legit items that fans do or at least did have a chance to purchase over the years.

			The Reservoir Dogs in Your Pocket Talking Keychain

			It’s a keychain attached to a small pad that has buttons. Press the buttons and the pad blasts out quotes from the movie, such as, “Are you gonna bark all day, little doggy? Or are you gonna bite?” and “I don’t give a fuck what you know or don’t know, but I’m gonna torture you anyway.” Perfect for weddings and family get-togethers. Probably not a good idea for muggings, however. You don’t want to be handing over your keys and have it start telling the mugger that “All you can do is pray for a quick death, which you ain’t gonna get.”

			The packaging for the keychain warns that it is a choking hazard and is “not for children under three years of age.” That’s got to be a disappointment for parents looking for a good teething ring.

			Reservoir Dogs Video Game

			Released in late 2006 for Microsoft Windows, PlayStation 2 and Xbox, and is considered a third-person shooter (you control a character seen on-screen, rather than taking on a point of view, and you mainly shoot at things). There are some driving skills involved as well, depending on the character that is picked by the player. The game attempts to incorporate the plot of the film, with some additional details (you find out how Mr. Blue gets killed by the cops in a movie theater, for example). Gregarious killing can lead to being labeled a psycho, while more practical gamesmanship gets one a title of being a professional. Most interesting aspect is that, if played in a certain way, Mr. Pink can possibly end the game by outsmarting the police and taking off with the diamonds (a fate a certain number of fans had always wished occurred). Otherwise, he gets arrested, which settles the question of whether he is killed or not at the end of the film by the police.

			The game was banned in Australia and New Zealand due to violence. Michael Madsen was the only performer from the original film to lend his likeness and voice to it. All other characters are voiced by sound-alikes and look vaguely like their film counterparts. The soundtrack to the game features most of the musical soundtrack from the film. Some reviews have been rather negative over time, but it seems that those who go in expecting something that follows the movie’s plot, and don’t expect graphics that are stunning beyond being a straight shoot-em-up game, have enjoyed playing it.

			Johnny Lightning Death Proof 1969 Dodge Charger

			Released in 2010 by the toy car company Johnny Lightning, which had a series of movie- and television-related releases (even some for rock bands) over the years. Most of these are, of course, made for the adult fans who love to have them as part of their growing collection of toy cars, as a fan of a movie or show, and/or as a novelty to put on their desk at work. It was reissued in 2011. Johnny Thunder also released one of the cars from Vanishing Point, which may suit Death Proof fans as well. The Death Proof die-cast car is 1:24 (1/24th of the real size) and features the skull and lightning-bolts crossbones, but no fighting-mad rubber duck hood ornament. If you’re in need of that . . . .

			The Convoy/Death Proof Angry Rubber Duck Hood Ornament

			Tarantino took the angry rubber duck hood ornament seen on Stuntman Mike’s death-proof car from one seen on the Mack truck in Sam Peckinpah’s film Convoy. Whichever film is your favorite, there’s an identical hood ornament available through WBAD LLC, which first manufactured it back in the 1970s for “old school hot rods.” According to the company website, Tarantino had contacted them when he was about to make Death Proof, and since that time, the company has advertised the item as being from both films (although typically calling it the “Death Proof Duck”). You can get it in chrome, “black powder,” gold or as a hitch for your truck. There’s also a t-shirt available, although only in women sizes.

			Kill Bill Pussy Wagon Keychain

			Produced by NECA, which also has produced a number of the action figures over the years from Tarantino’s film, this is an exact replica’s of Buck’s keychain from Kill Bill, Volume 1. What better way to impress your date than show her that you identify with a rapist of comatose women? Seems like a good way to end up getting a door slammed on your head a few times, but whatever works for you.

			Pulp Fiction “BMF” Wallet

			Near the end of Pulp Fiction, Pumpkin demands Jules’ wallet, which is the leather one that says “Bad Mother Fucker” on it. As one can expect, such an item would be a hot seller to guys wanting a wallet like it, and a company called BMFWallets.com has produced the official version of such a wallet for sale. They also sell a phone case that looks like the wallet.

			In November 2013, a story circulated from the National Review website about a man using his “BMF” wallet to stop a robbery in a diner. When asked for his wallet, the man began to recite dialogue from the robbery scene in Pulp Fiction, thereby scaring the robbers off. As mentioned in several links to the article and on the official Miramax website, the story was a hoax made up for the parody website National Report. Even so, it circulated enough for people to still believe that it occurred.
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				One of the most popular items seen in Tarantino’s films is Jules’ wallet from Pulp Fiction that says “Bad Mother Fucker.” A company called BMFWallets.com actually produced an official version of the wallet for fans to buy.

                Photo courtesy of Josh Harlan & BMFWallets.com

			

		

			Action Figures

			The 1990s saw an emergence of action figures, thanks to magazines such as Toyfare and the growing number of comic book/SF fans who wanted cool toys to display based on some of their favorite characters. Over time, companies realized that such figures based on popular movie characters would sell to this market, and slowly the line began to expand beyond monster movie characters to those from other films. Tarantino’s films did not go unnoticed and were some of the first to get a wide range of products out for fans to buy. 

			With the exception of Jackie Brown, action figures for various characters of all Tarantino’s films can be found, ranging from Fisher-Price-style figures to 12-inch figures that have multiple points of articulation and wear cloth clothing. There’s even a Grindhouse figure of Tarantino as Rapist #1, as well as one showing him to be one of the Crazy 88 from Kill Bill, Volume 1.

			A major controversy occurred with the release of six Django Unchained action figures from NECA in 2013. These attractive 8-inch dolls that came with accessories and in real clothing were obviously created for adults and sold as such. However, it is hard to get completely away from the notion the general public has that such figures are made for kids and that only kids are supposed to be interested in them. Hence, those who thought this way readily saw these figures as racist, and at a minimum a bit offensive in the idea of selling toys based on slave characters. Because of the controversy, after 1,000 of the toys were released, NECA pulled the plug, causing the price of these items to skyrocket into thousands of dollars before settling in the $100–$200 range of late.
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					Action figures based on movie characters were already becoming the norm by the time of the Kill Bill films when these two figures of Elle and Kiddo appeared. Figures have been created for many of Tarantino’s films, including a controversial set for Django Unchained that had to be withdrawn.
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			Jackie Brown Trading Cards

			In the early 2000s, the video store chain Suncoast Motion Picture Company sold packs of trading cards based on various films. One such series featured two Quentin Tarantino’s films—Pulp Fiction and Jackie Brown. While Pulp Fiction seems like an obvious choice, because there is so little that was released related to Jackie Brown, the six-card series for the film makes it somewhat rare. Each card shows a character from the film: Jackie, Melanie, Max, Ordell, Ray and Louis (Louis’ name is misspelled on his card). Each comes with a quote on the back from the character, including profanity. Interesting set and not easy to come by these days, especially with the chain having greatly downsized over the past few years.
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					A complete set of Jackie Brown trading cards that were released through Suncoast Motion Picture Company—a rather odd promotional item for probably the most down-to-earth of Tarantino’s films.
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			David Bowie—“Cat People (Putting Out the Fire)” 7-inch Promotional Vinyl Single

			This promotional item was released in August 2009 in conjunction with the release of Inglourious Basterds, as the song (originally from the 1980 remake of Cat People) is heavily used in one scene of the film (see chapter 13 for more details). The single comes in a picture sleeve appearing to be a package that had gone through the mail, water-stained and stamped, along with the title of the film and the title of the song (the stamps and the addition of the song title on the cover are the only difference between it and the CD cover for the full-length soundtrack album). The B-side of the single is “The Green Leaves of Summer” by Nick Perito, which was originally featured in the John Wayne film The Alamo. Reportedly only 500 copies were made of the single.

			Django Unchained New Beverly Cinema Promotional T-shirt

			With the release of Django Unchained in theaters, Tarantino wanted to do something special at the Los Angeles theater he owns. Besides running the film there as one part of a series of double features, with the second movie being one that Tarantino felt worked as a good companion, there were also available for a limited time a t-shirt for the film that was done in an older newspaper movie ad style. The t-shirt shows Schultz and Django riding their horses, with the title of the film below and then the words, “Experience it at the New Beverly Cinema” below that. A very low number of shirts were made, and it was obviously created for fans rather than for profit. Such labors of love can also be seen in the next chapter, where Tarantino shows that it isn’t only his own films that he feels people need to see.
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Rolling Thunder Presents

			Tarantino’s Projects Outside of His Films

			This book has spent a lot of time talking about projects that Tarantino has been involved with in such a way that his face and name are evident. He’s the director, he’s the writer, he’s the actor in front of the camera—everything in the first twenty-eight chapters has been focused on such projects where he is the focus of the projects in some fashion.

			But Tarantino has done a lot of work to help both the past and future of the motion picture industry. Below are additional projects that he has lent his name to or that he’s worked on behind the scenes.

			Rolling Thunder Pictures

			In 1995, Tarantino announced that he was starting a distribution company through Miramax called Rolling Thunder Pictures, the purpose of which would be to release four films a year that Tarantino felt film buffs would be interested in seeing on a big screen, but normally would not have an opportunity to see that way in the U.S.A. The concept was to find new, foreign and even old exploitation films that could be released under the banner of Rolling Thunder (which, of course, Tarantino had gotten from the film of the same name).

			Eight movies were eventually released under the Rolling Thunder Pictures name between 1995 and 1998. In 1998, Tarantino decided to shut it down, as he told The Quentin Tarantino Archives in 2007: “I ended up pulling the plug on it because it ended up being mostly a frustration, not fulfillment.” Miramax itself stated that they refused to extend the contract on the company over “lack of interest shown in the movies” that were released. In the interview with the Archives, Tarantino saw the irony in that various video companies in the 2000s began releasing DVDs and Blu-rays of films that would have been perfect in such a company as Rolling Thunder. Tarantino saw that he had been ahead of his time by only a few years, and felt that at some point he could see starting a similar company to do the same in videos releases under a banner much like Rolling Thunder.

			The films released were:

			Chungking Express (1994)

			Directed by Wong Kar-wai (In the Mood for Love, 2046, Happy Together), the film deals with two separate love stories about police officers.

			Switchblade Sisters (1975)

			Directed by Jack Jill (Spider-Baby, Foxy Brown, The Big Bird Cage), the movie features a girl getting involved with a high school girl gang. It’s about as believable as most of the women-in-prison movies made around the same time period, and everyone involved knows it. The character Patch is a blonde one-eyed nemesis, much like Elle Driver would later be in the Kill Bill films.
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					Switchblade Sisters, from 1975, was another film rereleased by Tarantino’s Rolling Thunder Pictures in the 1990s. It has been suggested that one character in the film would lead to Tarantino creating Elle Driver in the Kill Bill films.

					Courtesy of Wrong Side of the Arts

				

			

		  The Mighty Peking Man (1977)

			Produced by the Shaw Brothers Studio (the logo used in Kill Bill), this was a blatant rip-off of King Kong, with a bit of Sheena, the Jungle Goddess, thrown in for good measure.

			Hard Core Logo (1996)

			Directed by Bruce McDonald, who would later do the apocalyptic Pontypool (2008). The film is a mockumentary about a punk rock band that is pulled back together for a reluctant reunion by a lead singer who has no life outside of his brief popularity with the band. The film won several awards, and when Tarantino saw it at a festival, he got the distribution rights for the U.S.A.

			Curdled (1996)

			Directed and cowritten by Reb Braddock. The film is discussed in more details in chapter 7.

			Detroit 9000 (1973)

			Directed by Arthur Marks. Blax­ploitation detective film shot in Detroit that deals with a black and white team of detectives who are trying to locate the gang that stole $400,000 from a political candidate. Although somewhat silly at first, the movie really moves along and isn’t a straight textbook detective story.
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					Detroit 9000 (1973) was one film rereleased in the 1990s under Tarantino’s Rolling Thunder Pictures. 

					Courtesy of Wrong Side of the Arts

				

			

			Sonatine (1993)

			Written, directed by, and starring Takeshi Kitano (Battle Royale, MXC). The film deals with a mob enforcer who eventually gets fed up with the violence and political nature of the various factions.

			The Beyond (1981)

			Directed and cowritten by Lucio Fulci (Zombie, City of the Living Dead, Don’t Torture a Duckling). A young woman gets involved with a hotel that contains a doorway that allows the dead to return to the land of the living. The film was set to be released by a company called Grindhouse Releasing, when Tarantino volunteered his endorsement and the Rolling Thunder Pictures distribution channels to get the film out to a wider audience. It ended up doing the best of the films released through the company before it closed.

			Quentin Tarantino Presents

			A certain number of films over the years have been released either in theaters, on video, or both with a banner proclaiming them as “Quentin Tarantino Presents—” in hopes of attracting Tarantino fans to check them out. The films with this banner include:

			Hero (2002)

			Directed by Zhang Yimou (To Live, Raise the Red Lantern, Ju Dou). Starring Jet Li and Maggie Cheung. A martial-arts film that deals with peaceful resistance and the concept of unification—a common theme at the time in Hong Kong and China. Miramax had the rights to the film for two years before releasing it under the Tarantino banner in 2004.

			Iron Monkey (1993)

			Directed by Yuen Woo-Ping (who did the action choreography for the Kill Bill films, as well as the Matrix trilogy. He also directed Jackie Chan’s Drunken Master in 1978). Fantasy about a real-life folk hero, Wong Fei-hung. Miramax edited the film to what some saw as extreme measures in order to appease American audiences. As the film was available in some parts of the U.S. in its original form, it was easy to see where changes had been made. Most fans who attended disagreed with the cuts, which had nothing to do with Tarantino’s participation in the advertising of the film.

			My Name Is Modesty (2004)

			Directed by Scott Spiegel, who was instrumental in helping Tarantino kick off his career. Based on Modesty Blaise, a comic strip character who has a criminal past and who helps with the British Secret Service, along with having adventures of her own. The strip would lead to novels (Vincent is reading one when he goes to the toilet in Pulp Fiction) and short stories, as well as various films over the years. Miramax had the rights to the character and needed to use those rights or lose them, which resulted in the short film made by Spiegel.

			Hostel (2005)

			Directed and written by Eli Roth. Box-office success about characters who find themselves all too deep in a club that caters to businessman who want to torture and kill people. There were rumors that Tarantino helped with some of the dialogue in the film.

			Hostel: Part II (2007)

			Directed and written by Eli Roth (Cabin Fever). A heartwarming family feature about—no, it’s more of the torture club setting. But there are kids in this one. Deranged, homicidal kids, but kids nonetheless.

			Hell Ride (2008)

			Directed and written by Larry Bishop. Starring David Carradine, Dennis Hopper and Michael Madsen. A modern biker film. Bishop played the owner of the strip club in Kill Bill, Volume 2.

			The Protector (2005)

			Directed by Prachya Pinkaew (Ong-Bak). The story deals with a man sent to Australia to locate two sacred elephants that belong to his village. RZA scored the film for its American release.

			The 36th Chamber of the Shaolin (1979)

			Directed by Liu Chia-Liang (Dirty Ho, My Young Auntie). Starring Gordon Liu, who played two roles in the Kill Bill movies. The film is considered one of the best kung fu movies produced and has stood as the prototype of many films that followed it.

			The One-Armed Swordsman (1967)

			Directed by Chang Cheh and staring Jimmy Wang. A swordsman loses an arm and has to recover his fighting skills to avenge his master.

			The Man with the Iron Fists (2012)

			Directed by RZA and Eli Roth. Starring Russell Crowe and Lucy Liu. An adventure dealing with a village struggling to fight off various clans looking to steal a shipment of gold.

			Producer/Executive Producer

			Besides his own films, Tarantino has been the executive producer, unless otherwise noted, on the following films:

			•	Past Midnight (1992)—associate producer

			•	Killing Zoe (1994)

			•	Four Rooms (1995)

			•	God Said, ‘Ha!’ (1998)

			•	Curdled (1996)

			•	From Dusk Till Dawn (1996)

			•	From Dusk Till Dawn 2: Texas Blood Money (1999)

			•	From Dusk Till Dawn 3: The Hangman’s Daughter (2000)

			•	Iron Monkey (1993)—producer on the 2001 Miramax theatrical release

			•	My Name Is Modesty (2004)

			•	Daltry Calhoun (2005)

			•	Hostel (2005)

			•	Freedom’s Fury (2006)

			•	Planet Terror (2007)—producer

			•	Grindhouse (2007)

			•	Hostel: Part II (2008)

			•	Hell Ride (2008)

			The Film Festivals

			Over the past few decades, some theaters tried to bring back festival programming to the movie theaters with a variety of new, foreign and older films in a mix that covered a theme. The most prominent of these are the typical “classic movie” series certain cities around the country will offer during the summer months for audiences in one (or only) remaining downtown movie palace. Then there have been Midnight Movies on the weekends at theaters, where people can see cult films a couple of times a month (with Rocky Horror Picture Show almost invariably in the mix).

			Out of these, and with a look back at the old multiple-film “marathons” that appeared at the drive-ins, movie marathons and festivals present films that do not get theatrical runs anymore. Typically such festivals have been focused on science fiction and horror films (like the twenty-four-hour marathons that have run for years in Boston and Columbus, Ohio), but occasionally someone will organize festivals of films that would have played the grindhouses that Tarantino so loved—kung fu movies, sexploitation films, blaxploitation, redneck-ploitation, and the oddball horror and science fiction film as well.

			Meanwhile, Tarantino would have his own marathon showings for friends at his place. No doubt at first on video, and then eventually moving on to film prints. The point was to not only show friends incredible films that he had found and fell in love with over time, but also to try to educate them about certain directors and performers that some . . . or, rather, most people, would not know about. Thus, who wouldn’t be enticed to follow up that type of programming for a roomful of friends with showing various films, trailers, movie ads, and more in an actual theater to a full theater audience.

			Thus was created the Quentin Tarantino Film Festival, which started in 1997 at the Dobie Theater in Austin, Texas. The first festival included over twenty-five movies, with Tarantino hosting the proceedings, discussing the various films, their directors, actors and more. Usually the films were related by theme (cheerleader movies one night, kung fu the next, etc.) and shown in a double-feature format each day. The festival went over so well that Tarantino came back the following year with twelve films, before moving it to the Alamo Drafthouse (a movie theater—and now a chain of theaters—that can be seen briefly in Death Proof) in 1999. The third festival featured thirty films, while the fourth in 2000 had over forty films being shown. The next in 2001 had nearly forty films again, and then there was a break before Tarantino returned in 2005 for the sixth festival, which featured over twenty-five films. In April 2006, a “best of” festival showed twenty-one films over seven days.

			In May 2007, the Alamo Drafthouse relocated, and with the closing of the downtown theater, Tarantino came back for a three-night stand of triple features—sec comedies one night, “redneck” thrillers the next and films with the word “Swinging” in their titles on the final night.

			But Austin was not the only city to get a festival from Tarantino. In Los Angeles, a repertory theater, the New Beverly Cinema (commonly referred to as the New Bev), began showing a series of double features under a “grindhouse” title in the early 2000s, sometimes with guest speakers of actors and directors from the films being shown. In 2007, Tarantino set up a two-month-long festival of films at the theater to help celebrate the release of the movie Grindhouse, with over fifty films shown (including Jailbait Babysitter, for which the theater used my copy of the poster to advertise the showing).

			With the release of Django Unchained, the New Bev ran a series of double features pairing it with a number of older films that fit the “style” of Tarantino’s film. These included The Skin Game (1971), Thomasine & Bushrod (1974) and Buck and the Preacher (1972). The series was unique, as the New Bev commonly concentrates on older films instead of showing one just released by a major studio. But there was a good reason why such a presentation was possible—Tarantino was not only a client of the New Bev, he was the owner as well.

			The New Beverly Cinema

			There was a time in the 1970s when, especially if you lived in a town with a college campus, there was bound to be a local movie theater that featured a variety of films, old, new, foreign, and offbeat. Most were art houses that showed foreign films, but only at certain times of the day or during the week; the rest of the time was filled up with old comedies, cult favorites and numerous showings of Casablanca. It could be possible to see four or five different movies the same day—a glory day for movie theaters right before video killed off audiences’ desire to find theaters to see their old favorites (instead of renting or buying on video). As the 1980s moved along, a few such theaters tried different methods to keep going strong. A theater in Dayton, Ohio, the Neon, created a Cinerama system for showing of such films; other theaters became art house only, or opened cafes and dessert shops in their lobbies; and then there were a few that tried something different by airing double features of older and newer films together. One such theater is the New Beverly Cinema in Los Angeles.

			The New Beverly began as a vaudeville theater in the 1920s and spent some time as a nightclub for boxer Maxie Rosenbloom before being turned into a full movie theater in the 1950s. As a single-screen theater, the New Bev faced rough times in the 1970s, with most audiences hitting the multiplex cinemas at the malls if they went to the theater at all (many grand old single-screen theaters converted to “twin cinemas” in the 1970s to attract business). After closing for a time in 1977, it was bought by Sherman Torgan, who wanted to establish a neighborhood theater that would cater to the people who lived there. With that in mind, the New Bev began showing double features, typically of a newer release and an older one that tied into the first in some fashion (such as their first double feature in 1978: Last Tango in Paris from 1972 and A Streetcar Named Desire from 1951—both of which starred Marlon Brando).

			One of their regulars in the early 1980s onwards was that of Quentin Tarantino. “I’d been coming to the New Beverly ever since I was old enough to drive there from the South Bay,” Tarantino told John Scott Lewinski in February 2010. Unfortunately, the theater was struggling to keep its head above water even with a number of big showcases that included talks by stars and directors of the films being shown and—after his success in the 1990s—Tarantino’s occasional involvement in programming films for the theater as part of special events. Eventually, he helped contribute some funds to keep the landlord at bay, while the theater continued to run the offbeat programming they had always done.

			When Sherman Torgan passed away in 2007—soon after Tarantino’s Grindhouse festival there that year—the people who owned the property were looking to sell the land—“It was going to be turned into a Super Cuts,” said Tarantino in the same article. “I couldn’t let that happen.” After much red tape, Tarantino purchased the building, allowing the New Bev to continue programming older films and showcasing movie talent that would not get to be seen otherwise, with Tarantino as the new landlord. Michael Torgan, the son of Sherman Torgan, stated in the same article, “Quentin couldn’t be a better landlord. He’s involved with suggesting movies when he likes, but he lets us do most of the booking.”

			Tarantino went on to say, “I always considered the New Beverly my charity—an investment I never wanted back. I already have a good relationship with the family and the theater, so it was a natural step.”

			Then the other shoe finally dropped in September 2014 when Tarantino announced that he planned to start programming the movies showing in the theater, taking over for Michael Torgan. As Tarantino told Chuck Wilson of the LA Weekly, “After seven years as owner, I wanted to make it mine.” Planning on programming films from his own personal collections, as well as others, for the first three months, Tarantino looks to be attached to the theater for a long time to come.

			“As long as I’m alive,” Tarantino said in 2010, “and as long as I’m rich, the New Beverly will be there, showing double features in 35mm.” For the kid whose dream job was to be an usher in a theater one day, and later to be able to talk with people and point them to movies they might like—like he did at Video Archives all those years ago—to have his own theater and be able to pick films to show audiences is the perfect way to make one of his dreams come true. 
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You Gonna Bark All Day, Little Doggie

			Books About Tarantino

			Although Tarantino has discussed writing film criticism in various interviews over the years, the number of articles he has published has been limited and typically for a magazine like Sight & Sound. Most of these have been relegated to “top tens,” or even the unique “Top 50 Best Sequels” interview/article done by Tarantino with Tim Lucas in the pages of Video Watchdog (Issues #172). That certainly doesn’t mean the man is lazy—he is making films as his main career and writing articles in his spare time—but it does mean that readers have yet to really see Tarantino go full tilt into a book that expands on his thoughts about film, film theory and what makes movies in general so important to him.

			When it comes to books about Tarantino, they fall into three categories: biographical (not as many as one would think for such a motormouth as Tarantino), reference and analysis (like the one you’re reading now), and screenplays (scripts for his films, usually with scenes dropped from the films). In all, there have been more than thirty books published in English related to Tarantino and his films, with additional books in other languages like German and French). This doesn’t even account for the number of articles and interviews about Tarantino and his movies.

			The following is a list of many of the titles that have been available over the years. Only English titles and, in some cases, only the American publications are listed:

			Script Books (Books Featuring Tarantino’s Screenplays)

			It should be noted that there have been no official screenplay books released for the Kill Bill films or Django Unchained. However, in the case of Django Unchained, a seven-issue miniseries was done by Vertigo Comics (a “mature audience only” comic book company through DC Comics). As Quentin Tarantino states in the foreword to the book collection of the series, the comic adapts his first draft of the script and is everything that could have appeared in the film. For this reason it is listed here with the other screenplays for completeness.

			July 2014 saw Tarantino announcing that a new Django miniseries comic would be forthcoming from Dynamite Comic, starting in November 2014. The comic features Django teaming up with Zorro, and while Tarantino is involved with the plotting, the writing is by popular comic book writer Matt Wagner and the illustrations by Esteve Polls. Thus, the comic falls slightly outside of the material listed here.

			For a time after the leak of his Hated Eight script, Tarantino stated he would release it as a script book. However, with his decision to go ahead with the filming of the script, it appears this will have to wait until after the film has been released.

			•	Reservoir Dogs: The Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Grove Press, New York, 113 pages, 1994.

			•	True Romance: The Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Grove Press, New York, 134 pages, 1995.

			•	Natural Born Killers: The Original Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Grove Press, New York, 119 pages, 1994.

			•	Pulp Fiction: A Quentin Tarantino Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Miramax Books, New York, 199 pages, 1994.

			•	Jackie Brown: A Quentin Tarantino Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Miramax Books, New York, 245 pages, 1997.

			•	Quentin Tarantino’s “Death Proof”: A Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Weinstein Books, 129 pages, 2007.

			•	Inglourious Basterds: A Screenplay by Quentin Tarantino, Weinstein Books, New York, 164 pages, 2009.

			•	Django Unchained by Quentin Tarantino, adapted by Reginald Hudlin, illustrated by R. M. Guera, Denys Cowan and Jason Latour, Vertigo (a division of DC Comics), 264 pages, 2013.

			Biographical

			Two points to make about the books listed below. While there have been other books dealing with the rise of certain directors in the 1990s, Rebels on the Backlot by Sharon Waxman is one of the few that concentrates on Tarantino for a fair portion of the text (albeit, with David Fincher of Fight Club fame being the major focus). Interestingly, Tarantino’s story dies off in Waxman’s book after Pulp Fiction and much buildup early on, ending more as an afterthought with only a brief mention of the Kill Bill films. Nevertheless, the book is extensive in comparison with other similar books that only fleetingly deal with Tarantino. Also, putting Jane Hamsher’s book, Killer Instinct, here may not sit well with some fans, but it is biographical about Tarantino and certainly insightful about the making of a film connected to Tarantino. It is also about Hamsher and her partner Don Murray reacting to Tarantino and everyone around then, so some readers may find it a chore to get through. (It can be said, though, that it is a great book to read if you ever wanted to feel sorry for Oliver Stone and what he had to deal with while making a movie.) It is this firsthand look at the making of a film that also permits David Carradine’s The Kill Bill Diary to appear here as well.
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					Quentin experiencing the glow of a coming-home celebration at Video Archives back in 1992 in order to promote Reservoir Dogs. Tim Roth and Chris Penn join him on the small stage.

                    Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

		  •	Quentin Tarantino: The Man and His Movies by Jami Bernard, Harper Perennial, New York, 250 pages, 1995.

			•	King Pulp: The Wild World of Quentin Tarantino by Paul A. Woods, Thunder’s Mouth Press, New York, 160 pages, 1996.

			•	Killer Instinct: How Two Young Producers Took on Hollywood and Made the Most Controversial Film of the Decade by Jane Hamsher, Broadway Books, New York, 276 pages, 1997.

			•	Quentin Tarantino: The Cinema of Cool by Jeff Dawson, Applause Books, New York, 214 pages, 1997.

			•	Rebels on the Backlot: Six Maverick Directors and How They Conquered the Hollywood Studio System by Sharon Waxman, Harper Entertainment, New York, 386 pages, 2005.

			•	The Kill Bill Diary: The Making of a Tarantino Classic as Seen Through the Eyes of a Screen Legend by David Carradine, HarperCollins, New York, 311 pages, 2006.

			•	Quentin Tarantino: The Man, The Myths and His Movies by Wensley Clarkson, John Blake Publishing, Ltd, London, 314 pages, 2007.

			•	Quentin Tarantino: Interviews, edited by Gerald Peary, University Press of Mississippi, Jackson, 213 pages, 1998, updated second edition 2013.

			Reference and Analysis

			This section tends to be for the hardcore researchers and fans. Screenplays can be a fun way to remember aspects of a film and perhaps pick up a few tidbits on characters and plots that didn’t make it into the films. Biographies allow one to feel a personal connection and—admittedly—read some dirt on a person of interest. Reference guides and analysis can be a bit much for many readers, however. They’re for people who want to know dates, places and who the caterer was at the last day of filming, not those wanting to know who Tarantino was dating in 1997. Analysis tends to be one person’s point of view; told in a strong, convincing manner, but still simply one person’s viewpoint on what Tarantino is trying to say in a movie (and can fall into pretentions that make this a bore).

			That is not to say that the books listed below are not of interest for fans, simply that general readers should take the time to glance through the pages first to see if it is worth their money and time to read. For those of us who can’t get enough of the details and thoughts put together by writers, however, it’s hard to put such books down.

			•	Tarantino: A to Zed by Alan Barnes and Marcus Hearn, B. T. Batsford, London, 192 pages. 1996, updated second edition 2000.

			•	Quentin Tarantino: The Film Geek Files edited by Paul Woods, Plexus Publishing, New Jersey, 185 pages, 2000.

			•	Quintessential Tarantino by Edwin Page, Marion Boyars, New York, 300 pages, 2005.

			•	From Shane to Kill Bill: Rethinking the Western by Patrick McGee, Blackwell Publishing Limited, New Jersey, 280 pages, 2006.

			•	Tarantino by Jim Smith, Virgin Books, 295 pages, 2005, updated second edition 2007.

			•	Quentin Tarantino and Philosophy edited by Richard Greene and K. Silen Mohammad, Open Court, Chicago, 288 pages, 2007.

			•	Quentin Tarantino—Life at the Extremes by Aaron Barlow, Praeger, Connecticut, 187 pages, 2010.

			•	If You Like Quentin Tarantino . . . Here Are Over 200 Films, TV Shows, and Other Oddities That You Will Love by Katherine Rife, Limelight Editions, Milwaukee, 192 pages, 2012.

			•	Kill Bill: An Unofficial Casebook, Volume One and Two by D. K. Holm, Glitter Books, London, 276 pages (combined), 2005, second edition 2012.
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					Quentin Tarantino posed with longtime fan and former Video Archives member Todd Mecklem while filming Jackie Brown at the Del Amo Mall. 

					Photo courtesy of Todd Mecklem

				

			

			Websites

			There is one website worth looking up whenever a fan needs more information about Tarantino, his past, present and future.

			The Quentin Tarantino Archives

		    http://wiki.tarantino.info/index.php/Main_Page

			Not an official website, but this website started in 1999 has a lot of research material available to all fans. Tarantino himself has done an interview with them, thanking them for the job that has been done there. No higher compliment needs to be made.

		

	
		
			31
Keep Losing to Forrest Gump

			Awards Won over the Years

			Tarantino has typically tried to downplay the importance of awards when his films have been nominated over the years. As mentioned earlier in the book, the sting of losing at Cannes for Reservoir Dogs made him skittish of awards and certainly of ceremonies for a time. There was also a frustration in 1994–1995 when Pulp Fiction would be repeatedly nominated for awards, only to lose against Forrest Gump, which led to Tarantino cracking when winning best film at the 1995 MTV Movie Awards that he was appearing only because he knew they would win there against Forrest Gump.

			In the years since the release of Reservoir Dogs, Tarantino’s films have been nominated for all types of awards. Listed below are the films and the awards collected. What to learn from this? Two things—that Pulp Fiction certainly did win a good number of awards, even if it did have to rub up against Forrest Gump half the time, and that everyone should have gotten together between 2009 and 2013 and, as one, built a giant award to Christoph Waltz for his acting in both Inglourious Basterds and Django Unchained.

			Reservoir Dogs

			•	Prix Tournage, Quentin Tarantino, Avignon Film Festival 1992

			•	Best New Director, 2nd Place, New York Film Critics Circle Awards 1992

			•	Best Director and Best Screenplay, Sitges, Catalonian International Film Festival 1992

			•	Bronze Horse, Quentin Tarantino, Stockholm Film Festival 1992

			•	International Critic’s Award, Toronto International Film Festival 1992

			•	Best Supporting Male, Steve Buscemi, Independent Spirit Awards 1993

			•	Best Foreign Actor, Harvey Keitel, Sant Jordi Awards 1993

			•	Critics Award, Yubari International Fantastic Film Festival 1993

			•	Newcomer of the Year Award, Quentin Tarantino, London Critics Circle Film Awards 1994

			Pulp Fiction

			•	Best Screenplay, Motion Picture, Golden Globe 1994

			•	Best Director and Best Screenplay, Boston Society of Film Critics Awards 1994 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Palme d’Or, Cannes Film Festival 1994

			•	Best Director, Empire Awards, UK 1994

			•	Best Feature, Best Director, Best Screenplay, and Best Male Lead, Samuel L. Jackson, Independent Spirit Awards 1994 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Film and Best Director, Kansas City Film Critics Circle Awards 1994

			•	Best Picture, Best Director, Best Screenplay, and Best Actor, John Travolta, Los Angeles Film Critics Association Awards 1994 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Film, Best Director, and one of the Top Ten Films, National Board of Review, USA 1994. (Best Film Award tied with Forrest Gump)

			•	Best Director, Best Screenplay, Best Film, 2nd Place; Best Actor, 2nd Place, Samuel L. Jackson; Best Supporting Actress, 2nd Place, Uma Thurman, New York Film Critics Circle Awards 1994 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Film, Best Director, Best Screenplay, and Best Actor, Samuel L. Jackson, Society of Texas Film Critics Awards 1994 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Bronze Horse, Quentin Tarantino; Best Actor, John Travolta; and Best Screenplay, Stockholm Film Festival 1994.

			•	Best Film and Best Dance Sequence, MTV Movie Awards 1995

			•	Best Picture and Best Director, Southeastern Film Critics Association Awards 1995

			•	Best Picture, Best Director, Best Screenplay, Best Supporting Actor, 2nd Place, Samuel L. Jackson; Best Actor, 2nd Place, Samuel L. Jackson; Best Actor, 3rd Place, John Travolta; Best Supporting Actress, 2nd Place, Uma Thurman, National Society of Film Critics Awards, USA 1995 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Motion Picture, Edgar Allan Poe Awards 1995

			•	Best Foreign Language Film Director, Kinema Junpo Awards 1995

			•	Actor of the Year, John Travolta; Screenwriter of the Year, Quentin Tarantino, London Critics Circle Film Awards 1995

			•	Best Director and Best Screenplay, Chicago Film Critics Association Awards 1995 (Screenplay Award shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Picture, Best Director, Best Supporting Actress, 2nd Place, Uma Thurman; Best Actor, 3rd Place, John Travolta, Dallas-Fort Worth Film Critics Association Awards 1995

			•	Best Foreign Film, David di Donatello Award 1995

			•	Best Screenplay, Original, BAFTA Film Award, BAFTA Awards 1995 (shared with Roger Avary) 1995

			•	Best Foreign Language Film, Blue Ribbon Award 1995

			•	Best Writing, Screenplay Written Directly for the Screen, Academy of Motion Pictures and Sciences, 1995 (shared with Roger Avary)

			•	Best Action/Adventure/Thriller Film, Saturn Award, Academy of Science Fiction, Fantasy and Horror Films, USA 1995

			•	Best Soundtrack, Brit Awards 1995

			•	Best Casting for Feature Film, Drama, Ronnie Yeskel and Gary M. Zuckerbrod, Casting Society of America 1995

			•	National Film Registry, National Film Preservation Board, USA 2013

			Jackie Brown

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Robert Forster, Kansas City Film Critics Circle Awards 1997

			•	Special Award, Samuel L. Jackson, San Diego Film Critics Society Awards 1997 (for body of work)

			•	One of the Top Ten Films, National Board of Review, USA 1997

			•	Best Actor, Samuel L. Jackson, Berlin International Film Festival 1998

			•	Best Screenplay and Best Female Performance, Pam Grier, Golden Slate, Csapnivalo Awards 2000

			Kill Bill, Volume 1

			Audience Award for Best Feature Film, Sitges, Catalonian International Film Festival 2003 (tied with Takeshi Kitano’s 2003 remake of The Blind Swordsman: Zatoichi) 

			•	Best Editing, Sally Menke, San Diego Film Critics Society Awards 2003

			•	Outstanding Achievement in Choreography, Fight, American Choreography Awards, USA 2004

			•	Best Director and Best Actress, Uma Thurman, Empire Awards, UK 2004

			•	Best Female Performance, Uma Thurman; Best Hero, Uma Thurman; Best Villain, Lucy Liu; Best Fight, Uma Thurman vs. Chiaki Kuriyama, MTV Movie Awards 2004

			•	Best Action/Adventure/Thriller Film, Best Actress, Uma Thurman, Academy of Science Fiction, Fantasy and Horror Films, USA 2004

			•	Best Score, RZA, Central Ohio Film Critics Association 2004

			•	Best Editing, Sally Menke, Las Vegas Films Critics Society Awards 2004

			•	Best Action Film, NRJ Cine Awards 2004

			•	Best Fight and Best Overall Stunt by a Stunt Woman, Zoe Bell and Angela Meryl (for both awards), World Stunt Awards 2004

			•	Best Foreign Film, Sant Jordi 2005 (Combined with Kill Bill, Volume 2; the two together tied with Wong Kar-wei’s 2046)

			Kill Bill, Volume 2

			•	Best Look, Uma Thurman, NRJ Cine Awards 2004

			•	Editor of the Year, Sally Menke, Hollywood Film Festival 2004

			•	Outstanding Achievement in Choreography, Fight, Keith Adams, Chin’ichi Chiba, Quentin Tarantino and Yuen Woo-Ping (tied with the 2003 Pirates of the Caribbean: The Curse of the Black Pearl)

			•	Best Sound Design, Central Ohio Film Critics Association 2005

			•	Best Action/Adventure/Thriller Film, Best Supporting Actor, David Carradine; Best Supporting Actress, Daryl Hannah, Academy of Science Fiction, Fantasy & Horror Films, USA 2005

			•	Best Fight, Uma Thurman vs. Daryl Hannah, MTV Movie Awards 2005

			•	Best Fight and Best Overall Stunt by a Stunt Woman, Zoe Bell and Monica Staggs (for both awards), World Stunt Awards 2004.

			Grindhouse (Planet Terror/Death Proof)

			•	Director of the Year, ShoWest Convention, USA 2007

			•	Best Overall Stunt by a Stunt Woman, Zoe Bell and Tracy Keehn-Dashnaw, World Stunt Awards 2008

			Inglourious Basterds

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz and Best Screenplay, Original, Washington DC Area Film Critics Association Awards 2009

			•	One of the Top Ten Films, National Board of Review, USA 2009

			•	Best Foreign Film, White Elephant, Russian Guild of Film Critics 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Actress, Melanie Laurent; and Best Original Screenplay, Austin Film Critics Association 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; and Best Screenplay, Original, Kansas City Film Critics Circle Awards 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Director, 3rd Place; and Best Screenplay, 3rd Place, New York Film Critics Circle Awards 2009

			•	Best Picture, Best Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role, Christoph Waltz; Best Acting Ensemble; Best Director, Phoenix Film Critics Society Awards 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; and Best Costume Design, Anna B. Sheppard, Las Vegas Film Critics Society 2009

			•	Best Picture, Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Production Design, David Wasco; Best ensemble Performance; Best Cinematography, 2nd Place, Robert Richards; Best Editing, 2nd Place, Sally Menke; Best Director and Best Screenplay, Original, San Diego Film Critics Society Awards 2009

			•	Best Original Screenplay, San Francisco Film Critics Circle 2009

			•	Best Actor, International, Christoph Waltz, Bambi Awards 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Boston Society of Film Critics 2009

			•	Best Actor, Christoph Waltz, Cannes Film Festival 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Hollywood Film Festival 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Indiana Film Journalists Association 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Chicago Film Critics Association 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Dallas-Fort Worth Film Critics Association 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Florida Film Critics Circle 2009

			•	Best Actor in a Supporting Role, Christoph Waltz, Satellite Awards 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, St. Louis Film Critics Association 2009

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Los Angeles Film Critics Association 2009

			•	International Award, Robert Richardson, Australian Cinematographers Society 2010

			•	Best Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role, Christoph Waltz, Academy of Motion Pictures and Sciences 2010

			•	Actor of the Year, Christoph Waltz, London Critics Circle Film 2010

			•	Favorite Actor, Christoph Waltz, Romy Gala, Austria 2010

			•	Best Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role in a Motion Picture, Christoph Waltz, Golden Globes 2010

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, BAFTA Awards 2010

			•	Best Actor, Christoph Waltz, Empire Awards, UK 2010

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Vancouver Film Critics Circle 2010

			•	Outstanding Performance by a Male Actor in a Supporting Role, Christoph Waltz and Outstanding Performance by a Cast in a Motion Picture, Screen Actors Guild 2010

			•	Outstanding Achievement in Casting, Big Budget Feature, Drama, Johanna Ray and Jenny Jue, Casting Society of America 2010

			•	Best Picture, Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; and Best Screenplay, Toronto Film Critics Association Awards 2010 (Screenplay tied with Sheldon Turner and Jason Reitman for Up in the Air [2009], Picture tied with Hunger [2008]).

			•	Best Sound Editing, Dialogue and ADR in a Feature Film, Wylie Stateman, Margit Pfeiffer, Gregg Baxter and Nancy Nugent, Motion Picture Sound Editors 2010

			•	Best Action/Adventure/Thriller Film, Academy of Science Fiction, Fantasy and Horror Films 2010

			•	Best International Actress, Diane Kruger, Golden Camera, Germany 2010

			•	Best Original Screenplay; Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; and Best Acting Ensemble, Broadcast Film Critics Association Awards 2010

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Ensemble; Best Director, 2nd Place; Best Supporting Actress, 2nd Place, Melanie Laurent; Best Cinematography, Robert Richardson; and Best Screenplay, Original, Central Ohio Film Critics Association 2010

			•	Best Foreign-Language Film, Cinema Brazil Grand Prize 2010

			•	Best Foreign Film, David di Donatello Awards 2010

			•	Best Foreign Film, English Language, Film Critics Circle of Australia Awards 2010

			•	Best Non-European Director, Silver Ribbon, Italian National Syndicate of Film Journalists 2010

			•	Best Film, 3rd Place; Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Screenplay, 3rd Place, National Society of Film Critics Awards, USA 2010 (Waltz tied with Paul Schneider for Bright Star [2009])

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Actress, Melanie Laurent; Best Cinematography, Robert Richardson; and Best Screenplay, Original, Online Film Critics Society Awards 2010

			•	Best Foreign Film, Sant Jordi Awards 2010

			•	Favorite Independent Movie Award, People’s Choice Awards, USA 2010

			Django Unchained

			•	Best Supporting Actor, 3rd Place, Christoph Waltz; and Best Screenplay, 2nd Place, Dallas-Fort Worth Film Critics Association Awards 2012

			•	Screenwriter of the Year, Hollywood Film Festival 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, Austin Film Critics Association 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Leonardo DiCaprio, and one of the Top Films, National Board of Review, USA 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, San Diego Film Critics Society Awards 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, 2nd Place, Christoph Waltz, New York Film Critics Circle 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, 2nd Place, Christoph Waltz, Los Angeles Film Critics Association 2012

			•	Best Supporting Actor, 2nd Place, Christoph Waltz; and Best Use of Music in a Film, Boston Society of Film Critics 2012

			•	Best Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role, Christoph Waltz; and Best Writing, Original Screenplay, Academy of Motion Pictures and Sciences 2013

			•	Best Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role in a Motion Picture, Christoph Waltz; and Best Screenplay, Motion Picture, Golden Globe 2013

			•	Movie of the Year, American Film Institute 2013

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; and Best Original Screenplay, BAFTA Awards 2013

			•	Outstanding Supporting Actor in a Motion Picture, Samuel L. Jackson; and Outstanding Supporting Actress in a Motion Picture, Kerry Washington, Image Awards 2013

			•	Best Audio/Visual Technique, 2nd Place, Music in “Theatrical Trailer #1”; and Best Trailer, Audio/Visual, 3rd Place, “Trailer 1, Justice,” Key Art Awards 2013

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz, International Cinephile Society Awards 2013

			•	Best Writing, Saturn Award, Academy of Science Fiction, Fantasy and Horror Films, USA 2013

			•	Best Music TV Spot, Trailer for “Unchained BET,” Golden Trailer Awards 2013

			•	Best Screenplay, AACTA International Award, Australian Film Institute 2013

			•	Best Original Screenplay, Broadcast Film Critics Association Awards 2013

			•	Best Foreign Film, David di Donatello Awards 2013

			•	Feature Film Category, 3rd Place, Humanitas Prize 2013

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Christoph Waltz; Best Supporting Actor, 2nd Place, Leonardo DiCaprio; Best Picture, 3rd Place, Central Ohio Film Critics Association 2013

			•	Best Supporting Actor, Samuel L. Jackson; Best Ensemble, Victoria Thomas; and Best Song, “Who Did That to You” by John Legend and Paul Epworth, Black Reel Awards 2013

			•	Best Actor, Jamie Foxx, BET Awards 2013

			•	Best Foreign Language Film, Awards of the Japanese Academy 2014

			•	Bronze Wrangler, Theatrical Motion Picture, Western Heritage Awards 2013 (Shared with producers Bob and Harvey Weinstein)

			•	Best WTF Moment, Candyland Gets Smoked, MTV Generation Award, Jamie Foxx, MTV Movie Awards 2013

			•	Best Western Drama Script (Fiction), Western Writers of America 2013

			Additional Film Awards

			•	Best Trailer, Audio-Visual, 3rd Place, Miramax Films for Tarantino XX Collection trailer

			Personal Awards

			•	Lifetime Achievement Award, Stockholm Film Festival 1994

			•	Time Machine Honorary Award, Sitges-Catalonian International Film Festival 1996

			•	Pioneer Award, DVD Exclusive Awards 2003

			•	Career Achievement Award, Casting Society of America, USA 2004

			•	Icon of the Decade, Special Award, Empire Awards, UK 2005

			•	Action Movie Director Award, World Stunt Awards 2005

			•	Filmmaker Award, Cinema Audio Society, USA 2006

			•	Golden Eddie Filmmaker of the Year Award, American Cinema Editors, USA 2007

			•	Lifetime Achievement Award, Cinemanila International Film Festival 2007

			•	Capri Legend Award, Capri-Hollywood Film Festival 2008

			•	Filmmaker on the Edge Award, Provincetown International Film Festival 2008

			•	Dilys Powell Award, London Critics Circle Film Awards 2010

			•	Sonny Bono Visionary Award, Palm Springs International Film Festival 2010

			•	Honorary Cesar, Cesar Awards, France 2011

			•	Lifetime Achievement Award, Rome Film Fest 2012
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If you steal $300,000 from the mob,
it's not robbery. It's suicide.
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Six players on the trail of a half million in cash.
‘There's only one question...Who's playing who?
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